
      
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDACITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  

 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETINGREGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAYTUESDAY
JUNE 4, 2024JUNE 4, 2024
 

 COUNCIL CHAMBERSCOUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

             3:00 P.M.             3:00 P.M.
 

All City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's websiteAll City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's website
((https://www.flagstaffaz.gov/1461/Streaming-City-Council-Meetingshttps://www.flagstaffaz.gov/1461/Streaming-City-Council-Meetings))  

***PUBLIC COMMENT******PUBLIC COMMENT***  

Verbal public comments not related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be provided during the "Open Call to
the Public" at the beginning and end of the meeting and may only be provided in person. 

Verbal public comments related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be given in person or online and will be
taken at the time the item is discussed. 

To provide online verbal comment on an item that appears on the posted agenda, use the link below. 

ONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENTONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENT  

Written comments may be submitted to publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov. All comments submitted via email will be
considered written comments and will be documented in the record as such.

 
      
1.1. CALL TO ORDERCALL TO ORDER

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSIONNOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the general
public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not be open
to the public, for discussion and consultation with the City's attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the
following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

  

 

2.2. ROLL CALLROLL CALL

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance through other technological means.
 
MAYOR DAGGETT
VICE MAYOR ASLAN
COUNCILMEMBER HARRIS
COUNCILMEMBER HOUSE

COUNCILMEMBER MATTHEWS
COUNCILMEMBER MCCARTHY
COUNCILMEMBER SWEET

  

 

3.3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, MISSION STATEMENT, AND LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTPLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, MISSION STATEMENT, AND LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
 

MISSION STATEMENTMISSION STATEMENT 
 

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life for all.
 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTLAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
 
The Flagstaff City Council humbly acknowledges the ancestral homelands of this area's Indigenous nations and
original stewards. These lands, still inhabited by Native descendants, border mountains sacred to Indigenous
peoples. We honor them, their legacies, their traditions, and their continued contributions. We celebrate their
past, present, and future generations who will forever know this place as home.

  

 

4.4. OPEN CALL TO THE PUBLICOPEN CALL TO THE PUBLIC

Open Call to the Public enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the prepared
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the item is discussed.
Open Call to the Public appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at the end. The total time allotted for
the first Open Call to the Public is 30 minutes; any additional comments will be held until the second Open Call to

  

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/1461/Streaming-City-Council-Meetings
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OGU5OTBmZTUtMzZhMS00Zjk4LWI1NjItMjgxMWMwYmE3NmMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22092ff328-7f9a-4a81-ae2d-fba9ff4ca8ad%22%7d
mailto:publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov


the first Open Call to the Public is 30 minutes; any additional comments will be held until the second Open Call to
the Public.

If you wish to address the Council in person at today's meeting, please complete a comment card and submit it to
the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is your turn to speak. You may address
the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments made during Open Call to the Public
and Public Comment. Please limit your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to
speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may
appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 

5.5. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONSPROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS   

 

A.A. Proclamation:Proclamation: Gun Violence Awareness Day   

 

6.6. COUNCIL LIAISON REPORTSCOUNCIL LIAISON REPORTS   

 

7.7. APPOINTMENTSAPPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the general
public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not be open to the public, for the
purpose of discussing or considering employment, assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal,
salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

  

 

A.A. Consideration of Appointments:Consideration of Appointments:  Beautification and Public Art Commission.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

Make three appointments to terms expiring June 2027. 
 

8.8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGSLIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS

Applications under Liquor License Public Hearings may be considered under one public hearing and may be
acted upon by one motion unless otherwise requested by Council.

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Open the Public Hearing
2. Staff Presentation
3. Council Questions
4. Public Comment
5. Close Public Hearing
6. Council Deliberation and Action

The City Council has the option to:

1. Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval;
2. Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial based on the testimony received at

the public hearing and/or other factors.

  

 

A.A. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Mikal Charles Antunez, "D-Luxe Barbershop," 18
N. Leroux Street, Series 07 (Beer and Wine Bar), Location/Owner Transfer
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval;
2. Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial based on the testimony received at the

public hearing and/or other factors.

 



      
9.9. CONSENT AGENDACONSENT AGENDA

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine. Unless a member of City
Council expresses a desire at the meeting to remove an item from the Consent Agenda for discussion, the
Consent Agenda will be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Approve the Consent Agenda as posted.

  

 

A.A. Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract: Purchase of two (2) 10-Wheel Snowplow Dump Trucks from
RWC Group LLC
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Approve the equipment purchase for two (2) 2025 International HX520 SFA Heavy Duty plow trucks from
RWC Group, LLC in the amount of $782,210.11 through cooperative purchase contract #CTR069476 with
the Arizona Department of Administration, State procurement office and;

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 

B.B. Consideration and Approval of Construction Services ContractConsideration and Approval of Construction Services Contract:  Approve the Contract with Major
League Painting Inc. for Painting Downtown Green Assets
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Approve the Contract with Major League Painting, Inc in the amount of $168,181.75 to cover costs for all
personnel, equipment, tools, materials, supervision, and services for the painting and finishing of specified
assets within the boundaries of Route 66 and Cherry Ave, spanning from Humphrey to Verde Streets in
municipal green.

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute all necessary documents.

 

C.C. Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approval of a Construction Manager at Risk Construction
Phase Services Agreement for the Street Maintenance Program and approve GMP 1 to C and E Paving &
Grading, LLC.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Approve the Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) Construction Phase Services Agreement with C and E
Paving & Grading, LLC for the Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025 & 2026 for a Guaranteed
Maximum Price (GMP) of $6,376,102.20; and

2. Approve GMP 1 authorizing C and E Paving & Grading, LLC to execute the 2024 Street Maintenance
Program; and

3. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 

D.D. Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract: Cooperative Purchase Contract with Carollo Engineers, Inc. for
Engineering Services on the Fort Tuthill Well Pump House #2 in an amount not to exceed $499,988.00.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Approve the Cooperative Purchase Contract with Carollo Engineers, Inc. for Engineering Services on the
Fort Tuthill Well Pump House #2 in an amount not to exceed $499,988.00; and

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 



      
E.E. Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approval of the Cooperative Purchase Contract with PFVT

Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford for the purchase of Four 2023 Ford Explorer Police Interceptors for the
Flagstaff Police Department in the amount of $211,955.44.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Approval of the Cooperative Purchase Contract with PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford for the purchase
of Four 2023 Ford Explorer Police Interceptors for the Flagstaff Police Department in the amount of
$211,955.44; and

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 

F.F. Consideration and Approval of Council Meeting Schedule Adjustment:Consideration and Approval of Council Meeting Schedule Adjustment: Reschedule the August 27,
2024 regular meeting to August 26, 2024.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

Reschedule the Tuesday, August 27, 2024 meeting to Monday, August 26, 2024.
 

G.G. Consideration and Approval of Letter of Support:Consideration and Approval of Letter of Support: Letter of Support to advance the Northeastern
Arizona Indian Water Rights Settlement Act
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

Approve the Letter of Support
 

10.10. REGULAR AGENDAREGULAR AGENDA   

 

A.A. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-25:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-25:  A resolution of the Council of the City of
Flagstaff, Arizona adopting the tentative budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-25 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-25 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-25

 

B.B. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-24:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-24:  A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council
adopting the City of Flagstaff Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Pension Funding Policy;
delegating authority; and establishing an effective date.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-24 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-24 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-24

 

C.C. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-23:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-23:  A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council,
designating its Chief Fiscal Officer for officially submitting the fiscal year 2024-2025 expenditure limitation
report to the Arizona Auditor General, and establishing an effective date.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-23 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-23 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-23

 



      
D.D. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-26:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-26:  A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council,

amending the Procurement Code Manual, Article 4 and adding Article 32 and establishing an effective date.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-26 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-26 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-26

 

E.E. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-22 and Ordinance No. 2024-16:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-22 and Ordinance No. 2024-16:  A resolution
of the Flagstaff City Council declaring as a public record that certain document filed with the City Clerk and
entitled "2024 amendments to chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 of the city code related to the parks
and recreation commission, tourism commission, beautification and public art commission, open spaces
commission, and hospitality industry tax revenues" and An ordinance of the City Council of the City of
Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 2, Boards and Commissions, Chapters 2-03, Parks and
Recreation Commission, 2-13, Tourism Commission, 2-14, Beautification and Public Art Commission, and 2-
20, Open Spaces Commission, and Title 3, Business Regulations, Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax
Revenues, by adopting by reference that certain document entitled "2024 Amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-
13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 of the City Code Related to the Parks and Recreation Commission, Tourism
Commission, Beautification and Public Art Commission, Open Spaces Commission, and Hospitality Industry
Tax Revenues," providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances, severability, clerical corrections, and
establishing an effective date.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

At the June 4, 2024 Council Meeting: 
1) Read Resolution No. 2024-22 by title only 
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-22 by title only (if approved above) 
3) Read Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only for the first time 
4) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only (if approved above) 
At the June 18, 2024 Council Meeting: 
5) Adopt Resolution No. 2024-22 
6) Read Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only for the final time 
7) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only (if approved above) 
8) Adopt Ordinance No. 2024-16

 

11.11. DISCUSSION ITEMSDISCUSSION ITEMS   

 

A.A. Discussion and Direction following Council's Revisions to Water, Wastewater, and ReclaimedDiscussion and Direction following Council's Revisions to Water, Wastewater, and Reclaimed
Water Model Assumptions and Resulting RatesWater Model Assumptions and Resulting Rates
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

The desired outcome is for the Council to confirm their recommended rate model revisions to develop the
final rates package for Council consideration at the June 18 and July 2 public hearings.

 

12.12. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTSFUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by three members of the Council, an item will be moved to a regularly-
scheduled Council meeting.

  

 

A.A. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):  A request by Councilmember McCarthy to place on a future
agenda a discussion regarding towing and car storage charges and the use of cash versus credit cards.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

Council Direction

 



      
B.B. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):  A request by Councilmember Matthews to place on a future

agenda a discussion about expanding the Employer Assisted Housing program and how to expand the
program to local employers for workforce housing using incentives.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

Council Direction
 

13.13. OPEN CALL TO THE PUBLICOPEN CALL TO THE PUBLIC   

 

14.14. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS TO/FROM MAYOR, COUNCIL, AND STAFF, AND FUTURE AGENDAINFORMATIONAL ITEMS TO/FROM MAYOR, COUNCIL, AND STAFF, AND FUTURE AGENDA
ITEM REQUESTSITEM REQUESTS

  

 

15.15. ADJOURNMENTADJOURNMENT   

 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on                        ,
at                    a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this                   day of                                          , 2024.

__________________________________________
Stacy Saltzburg, MMC, City Clerk 
                                            

THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ENDEAVORS TO MAKE ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. With 48-hour advance notice, reasonable accommodations will be made
upon request for persons with disabilities or non-English speaking residents. Please call the City Clerk (928) 213-2076 or email at stacy.saltzburg@flagstaffaz.gov to request an accommodation to participate
in this public meeting. 

NOTICE TO PARENTS AND LEGAL GUARDIANS: Parents and legal guardians have the right to consent before the City of Flagstaff makes a video or voice recording of a minor child, pursuant to A.R.S. § 1-
602(A)(9). The Flagstaff City Council meetings are live-streamed and recorded and may be viewed on the City of Flagstaff's website. If you permit your child to attend/participate in a televised Council meeting,
a recording will be made. You may exercise your right not to consent by not allowing your child to attend/participate in the meeting.



   7. A.  7. A.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From:
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration of Appointments:Consideration of Appointments:  Beautification and Public Art Commission.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Make three appointments to terms expiring June 2027. 

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The Beautification and Public Art Commission consists of seven citizens, and recommends expenditures from
the BBB beautification fund and the public art portion of the Arts and Science fund. It studies and
recommends community beautification projects ranging from landscaping and irrigation, signs and billboards,
buildings, street-scapes, gateways, the purchase and installation of public art projects within beautification
projects, and property acquisition for beautification and/or public art and neighborhood-initiated projects, to
mention a few. There are currently three open seats due to term expiration. It is important to fill vacancies on
Boards and Commissions quickly to allow the Commission to continue meeting on a regular basis. The City of
Flagstaff is committed to increasing diversity in every board and commission, please consider how the
applicant stated they may contribute to this commitment.

There are seven applications on file for consideration by the Council, they are as follows:

Robert "Dan" Duke (new applicant)
Erin Gardner (new applicant)
Carla McCord (current commissioner)
Matt McGrath (current commissioner)
Michael Rulon (new applicant)
Audra Travelbee (new applicant)
Genelyn Tuliao (new applicant)

In an effort to reduce exposure to personal information the applicant roster and applications will be submitted
to the City Council separately.

COUNCIL APPOINTMENT ASSIGNMENT:COUNCIL APPOINTMENT ASSIGNMENT: Councilmember Matthews, Councilmember Harris, and
Councilmember McCarthy

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
These are voluntary positions and there is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
Not applicable. 

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
None. 



Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

1. Appoint three Commissioners: By appointing members at this time, the Beautification and Public Art
Commission will be at full membership, allowing the group to meet and provide recommendations to the
City Council.

2. Postpone the action to allow for further discussion or expand the list of candidates.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Inclusive and Engaged Community - Foster community pride and civic engagement; advance social equity
and social justice in Flagstaff; facilitate and foster diversity and inclusivity; and enhance community outreach
and engagement opportunities. 

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
None. 

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None. 

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
Connect 2.2: Encourage community organizations such as the local Continuum of Care to continue to
integrate equity into programs and policies.

Attachments:Attachments: BPAC Authority



CHAPTER 2-14
BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION

SECTIONS:
2-14-001-0001    CREATION OF COMMISSION:
2-14-001-0002    COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE:
2-14-001-0003    COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS:
2-14-001-0004    ORGANIZATION:
2-14-001-0005    MEETINGS:
2-14-001-0006    DUTIES:

2-14-001-0001 CREATION OF COMMISSION:

There is hereby established a City Beautification and Public Art Commission. There shall 
be seven (7) voting members of said Commission who shall meet as hereinafter 
provided to consider and recommend programs for the expenditure of the beautification 
and arts and sciences portions of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax allocated under 
Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues.

"Arts and sciences" means support for Flagstaff arts, scientific and cultural activities, 
events and organizations to provide direct and indirect citizen participation and 
enhancement of the overall quality of life and community image including support of 
public art. (Same meaning as set forth in Section 3-06-001-0001.)

"Beautification" means any modification of the urban physical environment to increase 
pleasure to the senses or pleasurably exalt the mind or spirit or strengthen the urban 
design framework of the City (same meaning as set forth in Section 3-06-001-0001). 
(Ord. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988; Ord. 2006-15, Amended, 05/16/2006; Ord. 2007-07, 
Amended, 02/06/2007; Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 11/18/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 
01/05/2016)

2-14-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE:

The composition of the membership shall consist of seven (7) members appointed by 
the City Council. 

Each member shall serve three (3) year terms, on a staggered basis. A member’s term 
in office shall commence with the first regular Commission meeting following the 
appointment and terminate with the regular Commission meeting at which the successor 
takes office. No voting member of the Commission may be appointed to more than two 
(2) full consecutive terms. (Ord. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988; Ord. 1674, Amended, 



09/18/1990; Ord. 2006-15, Amended, 05/16/2006; Ord. 2007-04, Amended, 02/06/2007; 
Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 11/18/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016)

2-14-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS:

Members of the Commission shall serve without compensation. (Ord. 1580, Enacted, 
08/02/1988)

2-14-001-0004 ORGANIZATION:

The Commission shall elect a Chairperson from among its members. The term of the 
Chairperson shall be one year with eligibility for reelection. Commission members may 
not serve more than two (2) consecutive terms as Chairperson. The Council 
representative shall not be eligible for the Chair. (Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988)

2-14-001-0005 MEETINGS:

A.    The Commission shall hold at least one (1) regular meeting per month, which shall 
at all times be open to the public; the time and place of said meeting shall be posted in 
accordance with the applicable Arizona State Statutes.

B.    A quorum consisting of a minimum of four (4) voting members of the Commission 
shall be required to conduct business. (Ord. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. 2006-15, 
Amended, 05/16/2006; Ord. 2016-30, Amended, 07/05/2016)

2-14-001-0006 DUTIES:

The duties of the Commission shall be to:

A.    The Commission shall be responsible for preparing a Five (5) Year Plan. The Five 
(5) Year Plan shall be used as a guideline for future programs. Said Plan shall be 
presented to the Council prior to April 1st of each year.

B.    Develop and present to City Council an Annual Plan outlining the Commission’s 
program recommendations for the upcoming fiscal year. Said plan shall be presented to 
the Council prior to April 1st of each year.

C.    Make recommendations to the City Council concerning the annual budgetary 
allocation of the beautification and public art portions of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax 
and other monies as deemed appropriate by the City Council, to include, but not be 
limited to:

1.    Purchase, installation or modification of landscaping and irrigation systems;

2.    Purchase, removal or modification of billboards and nonconforming signs;



3.    Beautification of buildings and facilities, streetscapes and gateways;

4.    Purchase and installation of public art projects;

5.    Purchase or lease of easements or property necessary for beautification 
projects.

D.    Make recommendations to the City Council for public art projects by:

1.    Reviewing and defining potential public art projects and writing project 
descriptions.

2.    Determining the artist selection method and writing the call to artists for public 
art projects.

3.    Evaluating public art proposals for recommendation to the City Council.

4.    Facilitating display of local art in public facilities.

E.    With respect to the arts and science portion of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax 
allocated under Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues, the Commission shall 
make recommendations to the Council concerning the annual budgetary allocation of the 
arts and science portion of this tax, to include but not be limited to:

1.    Developing and supporting the Flagstaff arts, scientific and cultural activities, 
events and organizations to provide direct and indirect citizen participation, and 
opportunities for enhancement of the overall quality of life and community image.

2.    Developing, acquiring and distributing material to promote arts and science.

3.    Developing financial assistance programs to stimulate artistic and scientific 
activities in Flagstaff.

4.    Retaining of appropriate staff to implement approved programs.

F.    Perform those additional duties as determined by the City Council, related to the 
Beautification and Public Art Commission. (Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; 
Ordinance No. 2006-15, Amended, 05/16/2006; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016)



   8. A.  8. A.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From:
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Mikal Charles Antunez, "D-Luxe Barbershop,"
18 N. Leroux Street, Series 07 (Beer and Wine Bar), Location/Owner Transfer
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval;
2. Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial based on the testimony received

at the public hearing and/or other factors.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council recommendation
is forwarded back to the State. A Series 07 beer and wine bar license allows a beer and wine bar retailer to
sell and serve beer and wine, primarily by individual portions, to be consumed on the premises and in the
original container for consumption on or off the premises. A Series 07 license is a "quota" license available
only through the Liquor License Lottery or for purchase on the open market. D-Luxe Barbershop is an existing
business in Flagstaff and they are requesting a location/owner transfer. They purchased the license from
Drayton, Inc. in April 2024. If approved, it will be the 26th active series 07 license in Flagstaff. To view
surrounding liquor licenses, please visit the Active Liquor Licenses Map. 

The property has been posted as required, and the Police and Community Development divisions have
reviewed the application and provided their respective reports.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
Not applicable. 

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
Key Considerations:Key Considerations:
Because the application is for a location and owner transfer, consideration may be given to the personal
qualifications of the applicant and the location.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is June 24, 2024.

Community Involvement:Community Involvement:

https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=1a0f7ae77701495f9b04e20fb5a7dfea


This business will contribute to the tax base of the community. We are not aware of any other relevant
considerations.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:Expanded Options and Alternatives:
The application was properly posted on May 14, 2024. No written protests have been received to date.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there are no Community Priorities that directly apply.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Not applicable. 

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
Not applicable. 

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
Not applicable. 

Attachments:Attachments: Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 07 Description
PD Memo
Zoning Memo
Map



   

 

 

 

 

 

 
OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

 
5/21/2024 
 
Mikal Charles Antunez 
18 N. Leroux Street 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
  
Dear Mr. Antunez, 
  
Your application for a Series 7 Liquor License for D-Luxe Barbershop located at 18 N. Leroux 
Street, Flagstaff, AZ was posted on March 14, 2024. The City Council will consider the 
application at a public hearing during their scheduled Regular City Council Meeting on June 4, 
2024, which is scheduled to begin at 3:00 p.m. 
 
It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting via video conference 
(Microsoft Teams Meeting) or in person and be prepared to answer any questions the City 
Council may have. Failure to be available for questions could result in a recommendation for 
denial of your application. We suggest you contact your legal counsel or the Department of 
Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the criteria for your license. To help 
you understand how the public hearing process will be conducted, we are enclosing a copy of 
the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.  
 
The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on June 3, 
2024, and the application may be removed from the premises at that time. 
 
There is an $815 application fee which needs to be received before the hearing date. Payment 
can be made online at https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/2452/E--Services under Business Licensing 
Payment Online Services by clicking Liquor License Request Payment, in person at the 
payment window, or you can send a check to my attention at 211 W. Aspen Ave., Flagstaff, AZ 
86001.  
 
If you have any questions, please call me at 928-213-2077 (office) or 928-220-5995 (cell). 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Stacy M. Fobar 

 
Stacy M. Fobar 
Deputy City Clerk 
 
Enclosures 

City of Flagstaff

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/ap/t-59584e83/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_OGU5OTBmZTUtMzZhMS00Zjk4LWI1NjItMjgxMWMwYmE3NmMy%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%25225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522092ff328-7f9a-4a81-ae2d-fba9ff4ca8ad%2522%257d&data=05%7C01%7CStacy.Fobar%40flagstaffaz.gov%7C8f1028bc36064a734b2d08dba671dd99%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638286780237749497%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HOZfSIURsptvf2J0wm8WvbipEJHwlJIv9zIN402FElg%3D&reserved=0
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/2452/E--Services


GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 

 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

3. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application. The applicant can give a presentation not exceeding ten (10) 

minutes.  Council may question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence 

provided by the Applicant. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types: Series 07 Beer and Wine Bar License 

Transferable (From person to person and/or location to location within the same county 
only) 
On & off-sale retail privileges  
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary.  
 
PURPOSE:  
Allows a beer and wine bar retailer to sell and serve beer and wine, primarily by individual 
portions, to be consumed on the premises and in the original container for consumption 
on or off the premises.  
 
ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES:  
A retailer with off-sale privileges may deliver spirituous liquor off of the licensed premises 
in connection with a retail sale. Payment must be made no later than the time of 
DELIVERY. The retailer must complete a Department approved "Record of Delivery" form 
for each spirituous liquor retail delivery.  
 
On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-
day operations must attend a basic and management training class.  
 
A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept delivery of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department.  
 
A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must 
be posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar.  
 
A log must be kept by the licensee of all persons employed at the premises including each 
employee's name, date and place of birth, address and responsibilities.  
 
Off-sale ("To Go") package sales can be made on the bar premises as long as the area of 
off-sale operation does not utilize a separate entrance and exit from the one provided for 
the bar.  
 
Bar, beer and wine bar and restaurant licensees must pay an annual surcharge of $20.00. 
The money collected from these licensees will be used by the Department for an auditor 
to review compliance by restaurants with the restaurant licensing provisions of ARS 4-
205.02.  
 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 FLAGSTAFF POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 911 SAWMILL RD • FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001• (928) 779-3646 

 ADMIN FAX (928)213-3372 
 TDD 1-800-842-4681 
 

  
 

 Chief of Police 
      Dan Musselman  
 
 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

Memo #24-045 

 

TO:  Chief Musselman  

 

FROM: Sgt. N. Almendarez #703    

 

DATE: May 14, 2024 

 

RE: Owner Transfer – Series 07 (Beer and Wine Bar) Liquor License Application– 

D-Luxe Barbershop 

 

 

 

 

On May 14th, 2024, I initiated an investigation into an Owner Transfer application for a Series 07 

(Beer and Wine Bar) liquor license filed by Mikal Antunez (Agent and Controlling Person). This 

is for an owner transfer, and the application number is 294859. It is for D-Luxe Barbershop, located 

at 18 North Leroux Street, Flagstaff, AZ. 

 

I conducted a query through local systems and public access on Mikal Antunez. I discovered no 

active felony investigations. I conducted a search for current or historical liquor violations on the 

business and found no violations.   

 

I found no evidence that the applicant has taken the mandatory liquor license training. This 

business is not located within 300 feet of a school.    

 

A representative for the business was invited to be present for the council meeting on June 4th, 

2024.   

 

 

 

 



 

D-Luxe Barbershop, Series 7, 18 N Leroux St., May 21, 2024 
 

 

 

Planning and Development Services Memorandum 

 

To: Stacy Fobar, Deputy City Clerk 

From:  Reggie Eccleston, Code Compliance Manager 

CC:  Michelle McNulty, Planning Director 

Date: May 21, 2024 

Re: Application for Liquor License #294859            

18 N Leroux St., Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 

Assessor’s Parcel Number 100-20-013 

Mikal Charles Antunez on behalf of D-Luxe Barbershop 

 

This application is a request for a Location/Owner transfer Series 7 Beer & Wine 

Bar liquor license by Mikal Charles Antunez on behalf of D-Luxe Barbershop.  

This business is located within the Central Business district.   This district does 

allow for this use.      

 

There are no active Zoning Code violations associated with the applicant or the 

property at this time. 

 

  
 



18 North Leroux Street, Flag

Show search results for 18 Nort…

+
–

Active Liquor Licenses   City of Flagstaff GIS

https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/home/
stacy.fobar
Polygonal Line

stacy.fobar
Callout
D-Luxe Barbershop



   9. A.  9. A.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Sam Beckett, Public Works Streets Section Director
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Scott Overton

Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Purchase of two (2) 10-Wheel Snowplow Dump Trucks from
RWC Group LLC
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Approve the equipment purchase for two (2) 2025 International HX520 SFA Heavy Duty plow trucks from
RWC Group, LLC in the amount of $782,210.11 through cooperative purchase contract #CTR069476
with the Arizona Department of Administration, State procurement office and;

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Public Works - Streets Section is responsible for the timely snow plowing and added ice traction response on
our City owned transportation network. Response to snow events is critical to maintain the safest travel
possible on City streets. These trucks are replacements to existing Streets trucks that have far past met their
sustainable life with the city. These 10-wheel trucks are also key in summer maintenance operations for dirt
road repair, shoulder work, asphalt/pothole repair and general material hauling. In recent years these trucks
have been critical to the success of our flood mitigation efforts and debris removal. The trucks have been
recommended and approved by the Fleet Management Committee (FMC) and Budget Committee for the
requested action.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
Project Name: Two (2) Streets 10-wheel Plow Trucks
Cost: $782,210.11
Account Number Budgeted: 040-06-161-0614-6-4401 
FY Budgeted Amount: $620,000.00. Due to inflation and updated emissions equipment the price for each
truck has increased. The remaining fund capacity of $162,210.11 is in GL 040-06-162-3073-6-4443
Funding Source: Highway User Revenue Funds (HURF)

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
Snow operations are a substantial element of the Streets work program. The City's Snow Operations Manual
maps the entire community by zone. Equipment and operators are tasked with the plowing of snow for over
700 lane miles of City owned roadways. This operation can last a few days to over a week depending on the
snow event or weather conditions. In addition to plowing, we use this equipment to apply traction assistance
product. In summer months this truck is used in a dump truck capacity for hauling operations. This equipment
directly supports City policy to provide snow plowing for City owned roadways along with summer
maintenance operations. 

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
No



Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
N/a

Background and History:Background and History:
The Purchasing section has reviewed the competitively solicited cooperative purchase options available and
confirmed that the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) conducted a competitive and open
procurement process through Request for Proposal Solicitation No. BPM005536 that resulted in Contract No.
CTR069476 with RWC International LTD. This contract has been verified as valid and appropriate for the
purchase of the specified vehicles and presents the best value to the City.
 

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Provide, manage, and maintain effective infrastructure for multimodal and active transportation

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
N/A

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
These trucks align with the City's goal to produce less carbon emissions while still providing the highest levels
of service to our community. These new trucks have advance emissions systems as well as diesel exhaust
particulate filter design to significantly reduce carbon out put. 

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
N/A

Attachments:Attachments: Contract # 2024-175 - RWC
Exhibit A - City of Flagstaff 10 wheeler plows 2 units State Contract CTR069476
Exhibit B1 - CTR069476_Contract_Documents (1)
Exhibit B2 - CTR069476 Pricing



1

COOPERATIVE PURCHASE CONTRACT
Contract No. 2024-175

This Cooperative Purchase Contract is made and entered into this _________ day of June 2024 by and
between the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, a political subdivision of the State of Arizona (“City”) and RWC
Group, an Arizona Corporation, DBA RWC International (“Contractor”).

RECITALS:

A. Contractor is a fully authorized vendor of 2025 HX520 SFA Trucks.

B. The State of Arizona, Procurement Department, Public Sector conducted a competitive and
open procurement process through Request for Proposal Solicitation No. BPM005536 that
resulted in Contract No. CTR069476 with Contractor (“Agency Contract”); and

C. The City has authority to enter into a cooperative purchase contract with Contractor utilizing the
Agency Contract.

AGREEMENT:

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the Parties agree as
follows:

1. Materials and or Services Purchased: Contractor shall provide to the City the materials and or
services, as specified in the Sales Proposal attached as Exhibit A, and in accordance with the
Agency Contract. A general description of materials and/or services being purchased is:

(2) 2025 HX520 SFA Trucks Ten (10) Wheel Trucks

2. Specific Requirements of City: Contractor shall comply with all specific purchase and delivery
requirements and/or options of City, as specified in Exhibit A and incorporated by reference.

3. Payment: Payment to Contractor for the materials and or services provided for will be in the
amount seven hundred, eighty-two thousand two hundred ten dollars and eleven cents
($782,210.11); made in accordance with the price list and terms set forth in the Agency
Contract.

4. Terms and Conditions of Agency Contract Apply: All provisions of the Agency Contract
documents attached as Exhibit B, including any amendments, are incorporated in and shall
apply to this Contract as though fully set forth herein. Contractor is responsible for promptly
notifying City in writing of any changes to the Agency Contract, including, specifically changes in
price for materials and/or services.

5. Certificates of Insurance: All insurance provisions of the Agency Contract shall apply, including
any requirement to name the City as an additional insured. Prior to commencing performance
under this Contract, Contractor shall furnish City with a copy of the current Certificate of
Insurance required by the Agency Contract.

6. Term: This Cooperative Purchase Contract shall commence upon execution by the Parties and
shall continue until expiration or termination of the underlying Agency Contract, unless sooner
terminated by City in writing.



2

7. Notice: Any formal notice required under the Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified
mail and email as follows:

To the City: To Contractor:
Samuel Beckett
City of Flagstaff
211 W. Aspen Ave.
Flagstaff, AZ  86001
Samuel.Beckett@flagstaffaz.gov
Phone: (928) 213-2105

RWC Group
Mary R Wilson
600 North 75th Avenue
PHOENIX AZ 85043
(602) 307-1050

With a copy to:
Emily Markel
City of Flagstaff
211 W. Aspen Ave.
Flagstaff, AZ  86001
EMarkel@flagstaffaz.gov
Phone: (928) 213-2276

8. Authority: Each Party warrants that it has authority to enter into the Contract and perform its
obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into the Contract.

RWC Group

By:_____________________________

Title:____________________________

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:_____________________________

Title:____________________________

ATTEST:

________________________________
City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

________________________________
City Attorney’s Office

Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 20___



3

EXHIBIT A
SALES PROPOSAL

(attached)

1. Quote for (2) 2025 HV520 SFA Trucks - 12 pages



4

EXHIBIT B
AGENCY CONTRACT

(attached)

1. ADOT Contract #CTR069476 - 77 pages
2. Contract price sheet - 1 page



Hx520 SFA

Sales Proposal For:

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

Presented By:

RWC Group



Prepared For: Presented By:
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Mike Stress
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.
FLAGSTAFF, AZ 86001-
(928)779 - 7619
Reference ID: revised new emi

RWC Group
Mary R Wilson

600 North 75th Avenue
PHOENIX AZ 85043 -

(602)307-1050

Thank you for the opportunity to provide you with the following quotation on a new International truck.  I am sure the following detailed 
specification will meet your operational requirements, and I look forward to serving your business needs.

Model Profile
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

AXLE CONFIG: 6X4
APPLICATION: Front Plow with spreader
MISSION: Requested GVWR: 66000. Calc. GVWR: 66000. Calc. GCWR: 140000

Calc. Start / Grade Ability: 32.07% / 2.87% @ 55 MPH
Calc. Geared Speed: 79.2 MPH

DIMENSION: Wheelbase: 240.00, CA: 150.00, Axle to Frame: 63.00
ENGINE, DIESEL: {Cummins X15 470V} Productivity Series, EPA 2024, 470HP @ 1900 RPM, 1750 lb-ft Torque @

900 RPM, 2000 RPM Governed Speed, 481 Peak HP (Max)
TRANSMISSION, AUTOMATIC: {Allison 4500 RDS} 6th Generation Controls, Wide Ratio, 6-Speed with Double Overdrive, with

PTO Provision, Less Retarder, Includes Oil Level Sensor, On/Off Highway
CLUTCH: Omit Item (Clutch & Control)
AXLE, FRONT NON-DRIVING: {Meritor MFS-20-133A} Wide Track, I-Beam Type, 20,000-lb Capacity
AXLE, REAR, TANDEM: {Meritor RT-46-164P} Single Reduction, Standard Width, 46,000-lb Capacity, with Lube Oil Pump,

Driver Controlled Locking Differential in Forward-Rear and Rear-Rear Axle, 200 Wheel Ends Gear
Ratio: 4.56

CAB: Conventional, Day Cab
TIRE, FRONT: (2) 425/65R22.5 Load Range L HAC 3 (CONTINENTAL), 465 rev/mile, 68 MPH, All-Position
TIRE, REAR: (8) 11R22.5 Load Range G ENDURANCE RSA (GOODYEAR), 496 rev/mile, 75 MPH, All-Position
SUSPENSION, REAR, TANDEM: {Hendrickson HMX EX 460} Walking Beam, 46,000-lb Capacity, 54" Axle Spacing, Rubber

Springs, with Transverse Torque Rods, Rubber End Bushings
PAINT: Cab schematic 100LY

Location 1: 9219, Winter White (Std)
Chassis schematic N/A

May 17, 2024

2 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

HX52000 Base Chassis, Model HX520 SFA with 240.00 Wheelbase, 150.00 CA, and 63.00
Axle to Frame.

8886/7472 16358

AXLE CONFIGURATION

1AND AXLE CONFIGURATION {Navistar} 6x4 133/215 348
Notes
: Pricing may change if axle configuration is changed.

ENGINE

12EWY ENGINE, DIESEL {Cummins X15 470V} Productivity Series, EPA 2024, 470HP @
1900 RPM, 1750 lb-ft Torque @ 900 RPM, 2000 RPM Governed Speed, 481 Peak
HP (Max)

0/0 0

12VJT EMISSION, CALENDAR YEAR {Cummins X15} EPA, OBD and GHG Certified for
Calendar Year 2024

0/0 0

12XCP CARB EMISSION WARR COMPLIANCE for Cummins X15 Engines Less than or
Equal to 500 HP

0/0 0

12WZJ CARB IDLE COMPLIANCE Low NOx Idle Engine, Complies with California Clean
Air Regulations; Includes "Certified Clean Idle" Decal located on Driver Door

0/0 0

12WVG EPA IDLE COMPLIANCE Low NOx Idle Engine, Complies with EPA Clean Air
Regulations; Includes "Certified Clean Idle" Decal on Hood

0/0 0

10UAG VEHICLE REGISTRATION IDENTITY ID for Other State << This new vehicle
contains a non-Mitigated Legacy Engine and must be registered outside of the State
of California. You may be held liable under California law for failure to properly
register or otherwise failing to follow California law >>

0/0 0

Notes
: CANNOT BE REGISTERED IN CALIFORNIA. For vehicles that will be registered
in States other than California.

12XBN RADIATOR Aluminum, Welded, Cross Flow, Front to Back System, 1084 SqIn, with
866 SqIn Charge Air Cooler

0/0 0

Includes
: RADIATOR HOSES Premium, Rubber

12THT FAN DRIVE {Horton Drivemaster} Two-Speed Type, Direct Drive, with Residual
Torque Device for Disengaged Fan Speed

0/0 0

Includes
: FAN Nylon

12VCC AIR CLEANER Single Element, with Integral Pre-Cleaner, Integral Snow Valve and
In-Cab Control, Engine Mounted

1/0 1

12703 ANTI-FREEZE Red, Extended Life Coolant; To -40 Degrees F/ -40 Degrees C,
Freeze Protection

0/0 0

12WCT BLOCK HEATER, ENGINE {Phillips} 120V/1500W, with "Y" Cord for Fuel Heater 2/0 2
Includes
: BLOCK HEATER SOCKET Receptacle Type; Mounted below Drivers Door

12991 COLD STARTING EQUIPMENT Automatic Ether; with Engine ECM Control, Ether
Bottle Not Included

0/0 0

12WTA FAN DRIVE SPECIAL EFFECTS Fan Cooling Ring with Fan Shroud Effects,
Engine Mounted

0/0 0

12WCX HOSE CLAMPS, RADIATOR HOSES {Gates} Shrink Band Type 0/0 0
12WYZ RADIATOR DRAIN & FILL FITTING SPECIAL; To Vacuum Out or Fill the Cooling

System from the Bottom of Radiator, for Use with Quick-Connect Radiator Drain
Tool or Shop Coolant Evacuation-Fill System

0/0 0

TRANSMISSION

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

3 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

13BEK TRANSMISSION, AUTOMATIC {Allison 4500 RDS} 6th Generation Controls, Wide
Ratio, 6-Speed with Double Overdrive, with PTO Provision, Less Retarder, Includes
Oil Level Sensor, On/Off Highway

170/78 248

13WUC ALLISON SPARE INPUT/OUTPUT for Rugged Duty Series (RDS) and Regional
Haul Series (RHS), General Purpose Trucks, Construction, Package Number 223

0/0 0

13WVV NEUTRAL AT STOP Allison Transmission Shifts to Neutral When Service Brake is
Depressed and Vehicle is at Stop; Remains in Neutral Until Service Brake is
Released

0/0 0

13WCT OIL COOLER, TRANSMISSION {Champ} Remote Mounted, for Automatic
Transmission

0/0 0

13WDZ SHIFT CONTROL PARAMETERS {Allison} 3000 or 4000 Series Transmissions,
S1 Performance in Primary and Fixed Programming in Secondary

0/0 0

13WLM TRANSMISSION OIL Synthetic; 63 thru 76 Pints 0/0 0
13WET TRANSMISSION SHIFT CONTROL Column Mounted Stalk Shifter, Not for Use

with Allison 1000 & 2000 Series Transmission
1/0 1

CLUTCH

11001 CLUTCH Omit Item (Clutch & Control) -105/-28 -133

REAR AXLES, SUSPENSIONS

14HRE AXLE, REAR, TANDEM {Meritor RT-46-164P} Single Reduction, Standard Width,
46,000-lb Capacity, with Lube Oil Pump, Driver Controlled Locking Differential in
Forward-Rear and Rear-Rear Axle, 200 Wheel Ends . Gear Ratio: 4.56

0/514 514

14UMX SUSPENSION, REAR, TANDEM {Hendrickson HMX EX 460} Walking Beam,
46,000-lb Capacity, 54" Axle Spacing, Rubber Springs, with Transverse Torque
Rods, Rubber End Bushings

0/37 37

14WCR TRANSVERSE TORQUE RODS {Hendrickson} TRAAX Rod, Transverse Only 0/-8 -8

FRONT AXLES

2ARY AXLE, FRONT NON-DRIVING {Meritor MFS-20-133A} Wide Track, I-Beam Type,
20,000-lb Capacity

186/0 186

FRONT SUSPENSIONS

3ADJ SUSPENSION, FRONT, SPRING Parabolic Taper Leaf, Shackle Type, 20,000-lb
Capacity, Steel Springs 18K Capacity and (2) Rubber Auxiliary Springs 2K
Capacity, Less Shock Absorbers

171/0 171

3772 SHOCK ABSORBERS, FRONT for Suspensions 20,000-lb Capacity and Above 79/0 79

CABS, COWLS, BODIES

16030 CAB Conventional, Day Cab 0/0 0
Includes
: CAB REAR SUSPENSION Air
: CLEARANCE/MARKER LIGHTS (5) LED Roof Mounted
: COAT HOOK, CAB Located on Rear Wall, Centered Above Rear Window
: CONSOLE, CENTER Includes Two Cup Holders and One Additional Storage Area
: CONSOLE, OVERHEAD Molded Plastic with Dual Storage Pockets, Retainer
Nets and CB Radio Pocket; Located Above Driver and Passenger
: COURTESY LIGHT (2) Driver and Passenger Door Mounted
: DOME LIGHT, CAB Rectangular, Door and Instrument Panel Mounted Switch
Activated, Timed Theater Dimming, Center Mounted, Integral to Console
: FLOOR COVERING Rubber, Black
: GLASS, ALL WINDOWS Tinted

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

4 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

: GRAB HANDLE, CAB INTERIOR (1) "A" Pillar Mounted, Passenger Side
: GRAB HANDLE, CAB INTERIOR (4) "B" Pillar and Door Mounted, Two Each Side
: READING LIGHT, CAB Located in Overhead Console
: STORAGE POCKET, DOOR (2) Full Length, Driver and Passenger Door

16ZJA ACCESS, CAB Aluminum, Self-Cleaning, Open and Serrated Design, Driver &
Passenger Sides, Two Steps per Door, for use with Day Cab, Extended Cab or
Sleeper Cab

6/1 7

16BAM AIR CONDITIONER with Integral Heater and Defroster 0/0 0
Includes
: HOSE CLAMPS, HEATER HOSE Mubea Constant Tension Clamps

16VKK CAB INTERIOR TRIM Diamond, for Day Cab 0/0 0
16GEG GAUGE CLUSTER Premium Level; English with English Electronic Speedometer 0/0 0

Includes
: GAUGE CLUSTER DISPLAY: Base Level (3" Monochromatic Display), Premium
Level (5" LCD Color Display); Odometer, Voltmeter, Diagnostic Messages, Gear
Indicator, Trip Odometer, Total Engine Hours, Trip Hours, MPG, Distance to Empty/
Refill for
: GAUGE CLUSTER Speedometer, Tachometer, Engine Coolant Temp, Fuel
Gauge, DEF Gauge, Oil Pressure Gauge, Primary and Secondary Air Pressure
: WARNING SYSTEM Low Fuel, Low DEF, Low Oil Pressure, High Engine Coolant
Temp, Low Battery Voltage (Visual and Audible), Low Air Pressure (Primary and
Secondary)

16HHE GAUGE, AIR CLEANER RESTRICTION {Filter-Minder} Mounted in Instrument
Panel

2/0 2

16SDC GRAB HANDLE, EXTERIOR (2) Chrome, Towel Bar Type, with Anti-Slip Rubber
Inserts, for Cab Entry Mounted Left and Right Side at B-Pillar

6/0 6

16XJP INSTRUMENT PANEL Wing Panel 0/0 0
16HKT IP CLUSTER DISPLAY On Board Diagnostics Display of Fault Codes in Gauge

Cluster
0/0 0

16SNP MIRRORS (2) C-Loop, Power Adjust, Heated, Black Heads and Arms, 7.5" x 14"
Flat Glass, Includes 7.5" x 7" Convex Mirrors, for 102" Load Width

3/0 3

Notes
: Mirror Dimensions are Rounded to the Nearest 0.5"

16SNW MIRROR, CONVEX, LOOK DOWN Right Side, Black, 6" x 10.5" 3/0 3
16SBY MIRROR, CONVEX, HOOD MOUNTED SPECIAL, Wiring Only for Right Side

Heated Mirror, Does Not Include Mirror or Mounting Brackets
5/0 5

16XRX MODESTY PANEL Painted 0/0 0
16VLV MONITOR, TIRE PRESSURE Omit -9/-2 -11
16VCC SEAT BELT All Orange; 1 to 3 0/0 0
16LWK SEAT, DRIVER {ISRI} Series 300, Air Suspension, High Back, Vinyl, Single

Chamber Lumbar, Inboard Armrest, Suspension Cover, Fore/Aft Isolator, Cushion
Extension, Seat Tilt

0/0 0

16LUM SEAT, PASSENGER {National} Non Suspension, High Back with Integral
Headrest, Vinyl, with Fixed Back, with Under Seat Storage

28/12 40

16WJU WINDOW, POWER (2) and Power Door Locks, Left and Right Doors, Includes
Express Down Feature

0/0 0

16XWJ WINDSHIELD WIPER BLADES Winter Type 2/0 2

FRAMES

1CGD FRAME RAILS Heat Treated Alloy Steel (120,000 PSI Yield); 12.50" x 3.750" x
0.500" (317.5mm x 95.25mm x 12.7mm); 480.8" (12212mm) Maximum OAL

317/444 761

1LPG BUMPER, FRONT Gull Wing, Aluminum, Stainless Steel Clad, Heavy Duty 0/0 0
1AMS CROSSMEMBER, FRAME TIE for Heavy Duty 52/4 56
1652 CROSSMEMBER, REAR Relocated to End of Frame -16/81 65
1WCP FRAME EXTENSION, FRONT Integral; 27" in Front of Grille, Includes

Crossmember for Front PTO
179/-22 157

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

5 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

1WRZ TOW HOOK, REAR (2) Frame Mounted; 80,000-lb. Total Capacity -8/41 33
1WXD WHEELBASE RANGE 211" (535cm) Through and Including 256" (650cm) 117/-117 0

BRAKES

4091 BRAKE SYSTEM, AIR Dual System for Straight Truck Applications 0/0 0
Includes
: BRAKE LINES Color and Size Coded Nylon
: PARKING BRAKE CONTROL Yellow Knob, Located on Instrument Panel
: PARKING BRAKE VALVE For Truck
: QUICK RELEASE VALVE On Rear Axle for Spring Brake Release: 1 for 4x2, 2
for 6x4
: SPRING BRAKE MODULATOR VALVE SR-7 with relay valve for 6x4/8x6

4AZJ AIR BRAKE ABS {Bendix AntiLock Brake System} 4-Channel (4 Sensor/4
Modulator) Full Vehicle Wheel Control System, with Automatic Traction Control

0/0 0

4GBM BRAKE, PARKING Manual Push-Pull Pneumatic Parking Brake 1/0 1
4XDT BRAKES, FRONT {Meritor 16.5X6 Q-PLUS CAST} Air S-Cam Type, Cast Spider,

Fabricated Shoe, Double Anchor Pin, Size 16.5" X 6", 23,000-lb Capacity
33/0 33

4EXV BRAKE CHAMBERS, FRONT AXLE {Bendix} 24 SqIn 4/0 4
4LAG SLACK ADJUSTERS, FRONT {Gunite} Automatic 14/0 14
4WBX DUST SHIELDS, FRONT BRAKE for Air Cam Brakes 10/0 10
4XDR BRAKES, REAR {Meritor 16.5X7 Q-PLUS CAST} Air S-Cam Type, Cast Spider,

Fabricated Shoe, Double Anchor Pin, Size 16.5" X 7", 23,000-lb Capacity per Axle
0/104 104

4EXU BRAKE CHAMBERS, REAR AXLE {Bendix EverSure} 30/30 SqIn Spring Brake 0/14 14
4LGG SLACK ADJUSTERS, REAR {Gunite} Automatic 0/28 28
4WDM DUST SHIELDS, REAR BRAKE for Air Cam Brakes 0/20 20
4XEE PARK BRAKE CHAMBERS,ADDITIONAL (2) Spring Brake Type 0/30 30
4SPA AIR COMPRESSOR {Cummins} 18.7 CFM 0/0 0
4EDM AIR DRYER {Bendix AD-HF} with Heater, Includes Pressure Protection Circuits,

Safety Valve, Integral Purge Tank, Governor Pressure Settings 110 psi Cut-In/130
psi Cut-Out, Integrated PuraGuard Coalescing Filtration

0/0 0

4VKC AIR DRYER LOCATION Mounted Inside Left Rail, Back of Cab 0/0 0
4VGN AIR TANK Painted Aluminum, with Straight Thread O-Ring Ports -20/-8 -28
4VJJ AIR TANK LOCATION (3) : One Mounted Inside Right Rail, Back of Cab, Two

Mounted Between Rails, Back of Cab
0/0 0

4WVL DRAIN VALVE {Bendix DV-2} (3) Automatic, with Heater, for Air Tanks 0/0 0
4619 TRAILER CONNECTIONS Four-Wheel, with Hand Control Valve and Tractor

Protection Valve, for Straight Truck
2/0 2

STEERING

5PUB STEERING GEAR (2) {Sheppard M100/HD94} Dual Power 103/-4 99
5710 STEERING COLUMN Tilting and Telescoping 0/0 0
5CAW STEERING WHEEL 4-Spoke; 18" Dia., Black 0/0 0

DRIVELINES

6DGX DRIVELINE SYSTEM {Dana Spicer} Service Free SPL250 Main Driveline with
SPL170 Interaxle Shaft, for 6x4

0/0 0

EXHAUST SYSTEMS

7BLY EXHAUST SYSTEM Horizontal Aftertreatment System, Frame Mounted Right Side
Under Cab, for Single Vertical Tail Pipe, Cab Mounted Right Side

0/0 0

7BES AFTERTREATMENT COVER Polished Aluminum 9/2 11
7SAP ENGINE COMPRESSION BRAKE {Cummins} Interbrake For Cummins Signature/

ISX/X15 Engines; Furnished with Engine
0/0 0

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

6 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

7WDM EXHAUST HEIGHT 10' 0/0 0
7WDN MUFFLER/TAIL PIPE GUARD (1) Aluminum 12/8 20
7WDT TAIL PIPE (1) Straight Type 0/0 0

ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

8000 ELECTRICAL SYSTEM 12-Volt, Standard Equipment 0/0 0
Includes
: HAZARD SWITCH Push On/Push Off, Located on Instrument Panel to Right of
Steering Wheel
: HEADLIGHT DIMMER SWITCH Integral with Turn Signal Lever
: PARKING LIGHT Integral with Front Turn Signal and Rear Tail Light
: STARTER SWITCH Electric, Key Operated
: STOP, TURN, TAIL & B/U LIGHTS Dual, Rear, Combination with Reflector
: WINDSHIELD WIPER SWITCH 2-Speed with Wash and Intermittent Feature (5
Pre-Set Delays), Integral with Turn Signal Lever
: WINDSHIELD WIPERS Single Motor, Electric, Cowl Mounted

12VYL ACCESSORY WIRING, SPECIAL for Road Speed Wire Coiled Under Instrument
Panel for Customer Use

0/0 0

8GXJ ALTERNATOR {Leece-Neville AVI160P2013} Brush Type, 12 Volt, 160 Amp
Capacity, Pad Mount

0/0 0

8RPP ANTENNA Shark Fin, Roof Mounted 1/0 1
8THB BACK-UP ALARM Electric, 102 dBA 0/3 3
8VUK BATTERY BOX Aluminum, with Plastic Cover, 18" Wide, 2-4 Battery Capacity,

Mounted Right Side Back of Cab
0/0 0

8RLZ BATTERY DISCONNECT SWITCH {Cole-Hersee 75920-06} 300 Amp,
Disconnects Cab Power, Does Not Disconnect Charging Circuits, Locks with
Padlock, Battery Box Mounted

0/0 0

8MJU BATTERY SYSTEM {Fleetrite} Maintenance-Free, (3) 12-Volt 2850CCA Total, Top
Threaded Stud

13/9 22

8XMA BEACON MOUNTING BRACKET (2) Stainless, For Customer Furnished Beacon;
Includes Wiring and Dash Mounted Switch

9/4 13

8HAE BODY BUILDER WIRING Rear of Frame; Includes Sealed Connectors for Tail/
Amber Turn/Marker/ Backup/Accessory Power/Ground and Sealed Connector for
Stop/Turn

3/0 3

8RNC CB RADIO Accommodation Package, Header Mounted, Feeds from Accessory
Side of Ignition Switch, Includes Power Source, Two Antennas and Antenna Bases
with Wiring on Both Side Mirrors

0/0 0

8RGA 2-WAY RADIO Wiring Effects; Wiring with 20 Amp Fuse Protection, Includes
Ignition Wire with 5 Amp Fuse, Wire Ends Heat Shrink and Routed to Center of
Header Console in Cab

1/0 1

8XAH CIRCUIT BREAKERS Manual-Reset (Main Panel) SAE Type III with Trip
Indicators, Replaces All Fuses

0/0 0

8HAH ELECTRIC TRAILER BRAKE/LIGHTS Accommodation Package to Rear of Frame;
for Combined Trailer Stop, Tail, Turn, Marker Light Circuits; Includes Electric Trailer
Brake Accommodation Package with Cab Connections for Mounting Customer
Installed Electric Brake Unit, Less Trailer Socket

0/2 2

8WXB HEADLIGHT WARNING BUZZER Sounds When Head Light Switch is on and
Ignition Switch is in "Off" Position

0/0 0

8XNY HEADLIGHTS Halogen 0/0 0
8WRB HEADLIGHTS ON W/WIPERS Headlights Will Automatically Turn On if Windshield

Wipers are Turned On
0/0 0

8836 HORN, AIR (2) Single Bell, Organ Tone, Extra Long, Chrome 4/0 4
8VAY HORN, ELECTRIC Disc Style 0/0 0
8RPS RADIO AM/FM/WB/Clock/Bluetooth/USB Input/Auxiliary Input 3/0 3
8695 SNOW SHIELD (2) Chrome; for Dual Air Horns 1/0 1

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

7 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

8RBZ SPEAKER, AUXILIARY, CB RADIO with Jack for CB; Mounted Left Side Above
Driver's Door

0/0 0

8RMV SPEAKERS (2) 6.5" Dual Cone Mounted in Doors 0/0 0
8WTL STARTING MOTOR {Delco Remy 39MT} 12 Volt, Gear Reduced, with Thermal

Over-Crank Protection
1/0 1

8TKJ STOP, TURN, TAIL & B/U LIGHTS {Truck Lite} Super 44, with LED Lights for Stop,
Turn, Tail and Backup Lights, with Power Module, "International" Termination and
Less Junction Box, Includes License Plate Light

-1/9 8

8WPZ TEST EXTERIOR LIGHTS Pre-Trip Inspection will Cycle all Exterior Lamps Except
Back-up Lights

0/0 0

8TKK TRAILER AUXILIARY FEED CIRCUIT for Electric Trailer Brake Accommodation/
Air Trailer ABS; with 30 Amp Fuse and Relay, Controlled by Ignition Switch

1/0 1

8WEZ TURN SIGNAL SWITCH Self-Canceling 0/0 0
8WGL WINDSHIELD WIPER SPD CONTROL Force Wipers to Slowest Intermittent Speed

When Park Brake Set and Wipers Left on for a Predetermined Time
0/0 0

FRONT END

9ASE FRONT END Tilting, Composite 0/0 0
9WAC BUG SCREEN Mounted Behind Grille 5/0 5
9585 FENDER EXTENSIONS Rubber 13/0 13
9HCN GRILLE Chrome Vertical Accent Bars, with Black Mesh 0/0 0
9AAB LOGOS EXTERIOR Model Badges 0/0 0
9AAE LOGOS EXTERIOR, ENGINE Badges 0/0 0

SPEEDOMETER, TOOLS, MISC

10AGB COMMUNICATIONS MODULE Telematics Device with Over the Air Programming;
Includes Five Year Data Plan and International 360

0/0 0

10WLC GCWR RANGE GCWR Equal to or Less than 80,000-lb, Higher GCWR May Result
in Reduced Engine Performance While Operating in Extreme Hot Weather
Conditions

0/0 0

10NWE OVER WIDTH IDENTITY Customer Approval, This Combination will Result in
Vehicle Width Over 102"

0/0 0

10060 PAINT SCHEMATIC, PT-1 Single Color, Design 100 0/0 0
10761 PAINT TYPE Base Coat/Clear Coat, 1-2 Tone 0/0 0
10SLV PROMOTIONAL PACKAGE Government Silver Package 0/0 0
10WCY SAFETY TRIANGLES 5/1 6

FUEL TANKS

15SSN FUEL TANK Non-Polished Aluminum, 24" Dia, 60 US Gal (227L), Mounted Left
Side, Under Cab

0/0 0

15WEY DEF TANK 10.8 US Gal (41L) Capacity, Frame Mounted Outside Left Rail, Under
Cab

0/0 0

15LNA FUEL HEATER {Cummins} Plumbing for Thermal Recirculation Valve (TRV)
Mounted to Cummins X15 Engines, Thermostatically Controlled

0/0 0

15LRV FUEL/WATER SEPARATOR {Davco 386} 120 VAC Plug-In Electric Pre-Heater,
12 VDC Electric Heater, with ESOC Fittings, Includes Water-in-Fuel Sensor

4/0 4

WHEELS, TIRES - FRONT

27DUM WHEELS, FRONT {Accuride 29806} DISC; 22.5x12.25 Rims, Powder Coat Steel,
5-Hand Hole, 10-Stud, 285.75mm BC, Hub-Piloted, Flanged Nut, with Steel Hubs,
Offset 4.63"

104/0 104

7752665441 (2) TIRE, FRONT 425/65R22.5 Load Range L HAC 3 (CONTINENTAL), 465 rev/
mile, 68 MPH, All-Position

112/0 112

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

8 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

WHEELS, TIRES - REAR

28DUK WHEELS, REAR {Accuride 29169} DUAL DISC; 22.5x8.25 Rims, Powder Coat
Steel, 5-Hand Hole, 10-Stud, 285.75mm BC, Hub-Piloted, Flanged Nut, with .472"
Thick Increased Capacity Disc and Steel Hubs

0/88 88

7372138132 (8) TIRE, REAR 11R22.5 Load Range G ENDURANCE RSA (GOODYEAR), 496
rev/mile, 75 MPH, All-Position

0/-80 -80

BODY INTEGRATION

60AAG BDY INTG, REMOTE POWER MODULE Mounted Inside Cab Behind Driver Seat,
Up to 6 Outputs & 6 Inputs, Max 20 amp per Channel, Max 80 amp Total; Includes
1 Switch Pack with Latched Switches

0/0 0

60AAT BDY INTG, ADDITIONAL CAB HOLE for Customer Use 0/0 0
60AKZ BDY INTG, DASH IND LT TRICOLOR (2) for Optional Usage Customer to Program 0/0 0
60AKG BDY INTG, PTO ACCOMMODATION for (3) Latched Rocker Switches, (1) PTO

Switch, (2) Generic Switches to Control (3) 30 amp relays, with Programmable
Interlocks, for Body Builder Hook up in the Engine Compartment Left Side,
Recommended for Automatic Transmissions

0/0 0

OBD002 CROSSMEMBER, INTERMEDIATE LOC 0 0/0 0
Cab schematic 100LY

Location 1: 9219, Winter White (Std)
Chassis schematic N/A

Services Section:

WARRANTY

40132 WARRANTY Standard for HX520, HX620, Effective with Vehicles Built January 1,
2021 or Later, CTS-2015B

0/0 0

40NSE CARB COMPANION PLAN {Navistar} for CARB A26 and X15 Engines 0/0 0

Total Component Weight: 10658/8952 19610
(lbs) (lbs)

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

9 Proposal: 24780-02



Code Description F/R Wt Tot Wt
(lbs) (lbs)

1 NEW CRYSTEEL SELECT DUMP BODY 150" CA NEEDED
16' LONG X 87" W ID X 96" W OD
8" TALL WESTERN LONGSILLS WITH 5/8" RUBBER WEAR PADS BETWEEN 
FRAME
FRONT WALL IS 58" TALL , 10GA A1011 STEEL , WITH STD 1/2 CAB SHIELD
VERTICAL DOGHOUSE HOIST (does not protrude more then 12" into body)
TAPERED SIDES 54" - 46" TALL, 7GA A1011 STEEL
FLOOR IS 3/16" AR-400 ABRASION RESISTANT STEEL
TAILGATE IS 46" TALL, 7-GA A1011 STEEL, STD SWING WITH AIR OP GATE 
LOCK
10" REAR SPREAD APRON
STEPS AND GRAB HANDLE AT DRIVERS SIDE REAR POST
HD REAR MUDFLAPS BEHIND DRIVE AXLE
LED LIGHTS TO DOT REQUIREMENTS, INCLUDES BODY UP LIGHT
INSTALLED COMPLETE PAINTED CUST COLOR
HOT SHIFT PTO AND DIRECT MOUNT HYD PUMP FOR ALLISON 
TRANSMISSION
BODY, PLOW & SANDER CONTROL SYSTEM IS FORCE AMERICA 6100 
ULTRA CONTROL
MONROE 11' FULL MOLDBOARD TRIP, REVERSABLE PLOW. WITH BUILT IN 
LEVEL LIFT
12" RUBBER SNOW DEFLECTOR, AND CURB GUARD INCLUDED
PLOW LIGHTS AND BRACKETS INSTALLED AS APPLICABLE (Truck must have 
plow light switch)
INCLUDES FRONT FOG LIGHTS
MONROE 14' STAINLESS STEEL V-BOX SANDER ON SKID ASSEMBLY
HEATED (OPTIONAL)
10GA HOPPER, 62" HIGH SIDES, INCLUDES TOP GRATE KITS
10GA TIP UP SPINNER ASSEMBLY
SS FOLD UP LADDER IN REAR
SS LIGHT BAR AT REAR OF SANDER, INCLUDES STROBE LIGHTS AND 
WORK LIGHTS
INCLUDES SELF LOADING LEG KITS, AND RATCHET / BINDER TIE DOWNS
STROBE LED LIGHTS MOUNTED ON CAB GUARD OF DUMP BODY
STROBE LED LIGHTS MOUNTED IN REAR POST OF DUMP BODY EACH 
SIDE
ELECTRIC TARP SYSTEM WITH ALUM TARP ARMS AND HD MESH TARP 
INSTALLED
HD REAR HITCH PLATE WITH REMOVABLE, SWIVEL PINTLE HITCH, & BUILT 
IN CHIP BAR
INCLUDES D-RINGS GLAD HANDS AND 7-WAY LIGHT SOCKET.
Chassis Chassis will need front frame extensions for plow hitch mount.

0/0 0

2 Centralized air drain drivers side manifold orange 0/0 0

Total Body Allied: 0/0 0
(lbs) (lbs)

State Contract Delivery to Flagstaff State contract 0/0 0

State Contract State 1% 0/0 0

Norwood Add front Tow hooks 2 frame mounted 80,000-lb total capacity 0/0 0

Total Goods Purchased: 0/0 0

The weight calculations included in this proposal are an estimate of future vehicle weight. The actual weight as manufactured may be
different from the estimated weight. Navistar, Inc. shall not be liable for any consequences resulting from any differences between the
estimated weight of a vehicle and the actual weight.

Vehicle Specifications May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

10 Proposal: 24780-02



(US DOLLAR)
Description Price

Total Factory List Price Including Options: $309,626.00
Total Goods Purchased: $5,960.95
Total Preparation And Delivery: $0.00

    Freight Charge $3,100.00
Total Freight: $3,100.00
Total Factory List Price Including Freight: $318,686.95

    Less Customer Allowance: ($153,582.82)
Total Vehicle Price: $165,104.13
Total Body/Allied Equipment: $203,496.30
Total Sale Price: $368,600.43
Total Per Vehicle Sales Price: $368,600.43
Total For 2 Vehicle Sales: $737,200.86
Total Net Sales Excluding Taxes: $737,200.86

    Arizona Tire Tax, 10 Tires $40.00
    Sales Tax, Pima County $44,969.25

Total Taxes: $45,009.25
Net Sales Price: $782,210.11

State Contract CTR069476

If applicable, Federal Excise Tax (FET) is included in the net sales price above.

Terms of payment are cash on delivery and prices quoted are FOB Phoenix, AZ (unless otherwise noted).

This quote is good for 30 days. All inventory units are subject to prior sale. Unless otherwise noted, the quote above does NOT 
include title and licensing charges or Arizona state sales tax.

Please feel free to contact me regarding these specifications should your interests or needs change.  I am confident you will be 
pleased with the quality and service of an International vehicle.

Approved by Seller: Accepted by Purchaser:

Official Title and Date Firm or Business Name

Authorized Signature Authorized Signature and Date

This proposal is not binding upon the seller without
Seller's Authorized Signature

Official Title and Date

The TOPS FET calculation is an estimate for reference purposes only. The seller or retailer is responsible for calculating
and reporting/paying appropriate FET to the IRS.

The limited warranties applicable to the vehicles described herein are Navistar, Inc.'s standard printed warranties which
are incorporated herein by reference and to which you have been provided a copy and hereby agree to their terms and
conditions.

Financial Summary May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

11 Proposal: 24780-02



There is no weight study for this proposal.

Weight Summary May 17, 2024
2025 HX520 SFA (HX520)

12 Proposal: 24780-02



DocuSign Envelope ID: 365CAFF1-CFFC-4F58-8EA9-E057C2A5965C

2418 January

CTR069476

1/12/2024



Rev. 05/2023 

 

                         
 

Procurement 
 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

1655 W. Jackson St., MD 100P 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

 
 
 
 
SOLICITATION NUMBER:  BPM005536 
 
DESCRIPTION: Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses  
 
QUESTIONS:  Inquiries regarding the solicitation are to be submitted online through the State’s e-Procurement 
system, Arizona Procurement Portal (APP) (https://app.az.gov/) using the Discussion Forum tab. 
 

OFFERORS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO READ THE ENTIRE SOLICITATION. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  
Tom Kornell 
Senior Procurement Officer 
Phone:  602-712-8520 
Email: Tkornell@azdot.gov 
 

 
This solicitation is issued in accordance with A.R.S. §41-2534 and A.A.C. R2-7-C301 et seq., Competitive Sealed 
Proposals. 

 
 
 
 

“An Equal Opportunity Agency” 
 
The Arizona Department of Transportation, in accordance with the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252.42 U.S.C. §§ 
2000d-4) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that any contract entered into 
pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this 
invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, national origin in consideration for an award. 
 
Persons that require a reasonable accommodation based on language or disability should contact ADOT’s Procurement Office by phone (602) 
712-7466. Requests should be made as early as possible to ensure the State has an opportunity to address the accommodation. 
 
Las personas que requieran asistencia (dentro de lo razonable) ya sea por el idioma o discapacidad deben ponerse en contacto con ADOT (602) 
712-7466. 

 
 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 2 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

SECTION          PAGE 
 
 Notice 1 

 Table of Contents 2 

Scope of Work 3 

 Special Terms and Conditions 7 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 19 

 Federal Provisions 37 

 

EXHIBITS  

 1 -  Title VI/Non-Discrimination Assurances Appendix A 68 

 2 -  Title VI/Non-Discrimination Assurances Appendix E 69 

3 – Exhibit 3 Quarterly Usage Report 70 

4- Exhibit 4 Pre-Award Certification for Procurement of Rolling Stock (Recipient) 71 

5- Exhibit 5 Pre-Award Certification for Procurement of Rolling Stock (Vendor) 72 

6- Exhibit 6 On-site Manufacturer Inspection compliance Certification 74 

7- Certification of Final Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Payment 75 

  

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SCOPE OF WORK  

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 3 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

1. STATEMENT OF NEED 
 

1.1. Pursuant to the Arizona Procurement Code, A.R.S. §41-2501 et seq., the State of Arizona 
Department of Transportation (Department), has a requirement for Medium and Heavy Duty 
Cabs, Chassis and Busses.  
 

2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1. The State of Arizona Department of Transportation (Department) is seeking to contract with a 

qualified supplier(s) who can provide Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses (all fuel 
types, hybrid, and full electric) including but not limited to: Trucks and Vans over 19,500 GVWR 
and Busses for the State of Arizona and participating Eligible Agencies. These vehicles will be used 
to support official organizational goals. These vehicles will be used on highways, city/county roads 
and shall be designed to operate under typical Arizona ambient temperatures. 
 

2.2. The State and its Eligible Agencies currently spend an estimated 30 million dollars in the purchase 
of Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses annually. 

 
3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
3.1. The following are the Three categories covered in this Scope of Work: 

 
1. Category One: Phase One (1) Cab, Chassis and Busses Purchases 
2. Category Two: Phase Two (2) Off the Lot Cab, Chassis and Busses Purchases 
3. Category Three: FTA ( If the Contractor chooses not to bid on the FTA Portion of the contract, 

They may still bid on the Solicitation) 
 

3.2. Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses shall be new and supplied with all equipment 
and accessories indicated as standard equipment in the manufacturer’s published literature (or 
website). Optional equipment necessary to meet the minimum requirements shall be included. 
 

3.3. All Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses ordered through Phase 1 (off the line) shall 
be Manufacturer's current year models in production throughout the term of this contract and 
shall be serviced completely by the Contractor before delivery and ready in all respects for use. 
For the initial contract period; vehicles shall be new model year 2023 or greater. 
 

3.4. Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses ordered through Phase 2 (on the lot) shall be 
new (have never been previously owned) unless pre-approved in writing by the Eligible Agency.  
 

3.5. All Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses shall meet requirements of applicable 
Arizona Motor Vehicle laws and all other applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards 
(including the Federal Bridge Formula), whether or not such requirements are specified in detail. 
 

3.6. For Phase Two (2) Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses, the Contractor shall supply a 
quote within five (14) calendar days after receiving a request from the Eligible Agency. The 
quotation shall include but not be limited to the following information: State contract number, 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SCOPE OF WORK  

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 4 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

vehicle availability and delivery lead-time, Vehicle Identification Number (VIN), dealer stock 
number, vehicle base bid price, itemized options, applicable tax, delivery cost, total price, and 
point of contact. For vehicles requiring up-fit/modifications, all applicable cost may be included in 
quotation or as a separate quotation. 

 
3.10  For Phase One (1) the Contractor shall confirm vehicles have been ordered unless impossible due 

to manufacture delay within ninety (90) calendar days after receipt of a purchase order. If 
confirmation is not received within this timeframe the Eligible Agency has the option to award to 
the second lowest bidder meeting specifications. This shall be considered a mandatory 
requirement and the timeframe must be met unless there is a manufacture delay. Failure to 
provide this document for each vehicle ordered may be cause for determination of default of 
contract. 

 
4. SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 

 
4.1. The Contractors are encouraged to provide a full line of Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis 

and Busses (gasoline, hybrid, full electric) including but not limited to the following categories: 
Trucks and Vans over 19,500 GVWR and Busses. Eligible Agencies throughout the State will have 
varying vehicle needs. Contractors are to provide a full line of manufactured Medium and Heavy 
Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses and all subsequent variants of each vehicle; including but not be 
limited to: models and manufacturer options, trim package, etc. to meet each need of an Eligible 
Agency. 
 

4.2. The following fuel types are allowable under this contract are to include but are not limited to. 
 
4.2.1.  Flexible Fuel Vehicles (FFV) also called Ethanol or E85  
4.2.2.  Diesel 
4.2.3.  Gasoline  
4.2.4.  Compressed Natural Gas (CNG): CNG systems must be O.E.M. or O.E.M. approved  
4.2.5.  Hybrid-Electric Vehicles (HEV)  
4.2.6.  Electric Vehicles (EV) also called Battery Electric Vehicles (BEV) 
4.2.7.  Propane  
 

4.3. Vehicle Up-fit / Modifications 
 
4.3.1. The Eligible Agency may request the awarded Contractor(s) to up-fit/modify any vehicle 

for specific organizational needs. For example, Chassis’ may require a specialized body 
(i.e.: dump body, landscape body, etc.). Other cab and chassis’ require interior and/or 
exterior modifications per the individual Eligible Agency’s request.  

4.3.2. The Eligible Agency will supply all up-fit/modification requests to the Contractor. The 
Contractor shall identify any conditions that apply to the up-fit/modification on a 
quotation to the Eligible Agency for review before any work commences. 
 

4.4. Minimum Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses Requirements: All prices shall include 
the following equipment: 
 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SCOPE OF WORK  

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 5 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

4.5.1  All standard factory equipment  
4.5.2  Automatic transmission [maximum towing/payload capacity shall be provided upon 

request)  
4.5.3  Bluetooth capabilities  
4.5.4  AM/FM radio  
4.5.5  Cruise Control (if available) 
4.5.6  Power Door Locks/Power Windows  
4.5.7  Power Mirrors when available  
4.5.8  Four (4) entrance tools (in any combination allowed; keyless entry remotes, integrated 

or smart keys, standard cut keys) per vehicle.  
a. Type of keys to be provided shall be indicated on quote.  

4.5.9  Air conditioning  
a. Rear air conditioning on all vehicles, when available  

4.5.10  Cloth seats  
4.5.11  Rear view mirrors including on driver and passenger doors  

a. Rear view mirrors on driver and passenger front doors, largest available without    
upgrading vehicle options package. 

b. Back up Camera (if requested by the Eligible Agency or Cooperative) 
4.5.12  Arizona legal tinted glass  
4.5.13  Minimum of 1 USB charging Ports 
4.5.14  Front tow hooks (Specific Requirements for Trucks only when available) 
 

4.5. Decals – Decals or markings of any type pertaining to advertisement other than those installed by 
the manufacturer such as name and model shall not be attached to any vehicle. 

 
4.6. Fluid Requirements – Contractor shall be responsible for notifying the eligible agency of special 

fluid requirements that are necessary to maintain standard and extended warranties and service 
agreements i.e. transmission fluid, anti- freeze, oils and lubricants that must be Original 
Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) only. 
 

4.7. Service Requirements – All vehicles shall be completely assembled, serviced, adjusted and all 
equipment including standard and optional equipment shall be installed and the units made ready 
for continuous operation. Servicing requirements shall include, but not limited to, the following: 
4.7.1. Complete lubrication 
4.7.2. Checking of all fluid levels to insure that they are filled to the manufacturer’s 

recommended capacity 
4.7.3. Full tank(s) of fuel and DEF (diesel exhaust fluid) if required, less delivery fuel and DEF 
4.7.4. Engine adjustment to proper operation condition 
4.7.5. Tire inflation to correct pressure 
4.7.6. Checking of all mechanical and electrical operations 
4.7.7. Checking for any appearance defects 
4.7.8. Cleaning, removal of all unnecessary tags and stickers, washing if necessary 

 
4.8. Special Title Requirement – There may be a requirement for the title on some vehicles purchased 

to be titled to other than the ordering eligible agency. The State has programs that require 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SCOPE OF WORK  

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 6 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

equipment purchased from special funds be returned to the State’s communities. These purchases 
will be made for authorized political subdivisions. 
 

5. DELIVERY 
 

5.1. Delivery location shall be identified on the issuing agency purchase order. Dealer shall notify the 
Eligible agency with an estimated delivery date. If factory delays make this impossible for the 
dealer to deliver when estimated, dealer shall notify the Eligible agency of such delays along with a 
revised delivery estimate from the factory immediately after it becomes known. 
 

5.2. All deliveries shall be made Monday through Friday from 8:00 A.M. to 2:00 P.M. The Contractor 
shall be required to give the using agency a minimum of 24-hour notification prior to delivery with 
the anticipated time of delivery and number of units to be delivered.  
 

5.3. All vehicles shall be delivered with four (4) entrance tools and a full tank(s) of fuel, less delivery 
fuel.  
 

5.4. The following documents shall be provided upon delivery of the Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, 
Chassis and Busses: 
 
5.4.1 M.S.O. (Manufacturer Statement of Origin) that includes the odometer statement  
5.4.2 Warranty Document  
5.4.3 Delayed warranty / in service start request form (if requested by ordering entity)  
5.4.4 Level 1 Inspection if applicable, completed before delivery  
 

6. CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
6.1. Contractor shall be responsible for processing the registration, licensing, title and plating of all 

Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses ordered only if requested by the Eligible 
Agency. 
 

6.2. The Contractor shall include delivery at no cost to the eligible agencies within the same county as 
the contractor resides. The contractor may include a delivery fee for any county outside of the 
dealer’s county. Any delivery fees shall be a flat rate charge per county and indicated on pricing 
form attachment. 

 
6.3. In addition to section 4.3.2 above quotes will include the vehicle’s MSRP price and the percentage 

off of MSRP as separate line items.  
 

7. DEPARTMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
7.1. The Eligible Agencies will provide final acceptance and approval of any Medium and Heavy Duty 

Cabs, Chassis, Busses delivered in a timely manner.  

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 7 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

1. CONTRACT TERM 
 

The term of any resultant contract shall commence on the effective day of award and shall continue 
for a period of twelve months (12) thereafter, unless terminated, cancelled or extended as 
otherwise provided herein. 

 
2. CONTRACT EXTENSION 
 

By mutual written contract amendment, any resultant contract may be extended for supplemental 
periods of up to a maximum of forty-eight (48) months. 

 
3. ELIGIBLE AGENCIES 
 

This contract shall be for the use of all State of Arizona departments, agencies and boards.  In 
addition, eligible universities, political subdivisions and nonprofit educational or public health 
institutions may participate at their discretion.  In order to participate in any resultant contract, a 
university, political subdivision or nonprofit educational or public health institution must have 
entered into a cooperative purchasing agreement with the State Procurement Office as required by 
A.R.S. §41-2632. This cooperative purchasing agreement must be in effect at the time of order. The 
Contractor shall verify if an ordering entity is an eligible cooperative purchasing member before 
selling materials to or providing services for them under the contract. The current list of cooperative 
purchasing members is available on the State Procurement Office website at  
 

https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting. 
 
NOTE: Membership in the State Purchasing Cooperative is open to all Arizona political subdivisions, 
including cities, counties, school districts, and special districts. Membership is also available to non‐
profit organizations, other state governments, the federal government and tribal nations. For 
reference, “non‐profit organizations” are defined in A.R.S. § 41‐2631(4) as any nonprofit corporation 
as designated by the IRS under Section 501(c)(3) through 501(c)(6) of the tax code. 

 
4. NON-EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT 
 

This contract shall be for the sole convenience of the Department. The Department reserves the 
right to obtain like goods or services from another source when necessary. The Off-Contract 
Purchase Authorization and subsequent procurement shall be consistent with the Arizona 
Procurement Code. 

 
5. ORDERING PROCESS 
 

Eligible Agencies shall issue a purchase order to the Contractor. Each purchase order must cite the 
contract number. This purchase order shall be the only document required for an Eligible Agency to 
order and the Contractor to deliver the material and/or service. 
 
Any attempts to represent any material and/or service not specifically awarded as being under 
contract is a breach of the contract and a violation of the Arizona Procurement Code. Any such 

https://app.az.gov/
https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 8 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

action is subject to the legal and contractual remedies available to the State inclusive of but not 
limited to contract cancellation, suspension and/or debarment of the Contractor. 
 
Contractor shall acknowledge each order from Eligible Agencies in conformance with each agency’s 
instructions given at the time of ordering. Orders from eligible cooperative purchasing members 
create no obligation on State’s part. Notwithstanding, the Contractor shall fulfill orders under the 
Contract to any Eligible Agency. The Contractor’s refusal to do so would be a material breach of the 
Contract. 

 
6. SHIPPING TERMS 

 
6.1  Delivery shall be F.O.B. Destination to the location designated herein. Contractor shall retain 

title and control of all goods until they are delivered. All risk of transportation and related 
charges shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. All claims for visible or concealed damage 
shall be filed by the Contractor. The Department will notify the Contractor promptly of any 
damaged goods and shall assist the Contractor in arranging for inspection. 

 
7. DELIVERY 

 
7.1 Delivery address will be listed on the Purchase order issued the eligible agency. 
7.2 Deliveries shall be completed In accordance with the requirements of the contract. 
7.3 Delivery of the product does not constitute acceptance. 

 
8. INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE 

 
8.1  Each item delivered shall be subject to a complete inspection by the Department within 20 days 

after delivery. Inspection criteria shall include, but not be limited to, conformity to the 
specifications, workmanship, quality and materials. 

 
8.2  If the delivered product is not accepted and returned for corrective action, an additional fifteen 

(15) calendar days shall be allowed for inspection of the corrected or replacement product. 
 
8.3  The Contractor shall be responsible for the transport of the material to and from the Department 

for the correction of items or workmanship not in compliance with the specifications. 
 
8.4  Product returned for corrective action may delay payment. Invoices will be processed for payment 

only after the product is accepted. 
 

9. INVOICING and PAYMENT 
 

Separate invoices are required for each shipment of product or delivery of service and shall include at a 
minimum: 

 

 Department Location’s Name and Address 

 Vendor Name, Remit to Address and Contact Information 

 Contract Number 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 9 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 Purchase Order Number 

 Invoice Number and Date 

 Date the items were shipped to the Department 

 Contract Line Item Number 

 Line Item Description or Item or Service 

 Quantity Purchased 

 Line Item Unit of Measure 

 Price per Unit and Total per Unit 

 Catalog or Other Discount (if applicable) 

 Net Unit Price and Total per Unit (if applicable) 

 Applicable taxes 

 Applicable Shipping/Freight Charges 

 Total Invoice Amount Due 
 

Invoices not sent to the proper address, or not containing the necessary and required information may 
delay payment. A Contractor whose payments are delayed due to improper invoicing shall make no 
claim against the Department or the State for late or finance charges. 
 
The Department will make every effort to process payment for the purchase of product within thirty 
(30) calendar days after the Department has conducted the necessary reviews, inspections and 
acceptance as described herein.  
 
The department acceptance date will be the valid date for starting the thirty (30) calendar day payment 
period. 
 
Payment due dates, including discount periods, will be computed from the date of acceptance or date 
of correct invoice (whichever is later) to the date the Department’s warrant is mailed. 

 
10. ESTIMATED USAGE 

 
The Department anticipates considerable usage under this contract. The Department reserves the 
right to increase or decrease actual quantities ordered as circumstances may require. No guarantees 
are made concerning actual purchases under this contract. 

 
11. PRICING 

 
 11.1 Phase 1 and 2 pricing 

Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses shall be a minimum percentage off of MSRP, less 
the manufacturers rebates and any additional discounts available for that model/power-train 
combination. 

 
11.1.1 Contractor shall provide a copy of manufacturer’s invoice to the ordering agency upon 

request. The manufacturer’s invoice shall be unaltered to include original pricing from the 
manufacturer. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 10 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

11.1.2 Transportation costs to transfer a vehicle from another dealer for a Phase 2 or purchase 
from stock may be added to the cost of the vehicle. The justification for this cost is at the 
discretion of the Eligible Agency. 

11.1.3   Any reference to Phase 1 pricing shall be in reference to Cabs, Chassis and Busses ordered 
prior to the factory cut-off date. 

11.1.4  Any reference to Phase 2 pricing shall be in reference to Cabs, Chassis and Busses purchased 
from stock or “on the lot”. 

11.1.5  Phase 2 pricing shall receive the same cost considerations as Phase 1 pricing, all discounts 
and rebates should be passed onto the Eligible Agency. 

11.1.6   All Cabs, Chassis and Busses are to be billed at prices in effect at the time of order, not the 
date of shipment. 

11.1.7   Pricing for vehicles shall include all discounts and deductions, less Federal and State taxes. 
11.1.8  Pricing is all-inclusive, all administrative, reporting, or other requirements, all overhead 

costs and profit and any other costs toward the accomplishment of the requirements in the 
Contract are included in the pricing provided. 

11.1.9 As changes to Cabs, Chassis and Buss models occur through out the year, contractor may 
submit request to update models being offered. The discount off of MSRP shall remain the 
same unless a price increase is submitted per section 13 below in the terms and conditions 

11.2 Supplier warrants that, for the term of the Contract, the prices and discounts set out in the offeror 
and response form, including any subsequent agreed amendment to it the Contract Pricing, will be 
equal to or better than the lowest prices and largest discounts, both separately and in combination, 
at which Contractor sells equivalent items of equipment and materials. 

 
1.1. LARGE VOLUME DISCOUNT PRICING: An Eligible Agency may seek to obtain additional volume 

discount pricing for large orders provided Contractor is willing to offer additional discounts for 
large volume orders. No amendment to this Contract is necessary for Contractor to offer discount 
pricing to an Eligible Agency for large volume purchases. 

  
12. PRICE REDUCTION 

 
Adjustment may be offered at any time during the term of a contract and shall become effective 
upon notice through a written contract amendment. 

 
13. PRICE INCREASE  

 
The Department will review fully documented requests for price increases for any contract which 
will or has been in effect for twelve (12) months. The request shall be submitted no less than 60 
days prior to the contract renewal date. The Contractor shall provide fully documented information 
which supports the price increase request. Fully documented means that the request shall present 
detailed information and calculations that make it clear how the claimed increase has an impact on 
the contract unit prices. All assumptions regarding cost factors that have an impact on the 
requested increase shall also be clearly identified and justified. The requested price increase must 
be based upon a cost increase that was clearly unpredictable at the time of the offer and can be 
shown to directly affect the price of the item concerned. Any price increase adjustment request 
prior to the time of contract extension will be a factor in the extension review process. The 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 11 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

Department will determine whether the requested price increase or an alternate option, is in the 
best interest of the State. 
 

14. SAFETY STANDARDS 

Items supplied under this contract shall comply with all current applicable safety standards and 
regulations including the Occupational Safety and Health Standards of the State of Arizona Industrial 
Commission, the National Electric Code and the National Fire Protection Association Standards. 

 
15. WARRANTY 

 
The Contractor warrants: 

 
1  That all services performed hereunder shall conform to the requirements of this contract and shall 

be performed by qualified personnel in accordance with the highest professional standards. 
 
2  All Cabs, Chassis and Busses supplied under these specifications shall be warranted by the 

Vehicle(s) manufacturers Standard Warranty against mechanical and electrical defects from the 
date vehicle(s) is placed in service. 

 
3 This warranty shall cover such items as actual repair labor, parts, and shipping charges to and from 
 the nearest service facility or other designated repair depot. 
 
4  Any defects of design, workmanship or material, shall be fully corrected by the vendor without cost 
 to the state agency or political subdivision. 
 
5 The written warranty shall be included with the delivered vehicles to the Eligible Agency.  
 

16. CURRENT PRODUCTS 
 

All products supplied under this contract shall be in current and ongoing production; shall have been 
formally announced for general marketing purposes; shall be a model or type currently functioning in a 
user (paying customer) environment and capable of meeting or exceeding all specifications and 
requirements set forth in the contract. 

 
17. PRODUCT DISCONTINUANCE 

 
In the event that a product or model is discontinued by the manufacturer, the Department at its sole 
discretion may allow the Contractor to provide a substitute for the discontinued item. The 
Contractor shall request authorization to substitute a new product or model and provide the 
following: 
 
1. A formal announcement from the manufacturer that the product or model has been 

discontinued. 
 
2. Documentation from the manufacturer that names the replacement product or model. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 12 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
3. Documentation that provides clear and convincing evidence that the replacement meets or 

exceeds all specifications required by the original solicitation. 
 
4. Documentation that provides clear and convincing evidence that the replacement will be 

compatible with all the functions or uses of the discontinued product or model. 
 
5. Documentation confirming that the price for the replacement is the same as or less than the 

discontinued product or model. 
 

18. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 
 

The Contractor shall contact the assigned Procurement Officer for guidance or direction in matters 
of contract interpretation or questions regarding the terms, conditions or scope of the contract.  

 
19. NOTICES 

 
All notices, requests, demands, consents, approvals, and other communications which may or are 
required to be served or given hereunder (for the purposes of this provisions collectively called 
“Notices”), shall be in writing and shall be sent by certified United States mail, return receipt 
requested, or by any other method that provides evidence of receipt, addressed to the party or 
parties to receive such notice as follows: 

 
If intended for the State, to: 
 

Arizona Department of Transportation, Procurement Group 
1655 W. Jackson Street, MD 100P 

Phoenix, Arizona 85007-3276 
 

If intended for the Contractor, to the address as identified in the Contractor’s electronic vendor 
profile. Or to such other address as either party may from time to time furnish in writing to the 
other by notice hereunder. Any notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been given as of the date 
such notice is received as shown on the return receipt. Furthermore, such notice may be given by 
delivering personally such notice, if intended for the State, to the Arizona Department of 
Transportation, Procurement Officer and, if intended for the Contractor, to the person named on 
the Offer & Contract Award of this contract, or to such other person as either party may from time 
to time furnish in writing to the other by notice hereunder. Any notice so delivered shall be deemed 
to have been given as of the date such notice is personally delivered to the other party. 

 
20. CANCELLATION FOR POSSESSION OF WEAPONS ON ADOT PROPERTY 

 
This contract may be cancelled if Contractor or any subcontractors or others in the employ or under 
the supervision of the Contractor or subcontractors is found to be in possession of weapons. 
 
Possession of weapons (firearms, explosive device, knife or blade of more than three inches, or any 
other instrument designed for lethal or disabling use) is prohibited on ADOT property. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 13 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
Further, if the Contractor or any subcontractors or others in the employ or under the supervision of 
the Contractors or subcontractors are asked by an ADOT official to leave the ADOT property, they 
are advised that failure to comply with such a request shall result in cancellation of the contract and 
anyone who refuses, whether armed or not, is subject to prosecution under A.R.S. § 13-1502, 
"Criminal trespass in the third degree; classification."  

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION CLAUSE 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the 
State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees (hereinafter referred to as “Indemnitee”) from and against any and all 
claims, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and 
costs of claim processing, investigation and litigation) (hereinafter referred to as “Claims”) for bodily 
injury or personal injury (including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of 
Contractor or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or subcontractors. This 
indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of, or recovered under, the Workers’ 
Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of such Contractor to conform to any federal, state, 
or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or court decree. It is the specific intention of the 
parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent 
or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by Contractor from and against any 
and all claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be responsible for primary loss investigation, defense, 
and judgment costs where this indemnification is applicable. In consideration of the award of this 
contract, the Contractor agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Arizona, its 
officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by the 
Contractor for the State of Arizona.  

 
This indemnity shall not apply if the contractor or sub-contractor(s) is/are an agency, board, 
commission or university of the State of Arizona. 

 

22. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
The Contractor shall furnish Certificate(s) of Insurance inclusive of the following requirements to the 
Department.  Certificate(s) shall be received within 10 calendar days of notification of contract 
award by the Procurement Officer. 
 
22.1. Contractor and subcontractors 

 Shall procure and maintain, until all of their obligations have been discharged, including any 
warranty periods under this Contract, insurance against claims for injury to persons or 
damage to property arising from, or in connection with, the performance of the work 
hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. 

 
22.2. The Insurance Requirements  

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 14 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 Herein are minimum requirements for this Contract and in no way limit the indemnity 
covenants contained in this Contract. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the 
minimum limits 
contained herein are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities that arise out of the 
performance of the work under this Contract by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, 
employees or subcontractors, and the Contractor is free to purchase additional insurance. 
 

22.3. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance 
 
Contractor shall provide coverage with limits of liability not less than those stated 
below. 

 

 Commercial General Liability (CGL) – Occurrence Form 
 

Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, and broad form 
contractual liability coverage. 
 
• General Aggregate $2,000,000 
• Products – Completed Operations Aggregate  $1,000,000 
• Personal and Advertising Injury  $1,000,000 
• Damage to Rented Premises        $50,000 
• Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
 

a. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, 
to include the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, 
commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees 
as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of the 
activities performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 
 

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required 
by this written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, and its 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, 
officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

 
22.4. Business Automobile Liability 

 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, and/or non owned automobiles 
used in the performance of this Contract. 
 
• Combined Single Limit (CSL)  $1,000,000 
 

a. Policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, to 
include the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, 
commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees 
as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of the 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 15 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

activities performed by, or on behalf of, the Contractor involving 
automobiles owned, hired and/or non-owned by the Contractor. 

 
b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement as required 

by this written agreement in favor of the State of Arizona, and its 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, 
officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 
 

22.5. Workers’ Compensation and Employers' Liability 
 
• Workers' Compensation  Statutory 
• Employers' Liability 

o Each Accident  $1,000,000 
o Disease – Each Employee $1,000,000 
o Disease – Policy Limit  $1,000,000 
 
a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required 
by this written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, and its 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, 
officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 
 
b. This requirement shall not apply to each Contractor or subcontractor 
that is exempt under A.R.S. § 23-901, and when such Contractor or 
subcontractor executes the appropriate waiver form (Sole Proprietor 
or Independent Contractor). 
 

22.6. Additional Insurance Requirements 
 

The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include, as required by this written 
agreement, the following provisions: 
 

 The Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that the insurance 
afforded the Contractor shall be primary and that any insurance carried by the 
Department, its agents, officials, employees or the State of Arizona shall be excess and 
not contributory insurance, as provided by A.R.S. §41-621 (E). 
 

 Insurance provided by the Contractor shall not limit the Contractor’s liability 
 assumed under the indemnification provisions of this Contract. 

 
22.7. Notice of Cancellation 

 
Applicable to all insurance policies required within the Insurance Requirements of 
this Contract, Contractor’s insurance shall not be permitted to expire, be 
suspended, be canceled, or be materially changed for any reason without thirty 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 16 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

(30) days prior written notice to the State of Arizona. Within two (2) business days 
of receipt, Contractor must provide notice to the State of Arizona if they receive 
notice of a policy that has been or will be suspended, canceled, materially changed 
for any reason, has expired, or will be expiring. Such notice shall be sent directly 
to the Department and shall be mailed, emailed, hand delivered or sent by 
facsimile transmission to (State Representative’s Name, Address & Fax Number). 

 
22.8. Acceptability of Insurers 

 
Contractor’s insurance shall be placed with companies licensed in the State of 
Arizona or hold approved non-admitted status on the Arizona Department of 
Insurance List of Qualified Unauthorized Insurers. Insurers shall have an “A.M. 
Best” rating of not less than A- VII. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that 
the above-required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect the Contractor 
from potential insurer insolvency. 

 
22.9. Verification of Coverage 

 
Contractor shall furnish the State of Arizona with certificates of insurance (valid 
ACORD form or equivalent approved by the State of Arizona) evidencing that 
Contractor has the insurance as required by this Contract. An authorized 
representative of the insurer shall sign the certificates. 
 

 All such certificates of insurance and policy endorsements must be received by the State 
before work commences. The State’s receipt of any certificates of insurance or policy 
endorsements that do not comply with this written agreement shall not waive or 
otherwise affect the requirements of this agreement.  

 

 Each insurance policy required by this Contract must be in effect at, or prior to, 
commencement of work under this Contract. Failure to maintain the insurance policies 
as required by this Contract, or to provide evidence of renewal, is a material breach of 
contract.  

 

 All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the Department. The 
State of Arizona project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the 
certificate of insurance. The State of Arizona reserves the right to require complete 
copies of all insurance policies required by this Contract at any time.  

 
22.10. Subcontractors 

 
Contractor’s certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as insureds under its policies or 
Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring and/or verifying that all subcontractors have 
valid and collectable insurance as evidenced by the certificates of insurance and 
endorsements for each subcontractor. All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to 
the minimum Insurance Requirements identified above. The Department reserves the right 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 17 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

to require, at any time throughout the life of the Contract, proof from the Contractor that 
its subcontractors have the required coverage.  

 
 

22.11. Approval and Modifications  
 

The Contracting Agency, in consultation with State Risk, reserves the right to review or 
make modifications to the insurance limits, required coverages, or endorsements 
throughout the life of this contract, as deemed necessary. Such action will not require a 
formal Contract amendment but may be made by administrative action.  

 
22.12. Exceptions 

  
 In the event the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a public entity, then the Insurance 

Requirements shall not apply. Such public entity shall provide a certificate of self-insurance. 
If the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a State of Arizona agency, board, commission, 
or university, none of the above shall apply. 

 
23. ADMINISTRATIVE FEE 

 
Contractor shall pay State an administrative fee against all Contract sales to Co-op Buyers, as 
provided for under A.R.S. § 412633. The fee rate prior to January 1, 2024, is one (1%) percent. 
Rates are set in accordance with SPO Technical Bulletin (TB) 007, available on the SPO 
website, which may be revised at the State’s sole discretion as part of Arizona state procurement 
policy. For convenience (though note that this link may change over time) TB 007 may be found 
here: 
 

https://spointra.az.gov/resources/procurement-regulations. 
 
Failure to remit the administrative fees is a material breach of contract, and will entitle the State 
to its remedies under Contract Terms and Conditions Section 8 and its right to terminate for 
default under Section 9. Method of calculation, payment procedures, and other details are 
provided on the State Procurement Office website: 
 

https://spo.az.gov/ 
 

24. USAGE REPORT 
 

24.1 Administrative Fee Reporting 
 Contractor shall submit to ADOA‐SPO a Quarterly Report documenting all Contract sales to 

both eligible State agencies and cooperative purchasing members, itemized separately. A 
Quarterly Report shall be submitted even if there have been no sales. The Contractor shall 
further itemize divisions, groups or areas within a given Eligible Agency if they place Orders 
independently of each other. 

 

https://app.az.gov/
https://spointra.az.gov/resources/procurement-regulations
https://spo.az.gov/


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 18 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 Quarterly reports on transactions with cooperative purchasing members are required to be 
filed with ADOA‐SPO. Failure to remit the administrative fees/usage reports is a material 
breach of contract, and will entitle State to its remedies under Article 8 and its right to 
terminate for default under Article 9. Method of calculation, payment procedures, and 
other details are provided on the State Procurement Office website at  

 
https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting. 

 
24.2 ADOT Usage Report Requirements 
 The Contractor shall furnish ADOT a quarterly report showing all purchasing activity under 

this contract.  This usage report shall be provided in a form substantially equivalent to 
Exhibit 03.  Usage reports shall be submitted to the Procurement Officer no later than 30 
days after the end of each quarter. 

 
Usage report quarters shall be defined as follows: 
 

 January through March – Report due April 30 

 April through June – Report due July 30 

 July through September – Report due October 30 

 October through December – Report due January 30 
 

25. CONTRACT ORDER OF PRECEDENCE  
 
In the event of a conflict in the provisions of the Contract, as accepted by the Department and as 
they may be amended, the following shall prevail in the order set forth below:  
 
1. Federal Terms and Conditions; 

2. Special Terms and Conditions; 

3. Uniform Terms and Conditions; 

4. Statement or Scope of Work; 

5. Specifications; 

6. Attachments; 

7. Exhibits 

8. Special Instructions to Offerors;  
9. Uniform Instructions to Offerors; and  
10. Other documents referenced or included in the Solicitation 

 
26. LICENSES, PERMITS, CERTIFICATIONS  

 
Contractor, at their expense, shall maintain in current status without any violations, complaints, or 
suspensions during the term of this contract all Federal, State and Local licenses, permits and 
certifications required for the operation of a business conducted by the Contractor. 

 
27. POST AWARD MEETING 

https://app.az.gov/
https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting


         
 

      

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 19 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
At the discretion of the Department, the Contractor, at their expense, shall attend and participate in 
post award meetings as scheduled by the Procurement Officer. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 20 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

1. Definition of Terms. As used in this Solicitation and any resulting Contract, the terms listed 

below are defined as follows: 

1.1. “Attachment” means any item the Solicitation which requires the Offeror to submit as 

part of the Offer. 

1.2. “Contract” means the combination of the Solicitation, including the Instructions to 

Offerors, the Uniform and Special Terms and Conditions, and the Specifications and 

Statement or Scope of Work; the Offer and any Best and Final Offers; and any 

Solicitation Amendments or Contract Amendments. 

1.3. "Contract Amendment" means a written document signed by the Procurement Officer 

that is issued for the purpose of making changes in the Contract. 

1.4. “Contractor” means any person who has a Contract with the State. 

 
1.5. “Data” means recorded information, regardless of form or the media on which it may 

be recorded. The term may include technical data and computer software. The term 

does not include information incidental to contract administration, such as financial, 

administrative, cost or pricing, or management information. 

1.6. “Days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified. 

 
1.7. “Exhibit” means any item labeled as an Exhibit in the Solicitation or placed in the 

Exhibits section of the Solicitation generally containing maps, schematics, examples of 

reports, or other documents that will be used to perform the requirements of the 

Scope of Work after contract award. 

1.8. “Gratuity” means a payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of money, services, 

or anything of more than nominal value, present or promised, unless consideration of 

substantially equal or greater value is received. 

1.9. “Materials” means all property, including equipment, supplies, printing, insurance and 

leases of property but does not include land, a permanent interest in land or real 

property or leasing space. 

1.10. “Procurement Officer” means the person, or his or her designee, duly authorized by 

the State to enter into and administer Contracts and make written determinations with 

respect to the Contract. 

1.11. “Services” means the furnishing of labor, time or effort by a Contractor or 

Subcontractor which does not involve the delivery of a specific end product other than 

required reports and performance, but does not include employment agreements or 

collective bargaining agreements. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 21 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

1.12. “State” means any department, commission, council, board, bureau, committee, 

institution, agency, government corporation or other establishment or official of the 

executive branch or corporation commission of the State of Arizona that executes the 

Contract. 

1.13. “State Fiscal Year” means the period beginning with July 1 and ending June 30. 

1.14. “Subcontract” means any Contract, express or implied, between the Contractor and 

another party or between a Subcontractor and another party delegating or assigning, 

in whole or in part, the making or furnishing of any Materials or any Services required 

for the performance of the Contract. 

1.15. “Subcontractor” means a person who contracts to perform work or render Services to 

a Contractor or to another Subcontractor as a part of a Contract with the State. 

2. Contract Interpretation 

2.1. Arizona Law. The Arizona law applies to this Contract including, where applicable, the 

Uniform Commercial Code as adopted by the State of Arizona and the Arizona 

Procurement Code, Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) Title 41, Chapter 23, and its 

implementing rules, Arizona Administrative Code (A.A.C.) Title 2, Chapter 7. 

2.2. Implied Contract Terms. Each provision of law and any terms required by law to be in 

this Contract are a part of this Contract as if fully stated in it. 

2.3. Contract Order of Precedence. In the event of a conflict in the provisions of the 

Contract, as accepted by the State and as they may be amended, the following shall 

prevail in the order set forth below: 

2.3.1. Special Terms and Conditions; 

2.3.2. Uniform Terms and Conditions; 

2.3.3. Statement or Scope of Work; 

2.3.4. Specifications; 

2.3.5. Attachments; 

2.3.6. Exhibits; then 

2.3.7. Any other documents referenced or included in the Solicitation including, but 

not limited to, any Bid or Offer documents provided by the Contractor that do 

not fall into one of the above categories. 

2.4. Relationship of Parties. The Contractor under this Contract is an independent 

Contractor. Neither party to this Contract shall be deemed to be the employee or 

agent of the other party to the Contract. 

2.5. Severability. The provisions of this Contract are severable. Any term or condition 

deemed illegal or invalid shall not affect any other term or condition of the Contract. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 22 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

2.6. No Parole Evidence. This Contract is intended by the parties as a final and complete 

expression of their agreement. No course of prior dealings between the parties and no 

usage of the trade shall supplement or explain any terms used in this document and no 

other understanding either oral or in writing shall be binding. 

2.7. No Waiver. Either party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any term or condition 

of the Contract shall not be deemed a waiver of that term or condition even if the 

party accepting or acquiescing in the nonconforming performance knows of the nature 

of the performance and fails to object to it. 

3. Contract Administration and Operation 
 

3.1. Records. Under A.R.S. § 35-214 and § 35-215, the Contractor shall retain and shall 

contractually require each Subcontractor to retain any and all Data and other “records” 

relating to the acquisition and performance of the Contract for a period of five (5) 

years after the completion of the Contract. All records shall be subject to inspection 

and audit by the State at reasonable times. Upon request, the Contractor shall produce 

a legible copy of any or all such records. 

3.2. Non-Discrimination. The Contractor shall comply with State Executive Order Nos. 

2023-09, 2023-01, 2009-09, and any and all other applicable Federal and State laws, 

rules and regulations, including the Americans with Disabilities Act. Contractor shall 

include these provisions in contracts with Subcontractors when required by Federal or 

State law. 

3.3. Audit. Pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-214, at any time during the term of this Contract and 

five (5) years thereafter, the Contractor’s or any Subcontractor’s books and records 

shall be subject to audit by the State and, where applicable, the Federal Government, 

to the extent that the books and records relate to the performance of the Contract or 

Subcontract. 

3.4. Facilities Inspection and Materials Testing. The Contractor agrees to permit access to its 

facilities, Subcontractor facilities, and the Contractor’s processes or services, at 

reasonable times for inspection of the facilities or Materials covered under this 

Contract as required under A.R.S. § 41-2547. The State shall also have the right to test, 

at its own cost, the Materials to be supplied under this Contract. Neither inspection of 

the Contractor’s facilities nor Materials testing shall constitute final acceptance of the 

Materials or Services. If the State determines non-compliance of the Materials, the 

Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of all costs incurred by the State for 

testing and inspection. 

3.5. Notices. Notices to the Contractor required by this Contract shall be made by the State 

to the person indicated on the Offer and Acceptance form submitted by the Contractor 

unless otherwise stated in the Contract. Notices to the State required by the Contract 

shall be made by the Contractor to the Solicitation Contact Person indicated on the 

Solicitation, stated in the Contract, or listed on the State’s eProcurement system. An 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 23 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

authorized Procurement Officer and an authorized Contractor representative may 

change their respective person to whom notice shall be given by written notice to the 

other and an amendment to the Contract shall not be necessary. 

3.6. Advertising, Publishing and Promotion of Contract. The Contractor shall not use, 

advertise or promote information for commercial benefit concerning this Contract 

without the prior written approval of the Procurement Officer. 

3.7. Continuous Improvement. Contractor shall recommend continuous improvements on 

an on-going basis in relation to any Materials and Services offered under the Contract, 

with a view to reducing State costs and improving the quality and efficiency of the 

provision of Materials or Services. State may require Contractor to engage in 

continuous improvements throughout the term of the Contract. 

3.8. Other Contractors. State may undertake on its own or award other contracts to the 

same or other suppliers for additional or related work. In such cases, the Contractor 

shall cooperate fully with State employees and such other suppliers and carefully 

coordinate, fit, connect, accommodate, adjust, or sequence its work to the related 

work by others. Where the Contract requires handing-off Contractor’s work to others, 

Contractor shall cooperate as State instructs regarding the necessary transfer of its 

work product, Materials, Services, or records to State or the other suppliers. 

Contractor shall not commit or permit any act that interferes with the State’s or other 

suppliers’ performance of their work, provided that, State shall enforce the foregoing 

section equitably among all its suppliers so as not impose an unreasonable burden on 

any one of them. 

3.9. Ownership of Intellectual Property 
 

3.9.1. Rights In Work Product. All intellectual property originated or prepared by 

Contractor pursuant to the Contract, including but not limited to, inventions, 

discoveries, intellectual copyrights, trademarks, trade names, trade secrets, 

technical communications, records reports, computer programs and other 

documentation or improvements thereto, including Contractor’s 

administrative communications and records relating to the Contract, are 

considered work product and Contractor’s property, provided that, State has 

Government Purpose Rights to that work product as and when it was delivered 

to State. 

3.9.2. “Government Purpose Rights” are: 
 

3.9.2.1. the unlimited, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty free, non-exclusive, 

worldwide right to use, modify, reproduce, release, perform, display, 

sublicense, disclose and create derivatives from that work product 

without restriction for any activity in which State is a party; 

3.9.2.2. the right to release or disclose that work product to third parties for 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 24 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

any State government purpose; and 

3.9.2.3. the right to authorize those to whom it rightfully releases or discloses 

that work product to use, modify, release, create derivative works 

from the work product for any State government purpose; such 

recipients being understood to include the federal government, the 

governments of other states, and various local governments. 

3.9.3.  “Government Purpose Rights” do not include any right to use, modify, 

reproduce, perform, release, display, create derivative works from or disclose 

that work product for any commercial purpose, or to authorize others to do so. 

3.9.4. Joint Developments. The Contractor and State may each use equally any ideas, 

concepts, know-how, or techniques developed jointly during the course of the 

Contract, and may do so at their respective discretion, without obligation of 

notice or accounting to the other party. 

3.9.5. Pre-existing Material. All pre-existing software and other Materials developed 

or otherwise obtained by or for Contractor or its affiliates independently of the 

Contract or applicable Purchase Orders are not part of the work product to 

which rights are granted State under subparagraph 3.9.1 above, and will 

remain the exclusive property of Contractor, provided that: 

3.9.5.1. any derivative works of such pre-existing Materials or elements thereof 

that are created pursuant to the Contract are part of that work 

product; 

3.9.5.2. any elements of derivative work of such pre-existing Materials that was 

not created pursuant to the Contract are not part of that work 

product; and 

3.9.5.3. Except as expressly stated otherwise, nothing in the Contract is to be 

construed to interfere or diminish Contractor’s or its affiliates’ 

ownership of such pre-existing Materials. 

3.9.6. Developments Outside Of Contract. Unless expressly stated otherwise in the 

Contract, this Section does not preclude Contractor from developing 

competing Materials outside the Contract, irrespective of any similarity to 

Materials delivered or to be delivered to State hereunder. 

3.10. Property of the State. If there are any materials that are not covered by Section 3.9 

above created under this Contract, including but not limited to, reports and other 

deliverables, these materials are the sole property of the State. The Contractor is not 

entitled to a patent or copyright on those materials and may not transfer the patent or 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 25 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

copyright to anyone else. The Contractor shall not use or release these materials 

without the prior written consent of the State. 

3.11. Federal Immigration and Nationality Act. Contractor shall comply with all federal, state 

and local immigration laws and regulations relating to the immigration status of their 

employees during the term of the contract. Further, Contractor shall flow down this 

requirement to all Subcontractors utilized during the term of the contract. The State 

shall retain the right to perform random audits of Contractor and Subcontractor 

records or to inspect papers of any employee thereof to ensure compliance. Should 

the State  

3.12. E-Verify Requirements. In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-4401, Contractor warrants 

compliance with all Federal immigration laws and regulations relating to employees 

and warrants its compliance with Section A.R.S. § 23- 214, Subsection A. 

3.13. Offshore Performance of Work involving Data is Prohibited. Any Services that are 

described in the specifications or scope of work that directly serve the State of Arizona 

or its clients and involve access to Data shall be performed within the defined 

territories of the United States. 

3.14. Protection of State Cybersecurity Interests. The Contractor shall comply with State 

Executive Order No. 2023-10, which includes, but is not limited to, a prohibition against 

(a) downloading and installing of TikTok on all State-owned and State-leased information 

technology; and (b) accessing TikTok through State information technology. 

3.15. Certifications Required by State Law. 
 

3.15.1. If Contractor is a Company as defined in A.R.S. § 35-393, Contractor certifies 

that it is not currently engaged in a boycott of Israel as described in A.R.S. §§ 

35-393 et seq. and will refrain from any such boycott for the duration of this 

Contract. 

3.15.2. Contractor further certifies that it shall comply with A.R.S. § 35-394, regarding 

use of the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs, as applicable. 

4. Costs and Payments 
 

4.1. Payments. Payments shall comply with the requirements of A.R.S. Titles 35 and 41, Net 

30 days. Upon receipt and acceptance of Materials or Services, the Contractor shall 

submit a complete and accurate invoice for payment from the State within thirty (30) 

days. 

4.2. Delivery. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract, per A.R.S. § 47-2319, all prices shall 

be F.O.B. (“free on board”) Destination and shall include all freight delivery and 

unloading at the destination. 

4.3. Firm, Fixed Price. Unless stated otherwise in the Special Terms and Conditions of the 

Contract, all prices shall be firm-fixed-prices. 

4.4. Applicable Taxes 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 26 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
4.4.1. Payment of Taxes. The Contractor shall be responsible for paying all applicable 

taxes. 

4.4.2. State and Local Transaction Privilege Taxes. The State of Arizona is subject to all 

applicable state and local transaction privilege taxes. Transaction privilege 

taxes apply to the sale and are the responsibility of the seller to remit. Failure 

to collect such taxes from the buyer does not relieve the seller from its 

obligation to remit taxes. 

4.4.3. Tax Indemnification. Contractor and all Subcontractors shall pay all Federal, 

state and local taxes applicable to its operation and any persons employed by 

the Contractor. Contractor shall, and require all Subcontractors to hold the 

State harmless from any responsibility for taxes, damages and interest, if 

applicable, contributions required under Federal, and/or state and local laws 

and regulations and any other costs including transaction privilege taxes, 

unemployment compensation insurance, Social Security and Worker’s 

Compensation. 

4.4.4. IRS W9 Form. In order to receive payment the Contractor shall have a current 
I.R.S. W9 Form on file with the State of Arizona, unless not required by law. 

 
4.5. Availability of Funds for the Next State Fiscal Year. Funds may not presently be available 

for performance under this Contract beyond the current State Fiscal Year. No legal 

liability on the part of the State for any payment may arise under this Contract beyond 

the current State Fiscal Year until funds are made available for performance of this 

Contract. 

4.6. Availability of Funds for the Current State Fiscal Year. Should the State Legislature enter 

back into session and reduce the appropriations or for any reason and these Materials 

or Services are not funded, the State may take any of the following actions: 

4.6.1. Accept a decrease in price offered by the Contractor; 

4.6.2. Cancel the Contract; or 

4.6.3. Cancel the Contract and re-solicit the requirements. 
 

5. Contract Changes 
 

5.1. Amendments. This Contract is issued under the authority of the Procurement Officer 

who signed this Contract. The Contract may be modified only through a Contract 

Amendment within the scope of the Contract. Changes to the Contract, including the 

addition of Services or Materials, the revision of payment terms, or the substitution of 

Services or Materials, directed by a person who is not specifically authorized by the 

Procurement Officer in writing or made unilaterally by the Contractor are violations of 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 27 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

the Contract and of applicable law. Such changes, including unauthorized written 

Contract Amendments shall be void and without effect, and the Contractor shall not be 

entitled to any claim under this Contract based on those changes. 

5.2. Subcontracts. The Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontract under this Contract 

for the performance of this Contract without the advance written approval of the 

Procurement Officer as described in Arizona State Procurement Office Standard 

Procedure 002. The Contractor shall clearly list any proposed Subcontractors and the 

Subcontractor’s proposed responsibilities. The Subcontract shall incorporate by 

reference the terms and conditions of this Contract. 

5.3. Assignment and Delegation. The Contractor shall not assign any right nor delegate any 

duty under this Contract without the prior written approval of the Procurement 

Officer. The State shall not unreasonably withhold approval. 

6. Risk and Liability 

 
6.1. Risk of Loss. The Contractor shall bear all loss of conforming Materials covered under 

this Contract until received by authorized personnel at the location designated in the 

purchase order or Contract. Mere receipt does not constitute final acceptance. The 

risk of loss for nonconforming Materials shall remain with the Contractor regardless of 

receipt. 

6.2. Indemnification 

 
6.2.1. Contractor/Vendor Indemnification (Not Public Agency).To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the 

State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 

universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees (hereinafter referred to 

as “Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, 

damages, losses, or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs 

of claim processing, investigation and litigation) (hereinafter referred to as 

“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury (including death), or loss or 

damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged to be caused, in 

whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of Contractor or 

any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or Subcontractors. This 

indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of, or recovered under, the 

Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of such Contractor to 

conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, 

or court decree. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee 

shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 

willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by Contractor from 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 28 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

and against any and all claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be responsible 

for primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this 

indemnification is applicable. In consideration of the award of this contract, the 

Contractor agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of 

Arizona, its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the 

work performed by the Contractor for the State of Arizona. This indemnity shall 

not apply if the Contractor or Subcontractor(s) is/are an agency, board, 

commission or university of the State of Arizona. 

6.2.2. Public Agency Language Only. Each party (as 'indemnitor') agrees to 

indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other party (as 'indemnitee') from 

and against any and all claims, losses, liability, costs, or expenses (including 

reasonable attorney's fees) (hereinafter collectively referred to as 'claims') 

arising out of bodily injury of any person (including death) or property damage 

but only to the extent that such claims which result in vicarious/derivative 

liability to the indemnitee, are caused by the act, omission, negligence, 

misconduct, or other fault of the indemnitor, its officers, officials, agents, 

employees, or volunteers. 

6.3. Indemnification - Patent and Copyright. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold 

harmless the State against any liability, including costs and expenses, for infringement 

of any patent, trademark or copyright arising out of Contract performance or use by 

the State of Materials furnished or work performed under this Contract. The State shall 

reasonably notify the Contractor of any claim for which it may be liable under this 

paragraph. If the Contractor is insured pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-621 and § 35-154, this 

paragraph shall not apply. 

6.4. Force Majeure. 

 
6.4.1. Except for payment of sums due, neither the Contractor nor State shall be 

liable to the other nor deemed in default under this Contract if and to the 

extent that such party’s performance of this Contract is prevented by reason of 

force majeure. The term “force majeure” means an occurrence that is beyond 

the control of the party affected and occurs without its fault or negligence. 

Without limiting the foregoing, force majeure includes: acts of God, acts of the 

public enemy, war, riots, strikes, mobilization, labor disputes, civil disorders, 

fire, flood, lockouts, injunctions-intervention-acts, failures or refusals to act by 

government authority, and other similar occurrences beyond the control of the 

party declaring force majeure which such party is unable to prevent by 

exercising reasonable diligence. 

6.4.2. Force Majeure shall not include the following occurrences: 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 29 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
6.4.2.1. Late delivery of equipment, Materials, or Services caused by 

congestion at a manufacturer’s plant or elsewhere, or an oversold 

condition of the market; 

 
6.4.2.2. Late performance by a Subcontractor unless the delay arises out of a 

force majeure occurrence in accordance with this force majeure term 

and condition; or 

 
6.4.2.3. Inability of either the Contractor or any Subcontractor to acquire or 

maintain any required insurance, bonds, licenses or permits. 

 

6.4.3. If either the Contractor or State is delayed at any time in the progress of the 

work by force majeure, the delayed party shall notify the other party in writing 

of such delay, as soon as is practicable and no later than the following working 

day, of the commencement thereof and shall specify the causes of such delay 

in such notice. Such notice shall be delivered or mailed certified-return receipt 

and shall make a specific reference to this article, thereby invoking 

itsprovisions. The delayed party shall cause such delay to cease as soon as 

practicable and shall notify the other party in writing when it has done so. The 

time of completion shall be extended by Contract Amendment for a period of 

time equal to the time that results or effects of such delay prevent the delayed 

party from performing in accordance with this Contract. 

6.4.4. Any delay or failure in performance by either party hereto shall not constitute 

default hereunder or give rise to any claim for damages or loss of anticipated 

profits if, and to the extent that such delay or failure is caused by force 

majeure. 

6.5. Third Party Antitrust Violations. The Contractor assigns to the State any claim for 

overcharges resulting from antitrust violations to the extent that those violations 

concern Materials or Services supplied by third parties to the Contractor, toward 

fulfillment of this Contract. 

7. Warranties 

 
7.1. Liens. The Contractor warrants that the Materials supplied under this Contract are free 

of liens and shall remain free of liens. 

7.2. Quality. Unless otherwise modified elsewhere in the Special Terms and Conditions, the 

Contractor warrants that, for one (1) year after acceptance by the State of the 

Materials, they shall be: 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 30 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

7.2.1. Of a quality to pass without objection in the trade under the Contract 

description; 

7.2.2. Fit for the intended purposes for which the Materials are used; 

 
7.2.3. Within the variations permitted by the Contract and are of even kind, quantity, 

and quality within each unit and among all units; 

7.2.4. Adequately contained, packaged, and marked as the Contract may require; and 

 
7.2.5. Conform to the written promises or affirmations of fact made by the Contractor. 

 
7.3. Conformity to Requirements. 

 
7.3.1. Contractor warrants that, unless expressly provided otherwise elsewhere in the 

Contract, the Materials and Services will for one (1) year after acceptance and 

in each instance: 

7.3.1.1. Conform to the requirements of the Contract, which by way of 

reminder include without limitation all descriptions, specifications, and 

drawings identified in the Scope of Work and any and all Contractor 

affirmations included as part of the Contract; 

7.3.1.2. Be free from defects of material and workmanship; 

7.3.1.3. Conform to or perform in a manner consistent with current industry 

standards; and 

7.3.1.4. Be fit for the intended purpose or use described in the Contract. 

 
7.3.2. Mere delivery or performance does not substitute for express acceptance by 

the State. Where inspection, testing, or other acceptance assessment of 

Materials or Services cannot be done until after installation or invoicing, the 

forgoing warranty will not begin until State’s explicit acceptance of the 

Materials or Services. 

7.4. Inspection/Testing. The warranties set forth in this Section 7 [Warranties] are not 

affected by inspection or testing of or payment for the Materials or Services by the 

State. 

7.5. Contractor Personnel. Contractor warrants that its personnel will perform their duties 

under the Contract in a professional manner, applying the requisite skills and 

knowledge, consistent with industry standards, and in accordance with the 

requirements of the Contract. Contractor further warrants that its key personnel will 

maintain any and all certifications relevant to their work, and Contractor shall provide 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 31 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

individual evidence of certification to State’s authorized representatives upon request. 

7.6. Compliance With Applicable Laws. The Materials and Services supplied under this 

Contract shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and policies 

(including, but not limited to, information technology policies, standards, and 

procedures available on the State’s website and/or the website of any department, 

commission, council, board, bureau, committee, institution, agency, government 

corporation or other establishment or official of the executive branch or corporation 

commission of the State of Arizona). Federal requirements may be incorporated into 

this Contract, if required, pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-2637. Contractor shall maintain any 

and all applicable license and permit requirements. This requirement includes, but is 

not limited to, any and all Arizona state statutes that impact state contracts, regardless 

of whether those statutory references have been removed during the course of 

contract negotiations; this is notice to Contractors that the State does not have the 

authority to modify Arizona state law by contract. 

7.7. Intellectual Property. Contractor warrants that the Materials and Services do not and 

will not infringe or violate any patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret, or other 

intellectual property rights or laws, except only to the extent the Specifications do not 

permit use of any other product and Contractor is not and cannot reasonably be 

expected to be aware of the infringement or violation. 

 

7.8. Licenses and Permits. Contractor warrants that it will maintain all licenses required to 

fully perform its duties under the Contract and all required permits valid and in force. 

  

7.9. Operational Continuity. Contractor warrants that it will perform without relief 

notwithstanding being sold or acquired; no such event will operate to mitigate or 

alter any of Contractor’s   d uties hereunder absent a consented delegation under 

paragraph 5.3 [Assignment and Delegation] that expressly recognizes the event.  

 
7.10.   Performance in Public Health Emergency. Contractor warrants that it will: 

 
7.10.1. Have in effect, promptly after commencement, a plan for continuing 

performance in the event of a declared public health emergency that 

addresses, at a minimum: 

7.10.1.1. Identification of response personnel by name; 

 
7.10.1.2. Key succession and performance responses in the event 

of sudden and significant decrease in workforce; and 

7.10.1.3. Alternative avenues to keep sufficient product on hand or 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 32 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

in the supply chain. 

7.10.2. Provide a copy of its current plan to State within three (3) business days 

after State’s written request. If Contractor claims relief under paragraph 

6.4 [Force Majeure] for an occurrence of force majeure that is a declared 

public health emergency, then that relief will be conditioned on 

Contractor having first implemented its plan and exhausted all 

reasonable opportunity for that plan implementation to overcome the 

effects of that occurrence, or mitigate those effects to the extent that 

overcoming entirely is not practicable. 

7.10.3. A request from the State related to this paragraph 7.10 does not 

necessarily indicate that there has been an occurrence of force majeure, 

and the Contractor will not be entitled to any additional compensation or 

extension of time by virtue of having to implement a plan. 

7.10.4. Failure to have or implement an appropriate plan will be a material 

breach of contract. 

7.11. Lobbying 

 
7.11.1. Prohibition. Contractor warrants that it will not engage in lobbying 

activities, as defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) part 34 and 

A.R.S. § 41-1231, et seq., using monies awarded under the Contract, 

provided that, the foregoing does not intend to constrain Contractor's 

use of its own monies or property, including without limitation any net 

proceeds duly realized under the Contract or any value thereafter 

derived from those proceeds; and upon award of the Contract, it will 

disclose all lobbying activities to State to the extent they are an actual or 

potential conflict of interest or where such activities could create an 

appearance of impropriety. Contractor shall implement and maintain 

adequate controls to assure compliance with above. Contractor shall 

obtain an equivalent warranty from all Subcontractors and shall include 

an equivalent no-lobbying provision in all Subcontracts. 

7.11.2. Exception. This paragraph 7.11 does not apply to the extent that the 

Services are defined in the Contract as being lobbying for State’s benefit 

or on State’s behalf. 

7.12. Covered Telecommunications or Services. Contractor warrants that the Materials and 

Services rendered under this Agreement will not require Contractor to use for the 

State, or provide to the State to use, "covered telecommunications equipment or 

Services" as a substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 33 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

technology as part of any system, within the meaning of Federal Acquisition 

Regulation (“FAR”) Section 52.204-25. 

7.13. Debarment, Suspension, U.S. Government Restricted Party Lists. Contractor warrants 

that it is not, and its Subcontractors are not, on the U.S. government’s Denied Parties 

List, the Unverified List, the Entities List, the Specially Designated Nationals and 

Blocked Parties List, and neither the Contractor nor any Subcontractors are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment or otherwise declared ineligible for 

award of federal contracts or participation in federal assistance programs or activities. 

7.14. False Statements. Contractor represents and warrants that all statements and 

information Contractor prepared and submitted in response to the Solicitation or as 

part of the Contract documents are current, complete, true, and accurate. If the 

Procurement Officer determines that Contractor submitted an Offer or Bid with a false 

statement, or makes material misrepresentations during the performance of the 

Contract, the Procurement Officer may determine that Contractor has materially 

breached the Contract and may void the submitted Offer or Bid and any resulting 

Contract. 

7.15. Survival of Rights and Obligations after Contract Expiration or Termination. 

 
7.15.1. Survival of Warranty. All representations and warranties made by 

Contractor under the Contract will survive the expiration or earlier 

termination of the Contract. 

7.15.2. Contractor's Representations and Warranties. All representations and 

warranties made by the Contractor under this Contract shall survive the 

expiration or termination hereof. In addition, the parties hereto 

acknowledge that pursuant to A.R.S. § 12-510, except as provided in A.R.S. 

§ 12- 529, the State is not subject to or barred by any limitations of 

actions prescribed in A.R.S., Title 12, Chapter 5. 

7.15.3. Purchase Orders. The Contractor shall, in accordance with all terms and 

conditions of the Contract, fully perform and shall be obligated to comply 

with all purchase orders received by the Contractor prior to the expiration 

or termination hereof, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Procurement Officer, including, without limitation, all purchase orders 

received prior to but not fully performed and satisfied at the expiration or 

termination of this Contract. 

8. State's Contractual Remedies 

 
8.1. Right to Assurance. If the State in good faith has reason to believe that the Contractor 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 34 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

does not intend to, or is unable to perform or continue performing under this Contract, 

the Procurement Officer may demand in writing that the Contractor give a written 

assurance of intent to perform. Failure by the Contractor to provide written assurance 

within the number of Days specified in the demand may, at the State’s option, be the 

basis for terminating the Contract under the Uniform Terms and Conditions or other 

rights and remedies available by law or provided by the contract. 

8.2. Stop Work Order. 

 
8.2.1. The State may, at any time, by written order to the Contractor, require the 

Contractor to stop all or any part of the work called for by this Contract for 

period(s) of days indicated by the State after the order is delivered to the 

Contractor. The order shall be specifically identified as a stop work order issued 

under this clause. Upon receipt of the order, the Contractor shall immediately 

comply with its terms and take all reasonable steps to minimize the incurrence 

of costs allocable to the work covered by the order during the period of work 

stoppage. 

8.2.2. If a stop work order issued under this clause is canceled or the period of the 

order or any extension expires, the Contractor shall resume work. The 

Procurement Officer shall make an equitable adjustment in the delivery 

schedule or Contract price, or both, and the Contract shall be amended in 

writing accordingly. 

8.3. Non-exclusive Remedies. The rights and the remedies of the State under this Contract 

are not exclusive. 

8.4. Nonconforming Tender. Materials or Services supplied under this Contract shall fully 

comply with the Contract. The delivery of Materials or Services or a portion of the 

Materials or Services that do not fully comply constitutes a breach of contract. On 

delivery of nonconforming Materials or Services, the State may terminate the Contract 

for default under applicable termination clauses in the Contract, exercise any of its 

rights and remedies under the Uniform Commercial Code, or pursue any other right or 

remedy available to it. 

8.5. Right of Offset. The State shall be entitled to offset against any sums due the 

Contractor, any expenses or costs incurred by the State, or damages assessed by the 

State concerning the Contractor’s non-conforming performance or failure to perform 

the Contract, including expenses, costs and damages described in the Uniform Terms 

and Conditions. 

9. Contract Termination 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 35 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

9.1. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest. Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-511, the State may cancel 

this Contract within three (3) years after Contract execution without penalty or 

further obligation if any person significantly involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, 

drafting or creating the Contract on behalf of the State is or becomes at any time while 

the Contract or an extension of the Contract is in effect an employee of or a consultant 

to any other party to this Contract with respect to the subject matter of the Contract. 

The cancellation shall be effective when the Contractor receives written notice of the 

cancellation unless the notice specifies a later time. If the Contractor is a political 

subdivision of the State, it may also cancel this Contract as provided in A.R.S. § 38-511. 

9.2. Gratuities. The State may, by written notice, terminate this Contract, in whole or in 

part, if the State determines that employment or a Gratuity was offered or made by 

the Contractor or a representative of the Contractor to any officer or employee of the 

State with the purpose of influencing the outcome of the procurement or securing the 

Contract, an amendment to the Contract, or favorable treatment concerning the 

Contract, including the making of any determination or decision about contract 

performance. The State, in addition to any other rights or remedies, shall be entitled to 

recover exemplary damages in the amount of three (3) times the value of the Gratuity 

offered by the Contractor. 

9.3. Suspension or Debarment. The State may, by written notice to the Contractor, 

immediately terminate this Contract if the State determines that the Contractor has 

been debarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully prohibited from participating in any 

public procurement activity, including but not limited to, being disapproved as a 

Subcontractor of any public procurement unit or other governmental body. Submittal 

of an offer or execution of a contract shall attest that the Contractor is not currently 

suspended or debarred. If the Contractor becomes suspended or debarred, the 

Contractor shall immediately notify the State. 

 

9.4. Termination for Convenience. The State reserves the right to terminate the Contract, in 

whole or in part at any time when in the best interest of the State, without penalty or 

recourse. Upon receipt of the written notice, the Contractor shall stop all work, as 

directed in the notice, notify all Subcontractors of the effective date of the termination 

and minimize all further costs to the State. In the event of termination under this 

paragraph, all documents, Data and reports prepared by the Contractor under the 

Contract shall become the property of and be delivered to the State upon demand. The 

Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for work in 

progress, work completed, and Materials or Services accepted before the effective 

date of the termination. The cost principles and procedures provided in A.R.S. § 41-

2543 and A.A.C. Title 2, Chapter 7, Article 7, shall apply. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 36 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
9.5. Termination for Default. 

 
9.5.1. In addition to the rights reserved in the contract, the State may terminate the 

Contract in whole or in part due to the failure of the Contractor to comply with 

any term or condition of the Contract, to acquire and maintain all required 

insurance policies, bonds, licenses and permits, or to make satisfactory 

progress in performing the Contract. The Procurement Officer shall provide 

written notice of the termination and the reasons for it to the Contractor. 

9.5.2. Upon termination under this paragraph, all goods, Materials, documents, 

Data, and reports prepared by the Contractor under the Contract shall 

become the property of and be delivered to the State on demand.  

9.5.3. The State may, upon termination of this Contract, procure, on terms and in 

the manner that it deems appropriate, Materials or Services to replace 

those under this Contract. The Contractor shall be liable to the State for 

any excess costs incurred by the State in procuring Materials or Services in 

substitution for those due from the Contractor. Continuation of 

Performance Through Termination. The Contractor shall continue to 

perform, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract, up to the 

date of termination, as directed in the termination notice.  

10. Contract Claims 

 
All contract claims or controversies under this Contract shall be resolved according to A.R.S. Title 

41, Chapter 23, Article 9, and rules adopted thereunder.  

11. Arbitration 

 
The parties to this Contract agree to resolve all disputes arising out of or relating to this Contract 

through arbitration, after exhausting applicable administrative review, to the extent required 

by A.R.S. § 12-1518, except as may be required by other applicable statutes (A.R.S. Title 41). 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 37 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 

1. INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS 

 
The following provisions include, in part, certain Standard Terms and Conditions 
required by DOT, whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract 
provisions. All contractual provisions required by DOT, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220 
available at: https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-
party-contracting-guidance are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the 
contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control 
in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. The 
Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with 
any (name of grantee) requests which would cause (name of grantee) to be in 
violation of the FTA terms and conditions. 

 
The Federal Terms and Conditions under this Contract shall be incorporated in any 
sub-contractor, or lower-tier agreement for any federally-funded task assignment / 
project awarded under this Contract. 

 
2. ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS 
 

The following access to records requirements apply to this Contract: 

 
1. Where the Purchaser is not a State but a local government and is the FTA 

Recipient or a sub grantee of the FTA Recipient in accordance with 49 C. F. R. 
18.36(i), the Contractor shall - provide the Purchaser, the FTA, the US Comptroller 
General or their authorized representatives access to any books, documents, 
papers and contractor records which are pertinent to this contract for the 
purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. Contractor 
shall also , pursuant to 49 C. F. R. 633.15, provide authorized FTA representative 
including any PMO Contractor access to Contractor's records and construction 
sites pertaining to a capital project, defined at 49 U.S.C. 5302(a)1, which is 
receiving assistance through the programs described at 49 U.S.C. 5307, 5309 or 
5311. 

 
2. Where the Purchaser is a State and is the FTA Recipient or a sub grantee of the 

FTA Recipient in accordance with 49 C.F.R. 633.15, Contractor shall provide the 
Purchaser, authorized FTA representatives, including any PMO Contractor, access 
to the Contractor's records and construction sites pertaining to a major capital 
project, defined at 49 U.S.C. 5302(a) 1, which receives FTA assistance through the 
programs described at 49 U.S.C. 5307, 5309 or 5311. By definition, a major capital 
project excludes contracts of less than the simplified acquisition threshold 
currently set at $250,000.00. 

 

3. Where the Purchaser enters into a negotiated contract for other than a small 
purchase or under the simplified acquisition threshold and is an institution of 

https://app.az.gov/
https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-party-contracting-guidance
https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-party-contracting-guidance


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 38 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

higher education, a hospital or other non- profit organization and is the FTA 
Recipient or a sub grantee of the FTA Recipient in accordance with 49 C.F.R. 19.48, 
Contractor shall provide the Purchaser, FTA, the US Comptroller General or their 
authorized representatives with access to any books, documents, papers and 
record of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to this contract for the 
purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  

4. Where a Purchaser which is the FTA Recipient or a sub grantee of the FTA 
Recipient in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5325(a) enters into a contract for a capital 
project or improvement (defined at 49 U.S.C. 5302(a)1) through other than 
competitive bidding, the Contractor shall make available records related to the 
contract to the Purchaser, the Secretary of USDOT and the US Comptroller General 
or any authorized officer or employee of any of them for the purposes of 
conducting an audit and inspection. 

 
5. Contractor shall permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 

whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed. 
 

6. The Contractor shall retain, and shall require its subcontractors at all tiers, all 
books, records, accounts and reports required under this contract for a period of 
not less than five years after the date of termination or expiration of this contract, 
except in the event of litigation or settlement of claims arising from the 
performance of this contract, in which case Contractor agrees to maintain same 
until the Purchaser, the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General, or any of 
their duly authorized representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, 
claims or exceptions related thereto. Reference 49 CFR 18.39(i)(11). 

 

3. AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 

 
Contractor shall take the following affirmative action steps with respect to securing 
supplies, equipment, or services under the terms of this contract: 

 
a. Include qualified firms owned by socially and economically disadvantaged 

individuals on solicitation lists. 
 

b. Assure that firms owned by socially and economically disadvantaged 
individuals are solicited whenever they are potential sources. 

 
c. When economically feasible, divide total requirements into smaller tasks 

or quantities so as to permit maximum participation by firms owned by 
socially and economically disadvantaged individuals. 

 
d. Where the requirement permits, establish delivery schedules which will 

encourage participation by firms owned by socially and economically 
disadvantaged individuals. 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 39 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

e. Use the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration, the 
Office of Minority Business Enterprise of the Department of Commerce, 
and the Community Services Administration, as required. 
 

4. AMERICAN WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) 
 

Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable requirements of Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act (1973), as amended, 29 USC §794, which prohibits discrimination on 
the basis of handicaps, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as 
amended, 42 USC §§12101 et seq., which requires that accessible facilities and 
services be made available to persons with disabilities, including any subsequent 
amendments to that Act. In addition, the contractor agrees to comply with any and all 
applicable requirements issued by the FTA, DOT, DOJ, U.S. GSA, U.S. EEOC, U.S. FCC, 
any subsequent amendments thereto and any other nondiscrimination statute(s) that 
may apply to the Project.  
 

5. BUS TESTING 
 

The Contractor [Manufacturer] agrees to comply with the Bus Testing requirements 
under 49 U.S.C. 5318(e) and FTA's implementing regulation at 49 C.F.R. part 665 to 
ensure that the requisite testing is performed for all new bus models or any bus model 
with a major change in configuration or components, and that the bus model has 
achieved a passing score. Upon completion of the testing, the contractor shall obtain a 
copy of the bus testing reports from the operator of the testing facility and make that 
report(s) publicly available prior to final acceptance of the first vehicle by the 
recipient. 
 

6. BREACHES AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 

The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and 
remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any 
duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No 
action or failure to act by the (Recipient), (Architect) or Contractor shall constitute a 
waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under the Contract, nor shall any 
such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any breach 
thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing. 

 
Disputes - Disputes arising in the performance of this contract which are not resolved 
by agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by the Department. This 
decision shall be final and conclusive unless within ten days from the date of receipt of 
its copy, contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal to the Department. 
In connection with such appeal, contractor shall be afforded an opportunity to be 
heard and to offer evidence in support of its position. The decision of the Department 
shall be binding upon contractor and contractor shall abide by the decision. FTA has a 
vested interest in the settlement of any violation of Federal law including the False 
Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 40 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
Performance During Dispute - Unless otherwise directed by the recipient, contractor 
shall continue performance under this contract while matters in dispute are being 
resolved. 
 
Claims for Damages - Should either party to the contract suffer injury or damage to 
person or property because of any act or omission of the party or of any of its 
employees, agents or others for whose acts it is legally liable, a claim for damages 
therefore shall be made in writing to such other party within ten days after the first 
observance of such injury or damage. 

 
Remedies - Unless this contract provides otherwise, all claims, counterclaims, disputes 
and other matters in question between the Department and contractor arising out of 
or relating to this agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration if the parties 
mutually agree, or in a court of competent jurisdiction within the residing State. 

 
Rights and Remedies - Duties and obligations imposed by the contract documents and 
the rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a 
limitation of any duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or 
available by law. No action or failure to act by the Department or contractor shall 
constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under the contract, nor 
shall any such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any 
breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing. 
 

7. BUY AMERICA 
  

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j) and 49 C.F.R Part 661, which 
provide that federal funds may not be obligated unless all steel, iron and manufactured 
products used in FTA funded projects are produced in the United States, unless a 
waiver has been granted by FTA or the product is subject to a general waiver. General 
waivers are listed in 49 C.F.R. 661.7. Separate requirements for rolling stock are set out 
at 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(c) and 49 C.F.R. 661.11 Domestic preferences for procurements. 
 
The bidder or offeror shall submit to the Agency the appropriate Buy America 
certification. Bids or proposals not accompanied by a completed Buy America 
certification shall be rejected as nonresponsive. For more information please see the 
FTA’s Buy America webpage at: https://transit.dot.gov/buyamerica. 

 
8. CARGO PREFERENCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
The contractor agrees: 
 

a. to use privately owned United States-Flag commercial vessels to ship at least 
50 percent of the gross tonnage (computed separately for dry bulk carriers, dry 
cargo liners, and tankers) involved, whenever shipping any equipment, 
material, or commodities pursuant to the underlying contract to the extent 

https://app.az.gov/
https://transit.dot.gov/buyamerica


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 41 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

such vessels are available at fair and reasonable rates for United States-Flag 
commercial vessels; 

 
b. to furnish within 20 working days following the date of loading for shipments 

originating within the United States or within 30 working days following the 
date of loading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible 
copy of a rated, "onboard" commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for each 
shipment of cargo described in the preceding paragraph to the Division of 
National Cargo, Office of Market Development, Maritime Administration, 
Washington, DC 20590 and to the FTA Recipient (through the contractor in the 
case of a subcontractor's bill-of-lading.); and 

 
c.   to include these requirements in all subcontracts issued pursuant to this 

contract when the   subcontract may involve the transport of equipment, 
material, or commodities by ocean vessel. 

 
9. CATALOG OF FEDERAL DOMESTIC ASSISTANCE (CFDA) IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 
 

The municipal project sponsor is required to identify in its accounts all Federal awards 
received and expended, and the Federal programs under which they were received. 
Federal program and award identification shall include, as applicable, the CFDA title 
and number, award number and year, name of the Federal agency, and name of the 
pass-through entity. 
 

10. CERTIFICATION AND ASSURANCES 
 

The FTA Certifications and Assurances are incorporated herein by reference. Upon 
award or contract renewal, the Contractor must agree to comply with the most 
current FTA Certifications and Assurances by signing and submitting the signature 
page provided by the Department. In the event FTA issues new Certifications and 
Assurances, the Department reserves the right to require submission of a new 
signature page agreeing to comply; to be added to the terms and conditions by 
Amendment. All such requests are a condition of continued award. 
 

11. CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND REQUIREMENTS 
The following Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations apply to all contracts. 
 

1. Federal Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements. These include, but are 
not limited to: 

 
a) Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs. 49 U.S.C. § 5332, 

covering projects, programs, and activities financed under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, 
prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex 
(including sexual orientation and gender identity), disability, or age, and 
prohibits discrimination in employment or business opportunity. 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 42 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

b) Prohibition against Employment Discrimination. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal 
Employment Opportunity,” September 24, 1965, as amended, prohibit 
discrimination in employment on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, or 
national origin. 

 
2. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 

as amended, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. and implementing Federal regulations, 
“Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or Activities Receiving 
Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 C.F.R. Part 25 prohibits discrimination on the basis of 
sex. 

 
3. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age. The “Age Discrimination Act of 1975,” as 

amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., and Department of Health and Human Services 
implementing regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age in Programs or 
Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90, prohibit 
discrimination by participants in federally assisted programs against individuals on the 
basis of age. The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA), 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq., 
and Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) implementing regulations, “Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, also prohibits employment 
discrimination against individuals age 40 and over on the basis of age. 

 
4. Federal Protections for Individuals with Disabilities. The Americans with Disabilities Act 

of 1990, as amended (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., prohibits discrimination against 
qualified individuals with disabilities in programs, activities, and services, and imposes 
specific requirements on public and private entities. Third party contractors must 
comply with their responsibilities under Titles I, II, III, IV, and V of the ADA in 
employment, public services, public accommodations, telecommunications, and other 
provisions, many of which are subject to regulations issued by other Federal agencies. 

 
 
Civil Rights and Equal Opportunity 
 
The Agency is an Equal Opportunity Employer. As such, the Agency agrees to comply with 
all applicable Federal civil rights laws and implementing regulations. Apart from 
inconsistent requirements imposed by Federal laws or regulations, the Agency agrees to 
comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(h) (3) by not using any Federal assistance 
awarded by FTA to support procurements using exclusionary or discriminatory 
specifications. Under this Contract, the Contractor shall at all times comply with the 
following requirements and shall include these requirements in each subcontract entered 
into as part thereof. 
 

1. Nondiscrimination. In accordance with Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the 
Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, disability, or age. In 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 43 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with applicable Federal implementing 
regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

 
2. Race, Color, Religion, National Origin, Sex. In accordance with Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., and Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. § 
5332, the Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable equal employment 
opportunity requirements of U.S. Department of Labor (U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of 
Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of 
Labor," 41 C.F.R. chapter 60, and Executive Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment 
Opportunity in Federal Employment," September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as 
amended by any later Executive Order that amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 
U.S.C. § 2000e note. The Contractor agrees to take affirmative action to ensure that 
applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without 
regard to their race, color, religion, national origin, or sex (including sexual orientation 
and gender identity). Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
employment, promotion, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, 
layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for 
training, including apprenticeship. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any 
implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

 
3. Age. In accordance with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 

621634, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC) regulations, “Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, the Age Discrimination Act of 
1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., U.S. Health and Human Services 
regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age in Programs or Activities Receiving 
Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90, and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 
5332, the Contractor agrees to refrain from discrimination against present and 
prospective employees for reason of age. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply 
with any Implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

 
4. Disabilities. In accordance with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 

amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 
4151 et seq., and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees that it 
will not discriminate against individuals on the basis of disability. In addition, the 
Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

 
 

5. Promoting Free Speech and Religious Liberty. The Contractor shall ensure that Federal 
funding is expended in full accordance with the U.S. Constitution, Federal Law, and 
statutory and public policy requirements: including, but not limited to, those protecting 
free speech, religious liberty, public welfare, the environment, and prohibiting 
discrimination. 
 
 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 44 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

12. CLEAN AIR ACT AND FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 

  
Contractor shall comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant 
to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as 
amended, (33 U.S.C. § 1251-1387). Violations must be reported to FTA and the Regional 
Office of the Environmental Protection Agency. The following applies for contracts of 
amounts in excess of $250,000. 

 
Clean Air 

1) Contractor shall comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations 
pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 7401 et seq. 
 

2)  Contractor shall report each violation to the Agency and understands and agrees 
that the Agency will, in turn, report each violation as required to assurance 
notification to the Agency, Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the 
appropriate Environmental Agency Regional Office 

 
3) Contractor shall include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 

$250,000 financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance. 
 

13. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST / EMPLOYMENT OF FEDERAL PERSONNEL 

 
Contractors will maintain a written code of standards of conduct governing the performance 
of their employees engaged in the award and administration of contracts. No employee, 
officer or agent of the Department or the Federal funding agency shall participate in 
selection, or in the award or administration of a contract supported by Federal funds if a 
conflict of interest, real or apparent, would be involved. Such a conflict would arise when: 
The employee, officer or agent, any member of his immediate family, His or her partner, or 
an organization which employs, or is about to employ, any of the above, has a financial or 
other interest in the firm selected for award. Department officers, employees or agents will 
neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors or anything of monetary value from contractors, 
potential contractors, or parties to sub-agreements. 
 

14. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL REGULATIONS 
 

Any contract entered pursuant to this solicitation shall contain the following provisions: All 
USDOT- required contractual provisions, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220, are incorporated 
by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, FTA mandated terms shall 
control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. 
Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any 
grantee request that would cause the recipient to be in violation of FTA terms and 
conditions. Contractor shall comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures 
and directives, including, without limitation, those listed directly or incorporated by 
reference in the Master Agreement between the recipient and FTA, as may be amended or 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 45 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

promulgated from time to time during the term of this contract. Contractor’s failure to 
comply shall constitute a material breach of this contract. 
 

15. CONFORMANCE WITH ITS NATIONAL ARCHITECTURE 
 

Contractor shall conform, to the extent applicable, to the National Intelligent Transportation 
Standards architecture as required by SAFETEA-LU Section 5307(c), 23 U.S.C. Section 517(d) 
note and follow the provisions of FTA Notice, “FTA National Architecture Policy on Transit 
Projects,” 66 Fed. Reg.1455 et seq., January 8, 2001, and any other implementing directives 
FTA may issue at a later date, except to the extent FTA determines otherwise in writing. 

 
16. CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT 

 
The following clauses apply to any Federal-aid contract in an amount in excess of $100,000 
and subject to the overtime provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards 
Act. These clauses shall be inserted in addition to the clauses required by 29 CFR 5.5 or 29 
CFR 4.6. As used in this paragraph, the terms laborers and mechanics include watchmen and 
guards. 

 
1. Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of 

the contract work which may require or involve the employment of laborers or 
mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in 
which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of forty hours in such 
workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less 
than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 
forty hours in such workweek. 

 
2. Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any 

violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section, the contractor and 
any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In 
addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in 
the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to 
such District or to such territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages 
shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including 
watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) 
of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was 
required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours 
without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in 
paragraph (1) of this section. 

 
3. Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The FHWA or the 

contacting agency shall upon its own action or upon written request of an 
authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be 
withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the 
contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any other Federal contract 
with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 46 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same prime 
contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities 
of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as 
provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (2) of this section. 

 
4. Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the 

clauses set forth in paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause 
requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. 
The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or 
lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of 
this section. 
 

17. DEBARMENT OR SUSPENSION 
 

The Contractor shall comply and facilitate compliance with U.S. DOT regulations, 
"Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment," 2 C.F.R. part 1200, which adopts and 
supplements the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (U.S. OMB) "Guidelines to Agencies 
on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement)," 2 C.F.R. part 180. 
These provisions apply to each contract at any tier of $25,000 or more, and to each contract 
at any tier for a federally required audit (irrespective of the contract amount), and to each 
contract at any tier that must be approved by an FTA official irrespective of the contract 
amount. As such, the Contractor shall verify that its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors 
are eligible to participate in this federally funded contract and are not presently declared by 
any Federal department or agency to be: 

 
a) Debarred from participation in any federally assisted Award; 

b) Suspended from participation in any federally assisted Award; 

c) Proposed for debarment from participation in any federally assisted Award; 

d) Declared ineligible to participate in any federally assisted Award; 

e) Voluntarily excluded from participation in any federally assisted Award; or 

f) Disqualified from participation in any federally assisted Award. 
 

By signing and submitting its bid or proposal, the bidder or proposer certifies as follows: 

 
The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by the 
Department. If it is later determined that the bidder or proposer knowingly rendered an 
erroneous certification, in addition to remedies available to the Department, the Federal 
Government may pursue available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or 
debarment. The bidder or proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R.  part 
180, Subpart C as supplemented by 2 C.F.R. part 1200, while this offer is valid and 
throughout the period of any contract that may arise from this offer. The bidder or proposer 
further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in its lower tier covered 
transactions. 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 47 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

18. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 
 

1.0 Policy: 
 

The Arizona Department of Transportation (hereinafter the Department) has established a 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program in accordance with the regulations of the 
U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT), 49 CFR Part 26. The Department has received 
Federal financial assistance from the U.S. Department of Transportation and as a condition 
of receiving this assistance, the Department has signed an assurance that it will comply with 
49 CFR Part 26. 

 
It is the policy of the Department to ensure that DBEs, as defined in Part 26, have an equal 
opportunity to receive and participate in USDOT-assisted contracts. It is also the policy of 
the Department: 

 
1. To ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of USDOT-assisted 

contracts; 
2. To create a level playing field on which DBEs can compete fairly for USDOT-assisted 

contracts; 
3. To ensure that the DBE program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable 

law; 
4. To ensure that only firms that fully meet 49 CFR Part 26 eligibility standards are 

counted as DBEs; 
5. To help remove barriers to the participation of DBEs in USDOT-assisted contracts; 

6. To assist in the development of firms that can compete successfully in the market 
place outside the DBE program; and 

7. To promote the use of DBEs in all types of federally-assisted contracts and 
procurement activities. 

 
It is also the policy of the Department to facilitate and encourage participation of Small 
Business Concerns (SBCs), as defined herein, in USDOT-assisted contracts. The Department 
encourages contractors to take reasonable steps to eliminate obstacles to SBCs’ 
participation and to utilize SBCs in performing contracts. 

 
2.0 Assurances of Non-Discrimination: 

 
The contractor, subrecipient, or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, 
color, sex or national origin in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry 
out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of DOT 
assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material 
breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other 
remedy as the Department, deems appropriate, which may include, but are not limited to: 

 
1. Withholding monthly progress payments; 
2. Assessing sanctions; 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 48 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

3. Liquidated damages; 
4. Suspension or Debarment per Uniform Terms and Conditions Paragraph 9.3 of the 

contractor from future bidding; and/or 
5. Cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Contract, in whole or in part. 

 
The contractor, subrecipient, or subcontractor shall ensure that all subcontract agreements 
contain this non-discrimination assurance. 

 
3.0 Definitions: 

 
(A) Commercially Useful Function (CUF): Commercially Useful Function is defined 

fully in 49 CFR 26.55, which definition is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
(B) Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE): a for-profit small business concern 

which meets both of the following requirements: 
 

(1) Is at least 51 percent owned by one or more socially and economically 
disadvantaged individuals or, in the case of any publicly owned business, at 
least 51 percent of the stock is owned by one or more such individuals; and, 

 

(2) Whose management and daily business operations are controlled by one or 
more of the socially and economically disadvantaged individuals who own 
it.  

(C) NAICS Code: The North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) is the 
standard used by Federal statistical agencies in classifying business 
establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing statistical 
data related to the U.S. business economy. 

 
(D) Non-DBE: any firm that is not a DBE. 

 
(E) Race-Conscious (RC): a measure or program focused specifically on assisting 

only DBEs, including women-owned DBEs. 
 

(F) Race-Neutral (RN): a measure or program used to assist all small businesses. 
For the purposes of this part, race-neutral includes gender-neutrality. 

 
(G) Small Business Concern (SBC): a business that meets all of the following 

conditions: 
 

(1) Operates as a for-profit business registered to do business in Arizona; 
 

(2) Operates a place of business primarily within the U.S., or makes a significant 
contribution to the U.S. economy through payment of taxes or use of 
American products, materials, or labor; 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 49 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

(3) Is independently owned and operated; 

 
(4) Is not dominant in its field on a national basis; and 

 
(5) Does not have annual gross receipts that exceed the Small Business 

Administration size standards average annual income criteria for its primary 
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code. 

 
(H) Socially and Economically Disadvantaged Individuals: any individual who is a 

citizen (or lawfully admitted permanent resident) of the United States and who 
is: 

 
(1) Any individual who is found to be a socially and economically disadvantaged 

individual on a case-by-case basis. 
 

(2) Any individual in the following groups, members of which are rebuttably 
presumed to be socially and economically disadvantaged: 

 
(i) "Black Americans," which includes persons having origins in any of the 

Black racial groups of Africa; 
 

(ii) "Hispanic Americans," which includes persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, 
Cuban, Dominican, Central or South American, or other Spanish or 
Portuguese culture or origin, regardless of race; 

 

(iii) "Native Americans," which includes persons who are enrolled members 
of federally or State recognized Indian tribe, Alaskan Natives or Native 
Hawaiians; 

 
(iv) “Asian-Pacific Americans,” which includes persons whose origins are 

from Japan, China, Taiwan, Korea, Burma (Myanmar), Vietnam, Laos, 
Cambodia (Kampuchea), Thailand, Malaysia, Indonesia, the Philippines, 
Brunei, Samoa, Guam, the U.S. Trust Territories of the Pacific Islands 
(Republic of Palau), the Republic of the Northern Marianas Islands, 
Macao, Fiji, Tonga, Kiribati, Tuvalu, Nauru, Federated States of 
Micronesia, or Hong Kong; 

 
(v) “Subcontinent Asian Americans,” which includes persons whose origins 

are from India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, the Maldives Islands, 
Nepal or Sri Lanka; 

 
(vi) "Women;" 

 
(vii) Any additional groups whose members are designated as socially and 

economically disadvantaged by the Small Business Administration (SBA), 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 50 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

at such time as the SBA designation becomes effective. 
 

4.0 Working with DBEs: 
 

The Department works with DBEs and assists them in their efforts to participate in the 
highway construction. All proposers should contact the Department’s Business Engagement 
and Compliance Office (BECO) by phone, through email, or at the address shown below, for 
assistance in their efforts to use DBEs in the highway construction industry. BECO contact 
information is as follows: 

 
Arizona Department of Transportation Business Engagement and Compliance 

Office 1801 W. Jefferson St., Ste. 101, Mail Drop 154A Phoenix, AZ 85007 
Phone (602) 712-7761 

FAX (602) 712-8429 

Email: contractorcompliance@azdot.gov Website: www.azdot.gov/bec 
 

4.01 Mentor-Protégé Program: 
 

The Department has established a Mentor- Protégé program as an initiative to 
encourage and develop disadvantaged businesses in the highway construction 
industry. The program encourages prime contractors to provide certain types of 
assistance to certified DBE subcontractors. ADOT encourages contractors and 
certified DBE subcontractors to engage in a Mentor-Protégé agreement under certain 
conditions. Such an agreement must be mutually beneficial to both parties and to 
ADOT in fulfilling requirements of 49 CFR Part 23. For guidance regarding this 
program refer to the Mentor-Protégé Program Guidelines available on the BECO 
website. 

 

The Mentor-Protégé program is intended to increase legitimate DBE activities. The 
program does not diminish the DBE rules or regulations, and participants may not 
circumvent these rules. 

 
5.0 Applicability: 

 
The Department has established an overall annual goal for DBE participation on Federal aid 
contracts. The Department intends for the goal to be met with a combination of race 
conscious efforts and race neutral efforts. Race conscious participation occurs when the 
contractor uses a percentage of DBEs, as defined herein, to meet the contract specified 
goal. Race neutral efforts are those that are, or can be, used to assist all small businesses or 
increase opportunities for all small businesses. The regulation, 49 CFR 26, defines race 
neutral as when a DBE wins a prime contract through customary competitive procurement 
procedures or is awarded a subcontract on a prime contract that does not carry a DBE 
contract goal. 

 

https://app.az.gov/
mailto:contractorcompliance@azdot.gov
http://www.azdot.gov/bec


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 51 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

Prime contractors are encouraged to obtain DBE participation even if a DBE goal was not 
established on a contract. 

 
The DBE provisions are applicable to all contractors including DBE contractors. 

 
6.0 Certification and Registration: 

 
6.1 DBE Certification: 

 
Certification as a DBE shall be predicated on: 
 
(1) The completion and execution of an application for certification as a "Disadvantaged 

Business Enterprise". 
 
(2) The submission of documents pertaining to the firm(s) as stated in the application(s), 

including but not limited to a statement of social disadvantage and a personal financial 
statement. 

 
(3) The submission of any additional information which the Department or the applicable 

Arizona Unified Certification (UCP) agency may require to determine the firm's eligibility 
to participate in the DBE program. 

 
(4) The information obtained during the on-site visits to the offices of the firm and to active 

job-sites. 
 

Applications for certification may be filed online with the Department or the applicable 
UCP agency at any time through the Arizona Unified Transportation Registration and 
Certification System (AZ UTRACS) website at http://www.azutracs.com. 

  

DBE firms and firms seeking DBE certification shall cooperate fully with requests for 
information relevant to the certification process. Failure or refusal to provide such 
information is a ground for denial or removal of certification. 

 
ADOT is a member of the AZ Unified Certification Program (AZUCP). Only DBE firms that 
are certified by the AZUCP are eligible for credit on ADOT projects. A list of DBE firms 
certified by AZUCP is available on the internet at http://www.azutracs.com/. The list will 
indicate contact information and specialty for each DBE firm, and may be sorted in a 
variety of ways. However, ADOT does not guarantee the accuracy and/or completeness 
of this information, nor does ADOT represent that any licenses or registrations are 
appropriate for the work to be done. 

 
The Department’s certification of a DBE is not a representation of qualifications and/or 
abilities nor does it mean that a DBE firm is guaranteed or entitled to receive or be 
awarded a contract. Being certified simply means that a firm has met the criteria for DBE 

https://app.az.gov/
http://www.azutracs.com/
http://www.azutracs.com/
http://www.azutracs.com/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 52 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

certification as outlined in 49 CFR Part 26. The contractor bears all risks of ensuring that 
DBE firms selected by the contractor are able to perform the work. 

 
6.2 SBC Registration: 

 
To comply with 49 CFR Part 26.39, ADOT’s DBE Program incorporates contracting 
requirements to facilitate participation by Small Business Concerns (SBCs) in federally 
assisted contracts. SBCs are for- profit businesses authorized to do business in Arizona 
that meet the Small Business Administration (SBA) size standards for average annual 
revenue criteria for its primary North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) 
code. 

 
While the SBC component of the DBE program does not require utilization of goals on 
projects, ADOT strongly encourages contractors to utilize small businesses that are 
registered in AZ UTRACS on their contracts, in addition to DBEs meeting the certification 
requirement. The contractor may use the AZ UTRACS website to search for certified 
DBEs and registered SBCs that can be used on the contract. However, SBCs that are not 
DBEs will not be counted toward DBE participation. 

 
SBCs can register online at the AZ UTRACS website. 
 
The Department’s registration of SBCs is not a representation of qualifications and/or 
abilities nor does it mean that an SBC firm is guaranteed or entitled to receive or be 
awarded a contract. Being SBC registered simply means that a firm has met the criteria 
for SBC registration as outlined in 49 CFR Part 
26. The contractor bears all risks of ensuring that SBC firms selected by the contractor 
are able to perform the work. 

 

7.0 DBE Financial Institutions: 

 
The Department thoroughly investigates the full extent of services offered by financial 
institutions owned and controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged 
individuals in its service area and makes reasonable efforts to use these institutions. The 
Department encourages prime contractors to use such institutions on USDOT assisted 
contracts. However, use of DBE financial institutions will not be counted toward DBE 
participation. 
 
The Department encourages prime contractors to research the Federal Reserve Board 
website at www.federalreserve.gov to identify minority-owned banks in Arizona derived 
from the Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income filed quarterly by banks (FFIEC 
031 and 041) and from other information on the Board’s National Information Center 
database. 

 
8.0 Time is of the Essence: 
 

https://app.az.gov/
http://www.federalreserve.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 53 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE IN RESPECT TO THE DBE PROVISIONS. 
 

9.0 Computation of Time: 
 

In computing any period of time described in this DBE special provision, such as calendar 
days, the day from which the period begins to run is not counted, and when the last day 
of the period is a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal or State holiday, the period extends to 
the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal or State holiday. In circumstances 
where the Department’s offices are closed for all or part of the last day, the period 
extends to the next day on which the Department’s offices are open. 

 
10.0 Contractor and Subcontractor Requirements: 

 
10.1 General: 

 
Each contractor shall establish a program that will ensure nondiscrimination in the 
award and administration of contracts and subcontracts. 

 
Agreements between the bidder and a DBE in which the DBE promises not to provide 
subcontracting quotations to other bidders are prohibited. 

 
10.2 DBE Liaison: 
 
The contractor shall designate a DBE Liaison responsible for the administration of the 
contractor’s DBE program. The name of the designated DBE Liaison shall be included in 
the DBE Intended Participation Affidavit Summary. 
 

11.0 DBE Goals 

 
The Department has not established contract goals for DBE participation in this contract. 
 
Contractors are still encouraged to employ reasonable means to obtain DBE 
participation. Contractors must retain records in accordance with these DBE 
specifications. The contractor is notified that this record keeping is important to the 
Department so that it can track DBE participation where only race neutral efforts are 
employed. 

 
11.1 Race Neutral Contract (With No DBE Goal) 

 
The Department has established a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program in 
accordance with the regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT), 49 
CFR Part 26. ADOT has received federal financial assistance from the USDOT and as a 
condition of receiving this assistance, ADOT has signed an assurance that it shall comply 
with 49 CFR Part 26. 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 54 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

It is ADOT’s policy to ensure that DBEs, as defined in 49 CFR Part 26, have an equal 
opportunity to receive and participate in federally-funded contracts. 
 
NO CONTRACT DBE GOAL HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED FOR DBE PARTICIPATION ON THIS 
CONTRACT. 
 
Contractors are still encouraged to employ reasonable means to obtain DBE 
participation. Contractors must retain records in accordance with these DBE 
specifications. The consultant is notified that this record keeping is important to the 
Department so that it can track DBE participation where only race neutral efforts are 
employed. 

 
12.0 Bidders/Proposers List and AZ UTRACS Registration Requirement: 

 
Under Title 49 CFR of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 26.11, DOTs are required to 
collect certain information from all contractors and subcontractors who seek to work on 
federally-assisted contracts in order to set overall and contract DBE goals. ADOT collects 
this information when firms register their companies on the Arizona Unified 
Transportation Registration and Certification System (AZ UTRACS) web portal at 
http://www.azutracs.com/ a centralized database for companies that seek to do 
business with ADOT. This information will be maintained as confidential to the extent 
allowed by federal and state law. 

 
Prime contractors and all subcontractors, including DBEs listed in the offer must be 
registered in AZUTRACS. Proposers may verify that their firm and each subcontractor is 
registered using the AZUTRACS website. 
 
Proposers may obtain additional information at the AZ UTRACS website or by contacting 
BECO.  
 

All proposers shall create a Bidders/Proposers list in the AZ UTRACS by selecting all 
firms, service providers, and vendors that expressed interest or submitted proposals or 
quotes for this contract. The Bidders/Proposers List form must be complete and must 
include the names for all subcontractors, service providers, and vendors that submitted 
proposals or quotes on this project regardless of the proposer’s intentions to use those 
firms on the project. 

 
All proposers must complete and submit the Bidders/Proposers List online at AZ UTRACS 
prior to Offer submittal. A confirmation email will be generated by the system. This 
email confirmation shall be submitted with the Offer. 
 
FAILURE TO SUBMIT THE REQUIRED BIDDERS/PROPOSERS LIST CONFIRMATION EMAIL 
WITH THE OFFER BY THE STATED TIME AND IN THE MANNER HEREIN SPECIFIED AND AS 
OUTLINED IN THE RFQ SHALL BE CAUSE FOR THE PROPOSER’S OFFER TO BE REJECTED. 

 

https://app.az.gov/
http://www.azutracs.com/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 55 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

13.0 Payment Reporting: 
 

The contractor shall report on a monthly basis indicating the amounts paid to all 
subcontractors, of all tiers, working on the project. Reporting shall be in accordance with 
below. 

 
Subcontracts: 

 
a. Sub-Contract Terms: 

 
1. The Contractor agrees to execute a written Contract with all Subcontractors for 

work to be completed under this Contract. The executed Contract shall include 
Subcontractor’s Scope of Work and all the Uniform Terms and Conditions set 
forth in this Contract. 

 
2. The Contractor shall provide electronic copies of signed subcontract 

agreements with all Subcontractors to ADOT Business Engagement and 
Compliance Office (BECO) by uploading them to the BECO’s online DBE 
Contract & Labor Compliance Management System (DBE System) at 
https://adot.dbesystem.com. Subcontract agreements shall include all required 
assurances and required clauses as outlined in this Contract. Each agreement 
and required attachment shall be dated and signed by the Subcontractor in 
order for the subcontract to be considered valid. 

 
3. The Contractor may be in breach of this Contract if the Contractor materially 

modifies the federal regulations and State statutes in its subcontract 
agreements terms and conditions with its Subcontractors. Deviations from the 
terms of this Contract may result in termination of the Contract, or any other 
such remedy as deemed appropriate by the Department. 

 

b. Sub-Contract Payments 
 

1. Retention: If the prime contract does not provide for retention, the contractor 
and each subcontractor of any tier shall not withhold retention on any 
subcontract. If the prime contract provides for retention, the prime contractor 
and each subcontractor of any tier shall not retain a higher percentage than the 
Department may retain under the prime contract. Retainage shall be paid to 
the subcontractor within 7 days of satisfactory completion of the work 
performed by the subcontractor. 

 
2. No Set-offs Arising from Other Contracts: If a subcontractor is performing work 

on multiple contracts for the same contractor or subcontractor of any tier, the 
contractor or  subcontractor of any tier shall not withhold or reduce payment 
from its subcontractors on the contract because of disputes or claims on 
another contract. 

 
3. Partial Payment: The contractor and each subcontractor of any tier shall make 

prompt partial payments to its subcontractors within seven days of receipt of 
payment from the Department. Notwithstanding any provision of Arizona 

https://app.az.gov/
https://adot.dbesystem.com/
https://adot.dbesystem.com/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 56 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

Revised Statutes Section 28-411, the parties may not agree otherwise. 
 

4. Final Payment: The contractor and each subcontractor of any tier shall make 
prompt final payment to each of its subcontractors. The contractor and each 
subcontractor of any tier shall pay all monies, including retention, due to its 
subcontractor within seven days of receipt of payment. Notwithstanding any 
provision of Arizona Revised Statutes Section 28-411, the parties may not agree 
otherwise. 

 
5. Payment Reporting: For the purposes of this subsection “Reportable Contracts” 

means any subcontract, of any tier, DBE or non-DBE, by which work shall be 
performed on behalf of the contractor and any contract of any tier with a DBE 
material or service supplier. 

 
The requirements of this subsection apply to all Reportable Contracts. 

 
Payment Reporting for all Reportable Contracts shall be done through the 
Department’s web- based DBE System. The DBE System can be accessed from 
the Department’s BECO website. No later than fifteen calendar days after the 
Notice to Proceed is issued, the contractor shall log into the Department’s web 
based DBE System and enter or verify the name, contact information, and 
subcontract amounts for Reportable Contracts on the project. As Reportable 
Contracts are approved over the course of the contract, the contractor shall 
enter them in the system. Reportable contracts shall be entered into the 
system no later than five calendar days after approval by the Department. 
 
The contractor shall report on a monthly basis indicating the amounts actually 
paid and the dates of each payment under any Reportable Contract on the 
project. In addition, the contractor shall require that all participants in any 
Reportable Contract electronically verify receipt of payment on the contract by 
the last day of the month and the contractor shall actively monitor the 
Department’s DBE System to ensure that the verifications are input. The 
contractor shall proactively work to resolve any payment discrepancies in the 
DBE System between payment amounts it reports and payment confirmation 
amounts reported by others. 

 

The contractor shall ensure that all Reportable Contract activity is reported to 
the Department. This includes all lower-tier Reportable Contracts, regardless of 
whether a DBE is involved or not. 

 
The contractor shall maintain records for each payment explaining the amount 
requested by the subcontractor, and the amount actually paid pursuant to the 
request, which may include but are not limited to, estimates, invoices, pay 
requests, copies of checks or wire transfers, and lien waivers in support of the 
monthly payments in the DBE System. 

 
The contractor shall provide information for payments made on all Reportable 
Contracts during the previous month by the 15th day of the current month. In 
the event that no payments were made during a given month, the contractor 
shall identify that by entering a dollar value of zero. If the contractor does not 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 57 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

pay the full amount of any invoice from a subcontractor, the contractor shall 
note that and provide the reasons in the comment section of the Monthly 
Payment Audit of the DBE System. 

 
For each Reportable Contract on which the contractor fails to submit timely 
payment information the Department will retain $1,000.00 as liquidated 
damages, from the monies due to the contractor. Liquidated damages will be 
deducted each month for each Reportable Contract on which the contractor 
fails to submit payment information until the contractor provides the required 
information as described herein. After 90 consecutive days of non- reporting, 
the liquidated damages will increase to $2,000.00 for each subsequent month, 
for each Reportable Contract on which the contractor fails to report until the 
information is provided. These liquidated damages shall be in addition to all 
other retention or liquidated damages provided for elsewhere in the contract. 
 
Payment reporting requirements apply to all contracts, federal and non-federal 
funded. 
 
The contractor shall ensure that a copy of this Subsection is included in every 
Reportable Contract of every tier. 

 
(a) Sanctions for Inadequate Reporting: 

 
For each Reportable Contract on which the contractor fails to submit timely 
and complete payment information the Department will retain $1,000.00 as 
liquidated damages, from the monies due to the contractor. Liquidated 
damages will be deducted each month for each Reportable Contract on which 
the contractor fails to submit payment information until the contractor 
provides the required information as described herein. After 90 consecutive 
days of non-reporting, the liquidated damages will increase to $2,000.00 for 
each subsequent month, for each Reportable Contract on which the contractor 
fails to report until the information is provided. These liquidated damages shall 
be in addition to all other retention or liquidated damages provided for 
elsewhere in the contract. 
  

6. Completion of Work: A subcontractor’s work is satisfactorily completed when 
all the tasks called for in the subcontract have been accomplished, 
documented, and accepted by the Department. 
 

7. Disputes: If disputes arise regarding payment of subcontractors, the contractor 
shall immediately provide the ADOT Project Manager with a written, verifiable 
explanation if: 

 
 The contractor does not pay the full amount of any invoice from a 

subcontractor within seven days of receipt of a progress payment from 
the Department, or 

 
 The monthly estimate does not include all work claimed by a 

subcontractor to have been performed. 
 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 58 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

The Department will determine whether the contractor has acted in good faith 
concerning any such explanations. The Department reserves the right to 
request and receive documents from the contractor and all subcontractors of 
any tier, in order to determine whether termination requirements were met. 
The contractor shall implement and use the dispute resolution process outlined 
in the subcontract, as described in Uniform Terms and Conditions Paragraph, to 
resolve payment disputes. 

 
8. Non-Compliance: Failure to make prompt partial payment or prompt final 

payment including any retention, within the time frames established in this 
contract, will result in remedies, as the Department deems appropriate, which 
may include, but are not limited to: 

 
 Liquidated Damages: These liquidated damages shall be in addition to all 

other retention or liquidated damages provided for elsewhere in the 
contract. 

 
(i) The Department will withhold two times the disputed dollar amount 

not paid to each subcontractor. 
(ii) If full payment is made within 30 days of the Department’s payment 

to the contractor, the amount withheld by the Department will be 
released. 

(iii) If full payment is made after 30 days of the Department’s payment to 
the contractor, the Department will release 75 percent of the funds 
withheld. The Department will retain 25 percent of the monies 
withheld as liquidated damages. 

 
 Additional Remedies: If the contractor fails to make prompt payment for 

three consecutive months, or any four months over the course of one 
project, or if the contractor fails to make prompt payment on two or more 
contracts within 24 months, the Department may, in addition, invoke the 
following remedies: 

 
(i) Withhold monthly progress payments until the issue is resolved and 

full payment has been made to all subcontractors and vendors subject 
to the requirements outlined under “Liquidated Damages” above, 

(ii) Terminate the contract for default in accordance with this Contract, 
and/or 

(iii) Suspension or Debarment per Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Paragraph 9.3 of the contractor from future bidding temporarily or 
permanently, depending on the number and severity of violation. 

(iv) Reflect the contractor’s performance in submitting payment reports 
and making subcontractor payments utilizing the Department’s 
Vendor Performance Report. 

 

14.0  Crediting DBE Participation: 

 
14.01 General Requirements: 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 59 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

To count toward DBE participation, the DBE firms must be certified at the time 
of Offer submission in each NAICS code applicable to the kind of work the firm 
will perform on the contract. NAICS for each DBE can be found on the AZ 
UTRACS website. General descriptions of all NAICS codes can be found at 
http://www.naics.com/search/. 

 

Credit is given only after the DBE has been paid for the work performed. 
 
The entire amount of a contract that is performed by the DBE’s own forces, 
including the cost of supplies and materials purchased by the DBE for the work 
on the contract and equipment leased by the DBE will be credited toward DBE 
participation. Supplies and equipment the DBE subcontractor purchases or 
leases from the prime contractor or its affiliate will not be credited toward 
DBE participation. 

 
The contractor bears the responsibility to determine whether the DBE 
possesses the proper contractor’s license(s) to perform the work and, if DBE 
credit is requested, that the DBE subcontractor is certified for the requested 
type of work. 
 
The Department’s certification is not a representation of a DBE’s qualifications 
and/or abilities. The contractor bears all risks that the DBE may not be able to 
perform its work for any reason. 
 
A DBE may participate as a prime contractor, subcontractor, or as a vendor of 
materials or supplies. The dollar amount of work to be accomplished by DBEs, 
including partial amount of a lump sum or other similar item, shall be on the 
basis of subcontract, purchase order, hourly rate, rate per ton, etc., as agreed 
to between parties. 
 
DBE credit may be obtained only for specific work done for the project, supply 
of equipment specifically for physical work on the project, or supply of 
materials to be incorporated in the work. DBE credit will not be allowed for 
costs such as overhead items, capital expenditures (for example, purchase of 
equipment), and office items. 

 
The contractor may credit second-tier subcontracts issued to DBEs by non-DBE 
subcontractors. Any second-tier subcontract to a DBE must meet the 
requirements of a first-tier DBE subcontract. 
 
A prime contractor may credit the entire amount of that portion of a contract 
that is performed by the DBE’s own forces. The cost of supplies and materials 
obtained by the DBE for the work of the contract can be included so long as 
that cost is reasonable. Leased equipment may also be included. No credit is 

https://app.az.gov/
http://www.naics.com/search/
http://www.naics.com/search/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 60 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

permitted for supplies purchased or equipment leased from the prime 
contractor or its affiliate(s). 

 

When a DBE subcontracts a part of the work of its contract to another firm, 
the value of the subcontract may be credited towards DBE participation only if 
the DBE’s subcontractor is itself a DBE and performs the work with its own 
forces. Work that a DBE subcontracts to a non-DBE firm does not count 
toward DBE participation. 

 
A prime contractor may credit the entire amount of fees or commissions 
charged by a DBE firm for providing a bona fide service, such as professional, 
technical, consulting, or managerial services, or for providing bonds or 
insurance specifically required for the performance of a USDOT-assisted 
contract, provided the fees are reasonable and not excessive as compared 
with fees customarily allowed for similar services. 

 
 
 

14.02 DBE Prime Contractor: 

 
When a certified DBE firm proposes on a contract/Task Assignment all the 
work that is performed by the DBE contractor or any other DBE 
subcontractors and DBE suppliers will count toward DBE participation. 

 
14.03 Effect of Loss of DBE Eligibility: 

 
For On-Call Task Assignment contracts, if a DBE is deemed ineligible 
(decertified) or suspended by ADOT or one of its UCP Partner Agencies in 
accordance with 49 CFR 26.87 and 26.88, the DBE may not be count toward 
DBE participation on a new Task Assignment, but may be considered for the 
contract/Task Assignment DBE participation if a subcontractor contract 
modification for the work to be completed on the Task Assignment was 
executed before the DBE suspension or decertification is effective. 

 
A subcontractor contract modification for work on the task assignment means, 
any subcontract or agreement for the task assignment, which includes a 
specific ADOT TRACS/Project Number, defined scope, duration and budget for 
the work to be completed under the Task Assignment that is duly signed by 
the contractor/contractor and subcontractor/subcontractor. 
 
When the contractor/contractor intents to use an ineligible DBE firm or ADOT 
made a commitment to use an ineligible DBE prime contractor/contractor, but 
a subcontract or Contract Modification for the work to be completed on the 
Task Assignment has not been executed before a decertification notice is 
issued to the DBE firm by its certifying agency, the ineligible firm does not 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 61 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

count toward DBE participation. When a subcontract or contract modification 
is executed with the DBE firm for the work to be completed on the Task 
Assignment before ADOT notified the firm of its ineligibility, the DBE’s work on 
the Task Assignment may continue to be credited toward DBE participation for 
the firm’s work. 

 
14.04 Notifying the Contractor of DBE Certification Status: 

 
Each DBE contract at any tier shall require any DBE subcontractor or supplier 
that is either decertified or certified during the term of the contract to 
immediately notify the contractor and all parties to the DBE contract in 
writing, with the date of decertification or certification. The contractor shall 
require that this provision be incorporated in any contract of any tier in which 
a DBE is a participant. 

 

14.05 Commercially Useful Function: 

 
A prime contractor can credit expenditures to a DBE subcontractor only if the 
DBE performs a Commercially Useful Function (CUF). 
 
A DBE performs a CUF when it is responsible for execution of the work of a 
contract and carries out its responsibilities by actually performing, managing, 
and supervising the work involved. To perform a commercially useful function, 
the DBE must also be responsible, with respect to materials and supplies on 
the contract, for negotiating price, determining quality and quantity, ordering 
the material, and installing (where applicable) and paying for the material 
itself that it uses on the project. To determine whether a DBE is performing a 
commercially useful function, the Department will evaluate the amount of 
work subcontracted, industry practices, whether the amount the firm is to be 
paid under the contract is commensurate with the work it is actually 
performing and the DBE credit claimed for its performance of the work, and 
other relevant factors. 

 
A DBE will not be considered to perform a commercially useful function if its 
role is limited to that of an extra participant in a transaction, contract, or 
project through which funds are passed in order to obtain the appearance of 
DBE participation. In determining whether a DBE is such an extra participant, 
the Department will examine similar transactions, particularly those in which 
DBEs do not participate. 
 
If a DBE does not perform or exercise responsibility for at least 30 percent of 
the total cost of its contract with its own workforce, or if the DBE subcontracts 
a greater portion of the work of a contract than would be expected on the 
basis of normal industry practice for the type of work involved, the 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 62 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

Department will presume that the DBE is not performing a commercially 
useful function. 

 
When a DBE is presumed not to be performing a commercially useful function 
as provided above, the DBE may present evidence to rebut this presumption. 
The Department will determine if the firm is performing a CUF given the type 
of work involved and normal industry practices. 
 
The Department will notify the contractor, in writing, if it determines that the 
contractor’s DBE subcontractor is not performing a CUF. The contractor will be 
notified within seven calendar days of the Department’s decision. 

 
Decisions on CUF may be appealed to the Chief Procurement Officer (CPO). 
The appeal must be in writing and personally delivered or sent by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, to the CPO. The appeal must be received by 
the CPO no later than seven calendar days after the decision of BECO. BECO’s 
decision remains in place unless and until the CPO reverses or modifies BECO’s 
decision. CPO will promptly consider any appeals under this subsection and 
notify the contractor of CPO’s findings and decisions. Decisions on CUF 
matters are not administratively appealable to USDOT. 
 
The BECO may conduct project site visits on the contract to confirm that DBEs 
are performing a CUF. The contractor shall cooperate during the site visits and 
the BECO’s staff will make every effort not to disrupt work on the project. 

 

15.0 Required Provisions for DBE Subcontracts: 

 
All subcontracts of any tier, all supply contracts, and any other contracts in 
which a DBE is a participant shall include as a physical attachment, DBE 
Subcontractor Compliance Assurances refer to the Federal Attachments and 
Exhibits. 
 

Contractors executing agreements with subcontractors, DBE or non-DBE, that 
materially modify federal regulation and state statutes such as, prompt 
payment and retention requirements, through subcontract terms and 
conditions will be found in breach of contract which may result in termination 
of the contract, or any other such remedy as the deemed appropriate as 
outlined in DBE Subsection 2.0 of these DBE provisions. 

 
The Department reserves the right to conduct random reviews of DBE and non-
DBE subcontract documentation to ensure compliance with federal 
requirements. 
 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 63 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

The contractor shall ensure that all subcontracts or agreements with DBEs to 
supply labor or materials require that the subcontract and all lower tier 
subcontracts be performed in accordance with 49 CFR Part 26 provisions. 
 
The Contractor shall provide electronic copies of subcontract agreements with 
all Subcontractors by uploading them within 15 calendar days of an executed 
contract to the ADOT DBE System. Subcontract agreements shall include all 
required assurances and clauses as outlined in DBE Subcontractor Compliance 
Assurances refer to the Federal Attachments and Exhibits of the Contract. Each 
agreement and required attachment shall be dated and signed by the 
Subcontractor in order for the subcontract to be considered valid. 

 
The Contractor shall be in breach of this Contract if the Contractor materially 
modifies the federal regulations and State statutes in its subcontract 
agreements terms and conditions with its Subcontractors. Deviations from the 
terms of this Contract may result in termination of the Contract, or any other 
such remedy as deemed appropriate by the Department 

 
16.0 Certification of Final DBE Payments: 

 
DBE participation on the contract is measured by actual payments made to the 
DBEs. The contractor shall submit the “Certification of Final DBE Payments” 
form for each DBE firm working on the contract. This form shall be signed by 
the contractor and the relevant DBE, and submitted to the Engineer no later 
than 30 days after the DBE completes its work. 
 
The contractor will not be released from the obligations of the contract until 
the “Certification of Final DBE Payments” forms are received and deemed 
acceptable by the Engineer and BECO. 

 

17.0 False, Fraudulent, or Dishonest Conduct: 

 
In addition to any other remedies or actions, the Department will bring to the 
attention of the US Department of Transportation any appearance of false, 
fraudulent, or dishonest conduct in connection with the DBE program, so that 
USDOT can take steps such as referral to the Department of Justice for criminal 
prosecution, referral to the USDOT Inspector General for possible initiation of 
suspension and debarment proceedings against the offending parties or 
application of “Program Fraud and Civil Penalties” rules provided in 49 CFR Part 
31. 

 

19. ENERGY CONSERVATION 
The contractor agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy 
efficiency, stated in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy 
Policy and Conservation Act. 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 64 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

 
20. FEDERAL CHANGES 

 
The Contactor and its subcontractors shall comply with all applicable FTA regulations, 
policies, procedures and directives, including without limitation those listed directly or by 
reference in the Master Agreement between the Department and FTA, as they be amended 
or promulgated from time to time during the term of the contract. Contractor’s failure to 
comply shall constitute a material breach of the contract. 
 

21. FLY AMERICA 
 

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 40118 (the "Fly America" Act) in accordance 
with the General Services Administration's regulations at 41 CFR Part 301-10, which provide 
that recipients of Federal funds and their contractors are required to use U.S. Flag air 
carriers for U.S Government- financed international air travel and transportation of their 
personal effects or property, to the extent such service is available, unless travel by foreign 
air carrier is a matter of necessity, as defined by the Fly America Act. The Contractor shall 
submit, if a foreign air carrier was used, an appropriate certification or memorandum 
adequately explaining why service by a U.S. flag air carrier was not available or why it was 
necessary to use a foreign air carrier and shall, in any event, provide a certificate of 
compliance with the Fly America requirements. The Contractor agrees to include the 
requirements of this section in all subcontracts that may involve international air 
transportation. 
 

22. NO FEDERAL GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS TO THIRD PARTIES 
 

The Department and Contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any 
concurrence by the Federal Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the 
underlying contract, absent the express written consent by the Federal Government, the 
Federal Government is not a party to this contract and shall not be subject to any 
obligations or liabilities to the Department, Contractor, or any other party (whether or not a 
party to that contract) pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying contract. 

 
The Contractor agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or 
in part with Federal assistance provided by Federal Funding Agency. It is further agreed that 
the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to 
its provisions. 

 
23. NOTIFICATION OF FEDERAL PARTICIPATION 

 
To the extent required by law, in the announcement of any third party contract award for 
goods and services (including construction services) having an aggregate value of $500,000 
or more, contractor shall specify the amount of Federal assistance to be used in financing 
that acquisition of goods and services and to express that amount of Federal assistance as a 
percentage of the total cost of the third party contract. 
 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 65 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

24. ORGANIZATIONAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 
The Recipient agrees that it will not enter into a procurement that involves a real or 
apparent organizational conflict of interest described as follows: 

 
(1) When It Occurs. An organizational conflict of interest occurs when the Project work, 
without appropriate restrictions on certain future activities, results in an unfair competitive 
advantage: 

 
(a) To that Third Party Participant or another Third Party Participant performing the 
Project work, and 
(b) That impairs that Third Party Participant’s objectivity in performing the Project 

work, or 

 
(2) Other. An organizational conflict of interest may involve other situations resulting in 
fundamentally unfair competitive conditions, 

 
(3) Disclosure Requirements. Consistent with FTA policies, the Recipient must disclose to 
FTA, and each of its Subrecipients must disclose to the Recipient: 

 
(a) Any instances of organizational conflict of interest, or 
(b) Violations of federal criminal law, involving fraud, bribery, or gratuity violations 
potentially affecting the federal award, and 

 
(4) Failure to Disclose. Failure to make required disclosures can result in remedies for 
noncompliance, including debarment or suspension. 
 

25. PRE-AWARD AND POST-DELIVERY AUDITS OF ROLLING STOCK PURCHASES 
 
The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(m) and FTA's implementing regulation 
at 49 C.F.R. part 663. The Contractor shall comply with the Buy America certification(s) 
submitted with its proposal/bid. The Contractor agrees to participate and cooperate in any 
pre-award and post-delivery audits performed pursuant to 49 C.F.R. part 663 and related FTA 
guidance. 
 

26. PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS AND RELATED ACTS 
 

Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 
1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. §3801 et seq. and U.S.DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil 
Remedies," 49 C.F.R. part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this project. 

 
Upon execution of the underlying contract, contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness 
and accuracy of any statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, 
pertaining to the underlying contract or FTA assisted project for which this contract work is 
being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be applicable, contractor further 
acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 66 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

statement, submittal, or certification, the US Government reserves the right to impose the 
penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act (1986) on contractor to the extent the US 
Government deems appropriate. 

 

The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, 
or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government 
under a contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal 
assistance originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, the 
Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of  18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 
5307(n)(1) (5323(I)) on the Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems 
appropriate. 

 
Contractor shall include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole or in 

part with FTA assistance. The clauses shall not be modified, except to identify the 
subcontractor who will be subject to the provisions. 

 
27. PROMPT PAY 

 
The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor under this prime contract for 
satisfactory performance of its contract no later than 7 days from the receipt of each 
payment the prime contract receives from the Recipient. The prime contractor agrees 
further to return retainage payments to each subcontractor within 30 days after the 
subcontractors work is satisfactorily completed. Any delay or postponement of payment 
from the above referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following written 
approval of the Recipient. This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontracts. 

 

28. RESTRICTIONS ON LOBBYING 

 
The Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions of Title 31, U.S. C 1352 as amended by 
the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995, P.L. 104-65 [to be codified at 2 U.S.C. 1601, et seq.] and 
(Public Law 101.121) as codified in Title 48, Federal Acquisition Regulations Subpart 3.8 and 
Subpart 52.203-11. The legislation prohibits Federal funds from being expended by a 
recipient or any lower tier sub- recipients of a Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence a Federal agency or 
Congress in connection with the award of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal 
grant or loan, or entering into any cooperative agreement, including the extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan or 
cooperative agreement. All disclosure statements are to be furnished to the Department. 

 
Contractors who apply or propose/bid for an award of $100,000 or more in value shall file 
the attached Lobbying Certification {01 Lobbying Certification document} required by 49 
CFR part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying." Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will 
not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of 
Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 67 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31 
U.S.C. 1352. Each tier shall also disclose the name of any registrant under the Lobbying 
Disclosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf with non-Federal funds 
with respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Such 
disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient. 

 
29. SAFE OPERATION OF MOTOR VEHICLES 

 
a. Seat Belt Use. The Recipient agrees to implement Executive Order No. 13043, “Increasing 
Seat Belt Use in the United States,” April 16, 1997, 23 U.S.C. § 402 note, (62 Fed. Reg. 
19217), by: 

 
(1) Adopting and promoting on-the-job seat belt use policies and programs for its 
employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles, company-
rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles, and 

 
(2) Including a “Seat Belt Use” provision in each third party agreement related to 

the Award. 
 

b. Distracted Driving, Including Text Messaging While Driving. The Recipient agrees to 
comply with: 

 
(1) Executive Order No. 13513, “Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging 

While Driving,” October 1, 2009, 23 U.S.C. § 402 note, (74 Fed. Reg. 51225), 

 
(2) U.S. DOT Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While Driving,” December 30, 2009, 

and 
 

(3) The following U.S. DOT Special Provision pertaining to Distracted Driving: 
 

(a) Safety. The Recipient agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety 
policies to decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies 
to ban text messaging while using an electronic device supplied by an 
employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or rents, a vehicle Recipient 
owns, leases, or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official 
business in connection with the Award, or when performing any work for or 
on behalf of the Award, 

 

(b) Recipient Size. The Recipient agrees to conduct workplace safety 
initiatives in a manner commensurate with its size, such as establishing new 
rules and programs to prohibit text messaging while driving, re-evaluating 
the existing programs to prohibit text messaging while driving, and 
providing education, awareness, and other outreach to employees about 
the safety risks associated with texting while driving, and 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

FEDERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Solicitation No:  BPM005536 Available online at  

https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 68 of 76 

 

 

Procurement 

(c) Extension of Provision. The Recipient agrees to include the preceding 
Special Provision of section 34.b (3) (a) – (b) of this Master Agreement in its 
third party agreements, and encourage its Third Party Participants to 
comply with this Special Provision, and include this Special Provision in each 
third party sub agreement at each tier supported with federal assistance. 

 
30. REAL PROPERTY 

 
Any contract entered into shall contain the following provisions: Contractor shall at all times 
comply with all applicable statutes and USDOT regulations, policies, procedures and 
directives governing the acquisition, use and disposal of real property, including, but not 
limited to, 49 CFR 18.31-18.34, 49 CFR 19.30-19.37, 49 CFR Part 24, 49 CFR 5326 as 
amended by Map-21, 49 CFR part 18 or 19, 49 U.S.C. 5334, applicable FTA Circular 5010, and 
FTA Master Agreement, as they may be amended or promulgated during the term of this 
contract. Contractor’s failure to comply shall constitute a material breach of this contract. 

 
31. TERMINATION 

 
Termination of the contract shall be in accordance with the Uniform Terms and Conditions, 
Section 9., paragraph 9.1 through 9.6. 
 

32. TERMS OF THE MASTER AGREEMENT AND COMPLIANCE 
 

Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable Federal Funding Agency laws, 
regulations, policies, procedures and directives, including without limitation those listed 
directly or by reference in the Master Agreement, available at 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/sample-fta-agreements/fta-grant-
agreements,  between the Department and FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated 
from time to time during the term of this contract. This Master Agreement does not have an 
Expiration Date. This Master Agreement continues to apply to the Recipient and its 
Underlying Agreement, until modified or superseded by a more recently enacted or issued 
applicable federal law, regulation, requirement, or guidance, or amendment to this Master 
Agreement or the Underlying Agreement. To assure compliance the Recipient must take 
measures to assure that other participants in its Underlying Agreements (e.g., Third Party 
Participants) comply. Contractor's failure to comply shall constitute a material breach of this 
contract. 

 
All contractual provisions required by the U.S. Department of Transportation are hereby 
incorporated by reference. In the event of additional funding provided by FHWA, the 
applicable requirements of the Stewardship Agreement, available at:  
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/federalaid/stewardship/, between the Department and FHWA 
are incorporated by reference. 

 

 

https://app.az.gov/
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/sample-fta-agreements/fta-grant-agreements
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/sample-fta-agreements/fta-grant-agreements
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/federalaid/stewardship/


         
 

      

EXHIBIT  1 
Title VI/Non-Discrimination Assurances 

Appendix A 
 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 69 of 76 

  

Procurement 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest 
(hereinafter referred to as the "contractor") agrees as follows: 
 
1. Compliance with Regulations: The contractor (hereinafter includes consultants) will comply with the Acts 

and the Regulations relative to Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation, the Federal Highway Administration, as they may be amended from time to time, which are 
herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this contract. 

 
2. Non-discrimination: The contractor, with regard to the work performance by it during the contract, will not 

discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in the selection and retention of 
subcontractors, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The contractor will not 
participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the Regulations, including 
employment practices when the contract covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 
49 CFR Part 21. 

 
3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In all solicitations, 

either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the contractor for work to be performed under a 
subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each potential subcontractor or 
supplier will be notified by the contractor of the contractor's obligations under this contract and the Acts 
and Regulations relative to Non-discrimination on the grounds of race, color, or national origin. 

 
4. Information and Reports: The contractor will provide all information and reports required by the Acts, the 

Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to its books, records, accounts, 
other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by the Recipient or the Federal 
Highway Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Acts, Regulations, and 
instructions. Where any information required of a contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who 
fails or refuses to furnish the information, the contractor will so certify to the Recipient or the Federal 
Highway Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the 
information. 

 
5. Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of a contractor's noncompliance with the Non-discrimination 

provisions of this contract, the Recipient will impose such contract sanctions as it or the Federal Highway 
Administration ,may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited to: 

 
a. withholding payments to the contractor under the contract until the contractor complies; 

and/or 
b. cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or in part. 
 

6. Incorporation of Provisions: The contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs one through six in 
every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, 
the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The contractor will take action with request to any 
subcontract or procurement as the Recipient or the Federal Highway Administration may direct as a means 
of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, that if the contractor 
becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor or supplier because of such 
direction, the contractor may request the Recipient to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of the 
Recipient. In addition, the contractor may request the United States to enter into the litigation to protect 
the interests of the United States. 

 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

EXHIBIT  2 
Title VI/Non-Discrimination Assurances 

Appendix E 
 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 70 of 76 

  

Procurement 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest 
(hereinafter referred to as the "contractor") agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes 
and authorities; including but not limited to: 
 
Pertinent Non-Discrimination Authorities: 
• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits discrimination on 

the basis of race, color, national origin): and 49 CFR Part 21. 
 

• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42 U.S.C. § 4601), 
(prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been acquired because of Federal or 
Federal-aid programs and projects); 

 

• Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973, (23 U.S.C. § 324 etseq.), (prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex); 
 

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits discrimination 
on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR Part 27; 

 

• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on the 
basis of age); 

 

•  Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as amended, (prohibits 
discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex); 

 

• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage and applicability of 
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms "programs or activities" to include all of 
the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-recipients and contractors, whether such 
programs or activities are Federally funded or not); 

 

• Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability 
in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems, places of public 
accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12189) as implemented by Department of 
Transportation regulations at 49 C.F.R. parts 37 and 38; 

 

• The Federal Aviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex); 

 

• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low- 
Income Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority populations by discouraging programs, 
policies, and activities with disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental effects on 
minority and low-income populations; 

 

• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency, and 
resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes discrimination because of limited English 
proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP 
persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100); 

 

• Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from discriminating 
because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1687 et. seq). 

https://app.az.gov/


         
 

      

           EXHIBIT  3 
Quarterly Usage Report 

 
 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 71 of 76 

  

Procurement 

Quarterly Usage Reports will be submitted to the appropriate Procurement Officer in accordance with the requirements specified in Special Terms and 
Conditions. The Department reserves the right to make additions, deletions and changes as deemed necessary.        

             

    
Reporting Period:   

       

             
Contract ID/Code:   Contact Name:   Alternate Contact Name:   

       
Contract 
Label/Description: 

  
Contact Phone 
Number: 

  
Alternate Contact Phone 
Number: 

  
       

Contractor:   Contact Email:   Alternate Contact Email:   
       

Contractor 
Address: 

  
           

    
           

             

Agency/Org/Unit Customer Name 
Delivery 
Address 

PO Number 
or Identify 
as “P-Card” 

Order Date 
Contract 

Item 
Number 

Contract 
Item 

Description 

Part/Product 
Code 

Quantity 
Unit of 

Measure 

Contract 
Unit 
Price 

Contract 
Extended 

Price 

Invoice 
Number 

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

                          

https://app.az.gov/


 

 

 

Exhibit NO 4.   
PRE-AWARD CERTIFICATION FOR PROCUREMENT OF 
ROLLING STOCK (Recipient) 

 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 72 of 76 

  

Procurement 

BUY AMERICA REQUIREMENTS: Contractor shall complete and submit a declaration certifying either compliance or 
noncompliance with Buy America. If contractor certifies compliance with Buy America, it shall submit documentation 
listing: 

A. Component and subcomponent parts of the rolling stock to be purchased identified by manufacturer of the 
parts, their country of origin and costs; and 
 

B. The location of the final assembly point for the rolling stock, including a description of the activities that will 
take place at the final assembly point and the cost of final assembly. 
 

C. Solicitation Specification Requirements: Contractor shall submit evidence that it will be capable of meeting 
the bid specifications. 
 

D. Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS): Contractor shall submit 1) manufacturer's FMVSS self-
certification sticker information that the vehicle complies with relevant FMVSS or 2) manufacturer's certified 
statement that the buses will not be subject to FMVSS regulations. 

 
As required by Title 49 of the CFR, Part 663 – Subpart B, _______________________________________________ 
(the recipient) is satisfied that the buses to be purchased, ______________________________________________ 
(number and description of buses) from  ___________________________________________________________ (the 
manufacturer), meet the requirements of Section 165(b)(3) of the Surface Transportation Assistance Act of 1982, as 
amended. The recipient or its appointed analyst ______________________________________________ the analyst, 
not the manufacturer or its agent), has reviewed documentation provided by the manufacturer, which lists (1) the 
proposed component and subcomponent parts of the buses identified by manufacturer, country of origin, and cost; 
and (2) the proposed location of the final assembly point for the buses, including a description of the activities that 
will take place at the final assembly point and the cost of final assembly. 
 
PREAWARD PURCHASER’S REQUIREMENTS CERTIFICATION 
As required by Title 49 of the CFR, Part 663 – Subpart B, _______________________________________________ 
(the recipient) certifies that the buses to be purchased, _______________________________________________ 
(number and description of buses) from ________________________________________________________ (the 
manufacturer), are the same product described in the recipient’s solicitation specification and that the proposed 
manufacturer is a responsible manufacturer with the capability to produce a bus that meets the specifications. 
 
PREAWARD FMVSS COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 
As required by Title 49 of the CFR, Part 663 – Subpart D, _______________________________ (the recipient) certifies 
that it received, at the pre-award stage, a copy of _________________________________ ’s (the manufacturer) self-
certification information stating that the buses,____________________________________ (number and description 
of buses), will comply with the relevant Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards issued by the National Highway 
Traffic Safety Administration in Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 571. 
 
Date : __________________________________________________________________________ 

Signature : ______________________________________________________________________ 

Title : ___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

https://app.az.gov/


 

 

 

Exhibit NO.  5 
PRE-AWARD CERTIFICATION FOR PROCUREMENT OF 
ROLLING STOCK (Vendor) 

 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 73 of 76 

  

Procurement 

PRE-AWARD AUDIT REQUIREMENTS: A recipient purchasing revenue service rolling stock with FTA funds 
must ensure that a pre-award audit under this part is complete before the recipient enters into a formal 
contract for the purchase of such rolling stock. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF PRE-AWARD AUDIT: A pre-award audit under this part includes— (a) A Buy America 
Certification; (b) A purchaser's requirements certification; and (c) Where appropriate, a manufacturer's 
Federal Motor Vehicle Safety certification information. 
 
PREAWARD BUY AMERICA CERTIFICATION: For purposes of this part, a pre-award Buy America 
certification is a certification that the recipient keeps on file that: 
 
a. There is a letter from FTA which grants a waiver to the rolling stock to be purchased from the Buy 

America requirements under section 165(b)(1), (b)(2), or (b)(4) of the Surface Transportation 
Assistance Act of 1982, as amended; or 
 

b. The recipient is satisfied that the rolling stock to be purchased meets the requirements of section 
165(a) or (b)(3) of the Surface Transportation Assistance Act of 1982, as amended, after having 
reviewed itself or through an audit prepared by someone other than the manufacturer or its agent 
documentation provided by the Manufacturer which lists: 
 

1.  The Component and subcomponent parts of the rolling stock that are produced in the United 
States is more than sixty percent (60%) of the cost of all components and subcomponents of the 
vehicle Identified by the manufacturer; and 
 

2.  The location of the final assembly must take place in the United States (49 CFR 661.11), including a 
description of the activities that will take place at the final assembly point and the cost of final 
assembly. 

 
PRE-AWARD PURCHASERS REQUIREMENTS CERTIFICATION: For purposes of this part, a pre-award 
purchaser's requirements certification is a certification a recipient keeps on file that: 
 
a.    The rolling stock the recipient is contracting for is the same product described in the purchaser’s 

solicitation specification; and  
 

b.    The proposed manufacturer is a responsible manufacturer with the capability to produce a vehicle 
that meets the recipient's specification set forth in the recipient's solicitation. 
 

If buses or other rolling stock (including train control, communication, and traction power equipment) are 
being procured, the appropriate certificate as set forth below shall be completed and submitted by each 
bidder in accordance with the requirements in 49 CFR 661.13(b). 
 
PRE-AWARD FMVSS COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION: As required by Title 49 of the CFR, Part 663 – Subpart 
D, the recipient certifies that it received, at the pre-award stage, a copy of the manufacturers self-
certification information stating that the buses will comply with the relevant Federal Motor Vehicle Safety 

https://app.az.gov/


 

 

 

Exhibit NO.  5 
PRE-AWARD CERTIFICATION FOR PROCUREMENT OF 
ROLLING STOCK (Vendor) 

 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 74 of 76 

  

Procurement 

Standards issued by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration in Title 49 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations, Part 571. 
 
Bidder or Offeror Certificate of COMPLIANCE with Buy America and FMVSS Rolling Stock Requirements 
 
As required by 49 CFR Part 663, the bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with the 
requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5323(j), and the applicable regulations of 49 CFR 661.11. 
 
Company ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Name _________________________________________ Title _______________________________ 

Signature ______________________________________ Date __________/__________/_________ 

 

Bidder or Offeror Certificate of NONCOMPLIANCE with Buy America and FMVSS Rolling Stock 
Requirements 
 
As required by 49 CFR Part 663, the bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it cannot comply with the 
requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5323(j), but may qualify for an exception to the requirement consistent with 49 
U.S.C. 5323(j)(2), as amended, and the applicable regulations in 49 CFR 661.7. 
 
Company ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Name _________________________________________ Title _______________________________ 

Signature ______________________________________ Date __________/__________/_________ 

 

 

https://app.az.gov/


 

 

 

Exhibit NO. 6 
ON-SITE MANUFACTURER INPSECTION COMPLIANCE 
CERTIFICATION 

 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 74 of 76 

  

Procurement 

(Post-Delivery purchaser’s requirement, in compliance with the federal requirements of 49 U.S.C. Section 5323(m)) 
 
ON-SITE MANUFACTURER INSPECTION COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 
 
(Rolling Stock Procurements for more than 10 vehicles for areas >200,000 in population) 
 
As required by 49 CFR Part 663Subpart C, the   
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(Recipient’s name) 
Certifies that a resident inspector,  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(Name of inspector) 
Was at  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(the manufacturer’s) 
 
manufacturing site during the period of manufacture of the buses, 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(description of buses). 
 
The inspector visually inspecting the buses, the _________________________________________ (the recipient) has 
reviewed the inspection documentation, maintains a copy of this report, and certifies that the buses meet the contract 
specifications. 
 
ON-SITE MANUFACTURER INSPECTION COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 
 
(Rolling Stock Procurements for more than 20 vehicles for areas < 200,000 in population) 
 
As required by 49 CFR Part 663 Subpart C, the 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(Recipient’s name) 
Certifies that a resident inspector, 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(Name of inspector) 
Was at _____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(the manufacturer’s) 
 
manufacturing site during the period of manufacture of the buses,  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

(description of buses). 
 

The inspector visually inspecting the buses, the ___________________________________________ (the recipient) has 
reviewed the inspection documentation, maintains a copy of this report, and certifies that the buses meet the contract 
specifications. 
 
Signature _________________________________________________ Date ______/ ______/ ______ 
 
Title _______________________________________________________________________________ 

https://app.az.gov/


 

 

 

 
 

Solicitation No:BPM005536 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov/ 

Page 75 of 76 

  

Procurement 

 

https://app.az.gov/


PRICING SHEET 

OFFEROR RWC International 

Category 1: Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs and Chassis

Percent Off of 
MSRP 

Percent Off of 
MSRP 

1% 1%
1% 1%

26% 26%
26% 26%
26% 26%
26% 26%
42% 42%
42% 42%
42% 42%
42% 42%
45% 45%
45% 45%

8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
8% 8%
1% 1%

International/HX620 SBA/Class 8
International/RH613 6x4/Class 8

International/MV607 SBA/Class 5, 6 and 7
International/HV507 SFA/Class 6, 7, 8
International/HV607 SBA/Class 6,7 and 8
International/HV513 SFA/ Class 7 and 8

Isuzu/NQR Diesel/Class 4

International/LT625 6x4/Class 8
Isuzu/NPR /Gas/Class 4
Isuzu/NPR HD / Gas/Class 4
Isuzu/NQR /Gas/Class 4

Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs, Chassis and Busses

Instructions:  The basis for pricing shall be fixed discount(s) off Manufacturers 
Suggested Retail Price (MSRP).  The discount offers shall clearly identify the 
percent of discount to apply to the contract category. Proposed products shall be 
for Medium and Heavy Duty Cabs and Chassis in current production and 
marketed to the general public and education/government agencies at the time 
the proposal is submitted.  For each manufacturer and/or product line offered, 
include at minimum, manufacturer’s name, model or classification and percent off 
of MSRP for each phase.

Dennis-Eagle/ Diesel/ Class 8

Isuzu/NRR Diesel/Class 5
Isuzu/FTR Diesel/Class 6
Isuzu/FVR Diesel/Class 7 and 8
Isuzu/FVR Derate Diesel/Class 7 

Isuzu/NRR HD / Gas/Class 5
Isuzu/NPR HD /Diesel/Class 4
Isuzu/NPR XD / Diesel/Class 4

International/MV607LP/Class 5,6,7 and 8

International/HV613 SBA/ Class 7 and 8
International/HX520 SFA/Class 8

Manufacturer/Model/Classification

International/CV515/Class 4,5,6
International/eMV607/Class 6, 7 and 8
International/MV607LP/Class 5,6,7 and 8

International/MV607 SBA/Class 5, 6 and 7
International/HV507 SFA/Class 6, 7, 8
International/HV607 SBA/Class 6,7 and 8
International/HV513 SFA/ Class 7 and 8
International/HV613 SBA/ Class 7 and 8
International/HX520 SFA/Class 8

Phase One (1) off the Line pricing Phase Two (2) off the Lot Pricing

Manufacturer/Model/Classification

International/CV515/Class 4,5,6
International/eMV607/Class 6, 7 and 8

Isuzu/FTR Diesel/Class 6

International/HX620 SBA/Class 8
International/RH613 6x4/Class 8
International/LT625 6x4/Class 8
Isuzu/NPR /Gas/Class 4
Isuzu/NPR HD / Gas/Class 4
Isuzu/NQR /Gas/Class 4
Isuzu/NRR HD / Gas/Class 5
Isuzu/NPR HD /Diesel/Class 4
Isuzu/NPR XD / Diesel/Class 4
Isuzu/NQR Diesel/Class 4
Isuzu/NRR Diesel/Class 5

Isuzu/FVR Diesel/Class 7 and 8
Isuzu/FVR Derate Diesel/Class 7 
Dennis-Eagle/ Diesel/ Class 8



   9. B.  9. B.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Jana Weldon, Beautification Arts & Sciences Program

Manager
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
MeetingMeeting
Date:Date:

06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Construction Services ContractConsideration and Approval of Construction Services Contract:  Approve the Contract with Major
League Painting Inc. for Painting Downtown Green Assets
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Approve the Contract with Major League Painting, Inc in the amount of $168,181.75 to cover costs for all
personnel, equipment, tools, materials, supervision, and services for the painting and finishing of
specified assets within the boundaries of Route 66 and Cherry Ave, spanning from Humphrey to Verde
Streets in municipal green.

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute all necessary documents.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Periodic maintenance requires repainting all of the Dark Green, known as Municipal Green, fixtures,
equipment and fittings in the Downtown, which is bounded by Route 66 and Cherry Ave, spanning Humphrey
to Verde Streets.  The last repaint was conducted in FY16.

The City will provide Contractor with a spreadsheet/map identifying the location of all downtown green assets.
Items include 85 bollards, 16 bike racks, 233 streetlight and pedestrian poles, 16 utility boxes mounted on
poles, 354 signposts, and 29 old style trashcans.

The procurement process was a formal low bid with two bids received. 
 

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
Project Name: Downtown Green
Cost: $168,181.75
Account Number Budgeted: 051-07-212-3323-6-4433
FY2024-25 Budgeted Amount: $245,000
Grant Funded: No
Funding Source:  BBB Beautification

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
None

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
No

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
Defer maintenance to the Downtown Green assets



Background and History:Background and History:
The Purchasing section posted an IFB solicitation for construction on April 10th, 2024, on the PlanetBids.com
website with advertisements in the Arizona Daily Sun. There were two (2) bids received on the opening date
of April 26th, 2024.
Major League Painting, Inc bid equaling - $168,181.75
Degan Construction, LLC. bid equaling - $172,111.00
After reviewing all bids received, Staff determined that Major League Painting, Inc. as the lowest responsive
and responsible bidder.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:

Sustainable and Innovative Infrastructure: Provide, manage, and maintain effective infrastructure for
multimodal and active transportation
Livable Community: Provide amenities and activities that support a healthy lifestyle

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Policy CC.1.4. Identify, protect, and enhance gateways, gateway corridors, and gateway communities.

Policy CC.4.2. Design utilities and infrastructure to be contextual and considered as part of the overall design
aesthetics.

Policy LU.1.1. Plan for and support reinvestment within the existing city centers and neighborhoods for
increased employment and quality of life.

Policy LU.9.1. Reinvest in urban areas

Policy ED.7.4. Invest in attractive community gateways, main corridors, and public spaces to draw the
business and workforce the region desires.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments: Contract



1 

CONTRACT FOR PAINTING DOWNTOWN GREEN ASSETS 
Contract No. 2024-44 

This Contract is entered into this day of _, 20 by and between the City of 
Flagstaff,  a  political  subdivision  of  the  State  or  Arizona  (“City”),  and Major League Painting, Inc., 
an Arizona Corporation (“Contractor"). 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff desires to receive, and Contractor is able to provide materials and/or 
services; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Scope of W ork: Contractor shall provide the materials and/or services generally described as
follows: 

Painting Downtown Green Assets 

and as more specifically described in the scope of work attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

2. Compensation: In consideration for the Contractor’s satisfactory performance, Contractor shall be
compensated the budgeted amount of not to exceed one hundred sixty-eight thousand one
hundred eighty-one dollars and seventy-five cents ($168,181.75) for the materials and services
provided pursuant to the Scope of Work attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The City Manager or his
designee (the Purchasing Director) may approve an adjustment if the Contract price is less than
$100,000; otherwise, City Council approval is required.

3. Standard Terms and Conditions: The City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions, attached
hereto as Exhibit C are hereby incorporated in this Vendor by reference and shall apply to
performance of this Contract, except to the extent modified in Exhibit A.

4. Insurance: Contractor shall  meet  insurance  requirements  of  the  City,  set forth  in  Exhibit  B.

5. Contract Term:The Contract term is for a period of one (1) year.

6. Renewal: The City may unilaterally extend the period of the contract for ninety (90) days beyond
the stated expiration date upon written notice to Contractor. In addition, by mutual written consent,
the contract may be renewed for supplemental periods of up to three (3) additional one (1) year
terms. The Purchasing Director is authorized by the City Council to consent to the above-
mentioned renewals.

7. Notice: Any formal notice required under this Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified mail
and email as follows:

(REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK) 



2 

To the City: 
Teddy Callan 
Procurement Specialist 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W. Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
teddy.callan@flagstaffaz.gov 

To the Contractor: 
Daniel Rapier
Major League Painting
5660 E. Penstock Ave.,Flagstaff, AZ, 
86004
928-522-0590
mlpraper@hotmail,com

With a copy to: 

Jana Weldon 

Beautification 

City of Flagstaff 

211 W. Aspen Ave.  

Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 

Jana.weldon@flagstaffaz.gov 

With a copy to: 

8. Authority:  Each party warrants that it has authority to enter into this Contract and perform its
obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into this Contract. 

CONTRACTOR 

____________________________________ 

Print name: ___________________________ 

Title: ________________________________ 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

____________________________________ 

Print name: ___________________________ 

Title: ________________________________ 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Approved as to form: 

____________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

Major League Painting, Inc

Daniel Raper

President



3 

  EXHIBIT A 

    SCOPE OF WORK 

Contractor shall complete the painting of downtown green assets. Contractor shall provide all 

necessary personnel, equipment, tools, materials, supervision, and services for the painting 

and finishing of specified assets within the boundaries of Route 66 and Cherry Ave, spanning 

from Humphrey to Verde Streets. 

City shall provide Contractor with a spreadsheet/map identifying the location of all downtown 

green assets (“Items”), and a copy shall be placed in the City Grants & Contracts file.  The 

Items to be painted are listed below. 

Items Qty 

Bollards (currently painted green) 85 

Bike racks (currently painted green) 16 

Tall streetlight poles & pedestrian poles 233 

Utility boxes mounted on poles 16 

Signposts 354 

Old-Style Trash Cans (currently painted green, does not include trash/recycle combo 
units) 

29 

Materials & Services: 

• Cleaning, painting, and finishing of all assets within the designated area.

• Coordination with City Representatives for any work involving lift equipment and traffic
control to ensure safety.

• Acquisition of all permits for road closures.

• Provision of lift equipment and protection of all public and private property throughout the
project.

• Daily cleanup with only wet paint signs and barricades left overnight as needed.

• Identification of areas needing repair or welding and reporting to the Beautification, Arts,
and Sciences Coordinator for further action.

• Reporting of abandoned bikes at bike racks, as required.

• Washing of assets with Prep88 and low-pressure sprayer, brush, or roller, followed by
sanding of painted surfaces to promote proper adhesion of topcoats and finish coat.

• Paint specification: Prep 88 Wash Primer (or comparable), American One Epoxy Tie
Coat Primer (where necessary), and two coats of PSX Finish Coat (Acrylic Polysiloxane)
in Municipal Green color.

Schedule: 

• The project must be completed within an 8-10 week period.

• Contractor shall prepare a timeline and work plan, which will be used to track progress
using a GIS APP provided by the City



4 

Reporting: 
• Contractor shall submit a weekly progress report to the attention of Jana Weldon or her designee.

Pricing: 
• Contractor shall be paid per its Bid Schedule (see Attachmen A).  If City determines work cannot

be completed (e.g. if Item needs to be repaired or other reason), such Item will be deducted from 
the Scope of Work and payment. 



5 

 

EXHIBIT B 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
(Last Updated January 19, 2023) 

*The term “Contractor” may substitute for the term “vendors,” “consultants,” or “firms,” depending on the
purpose of the underlying Contract. 

IN GENERAL 
1. PARTIES: The City of Flagstaff (“City”) and the Contractor identified in the Contract (“Contractor”) may
be referred to individually as “Party” or collectively as “Parties”. 

2. NOTICE TO PROCEED: Contractor shall not commence performance until after the City has issued a
Notice to Proceed. 

3. LICENSES AND PERMITS: Contractor its expense shall maintain current federal, state, and local
licenses, permits and approvals required for performance of the Contract and provide copies to City upon 
request.  

4. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws,
regulations, standards, codes and ordinances in performance of the Contract. 

5. NON-EXCLUSIVE: Unless expressly provided otherwise in the Contract, the Contract is non-exclusive
and the City reserves the right to contract with others for materials or services. 

6. SAMPLES: Any sample submitted to the City by the Contractor and relied upon by City as
representative of quality and conformity, shall constitute an express warranty that all materials and/or 
service to be provided to City shall be of the same quality and conformity.  

MATERIALS 
7. PURCHASE ORDERS: The City will issue a purchase order for the materials covered by the Contract,
and such order will reference the Contract number. 

8. QUALITY: Contractor warrants that all materials supplied under the Contract will be new and free from
defects in material or workmanship. The materials will conform to any statements made on the containers 
or labels or advertisements for the materials and will be safe and appropriate for use as normally used. 
The City’s inspection, testing, acceptance or use of materials shall not serve to waive these quality 
requirements. This warranty shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.  

9. ACCEPTANCE: All materials and services provided by Contract are subject to final inspection and
acceptance by the City. Materials and services failing to conform to the Contract specifications may be 
rejected in whole or part. If rejected, Contractor is responsible for all costs associated arising from 
rejection.  

10. MANUFACTURER’S WARRANTIES: Contractor shall deliver all Manufacturer’s Warranties to the
City upon the City’s acceptance of the materials. 

11. PACKING AND SHIPPING: Contractor shall be responsible for industry standard packing which
conforms to requirements of carrier’s tariff and ICC regulations. Containers shall be clearly marked as to 
lot number, destination, address and purchase order number. All shipments shall be F.O.B. Destination, 
City of Flagstaff, 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona 86001, unless otherwise specified by the 
City. C.O.D. shipments will not be accepted.  



6  

12. TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS: The title and risk of loss of material shall not pass to the City until the 
City actually receives the material at the point of delivery and the City has completed inspection and has 
accepted the material, unless the City has expressly provided otherwise in the Contract.  

13. NO REPLACEMENT OF DEFECTIVE TENDER: Every tender of materials shall fully comply with all 
provisions of the Contract. If a tender is made which does not fully conform, this shall constitute a breach 
and Contractor shall not have the right to substitute a conforming tender without prior written approval 
from the City.  

14. DEFAULT IN ONE INSTALLMENT TO CONSTITUTE TOTAL BREACH: Contractor may not 
substitute nonconforming materials and/or services. Delivery of nonconforming materials and/or services, 
or a default of any nature, shall constitute a breach of the Contract as a whole.  

15. SHIPMENT UNDER RESERVATION PROHIBITED: Contractor is not authorized to ship materials 
under reservation and no tender of a bill of lading shall operate as a tender of the materials.  

16. LIENS: All materials and other deliverables supplied to the City shall be free of all liens, other than the 
security interest held by Contractor, until payment in full is made by the City. Upon request of the City, 
Contractor shall provide a formal release of all liens.  

17. CHANGES IN ORDERS: The City reserves the right at any time to make changes in any one or more 
of the following: (a) methods of shipment or packing; (b) place of delivery; and (c) quantities. If any 
change causes an increase or decrease in the cost of or the time required for performance, an equitable 
adjustment may be made in the price or delivery schedule, or both. Any claim for adjustment shall be 
evidenced in writing and approved by the City Purchasing Director prior to the institution of the change.  
 
PAYMENT  
18. INVOICES: A separate invoice shall be issued for each shipment and each job completed. Invoices 
shall include the Contract and/or Purchase Order number and dates when goods had been shipped or 
work performed. Invoices shall be sent within thirty (30) days following performance. Payment will only be 
made for satisfactory materials and/or services received and accepted by City.  

19. LATE INVOICES: The City may deduct up to 10% of the payment price for late invoices. The City 
operates on a fiscal year budget, from July 1 through the following June 30. Except in unusual 
circumstances, which are not due to the fault of Contractor, the City will not honor any invoices or claims 
submitted after August 15 for materials or services supplied in the prior fiscal year. 
 
20. TAXES: Contractor shall be responsible for payment of all taxes including federal, state, and local 
taxes related to or arising out of Contractor’s performance of the Contract. Such taxes include but are not 
limited to federal and state income tax, social security tax, unemployment insurance taxes, transaction 
privilege taxes, use taxes, and any other taxes or business license fees as required.  
 
Exception: The City will pay any taxes which are specifically identified as a line-item dollar amount in the 
Contractor’s bid, proposal, or quote, and which were considered and approved by the City as part of the 
Contract award process. In this event, taxes shall be identified as a separate line item in Contractor’s 
invoices.  
21. FEDERAL EXCISE TAXES: The City is exempt from paying certain Federal Excise Taxes and will 
furnish an exemption certificate upon request.  

22. FUEL CHARGES: Contractor at its own expense is liable for all fuel costs related to performance. No 
fuel surcharges will be accepted or paid by the City.  

23. DISCOUNTS: If the Contract provides for payment discounts, payment discounts will be computed 
from the later date of the following: (a) when correct invoice is received by the City; or (b) when 
acceptable materials and/or materials were received by the City.  



7  

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE CITY: Contractor must be current and remain current in all obligations due 
to the City during performance. Payments to Contractor may be offset by any delinquent amounts due to 
the City or fees and charges owed to the City under the Contract.  

25. OFAC: No payments may be made to any person in violation of Office of Foreign Assets Control 
regulations. 31 C.F.R. Part 501.  
 
SERVICES  
26. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: Contractor shall be an independent Contractor for purposes of all 
laws, including but not limited to the Fair Labor Standards Act, Federal Insurance Contribution Act, Social 
Security Act, Federal Unemployment Tax Act, Internal Revenue Code, Immigration and Naturalization 
Act; Arizona revenue and taxation, workers’ compensation, and unemployment insurance laws.  

27. CONTROL: Contractor shall be responsible for the control of the work.  

28. WORK SITE: Contractor shall inspect the work site and notify the City in writing of any deficiencies or 
needs prior to commencing work.  

29. SAFEGUARDING PROPERTY: Contractor shall responsible for any damage to real property of the 
City or adjacent property in performance of the work and safeguard the worksite.  

30. QUALITY: All work shall be of good quality and free of defects, performed in a diligent and 
professional manner.  

31. ACCEPTANCE: If the City rejects Contractor’s work due to noncompliance with the Contract, the City, 
after notifying Contractor in writing, may require Contractor to correct the deficiencies at Contractor’s 
expense, or cancel the work order and pay Contractor only for work properly performed.  
 
32. WARRANTY: Contractor warrants all work for a period of one year following final acceptance by the 
City. Upon receipt of written notice from the City, Contractor at its own expense shall promptly correct 
work rejected as defective or as failing to conform to the Contract, whether observed before or after 
acceptance, and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed by Contractor, and shall bear all costs 
of correction. If Contractor does not correct deficiencies within a reasonable time specified in the written 
notice from the City, the City may perform the work and Contractor shall be liable for the costs. This one 
year warranty is in addition to and does not limit Contractor’s other obligations herein. This warranty shall 
survive termination or expiration of the Contract.  
 
INSPECTION, RECORDS, ADMINISTRATION  
33. RECORDS: The City shall have the right to inspect and audit all Contractor books and records related 
to the Contract for up to five years after completion of the Contract.  

34. RIGHT TO INSPECT BUSINESS: The City shall have the right to inspect the place of business of the 
Contractor or its subContractor during regular business hours at reasonable times, to the extent 
necessary to confirm Contract performance.  

35. PUBLIC RECORDS: The Contract and any related materials are a matter of public record and subject 
to disclosure pursuant to Arizona Public Records Law. A.R.S. § 39-121 et seq. If Contractor has clearly 
marked its proprietary information as “confidential”, the City will endeavor to notify Contractor prior to 
release of such information.  

36. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION: Contractor will be required to participate in the City’s contract 
administration process. Contractor will be closely monitored for Contract compliance and will be required 
to promptly correct any deficiencies.  
 
INDEMNIFICATION  



8  

37. GENERAL INDEMNIFICATION: Contractor shall indemnify and hold the City, and its officers, agents, 
employees, and subcontractors, harmless from and against any third-party claims, actions, liabilities, 
costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and other costs of defense, arising out of the acts, errors, or 
omissions of Contractor, its officers, agents, employees, and subcontractors, in performing or failing to 
perform the responsibilities identified in the Contract. In the event any such action or claim is brought 
against the City, Contractor shall, if the City so elects, and upon tender by the City: (a) defend the same at 
Contractor’s sole cost and expense; and/or (b) promptly satisfy any judgment adverse to the City; or (c) 
reimburse the City for any loss, cost, damage, or expense, including attorneys’ fees, suffered or incurred 
by the City. The City shall notify Contractor, within a reasonable time, of any claim, threat of claim, or legal 
action as it relates to the responsibilities identified in the Contract. This indemnification shall survive 
termination or expiration of the Contract.  

38. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY INDEMNIFICATION: Contractor shall indemnify and hold the City, and 
its officers, agents, employees, and subcontractors, harmless from and against any third-party claims, 
actions, liabilities, costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and other costs of defense arising out of the 
alleged infringement of any patent, trademark or copyright or other proprietary rights of any third-parties 
arising out of Contract performance or use by the City of materials furnished or work performed under the 
Contract. In the event any such action or claim is brought against the City, Contractor shall, if the City so 
elects and upon tender by the City: (a) defend the same at Contractor’s sole cost and expense; and/or (b) 
promptly satisfy any judgment adverse to the City; or (c) reimburse the City for any loss, cost, damage, or 
expense, including attorneys’ fees, suffered or incurred by the City. The City shall notify Contractor, within 
a reasonable time, of any claim, threat of claim, or legal action as it relates to the responsibilities identified 
in the Contract. This indemnification shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.  
 
39. NETWORK SECURITY AND PRIVACY LIABILITY: Contractor shall indemnify and hold the City, and 
its officers, agents, employees, and subcontractors, harmless from an against any third-party claims, 
actions, liabilities, costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and other costs of defense arising out of all 
acts, errors, omissions, negligence, infringement of intellectual property (except patent and trade secret); 
network security and privacy risks, including but not limited to unauthorized access, failure of security, 
breach of privacy perils, wrongful disclosure, collection, or other negligence in the handling of confidential 
information, privacy perils, and including coverage for related regulatory defense and penalties; data 
breach expenses, including but not limited to, consumer notification, whether or not required by law, 
computer forensic investigations, public relations and crisis management firm fees, credit file or identity 
monitoring or remediation services in the performance of services for the City. In the event any such 
action or claim is brought against the City, Contractor shall, if the City so elects and upon tender by the 
City: (a) defend the same at Contractor’s sole cost and expense; and/or (b) promptly satisfy any judgment 
adverse to the City; or (c) reimburse the City for any loss, cost, damage, or expense, including attorneys’ 
fees, suffered or incurred by the City. The City shall notify Contractor, within a reasonable time, of any 
claim, threat of claim, or legal action as it relates to the responsibilities identified in the Contract. This 
indemnification shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.  
 
CONTRACT CHANGES  
40. PRICE INCREASES: Except as expressly provided for in the Contract, no price increases will be 
approved.  

41. COMPLETE AGREEMENT: The Contract is intended to be the complete and final agreement of the 
Parties.  

42. AMENDMENTS: The Contract may be amended by written agreement of the Parties.  

43. SEVERABILITY: If any term or provision of the Contract is found by a court of competent jurisdiction 
to be illegal or unenforceable, then such term or provision is deemed deleted and the remainder of the 
Contract shall remain in full force and effect.  



9  

44. NO WAIVER: Both Parties have the right insist upon strict performance of the Contract, and the prior 
failure of a Party to insist upon strict performance, or a delay in any exercise of any right or remedy, or 
acceptance of materials or services, shall not be deemed a waiver of any right to insist upon strict 
performance.  

45. ASSIGNMENT: Contractor was selected for its special knowledge, skills, and expertise, and shall not 
assign the services/materials required in the Contract, in whole or in part, without the City’s prior written 
consent, which may be withheld for any reason. Any assignment without such consent shall be null and 
void. No assignment shall relieve Contractor (Assignor) from any of its obligations and liabilities under the 
Contract with respect to the City. The Purchasing Director shall have authority to consent to an 
assignment on behalf of the City.  
 
46. BINDING EFFECT: The Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and 
their successors and assigns.  
 
EMPLOYEES AND SUBCONTRACTORS  
47. SUBCONTRACTING: Contractor was selected for its special knowledge, skills, and expertise, and 
shall not assign the services/materials required in the Contract, in whole or in part, without the City’s prior 
written consent, which may be withheld for any reason. The City reserves the right to withhold consent if 
the subcontractor is deemed irresponsible and/or subcontracting may negatively affect performance. All 
subcontracts shall comply with the underlying Contract. Vendor is responsible for Contract performance 
whether or not subcontractors are used.  

48. NONDISCRIMINATION: Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment or person to whom it provides services because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, 
disability, genetic information, veteran’s status, pregnancy, familial status and represents and warrants 
that it complies with all applicable federal, state and local laws and executive orders regarding 
employment. In addition, any Contractor whose business is located within City of Flagstaff limits shall 
comply with the City Code, Chapter 14-02, Civil Rights, which also prohibits discrimination based on 
sexual orientation, or gender identity or expression.  

49. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE: The City has adopted a Drug Free Workplace policy for itself and those 
doing business with the City to ensure the safety and health of all persons working on City contracts and 
projects. Contractor’s personnel shall abstain from use or possession of illegal drugs while engaged in 
performance of the Contract.  

50. IMMIGRATION LAWS: Pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-4401, Contractor hereby warrants to the City that 
Contractor and each of its subcontractors shall comply with all state and federal immigration laws and 
regulations that relate to its employees and A.R.S. § 23-214(A). A breach of state and federal immigration 
laws and regulations shall constitute a material breach of the Contract and shall subject Contractor to 
penalties up to and including termination of the Contract. The City may, at its sole discretion, conduct 
random verification of the employment records of the employees of the Contractor and any subcontractors 
to ensure compliance with all state and federal immigration laws and regulations. Neither Vendor nor any 
subsubcontractor shall be deemed to have materially breached the Contract if Vendor or subcontractor 
establishes that it has complied with the employment verification provisions prescribed by sections 274A 
and 274B of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act and the E-verify requirements prescribed by 
A.R.S. § 23-214(A).  
 
DEFAULT AND TERMINATION  
51. TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT: Prior to terminating the Contract for a material breach, the non-
defaulting Party shall give the defaulting Party written notice and reasonable opportunity to cure the 
default, not to exceed thirty (30) days unless a longer period of time is granted by the non-defaulting Party 
in writing. In the event the breach is not timely cured, or in the event of a series of repeated breaches the 
non-defaulting Party may elect to terminate Contract by written notice to Contractor, which shall be 



10  

effective upon receipt. In the event of default, the Parties may execute all remedies available at law in 
addition to the Contract remedies provided for herein.  
52. CITY REMEDIES: In the event of Contractor’s default, the City may obtain required materials and/or 
services from a substitute Contractor, and Contractor shall be liable to the City to pay for the costs of such 
substitute service. The City may deduct or offset the cost of substitute service from any balance due to 
Contractor, and/or seek recovery of the costs of substitute service against any performance security, 
and/or collect any liquidated damages provided for in the Contract. Remedies herein are not exclusive.  

53. CONTRACTOR REMEDIES: In the event of the City’s default, Contractor may pursue all remedies 
available at law, except as provided for herein.  

54. TERMINATION FOR NONAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS: The City may terminate all or a portion of 
the Contract due to budget constraints and non-appropriation of funds for the following fiscal year, without 
penalty or liability to Contractor.  

55. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE: Unless expressly provided for otherwise in the Contract, the 
Contract may be terminated in whole or part by the City for convenience upon thirty (30) days written 
notice, without further penalty or liability to Contractor. If the Contract is terminated, City shall be liable 
only for payment for satisfactory materials and/or services received and accepted by the City before the 
effective date of termination.  

56. TERMINATION DUE TO INSOLVENCY: If Contractor becomes a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding, 
or a reorganization, dissolution or liquidation proceeding, or if a trustee or receiver is appointed over all or 
a substantial portion of the property of Contractor under federal bankruptcy law or any state insolvency 
law, Contractor shall immediately provide the City with a written notice thereof. The City may terminate the 
Contract, and Contractor is deemed in default, at any time if the Contractor becomes insolvent, or is a 
party to any voluntary bankruptcy or receivership proceeding, makes an assignment for a creditor, or 
there is any similar action that affects Contractor’s ability to perform under the Contract.  

57. PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION: Upon termination of the Contract, the City will pay Contractor for 
satisfactory performance up until the effective date of termination. The City shall make final payment 
within thirty (30) days from receipt of the Contractor’s final invoice.  

58. CANCELLATION FOR GRATUITIES: The City may cancel the Contract at any time, without penalty 
or further liability to Contractor, if City determines that Contractor has given or offered to give any 
economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, trip, favor, or service to a 
public servant in connection with award or performance of the Contract.  

59. CANCELLATION FOR CONFLICT OF INTEREST: Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-511, if the City identifies 
a conflict of interest in the award or performance of the Contract, the City may cancel the Contract within 
three years after its execution, without penalty or further liability to Contractor. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS  
60. COOPERATIVE PURCHASE CONTRACTS: Presuming that Contractor agreed to such during the 
procurement process, Contractor will enter into cooperative purchase arrangements, as sanctioned by 
state and federal law, to allow Contractor to sell materials and services to any member of a cooperative 
group under the same pricing, terms and conditions of the contract awarded to the Contractor by the 
public procurement unit, following a competitive procurement process.  

61. ADVERTISING: Contractor shall not advertise or publish information concerning its Contract with the 
City without the prior written consent of the City.  

62. NOTICES: All notices given pursuant to the Contract shall be delivered at the addresses as specified 
in the Contract or updated by Notice to the other Party. Notices may be: (a) personally delivered, with 
receipt effective upon personal delivery; (b) sent via certified mail, postage prepaid, with receipt deemed 



11  

effective four days after being sent; or (c) sent by overnight courier, with receipt deemed effective two 
days after being sent. Notice may be sent by email as a secondary form of notice.  

63. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES: The Contract is intended for the exclusive benefit of the parties. 
Nothing herein is intended to create any rights or responsibilities to third parties.  

64. GOVERNING LAW: The Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of Arizona.  

65. FORUM: In the event of litigation relating to the Contract, any action at law or in equity shall be filed in 
Coconino County, Arizona.  

66. ATTORNEYS’ FEES: If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce the terms of the 
Contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, professional 
fees and expenses.  

67. FORCE MAJUERE:  

a. There may be events that occur during the term of the Contract that are beyond the control of both the 
City and Contractor, including events of war, floods, labor, disputes, earthquakes, epidemics, pandemics, 
adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, forest fires, and other acts of God (“Events”). 
These Events may result in a temporary delay of contractual deliverables, or the permanent inability to 
provide the contractual deliverables that are the subject of the Contract.  

b. There shall be no claims arising from a temporary delay of contractual deliverables, or the permanent 
inability to provide the contractual deliverables caused by the Events and the City shall not pay additional 
costs incurred by Contractor as a result of such Events.  

c. The Parties shall act in good faith to extend the Contract completion date without any penalty to 
Contractor and that the extension will be in an amount of time equal to any temporary delay. This 
provision of the Contract supersedes all other terms regarding temporary delay, permanent shut down, or 
increased costs. 
 
68. NO BOYCOTT OF ISRAEL: Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 35-393 and 35-393.01, if a Party has over ten (10) 
employees and the Contract is worth at least one-hundred thousand dollars and no cents ($100,000), the 
Party shall certify that it is not currently engaged in, and agrees, for the duration of the Contract, will not 
engage in a boycott of Israel.  

69. CHANGES TO CONTRACT: The Contract shall not be modified within the first year after Contract 
award where: (a) an amendment may result in a competitive advantage that was not made available to 
other proposers/bidders; or (b) requests for changes may delay commencement of performance.  

70. FORCED LABOR OF ETHNIC UYGHURS: If Contractor engages in for-profit activity and has ten (10) 

or more employees, pursuant to A.R.S. §35-394, the Contractor certifies that it does not currently, and 
agrees for the duration of the contract that it will not, use: 1) the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the 
People’s Republic of China; 2) any goods or services produced by the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in 
the People’s Republic of China; and 3) any Contractors, subcontractors or suppliers that use the forced 
labor or any goods or services produced by the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of 
China. If the Contractor becomes aware during the term of the contract that the company is not in 
compliance with the written certification, the Contractor shall notify the City within five (5) business days 
after becoming aware of the noncompliance. If the Contractor does not provide the City with a written 
certification that the Vendor has remedied the noncompliance within 180 days after notifying the City of 
the noncompliance, this Contract terminates, except that if the contract termination date occurs before the 
end of the remedy period the Contract terminations on the Contract termination date.  

 
 
 
 
 



12



13  

EXHIBIT C 
 

STANDARD INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
(Last Updated January 19, 2023) 

 

*The term “Contractor” may substitute for the term “vendors,” “consultants,” or “firms,” depending on the 
purpose of the underlying Contract. 

 

1. IN GENERAL: Contractor shall maintain insurance against claims for injury to persons or damage 
to property, arising from performance of or in connection with the Contract by Contractor, its agents, 
representatives, employees, and/or subcontractors. 

 

2. REQUIREMENT TO PROCURE AND MAINTAIN: Each insurance policy required by the Contract 
shall be in effect at, or before, commencement of work under the Contract and shall remain in effect 
until all of Contractor’s obligations under the Contract have been met, including any warranty 
periods. Contractor’s failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by the Contract, or to 
provide timely evidence of renewal, will be considered a material breach of the Contract. 

 

3. MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMITS OF INSURANCE: The following insurance requirements are 
minimum requirements for the Contract and in no way limit the indemnity covenants contained in 
the Contract. The City does not represent or warrant that the minimum limits set forth in the Contract 
are sufficient to protect Contractor from liabilities that might arise out of the Contract, and Contractor 
is free to purchase such additional insurance as Contractor may determine is necessary. 

 

Where applicable, as related to the Scope of Work, Contractor shall provide coverage at least as 
broad and with limits not less than those stated below. 

 

a.  Commercial General Liability - Occurrence Form 

General Aggregate $2,000,000 
Products/Completed Operations $1,000,000 
Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

b.  Umbrella Coverage $2,000,000 

c.  Automobile Liability 

Any Automobile or Owned, Hired, and Non-owned Vehicles 
Combined Single Limit Per Accident for Bodily Injury & Property Damage 

$1,000,000 

d.   Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability 

Workers’ Compensation Statutory 
Employer’s Liability: Each Accident $1,000,000 
Disease - Each Employee $1,000,000 
Disease - Policy Limit $1,000,000 

e.  Professional Liability $2,000,000 



14  

 

f. Network Security and Privacy Liability 

Per claim $2,000,000 
Annual Aggregate $2,000,000 

 

4. RESERVED NOT REQUIRED 
 

5. SELF-INSURED RETENTION: Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by 
the City. If not approved, the City may require that Contractor reduce or eliminate such self-insured 
retentions with respect to the City, its officers, agents, employees, and/or subcontractors. 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for any self-insured retention amounts. The City at its option 
may require Contractor to secure payment of such self-insured retention by a surety bond or 
irrevocable and unconditional letter of credit. 

 

6. OTHER INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: The insurance policies shall contain, or be endorsed to 
contain, the following provisions: 

 

a. Additional Insured: In Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverages, the 
City of Flagstaff, its officers, officials, agents, employees, and/or subcontractors shall be 
named and endorsed as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of the Contract 
and activities performed by or on behalf of Contractor, including products and completed 
operations of Contractor, and automobiles owned, leased, hired, or borrowed by Contractor. 

 

b. Broad Form: Contractor’s insurance policy shall contain broad form contractual liability 
coverage. 

 

c. Primary Insurance: Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect 
to the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees, and/or subcontractors. Any insurance or 
self-insurance maintained by the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees, and/or 
subcontractors shall be in excess of the coverage of Contractor’s insurance and shall not 
contribute to it. 

 

d. Each Insured: Contractor’s insurance policies shall apply separately to each insured against 
whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s 
liability. 

 

e. Not Limited: Coverage provided by Contractor shall not be limited to the liability assumed 
under the indemnification provisions of the Contract. 



15

f. Waiver of Subrogation: The insurance policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation against
the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees, and/or subcontractors for losses arising from
work performed by Contractor for the City.

7. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION: Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of the
Contract shall provide the required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, and/or
reduced in coverage or in limits unless prior written notice has been given to the City. Notices
required by this section shall be sent directly to the Procurement Agent and shall reference the
Contract Number.

8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS: Contractor shall place insurance hereunder with insurers duly
licensed or approved unlicensed companies in the State of Arizona and with a “Best’s” rating of not
less than A-: VII. The City does not represent or warrant that the above required minimum insurer
rating is sufficient to protect Contractor from potential insurer insolvency.

9. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE: Contractor shall furnish the City with certificates of insurance
(ACORD form) as required by the Contract. The certificates for each insurance policy shall be
signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. Any policy
endorsements that restrict or limit coverage shall be clearly noted on the certificate of insurance.
The City Contract number shall be noted on the certificates of insurance. If requested by the City,
all certificates of insurance and endorsements must be received and approved by the City before
the Contractor commences work.

10. POLICIES: The City reserves the right to require, and receive within ten (10) days, complete,
certified copies of all insurance policies and endorsements required by the Contract. The City shall
not be obligated, however, to review any insurance policies  or to advise Contractor of any
deficiencies in such policies and endorsements. The City’s receipt of Contractor’s policies or
endorsements shall not relieve Contractor from, or be deemed a waiver of, the City’s right to insist
on strict fulfillment of Contractor’s obligations under the Contract.

11. MODIFICATIONS: Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in the Contract
must have the prior approval of the City’s Attorney’s Office in consultation with the City’s Risk
Manager, whose decision shall be final. Such action will not require a formal Contract amendment
but may be made by their handwritten revision and notation to the foregoing insurance
requirements.



11 | P a g e 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE. 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001 

Solicitation No.  2024-XX 
Teddy Callan, Procurement Specialist 

PH: (928) 213-2275 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
Painting Downtown Green Assets 

BID NUMBER  

BID FORM 

PLEASE SEE THE SCOPE OF WORK ATTACHED TO THE CONTRACT AS EXHIBIT A, FOR REQUIRED 
MATERIALS. ENTER THE SERVICE CHARGES/BID AMOUNTS FOR THE FOLLOWING AREAS AND 
ALL MATRERIALS SPECIFIED IN THIS SOLICITATION 

RATE PAINTING DOWNTOWN GREEN ASSETS 

MATERIALS COST 

Painting Materials $ 

Labor (Preparation, cleaning, painting, and clean-up) $ 

Taxes & Freight  $ 

(All charges must be included; no extra charges will be considered at a later date. Miscellaneous 
charges will be considered in determining the low Bid) 

Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Bid Title 

Printed Name Dat
Daniel Raper

President

4/17/2024

PTO 15%

 10,000.00

136,245.00

 21,936.75

Attachment A



AssetType Descriptio Notes Verif Pantd

Sign Pole
Do Not Enter, Advanced Intersection Lane Control 

(Two Lane)
Yes No

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Pay by 

Plate Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Sign Pole 30 Minute Customer Courts no sign on the pole Yes No

Sign Pole

Downtown Information, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate 

Combo, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate Combo - 

Schedule

Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking Yes No

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes

Sign Pole Left/Right Arrow, Hospital Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Reserved Parking(Disabled), 2 Hour Parking, Pay to 

Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zones
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted Yes No

Sign Pole Stop Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Advanced Intersection Lane Control (Two Lane), Do 

Not Enter, NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK
Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole Downtown Information Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow Yes Yes

Downtown Green Assets Listing



Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking
 Yes No

Sign Pole Stop light and cross walk  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
15 MINUTE PARKING ONLY, WINTER PARKING 3-7, 

Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Parking Any Time, Tow Away Zone, NO 

SKATEBOARDING NO ROLLERBLADING, Notice
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Double Arrow, U.S. Route Marker for Independent 

Use
 Yes No

Sign Pole
No Right Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, One Way 

Enclosed in Right Arrow
 Yes Yes



Sign Pole

2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, 15 

MINUTE PARKING ONLY, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Pay by Plate Parking, Reserved Parking(Disabled), 2 

Hour Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

15 MINUTE PARKING ONLY, 2 HOUR PARKING, 

WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking

 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole 30 minute parking County Customers ONLY, FREE  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Reserved Parking(Disabled), Van Accessible, 2 Hour 

Parking, Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking 

Zones

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole TWO HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes No

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), One Way Enclosed in Left 

Arrow
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes



Sign Pole

WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking, Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking 

Zone

Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Sign Pole

One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, Downtown 

Street Name, Downtown Street Name, Downtown 

Street Name, Downtown Street Name

Yes No

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved For Police no sign on the pole Yes No

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol) Yes Yes

Sign Pole Advanced Intersection Lane Control (Two Lane) Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Sign Pole

Visitor Information arrow left, WINTER PARKING 3-

7, 2 Hour Parking, 2 Hour Parking, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking

Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Left Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Pay by Plate Parking, Reserved Parking(Disabled), 2 

Hour Parking
Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Do Not Enter, Advanced Intersection Lane Control 

(Two Lane), Downtown Street Name, Downtown 

Street Name, Downtown Street Name, Downtown 

Street Name

Yes No

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes



Sign Pole NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK Yes No

Sign Pole
The Board of Supervisors, Parking Permit required 

ALL DAY, C Permit, TOW AWAY ZONE
Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, 2 HOUR PARKING Yes No

Sign Pole Downtown Information Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
Yes No

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, Stop, One Way 

Enclosed in Right Arrow, Adopt an Ave
Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, MOTORCYCLE PARKING ONLY, 

Pay by Plate Parking
Yes Yes

Sign Pole

LOADING ZONE aspen, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate 

Combo, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate Combo - 

Schedule, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking

Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole

No Left Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name

Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Reserved Parking(Disabled), Van Accessible, Pay by 

Plate Parking, 2 Hour Parking
Yes Yes

Sign Pole WINTER PARKING 3-7 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Outlet Right, Downtown Information, No Outlet 

Left, Downtown Information
Yes No

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
Yes Yes



Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Pay by 

Plate Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, 2 Hour 

Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow, Stop
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking
 Yes No

Sign Pole Downtown Information  Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
15 MINUTE PARKING ONLY, WINTER PARKING 3-7, 

Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Downtown Street Name Overhead  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes Yes



Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Downtown Information  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Right Turn (Symbol), One Way Enclosed in Left 

Arrow, Downtown Street Name Overhead
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
The Board of Supervisors, Parking Permit required 

ALL DAY, C Permit, TOW AWAY ZONE
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
15 MINUTE PARKING ONLY, Seasonal Restriction - 

No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole TWO HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
The Board of Supervisors, Parking Permit required 

ALL DAY, C Permit, TOW AWAY ZONE
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Do Not Enter, Downtown Street Name Overhead, 

NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, 

Pedestrian Traffic Signal Signs, Pedestrian Traffic 

Signal Signs, One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow

 Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes



Sign Pole Downtown Information Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol) Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, 2 Hour 

Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole NO SKATEBOARDING NO ROLLERBLADING, Notice Yes Yes

Sign Pole Do Not Enter Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol) Yes No

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol) Yes Yes

Sign Pole 30 minute parking County Customers ONLY, FREE Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Left/Right Arrow, Historic US Route (For 

Independent Use), TO
Yes No

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
Yes Yes

Sign Pole
USE OF PRIVATE PROPERTY TO AVOID TRAFFIC 

CONTOLR DEVICE PROHIBITED
Yes No

Sign Pole

NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, Stop, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name

Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Left Turn (Symbol) Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow Yes No



Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), Advanced Intersection Lane 

Control (Two Lane)
 Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Downtown Information  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol), Downtown Information  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, Adopt an 

Ave
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes No

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole   Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

2 HOUR PARKING, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate 

Combo, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate Combo - 

Schedule, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking

 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Left Turn (Symbol), One Way Enclosed in Right 

Arrow, Downtown Street Name Overhead
 Yes No

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes No

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol), No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes No

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
The Board of Supervisors, Parking Permit required 

ALL DAY, C Permit, TOW AWAY ZONE
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Downtown Information  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Right Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes No



Sign Pole
NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, One Way 

Enclosed in Right Arrow
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Stop, One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Right Arrow, NO BICYCLES ON SIDE 

WALK THIS BLOCK

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, Downtown Street 

Name Overhead, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes No

Sign Pole
MOTORCYCLE PARKING ONLY, 2 HOUR PARKING, 

Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Pay by 

Plate Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Seasonal Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate 

Parking
 Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, One Way Enclosed 

in Right Arrow, Downtown Street Name, Downtown 

Street Name, Downtown Street Name, Downtown 

Street Name

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, 2 HOUR PARKING  Yes No

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, No Parking 

(Symbol)
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No



Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes No

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Turn Only  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone could use new paint Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol), Speed Limit  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole TWO HOUR PARKING, 30 Minute Customer Courts no sign on the pole Yes No

Sign Pole 30 Minute Customer Courts  Yes No

Sign Pole One way  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking(Disabled)  Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking
no two hour parking 

sign, permit exempt
Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Double Arrow, U.S. Route Marker for Independent 

Use
 Yes No

Sign Pole
Parking with Arrow(Green), One Way Enclosed in 

Right Arrow
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule no parking schedule Yes No



Sign Pole WINTER PARKING 3-7  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking Any Time  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Downtown Information  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Adopt an Ave  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Right Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes No

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, One Way Enclosed 

in Right Arrow
 Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes No

Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK 

THIS BLOCK
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes No



Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes No

Sign Pole
The Board of Supervisors, Parking Permit required 

ALL DAY, C Permit, TOW AWAY ZONE
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole

LOADING ZONE aspen, One Way Enclosed in Right 

Arrow, Loading Zone/Pay by Plate Combo, Loading 

Zone/Pay by Plate Combo - Schedule

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Advanced Intersection Lane Control (Two Lane), 

WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking

 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Historic US Route (For Independent Use), TO, No 

Parking (Symbol), Left/Right Arrow
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

No Right Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Reserved Parking(Disabled), Van Accessible, Pay by 

Plate Parking, 2 Hour Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), Advanced Intersection Lane 

Control (Two Lane)
 Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Loading Zone/Pay by Plate Combo, Loading 

Zone/Pay by Plate Combo - Schedule, 2 HOUR 

PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking

 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Thru Traffic Merge Left/Right  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes



Sign Pole
No Left Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole WINTER PARKING 3-7  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes No

Sign Pole
Seasonal Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate 

Parking, 2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK 

THIS BLOCK
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes No

Sign Pole

NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol), Turn Only  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Reserved Parking(Disabled), Van Accessible, Pay by 

Plate Parking, 2 Hour Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes



Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Left/Right Arrow, Hospital  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole WINTER PARKING 3-7  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, Stop, One Way 

Enclosed in Right Arrow
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Thru Traffic Merge Left/Right  Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Left Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole TWO HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Loading Zone/Pay by Plate Combo, Loading 

Zone/Pay by Plate Combo - Schedule, LOADING 

ZONE aspen, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Thru Traffic Merge Left/Right  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole
NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK, One Way 

Enclosed in Right Arrow
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, 2 Hour 

Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Left/Right Arrow, Historic US Route (For 

Independent Use), TO
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), Advanced Intersection Lane 

Control (Two Lane)
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, No Parking 

(Symbol)
 Yes Yes



Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes No

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole

No Left Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, NO 

BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK

 Yes No

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Downtown Information, No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Private, Unpermitted Vehicles, may be retrieved 

from, AM-PM Towing,
 Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Right Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name 

Overhead, One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Reserved Parking(Disabled), Van Accessible, 2 Hour 

Parking, Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking 

Zones

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Pay by Plate Parking, 2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Traffic Signal Painted  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Left Diagonal Arrow, School Advance Warning  Yes No

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole NO BICYCLES ON SIDE WALK THIS BLOCK  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes



Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Pay by 

Plate Parking, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING pay by plate Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Destination with Arrow Train Information Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole City alleys notice  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule no parking schedule Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking, WINTER 

PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No Parking
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Thru Traffic Merge Left/Right  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Direct Bury Painted  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Reserved Parking(Disabled), Pay by Plate Parking, 2 

Hour Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes



Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole 30 Minute Customer Courts pay by plate Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes No

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, MOTORCYCLE PARKING ONLY, 

Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

required ALL DAY, C Permit, TOW AWAY ZONE, 

County vehicles exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal Restriction - No 

Parking, Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking 

Zone

 Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown

a little farther down 

the road than it is 

marked

Yes No

Sign Pole One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow  Yes No

Sign Pole

Overnight Parking By Permit Only, Parking Permit 

Required - F Permit, Parking Zone, County vehicles 

exempt, Accessible spaces exempt

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole

No Left Turn (Symbol), Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street Name, 

Downtown Street Name

 Yes Yes

Sign Pole School Advance Warning  Yes No

Sign Pole 15 MINUTE PARKING ONLY  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes No

Sign Pole No Parking (Symbol)  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
No Parking (Symbol), One Way Enclosed in Right 

Arrow, One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay to Park - E Permit Exempt, Parking Zone  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole

One Way Enclosed in Left Arrow, Downtown Street 

Name, Downtown Street Name, Downtown Street 

Name, Downtown Street Name

 Yes No



Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Garbage Bin Dual Composite Bin  Yes Yes

Street Light Pole Decorative: Downtown  Yes Yes

Sign Pole 2 HOUR PARKING, Pay by Plate Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
One Way Enclosed in Right Arrow, Stop, One Way 

Enclosed in Left Arrow
 Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking  Yes No

Sign Pole Pay by Plate Parking, Pay by Plate Parking Schedule  Yes Yes

Sign Pole
2 HOUR PARKING, WINTER PARKING 3-7, Seasonal 

Restriction - No Parking, Pay by Plate Parking
 Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Sign Pole  
customer parking 

only
Yes No

Sign Pole  no sign on pole Yes No

Sign Pole  
Pay by Plate 

Zone EN
Yes No

Sign Pole pay by plate  Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Other  map of downtown Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Sign Pole  

One way  

Slow watch for 

pedestrians

Yes No

Sign Pole  
Reserved for Police 

Parking
Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Sign Pole  pay by plate Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Bike Rack   Yes No

Sign Pole Parking by Permit Only  Yes No

Bollard   Yes No

Sign Pole  
Pay by Plate Permit 

Exempt
Yes No

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Street Light Pole   Yes Yes

Sign Pole  Crossing Sign Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes



Sign Pole  Just a pole no sign Yes No

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Sign Pole  
Customer Parking 

Only
Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Street Light Pole   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Sign Pole  No Parking Symbol Yes Yes

Sign Pole  

Overnight Parking 

by Permit, Employee 

Parking, Zone F5, 

Accessible Spaces 

Exempt, County 

Vehicles Exempt

Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Garbage Bin   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Sign Pole  One Way Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Reserved Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole No public parking reserved for  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Pay by Plate  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Tour bus, Bus Stop, No Parking  Yes Yes

Sign Pole Tour Bus, Bus stop, no parking  Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes



Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Sign Pole
Do not enter, no skateboards, roller skates, or roller 

blades on the sidewalk.
 Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Sign Pole No sign. Just a pole  Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Sign Pole Customer parking only  Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes



Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes No

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bike Rack   Yes Yes

Bollard   Yes Yes



   9. C.  9. C.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Jarrett Nelson, Public Works Project Manager
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Sam Beckett

Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:   Approval of a Construction Manager at Risk Construction
Phase Services Agreement for the Street Maintenance Program and approve GMP 1 to C and E Paving &
Grading, LLC.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Approve the Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) Construction Phase Services Agreement with C and
E Paving & Grading, LLC for the Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025 & 2026 for a Guaranteed
Maximum Price (GMP) of $6,376,102.20; and

2. Approve GMP 1 authorizing C and E Paving & Grading, LLC to execute the 2024 Street Maintenance
Program; and

3. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The Public Works Streets Section maintains over 700 lane miles of roadway surface infrastructure for the
citizens, regional community members, and visitors. Roadways throughout the city vary in design and
capacity.  In addition to automobile travel, all modes of transportation are integrated and encouraged within
the right of way. Modes of travel such as mass transit, bicycle, and pedestrian opportunities are prevalent and
our Streets crews strive to provide transportation infrastructure that is well connected and as safe as possible
for travel, regardless of the chosen mode. The City's annual Street Maintenance Overlay and Chip
Seal Program is an effort to improve aging infrastructure within our existing transportation network. Planning
efforts include an evaluation of the asphalt surface, edge treatments, recent overlay project sections, roads
that meet maintenance needs, and road stripe engineering. Once the identified needs are prioritized, Street's
utilizes funding provided from two sources to address the needs. The first source of revenue is Highway User
Revenue Funds (HURF), or what's commonly referred to as the gas tax, a state shared revenue. The second
source of revenue provided is sales tax proceeds collected as a result of the 2014 voter approved Road
Repair and Street Safety Program (RRSS). This City Council action, if approved, will allow Streets to deliver
the Annual Street Maintenance Fall 2024 Overlay utilizing local contractor C and E Paving & Grading, LLC
and improve the community transportation infrastructure.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
Project Name: Road Repair and Street Safety 2024 Construction GMP 1
Cost: $6,376,102.20
Account Number Budgeted:046-06-163-3321-6-4443
FY2024-25 Budgeted Amount: $10,928,658
Grant Funded: No
Funding Source: Road Repair and Street Safety Sales Taxes

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
The award of the CMAR Construction Phase Services Contract to C and E Paving & Grading, LLC will



authorize the City's Annual Street Maintenance Program for 2024, 2025 & 2026. Approval of GMP1 will
authorize C and E Paving & Grading, LLC to execute the 2024 Street Maintenance Program. The overlay
work will ensure that the City is maintaining its streets and providing for a well-protected and increased overall
condition index for our roadways. The City of Flagstaff community continues to support initiatives creating and
maintaining quality infrastructure throughout our transportation network.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
The City of Flagstaff City Council has approved CMAR contracts in previous years for the annual street
maintenance and overlay program. Transportation maintenance programs has been a topic of discussion in
previous sessions. Direction and feedback has been provided in multiple forums, such as the goal setting
process, the annual budgetary process, and community service delivery expectation discussions. Clear
direction has been provided to maintain our transportation system, establish asset inventory, deliver capital
renewal programs and meet the community expectations. On May 21, 2024, the City Council approved the
initial phase of the CMAR process by approving the Design Phase Services Agreement with C and E Paving
& Grading, LLC in the amount of $139,943.13.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

1. Approve the CMAR Construction Phase Services Contract to C and E Paving & Grading, LLC for the
annual Street Maintenance Program for 2024, 2025 & 2026; and

2. Approve GMP1 authorizing C and E Paving & Grading, LLC to execute the 2024 Street Maintenance
Program; or 

3. Reject this construction phase of the CMAR process and provide direction to Staff. 

Background and History:Background and History:
The City has established an annual program to maintain existing street pavements. The program includes
three major elements: non-structural upgrades of asphalt overlay, minor concrete repairs, accessibility
improvements including sidewalk/ramp replacement and chip sealing.  The citizens of Flagstaff approved the
Road Repair and Street Safety Maintenance Program (RRSS) (Prop. 406). This is a dedicated sales tax
providing funding of $100 million over 20 years.  The program has been aggressively addressing capital
projects that have been identified to be in a high state of disrepair on the front end of the program with strong
support for annual maintenance until the sales tax sunsets in 2034. The overlay and chip seal street
segments are selected after evaluation of the street condition using pavement management asset software. 
Each street pavement is assigned an overall condition index (OCI) based on the type and severity of the
distress observed.  A pavement that has no distress is given an OCI of 100. Each pavement distress such as
cracking or roughness reduces the street's OCI.  The street pavements are ranked by OCI and the pavements
exhibiting the most severe distress are programmed for resurfacing treatments and improvements. Chip seal
techniques are also used to protect recently overlaid sections to prolong the life of the asphalt surface.

The Arizona State Legislature has authorized the use of Alternative Project Delivery Methods (APDM) as a
method of project delivery. Included in these delivery methods the City of Flagstaff can procure a construction
team utilizing a Qualifications Based Selection process for construction services from a firm deemed most
qualified to perform the work.  The enabling legislation also allows for provision of multiple Guaranteed
Maximum Prices (GMP) under a single procurement.   

At the March 17, 2020, City Council meeting, Council approved the award of the initial Professional
Engineering Design Phase Services contract for the 2020, 2021 and 2022 programs to Peak Engineering, Inc.
Two contract extensions have been utilized in both 2023 and 2024. Working collaboratively with City staff and
C and E Paving & Grading, LLC, the team develops the annual program, costing evaluation, project
scheduling, design document review, prioritization of roadway segments, logistics, quantity estimating, and
preparation of final construction documents.

On behalf of the City of Flagstaff Streets Department, COF Procurement posted a formal solicitation to
PlanetBids on March 6, 2024, to hire a Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) pertaining to the Street
Maintenance Program 2024, 2025, 2026. On March 16 & 23, 2024, City of Flagstaff Procurement team
advertised a Request for Statement of Qualifications in the Arizona Daily Sun. Closing date for this request



was March 29, 2024. The Team received one (1) statement of qualification. An evaluation team of City staff
and one design professional reviewed the statement and agreed to request approval from Council to award C
and E Paving & Grading, LLC to hold the CMAR contract for the annual Street Maintenance Program 2024,
2025, 2026. The proposed Construction Phase Services Agreement and GMP1 is a key step towards
beginning this project.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
The maintenance of the transportation system is a critical part of "high performing governance" that supports
not only community members but first responders to deliver their services and is a high priority in PBB.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Transportation and Public Infrastructure - Deliver quality community assets and continue to advocate and
implement a highly performing multi-modal transportation system.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
The asphalt mix design used in the overlay portion and chip seal binders for the project has recycled asphalt
incorporated into the mix, thus reducing the usage of new fossil fuels.

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Connection to Division Specific Plan:Connection to Division Specific Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments: CMAR Construction Phase Services Agreement
Exhibit B - GMP1 2024
2024 Streets Maintenance Program Overview Map



   
 

 
 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona 
 
 

 
 

Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025 & 2026 
 

CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK 
 

CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
 

Agreement No. 2024-65 
 
 
 

Mayor 
Becky Daggett 

 
Council 

                              Austin Aslan    Lori Matthews 
                             Deborah Harris   Jim McCarthy 
                            Khara House   Miranda Sweet 

 
         City Manager   Water Services Director 

                        Greg Clifton                             Shannon Jones 
 
 
                  Community                                   Public Works Director 
            Development Director                                Scott Overton  
                       Dan Folke                  

 
 

Engineering & Capital Improvements Director 
Paul Mood  

 
 
 
  

  



 
2024-65 CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
                                                                                                                        
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 PAGE 

RECITALS ....................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE 2 – CMAR’S SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ....................................... 6 

ARTICLE 3 - CITY’S SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ........................................ 13 

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIME ................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE ................................................................................. 19 

ARTICLE 6 - CHANGES TO THE CONTRACT PRICE AND TIME .............................. 20 

ARTICLE 7 - PROCEDURE FOR PAYMENT ............................................................... 23 

ARTICLE 8 – CLAIMS AND DISPUTES ....................................................................... 27 

ARTICLE 9 – SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION ...................................................... 29 

ARTICLE 10 - INSURANCE AND BONDS .................................................................... 31 

ARTICLE 11 - INDEMNIFICATION ............................................................................... 34 

ARTICLE 12 - GENERAL PROVISIONS ....................................................................... 35 

SIGNATURE PAGE ...................................................................................................... 42 

EXHIBIT A – PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

EXHIBIT B – GMP SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

 

 

 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 1 
 

 
City of Flagstaff, Arizona 

  
 

Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025 & 202 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK  
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 

Agreement No. 2024-45 

This Construction Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between the City of 
Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State of Arizona (“Owner”), and C and E Paving & Grading, L.L.C., 
an Arizona Limited Liability Company ("Construction Manager at Risk" or “CMAR”) on this ___ day of 
__________, 20__. 

RECITALS 

A. The City Manager of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, is authorized and empowered by provisions of 
the City Charter to execute agreements for professional services and construction services. 

B. The Owner intends to construct the Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025, 2026, as more fully 
described in Exhibit “A,” attached (“Project”).  

C. To undertake the construction administration of the Project, the Owner has entered into separate 
agreements with Peak Engineering, Inc. (“Design Professional(s)”). 

D. CMAR has represented to the Owner the ability to provide construction phase services for the 
Project, and based on this representation, the Owner hereby engages CMAR to provide these 
services and construct the Project. 

E. A Design Phase Services Agreement (Contract No. 2024-45) has been executed previously 
between the Owner and CMAR to perform design phase services for the Project. Those services 
may continue during the duration of this Agreement. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and considerations hereinafter 
contained, it is agreed by and between the Owner and CMAR as follows: 

Article 1 – Terms and Definitions         

“Addenda” - Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the submittal of the GMP Proposal(s), which 
clarify, correct or change the GMP Proposal(s) requirements. 

“Agreement (Contract)” - This written document signed by the Owner and CMAR covering the design phase 
of the Project, and including other documents itemized and referenced in or attached to and made part of 
this Agreement. 

“Alternate Systems Evaluations” - Alternatives for design, means and methods or other scope 
considerations that are evaluated using value engineering principles which have the potential to reduce 
construction costs while still delivering a quality and functional Project that meets the Owner requirements. 

“Change Directive” - A written order prepared and signed by the Owner, directing a change in the Work 
prior to agreement on an adjustment in the Contract Price and the Contract Time. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 2 
 

“Change Order” - A type of contract amendment issued after execution of the Contract Documents where 
unanticipated or unforeseen circumstances in the Work have been encountered.  Each Change Order shall 
be signed by the Owner and CMAR, stating their agreement upon all of the following: the addition, deletion 
or revision in the scope of services or Deliverables; the amount of the adjustment to the Contract Price; the 
amount of the adjustment to the Contract Time; or other modifications of other Agreement terms. 

“City (Owner)” - The City of Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State of Arizona, with whom CMAR has 
entered into this Agreement and for whom the services are to be provided pursuant to said Agreement. 

“CMAR” - The Contractor selected by the Owner to provide design phase services as detailed in this 
Agreement. 

“CMAR Representative” - The designated CMAR Representative. 

“CMAR Senior Representative” - The designated CMAR Senior Representative. 

“Construction Documents” - Certain plans, specifications and drawings prepared by the Design 
Professionals after correcting for permit review requirements or dated plans and specifications specifically 
identified as the “Construction Documents” herein or in an Exhibit or Addendum which is attached hereto.  

“Construction Fee” - CMAR’s administrative costs for providing off-site management, supervision, General 
Conditions support, support of construction activities, home office overhead, and profit, as applicable to this 
Project, whether at CMAR’s principal or branch offices.   

“Contingency, CMAR’s” - A fund to cover cost growth during the Project, legitimate unforeseen construction 
expenses, or expenses otherwise agreed to by the Owner to be used at the discretion of CMAR usually for 
costs that result from Project circumstances. The amount of CMAR’s Contingency shall be negotiated as a 
separate line item in each GMP package. Use and management of CMAR’s Contingency is described in 
this Agreement. 

“Contingency, Owner’s” - A fund to cover cost growth during the Project used at the discretion of the Owner 
usually for costs that result from the Owner-directed changes or unforeseen Site conditions. The amount 
of the Owners’ Contingency shall be set solely by the Owner and shall be in addition to the CMAR’s GMP. 

“Contract Documents” - The following items and documents in descending order of precedence executed 
by the Owner and CMAR: (i) all written modifications, amendments and Change Orders; (ii) this Agreement, 
including all exhibits and attachments; (iii) Construction Documents; and (iv) GMP Plans and Specifications. 

“Contract Price” - The cost for services for this Agreement. 

“Contract Time(s)” - The number of days or the dates related to the construction phase, including authorized 
adjustments, allotted in the Construction Documents for Substantial and final Completion of the Work, 
subject to Winter Shutdown. 

“Cost Models” - Cost tabulation for the construction of the Project developed by the CMAR and continually 
updated throughout the preconstruction phase fee and utilized to develop the Guaranteed Maximum Price 
Proposal.  The Cost Model is created using the Design Professionals list of standard pay items.  

“Cost of the Work” - The direct costs necessarily incurred by CMAR in the proper performance of the Work. 
The Cost of the Work shall include direct labor costs, subcontract costs, costs of materials and equipment 
incorporated in the completed construction, costs of other materials and equipment, temporary facilities, 
permit and license fees, materials testing, and related items. The Cost of the Work shall not include CMAR’s 
Construction Fee, General Conditions Cost, bonds, insurance, or taxes. 

“Critical Path Method” or “CMP” - A scheduling technique used to predict project duration by analyzing 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 3 
 

which sequence of activities has the least amount of scheduling flexibility thus identifying the path 
(sequence) of activities which represent the longest time required to complete the Project. Delay in 
completion of the identified activities shall cause a delay in achieving Substantial Completion. 

“Day(s)” - Calendar days unless otherwise specifically noted in the Contract Documents. 

“Deliverables, Construction Phase Services Agreement” - The Work conducted by CMAR during the 
construction phase which may include, but is not limited to: Construction Management Plan, Project 
Schedule, Schedule of Values, alternative system evaluations, procurement strategies and plans, cost 
models, construction market surveys, cash flow projections, GMP Proposals, Subcontractor procurement 
plan, Statement of Proposed Minority Business Enterprise/Women’s Business Enterprise (“MBE/WBE”) 
Utilization as may be required or appropriate, Subcontractor agreements, Subcontractor bid packages, 
Supplier agreements, and others as indicated in this Agreement or required by the Project Team and other 
services set forth in this Agreement or reasonably inferable therefrom. 

“Deliverables, Design Phase Services Agreement” - The Work conducted by CMAR during the design 
phase which may include, but is not limited to: design recommendations, Project scheduling, constructability 
reviews, alternate systems evaluation, cost estimate, Minority Business Enterprise/Woman’s Business 
Enterprise/Small Business Enterprise (“MBE/WBE/SBE”) utilization, Subcontractor agreements, 
Subcontractor bid packages, GMP preparations and other services set forth in this Agreement or 
reasonably inferable therefrom. 

“Design Professional(s)” - A qualified, licensed design professional who furnishes design, construction 
documents, and/or construction administration services required for the Project. 

“Drawings (Plans)” - Documents, which visually represent the scope, extent and character of the Work to 
be furnished and performed by CMAR during the construction phase, and which have been prepared or 
approved by the Design Professional(s) and the Owner.  Includes Drawings that have reached a sufficient 
stage of completion and released by the Design Professional(s) solely for the purposes of review and/or 
use in performing constructability or biddability reviews and in preparing cost models (e.g., conceptual 
design Drawings, preliminary design Drawings, detailed design Drawings at 30%, 60%, 90% or 100% or 
schematic, design development, construction documents), but “not for construction”. Shop Drawings are 
not Drawings as so defined. 

“Differing Site Conditions” - Concealed or latent physical conditions or subsurface conditions at the Site 
that: (i) materially differ from the conditions indicated in the Contract Documents; or (ii) are of an unusual 
nature, differing materially from the conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent 
in the Work. 

“Final Completion” - 100% completion of all construction Work noted in, or reasonably inferred from, the 
Contract Documents, including but not limited to, all Punch Lists work, all record and close-out documents 
specified in Owner’s Project specifications and Owner training/start up activities. 

“Float” - The number of Days by which an activity can be delayed without lengthening the CMP and 
extending the Substantial Completion date. 

“General Conditions Costs” - All on-site Project-specific costs required to perform the Work, but not itemized 
or included in the Cost of the Work. Includes, but is not limited to, the following types of costs for CMAR 
during the construction phase: (i) payroll costs for Project manager or CMAR for Work conducted at the 
Site, (ii) payroll costs for the superintendent and full-time general foremen, (iii) payroll costs for other 
management personnel resident and working at the Site, (iv) workers not included as direct labor costs 
engaged in support (e.g. loading/unloading, clean-up, etc.), (v) costs of offices and temporary facilities setup 
solely for this Project including office materials, office supplies, office equipment and minor expenses, (vi) 
cost of utilities, fuel, sanitary facilities and telephone services at the Site; (vii) costs of liability and other 
applicable insurance premiums not include in labor burdens for direct labor costs; (viii) costs of bonds 
premiums; (ix) costs of consultants not in the direct employee of CMAR or Subcontractors. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 4 
 

“Guaranteed Maximum Price” (“GMP)” - The sum of the maximum Cost of the Work; the Construction Fee, 
General Conditions Costs, taxes, and CMAR’s Contingency. 

“GMP Plans and Specifications” - Plans and specifications upon which the Guaranteed Maximum Price 
Proposal is based. 

“Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Proposal” - The offer or proposal of CMAR submitted on the prescribed 
form setting forth the GMP prices for the entire Work or portions of the Work to be performed during the 
construction phase. The GMP Proposal(s) are to be developed pursuant to Article 2 of this Agreement. 

“Legal Requirements” - All applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
orders and decrees of any government or quasi-government entity having jurisdiction over the Project or 
Site, the practices involved in the Project or Site, or any Work. 

“Notice to Proceed” or “NTP” - The directive issued by the Owner, authorizing CMAR to start Work. 

“Opening Physical Conditions” - The current physical conditions present on the Site as jointly documented 
by an inspection of the Site by Owner and CMAR at the Pre-construction Conference. 

“Owner’s Representative” - The designated City Project Manager. 

“Owner’s Senior Representative” - The City of Flagstaff’s designated Division/Department Head. 

“Performance Period” - The period of time allotted in the Contract Documents to complete the Work 
comprised within a GMP. The Performance Period shall be stated with each GMP and shown on the Project 
Master Schedule. 

“Payment Request” - The form used by CMAR in requesting progress payments or final payment and which 
shall include such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents and or the Owner. 

“Pre-construction Conference” - A Conference held between Owner and CMAR prior to the commencement 
of any Work, as scheduled by the Owner’s Representative or designee. 

“Product Data” - Illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams, 
and other information furnished by CMAR to illustrate materials or equipment for some portion of the Work. 

“Project” - The Work to be completed in the execution of this Agreement, as amended, and as described in 
the Recitals above and in Exhibit “A” attached. 

“Project Team” - The design phase services team consisting of the Design Professional(s), CMAR, the 
Owner’s Representative, the Owner’s Client Department representatives and other stakeholders who are 
responsible for making decisions regarding the Project. 

“Schedule of Values (SOV)” - A statement furnished by CMAR to the Owner’s Representative for approval, 
reflecting the portions of the GMP allotted for the various parts of the Work and used as the basis for 
evaluating CMAR’s applications for progress payments. 

“Shop Drawings” - All drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specifically prepared for the Work by 
CMAR or a Subcontractor, Sub-Subcontractor, manufacturer, supplier or distributor to illustrate some 
portion of the Work. 

“Site” - Land or premises on which the Project is located. 

“Specifications” - The part(s) of the Contract Documents for the construction phase consisting of written 
technical descriptions of materials, equipment, construction systems, standards and workmanship, as 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 5 
 

applied to the Work, and certain administrative details applicable thereto. 

“Subconsultant” - A person, firm or corporation having an agreement with CMAR to furnish services required 
as its independent professional associate or consultant with respect to the Project. 

“Subcontractor” - An individual or firm having a direct agreement with CMAR or any other individual or firm 
having an agreement with the aforesaid contractors at any tier, who undertakes to perform a part of the 
design phase services or construction phase Work at the Site for which CMAR is responsible. 

“Submittals” - Documents and/or things that may be produced or presented by one party for consideration, 
review, or such other actions as may be required by this Agreement by another party, entity or person. 
Examples of Submittals include, but are not limited to, preliminary or evolving drafts, product data samples, 
etc. 

“Substantial Completion” - The construction services for the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of the Owner’s Representative, as evidenced by a Certificate 
of Substantial Completion, such construction services are sufficiently complete in accordance with the 
Contract Documents, so that the Work (or specified part) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is 
intended; without any outstanding concurrent Work at the site, except as may be required to complete or 
correct Punch List items. If no such certificate is issued, Substantial Completion takes place when the 
construction services Work or a Construction Phase is complete and ready for final payment as evidenced 
by the written recommendation of final payment by the Owner’s Representative. The terms “substantially 
complete” and “substantially completed” as applied to all or part of the construction Work refers to 
Substantial Completion thereof. 

“Supplier” - A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman or vendor having a direct 
agreement with CMAR or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in 
the construction phase Work by CMAR or any Subcontractor. 

“Winter Shutdown” - The period of time typically including December through March during which no Work 
will be performed by any person or entity (including, but not limited to, the CMAR) on the Project and CMAR 
shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project in a safe and workmanlike manner pursuant to 
local, state and federal laws. Although December through March is typically the time frame, the Owner 
reserves the right to initiate and terminate a Winter Shutdown at the Owner’s sole discretion in the event of 
adverse weather conditions. A Winter Shutdown may be declared by the Owner despite delays, for any 
reason, on the Project. 

“Work” - The entire completed construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof, required to 
be furnished during the construction phase. Work includes and is the result of performing or furnishing labor 
and furnishing and incorporating materials, resources and equipment into the construction, and performing 
or furnishing services and documents as required by the Contract Documents for the construction phase. 

Article 2 – CMAR’s Services and Responsibilities      

2.0 CMAR shall furnish any and all labor, materials, equipment, transportation, utilities, services and 
facilities required to perform all Work for the construction of the Project, and to completely and 
totally construct the same and install the material therein for the Owner. All Work shall be performed 
in a good and workmanlike and substantial manner and within the care and skill of a qualified CMAR 
in Flagstaff, Arizona. The Work shall be to the satisfaction of the Owner and strictly pursuant to and 
in conformity with the Project’s Contract Documents. It is not required that the services be 
performed in the sequence in which they are described.   

  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 6 
 

2.1 General Services 

 CMAR’s Representative shall be reasonably available to the Owner and shall have the necessary 
expertise and experience required to supervise the Work. CMAR’s Representative shall 
communicate regularly with the Owner but not less than once a week and shall be vested with the 
authority to act on behalf of CMAR.  CMAR’s Representative may be replaced only with the written 
consent of the Owner. 

2.2 Government Approvals and Permits 

2.2.1 Unless otherwise provided, CMAR shall obtain all applicable and/or necessary permits, approvals 
and licenses required for the prosecution of the Work from any government or quasi-government 
entity having jurisdiction over the Project. CMAR is specifically reminded of the need to obtain the 
applicable and/or necessary environmental permits or file the applicable and/or necessary 
environmental notices. 

2.2.2 Copies of the permits and notices identified in this Agreement must be provided to the Owner's 
Representative prior to starting the permitted activity.  In the case of Fire Department permits, a 
copy of the application for permit shall also be provided to the Owner’s Representative. This 
provision does not constitute an assumption by the Owner of an obligation of any kind for violation 
of said permit or notice requirements. 

2.2.3 Owner shall be responsible for City of Flagstaff review and permit(s) fees for grading and drainage, 
water, sewer, floodplain, and landscaping. Owner shall also pay for utility design fees for permanent 
services.    

2.2.4 CMAR shall be responsible for all other permits and review fees not specifically listed in this 
Agreements   

2.2.5 CMAR shall be responsible for the cost of water meter(s), water and sewer taps, fire lines and taps, 
and all water bills on the project meters until Substantial Completion of the Project.  Arrangements 
for construction water are CMAR‘s responsibility. 

2.3 Pre-construction Conference 

2.3.1 Prior to the commencement of any Work, the Owner’s Representative or designee shall schedule 
and conduct a Preconstruction Conference. 

2.3.1.1 At the Pre-Construction Conference, Owner and CMAR shall document the Opening Physical 
Conditions of the Site as jointly documented by an inspection of the Site by Owner and CMAR at 
the Pre-Construction. 

2.3.2 The purpose of this conference is to establish a working relationship between CMAR, utility firms, 
and various City agencies. The agenda shall include critical elements of the work schedule, 
submittal schedule, cost breakdown of major lump sum items, Payment Requests and processing, 
coordination with the involved utility firms, the level of Project Record Documents required and 
emergency telephone numbers for all representatives involved during construction. 

2.3.3 The Notice to Proceed date shall be concurred with by the parties or set by the Owner at the 
Preconstruction Conference. After the meeting and upon receipt of a signed Agreement and 
delivery of the required bonds and insurance in an Owner approved format, a Notice to Proceed 
letter shall be issued confirming the construction start date, Performance Period and if applicable, 
the Substantial Completion date. If a Substantial Completion date is established the conditions of 
the Substantial Completion shall be listed and/or as set forth in Article 1 herein. Failure by CMAR 
to provide the properly executed bond and insurance forms in a timely manner may delay the 
construction start date; however, it shall not alter the proposed Substantial Completion date nor be 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 7 
 

a basis for any time extension request or other claims. 

2.3.4 CMAR shall provide a Schedule of Values based on the categories used in the buyout of the Work 
but not greater than the approved GMPs and identifying CMAR’s Contingency. The Schedule of 
Values shall subdivide the Work into all items comprising the Work. The Schedule of Values shall 
contain sufficient detail to identify each individual element of the Work and shall relate to the 
approved GMPs Schedule. The Schedule of Values shall be subject to approval by the Owner’s 
representative. 

2.3.5 Minimum attendance by CMAR shall be CMAR’s Representative, who is authorized to execute and 
sign documents on behalf of the firm, the CMAR Senior Representative, and CMAR's safety officer. 

2.4 Control of the Work 

2.4.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents to be the responsibility of the Owner or a 
separate Contractor, CMAR shall provide through itself or Subcontractors the necessary 
supervision, labor, inspection, testing, start-up, material, equipment, machinery, temporary utilities, 
and other temporary facilities to permit CMAR to complete the Work consistent with the Contract 
Documents. 

2.4.2 CMAR shall perform all construction activities efficiently and with the requisite expertise, skill, and 
competence to satisfy the requirements of the Contract Documents.  CMAR shall at all times 
exercise complete and exclusive control over the means, methods, sequences and techniques of 
construction. 

2.4.3 CMAR’s Representative or CMAR’s Senior Representative shall be present at the Sites at all times 
that construction activities are taking place. 

2.4.3.1 All elements of the Work shall be under the direct supervision of a foreman or his designated 
representative on the Sites who shall have the authority to take actions required to properly carry 
out that particular element of the work. 

2.4.3.2 In the event of noncompliance with this Section, the Owner may require CMAR to stop or suspend 
the Work in whole or in part. 

2.4.4 Where the Contract Documents require that a particular product be installed and/or applied by an 
applicator approved by the manufacturer, it is CMAR’s responsibility to ensure the Subcontractor 
employed for such work is approved by the manufacturer. 

2.4.5 Before ordering materials or doing work, CMAR and each Subcontractor shall verify measurements 
at the Site and shall be responsible for the correctness of such measurements.  No extra charge 
or compensation shall be allowed because of differences between actual dimensions and the 
dimensions indicated on the drawings; differences which may be found shall be submitted to the 
Owner for resolution before proceeding with the Work.  

2.4.6 CMAR shall take field measurements and verify field conditions and shall carefully compare such 
field measurements and conditions and other information known to CMAR with the Contract 
Documents before commencing activities. Errors, inconsistencies, or omissions discovered shall 
be reported to the Owner at once. 

2.4.7 CMAR shall establish and maintain all construction grades, lines, levels, and benchmarks, and 
shall be responsible for accuracy and protection of same. This Work shall be performed or 
supervised by a Civil Engineer or Surveyor licensed as such in the State of Arizona. 

2.4.8 Any person employed by CMAR or any Subcontractor who, in the opinion of the Owner, does not 
perform his or her work in a proper, skillful, and safe manner or is intemperate or disorderly shall, at 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 8 
 

the written request of the Owner, be removed from the Work by CMAR or Subcontractor employing 
such person, and shall not be employed again in any portion of Work without the written approval of 
the Owner. CMAR or Subcontractor shall hold the Owner harmless from damages or claims which 
may occur in the enforcement of this Section. 

2.4.9 CMAR assumes responsibility to the Owner for the proper performance of the work of 
Subcontractors and any acts and omissions in connection with such performance.  Nothing in the 
Contract Documents is intended or deemed to create any legal or contractual relationship between 
the Owner and any Subcontractor or Sub-Subcontractor, including but not limited to any third-party 
beneficiary rights. 

2.4.10 CMAR shall coordinate the activities of all Subcontractors. If the Owner performs other work on the 
Project or at the Site with separate contractors under the Owner’s control, CMAR agrees to 
reasonably cooperate and coordinate its activities with those of such separate contractors so that 
the Project can be completed in an orderly and coordinated manner without unreasonable 
disruption. 

2.5 Control of the Work Site 

2.5.1 Throughout all phases of construction, including suspension of Work, CMAR shall keep the Site 
reasonably free from debris, trash and construction wastes to permit CMAR to perform its 
construction services efficiently, safely and without interfering with the use of adjacent land areas. 
Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, or a portion of the Work, CMAR shall remove all debris, 
trash, construction wastes, materials, equipment, machinery and tools arising from the Work or 
applicable portions thereof to permit the Owner to occupy the Project or a portion of the Project for 
its intended use. 

2.5.2 CMAR shall take whatever steps, procedures or means to prevent any dust nuisance due to 
construction operations. The dust control measures shall be maintained at all times to the 
satisfaction of the Owner and in accordance with the requirements of the Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality rules and regulations. 

2.5.3 CMAR shall maintain ADA, ADAAG and ANSI accessibility requirements during construction 
activities in an occupied building or facility. ADA, ADAAG and ANSI accessibility requirements shall 
include, but not be limited to, parking, building access, entrances, exits, restrooms, areas of refuge, 
and emergency exit paths of travel. CMAR shall be responsible for the coordination of all work to 
minimize disruption to building occupants and facilities. 

2.5.4 Only materials and equipment which are to be used directly in the Work shall be brought to and 
stored on the Site by CMAR. When equipment is no longer required for the Work, it shall be 
removed promptly from the Site. Protection of construction materials and equipment stored at the 
Site from weather, theft, damage and all other adversity is solely the responsibility of CMAR. 

2.6 Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples 

2.6.1 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar Submittals are not Contract Documents. The 
purpose of their submittal is to demonstrate, for those portions of the Work for which Submittals are 
required, the way CMAR proposes to conform to the information given and the design concept 
expressed in the Contract Documents. 

2.6.2 CMAR shall review, approve, verify, and submit to the Owner five copies of each Shop Drawing, 
Product Data, Sample, and similar Submittals required by the Contract Documents in accordance 
with the approved GMP schedule as to cause no delay in the Work or in the activities of the Owner 
or of separate contractors. Submittals made by CMAR, which are not required by the Contract 
Documents, may be returned without action. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 9 
 

2.6.3 CMAR shall perform no portion of the Work requiring submittal and review of Shop Drawings, 
Product Data, Samples, or similar Submittals until the respective submittal has been approved by 
the Owner or Owner’s designee. Such Work shall be in accordance with approved Submittals. 

2.6.4 By approving, verifying and submitting Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar 
Submittals, CMAR represents that CMAR has determined and verified materials, field 
measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or shall do so, and has checked and 
coordinated the information contained within such Submittals with the requirements of the Work 
and of the Contract Documents. 

2.6.5 CMAR shall not be relieved of responsibility for deviations from requirements of the Contract 
Documents by the Owner's approval of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar 
Submittals unless CMAR has specifically informed the Owner in writing of such deviation at the 
time of submittal and the Owner has given written approval to the specific deviation. CMAR shall 
not be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, 
or similar Submittals by the Owner’s approval thereof. 

2.6.6 CMAR shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings, Product Data, 
Samples, or similar Submittals, to revisions other than those requested by the Owner on previous 
Submittals. 

2.6.7 Informational Submittals upon which the Owner is not expected to take responsive action may be 
so identified in the Contract Documents. 

2.6.8 When professional certification of performance criteria of materials, systems or equipment is 
required by the Contract Documents, the Owner shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy and 
completeness of such calculations and certifications. 

2.7 Quality Control, Testing and Inspection  

2.7.1 All materials used in the Work shall be new and unused, unless otherwise noted, and shall meet 
all quality requirements of the Contract Documents. 

2.7.2 All construction materials to be used on the Work or incorporated into the Work, equipment, plant, 
tools, appliances or methods to be used in the Work may be subject to the inspection and approval 
or rejection by the Owner. Any material rejected by the Owner shall be removed immediately and 
replaced in an acceptable manner. 

2.7.3 The procedures and methods used to sample and test material shall be determined by the Owner. 
Unless otherwise specified, samples and tests shall be made in accordance with the most recently 
adopted edition of the City of Flagstaff Engineering Division Design and Construction Standards 
and Specifications. 

2.7.4 The Owner shall select a City or Independent Testing Laboratory and shall pay for initial City 
Acceptance Testing. 

2.7.4.1 When the first and/or subsequent tests indicate noncompliance with the Contract Documents, the 
cost associated with that noncompliance and the cost of all tests, except the first test, shall be paid 
for by CMAR. CMAR’s Contingency cannot be utilized for the cost of re-testing. 

2.7.4.2 When the first and/or subsequent tests indicate noncompliance with the Contract Documents, all 
retesting shall be performed by the same testing agency. 

2.7.5 CMAR shall cooperate with the selected testing laboratory and all others responsible for testing 
and inspecting the work and shall provide them access to the Work at all times. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 10 
 

2.7.6 At the option of the Owner, materials may be approved at the source of supply before delivery is 
started. 

2.7.7 Code compliance testing and inspections required by codes or ordinances, or by a plan approval 
authority, and which are made by a legally constituted authority, shall be the responsibility of and 
shall be paid by CMAR, unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents.  

2.7.8 CMAR’s convenience and quality control testing and inspections shall be the sole responsibility of 
CMAR and paid by CMAR.  

2.8 Trade Names and Substitutions 

2.8.1 Unless indicated that no substitutions are permitted, CMAR may request a substitution or 
alternative to Contract Document references to equipment, materials or patented processes by 
manufacturer, trade name, make or catalog number, subject to the following: 

2.8.2 The substitution shall be submitted by CMAR in writing to the Owner. 

2.8.3 CMAR shall certify that the substitution shall perform the functions and achieve the results called 
for by the general design, be similar and of equal substance, and be suited to the same use as that 
specified. 

2.8.4 The submittal shall state any required changes in the Contract Documents to adapt the design to 
the proposed substitution. 

2.8.5 The submittal shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs and credits that will result directly and 
indirectly from the acceptance of such substitution, including cost of design, license fees, royalties, 
and testing.  Also, the submittal shall include any adjustment in the Contract Time created by the 
substitution.   

2.8.6 CMAR if requested by the Owner shall submit Samples or any additional information that may be 
necessary to evaluate the acceptability of the substitution. 

2.8.7 The Owner shall make the final decision and shall notify CMAR in writing as to whether the 
substitution has been accepted or rejected. 

2.8.8 If the Owner does not respond in a timely manner, CMAR shall continue to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents and the substitution shall be considered rejected. 

2.9 Project Record Documents 

2.9.1 During the construction period, CMAR shall maintain at the Site a set of blueline or blackline prints 
of the Construction Document drawings and shop drawings for Project Record Document purposes. 

2.9.1.1 CMAR shall mark these drawings to indicate the actual installation where the installation varies 
appreciably from the original Construction Documents. CMAR shall give particular attention to 
information on concealed elements, which would be difficult to identify or measure and record later. 
Items required to be marked include but are not limited to: 

2.9.1.1.1 Dimensional changes to the drawings 

2.9.1.1.2 Revisions to details shown on drawings 

2.9.1.1.3 Locations and depths of underground utilities 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 11 
 

2.9.1.1.4 Revisions to routing of piping and conduits 

2.9.1.1.5 Actual equipment locations 

2.9.1.1.6 Locations of concealed internal utilities 

2.9.1.1.7 Changes made by Change Order, Change Order Directive, Field Order, Record of Field 
Change, ASI’s and RFI’s 

2.9.1.1.8 Addenda and other details not on original Agreement Drawings 

2.9.1.2 CMAR shall mark completely and accurately Project Record Drawing prints of Construction 
Documents or Shop Drawings, whichever is the most capable of indicating the actual physical 
condition.  Where Shop Drawings are marked, show cross-reference on the Construction 
Documents location. 

2.9.1.3 CMAR shall mark Project Record Drawings sets with red erasable colored pencil. 

2.9.1.4 CMAR shall note RFI Numbers, ASI Numbers and Change Order numbers, etc., as required to 
identify the source of the change to the Construction Documents. 

2.9.1.5 CMAR shall, as a condition of Substantial Completion, submit Project Record Drawing prints and 
Shop Drawings to the Owner or its representative for review and comment. 

2.9.2 Upon receipt of the reviewed Project Record Drawings from the Owner, CMAR shall correct any 
deficiencies and/or omissions to the drawings and prepare the following for submission to the 
Owner within 14 Days: 

2.9.2.1 CMAR shall provide a complete set of electronic Project Record Drawings prepared in AutoCAD 
format compatible with City of Flagstaff CADD technology. The Design Professional shall provide 
files of the original Construction Documents to CMAR for the use of preparing these final Project 
Record Drawings or CMAR may contract with the Design Professional to revise and update the 
electronic drawing files. Each drawing shall be clearly marked with “As-Built Document.”   

2.9.2.2 CMAR shall provide a complete set of digital final AutoCAD drawings. 

2.9.2.3 CMAR shall provide the original copy of the Project Record Drawings (redline mark-ups). 

2.10 Project Safety 

2.10.1 CMAR recognizes the importance of performing the Work in a safe manner so as to prevent 
damage, injury or loss to (i) all individuals at the Site, whether working or visiting, (ii) the Work, 
including materials and equipment incorporated into the Work or stored on-Site or off-Site, and (iii) 
all other property at the Site or adjacent thereto. 

2.10.2 CMAR assumes responsibility for implementing and monitoring all safety precautions and 
programs related to the performance of the Work. 

2.10.3 CMAR shall, prior to commencing construction, designate a Safety Representative with the 
necessary qualifications and experience to supervise the implementation and monitoring of all 
safety precautions and programs related to the Work.  Unless otherwise required by the Contract 
Documents, CMAR’s Safety Representative shall be an individual stationed at the Site who may 
have other responsibilities on the Project in addition to safety. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 12 
 

2.10.4 The Safety Representative shall make routine daily inspections of the Site and shall hold weekly 
safety meetings with CMAR’s personnel, Subcontractors and others as applicable. 

2.10.5 CMAR and Subcontractors shall comply with all Legal Requirements relating to safety, as well as 
any City-specific safety requirements set forth in the Contract Documents, provided that such City-
specific requirements do not violate any applicable Legal Requirement.   

2.10.6 CMAR shall immediately report in writing any safety-related injury, loss, damage or accident arising 
from the Work to Owner’s Representative and, to the extent mandated by Legal Requirements, to 
all government or quasi-government authorities having jurisdiction over safety-related matters 
involving the Project or the Work. 

2.10.7 CMAR’s responsibility for safety under this Section is not intended in any way to relieve 
Subcontractors and Sub-Subcontractors of their own contractual and legal obligations and 
responsibility for (i) complying with all Legal Requirements, including those related to health and 
safety matters, and (ii) taking all necessary measures to implement and monitor all safety 
precautions and programs to guard against injury, losses, damages or accidents resulting from 
their performance of the Work. 

2.11 Warranty 

2.11.1 CMAR warrants to Owner that the construction, including all materials and equipment furnished as 
part of the construction, shall be new unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, of 
good quality, in conformance with the Contract Documents and free of defects in materials and 
workmanship.    

2.11.2 CMAR’s warranty obligation shall be for one (1) year, except for such greater period as may be 
required by the technical specifications. 

2.11.3 Nothing in this warranty is intended to limit any manufacturer’s warranty which provides The Owner 
with greater warranty rights than set forth in this Section or the Contract Documents.  CMAR shall 
provide Owner with all manufacturers’ warranties upon Substantial Completion. 

2.11.4 Nothing in this warranty is intended to limit any other remedy at law that may be available to the 
Owner. 

2.12 Correction of Defective Work 

2.12.1 CMAR agrees to correct any Work that is found to not be in conformance with the Contract 
Documents, including that part of the Work subject to this Agreement, within a period of one (1) 
year from the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or any portion of the Work, or within such 
longer period to the extent required by the Contract Documents, or as may be available to the 
Owner by law.  A progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the 
Owner, shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

2.12.2 During the performance of the Work, CMAR shall take meaningful steps to commence correction 
of such nonconforming Work as notified by the Owner or as discovered by CMAR. This includes 
the correction, removal or replacement of the nonconforming Work and any damage caused to 
other parts of the Work affected by the nonconforming Work. If CMAR fails to commence the 
necessary steps during the performance of the Work, Owner, in addition to any other remedies 
provided under the Contract Documents, may provide CMAR with written notice that Owner shall 
commence correction of such nonconforming Work with its own forces.   

2.12.3 CMAR shall, take meaningful steps to commence correction of nonconforming Work subject to this 
Agreement, within seven (7) days of receipt of written notice from Owner. This includes the 
correction, removal or replacement of the nonconforming Work and any damage caused to other 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 13 
 

parts of the Work affected by the nonconforming Work. If CMAR fails to commence the necessary 
steps within such seven-day period, Owner, in addition to any other remedies provided under the 
Contract Documents, may provide CMAR with written notice that Owner shall commence correction 
of such nonconforming Work with its own forces.   

2.12.4 If Owner does perform such corrective Work, CMAR shall be responsible for all reasonable costs 
incurred by Owner in performing such correction.   

2.12.5  For nonconforming Work that creates an emergency requiring an immediate response, CMAR shall 
respond and initiate corrections within twenty-four hours. 

2.12.6 The one-year period identified in this Agreement applies only to CMAR’s obligation to correct 
nonconforming Work relative to the warranty set forth in that section and is not intended to 
constitute a period of limitations for any other rights or remedies the Owner may have regarding 
CMAR’s other obligations under the Contract Documents or as may be allowed by law. 

Article 3 - The Owner’s Services and Responsibilities      

3.1 Duty to Cooperate.   

3.1.1 Owner shall, throughout the performance of the Work, cooperate with CMAR and perform its 
responsibilities, obligations and services in a timely manner to facilitate CMAR’s timely and efficient 
performance of the Work and so as not to delay or interfere with CMAR’s performance of its 
obligations under the Contract Documents. 

3.1.2 Owner shall furnish at CMAR’s request, at no cost to CMAR, a CADD file of the Construction 
Documents in AutoCAD format compatible with the City of Flagstaff CADD technology. 

3.2 The Owner’s Representative  

3.2.1 Owner’s Representative shall be responsible for providing Owner supplied information and 
approvals in a timely manner to permit CMAR to fulfill its obligations under the Contract Documents.  

3.2.2 Owner’s Representative shall also provide CMAR with prompt notice if Owner’s Representative 
observes any failure on the part of CMAR to fulfill its contractual obligations, including any default 
or defect in the project or non-conformance with the drawings and specifications. 

3.2.3 The Owner may utilize field inspectors to assist the Owner’s Representative during construction in 
observing performance of CMAR. The inspector is for the purpose of assisting the Owner’s 
Representative and should not be confused with an inspector with a City regulatory department. 

3.2.3.1 The field inspector shall be authorized to inspect all Work and materials furnished.  Such inspection 
may extend to all or part of the Work and to the preparation, fabrication or manufacture of the 
materials to be used. 

3.2.3.2 The field inspector shall not be authorized to issue instructions contrary to the Construction 
Documents or to act as foreman for CMAR. 

3.2.3.3 The field inspector shall have the authority to reject work or materials until any questions at issue 
can be decided by the Owner’s Representative. 

3.2.3.4 The furnishing of such services for the Owner shall not make the Owner responsible for or give the 
Owner control over construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures or for 
safety precautions or programs or responsibility for CMAR’s failure to perform the work in 
accordance with Contract Documents.  

mailto:CM@Risk


 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 14 
 

3.3 Design Professional Services 

3.3.1 The Owner may contract separately with one or more Design Professional(s) to provide 
construction administration of the Project. The Design Professional(s)’ agreement as well as other 
firms hired by the Owner shall be available for review by CMAR. CMAR shall not have any right 
however, to limit or restrict any contract provisions and/or modifications that are mutually 
acceptable to the Owner and Design Professional(s). 

3.3.2 The Owner may contract with the Design Professional(s) to provide some or all of the following 
services during the performance of the Work.   

3.3.2.1 Provide oversight of the Work. The Owner and CMAR shall endeavor to communicate through the 
Design Professional. Communications by and with the Design Professional(s)’ consultants shall be 
through the Design Professional(s).  

3.3.2.2 Conduct Site visits at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction to become generally familiar 
with the progress and quality of the completed Work and to determine in general if the Work is 
being performed in accordance with the Contract Documents. The Design Professional(s) shall 
keep the Owner informed of progress of the Work and any noted defects and deficiencies of the 
Work and shall endeavor to guard the Owner against defects and deficiencies in the Work. The 
Design Professional(s) may have authority to reject construction, which does not conform to the 
Construction Documents and to require additional inspection or testing of the construction in 
accordance with this Agreement. 

3.3.2.3 Review and recommend approval of Payment Requests.  

3.3.2.4 Review and approve or take other appropriate action upon CMAR's Submittals such as Shop 
Drawings, Product Data and Samples in accordance with this Agreement. 

3.3.2.5 Interpret and decide matters concerning performance under and requirements of the Contract 
Documents on written request of either the Owner or CMAR. The Design Professional(s)’ response 
to such requests shall be made with reasonable promptness and within any time limits agreed 
upon.  

3.3.2.6 Prepare Change Orders and may authorize minor changes in the Work as defined in this 
Agreement.   

3.3.2.7 Conduct inspections to determine Substantial Completion and Final Acceptance.  

3.3.2.8 Receive and forward to the Owner for the Owner's review and records written warranties and 
related documents required by the Contract Documents and assembled by CMAR.  

3.4 Owner’s Separate Contractors 

3.4.1 Owner is responsible for all work performed on the Project or at the Site by separate contractors 
under Owner’s control.  Owner shall contractually require its separate contractors to cooperate with 
and coordinate their activities so as not to interfere with CMAR in order to enable CMAR to timely 
complete the Work consistent with the Contract Documents.  

3.5 Permit Review and Inspections 

3.5.1 If requested by CMAR, the Owner’s Representative shall provide assistance and guidance in 
obtaining necessary reviews, permits and inspections, however, the responsibility for obtaining the 
necessary reviews, permits and inspections remains with CMAR.  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 15 
 

3.5.2 Regulating agencies of the Owner, such as Community Development, Fire, Planning, Building 
Inspection, Environmental Services, and Engineering Departments, enforce Legal Requirements. 
These enforcement activities are not subject to the responsibilities of the Owner under this 
Agreement.   

Article 4 - Contract Time         

4.0 Contract Time 

4.0.1 Contract Time shall start with the NTP with construction services and shall end with Substantial 
Completion.   

4.0.2 Where there is more than one GMP, each GMP shall establish a separate NTP date and a 
Performance Period.  The Performance Periods for individual GMPs may be sequential or 
concurrent as established in the individual Notices to Proceed.  The Performance Period for the 
GMPs under this Agreement shall be three hundred sixty-five (365) calendar days starting with the 
NTP.  

4.0.3 CMAR agrees that it shall commence timely performance of the Work and shall achieve substantial 
completion within the Performance Periods and Contract Time. 

4.0.4 All of the times set forth in this Article 4 shall be subject to adjustment in accordance with other 
provisions of this Agreement. 

4.0.5 Time is of the essence, for time matters and the rest of this Agreement. Pursuant to this Agreement, 
if, in the sole discretion of the Capital Improvements Division of the City of Flagstaff, the Project is 
not at Substantial Completion prior to the advent of adverse weather conditions, a Winter Shutdown 
shall occur during which no Work will be performed by any person or entity (including but not limited 
to the CMAR) on the Project and CMAR shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project 
in a safe and workmanlike manner pursuant to local, state and federal laws. Although December 
through March is typically the time frame, the Owner reserves the right to initiate and terminate a 
Winter Shutdown at the Owner’s sole discretion in the event of adverse weather conditions. A 
Winter Shutdown may be declared by the Owner despite delays, for any reason, on the Project. 

4.1 Substantial Completion 

4.1.1 Substantial Completion shall be for the entire Project unless a partial Substantial Completion is 
identified in the approved GMP schedule and stated in the Notice to Proceed letter or as may be 
mutually agreed by the parties in writing. Substantial Completion shall be in accordance with the 
definition in this Agreement and with the criteria set forth in the NTP. 

4.1.2 Prior to notifying the Owner, CMAR shall inspect the Work and prepare and submit to the Owner a 
comprehensive list of items to be completed or corrected. CMAR shall proceed promptly to 
complete and correct items on the list.  Failure to include an item on such list does not alter the 
responsibility of CMAR to complete all Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

4.1.3 CMAR shall notify Owner when it believes the Work, or to the extent permitted in the Contract 
Documents, a portion of the Work, is substantially complete.  

4.1.4 Within five (5) days of Owner’s receipt of CMAR’s notice, the Owner and CMAR shall jointly inspect 
such Work to verify that it is substantially complete in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents.   

4.1.5 If such Work is substantially complete, Owner shall prepare and issue a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion that shall set forth (i) the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or portion thereof, 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 16 
 

(ii) the remaining items of Work that have to be completed within thirty (30) calendar days before 
Final Acceptance, (iii) provisions (to the extent not already provided in the Contract Documents) 
establishing Owner’s and CMAR’s responsibility for the Project’s security, maintenance, utilities 
and insurance pending Final Acceptance and (iv) an acknowledgment that warranties commence 
to run on the date of Substantial Completion, except as may otherwise be noted in the Certificate 
of Substantial Completion.   

4.1.6 Owner, at its option, may use a portion of the Work which has been determined to be substantially 
complete, provided, however, that (i) a Certificate of Substantial Completion has been issued for 
the portion of Work addressing the items in this Agreement, (ii) CMAR and Owner have obtained 
the consent of their sureties and insurers, and to the extent applicable, the appropriate government 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Project, and (iii) Owner and CMAR agree that Owner’s use 
or occupancy shall not interfere with CMAR’s completion of the remaining Work. 

4.2 Final Completion  

4.2.1 Upon receipt of written notice that the Work or identified portions of the Work is ready for final 
inspection and acceptance, Owner and CMAR shall jointly inspect to verify that the remaining items 
of Work have been completed. The Owner shall issue a Final Completion Letter and payment 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

4.3 Liquidated Damages 

4.3.1 CMAR understands that if Substantial Completion is not attained within the Contract Time as 
adjusted, the Owner shall suffer damages, which are difficult to determine and accurately specify. 
CMAR agrees that if Substantial Completion is not attained within the Contract Time as adjusted, 
CMAR shall pay the Owner $570.00 (to be determined on an agreement-by-agreement basis) per 
day as liquidated damages for each Day that Substantial Completion extends beyond the date 
determined by the Contract Time as adjusted and further agrees that such amount is reasonable 
under the circumstances.  

4.3.2 CMAR understands that if Final Completion is not attained within the Contract Time as adjusted, 
the Owner shall suffer damages, which are difficult to determine and accurately specify.  CMAR 
agrees that if Final Completion is not attained within the Contract Time as adjusted, CMAR shall 
pay the Owner $570.00 (to be determined on an agreement-by-agreement basis) per day as 
liquidated damages for each Day that Final Completion extends beyond the date determined by 
the Contract Time as adjusted and further agrees that such amount is reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

4.4 Project Master Schedule 

4.4.1 The Project Master Schedule approved as part of a GMP shall be updated and maintained 
throughout the Work by CMAR.   

4.4.2 The Project Master Schedule shall be revised by CMAR as required by conditions and progress of 
the Work, but such revisions shall not relieve CMAR of its obligations to complete the Work within 
the Contract Time, as such dates may be adjusted in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

4.4.3 Updated Project Master Schedules shall be submitted monthly by CMAR to the Owner as part of 
the Payment Request. 

4.4.3.1 CMAR shall provide Owner with a monthly status report with each Project Master Schedule 
detailing the progress of the Work, including: (i) if the Work is proceeding according to schedule, 
(ii) any discrepancies, conflicts, or ambiguities found to exist in the Contract Documents that require 
resolution, and (iii) other items that require resolution so as not to jeopardize ability to complete the 
Work as presented in the GMP and within the Contract Time. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 17 
 

4.4.3.2 With each schedule submittal CMAR shall include a transmittal letter including the following: 

4.4.3.2.1 Description of problem tasks (referenced to field instructions, requests for information (“RFI’s”), 
as appropriate. 

4.4.3.2.2 Current and anticipated delays including: 
 

4.4.3.2.2.1 Cause of the delay 

4.4.3.2.2.2 Corrective action and schedule adjustments to correct the delay 

4.4.3.2.2.3 Known or potential impact of the delay on other activities, milestones, and/or the date of 
Substantial Completion 

4.4.3.2.3 Changes in construction sequence 

4.4.3.2.4 Pending items and status thereof including but not limited to: 

4.4.3.2.4.1 Time Extension requests 

4.4.3.2.4.2 Other items 

4.4.3.2.5 Substantial Completion date status: 

4.4.3.2.5.1 If ahead of schedule, the number of calendar days ahead 

4.4.3.2.5.2 If behind schedule, the number of calendar days behind 

4.4.3.2.5.3 Other project or scheduling concerns 

4.4.4 Owner’s review of and response to the Project Master Schedule is only for general conformance 
with the scheduling requirements of the Contract Documents. The review shall not relieve CMAR 
from compliance with the requirements of the Contract Documents or be construed as relieving 
CMAR of its complete and exclusive control over the means, methods, sequences and techniques 
for executing the Work. 

4.4.5 The Project Master Schedule shall include a CPM diagram schedule that shall show the sequence 
of activities, the interdependence of each activity and indicate the Critical Path. 

4.4.5.1 The CPM diagram schedule shall be in Days and indicate duration, earliest and latest start and 
finish dates for all activities, and total Float times for all activities except critical activities. The CPM 
diagram schedule shall be presented in a time scaled graphical format for the Project as a whole. 

4.4.5.2 The CPM diagram schedule shall indicate all relationships between activities. 

4.4.5.3 The activities making up the schedule shall be in sufficient detail to assure that adequate planning 
has been done for proper execution of the Work and such that it provides an appropriate basis for 
monitoring and evaluating the progress of the Work. 

4.4.5.4 The CPM diagram schedule shall be based upon activities, which would coincide with the Schedule 
of Values. 

4.4.5.5 The CPM diagram schedule shall show all Submittals associated with each work activity and the 
review time for each submittal. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 18 
 

4.4.5.6 The CPM diagram schedule shall show milestones, including milestones for Owner-furnished 
information, and shall include activities for Owner-furnished equipment and furniture when those 
activities are interrelated with CMAR activities. 

4.4.5.7 The CPM diagram schedule shall include a critical path activity that reflects anticipated weather 
delay during the performance of the Agreement. The duration shall reflect the average climatic 
range and usual industrial conditions prevailing in the locality of the Site.  Weather data shall be 
based on the information set forth on the City of Flagstaff’s Table of “Monthly Anticipated Adverse 
Weather Calendar Days” and the explanatory paragraphs attached thereto.  

4.4.6 The Project Master Schedule shall consider the Owner’s and the tenants’ occupancy requirements 
showing portions of the Project having occupancy priority, and Contract Time. 

4.4.7 Float time shall be as prescribed below: 

4.4.7.1 The total Float within the overall schedule, is not for the exclusive use of either the Owner or CMAR 
but is jointly owned by both and is a resource available to and shared by both parties as needed to 
meet Agreement milestones and the Project completion date. 

4.4.7.2 CMAR shall not sequester shared Float through such strategies as extending activity duration 
estimates to consume available Float, using preferential logic, or using extensive crew/resource 
sequencing, etc.  Since Float time within the schedule is jointly owned, no time extensions shall be 
granted nor delay damages paid until a delay occurs which extends the Work beyond the 
Substantial Completion date and then only if any such extensions or damages are shown to be 
justified under the Contract Documents. 

4.4.7.3 Since Float time within the schedule is jointly owned, it is acknowledged that Owner-caused delays 
on the Project may be offset by Owner-caused time savings (i.e., critical path Submittals returned 
in less time than allowed by the Agreement, approval of substitution requests and credit changes 
which result in savings of time to CMAR, etc.). In such an event, CMAR shall not be entitled to 
receive a time extension or delay damages until all Owner-caused time savings are exceeded, and 
the Substantial Completion date is also exceeded. 

Article 5- Contract Price         

5.0 General 

5.0.1 CMAR agrees at his own cost and expense, to completely construct and install all Work and 
materials as called for by this Agreement, free and clear of all claims, liens and charges whatsoever, 
in the manner and under the conditions specified in the Contract Documents, within the time or 
times stated in the approved GMP. 

5.1 Contract Price 

5.1.1 The Contract Price shall be as approved in the Guaranteed Maximum Price Proposal attached as 
Exhibit B and an amount of $6,376,102.20 with an additional $0 allowed for Owner’s Contingency 
for a total contract price of $6,376,102.20. 

5.1.2 The Cost of the Work is actual costs and is a not-to-exceed reimbursable amount. 

5.1.3 The General Conditions Costs will be included in the GMP as a not to exceed amount and paid for 
on actual costs based on submitted and approved invoices.  The Construction Fee will be paid as 
a firm lump sum.  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 19 
 

5.1.4 Taxes are deemed to include all sales, use consumer and other taxes, which are legally enacted 
when negotiations of the GMP were concluded, whether or not yet effective, or merely scheduled 
to go into effect. Taxes are actual costs and are a not-to-exceed reimbursable amount. 

5.2 Guaranteed Maximum Price 

5.2.1 The GMP is composed of the maximum Cost of the Work; the Construction Fee; General Conditions 
Costs; taxes; and CMAR’s contingency all of which are not-to-exceed cost reimbursable or lump 
sum amounts. CMAR is at risk to cover any additional Project costs. If the Cost of Work amount, 
set forth in the GMP, is in excess of the actual Cost of Work and/or CMAR’s Contingency, said 
amount by which the Cost of Work set forth in the GMP is in excess of the actual Cost of Work 
and/or CMAR’s Contingency, shall revert to the Owner.  

5.2.2 The GMP is subject to adjustments made in accordance with this Agreement. Where the Work is 
conducted in phases, the Contractor shall submit GMP Amendments for each phase. Each GMP 
Amendment shall be subsequently adopted by the City Council. Upon Final Completion of each 
GMP phase, associated bonds may be released. 

5.2.2.1  GMP Amendments will contain a separate project duration from the initial Agreement 
and any previous GMP amendments. Each GMP Amendment will be required to have 
a separate project completion date.  

5.2.2.2 The requirements of a GMP submittal have been described in the Design Phase 
Services Agreement, but are more fully detailed in Exhibit B to this Construction Phase 
Services Agreement. The final GMP will be attached as Exhibit B. 

5.2.3 GMP Amendments are cumulative except for CMAR’s Contingency. The amount of CMAR’s 
Contingency for each GMP shall be negotiated separately. 

5.2.4 If the GMP requires an adjustment due to changes in the scope of the Work the cost of such 
changes is determined subject to this Agreement. The markups that may be allowed on such 
changes shall be no greater than the markups delineated in the approved GMP. 

5.3 Contingencies 

5.3.1 CMAR’s Contingency is an amount CMAR may use at its sole discretion for, an increase in the 
Cost of Work, and may use for increases in General Conditions Costs with written approval of the 
Owner. CMAR’s Contingency is assumed to be a direct Project cost and all applicable markups 
shall be applied at the time of GMP submission.  

5.3.2 When CMAR utilizes CMAR’s Contingency funds, CMAR shall make the appropriate changes to 
the Schedule of Values with the next regular progress payment request. CMAR shall deduct the 
amount of CMAR’s Contingency funds used from CMAR’s Contingency line item and add the same 
amount to the line item on the Schedule of Values where the funds were used. If CMAR’s 
contingency funds are used for a new line item that was not given with the original Schedule of 
Values, these shall be so indicated. 

5.3.3 Owner’s Contingency are funds to be used at the sole discretion of the Owner to cover any 
increases in Project costs that result from Owner directed changes or unforeseen Site conditions.  
Owner’s Contingency shall be added to the GMP amount provided by CMAR, the sum of which 
shall be the full Contract Price for construction. At the time that Owner’s Contingency is used the 
appropriate markups shall be applied. 

  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 20 
 

5.4 Open Book  

5.4.1 CMAR shall submit to the Owner upon request all payrolls, reports, estimates, records and any 
other data concerning the Work performed or to be performed or concerning materials supplied or 
to be supplied, as well as Subcontractor or Consultant payment applications or invoices and such 
Subcontractor's or Consultant progress payment checks. The requirements of this Section shall be 
included in all Agreements between CMAR and its Subcontractors and Consultants. The Owner 
may exercise its rights under this Agreement as often as reasonably necessary in the Owner's sole 
judgment to assure the Owner has a complete and accurate understanding of all Project costs.  

5.4.2 Upon Project closeout and immediately prior to the release of final payment, the CMAR shall 
provide to the Owner a Final Cost Report detailing all Project costs for each division of work with 
supporting documentation for materials, labor, equipment and other appurtenant items.   

Article 6 - Changes to the Contract Price and Time       

6.0 Delays to the Work  

6.0.1 If CMAR is delayed in the performance of the Work that shall cause a change in the date of 
Substantial Completion due to acts, omissions, conditions, events, or circumstances beyond its 
control and due to no fault of its own, or, those for whom CMAR is responsible, the Contract Times 
for performance shall be reasonably extended by Change Order. However, the Owner and the 
CMAR must agree on the determination of whether acts, omissions, conditions, events, or 
circumstances are actually beyond the CMARs control and/or whether they are due to no fault of 
the CMAR, or those for whom CMAR is responsible; if the Owner and the CMAR do not agree, then 
an independent third party, selected by both parties, shall make the determination of whether acts, 
omissions, conditions, events, or circumstances are actually beyond the CMARs control and/or 
whether they are due to no fault of the CMAR, or those for whom CMAR is responsible. 

6.0.2 CMAR shall request an increase in the Contract Time by written notice including an estimate of 
probable effect of delay on progress of the Work within three (3) days of the occurrence of the 
delay.  In the case of a continuing delay only one request is necessary.   

6.0.3 By way of example, events that shall entitle CMAR to an extension of the Contract Time include 
acts or omissions of Owner or anyone under Owner’s control (including separate Contractors), 
changes in the Work, Differing Site Conditions, Hazardous Conditions, delays by regulating 
agencies, wars, floods, labor disputes, unusual delay in transportation, epidemics abroad, 
earthquakes, adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, and other acts of God.  

6.0.4 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a request for additional Contract Time, such 
requests shall be documented by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for 
the period of time and could not have been reasonably anticipated, and that weather conditions 
had an adverse effect on the scheduled Substantial Completion. All terms, conditions, and 
definitions necessary for the application of this paragraph shall be as set forth on the City of 
Flagstaff’s Table of “Monthly Anticipated Adverse Weather Calendar Days” and the explanatory 
paragraphs attached thereto. 

6.0.5 It is understood, however, that permitting CMAR to proceed to complete any Work, or any part of 
the Work, after the date to which the time of completion may have been extended, shall in no way 
act as a waiver on the part of the Owner of any of its legal rights herein.   

6.0.6 In addition to CMAR’s right to a time extension for those events set forth in this Agreement, CMAR 
shall also be entitled to an appropriate adjustment of the Contract Price provided, however, that 
the Contract Price shall not be adjusted for those events set forth in this Section that are beyond 
the control of both CMAR and Owner, including the events of war, floods, labor disputes, 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 21 
 

earthquakes, epidemics, adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, and other acts of 
God and shall not be adjusted absent a showing of actual damage.  

6.1 Differing Site Conditions 

6.1.1 If CMAR encounters a Differing Site Condition, CMAR shall be entitled to an adjustment in the 
Contract Price and/or Contract Times to the extent CMAR’s cost and/or time of performance are 
actually adversely impacted by the Differing Site Condition. 

6.1.2 Upon encountering a Differing Site Condition, CMAR shall provide prompt written notice to Owner 
of such condition, which notice shall not be later than seven (7) days after such condition has been 
encountered. CMAR shall, to the extent reasonably possible, provide such notice before the 
Differing Site Condition has been substantially disturbed or altered.  

6.2 Errors, Discrepancies and Omissions   

6.2.1 If CMAR observes errors, discrepancies or omissions in the Contract Documents, CMAR shall 
promptly notify the Design Professional and request clarification.   

6.2.2 If CMAR proceeds with the Work affected by such errors, discrepancies, or omissions, without 
receiving such clarifications, CMAR does so at its own risk. Adjustments involving such circumstances 
made by CMAR prior to clarification by the Design Professional shall be at CMAR’s risk.   

6.3 The Owner Requested Change in Work 

6.3.1 The Owner reserves the right to make, at any time during the progress of the Work, such alterations 
as may be found necessary or in the Owner’s best interest.  

6.3.2 Such alterations and changes shall not invalidate this Agreement nor release the surety and CMAR 
agrees to perform the Work as altered, the same as if it has been a part of the original Contract 
Documents. 

6.3.3 The Owner shall request a proposal for a change in Work from CMAR, and an adjustment in the 
Contract Price and/or Contract Times shall be made based on a mutual agreed upon cost and time. 

6.4 Legal Requirements  

6.4.1 The Contract Price and/or Contract Times shall be adjusted to compensate CMAR for the effects 
of any changes in the Legal Requirements enacted after the date of their Agreement or the date of 
the GMP, affecting the performance of the Work 

6.5  Change Directives and Change Orders 

6.5.1 Owner and CMAR shall negotiate in good faith and as expeditiously as possible the appropriate 
adjustments for a Change Directive if any adjustments are appropriate. Upon reaching an 
agreement, the parties shall prepare and execute an appropriate Change Order reflecting the terms 
of the adjustment. 

6.5.2 All changes in Work authorized by Change Directives and/or Change Orders shall be performed 
under the conditions of the Contract Documents. 

6.6 Minor Changes in the Work  

6.6.1 The Owner has authority to order minor changes in Work that do not materially and adversely affect 
the Work, including the design, quality, performance, and workmanship required by the Contract 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 22 
 

Documents. Such changes shall be affected by written order and shall be binding on the Owner and 
CMAR. CMAR shall carry out such written orders promptly. 

6.6.2 CMAR may make minor changes in Work, provided, however that CMAR shall promptly inform 
Owner, in writing, of any such changes and record such changes, if appropriate, on the Project 
Record Documents maintained by CMAR. 

6.6.3 Minor changes in Work shall not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price and/or Contract Times. 

6.7 Contract Price Adjustments 

6.7.1 The increase or decrease in Contract Price resulting from a change in the Work shall be determined 
by one or more of the following methods: 

6.7.1.1 Unit prices set forth in this Agreement or as subsequently agreed to between the parties; 

6.7.1.2 A mutually accepted, lump sum, properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating data 
to permit evaluation by Owner; and 

6.7.1.3 Costs, fees and any other markups.  

6.7.2 The markups that shall be allowed on such changes shall be no greater than the markups 
delineated in the approved GMP as shown on Exhibit B. 

6.7.3 If an increase or decrease cannot be agreed to as set forth in this Agreement and Owner issues a 
Change Directive, the cost of the change of the Work shall be determined by the reasonable 
expense and savings in the performance of the Work resulting from the change, including a 
reasonable overhead and profit, as may be set forth in their Agreement. CMAR shall maintain a 
documented, itemized accounting evidencing the expenses and savings associated with such 
changes. 

6.7.4 If unit prices are set forth in the Contract Documents or are subsequently agreed to by the parties, 
but application of such unit prices shall cause substantial inequity to Owner or CMAR because of 
differences in the character or quantity of such unit items as originally contemplated, such unit 
prices shall be equitably adjusted. 

6.7.5 If Owner and CMAR disagree upon whether CMAR is entitled to be paid for any services required 
by Owner, or if there are any other disagreements over the scope of Work or proposed changes to 
the Work, Owner and CMAR shall resolve the disagreement pursuant this Agreement.  

6.7.5.1 As part of the negotiation process, CMAR shall furnish Owner with a good faith estimate of the 
costs to perform the disputed services in accordance with Owner's interpretations.   

6.7.5.2 If the parties are unable to agree and Owner expects CMAR to perform the services in accordance 
with Owner's interpretations, CMAR shall proceed to perform the disputed services, conditioned 
upon Owner issuing a written order to CMAR (i) directing CMAR to proceed and (ii) specifying 
Owner's interpretation of the services that are to be performed.  

6.8 Emergencies 

6.8.1 In any emergency affecting the safety of persons and/or property, CMAR shall act, at its discretion, 
to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss.  Any change in the Contract Price and/or Contract 
Time resulting from emergency work under this Section shall be determined as provided in this 
Article. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 23 
 

6.9 Force Majeure 

6.9.1 The parties acknowledge that there may be events that occur during the term of this Contract that 
are beyond the control of both the Owner and the CMAR, including events of war, floods, labor, 
disputes, earthquakes, epidemics, pandemics, adverse weather conditions not reasonably 
anticipated, forest fires, and other acts of God.  These events may result in temporary delay or 
permanent shut down of the work that is the subject of this Contract. This may be caused by such 
things as stay-at-home orders, loss of labor force, supply chain delays, and other impediments to 
timely delivery of the Contract.   

6.9.2 The parties agree that there will be no claims arising from a temporary delay or permanent shut 
down caused by the events described above and that the Owner will pay no additional costs 
incurred as a result of such events. 

6.9.3 The parties agree to act in good faith to extend the Contract completion date without any penalty 
to the CMAR and that the extension will be in an amount of time equal to any temporary delay. This 
term supersedes all other terms regarding temporary delay, permanent shut down, or increased 
costs. 

Article 7- Procedure for Payment         

7.0 General 

7.0.1 For and in consideration of the faithful performance of the Work herein embraced as set forth in the 
Contract Documents, which are a part hereof and in accordance with the directions of the Owner 
and to the Owner’s satisfaction, the Owner agrees to pay CMAR the actual Cost of the Work and 
any applicable General Conditions Costs including, insurance and bonding, taxes and CMAR’s 
Construction Fee, but no more than the GMP as adjusted by any change orders.  Payment for the 
specific Work under this Agreement shall be made in accordance with payment provisions detailed 
below. 

7.1 GMP Payment Request 

7.1.1 At the pre-construction conference prescribed in this Agreement, CMAR shall submit for Owner’s 
review and approval a Schedule of Values. The Schedule of Values shall serve as the basis for 
monthly progress payments made to CMAR throughout the Work. 

7.1.2 At least five (5) working days prior to the date established for a Payment Request, CMAR shall 
submit an updated Project Master Schedule and meet with the Owner’s Representative to review 
the progress of the Work as it shall be reflected on the Payment Request. 

7.1.3 The Payment Request shall constitute CMAR’s representation that the Work has been performed 
consistent with the Contract Documents, has progressed to the point indicated in the Payment 
Request, and that title to all Work shall pass to Owner free and clear of all claims, liens, 
encumbrances, and security interests upon the incorporation of the Work into the Project. The 
Payment Request shall include, at a minimum: 

7.1.3.1 Monthly Executive summary detailing work completed during the pay period, a statement 
addressing the project budget and schedule and the items of work anticipated for the upcoming 
pay period 

7.1.3.2 Current critical path schedule 

7.1.3.3 Pay application cover sheet, detailed schedule of values and conditional lien waivers upon release 
of progress payment 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 24 
 

7.1.3.4 Subcontractor and Supplier invoices and conditional lien waivers for current pay period 

7.1.3.5 General Conditions invoices for current pay period 

7.1.3.6 Daily Reports for current pay period 

7.1.3.7 Weekly reports for current pay period 

7.1.3.8 Project meeting minutes for current pay period 

7.1.3.9 Certified payroll reports- alphabetical by subcontractor (when required for Davis Bacon projects) 

7.1.4 The Payment Request may request payment for stored equipment and materials if construction 
progress is in reasonable conformance with the approved schedule. 

7.1.4.1 For equipment and materials suitably stored at the Site, the equipment and materials shall be 
protected by suitable insurance and Owner shall receive the equipment and materials free and 
clear of all liens and encumbrances. 

7.1.4.2 For materials and equipment stored off the Site, the Owner must approve the storage.  The material 
and equipment must be stored within Coconino County or other Sites as may be approved and be 
accessible for Owner’s inspection. CMAR must establish Owner title to such materials and 
equipment or otherwise protect the Owner's interest and shall include applicable insurance, 
bonding, storage and transportation to the Site. 

7.1.4.3 All bonds and insurance required for stored materials shall name the Owner as the loss payee to 
the extent of its interest in the stored materials.  

7.1.5 CMAR shall submit the Payment Request to Owner monthly  either on the first of the month for 
payment on the 15th or on the 19th of the month for payment on the 30th or 31st.  If the payment 
date is on a Saturday, payment shall be on Friday. If the payment date is on a Sunday, payment 
shall be on Monday. 

7.2 Payment of GMP 

7.2.1 Owner shall make payment in accordance with A.R.S. § 34-607. Payment shall be made no later 
than fourteen (14) days after the Payment Request is certified and approved, but in each case less 
the total of payments previously made, and less amounts properly retained under this Agreement.  

7.2.2 Owner shall pay CMAR all amounts properly due. If Owner determines that CMAR is not entitled 
to all or part of a Payment Request, it shall notify CMAR in writing within (7) days after the date 
Payment Request is received by the Owner. The notice shall indicate the specific amounts Owner 
intends to withhold, the reasons and contractual basis for the withholding, and the specific 
measures CMAR shall take to rectify Owner’s concerns.  CMAR and Owner shall attempt to resolve 
Owner’s concerns. If the parties cannot resolve such concerns, CMAR may pursue its rights under 
the Contract Documents, including those identified in this Agreement. 

7.3 Retention of GMP 

7.3.1 Owner shall retain ten percent (10%) of each Payment Request amount provided.  When fifty 
percent (50%) of the Work has been completed by CMAR, upon request of CMAR, Owner may 
reduce the amount retained to five percent (5%) from CMAR’s subsequent Payment Requests if 
CMAR’s performance of Work has been satisfactory. 

  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 25 
 

7.3.2 In lieu of retention, CMAR may provide as a substitute, an assignment of time certificates of deposit 
(CDs) from a bank licensed by the State of Arizona, securities of or guaranteed by the United States 
of America, securities of counties, municipalities and school districts within the State of Arizona or 
shares of savings and loan institutions authorized to transact business in Arizona. 

7.3.2.1 CDs assigned to the Owner must be maintained at the Owner's single servicing bank, in the form 
of time deposit receipt accounts.   

7.3.2.2 Securities deposited in lieu of retention must be deposited into a separate account with a bank 
within the State of Arizona. 

7.3.2.3 CDs and Securities shall be assigned exclusively for the benefit of the City of Flagstaff pursuant to 
the Owner's form of Escrow Agreement. Escrow Agreement forms may be obtained from the 
Purchasing Department by contacting Matthew Luhman, Purchasing Manager. 

7.4 Substantial Completion 

7.4.1 Upon Substantial Completion of the entire Work or, if applicable, any portion of the Work, Owner 
shall release to CMAR all retained amounts relating, as applicable, to the entire Work or completed 
portion of the Work, less an amount up to two and one-half (2.5) times the reasonable value of all 
remaining or incomplete items of Work as noted in the Certificate of Substantial Completion. 

7.5 Final Payment 

7.5.1 After receipt of a final Payment Request, Owner shall make final payment within sixty (60) days 
after receipt by the Owner, provided that CMAR has completed all of the Work in conformance with 
the Contract Documents and a Final Completion Letter has been issued by the Owner. 

7.5.2 At the time of submission of its final Payment Request, CMAR shall provide the following 
information: 

7.5.2.1 An affidavit affirming that there are no claims, obligations or liens outstanding or unsatisfied for 
labor, services, material, equipment, taxes or other items performed, furnished or incurred for or in 
connection with the Work which shall in any way affect Owner’s interests;  

7.5.2.2 A general release executed by CMAR waiving, upon receipt of final payment by CMAR, all claims, 
except those claims previously made in writing to Owner and remaining unsettled at the time of 
final payment; and 

7.5.2.3 Consent of CMAR’s surety, if any, to final payment. 

7.6 Payments To Subcontractors or Suppliers 

7.6.1 CMAR shall pay its Subcontractors or suppliers within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of each 
progress payment from the Owner. CMAR shall pay for Work performed or materials supplied by 
each Subcontractor or supplier as accepted and approved by the Owner with each progress 
payment. In addition, any reduction of retention by the Owner to CMAR shall result in a 
corresponding reduction to Subcontractors or suppliers who have performed satisfactory work. 
CMAR shall pay Subcontractors or suppliers the reduced retention within fourteen (14) calendar 
days of the payment of the reduction of the retention to CMAR. No agreement between CMAR and 
its Subcontractors and suppliers may materially alter the rights of any Subcontractor or supplier to 
receive prompt payment and retention reduction as provided herein. 

7.6.2 If CMAR fails to make payments in accordance with these provisions, the Owner may take any one 
or more of the following actions and CMAR agrees that the Owner may take such actions: 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 26 
 

7.6.2.1 Hold CMAR in default under this Agreement; 

7.6.2.2 Withhold future payments including retention until proper payment has been made to 
Subcontractors or suppliers in accordance with these provisions; 

7.6.2.3 Reject all future offers to perform work for the Owner from CMAR for a period not to exceed one 
(1) year from Substantial Completion date of this Project; or  

7.6.2.4 Terminate this Agreement. 

7.6.3 If CMAR’s payment to a Subcontractor or supplier is in dispute, it shall act in compliance with A.R.S. 
§ 32-1129.02(D) and related statutes as amended and shall further hold the Owner harmless from 
any ensuing damages, claims or costs. 

7.6.4 Should the Owner fail or delay in exercising or enforcing any right, power, privilege, or remedy 
under this Section, such failure or delay shall not be deemed a waiver, release, or modification of 
the requirements of this Section or of any of the terms or provisions thereof. 

7.6.5 CMAR shall include these prompt payment provisions in every subcontract, including procurement 
of materials and leases of equipment for this Agreement. 

7.7 Record Keeping and Finance Controls 

7.7.1 Records of CMAR's direct personnel payroll, reimbursable expenses pertaining to this Project and 
records of accounts between the Owner and CMAR shall be kept on a generally recognized 
accounting basis and shall be available for three (3) years after Final Completion of the Project. 

7.7.2 The Owner, its authorized representative, and/or the appropriate federal agency, reserve the right 
to audit CMAR’s records to verify the accuracy and appropriateness of all pricing data, including 
data used to negotiate Contract Documents and any Change Orders. 

7.7.3 The Owner reserves the right to decrease Contract Price and/or payments made on this Agreement 
if, upon audit of CMAR’s records, the audit discloses CMAR has provided false, misleading, or 
inaccurate cost and pricing data. 

7.7.4 CMAR shall include a similar provision in all of its agreements with Subconsultants and 
Subcontractors providing services under the Contract Documents to ensure the Owner, its 
authorized representative, and/or the appropriate federal agency, has access to the 
Subconsultants’ and Subcontractors’ records to verify the accuracy of cost and pricing data. 

7.7.5 The Owner reserves the right to decrease Contract Price and/or payments made on this Agreement 
if the above provision is not included in Subconsultant’s and Subcontractor’s Agreements, and one 
or more Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors do not allow the Owner to audit their records to 
verify the accuracy and appropriateness of pricing data. 

7.7.6 The Owner and its employees, agents, and authorized representatives shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and during all business hours to inspect and examine CMAR’s records related to 
this Agreement. CMAR shall comply with the City of Flagstaff’s records retention policy. This record 
retention requirement shall remain in effect following expiration of the Agreement or termination of 
the Agreement by either Party.   

  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 27 
 

Article 8 - Claims and Disputes         

8.0 Requests for Agreement Adjustments and Relief. 

8.0.1 If either CMAR or Owner believes that it is entitled to relief against the other for any event arising 
out of or related to Work, such party shall provide written notice to the other party of the basis for 
its claim for relief. 

8.0.2 Such notice shall, if possible, be made prior to incurring any cost or expense and in accordance 
with any specific notice requirements contained in applicable sections of the Agreement. 

8.0.3 In the absence of any specific notice requirement, written notice shall be given within a reasonable 
time, not to exceed fourteen (14) days, after the occurrence giving rise to the claim for relief or after 
the claiming party reasonably should have recognized the event or condition giving rise to the 
request, whichever is later. 

8.0.4 Such notice shall include sufficient information to advise the other party of the circumstances giving 
rise to the claim for relief, the specific contractual adjustment or relief requested and the basis of 
such request. 

8.1 Dispute Avoidance and Resolution 

8.1.1 The parties are fully committed to working with each other throughout the Project and agree to 
communicate regularly with each other at all times so as to avoid or minimize disputes or 
disagreements.  If disputes or disagreements do arise, CMAR and Owner each commit to resolving 
such disputes or disagreements in an amicable, professional and expeditious manner so as to 
avoid unnecessary losses, delays and disruptions to the Work. 

8.1.2 CMAR and Owner shall first attempt to resolve disputes or disagreements at the field level through 
discussions between CMAR’s Representative and Owner’s Representative. 

8.1.3 If a dispute or disagreement cannot be resolved through CMAR’s Representative and Owner’s 
Representative, CMAR’s Senior Representative and Owner’s Senior Representative, upon the 
request of either party, shall meet as soon as conveniently possible, but in no case later than thirty 
(30) days after such a request is made, to attempt to resolve such dispute or disagreement. Prior 
to any meetings between the Senior Representatives, the parties shall exchange relevant 
information that shall assist the parties in resolving their dispute or disagreement. 

8.1.4 Except as otherwise agreed by the parties, any litigation brought by either party against the other 
to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be filed in the Coconino County Superior Court 
and Arizona law shall apply and control.  In the event any action at law or in equity is instituted 
between the parties in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party in the action shall be 
entitled to its costs including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs from the non-prevailing 
party. 

8.2 Duty to Continue Performance.  

8.2.1 Unless provided to the contrary in the Contract Documents, CMAR shall continue to perform the 
Work and Owner shall continue to satisfy its payment obligations to CMAR, pending the final 
resolution of any dispute or disagreement between CMAR and Owner. 

  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 28 
 

8.3 Representatives of the Parties 

8.3.1 The Owner’s Representatives 

8.3.1.1 The Owner designates the individual listed below or his/her designee as its Senior Representative 
("Owner’s Senior Representative"), which individual has the authority and responsibility for avoiding 
and resolving disputes under this Agreement: 

 Patrick Brown, Purchasing Director 
 City of Flagstaff 
 211 West Aspen Avenue  
 Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
 Phone: (928) 213-2277 
 pbrown@flagstaffaz.gov 
 

8.3.1.2 Owner designates the individual listed below as its Owner’s Representative (“Owner’s 
Representative”), which individual has the authority and responsibility under this Agreement:  

 
 Emily Markel, Purchasing Manager 
 City of Flagstaff 
 211 West Aspen Avenue  
 Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
 Phone: (928) 213-2276 
  emarkel@flagstaffaz.gov  

 
8.3.2 CMAR’s Representatives 
 
8.3.2.1 CMAR designates the individual listed below as its Senior Representative ("CMAR’s Senior 

Representative"), which individual has the authority and responsibility for avoiding and resolving 
disputes under this Agreement: 

 
  Jarrett Nelson, Project Manager   
  City of Flagstaff  
  211 West Aspen Avenue 
  Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
  Phone: (928) 213-2112  
  jarrett.nelson@flagstaffaz.gov  

 
8.3.2.2 CMAR designates the individual listed below as its CMAR’s Representative (“CMAR’s 

Representative”), which individual has the authority and responsibility set forth in this Agreement:  
 
  Harvey K. Heckethorn (Corkey), President 
  P.O. Box 551 
  Flagstaff, Arizona 86002 
  Phone: 928-779-7685 
  Email: candepaving@aol.com 
 
Article 9 – Suspension and Termination         

9.0 Owner’s Right to Stop Work 

9.0.1 Owner may, at its discretion and without cause, order CMAR in writing to stop and suspend the 
Work. Such suspension shall not exceed one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days.  

mailto:emarkel@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:jarrett.nelson@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:candepaving@aol.com


 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 29 
 

9.0.2 CMAR may seek an adjustment of the Contract Price and/or Contract Time if its cost or time to 
perform the Work has been adversely impacted by any suspension or stoppage of Work by Owner. 

9.1 Termination for Convenience 

9.1.1 The Owner may terminate this Agreement at any time for any reason by giving at least thirty (30) 
days written notice to the CMAR. In such event, Owner shall pay CMAR only the direct value of its 
completed Work and materials supplied as of the date of termination. CMAR shall be entitled to profit 
and overhead on completed Work only but shall not be entitled to anticipated profit or anticipated 
overhead. 

9.1.2 If the Owner suspends the Work for one hundred eighty-one (181) consecutive days or more, such 
suspension shall be deemed a termination for convenience. 

9.1.3 Upon such notice of termination for convenience, CMAR shall proceed with the following 
obligations: 

9.1.3.1 Stop Work as specified in the notice. 

9.1.3.2 Place no further subcontracts or orders. 

9.1.3.3 Terminate all subcontracts to the extent they relate to the Work terminated.  CMAR shall ensure that 
all subcontracts contain this same termination for convenience provision set forth in this Agreement. 

9.1.3.4 At the Owner’s sole discretion and if requested in writing by the Owner, assign to the Owner all rights, 
title and interest of CMAR under the subcontracts subject to termination.   

9.1.3.5 Take any action that may be necessary for the protection and preservation of the property related to 
this Agreement that is in the possession of CMAR and in which the Owner has or may acquire an 
interest. 

9.1.4 CMAR shall submit complete termination inventory schedules no later than one hundred twenty (120) 
days from the date of the notice of termination. 

9.1.5 The Owner shall pay CMAR the following: 

9.1.5.1 The direct value of its completed Work and materials supplied as of the date of termination.  

9.1.5.2 The reasonable and direct, actual costs and expenses attributable to such termination.  Reasonable 
costs and expenses shall not include, among other things, anticipated profit, anticipated overhead, or 
costs arising from CMAR’s failure to perform as required under this Agreement.   

9.1.5.3 CMAR shall be entitled to profit and overhead on completed Work only but shall not be entitled to 
anticipated profit or anticipated overhead. If it is determined that CMAR would have sustained a loss 
on the entire Work had they been completed, CMAR shall not be allowed profit and the Owner shall 
reduce the settlement to reflect the indicated rate of loss. 

9.1.6 CMAR shall maintain all records and documents for three (3) years after final settlement. These 
records shall be maintained and subject to auditing as prescribed in this Agreement.   

9.2 The Owner’s Right to Perform and Terminate for Cause 

9.2.1 If the Owner provides CMAR with a written order to provide adequate maintenance of traffic, 
adequate cleanup, adequate dust control or to correct deficiencies or damage resulting from 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 30 
 

abnormal weather conditions, and CMAR fails to comply in a time frame specified, the Owner may 
have work accomplished by other sources at CMAR’s sole expense.  

9.2.2 If CMAR persistently fails to (i) provide a sufficient number of skilled workers, (ii) supply the 
materials required by the Contract Documents, (iii) comply with applicable Legal Requirements, (iv) 
timely pay, without cause, Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, (v) prosecute the Work with 
promptness and diligence to ensure that the Work is completed by the Contract Time, as such 
times may be adjusted, or (vi) perform material obligations under the Contract Documents, then 
Owner, in addition to any other rights and remedies provided in the Contract Documents or by law, 
shall have the rights set forth in this Agreement.   

9.2.3 Upon the occurrence of a terminable event, Owner may provide written notice to CMAR that it 
intends to terminate this Agreement unless the problem cited is cured, or commenced to be cured, 
within seven (7) days of CMAR’s receipt of such notice.   

9.2.3.1 If CMAR fails to cure, or reasonably commence to cure, such problem, then Owner may give a 
second written notice to CMAR of its intent to terminate within an additional seven (7) day period.   

9.2.3.2 If CMAR, within such second seven (7) day period, fails to cure, or reasonably commence to cure, 
such problem, then Owner may declare this Agreement terminated for default by providing written 
notice to CMAR of such declaration. 

9.2.4 Upon declaring this Agreement terminated, Owner may enter upon the premises and take 
possession, for the purpose of completing the Work, of all materials, equipment, scaffolds, tools, 
appliances and other items thereon, which have been purchased or provided for the performance 
of the Work, all of which CMAR hereby transfers, assigns and conveys to Owner for such purpose, 
and to employ any person or persons to complete the Work and provide all of the required labor, 
services, materials, equipment and other items.   

9.2.5 In the event of such termination, CMAR shall not be entitled to receive any further payments under 
the Contract Documents until the Work shall be finally completed in accordance with the Contract 
Documents.  At such time, CMAR shall only be entitled to be paid for Work performed and accepted 
by the Owner prior to its default.   

9.2.6 If Owner’s cost and expense of completing the Work exceeds the unpaid balance of the Contract 
Price, then CMAR shall be obligated to pay the difference to Owner.  Such costs and expenses 
shall include not only the cost of completing the Work, but also losses, damages, costs and 
expense, including attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by Owner in connection with the re-
procurement and defense of claims arising from CMAR’s default.  

9.2.7 If Owner improperly terminates the Agreement for cause, the termination for cause shall be 
converted to a termination for convenience in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

9.3 Maintenance During Winter Shutdown of Work; Snow Removal  

9.3.1 The Capital Improvements Division of the City of Flagstaff retains the right to declare a Winter 
Shutdown when, in the opinion of the Owner, it would be unreasonable to continue Work due to 
adverse weather conditions. The Winter Shutdown determination is at the sole discretion of the Owner. 
If Work has been suspended due to winter weather, the CMAR shall be responsible for maintenance 
and protection of the improvements and of partially completed portions of the Work until final 
acceptance of the project. Winter Shutdown shall be by field order, change order or original contract. 
If repairs and/or maintenance are needed during the Winter Shutdown, the CMAR is required to 
perform the repairs and/or maintenance within twenty-four (24) hours of notification from the Owner. If 
the needed repairs and/or maintenance are not addressed within the timeframe, the Owner will 
accomplish the repairs and/or maintenance and deduct the cost from monies due or become due to 
the CMAR.   



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 31 
 

9.3.2 The Owner shall provide snow removal operations on active traffic lanes only. All other snow removal 
and maintenance operations shall be the responsibility of the CMAR. All cost associated with snow 
removal and proper disposal shall be considered incidental to the work including repair of temporary 
surface improvements due to normal wear and snow removal operations.   

9.3.3 Upon termination of the Winter Shutdown by the Owner, the CMAR shall have the right to complete 
the Work and the Project. 

9.3.4 The CMAR shall be solely responsible for any and all costs incurred either as a direct or indirect result 
of a Winter Shutdown and shall hold the Owner harmless from the same. 

Article 10 - Insurance and Bonds         

10.0 Insurance Requirements  

10.0.1 CMAR and Subcontractors shall procure and maintain until all of their obligations have been 
discharged, including any warranty periods under this Agreement are satisfied, insurance against 
claims for injury to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection with the 
performance of the Work hereunder by CMAR, its agents, representatives, employees or 
Subcontractors.   

10.0.2 The insurance requirements herein are minimum requirements for this Agreement and in no way 
limit the indemnity covenants contained in this Agreement. 

10.0.3 The Owner in no way warrants that the minimum limits contained herein are sufficient to protect 
CMAR from liabilities that might arise out of the performance of the work under this Agreement by 
CMAR, its agents, representatives, employees, or subcontractors. CMAR is free to purchase such 
additional insurance as may be determined necessary. 

10.1 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance  

10.1.1 Commercial General Liability - Occurrence Form 

 General Aggregate/for this Project    $2,000,000/$1,000,000 
  Products – Completed Operations Aggregate  $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
 
 The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: "The City of 

Flagstaff shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability arising out of the 
activities performed by, or on behalf of CMAR." 

  Additional Insured Status. The insurance coverage, except Workers’ Compensation, required by 
this Agreement, shall name the CITY, its agents, representatives, directors, officials, employees, 
and officers, as additional insured AND be accompanied by the required endorsement. Such 
evidence of additional insured status shall be subject to the approval of the Risk Management 
Department of the City of Flagstaff. The absence of acceptable insurance and endorsement shall 
be deemed a breach of this Agreement. 

10.1.2 Automobile Liability - Bodily injury and property damage for any owned, hired, and non-owned 
vehicles used in the performance of this Agreement. 

 Combined Single Limit (“CSL”) $1,000,000 

  The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: "The City of 
Flagstaff shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability arising out of the 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 32 
 

activities performed by, or on behalf of CMAR, including automobiles owned, leased, hired 
or borrowed by CMAR." 

10.1.3 Worker's Compensation: The CMAR shall carry Workers’ Compensation insurance to cover 
obligations imposed by federal and state statutes. 

10.1.4 Builders' Risk Insurance or Installation Floater $__N/A___ 

 In an amount equal to the initial Contract Amount plus additional coverage equal to Contract 
Amount for all subsequent change orders. 

10.1.4.1 The City of Flagstaff, CMAR, Subcontractors, Design Professional(s) and Design 
Professional(s)’ consultant and any others with an insurable interest in the Work shall be Named 
Insureds on the policy. 

10.1.4.2 Coverage shall be written on an all risk, replacement cost basis and shall include coverage for 
soft costs, flood and earth movement. 

10.1.4.3 Coverage shall be maintained until whichever of the following shall first occur: (i) final payment 
has been made; or, (ii) until no person or entity, other than the City of Flagstaff, has an insurable 
interest in the property required to be covered. 

10.1.4.4 Coverage shall be endorsed such that the insurance shall not be canceled or lapse because 
of any partial use or occupancy by the City. 

10.1.4.5 CMAR shall provide coverage from the time any covered property becomes the responsibility 
of CMAR, and continue without interruption during construction, renovation, or installation, 
including any time during which the covered property is being transported to the construction 
installation Site, or awaiting installation, whether on or off Site. 

10.1.4.6 Coverage shall contain a waiver of subrogation against the City of Flagstaff. 

10.1.4.7 CMAR is responsible for the payment of all policy deductibles. 

10.1.5 Umbrella/Excess Liability Insurance not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence combined limit Bodily 
Injury and Property Damage, that “follows form” and applies in excess of the Commercial General 
Liability, Automobile Liability as required above. 

10.2 Additional Insurance Requirements 

10.2.1 The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include the following provisions: 

10.2.2 The City, its officers, officials, agents, employees and volunteers shall be additional insured to the 
full limits of liability purchased by CMAR even if those limits of liability are in excess of those 
required by this Agreement. 

10.2.3 CMAR's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance and non-contributory with respect to all 
other available sources. 

10.2.4 Coverage provided by CMAR shall not be limited to the liability assumed under the indemnification 
provisions of this Agreement. 

10.2.5 The policies shall contain a Waiver of Subrogation against the City, its officers, officials, agents, 
and employees for losses arising from work performed by the CMAR for the Owner. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 33 
 

10.3 Notice of Cancellation 

10.3.1 Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of this Agreement shall provide the 
required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided, canceled, reduced in coverage or endorsed 
to lower limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given to the Owner. Such 
notice shall be sent directly to the Purchasing Section by certified mail, return receipt requested. 

10.4 Acceptability of Insurers 

10.4.1 Insurance is to be placed with insurers who are duly licensed companies in the State of Arizona 
with an “A.M. Best” rating of A-7, or as approved by the City and licensed in the State of Arizona 
with policies and forms satisfactory to the Owner. The Owner in no way warrants that the above-
required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect CMAR from potential insurer insolvency. 

10.5 Verification Of Coverage  

10.5.1 CMAR shall furnish the Owner with Certificates of Insurance (ACORD form or equivalent approved 
by the Owner) as required by this Agreement. The Certificates for each insurance policy are to be 
signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. 

10.5.2 All Certificates of Insurance and endorsements are to be received and approved by the Owner 
before work commences. Each insurance policy required by this Agreement shall be in effect at or 
prior to commencement of Work under this Agreement and remain in effect for the duration of the 
Project.  Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this Agreement or to provide 
evidence of renewal is a material breach of contract. 

10.5.3 All Certificates of Insurance required by this Agreement shall be sent directly to City’s Purchasing 
Section. The City project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the Certificate 
of Insurance.  The Owner reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all insurance 
policies required by this Agreement at any time.  

10.5.4 If the Certificate of Insurance reflecting policy coverage and cancellation notice does not conform 
to the Owner’s requirements, the CMAR must submit a current Certificate of Insurance (dated within 
fifteen (15) days of the payment request submittal) with each payment request form. The payment 
request shall be rejected if the Certificate of Insurance is not submitted with the payment request. 

10.6 Subcontractors 

10.6.1 CMAR’s Certificate(s) of Insurance shall include all Subcontractors as additional insureds under its 
policies. All coverages for Subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum requirements identified 
above. 

10.7 Approval 

10.7.1 Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this Agreement shall be made by 
the Owner Attorney’s Office, whose decision shall be final. Such action shall not require a formal 
contract amendment but may be made by administrative action. 

10.8 Bonds and Other Performance Security  

10.8.1 Prior to execution of this Agreement, CMAR shall provide a performance bond and a labor and 
materials bond, each in an amount equal to the full amount of the GMP.     

10.8.2 Each such bond shall be executed by a surety company, or companies, holding a Certificate of 
Authority to transact surety business in the State of Arizona, issued by the Director of the Arizona 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 34 
 

Department of Insurance.  A copy of the Certificate of Authority shall accompany the bonds.  The 
Certificate shall have been issued or updated within two (2) years prior to the execution of this 
Agreement.   

10.8.3 The bonds shall be made payable and acceptable to the City of Flagstaff.   

10.8.4 The bonds shall be written or countersigned by an authorized representative of the surety who is 
either a resident of the State of Arizona or whose principal office is maintained in Arizona, as by 
law required, and the bonds shall have attached thereto a certified copy of Power of Attorney of the 
signing official.   

10.8.4.1 If one Power of Attorney is submitted, it shall be for twice the total GMP amount.   

10.8.4.2 If two Powers of Attorney are submitted, each shall be for the total GMP amount.  Personal or 
individual bonds are not acceptable. 

10.8.5 Upon the request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of bonds covering 
payment of obligations arising under the Contract Documents, CMAR shall promptly furnish a copy 
of the bonds or shall permit a copy to be made. 

10.8.6 All bonds submitted for this project shall be provided by a company which has been rated AM Best 
rating of “A-,7, or better for the prior four quarters” by the A.M. Best Company.  

Article 11 - Indemnification         

11.1 CMAR’s Liability and Indemnification 

11.1.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, CMAR shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, 
its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and employees from and against all claims, 
damages, losses and expenses (including but not limited to attorney fees, court costs, and the cost of 
appellate proceedings), relating to, arising out of, or alleged to have resulted from the negligent, 
reckless, or intentional acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work or services of CMAR, its employees, 
agents, or any tier of subcontractors in the performance of this Agreement. CMAR’s duty to defend, 
hold harmless and indemnify the Owner, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and 
employees shall arise in connection with the claim, damage, loss or expense that is attributable to 
bodily injury, sickness, disease, death, or injury to, impairment, or destruction of property including loss 
of use resulting therefrom, caused by any acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work or services in the 
performance of this Agreement including any employee of CMAR or any tier of subcontractor or any 
other person for whose acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work or services CMAR may be legally liable. 

11.1.2 The amount and type of insurance coverage requirements set forth herein shall in no way be construed 
as limiting the scope of the indemnity in this paragraph. 

Article 12 – General Provisions         

12.1 Contract Documents  

12.1.1 This Agreement, Plans, Standard Specifications and Details, Special Provisions, Addenda (if any) 
dated the ___ day of ___________, 20___ and used as the basis for the Guaranteed Maximum 
Price Proposal and Guaranteed Maximum Price Proposal, as accepted by the Mayor and Council 
per Council Minutes the ____ day of ___________, 20__, Performance Bond, Payment Bond, 
Certificates of Insurance, Construction Documents and Change Orders (if any) are by this reference 
made a part of this Agreement to the same extent as if set forth herein in full. 

12.1.2 The Contract Documents are intended to permit the parties to complete the Work and all obligations 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 35 
 

required by the Contract Documents within the Contract Times for the Contract Price. The Contract 
Documents are intended to be complementary and interpreted in harmony so as to avoid conflict, 
with words and phrases interpreted in a manner consistent with construction and design industry 
standards.   

12.1.3 In the event of any inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity between or among the Contract Documents, 
the Contract Documents shall take precedence in the order in which they are listed in the definitions 
section of this Agreement.  

12.1.3.1  On the drawings, given dimensions shall take precedence over scaled measurements, and 
large-scale drawings over small-scale drawings.  

12.1.3.2  Specifications take precedence over Plans.  

12.1.3.3  In the event of any inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity between the Contract Documents 
and the Design Phase Agreement, the Contract Documents take precedence over the Design 
Phase Agreement 

12.1.4  The headings used in this Agreement, or any other Contract Documents, are for ease of 
reference only and shall not in any way be construed to limit or alter the meaning of any provision. 

12.1.5 The Contract Documents form the entire agreement between Owner and CMAR and by 
incorporation herein are as fully binding on the parties as if repeated herein. No oral representations 
or other agreements have been made by the parties except as specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents. 

12.2 Amendments 

12.2.1 The Contract Documents may not be changed, altered, or amended in any way except in writing 
signed by a duly authorized representative of each party. 

12.3 Time is of the Essence 

12.3.1 The Owner and CMAR mutually agree that time is of the essence with respect to the dates and 
times set forth in the Contract Documents. 

12.4 Mutual Obligations 

12.4.1 Owner and CMAR commit at all times to cooperate fully with each other and proceed on the basis 
of trust and good faith, to permit each party to realize the benefits afforded under the Contract 
Documents. 

12.5 Cooperation and Further Documentation 

12.5.1 CMAR agrees to provide the Owner such other duly executed documents as shall be reasonably 
requested by the Owner to implement the intent of the Contract Documents. 

12.6 Assignment 

12.6.1 CMAR shall not, without the written consent of the Owner, assign, transfer or sublet any portion of 
this Agreement or part of the Work or the obligations required by the Contract Documents. 
Notwithstanding the Owner’s consent to assignment, CMAR as Assignor, and the Assignee shall 
both remain liable under all rights, obligations, terms, and conditions of this Agreement. 

12.7 Successorship 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 36 
 

12.7.1 CMAR and Owner intend that the provisions of the Contract Documents are binding upon the 
parties, their employees, agents, heirs, successors and assigns. 

12.8 Third Party Beneficiary 

12.8.1 Nothing under the Contract Documents shall be construed to give any rights or benefits in the 
Contract Documents to anyone other than the Owner and CMAR, and all duties and responsibilities 
undertaken pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of 
Owner and CMAR and not for the benefit of any other party. 

12.9 Governing Law 

12.9.1 This Agreement and all Contract Documents shall be deemed to be made under, and shall be 
construed, in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Arizona without regard to 
the conflicts or choice of law provisions thereof. Any action to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement or to obtain any remedy with respect hereto shall be brought in the Superior Court, 
Coconino County, Arizona, and for this purpose, each party hereby expressly and irrevocably 
consents to the jurisdiction and venue of such Court. 

12.10 Severability 

12.10.1 If any provision of the Contract Documents or the application thereof to any person or circumstance 
shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of the Contract Documents 
and the application thereof shall not be affected and shall be enforceable to the fullest extent 
permitted by law. 

12.11 Compliance with All Laws 

12.11.1 CMAR will comply with all applicable Federal, State, County and City laws, regulations and policies. 
CMAR understands and acknowledges the applicability of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the 
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1989. CMAR 
agrees to comply with these laws in performing the Agreement and to permit the Owner to verify 
such compliance. 

12.12 Legal Requirements 

12.12.1 CMAR shall perform all Work in accordance with all Legal Requirements and shall provide all 
notices applicable to the Work as required by the Legal Requirements. 

12.13 Construction Documents 

12.13.1 It is not CMAR’s responsibility to ascertain that the Construction Documents are in accordance with 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, building codes, rules and regulations. However, if CMAR 
recognizes that portions of the Construction Documents are at variance therewith, CMAR shall 
promptly notify the Design Professional and Owner in writing, describing the apparent variance or 
deficiency.   

12.14 Independent Contractor 

12.14.1 CMAR is and shall be an independent contractor. Any provisions in the Contract Documents that 
may appear to give the Owner the right to direct CMAR as to the details of accomplishing the Work 
or to exercise a measure of control over the Work means that CMAR shall follow the wishes of the 
Owner as to the results of the Work only. These results shall comply with all applicable laws and 
ordinances. 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 37 
 

12.15 The Owner's Right of Cancellation 

12.15.1 All parties hereto acknowledge that this Agreement is subject to cancellation by the Owner pursuant 
to the provisions of A.R.S. § 38-511. 

12.16 Survival 

12.16.1 All warranties, representations and indemnifications by CMAR shall survive the completion or 
termination of this Agreement. 

12.17 Covenant against Contingent Fees 

12.17.1 CMAR warrants that no person has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this Agreement 
upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, 
and that no member of the Owner Council, or any employee of Owner has any interest, financially, 
or otherwise, in the firm. For breach or violation of this warrant, the Owner shall have the right to 
annul this Agreement without liability, or at its discretion to deduct from the Contract Price or 
consideration, the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee. 

12.18 No Waiver 

12.18.1 The failure of either party to enforce any of the provisions of the Contract Documents or to require 
performance of the other party of any of the provisions hereof shall not be construed to be a waiver 
of such provisions, nor shall it affect the validity of the Contract Documents or any part thereof, or 
the right of either party to thereafter enforce each and every provision. 

12.19 Notice     

12.19.1 Notices may be given to the other Party in writing, delivered in person, sent by facsimile 
transmission, emailed, deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid,  or deposited with any 
commercial air courier or express service at the addresses set forth below, or to such other address 
as the Parties may substitute by written notice, given in the manner prescribed in this paragraph. 
However, notices of termination, notices of default and any notice regarding warranties shall be 
sent via registered or certified mail, return receipt requested at the address set forth below and to 
legal counsel for the party to whom the notice is being given. Rejection, any refusal to accept or 
the inability to deliver because of changed address of which no notice was given shall be deemed 
to be receipt of the notice as of the date of such rejection, refusal or inability to deliver. 

 To CMAR:   
 
  Harvey K. Heckethorn (Corkey), President 
  C and E Paving & Grading, L.L.C. 
  P.O. Box 551 
  Flagstaff, Arizona 86002 
  Phone: 928-779-7685 
  Email: candepaving@aol.com  
 
 To Owner: 

 
  City of Flagstaff  
  211 West Aspen Avenue 
  Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
  Attn: Emily Markel, Purchasing Manager 
  Phone: (928) 213-2276 

 emarkel@flagstaffaz.gov 

mailto:candepaving@aol.com
mailto:emarkel@flagstaffaz.gov


 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 38 
 

                     
 With a copy to: 

 
  City of Flagstaff  
  211 West Aspen Avenue 
  Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
  Attn: Jarrett Nelson, Project Manager 
  Phone: (928) 213-2112  
  jarrett.nelson@flagstaffaz.gov 

 
Design Professional(s): 

 
  Julie Leid 
  Peak Engineering, Inc. 
  110 North Agassiz 
  Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
  julie@peakegr.com 
 
12.19.2 Notices Related to Payment, Securities-in-lieu, Bonds. Any notice, request, instruction or other 

document to be given under this Agreement by any party to any other party related to payment, 
securities-in-lieu, bonds or other instrument securing the performance of this Agreement, including 
but not limited to, bid bonds, performance bonds, payment bonds or letters of credit, shall be in 
writing and shall be delivered in person or by courier or facsimile transmission or mailed by certified 
mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested and shall be deemed given upon (a) confirmation 
of receipt of a facsimile transmission, (b) confirmed delivery by hand or standard overnight mail or 
(c) upon the expiration of three (3) business days after the day mailed by certified mail. Rejection, 
any refusal to accept or the inability to deliver because of changed address of which no notice was 
given shall be deemed to be receipt of the notice as of the date of such rejection, refusal or inability 
to deliver. 

To CMAR:   
 

 C and E Paving & Grading, L.L.C. 
 P.O. Box 551 
 Flagstaff, Arizona 86002 
 Attn: Harvey K. Heckethorn (Corkey), President 
 Phone: 928-779-7685 
 Email: candepaving@aol.com 
 

To Owner: 
 

City of Flagstaff  
211 West Aspen Avenue 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
Attn: Emily Markel, Purchasing Manager                              
Phone: (928) 213-2276                       
emarkel@flagstaffaz.gov  
 

  

mailto:jarrett.nelson@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:julie@peakegr.com
mailto:candepaving@aol.com
mailto:emarkel@flagstaffaz.gov


 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 39 
 

With copies to: 
 
 City of Flagstaff  
 
  211 West Aspen Avenue 
  Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
  Attn: Jarrett Nelson, Project Manager 
  Phone: (928) 213-2112  

jarrett.nelson@flagstaffaz.gov 
 

12.20 Confidentiality of Plans and Specification 

12.20.1 Any plans or specifications regarding this Project shall be for official use only. CMAR shall not share 
them with others except as required to fulfill the obligations of this Agreement with the Owner. 

12.20.2 All Record Documents, Shop Drawings and other plans or drawings prepared or submitted by 
CMAR shall include the following language: “These plans are for official use only and may not be 
shared with others except as required to fulfill the obligations of the Beulah/University Roadway 
Project Agreement with the City of Flagstaff.” 

12.21 CMAR and Subcontractor Employee Security Inquiries. The parties acknowledge that security 
measures required in this Section are necessary in order to preserve and protect the public health, 
safety and welfare.  In addition to the specific measures set forth below, CMAR shall take such 
other measures, as it deems reasonable and necessary to further preserve and protect the public 
health, safety and welfare. 

12.21.1 Security Inquiries. CMAR acknowledges that all of the employees that it provides pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be subject to background and security checks and screening ("Security Inquiries").  
CMAR shall perform all such security inquiries and shall make the results available to Owner for all 
employees considered for performing work (including supervision and oversight) under this 
Agreement. Owner may make further security inquiries. Whether or not further security inquires are 
made by Owner, Owner may, at its sole, absolute and unfettered discretion, accept or reject any or 
all of the employees proposed by CMAR for performing work under this Agreement. Employees 
rejected by Owner for performing services under this Agreement may still be engaged by CMAR 
for other work not involving the Owner. An employee rejected for work under this Agreement shall 
not be proposed to perform work under other Owner Agreements or engagements without Owner's 
prior approval. 

12.21.2 Criteria for Evaluating Security Inquiries. Once formally adopted by Owner, criteria for excluding an 
individual from performing work under this Agreement shall be communicated by Owner to CMAR 
and used by CMAR as a factor in making its decision.  Prior to such adoption, CMAR shall use its 
best judgment in making its decision using, among other criteria, applicable law, administrative 
regulations of federal, state and local agencies concerned with work performed under this 
Agreement, specific local concerns that deal with the specific work and work location(s) of the 
Project, and standards used by Owner in evaluating its own personnel. 

12.21.3 Additional Owner Rights Regarding Security Inquiries. In addition to the foregoing, Owner reserves 
the right to: (1) have an employee/prospective employee of CMAR be required to provide 
fingerprints and execute such other documentation as may be necessary to obtain criminal justice 
information pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-1750(G)(4); (2) act on newly acquired information whether or 
not such information should have been previously discovered; (3) unilaterally change its standards 
and criteria relative to the acceptability of CMAR 's employees and/or prospective employees; and, 
(4) object, at any time and for any reason, to an employee of CMAR performing work (including 
supervision and oversight) under this Agreement. 

  

mailto:jarrett.nelson@flagstaffaz.gov


 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 40 
 

12.21.4 Background and Security-Contracts and Subcontracts. CMAR shall include the security inquiry 
terms of this Section for employee background and security checks and screening in all contracts 
and subcontracts for work performed under this Agreement, including supervision and oversight.  

12.21.5 Materiality of Security Inquiry Provisions. The security inquiry provisions of this Agreement, as set 
forth above, are material to Owner 's entry into this Agreement and any breach thereof by CMAR 
may, at Owner's sole and unfettered discretion, be considered to be a breach of contract of 
sufficient magnitude to terminate this Agreement. Such termination shall subject CMAR to liability 
for its breach of this Agreement. 

12.22 Hazardous Materials 

12.22.1 Unless included in the Work, if CMAR encounters material on the Site which it reasonably believes 
to contain asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), or other hazardous substances or materials 
regulated by applicable law, it shall immediately stop work and report the condition to the Owner.   

12.22.2 If the material is found to contain asbestos, PCB or other hazardous substances or materials 
regulated by applicable law, CMAR shall not resume work in the affected area until the material 
has been abated or rendered harmless. CMAR and the Owner may agree, in writing, to continue 
work in non-affected areas on the Site.  

12.22.3 An extension of Contract Time may be granted in accordance with this Agreement.   

12.22.4 CMAR shall comply with all applicable laws/ordinances and regulations and take all appropriate 
health and safety precautions upon discovery. 

12.23 Computer Systems 

12.23.1 CMAR shall warrant fault-free performance in the processing of date and date-related data 
including, but not limited to calculating, comparing, and sequencing by all equipment and software 
products, individually and in combination, from the commencement of the Work. Fault-free 
performance shall include the manipulation of data when dates are in the 20th or 21st centuries and 
shall be transparent to the user. Failure to comply with "Year 2000" requirements shall be 
considered a breach of this Agreement. 

12.24 Traffic Control 

12.24.1 CMAR shall comply with all provisions of the latest version of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices and any other traffic control provisions as may be provided in the technical specifications. 

12.25 No Boycott of Israel 

12.25.1 Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 35-393 and 35-393.01, if a Party has over ten (10) employees and the 
Agreement is worth at least one-hundred thousand dollars and no cents ($100,000), the Party 
shall certify that it is not currently engaged in, and agrees, for the duration of the Agreement, will 
not engage in a boycott of Israel. 

12.26 Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs 

12.26.1 If CMAR engages in for-profit activity and has ten (10) or more employees, pursuant to A.R.S. §35-
394, CMAR certifies that it does not currently, and agrees for the duration of the contract that it will 
not, use: 1) the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China; 2) any goods or 
services produced by the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China; and 3) 
any contractors, subcontractors or suppliers that use the forced labor or any goods or services 
produced by the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China. If CMAR 



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 41 
 

becomes aware during the term of the Contract that the company is not in compliance with the 
written certification, CMAR shall notify the Owner within five business days after becoming aware 
of the noncompliance. If CMAR does not provide the Owner with a written certification that CMAR 
has remedied the noncompliance within 180 days after notifying the Owner of the noncompliance, 
this Contract terminates, except that if the Contract termination date occurs before the end of the 
remedy period the Contract terminations on the Contract termination date. 

 

(Signatures Appear on the Next Page) 

  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 42 
 

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect only when it has been approved and executed by the duly 
authorized City officials. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on this ____ day of 
________________________, 20____.  

 
C AND E PAVING & GRADING, L.L.C. 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved only as to form: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

 
Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 20___ 
 
Last updated February 28, 2024 

 

 
  
  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 43 
 

 
EXHIBIT A - PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Following is a brief description of the Project for which the design phase service services specified in this 

Agreement are to be performed: 

 
The general project scope includes the following work: 

 
The Street Maintenance Program provides surface treatments as required to preserve and maintain 

pavement condition on the 664 lane miles of City streets. The Project will include milling, street overlay, 

chip seal, micro seal, and crack sealing work to preserve and maintain existing asphalt street pavement. 

The contract work also includes removal and replacement of curb returns and sidewalks at many locations 

on the streets overlaid to bring these streets into compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 

Traffic signal detection modifications may be required where the work disturbs existing detection equipment. 

Utility adjustments and pavement marking are also included in the work. 

 
The overlay streets are selected after evaluation of the street condition using pavement management 

software owned by the Owner. One half of the City street pavements are evaluated and ranked each year. 

Each street pavement is assigned an overall condition index (OCI) based on the type and severity of the 

distress observed. A pavement that has no distress is given an OCI of 100. Each pavement distress such 

as cracking or roughness reduces the street’s OCI. The street pavements are ranked by OCI and the 

pavements exhibiting the most severe distress are programmed for resurfacing with asphaltic concrete 

overlays as budget allows. 

 

The goal of the Street Maintenance Program is to use the available funds in the most efficient manner to 

lengthen the service life of the City Street pavements and avoid costly pavement reconstruction. 

 

It is anticipated that Contractors will have civil construction challenges typical to Flagstaff. The successful 

Contractor selected for this Project is expected to have significant demonstrated experience in both the 

type of work required and constructing street pavements in colder, high-altitude climates with a limited 

construction season.  



 

 
STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2024, 2025 & 2026 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES                                                                              The City of Flagstaff 
 

PAGE 44 
 

EXHIBIT B – GMP SUBMITTAL (TO BE ATTACHED) 
 
1. Cover Page & Scope of Work 

Contract No. 2024-65 
Project No. PW24-0001 
Title: Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025 & 2026 
Title: “GMP #” 
Submittal date: 

Provide a brief description of the work to be performed by CMAR in GMP # and the major points that 
CMAR and the Owner shall be aware of pertaining to the scope. 

2. Summary of GMP # 

Include a total cost for each of the cost components of GMP # requested under this Agreement. The 
CMAR shall present this information in the format shown on the attached table. All costs should be 
listed individually for future use. The General Conditions Costs shall include a detailed breakdown of 
itemized costs separate but similar to the Schedule of Vales. 

3. Schedule of Values 

Provide a summary spreadsheet with the estimated cost organized by subagreement categories, 
contingencies, general conditions, taxes, bonds, insurances, and construction fee. Additionally, provide 
supporting documents for the spreadsheet in an organized manner that correlates with the schedule of 
values. The backup information shall consist of the most current version of the Cost Model utilized to 
develop GMP #. 

4. List of Plans and Specifications  

Provide a list of plans and specifications with latest issuance date including all addenda used in 
preparation of GMP #. This document must be date stamped and signed by CMAR. 

5. List of Clarifications and Assumptions 

Provide a list of the clarifications and assumptions made by CMAR in the preparation of GMP #. This 
information is intended to supplement the information contained within other documents submitted to 
the Owner. 

6. Project Master Schedule 

6.1  Provide a Critical Path Method (CPM) diagram and other information to identify the Project Master 
Schedule. 

6.2 GMP Amendments will contain a separate project duration from the initial agreement and any 
previous GMP Amendments. Each GMP Amendment will be required to have a separate project 
completion date. 



GMP 1 - CONTRACT NO. 2024-65

































Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Murray Rd

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Kutch Dr

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Anderson Rd

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Aspen Ave

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Zuni Dr

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
University Heights Dr S

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
University Heights Dr N

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Aris St

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Felice Ave

Jarrett.Nelson
Typewritten Text
Lucky Ln



   9. D.  9. D.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Justin Emerick, Project Manager, Water Services
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Mac McNamara

Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Cooperative Purchase Contract with Carollo Engineers, Inc. for
Engineering Services on the Fort Tuthill Well Pump House #2 in an amount not to exceed $499,988.00.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Approve the Cooperative Purchase Contract with Carollo Engineers, Inc. for Engineering Services on the
Fort Tuthill Well Pump House #2 in an amount not to exceed $499,988.00; and

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The recommended Cooperative Purchase Contract with Carollo Engineers, Inc. (Carollo) will authorize
Carollo to conduct Engineering Services at the Fort Tuthill Well #2 to develop and deliver a design for Pump
House #2 Design Project. A pump house is generally described as a building that contains the pump that
draws the water from the well and pumps the water into a City distribution system. To bring Fort Tuthill Well
#2 online, a pump house is essential, and prior design identified that an expansion of Pump House #1 will
allow the City to utilize both wells within the existing, but expanded, structure of Pump House #1.

Water production at the Pump House #2 is expected to nearly double with the addition of this secondary
water source and the equipment upgrades that will be part of this project. This design of Pump House #2 will
also resolve the production limitations of the existing pump house to maximize the production capacity.
Design work will provide a solution for adding this new water source, increasing infrastructure to treat and
disinfect a greater volume of water for distribution, and add significant capacity. This Cooperative Purchase
Contract with Carollo will include the many design detail requirements to complete this pump house upgrade,
wellhead structure, electrical and pipeline design. 

The design is anticipated to be completed in the Summer of 2025.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
Project Name:  Fort Tuthill Well #2 Pump House Design Project
Cost:  $499,988.00
Account Number Budgeted:  202-08-370-3497-0-4464
FY2024-25 Budgeted Amount: $735,736
Grant Funded:  No
Funding Source:  Drinking Water Fund

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
No Policy Impact.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:



No.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

1. Approve the Cooperative Purchase Contract as recommended. Approval will allow Carollo to initiate the
design of the Project; or

2. Reject the award and provide additional direction to Staff. This option would delay the start of design.

Background and History:Background and History:
The Purchasing Section has reviewed the competitively solicited cooperative purchase options available and
confirmed that Arizona Department of Administration (ADOA) conducted a competitive and open procurement
process through Request for Qualifications Solicitation BPM004132 that resulted in Contract CTR058871 with
Carollo Engineers, Inc.. This underlying agency contract has been verified as valid and appropriate for the
purchase of the specified services and presents the best value to the City.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Sustainable and Innovative Infrastructure

Deliver outstanding services to residents through a healthy, well-maintained infrastructure system.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Goal WR.2.  Manage a coordinated system of water, wastewater, and reclaimed water utility service facilities
and resources at the City level and identify funding to pay for new resources.
Goal WR.4. Logically enhance and extend the City's public water, wastewater, and reclaimed water services
including their treatment, distribution, and collection systems in both urbanized and newly developed areas of
the City to provide an efficient delivery of services.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None.

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None.

Connection to Division Specific Plan:Connection to Division Specific Plan:
Goal to continually expand and improve our water infrastructure to meet demand.

Attachments:Attachments: 2024-167 Cooperative Purchase Carollo
Exhibit A - Fort Tuthill Pump House Scope of Work
Exhibit B1 - CTR058871 Carollo Agency Contract
Exhibit B2 - CTR058871 Supporting Documents



1 

COOPERATIVE PURCHASE CONTRACT 
Contract No. 2024-167 

This Cooperative Purchase Contract is made and entered into this _________ day of 
______________, 20_____by and between the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, a political subdivision of the 
State of Arizona (“City”) and Carollo Engineers, Inc., an Arizona Corporation (“Contractor”). 

RECITALS: 

A. Contractor is a fully authorized vendor of On-Call Civil Engineering Services; 

B. The Arizona Department of Administration (ADOA) conducted a competitive and open 
procurement process through Request for Qualifications BPM004132 that resulted in Contract 
No. CTR058871 with Contractor (“Agency Contract”); and 

C. The City has authority to enter into a cooperative purchase contract with Contractor utilizing the 
Agency Contract. 

AGREEMENT: 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the Parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Materials and or Services Purchased: Contractor shall provide to the City the materials and/or 
services, as specified in the Scope of Work attached as Exhibit A, and in accordance with the 
Agency Contract. A general description of materials and/or services being purchased is: 

On-Call Civil Engineering Services 
Fort Tuthill Pump House #2 

2. Specific Requirements of City: Contractor shall comply with all specific purchase and delivery 
requirements and/or options of City, as specified in the Scope of Work attached as Exhibit A 
and incorporated by reference. 

3. Payment: Payment to Contractor for the materials and/or services not to exceed FOUR 
HUNDRED, NINETY-NINE THOUSAND, NINE HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-EIGHT DOLLARS 
AND ZERO CENTS ($499,988.00) made in accordance with the price list and terms set forth in 
the Agency Contract. Any price adjustment must be approved by mutual written consent of the 
parties through a formal amendment. The City Manager or his/her designee (the Purchasing 
Director) may approve an amendment if the amendment price increase is less than $100,000; 
otherwise, City Council approval is required. 

4. Certificates of Insurance: All insurance provisions of the Agency Contract shall apply. Prior to 
receiving a Notice to Proceed, Contractor shall furnish the City with a copy of the current 
Certificate of Insurance and corresponding endorsements naming the “City of Flagstaff” as an 
additional insured. 

5. Term: This Cooperative Purchase Contract shall commence upon execution by the Parties and 
shall continue until expiration or termination of the underlying Agency Contract, unless sooner 
terminated by City in writing. 



2 
 

6. Renewal: This Cooperative Purchase Contract shall be automatically renewed if the underlying 
Agency Contract is renewed, for the same renewal period, unless City provides advance written 
notice to Contractor of its intention to non-renew. 

7. Notice: Any formal notice required under the Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified 
mail and email as follows: 

To the City: To Contractor: 
Justin Emerick 
Project Manager 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W. Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
JEmerick@flagstaffaz.gov  
928-607-2541 
 

Brian Bernard, P.E*., MBA 
Project Manager/Associate Vice President 
Carollo Engineers 
4600 East Washington Street, Suite 500 
Phoenix, Arizona 85034 
bbernard@carollo.com  
D 602-474-4268 / M 602-390-4674 
 

With a copy to: 
Emily Markel 
Purchasing Manager 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W. Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
EMarkel@flagstaffaz.gov 
928-213-2276 

 

 

 

 

 

(Signature lines on following page) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:JEmerick@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:bbernard@carollo.com
mailto:EMarkel@flagstaffaz.gov


3 
 

9. Authority: Each Party warrants that it has authority to enter into the Contract and perform its 
obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into the Contract. 

CAROLLO ENGINEERS: 
 
By:_____________________________ 
 
Title:____________________________  
 
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 
By:_____________________________ 
 
Title:____________________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

 
Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 20___ 

Last Updated May 15, 2024 
 



4 
 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

(attached) 
 

1. Fort Tuthill Pump House Scope of Work (17 pages) 
 



5 
 

 
EXHIBIT B 

AGENCY CONTRACT 
(attached) 

 
1. ADOA Contract No. #CTR058871 (100 pages) 
2. ADOA Contract No. #CTR058871 Supporting Documents (10 pages) 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 1

EXHIBIT A

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF WATER SERVICES DEPARTMENT

FORT TUTHILL PUMP HOUSE #2 

PRELIMINARY AND DETAILED DESIGN AND BID PHASE SERVICES

CITY PROJECT NO. XX-XXXXX
DRAFT SCOPE OF SERVICES

APRIL 2024

The following Scope of Services describes the professional services to be performed by Carollo 
Engineers, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the “DESIGN CONSULTANT”) associated with the 
City of Flagstaff Fort Tuthill Pump House #2 (FTPH#2) Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid 
Phase Services Project (hereinafter referred to as the “Project”), as approved and executed by 
the City of Flagstaff (hereinafter referred to as the “CITY”).  

This Scope of Services is specific to the Preliminary and Detailed Design Services associated 
with the Project. 

PURPOSE
The purpose of this EXHIBIT A is to define the Project Understanding, Project Assumptions, 
Scope of Services, Time of Performance, and Payment terms for the Project.

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING
In the 2014 Water Master Plan the CITY Water Services Department (WSD) identified a need 
for 2,500 acre-feet/year (A-F/Y) or about 1,500 +/- gallons per minute (gpm) of water supply to 
meet future demands. A Well and Pump House Program was developed and funded for the 
siting, drilling, and putting into service approximately 5 water production wells with adjacent 
Pump Houses (booster pump stations) based on an average well production of 300 gpm. The 
City developed a design concept for each Pump House based on number of pumps, on-site 
storage, type of disinfection, sand separation, electrical and instrumentation, and redundancy. 
As part of the Well Program the CITY drilled the Fort Tuthill Well #2 (FTW#2) within the 
Coconino County Fort Tuthill Recreation Area (FTRA) as the second well in the program 
(McCallister Well and Pump House was the first). The existing FTW#1 is located within the 
FTRA and has been in service for over 10 years. The FTW#1 Pump House was designed to be 
able to accommodate a potential second well in the future. In the summer of 2022, the CITY 
hired Carollo to develop a collaborative Pros/Cons evaluation with CITY staff to compare 
designing a stand-alone Pump House adjacent to FTW#2 or to combine the FTW#1 and FTW#2 
Pump Houses at the existing FTPH#1 location. The result of the comparison scoring favored the 
combined Pump House option, but the estimated cost was problematic. The CITY hired Carollo 
to take the combined Pump House option to a 15% conceptual design so that a more accurate 
cost estimate could be developed and re-compared to the stand-alone Pump House option. 
At the completion of the 15% conceptual design the re-comparison of the two options still 
favored the combined option, but the cost to construct either option was similar. The CITY 
decided to proceed with the combined Pump House option at the existing FTPH#1 site. 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 2

This Project will be the Preliminary Design (from 15% to 30%) and Detailed Design (60%, 90%, 
and 100%) Services effort for a combined Pump House. 

PROJECT ASSUMPTIONS
1. This project is for the Preliminary and Detailed Design Services associated with a combined 

Pump House at the existing FTPH#1 site, well equipping and site features at the FTW#2 site 
and interconnecting raw water pipeline and communications between the two sites. The 
design also includes necessary appurtenances for a complete and functional operating 
facility. 

2. Per the concepts defined in the 2023 FTPH#2 Design Concept Report (DCR), the following 
“boundary conditions” are carried forward:

 The FTPH#2 design will be based on the 15% design concept presented in the DCR and 
will not include evaluation or assessment of other design concepts. 

 The combined Pump House concept includes an at-grade welded steel water storage 
tank that will not exceed 30,000 gallons in size. The welded steel water storage tank will 
be designed and constructed by third-party Vendors and will go through a deferred 
submittal process. 

 A new gaseous chlorine disinfection system will be planned for the combined FTPH#2 
location. 

 A new sand separator will be included and located in the FTPH#2. 

 Well pump equipping for Well #2 will be designed based on Well #2 Completion Reports 
supplied by the WSD. 

 The design will include a buried fiber optic line for communication between Well #2 and 
the FTPH#2. The combined FTPH#2 will communicate offsite using the existing radio 
system. 

 Evaluation of raw water treatment, conditioning, storage, or pumping processes are not 
included in the Scope of Services. 

 Modeling of the existing sewer or potable water systems are not included in the Scope of 
Services. 

3. All easements and right-of-way permissions or acquisitions will be conducted by the WSD 
staff. 

4. The CITY will supply a recent topographical survey and a geotechnical report. 
5. The FTPH#2 Project will not increase the current rated capacity of either FTW#1 or FTW#2. 
6. Project is anticipated to be procured using the Design-Bid-Build (DBB) project delivery 

method. 
7. Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services are targeted to be completed in June 2025, based 

on an anticipated 12-month design schedule, and May 2024 Notice-to-Proceed (NTP) date.
8. Subsequent Bid Services, Construction Administration and Inspection, Testing Phase 

Services, Start-up and Commissioning, and Post-Construction (i.e., Warranty) Services, 
which may include office-related engineering services during construction (ESDC) as well as 
field-related construction administration and inspection (CA&I) efforts, are not a part of this 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 3

Scope of Services and may be handled under a separate Task Order(s), if desired by the 
CITY.

9. Applicable codes and standards will apply only to new buildings, structures, and associated 
facilities, as well as expansions and major modifications to existing buildings and structures. 
Existing buildings, structures, and facilities will not be subject to revised codes or standards 
compliance. Detailed design will be based on the applicable codes and standards as 
adopted by the CITY at the time of the 30% Preliminary Design Review Submittal.

10. Potholing of existing underground facilities and utilities required for design and/or 
construction will be performed by a subconsultant to the CITY.

11. Project Deliverables. DESIGN CONSULTANT will produce and submit draft and final 
reports/memoranda in electronic format for review by the CITY throughout the Project, as 
identified herein. Electronic copies of the various deliverables will be provided in PDF format 
and in native file format (i.e., MS Word, MS Excel, etc.). CITY will agree to review draft 
Project deliverables and provide comments to DESIGN CONSULTANT in a timely manner 
(i.e., two (2) weeks for conceptual design deliverables). To the greatest extent possible, 
review of draft deliverables in a collaborative workshop setting to obtain comments from 
CITY will be followed to reduce overall review time and streamline project schedule.

12. City Responsibilities. CITY will perform / complete the responsibilities as identified in 
EXHIBIT A-1 – CITY RESPONSIBILITIES. These items will be provided in a timely manner 
as required to meet and maintain the Project schedule.

13. Opinion of Probable Construction Cost. Since the DESIGN CONSULTANT has no control 
over the cost of labor, materials, or equipment, over the Contractor’s method for determining 
prices, or over competitive bidding or market conditions, any opinions of probable project 
cost provided as part of this scope are to be made based on DESIGN CONSULTANT’s 
experience and qualifications. These opinions represent DESIGN CONSULTANT best 
judgment as an experienced and qualified professional engineer. However, the DESIGN 
CONSULTANT cannot and does not guarantee that actual project cost will not vary from 
opinions of cost prepared by DESIGN CONSULTANT.

14. Third Parties. The services to be performed by the DESIGN CONSULTANT are intended 
solely for the benefit of the CITY. No person or entity not a signatory to the Contract will be 
entitled to rely on the DESIGN CONSULTANT’s performance of its services hereunder, and 
no right to assert a claim against the DESIGN CONSULTANT by assignment of indemnity 
rights or otherwise will accrue to a third party as a result of the Contract or the performance 
of the DESIGN CONSULTANT’s services hereunder.

15. Standard of Care: DESIGN CONSULTANT will be responsible to the level of competency 
and standard of care presently maintained by other practicing Professional Engineers 
performing the same or similar type work at the time NTP is issued. DESIGN CONSULTANT 
and CITY mutually agree that standard of care, as applied to design professional, will be 
defined as the ordinary and reasonable care required and established by expert testimony of 
what a reasonable and prudent professional would have done under the same or similar 
circumstances.

GENERAL SCOPE OF PROJECT



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 4

The combined FTPH#2 project design and permitting will include the following major 
components and elements:

 New FTW#2 precast Electrical Enclosure and other associated electrical, instrumentation, 
and control (EI&C) appurtenances, to support the capacity of the new FTW#2, as applicable.

 New FTPH#2 booster pump (located adjacent to the existing booster pump) to transfer raw 
water to the CITY distribution system. 

 New on-site raw water storage within an at-grade welded steel tank, the initial design 
concept is for the new tank to be the same size/dimensions as the existing FTPH#1 water 
storage tank. 

 New gaseous chlorine disinfection system.

 New sand separation system.

 Miscellaneous modifications and additions to site/civil elements, including but not 
necessarily limited to paving and grading, yard piping, site utilities, and drainage system, as 
applicable for fully functioning Pump House and Well site facilities.

 Miscellaneous EI&C elements as applicable for fully functioning Pump House and Well site 
facilities. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES
The Scope of Services for the FTPH#2 design is based on the following major Work Breakdown 
Structure (WBS) elements:

 Task 1 – Project Management

 Task 2 – Preliminary Design

 Task 3 – Detailed Design 

 Task 4 – Quality Management

 Task 5 – Permitting Assistance

 Task 7 – Allowances
Specific efforts to be completed for the tasks (and sub-tasks) and the associated deliverables 
are defined further herein.

TASK 1 – PROJECT MANAGEMENT
DESIGN CONSULTANT will perform general project and quality management activities 
throughout the 12-month project design  as delineated in the following sub-tasks.



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 5

1.1 – Project Control and Reporting
Develop monthly progress reports and invoices and submit to the CITY Project Manager 
that identifies the following:

 Work completed since the previous report.

 Work anticipated in the upcoming month.

 Project status, including scheduled and actual percent complete for the major tasks.

 Budget status, including contracted amount, total spent to date, amount remaining, 
percent spent and actual percent complete.

 List of potential scope changes, including a brief description and reason for change, 
along with potential impact on budget and schedule.

 List of issues needing resolution, including party(s) involved and date required so as 
not to impact project schedule.

 Develop a baseline project design schedule (12 months). The initial project schedule 
will be developed in MS Project format. Each activity of the scope of services herein, 
including the various deliverables, meetings, and workshops, will be incorporated into 
the work breakdown structure (WBS) of the schedule. Project schedule will be updated 
as needed throughout the Design.

 Prepare and coordinate Subconsultant agreement(s) required for the Project and 
manage and coordinate the work of its Subconsultant(s) throughout the duration of the 
Project.

In addition to monthly status updates, DESIGN CONSULTANT will develop and maintain 
Project logs documenting key decisions and action items throughout the Project duration.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Monthly Progress Reports & Invoices; Decision Log; 
Action Log

1.2 – Project Meetings
Facilitate virtual meetings as described below. Prepare and distribute agendas and 
minutes for each meeting. Final agendas will be submitted to the CITY at least one (1) day 
prior to the meeting. Minutes will be submitted to the CITY no more than seven (7) working 
days following each meeting and will summarize decisions and action items. 
1.2.1 – Design Phase Kickoff Meeting

Conduct a virtual Project kickoff meeting approximately two (2) weeks following receipt of 
written NTP from the CITY. Meeting objectives will be to review the previous FTPH#2 
study and DCR, confirm lines of communication; coordinate the schedule of monthly 
Project meetings anticipated throughout the duration of the Project.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Meeting Agenda & Notes
1.2.2 – Project Update Meetings

Conduct four virtual project update meetings (every three months) to keep the CITY and 
key Project stakeholders informed of the Project progress and obtain input and direction 
as required. Assume one (1) virtual meeting will include coordination with Fort Tuthill 
Recreation Area and Coconino County staff regarding existing facilities. 
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Meeting Agendas & Notes



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 6

1.2.3 – Submittal Review Workshops

Conduct the following submittal review workshops following the various interim milestone 
review submittals. CITY will participate in the workshops and provide review comments at 
that time. Following each review workshop, DESIGN CONSULTANT will compile all 
comments into a “Comments/Response Log” for review by the CITY.

 30 Percent Submittal Review Workshop – Conduct a two-hour virtual submittal review 
workshop approximately two (2) weeks following the 30 percent design submittal to 
CITY.

 60 Percent Submittal Review Workshop – Conduct a two-hour virtual submittal review 
workshop approximately two (2) weeks following the 60 percent design submittal to 
CITY. The second half of the workshop is anticipated to focus specifically on 
EI&C/Process Controls coordination.

 90 Percent Submittal Review Workshop – Conduct a two-hour virtual submittal review 
workshop approximately two (2) weeks following the 90 percent design submittal to 
CITY. The second half of the workshop is anticipated to focus specifically on 
EI&C/Process Controls coordination.

DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Comments & Response Logs 

TASK 2 – PRELIMINARY DESIGN 
PURPOSE: The overall focus of the Preliminary Design Phase is to develop design concepts, 
facilitate decisions by consensus with the CITY, and develop the applicable equipment and 
discipline design criteria and site development requirements for subsequent detailed design 
phase services. Preliminary Design will be developed to an approximate 30% level of 
completeness.

DESIGN CONSULTANT will develop the necessary facilities, utilities, and on-site infrastructure 
to accommodate the necessary improvements at the FTPH#2 and WS#2 sites. Provisions will 
include preliminary sizing, layouts, connections, corridors, and other general requirements, and 
will be incorporated into design criteria, technical memoranda, preliminary layouts, and other 
preliminary design elements as appropriate and as defined herein, and document in a Basis of 
Design Report (BDR). 
The following tasks describe the specific efforts associated with the Preliminary Design Phase 
of the project. 
NOTE: All draft technical memoranda (TMs) developed as part of Task 2 as identified herein will 
be finalized as part of the Basis of Design Report (included as appendices to BDR).

2.1 – Facilities and Utilities Assessment
Review the existing support facilities and utilities and identify applicable needs and 
updates. Evaluate requirements, including space needs assessments and occupancy 
classifications, and identify additional facilities and/or facility expansions that may be 
required. Evaluate chemical storage, feed facilities requirements, and identify additional 
facilities that may be required. Evaluate existing site, utilities, and associated support 
systems and identify additional system components and/or system expansions or 
upgrades that may be required, including:

 Site paving and grading
 Site yard piping



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 7

 Site drainage system
 Potable water
 Fiber optic and communication utilities

Develop draft technical memorandum summarizing the support facilities and utilities 
assessment. Submit draft technical memorandum for CITY review and comment.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  TM-1 – Facilities and Utilities Assessment

2.2 – Electrical System Strategies
A preliminary load calculation will be performed on the existing Service Entrance Sections. 
If adequate capacity is confirmed available, the FTPH#2 and WS#2 will be fed power from 
the existing SES’s. 
The capacity of the existing standby generator for the FTPH#1 site will be assumed 
adequate for standby power for the combined facilities. 
In addition, load calculations will be developed to determine the size of a standby diesel 
(or gas) generator for WS#2. A preliminary single line diagram will be developed for the 
equipment identified and a list of preferred manufacturers will be developed based on the 
CITY’s preferences.
The proposed equipment will be preliminarily sized, and a layout for the new electrical 
enclosure will be developed. Hazardous areas and main ductbank routings identified.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  TM-2 – Electrical System Strategies 

 Preliminary load calculation for the existing Service Entrance Sections 
 Preliminary single line diagram for the new equipment
 Preliminary electrical building plan layout for the new equipment
 Preliminary electrical site plan layout for the new equipment
 List of preferred manufacturers

2.3 – Instrumentation & Controls and SCADA System Strategies
Identify the instruments needed for the FTPH#2 Project such as:

 Level switches and transmitters
 Flow transmitters
 Temperature transmitters
 Pressure switches, gauges, and transmitters
 Analyzers and gas detectors

A list of preferred manufacturers will be developed based on the CITY’s preferences. 
Other I&C and SCADA-related components required for the project will be identified, 
including PLC(s), communication switches, Ethernet switches, and fiber optic patch 
panels.
The method of communication between the instruments and electronic equipment (i.e., 
VFDs) with the PLC will be identified including hardwire inputs/outputs or communication 
protocols such as Ethernet. The point of connection of the new PLC system to the existing 
PLC system will be identified.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  TM-3 – I&C and SCADA Strategies

 Preliminary Network Diagram for the new PLC system 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 8

 Preliminary PLC cabinet location in the new electrical building
 List of preferred instrumentation manufacturers

2.4 – Drainage Report
A site Drainage Report will be required for permitting efforts. The DESIGN CONSULTANT 
will prepare a Drainage Report, including preliminary Grading and Drainage Plan in the 
area(s) of FTPH#2, to document the site drainage conditions, for review and approval by 
the City of Flagstaff Building Department as part of the associated permit application.
A draft Drainage Report will be submitted in conjunction with the 60 Percent Design 
Review submittal package. The final Drainage Report will be submitted to the CITY along 
with the Agency Review submittal.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Draft and Final Drainage Report 

2.5 – Preliminary (30%) Design Review Submittal Package
The Preliminary (30%) Design review submittal is intended to expand the 15% design 
concepts and strategies and present in 2D format, to initiate the necessary administrative 
and regulatory permitting process. This submittal will be used to perform initial review and 
coordination with the internal CITY Departments and stakeholders.
The 30% design review submittal will consist of all project elements and not be separated 
for potential multiple bid packages. The 30% design review submittal will consist of the 
elements defined in Task 3 – Detailed Design, with a reduced level of detail as 
appropriate. The 30% design review submittal will consist of the following:

 General Drawings

 Civil Drawings

 Structural Drawings

 Mechanical Drawings

 Electrical Drawings 

 Instrumentation and Controls Drawings

 Technical Specifications – Develop a list [outline] of technical specifications 
expected for the Project. List of specifications will be arranged in tabular format by 
CSI Division utilizing the CSI MasterFormat (17-Division) structure. 

 Typical Details – Develop a list [outline] of typical details expected for the Project. 
List of typical details will be arranged in tabular format by discipline. 

 Equipment & Instrumentation List Tag Numbering – Summarize the CITY list of 
approved major equipment and instrumentation, in accordance with proposed tag 
numbering scheme.

DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Drawings, Technical Specifications (list only), Typical 
Details (list only), and Equipment and Instrumentation List 

2.6 – Basis of Design Report (BDR)
The purpose of the BDR is to document key design decisions to transition into detailed 
design accordingly and will be the basis for the preparation of subsequent detailed design 
plans and specifications. 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 9

The BDR will summarize and document the equipment, schematics, layouts, and criteria 
developed and evaluated in previous tasks for CITY review and approval, which will 
include the following elements:

 Executive summary that identifies the operational characteristics, performance targets, 
and other design criteria.

 Process flow diagram for the recommended combined Pump House concept. 

 Overall site layout depicting the FTPH#2 and WS#2 concepts and supporting facilities. 

 All layouts, schematics, and diagrams will be in 11-inch by 17-inch format suitable for 
inclusion into a bound report. 

 Compilation of the anticipated preliminary design criteria for the recommended well 
pumping, booster pumping, and supporting facilities, compiled from the preliminary 
criteria developed under previous tasks. Criteria will be in tabular format suitable for 
inclusion into a bound report. 

 Incorporation of CITY comments on draft TMs prepared under previous tasks, to 
finalize accordingly, and include as appendices to BDR document.

Develop draft BDR, with updated technical memoranda. Submit draft BDR for CITY review 
and comment, and then finalize accordingly.
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Draft and Final BDR

TASK 3 – DETAILED DESIGN
DESIGN CONSULTANT will develop construction documents through a progressive detailed 
design effort that consists of the following efforts and tasks.

Detailed Design Efforts
DESIGN CONSULTANT will prepare detailed construction contract documents for the project 
that will be used by the bidders to; bid and construct the project, develop a project schedule, 
equipment, and subcontractor procurement; as well as by the regulatory agencies to issues 
applicable permits for the construction and operation of the Project.
The Detailed Design will consist of a multi-discipline design effort described by the following 
elements:

 General / Civil / Site Work – The general / civil design will include hydraulic analysis, 
development of Pump House site layout and survey control in the area, site drainage, 
paving and grading, and location of yard piping. Where necessary to define vertical 
alignment, yard piping profiles will be included for gravity pipelines and pressure pipes 
greater than 12 inches in diameter. 

 Landscaping – No landscaping design (plantings or irrigation system) is anticipated.

 Architectural – The architectural design will include the development of basic building 
layouts, conformance to the existing overall site theme and site security requirements, and 
selection of building materials. A building code occupancy plan will also be developed. 
Building designs will include the FTPH#2 and WS#2 Electrical Enclosure. 

 Structural – The structural design will include the development of structural design criteria, 
selection of structural construction materials, design of foundations and foundation 
treatment, and design of the structural members for the various required facilities. 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 10

 Process / Mechanical – The process design will include development of the detailed control 
and operation schemes for the Pump House operation. The mechanical design will include 
determination of equipment performance and characteristics required, selection of 
mechanical equipment, location, and arrangement of the equipment (with tag numbers) and 
associated piping, design of the equipment and the associated piping, and design of the 
supports for equipment and piping. Coordinate with CITY to develop schedules and typical 
details for supports of exposed piping and equipment. Supports will be shown on the design 
drawings as agreed to by DESIGN CONSULTANT and CITY. In general, tag numbers for all 
valves 4 inches or greater and any other actuated valves (electric or pneumatic) will be 
included on mechanical drawings.

 HVAC / Plumbing / Fire Protection – The HVAC design will include the development of 
heating, ventilation, and air conditioning systems required for the FTPH#2 and WS#2 
Electrical Enclosure buildings and areas, including equipment, ductwork, and ancillary 
devices. The plumbing design will include the development of potable and non-potable 
(seal) water and drainage systems required for the various buildings and areas. The fire 
protection design will be a performance specification only and will include fire suppression 
systems required for the various buildings and areas, including wet sprinklers and alarm 
systems. The plumbing and fire protection design will be coordinated with utility 
requirements. Coordinate with CITY to develop schedules and typical details for supports of 
exposed utility piping, HVAC ductwork, and equipment. Supports will be shown on the 
design drawings as agreed to by DESIGN CONSULTANT and CITY.

 Electrical – The electrical design will include an assessment of new FTPH#2 power 
requirements, coordination with the FTPH#1 existing power distribution system, design of 
power distribution and lighting systems for the new WS#2 building and areas, development 
of motor control schemes, design of MCCs and power conduits, and identification of area 
classifications, based on CITY’s input and approval of recommended strategies and 
manufacturers. The electrical design will be coordinated with CITY’s and the local power 
providing utility requirements. Coordinate with CITY to develop schedules and typical details 
for supports of exposed conduit and equipment. Supports will be shown on the design 
drawings as agreed to by DESIGN CONSULTANT and CITY. 
Technical specifications developed by the DESIGN CONSULTANT will include provisions 
requiring the CONTRACTOR (and associated subcontractors and/or suppliers) to provide an 
additional level of detail as part of the shop drawing submittal process for DESIGN 
CONSULTANT and CITY’s review and approval, and for documentation purposes, in both 
hardcopy and electronic format. 

 Instrumentation and Controls – The instrumentation and controls (I&C) design will include 
specification of instrumentation hardware and software required to accomplish the 
distributed control and operation scheme(s), design of alarm and display systems, selection 
of control and monitoring instruments, and detailed control strategies to facilitate 
programming efforts. Instrumentation design will include only on-site FTPH#2 and WS#2 
facilities up to the interface point with the CITY’s SCADA telemetry system. 
Technical specifications developed by the DESIGN CONSULTANT will include provisions 
requiring the CONTRACTOR (and associated subcontractors and/or suppliers) to provide an 
additional level of detail as part of the shop drawing submittal process for DESIGN 
CONSULTANT and CITY’s review and approval, and for documentation purposes, in both 
hardcopy and electronic format. 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 11

3.1 – (60%) Design Review Submittal Package 
The 60% review submittal will include applicable updates from the 30% review submittal, 
including the incorporation of applicable 30% submittal review comments provided by 
CITY. Provide a copy of a 30% design submittal comments log with the 60% review 
submittal. 
Update the 15% Design opinion of probable construction costs estimate to AACEI Class 4 
level of accuracy based on the 60% level of design for the FTPH#2 and WS#2. 
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Drawings, Typical Details (book form), Technical 
Specifications, Equipment and Instrumentation List, and Opinion of Probable 
Construction Costs

3.2 – (90%) Design and Agency Review Submittal Package 
The (90%) submittal is intended as a concurrent internal review set for quality 
management and reviews by regulatory agencies and agencies having authority.
The 90% submittal package will include applicable updates from the 60% review submittal, 
including the incorporation of applicable 60% submittal review comments provided by 
CITY, plus the incorporation of typical details into the drawing set. Provide a copy of a 
60% design submittal comments log with the 90% review submittal.
Update the opinion of probable construction costs estimate to AACEI Class 3 level of 
accuracy based on the 90% level of design. 
Provide six (6) sets of submittal package consisting of the full-size plans and specifications 
for submission to the City of Flagstaff Development Services (Planning, Building, 
Engineering, and Fire) Departments for code compliance and agency review. Agency 
review sets will be sealed and stamped with “FOR AGENCY REVIEW ONLY - NOT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION” or similar note. All applicable department review fees will be paid for 
directly by the CITY.
Provide three (3) sets of submittal package consisting of the full-size plans and 
specifications for submission to the Coconino County Environmental Services Department 
(CCESD) for code compliance and agency review. Agency review sets will be sealed and 
stamped with “FOR AGENCY REVIEW ONLY - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION” or similar 
note. The CITY will pay all applicable agency review fees.
DELIVERABLES:  
 Drawings, Technical Specifications and Opinion of Probable Construction Costs 
 CITY Staff:  Half-Size Review Drawings and Technical Specifications
 CITY DSD:  Full-Size Drawings and Technical Specifications (6 hardcopy sets)
 CCESD:  Full-Size Drawings and Technical Specifications (TBD hardcopy sets)

3.3 – Final (100%) Contract Documents
The 100% (Final) set of Contract Documents will include applicable updates from the 
Agency Review submittal, plus applicable CITY, and agency review comments. Finalize, 
seal, and submit all design drawings and technical specifications (including “Front-End 
Documents, Special Provisions, Bid Alternatives, and a Bid Schedule) in the appropriate 
format within thirty (30) days following receipt of all review comments provided by CITY 
and other review agencies. Provide a copy of a 90% design submittal and Agency review 
comments log to CITY with the final submittal. 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 12

Update the opinion of probable construction costs estimate to AACEI Class 2 level of 
accuracy based on the 100% design for the FTPH#2 and WS#2. 
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  Drawings, Technical Specifications and Opinion of 
Probable Construction Costs

TASK 4 – QUALITY MANAGEMENT
DESIGN CONSULTANT will perform general project and quality management activities 
throughout the Design Phase as delineated in the following sub-tasks.

4.1 – Technical Peer Reviews
Conduct an in-house technical peer review at the 30% design submittal stage to review 
the various design efforts, including relevant design criteria, layouts, and inter-
relationships with current and anticipated future regulatory requirements. Peer review will 
be conducted using DESIGN PROFESSIONAL's subject matter expert(s).

4.2 – Operability Reviews
Perform an internal operability review at the 30% design submittal stage. This review will 
be conducted to verify that the preferred operational strategies and control philosophy are 
being properly implemented. 

4.3 – Constructability Reviews
Perform an internal constructability analysis of the plans and specifications at the 60% 
design submittal stage. This will include a review of the design for the use of practical cost-
effective construction measures, procedures, scheduling, and required construction 
activities and their impact on existing facility operation. 

4.4 – Detailed Quality Management Checks
Perform an internal detailed quality management check of the plans and specifications 
prior to the 90% design review [Agency Review] submittal. Efforts will include items 
identified on DESIGN CONSULTANT’s detailed checklist, in accordance with the Quality 
Management Plan. This check will include a review of the plans, specifications, and typical 
details for conformity with the local, state, and federal guidelines, as well as coordination 
between all discipline groups. 
DELIVERABLES (PDF only):  90% Design Review Submittal Comments Log

TASK 5 – PERMITTING ASSISTANCE
DESIGN CONSULTANT will perform various permitting coordination and assistance activities 
with the CITY Regulatory Compliance Specialist throughout the Design Phase, as delineated in 
the following tasks. 

5.1 – City of Flagstaff Permitting Coordination
DESIGN CONSULTANT will lead the permitting efforts required with the CITY 
Development Services Department. Confirm applicable codes and standards identified 
during the Preliminary Design phase and update as appropriate. Develop applicable 
permit applications and supporting documents in accordance with the Permitting 
Assistance Plan. Facilitate early coordination meetings with applicable representatives of 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 13

the CITY Development Services Departments at the 30% design stage. Submit applicable 
Interim Submittal Review and Agency Review documents and associated reports, plans 
and supporting information to the CITY Development Service Departments for Building, 
Site, Civil and Fire plan review approvals accordingly. 
The initial versions of the application packages will be assembled and submitted to CITY 
for review after receipt of all necessary information. Upon receipt of comments, the 
application packages will be finalized and include necessary CITY signatures and will then 
be submitted to the appropriate Department representatives. 
Following submittal of the final packages, DESIGN CONSULTANT will support the 
application process through discussions with CITY staff and will submit additional 
information, as requested. 
NOTE: It is assumed that any permit fees for the Project will be paid directly by the CITY.

DELIVERABLES:  Draft and Final Permit Applications and Supporting 
Documentation (Number of copies TBD)

5.2 – Approval to Construct Permit Coordination
If determined to be required, DESIGN CONSULTANT will lead the Approval to Construct 
(ATC) permitting efforts with the Coconino County Environmental Services Department 
(CCESD) and/or Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ). 
Prepare for and facilitate a pre-application meeting with CCESD and/or ADEQ to discuss 
the ATC permit requirements and required supporting information, including potential 
phased review requirements. 
In addition to the Agency Review document set(s) and Design Report, develop an ATC 
permit application in accordance with applicable requirements. The initial versions of the 
ATC application packages will be assembled and submitted to CITY for review after 
receipt of all necessary information. Upon receipt of comments, the application packages 
will be finalized and submitted for non-expedited review to obtain the ATC. 
Following submittal of the final application packages, DESIGN CONSULTANT will support 
the application process through additional agency discussions and will submit additional 
information, as requested.
NOTE: The CITY will directly pay all applicable permit application review fees.

NOTE: The subsequent Approval of Construction (AOC) submission is not included within 
this scope of services but will be included under a subsequent Construction Phase 
Services contract (if desired).

DELIVERABLES:  Draft and Final Permit Applications and Supporting 
Documentation (Number of copies TBD)

TASK 7 – ALLOWANCES 
DESIGN CONSULTANT will coordinate with appropriate CITY staff regarding any required 
modifications to the existing scope of services for the use of Task 7 – Allowances funds and 
provide any supporting information as applicable.
7.1 – Miscellaneous Services and Other Direct Costs

PURPOSE: The direct costs to the DESIGN CONSULTANT will be reimbursed for 



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 14

miscellaneous services and/or other direct costs (ODCs) such as, but not limited to, 
printing, mail, courier service, travel, and lodging. 

TIME OF PERFORMANCE
The work covered by this design services Task Order will be complete within 12 months from 
the receipt of written Notice to Proceed (NTP) from CITY, in accordance with the preliminary 
schedule presented in EXHIBIT C.
PAYMENT

Payment for the items listed herein will include a Not-to-Exceed amount of $377,542.00 based 
on the actual expended labor hours and costs estimated in EXHIBIT B plus Subconsultants in 
the amount of $120,846.00, for a base Project amount of $498,388.00. 

Additional Allowances in the amount of $1,600.00 are also included as defined in Exhibit A, for a 
total contract Not-to-Exceed amount of $499,988.00.



2024-04-08 FTPH#2 Preliminary and Detailed Design and Bid Phase Services - DRAFT Scope.docx 15

EXHIBIT A-1

CITY RESPONSIBILITIES

The following items to be completed by the CITY are intended to supplement the requirements 
set forth in the DESIGN CONSULTANT Agreement:

1. Supply a preferred Equipment List and costs for the principal equipment to be designed and 
installed at the FTPH#2 and WS#2 facilities. 

2. As requested, aid the DESIGN CONSULTANT in gaining access to and making provisions 
for the DESIGN CONSULTANT to enter upon public and private land as required for the 
DESIGN CONSULTANT to perform its work under this Contract.

3. Provide all CITY standards, specifications, and details that are to be incorporated into the 
design.

4. Review and provide written comments to DESIGN CONSULTANT’s questions, draft and 
interim submittals, and other design review materials in a timely manner within the 
appropriate review/comment period(s) as identified on the Project Schedule.

5. Furnish, to the extent reasonable, available copies of all calculations, reports, and data 
applicable to the FTPH#1, WS#1, and WS#2.

6. Furnish information regarding CITY utilities (existing and/or proposed) within the FTRA and 
near the proposed project sites. 

7. Obtain all easements and rights-of-way (as applicable).

8. Directly pay all Building and Fire Department review fees (for civil, building and fire plan 
reviews), as applicable.



Sht. No. Dwg. No. Carollo, EIC, Sub

1 G-01 TITLE SHEET AND LOCATION MAPS C

2 G-02 C

3 G-03 C

4 G-04 C

5 C-01 CIVIL GENERAL NOTES, SYMBOLS, AND ABBREVIATIONS C

6 C-02 WELL NO. 2 SITE PLAN AND EASEMENT PLAN C

7 C-03 HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL CONTROL C

8 C-04 FTPH #2 GRADING AND PAVING PLAN C

9 C-05 WELL SITE NO. 2 GRADING AND PAVING PLAN C

10 C-06 FTRA ACCESS ROADS GRADING AND PAVING PLAN C

11 C-07 PLAN AND PROFILE STA 0+00 TO STA 10+00 C

12 C-08 PLAN AND PROFILE STA 10+00 TO STA 20+00 C

13 C-09 PLAN AND PROFILE STA 20+00 TO STA 30+00 C

14 C-10 CIVIL DETAILS 1 C

15 A-01 GENERAL CODE ANALYSIS AND PROJECT SUMMARY C

16 A-02 C

17 A-03 C

18 A-04 C

19 S-01 STRUCTURAL GENERAL NOTES C

20 S-02 FTPH#2 TANK PLANS C

21 S-03 FTPH#2 STRUCTURAL SECTIONS 1 C

22 S-14 C

23 M-01 C

24 M-02 C

25 M-03 C

26 M-04 C

27 M-05 C

28 M-06 C

29 M-07 C

30 H-01 C

31 H-02 C

32 E-01 E

33 E-02 E

34 E-03 E

35 E-04 E

36 E-05 E

37 E-06 E

38 E-07 E

39 E-08 E

40 E-19 E

41 E-10 E

42 E-11 E

43 E-12 E

44 E-13 E

45 E-14 E

46 E-15 E

47 E-16 E

48 E-17 E

49 E-18 E

50 N-01 E

51 N-02 E

52 N-03 E

53 N-04 E

54 N-05 E

55 N-06 E

56 T-01 C

56

INSTRUMENTATION DETAILS 2

Drawing Title

FTPH#2 MECHANCIAL TANK PIPING PLAN

NETWORK COMMUNICATION DIAGRAM 

P&ID CHLORINATION SYSTEM

LEGENDS AND SYMBOLS - 1

WELL PUMP CONTROL SCHEMATICS

GENERAL (G)

WELL SITE NO. 2 ELECTRICAL ENCLOSURE FLOOR PLANS

WELL SITE NO. 2 ELECTRICAL ENCLOSURE ELEVATIONS

ARCHITECTURAL DETAILS 1

STRUCTURAL (S)

DRAWING INDEX AND PIPELINE IDENTIFIERS AND GENERAL NOTES

OVERALL SITE PLAN AND EASEMENTS

STRUCTURAL DETAILS 1 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

Fort Tuthill Pump House

Conceptual (30%) and Detailed (60%, 90%, and Final) Design and Bid Services

APRIL 2024

PRELIMINARY DRAWING LIST

HVAC (H)

ELECTRICAL (E)

ELECTRICAL ABBREVIATIONS

BOOSTER SITE POWER, CONTROL, LIGHTING, AND GROUNDING PLAN - DEMO

FTPH#2 HVAC

ELECTRICAL SYMBOLS - 1

OVERALL AREA MAP - BOOSTER AND WELL SITES

PROCESS FLOW DIAGRAM

CIVIL ( C )

ARCHITECTURAL (A)

FTPH#2 MECHANCIAL PIPING SECTIONS

MECHANICAL (M)

MECHANICAL SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

FTPH#2 MECHANCIAL PIPING PLAN

TOTAL SHEETS (PRELIMINARY AND DETAILED DESIGN) = 

WELL SITE NO. 2 MECHANICAL PIPING

P&ID WELL PUMP

ELECTRICAL ROOM - POWER AND CONTROL PLAN - DEMO

ELECTRICAL ROOM - POWER AND CONTROL PLAN - REVISED

SINGLE LINE DIAGRAM - DEMO

SINGLE LINE DIAGRAM - REVISED (FTP#2 AND WELL SITE #2)

LOAD SUMMARY  AND PANEL SCHEDULES  (FTP#2 AND WELL SITE #2)

CONTROL CONDUIT AND CABLE BLOCK DIAGRAM

BOOSTER PUMP CONTROL SCHEMATICS

INSTRUMENTS AND LEVEL CONTROL SCHEMATICS

FTPH#2 MECHANICAL TANK PIPING SECTIONS

MECHANICAL DETAILS 1

LEGEND AND SYMBOLS

CHLORINATION CONTROL SCHEMATICS

ELECTRICAL DETAILS 2

BOOSTER SITE POWER AND CONTROL PLAN - REVISED

BOOSTER SITE LIGHTING AND GROUNDING PLAN - REVISED

WELL SITE POWER, CONTROL, LIGHTING, AND GROUNDING PLAN

INSTRUMENTATION AND CONTROL (N)

TYPICAL DETAILS 1

P&ID BOOSTER PUMP

TYPICAL DETAILS (T)

FTPH#2 - Dwg List



4/8/2024

P
ro

je
c
t 

M
a
n

a
g

e
r

S
e
n

io
r 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l

L
e
a
d

 P
ro

je
c
t 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l

P
ro

je
c
t 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 

E
n

g
in

e
e
r

A
s
s
is

ta
n

t 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l

C
A

D
 T

e
c
h

n
ic

ia
n

A
s
s
is

ta
n

t 
C

A
D

 

T
e
c
h

n
ic

ia
n

C
le

ri
c
a
l

S
u

b
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a
n

ts
  

(W
it

h
 M

a
rk

u
p

)

1.1 Project Control and Reporting (12 Months) 18 18 4,518$              

1.2 Project Meetings 12 12 0 23 47 13,213$            

Subtotal 12 12 0 41 0 0 0 0 0 18,520$          65 36,251$            

2.1 Facilities and Utilities Assessment 8 8 16 16 48 9,744$              

2.2 Electrical System Strategies 8 8 16 2,280$              

2.3 Instrumentation & Controls and SCADA System Strategies 8 8 16 2,280$              

2.4 Drainage Report 4 24 8 36 6,736$              

2.5 Preliminary (30%) Design Review Submittal Package 8 8 84 48 90 238 45,014$            

2.6 Basis of Design Report (BDR) 12 12 24 32 12 92 17,904$            

Subtotal 24 0 16 20 148 112 90 0 36 46,234$          446 130,192$          

3.1 60% Detailed Design Drawings 16 8 72 48 64 90 298 61,390$            

3.2 60% Detailed Design Technical Specifications 44 12 56 9,748$              

3.3 60% Design Cost Estimate 4 16 20 5,256$              

3.4 90% Detailed Design Drawings 8 8 78 48 64 136 342 69,018$            

3.5 90% Detailed Design Technical Specifications 68 24 92 15,736$            

3.6 90% Design Cost Estimate 4 16 20 5,256$              

3.7 Final (100%) Detailed Design Drawings 8 8 16 64 40 64 200 39,112$            

3.8 Final (100%) Detailed Design Technical Specifications 16 8 24 3,992$              

3.9 Final (100%) Design Cost Estimate 4 16 20 5,256$              

Subtotal 44 0 24 214 288 168 290 0 44 66,602$          1072 281,366$          

4.1 Technical Peer Reviews 8 8 2,008$              

4.2 Operability Reviews 8 8 2,008$              

4.3 Constructability Reviews 12 12 3,012$              

4.4 Detailed Quality Management Checks 100 100 31,000$            

Subtotal 0 100 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 -$               128 38,028$            

5.1 City of Flagstaff Permitting Coordination 8 16 24 5,488$              

5.2 Approval to Construct Permit Coordination 8 16 24 5,488$              

Subtotal 16 0 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 1,575$            48 12,551$            

Labor Hours  96 112 40 303 468 280 380 0 80 132,931$        1,759 498,388$          

Labor Billing Rate ($/hour)  $310 $310 $267 $251 $188 $162 $187 $139 $123

Carollo Labor Cost ($)  $29,760 $34,720 $10,680 $76,053 $87,984 $45,360 $71,060 $0 $9,840 $12,085 377,542$          

7.2 - EIC Engineers Reimbursable Expenses 750$                1,600$              

7.3 - EIC Engineers 120,846$         

1,600$              

499,988$          

Total Subconsultant Fee = 121,596$         

Refer to estimate by task above; does not include 10% markup; fee proposal amount includes 10% markup.

NOTES:

1. Compensation method will be based on the fee schedule rates above with a not-to-exceed amount of the Total Budget Estimate shown. Invoiced amounts will reflect actual labor hours, subconsultant costs, and expenses.

2. Task line item budgets are shown for estimating purposes only and do not represent individual not-to-exceed amounts. Actual expenditures for individual tasks will likely vary from the task estimates.

3. Carollo labor billing rates shown are based on 2024 ADOA labor rates, and subject to change annually.

4 Owner's Contingency to be Determined by Owner at Time of Final Contract

1 - Design Management and Administration (12 Month Duration)

2 - Preliminary (30%) Design Submittal Package

3 - Detailed (60%, 90%, and Final) Design and Specifications Submittal Packages

4 - Quality Management

5 - Permitting Assistance

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

FORT TUTHILL PUMP HOUSE #2 PRELIMINARY AND DETAILED DESIGN AND BID PHASE SERVICES

EXHIBIT B - DRAFT REVISED CHANGE ORDER FEE PROPOSAL

TASKS TASK DESCRIPTION

Carollo Labor Hours by Category

T
o

ta
l 
C

a
ro

ll
o

 L
a
b

o
r 

H
o

u
rs

C
a
ro

ll
o

 L
a
b

o
r 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

+
 S

u
b

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a
n

t

Subconsultants

7.1 - Reimbursable Expenses - ODCs (i.e. reproduction, vehicle mileage, etc.)

Total Allowances = 

Task 7 - Allowances

Total Fee = 



 

Available online at: Appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 1 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Notice of Request for Qualifications 
 

 

 

Request for Qualifications 
Design Professional Services 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street, 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS    
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-2579, the Arizona Department of Administration (ADOA), General Services Division 
(the State) is seeking to establish multiple Professional Service contracts with engineering design firm(s) to 
provide on-call civil engineering services for maintenance and capital improvement projects of varying size 
and complexity for projects located throughout the state. Contracts may be awarded to a maximum of ten 
(10) firms. 

The State proposes to retain highly qualified, capable firms to act as the Civil Engineer on the design of future 
projects. The firms who participate in this Request for Qualifications (RFQu) process are referred to as 
“Offerors” or “Engineers” throughout the solicitation documents.  

All design and construction will be dependent on the level of funding committed to capital maintenance.  

Contract(s) will be utilized by State Agencies and Cooperative Members. 

List of all state agencies is available at:  https://azdirect.az.gov/agencies  
Active Co-Op Members List is available at:  https://spo.az.gov/procurement-services/cooperative-
procurement/state-purchasing-cooperative . 

The State reserves the right to negotiate with one or more parties and is not obligated to enter into any 
contract with any respondent on any terms or conditions. Any designs resulting from this solicitation may be 
used in future projects of similar scope. 

AMENDED DUE DATE AND TIME: Offers are due Tuesday, January 11, 2022 by 3:00 PM, Arizona time. 

Awards for this solicitation will result in base contracts. The State makes no guarantee as to actual spend 
under any resultant contract. Individual tasks will be identified and awarded as Task Orders to this base 
contract. 

In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-2579, request for qualifications for the Design Professional services specified, 
will be received by the State Procurement Office online through the State’s e-Procurement system, APP 
(www.app.az.gov) at the date and time posted in APP. Qualifications received by the correct time and date 
will be opened and the name of each offeror will be publicly available.  

Qualifications must be in the actual possession of the State on or prior to the time and date indicated in 
the Notice. 

LATE QUALIFICATIONS WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED 

Persons with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language interpreter, by 
contacting the appropriate Procurement Agency. Requests should be made as early as possible to allow time 
to arrange the accommodation. A person requiring special accommodations may contact the solicitation 
contact person responsible for this procurement as identified above.  

OFFERORS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO CAREFULLY READ THE ENTIRE SOLICITATION  

https://procure.az.gov/bso/
https://azdirect.az.gov/agencies
https://spo.az.gov/procurement-services/cooperative-procurement/state-purchasing-cooperative
https://spo.az.gov/procurement-services/cooperative-procurement/state-purchasing-cooperative
http://www.app.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 2 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 
 

RFQ Table of Contents 
 

 

RFQ TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS ......................................................... 4 

1.0 DEFINITION OF TERMS: ................................................................................................. 4 

2.0 INQUIRIES ...................................................................................................................... 4 

3.0 OFFER PREPARATION .................................................................................................... 6 

4.0 SUBMISSION OF OFFER ................................................................................................. 8 

5.0 EVALUATION ............................................................................................................... 11 

6.0 AWARD ........................................................................................................................ 14 

7.0 PROTESTS..................................................................................................................... 15 

STATEMENT OF WORK .................................................................. 16 

1.0 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................ 16 

2.0 BACKGROUND .............................................................................................................. 16 

3.0 SCOPE REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................................ 16 

4.0 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL REQUIREMENTS ..................................................................... 18 

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS ............................................... 19 

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONSERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 3 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 
 

RFQ Table of Contents 
 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS - REQUIRED DOCUMENTS  
ORDER OF ATTACHMENTS 

ATTACHMENT 1 – OFFER AND ACCEPTANCE FORM (MUST SIGN) 

ATTACHMENT 2 – BOYCOTT OF ISRAEL DISCLOSURE (MUST SIGN) 

ATTACHMENT 3 – OFFEROR INFORMATION QUESTIONNAIRE 

ATTACHMENT 4 – METHOD PROPOSAL 

ATTACHMENT 5 –ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE 

ATTACHMENT 6 – KEY PERSONNEL PROPOSAL / RESUMES 

ATTACHMENT 7 – PROPOSED SUBCONTRACTORS 

ATTACHMENT 8 – LETTER OF INSURABILITY 

ATTACHMENT 9 – PRICING (DO NOT SUBMIT WITH SOQ) 

ATTACHMENT 10 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION DESIGNATION (MUST SIGN) 

ATTACHMENT 11 – CONFORMANCE STATEMENTS 

ATTACHMENT 12 – CONFORMANCE STATEMENT SUPPLEMENTS (MUST SIGN) 

 

ATTACHMENTS-NOT REQUIRED DOCUMENTS 
ATTACHMENT – SAMPLE CONTRACT  

  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 4 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS 
1.0 DEFINITION OF TERMS:   

As used in these Instructions, the terms listed below are defined as follows: 

1.1 Attachment 

“Attachment” means any item the Solicitation requires an Offeror to submit as part of the 
Offer. 

1.2 Best and Final Offer 

“Best and Final Offer” means a revision to an Offer submitted after negotiations are 
completed that contains the Offeror’s most favorable terms for price, service, and products 
to be delivered.  

1.3 E-Procurement  

“eProcurement (Electronic Procurement)” means conducting all or some of the procurement 
function over the Internet. Point, click, buy, and ship Internet technology is replacing paper-
based procurement and supply management business processes. Elements of eProcurement 
also include Request for Qualifications, Request for Proposals, and Request for Quotations. 

1.4 Offer  

“Offer” means a response to a Solicitation. 

1.5 Offeror  

“Offeror” means a person who responds to a Solicitation. 

1.6 Solicitation  

“Solicitation” means a Request for Proposals (“IFB”), a Request for Technical Offers, a 
Request for Proposals (“RFP”), a Request for Quotations (“RFQ”), or any other invitation or 
request issued by the purchasing agency to invite a person to submit an offer. 

1.7 Solicitation Amendment  

“Solicitation Amendment” means a change to the Solicitation issued by the Procurement 
Officer.  

2.0 INQUIRIES 
2.1 Duty to Examine 

It is the responsibility of each Offeror to examine the entire Solicitation, seek clarification in 
writing through the APP project specific Discussion Forum and examine its Offer for accuracy 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 5 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

before submitting an Offer. Lack of care in preparing an Offer shall not be grounds for 
modifying or withdrawing the Offer after the Offer due date and time. 

2.2 Solicitation Contact Person 

Any inquiry related to a Solicitation, including any requests for or inquiries regarding 
standards referenced in the Solicitation shall be directed solely to the Procurement Officer. 

2.3 Submission of Inquiries 

All inquiries related to the Solicitation are required to be submitted in the State’s 
eProcurement system. All responses to inquiries will be answered in the State’s 
eProcurement system. Any inquiry related to the Solicitation should reference the 
appropriate solicitation page and paragraph number. Offerors are prohibited from 
contacting any state employee other than the Procurement Officer concerning the 
procurement while the solicitation and evaluation are in process.   

2.4 Timeliness 

Any inquiry or exception to the Solicitation shall be submitted as soon as possible for review 
and determination by the State. Failure to do so may result in the inquiry not being 
considered for a Solicitation Amendment. 

2.5 No Right to Rely on Verbal or Electronic Mail Responses 

An Offeror shall not rely on verbal or electronic mail responses to inquiries. A verbal or 
electronic mail reply to an inquiry does not constitute a modification of the solicitation. 

2.6 Solicitation Amendments 

The Solicitation shall only be modified by a Solicitation Amendment. 

2.7 Pre-Submittal Conference 

If a pre-submittal conference has been scheduled under the Solicitation, the date, time and 
location shall appear in the State’s eProcurement system. Offerors should raise any 
questions about the Solicitation at that time. An Offeror may not rely on any verbal 
responses to questions at the conference. Material issues raised at the conference that 
result in changes to the Solicitation shall be answered solely through a Solicitation 
Amendment. 

2.8 Persons with Disabilities 

Persons with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language 
interpreter, by contacting the Procurement Officer. Requests shall be made as early as 
possible to allow time to arrange the accommodation. 

All questions related to the content of this Request for Qualifications shall be submitted via the Q & A 
Discussion Forum function within the solicitation in APP. Inquiries received less than 72 hours prior to 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 6 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

the bid opening date are not guaranteed to be answered before the offer due date and time. Only 
official solicitation amendments issued by the State Procurement Office through APP shall constitute 
a change to the solicitation requirements. Technical inquiries about submitting your offer in APP 
should be submitted to the APP Help Desk by phone at (602) 542-7600, option 2, or by email at 
app@azdoa.gov  

3.0 OFFER PREPARATION 
3.1 Electronic Documents 

The Solicitation is provided in an electronic format. Offerors are responsible for clearly 
identifying any and all changes or modifications to any Solicitation documents upon 
submission to the State’s eProcurement system. Any unidentified alteration or modification 
to any Solicitation, attachments, exhibits, forms, charts, or illustrations contained herein 
shall be null and void. Offeror’s electronic files shall be submitted in a format acceptable to 
the State. Acceptable formats include .doc and .docx (Microsoft Word), .xls and .xlsx 
(Microsoft Excel), .ppt and .pptx (Microsoft PowerPoint) and .pdf (Adobe Acrobat). Offerors 
wishing to submit files in any other format shall submit an inquiry to the Procurement 
Officer. 

3.2 Evidence of Intent to be bound 

The Offer and Acceptance form within the Solicitation shall be submitted with the Offer in 
the State’s eProcurement system and shall include a signature by a person authorized to 
sign the Offer. The signature shall signify the Offeror’s intent to be bound by the Offer and 
the terms of the Solicitation and that the information provided is true, accurate, and 
complete. Failure to submit verifiable evidence of intent to be bound, such as a signature, 
shall result in rejection of the Offer. 

3.3 Exceptions to RFQu Documents 

3.3-A Exceptions to the Terms and Conditions.  

All exceptions included with the Offer shall be submitted in the State’s 
eProcurement system in a clearly identified separate section of the Offer in which 
the Offeror clearly identifies the specific paragraphs of the Solicitation where the 
exceptions occur. Any exceptions not included in such a section shall be without 
force and effect in any resulting Contract unless such exception is specifically 
accepted by the Procurement Officer in a written statement. The Offeror’s 
preprinted or standard terms will not be considered by the State as a part of any 
resulting Contract. 

3.3-B Exceptions To Other Solicitation Documents  

An Offer that takes exception to a material requirement of any part of the 
Solicitation, including terms and conditions, shall be rejected. 

https://appstate.az.gov/
mailto:app@azdoa.gov


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 7 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

3.3-C Exceptions Affect Evaluation 

All exceptions that are contained in the Offer may negatively impact an Offeror’s 
susceptibility for award. An Offer that takes exception to any material 
requirement of the solicitation may be rejected. 

3.4 Subcontracts 

Offeror shall clearly list any proposed subcontractors and the subcontractor’s proposed 
responsibilities in the Offer. 

3.5 Cost of Offer Preparation 

The State will not reimburse any Offeror the cost of responding to a Solicitation. 

3.6 Federal Excise Tax 

The State is exempt from certain Federal Excise Tax on manufactured goods. Exemption 
Certificates will be provided by the State. 

3.7 Provision of Tax Identification Numbers 

Offerors are required to provide their Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax Number and/or 
Federal Tax Identification number in the space provided on the Offer and Acceptance form. 

3.8 Employee Identification 

Offeror agrees to provide an employee identification number or social security number to 
the State for the purposes of reporting to appropriate taxing authorities, monies paid by the 
State under this Contract. If the federal identifier of the Offeror is a social security number, 
this number is being requested solely for tax reporting purposes and will be shared only with 
appropriate state and federal officials. This submission is mandatory under 26 U.S.C. § 
6041A. 

3.9 Identification of Taxes in Offer 

The State is subject to all applicable state and local transaction privilege taxes. All applicable 
taxes shall be identified as a separate item offered in the Solicitation. When applicable, the 
tax rate and amount shall be identified on the price sheet.  

3.10 Disclosure 

If the person submitting this Offer has been debarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully 
precluded from participating in any public procurement activity, including being disapproved 
as a subcontractor with any federal, state or local government, or if any such preclusion 
from participation from any public procurement activity is currently pending, the Offeror 
shall fully explain the circumstances relating to the preclusion or proposed preclusion in the 
Offer. The Offeror shall set forth the name and address of the governmental unit, the 
effective date of the suspension or debarment, the duration of the suspension or 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 8 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

debarment, and the relevant circumstances relating to the suspension or debarment. If 
suspension or debarment is currently pending, a detailed description of all relevant 
circumstances including the details enumerated above shall be provided. 

3.11 Delivery 

Unless stated otherwise in the Solicitation, all prices shall be F.O.B. Destination and shall 
include all freight, delivery and unloading at the destination(s). 

3.12 Federal Immigration and Nationality Act 

By signing of the Offer, the Offeror warrants that both it and all proposed subcontractors are 
in compliance with federal immigration laws and regulations (FINA) relating to the 
immigration status of their employees. The State may, at its sole discretion require evidence 
of compliance during the evaluation process. Should the State request evidence of 
compliance, the Offeror shall have five days from receipt of the request to supply adequate 
information. Failure to comply with this instruction or failure to supply requested 
information within the timeframe specified shall result in the Offer not being considered for 
contract award. 

4.0 SUBMISSION OF OFFER 
4.1 Arizona Procurement Portal (APP) 

Offers in response to this solicitation shall be submitted within the State's eProcurement 
system, APP (https://appstate.az.gov). Please be advised that utilizing APP requires a certain 
level of technical competency that should be considered when selecting staff to work in the 
system. The successful submission of your offer in APP is critical in order for the State to 
receive and evaluate your offer. Therefore, particular focus should be placed on the 
selection of staff given the responsibility for submitting your offer in APP. Offers shall be 
received before the date/time listed in the solicitation's 'Bid Opening Date' field. Offers 
submitted outside APP, or those that are received after the date/time stated in the 'Bid 
Opening Date' field, shall be rejected.   

4.2 Offer Submission, Due Date and Time 

Offerors responding to a Solicitation must submit the Offer electronically through the State’s 
eProcurement system. Offers shall be received before the due date and time stated in the 
solicitation. Offers submitted outside of the State’s eProcurement system or those that are 
received after the due date and time shall be rejected. 

4.3 Offer and Acceptance 

Offers shall include a signed Offer and Acceptance form. The Offer and Acceptance form 
shall be signed with a signature by the person authorized to sign the Offer, and shall be 
submitted in the State’s eProcurement system with the Offer no later than the Solicitation 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 9 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

due date and time. Failure to return an Offer and Acceptance form may result in rejection of 
the Offer. 

4.4 Solicitation Amendments 

A Solicitation Amendment shall be acknowledged in the State’s eProcurement system no 
later than the Offer due date and time. Failure to acknowledge a Solicitation Amendment 
may result in rejection of the Offer. 

4.5 Offer Amendment or Withdrawal 

An Offer may not be amended or withdrawn after the Offer due date and time except as 
otherwise provided under applicable law. 

4.6 Confidential Information 

If an Offeror believes that any portion of an Offer, protest, or correspondence contains a 
trade secret or other proprietary information, the Offeror shall clearly designate the trade 
secret and other proprietary information, using the term “confidential.” An Offeror shall 
provide a statement detailing the reasons why the information should not be disclosed 
including the specific harm or prejudice that may arise upon disclosure. The Procurement 
Officer shall review all requests for confidentiality and provide a written determination. 
Until a written determination is made, a Procurement Officer shall not disclose information 
designated as confidential except to those individuals deemed to have a legitimate State 
interest. In the event the Procurement Officer denies the request for confidentiality, the 
Offeror may appeal the determination to the State Procurement Administrator within the 
time specified in the written determination. Contract terms and conditions, pricing, and 
information generally available to the public are not considered confidential information. 

4.7 Public Record 

All Offers submitted and opened are public records and must be retained by the State for six 
years. Offers shall be open and available to public inspection through the State’s 
eProcurement system after Contract award, except for such Offers deemed to be 
confidential by the State.   

4.8 Non-collusion, Employment, and Services 

By signing the Offer and Acceptance form or other official contract form, the Offeror 
certifies that: 

(1) The Offeror did not engage in collusion or other anti-competitive practices in 
connection with the preparation or submission of its Offer; and 

(1) The Offeror does not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
or person to whom it provides services because of race, color, religion, sex, national 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 10 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

origin, or disability, and that it complies with an applicable federal, state, and local 
laws and executive orders regarding employment. 

4.9 Content of Statement of Qualifications 

4.9-A Required Documents 

The submitted statement of qualifications shall include the following documents. 
Failure to submit all documents below according to instructions may have a 
negative impact on the evaluated score or result in the offer being determined non-
responsive and therefore not susceptible for award. 

(1) Attachment 1 –  Offer and Acceptance Form 
(2) Attachment 2 – Boycott of Israel Disclosure 
(3) Attachment 3 – Offeror Information Questionnaire 
(4) Attachment 4 -  Method of Approach  
(5) Attachment 5 – Organizational Profile 
(6) Attachment 6 – Key Personnel Proposal / Resumes 
(7) Attachment 7  – Proposed Subcontractors 
(8) Attachment 8 – Letter of Insurability  
(9) Attachment 9 – Pricing (Do Not Submit Pricing) 

(10) Attachment 10 – Confidential Information Designation 
(11) Attachment 11 – Conformance Statements  
(12) Attachment 12 – Conformance Statement - Supplements 

 

4.9-B Pre-Printed Documents 

Any pre-printed documents required by this solicitation are located within this 
document and shall be completed in the format provided and according to any 
instructions contained within the document or elsewhere in these instructions. 
Offerors shall download all pre-printed documents, save the completed document 
to their computer, and upload completed documents as part of their submitted 
offer in APP. Excessive marketing attachments that are not requested in the 
documents listed below are discouraged. 

4.9-C Submission of Pricing 

Offeror shall not submit fees or hourly rate schedules with their statement of 
qualifications. (With the exception of the $1.00 pricing to satisfy the eProcurement 
System functionality)  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 11 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

5.0 EVALUATION 
5.1 Opening 

Supplemental to Instructions to Offerors paragraph 4.7, offers received by the due date and 
time will be opened online and the name of each Offeror will be publicly available. Offers 
will not be subject to public inspection until after contract award.  

5.2 Selection Process 

5.2-A Selection Committee 

A Selection Committee will review the Statements of Qualifications and develop a 
final list with a minimum of three (3) and not more than ten (10) persons or firms. 

5.2-A-(01)    The Selection Committee may determine a 2nd round of Q&A worth up 
to 250 points if necessary to develop the final list with a minimum of 
three (3) and not more than ten (10) persons or firms. 

5.2-B Evaluation Criteria 

5.2-B-(01) Statement of Qualifications 

(01) (a) Firms interested in providing services must submit a 
Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) that addresses the following 
evaluation criteria.  

(01) (b) In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-2579, statements of 
qualifications will be evaluated based on the following evaluation 
criteria. The evaluation criteria and relative weight of the criteria will 
be used to determine the short list of persons or firms to be 
interviewed.  

Information Questionnaire 250 points: Attachment – Offeror 
Information Questionnaire 

Method 350 points: Attachment – Method Proposal                                                                

Experience and Capacity 400 points: Attachments – Organizational 
Profile and Key Personnel  

5.2-C Interviews 

5.2-C-(01) Interviews may be conducted with at least three (3) but not more than 
ten (10) persons or firms on the short list Based on the evaluation of 
the SOQs and shall form the Short List. Interview shall expand on the 
selection criteria listed in 5.2-B  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 12 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

5.2-C-(03) The selection committee will select the persons or firms on the final 
list and their order on the final list solely through the results of the 
evaluation committee consensus process. 

Interviews may be conducted either via video conference or in person and are 
estimated to be thirty to forty-five minutes in length. The proposed Design 
Professional key personnel and subcontractor(s) team are required to attend. 

5.3 Cost is Not a Consideration  

Fees, price, man-hours or any other cost information shall not be requested or considered at 
any point in the qualifications selection process, the selection of persons or firms to be on 
the final list, in determining the order of preference of persons or firms on the final list.  

5.4 Clarifications  

The State may request oral or written clarifications, including demonstrations or questions 
and answers, for the sole purpose of providing a greater understanding of the offer. 
Clarifications shall not otherwise afford the Offerors the opportunity to alter or make a 
material change in its offer. 

5.5 Negotiations 

The Procurement Officer may proceed to negotiate agreements for services, 
commemorated with an official (Invitation to Negotiate) sent to the highest ranked 
Submitters on the Final List. If the Procurement Officer is unable to negotiate a satisfactory 
agreement with a Submitter, for compensation and on other terms the Procurement Officer 
determines to be fair and reasonable, negotiations with that Submitter will be formally 
terminated. Once negotiations have been terminated with a Submitter, they may not be re-
opened with that Submitter for this procurement.   

5.6 Responsibility, Responsiveness, and Susceptibility 

The State shall consider, at a minimum, the following criteria when determining Offeror’s 
responsibility, as well, as the statement of qualification’s responsiveness and susceptibility 
for contract award. 

(1) Whether the Offeror has had a contract within the last five (5) years that was 
terminated for cause due to breach or similar failure to comply with the terms of the 
contract; 

(2) Whether the Offeror’s record of performance includes factual evidence of failure to 
satisfy the terms of the Offeror’s agreements with any party to a contract. Factual 
evidence may consist of documented vendor performance reports, customer 
complaints and/or negative references; 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 13 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

(3) Whether the Offeror is legally qualified to contract with the State and the Offeror’s 
financial, business, personnel, or other resources, including subcontractors; This 
includes if the vendor or key personnel have been debarred, suspended or otherwise 
lawfully prohibited from participating in any public procurement activity, including but 
not limited to, being disapproved as a subcontractor of any public procurement unit or 
other governmental body; 

(4) Whether the Offeror promptly supplied all requested information concerning its 
responsibility; 

(5) Whether the Offer was sufficient to permit evaluation by the State, in accordance with 
the evaluation criteria identified in this Solicitation or other necessary offer 
components. Necessary offer components include:  attachments, documents or forms 
to be submitted with the offer, an indication of the intent to be bound, reasonable or 
acceptable approach to perform the Scope of Work, acknowledged Solicitation 
Amendments, references to include experience verification, adequacy of 
financial/business/personal or other resources to include a performance bond and 
stability including subcontractors and any other data specifically requested in the 
Solicitation; 

(6) Whether the Offer was in conformance with the requirements contained in the Scope 
of Work, Terms and Conditions, and Instructions for the Solicitation including its 
Amendments and all documents incorporated by reference; 

(7) Whether the Offer limits the rights of the State; 

(8) Whether the Offer includes or is subject to unreasonable conditions, to include 
conditions upon the State necessary for successful Contract performance. The State 
shall be the sole determiner as to the reasonableness of a condition; 

(9) Whether the Offer materially changes the contents set forth in the Solicitation, which 
includes the Scope of Work, Terms and Conditions, or Instructions; and, 

(10) Whether the Offeror provides misleading or inaccurate information. 

5.7 Financial Stability 

The Offeror must be financially stable and able to substantiate the financial stability of its 
company. The State reserves the right to request additional documentation from the Offeror 
and to request reports on financial stability from independent financial rating services. If 
requested, current financial statements or other financial information deemed appropriate, 
must be provided within five (5) business days of request. The State reserves the right to 
reject any offer which does not demonstrate financial stability sufficient for the scope of this 
contract award. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 14 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

5.8 Late Offers 

An Offer submitted after the exact Offer due date and time shall be rejected. 

5.9 Disqualifications 

An Offeror (including each of its principals) who is currently debarred, suspended, or 
otherwise lawfully prohibited from any public procurement activity shall have its Offer 
rejected. 

6.0 AWARD 
6.1 Best Advantage to State 

The state intends to enter into negotiations with the highest qualified person(s) or firm(s) on 
the final list. 

6.2 Contract Document Consolidation 

At its sole option, following any contract award(s) the State may consolidate the resulting 
contract documents. Examples of such consolidation would include (i) reorganizing 
solicitation documents and those components of the Design Professional’s Offer not 
pertaining to the Contract’s operation; or (ii) excluding any components of the Design 
Professional’s Offer that were not awarded. Contract document consolidation shall not 
materially change the Contract. 

6.3 Notice to Proceed 

Design Professionals shall commence with the performance of the Contract upon award and 
the Offer and Acceptance Form signed by the Procurement Officer or other authorized 
representatives as set forth in the Contract. Prior to receiving an executed Task Order, 
Design Professionals shall not commence any billable activities in the performance of the 
Contract. 

6.4 Evidence of Insurance Coverage 

Prior to commencing services under any awarded Contract, successful Design Professional(s) 
shall provide and maintain during the entire term of an awarded Contract, a certificate of 
insurance indicating the coverage stated in the Special Terms and Conditions of this 
solicitation. 

6.5 Contract Inception 

An Offer does not constitute a Contract nor does it confer any rights on the Offeror to the 
award of a Contract. A Contract is not created until the Offer is accepted in writing by the 
Procurement Officer’s signature on the Offer and Acceptance form. A notice of award or of 
the intent to award shall not constitute acceptance of the Offer. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 15 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 

Instructions to Offerors 

 

6.6 Effective Date 

The effective date of the Contract shall be the date that the Procurement Officer signs the 
Offer and Acceptance form or other official contract form, unless another date is specifically 
stated in the Contract. 

7.0 PROTESTS 
A protest shall comply with and be resolved according to Arizona Revised Statutes Title 41, Chapter 
23, Article 9, and rules adopted thereunder. Protests shall be in writing and be filed with both the 
Procurement Officer of the purchasing agency and with the State Procurement Administrator. A 
protest of the Solicitation shall be received by the Procurement Officer before the Offer due date. A 
protest of a proposed award or of an award shall be filed within ten (10) days after the Procurement 
Officer makes the procurement file available for public inspection. A protest shall include: 

(1) The name, address, email address and telephone number of the interested party; 

(2) The signature of the interested party or its representative; 

(3) Identification of the purchasing agency and the Solicitation or Contract number; 

(4) A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds of the protest including copies of 
relevant documents; and 

(5) The form of relief requested. 

- - 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFP Page 16 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 
 

Error! Reference source not found. 

 

STATEMENT OF WORK 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
The objective of the State is to engage qualified firms to fulfill the role of Civil Engineer Design 
Services for on-call contracts with an initial term of one-year and options for up to four annual 
renewals. 

It is the intent of the State to award up to a maximum ten (10) contracts for civil engineering services.  

Contracts shall be utilized by all Eligible Agencies and Cooperative Members. 

2.0 BACKGROUND 
The State of Arizona Department of Administration, (ADOA) has elected to hire multiple firm(s) 
(Engineers) to provide civil engineering services for maintenance and capital improvements projects 
of varying size and complexity consisting of but not limited to buildings, streets, parks, water and 
wastewater. 

Engineer will assist ADOA in developing standards for system design and performance. 

All design and construction will be dependent on the level of funding available. 

3.0 SCOPE REQUIREMENTS 
3.1 General Requirements 

3.1-A The projects will be directed by an Arizona Department of Administration 
(ADOA), General Services Division, Project Manager (PM), Eligible State Agencies 
and Cooperative Members on an as-needed negotiated fee basis. These fees will 
be based on the rates developed and accepted through this solicitation and 
award. 

3.1-B The purpose of this Request for Qualifications (RFQu) is to obtain competitive 
Statements of Qualifications (SOQ) from qualified civil engineering firms. Services 
shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, civil engineering design services 
including inspection for compliance with the construction documents and 
applicable statutes and codes and other construction administration activities.  

 
3.2 Specific Requirements: The Design Professional shall provide full Design and Construction 

Administration services required including but not limited to the following: 

3.2-A Supporting Services 

3.2-A-(01) Evaluation and documentation of as-built conditions. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFP Page 17 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 
 

Error! Reference source not found. 

 

3.2-A-(02) Testing and investigation as required as a reimbursable service. 

3.2-A-(03) Development of design standards for improvement and 
replacement of the state’s building systems. 

3.2-B Evaluation and Planning 

3.2-B-(01) Assist in evaluation of existing systems and priorities for 
improvement and replacement. 

3.2-B-(02) Assist in developing appropriate budgets for identified projects. 

3.2-B-(03) Assist in determining schedule and phasing for identified projects. 

3.2-C Design Services 

3.2-C-(01) Conceptual designs and studies as required. 

3.2-C-(02) Development of design standards. 

3.2-C-(03) Schematic design with alternative approaches for owner 
consideration. 

3.2-C-(04) Energy studies to assist owner in meeting energy conservation 
goals and current code requirements. 

3.2-C-(05) Design Development including outline specifications developing 
upon the schematic design. Include a construction estimate and 
written life-cycle cost analysis for energy conservation features. 

3.2-C-(06) Construction Documents conforming to all applicable codes and 
containing the appropriate level of detail for the project to be 
accurately bid and efficiently constructed, with an updated 
estimate of probable construction cost. 

3.2-C-(07) Bidding assistance for competitively bid work or assistance in 
obtaining quotes from current state Job Order Contract vendors. 

3.2-C-(08) Contract Administration and Construction Observation services as 
required to sufficiently warrant that the construction is 
accomplished in accordance with plans, specifications and codes. 

3.3 Schedule for Solicitation 
The following schedule has been prepared for this project.   
Last Day to Submit Questions: January 4, 2022, 3:00 PM, Arizona Time 
Statement of Qualifications Due: January 11, 2022, 3:00 PM, Arizona Time 
Anticipated Interviews: Week of January 18, 2022 
Anticipated Award: January 31, 2022 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFP Page 18 of 99  

 Section Title: 
 
 

Error! Reference source not found. 

 

3.4 State of Arizona Statutory Review Requirements 

3.4-A All design drawings and specifications will go through the State of Arizona 
Statutory Review Process which includes Code Compliance by a 3rd party plan 
review. Design Professional must be familiar with the International Energy 
Conservation Code IECC. 

3.4-B Design Professional shall submit plans and specifications and changes thereof for 
the project to the General Services Division for statutory review and final 
approval.  Design submittals shall be coordinated with the Project Manager. 

3.4-C Plans and specifications one hundred (100) percent complete submitted for final 
statutory review shall be allowed one re-review to correct deficiencies. Any 
subsequent submission fees shall be paid by the The Design Professional firm in 
accordance with the Solicitation Performance Guarantee requirements. Plan 
Examiner re-review fee charges shall be deducted and reduce the Design 
Professional’s next monthly invoice amount due by the amount of the charge.  

3.4-D Design Professional shall provide an electronic copy of all CADD design 
backgrounds created for this project to the Owner upon project closeout.  

4.0 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
4.1 Licensing and Certifications 

4.1-A Registration as a Professional Engineer in the State of Arizona for this work. 

4.2 Specific Laws 

4.2-A Applied use of International Code Council family of codes, the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, the National Electrical Code and all other applicable codes in 
Arizona. Design Professional shall review all applicable laws and codes in 
designing and preparing the construction documents. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 19 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
The Special Terms and Conditions modify the Uniform Terms and Conditions and its Appendices. It can modify them 
by replacing, deleting, appending to, or revising the text of an existing provision or by inserting a new paragraph 
into an existing article. No other document modifies or adds to the Uniform Terms and Conditions, except as may 
subsequently be otherwise and expressly agreed and incorporated by Contract Amendment. 

1.0 Definition of Terms 
As used in the Contract, the terms listed below are defined as follows: 

1.1Co-Op Buyer “Co-Op Buyer” means a member of the State Purchasing Cooperative that has 
entered into a “Cooperative Purchasing Agreement” with the Arizona Department of 
Administration State Procurement Office under A.R.S. § 41-2632. Unless there is an 
applicable Cooperative Purchasing Agreement in effect at the time, a State 
Purchasing Cooperative member cannot be a Co-Op Buyer. For reference, “Co-Op 
Buyer” is to be construed as encompassing “eligible procurement unit” under A.A.C. 
R2-7-101(23). 
NOTE: Membership in the State Purchasing Cooperative is open to all Arizona political 
subdivisions, including cities, counties, school districts, and special districts. 
Membership is also available to non-profit organizations, other state governments, 
the federal government and tribal nations. For reference, “non-profit organizations” 
are defined in A.R.S. § 41-2631(4) as any nonprofit corporation as designated by the 
IRS under section 501(c)(3) through 501(c)(6) of the tax code. 

1.2Eligible Agency “Eligible Agency” means any State of Arizona department, agency, university, 
commission, or board. 

2.0 Contract Interpretation 
No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

3.0 Contract Administration and Operation 
3.1Term of Contract The term of the Contract will commence on the date indicated on the Acceptance 

and continue for a term not to exceed five (5) years unless canceled, terminated, or 
permissibly extended.   

4.0 Costs and Payments 
No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

5.0 Contract Changes 

No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

6.0 Risk and Liability 
6.1 Indemnification Clause  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless 
the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 20 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

officials, agents, and employees (hereinafter referred to as “Indemnitee”) from and against any 
and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ 
fees, and costs of claim processing, investigation and litigation) (hereinafter referred to as 
“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury (including death), or loss or damage to tangible or 
intangible property caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of Contractor or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees 
or subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of, or recovered 
under, the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of such Contractor to 
conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or court decree. 
It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for 
Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be 
indemnified by Contractor from and against any and all claims. It is agreed that Contractor will 
be responsible for primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this 
indemnification is applicable. In consideration of the award of this contract, the Contractor 
agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Arizona, its officers, officials, agents, 
and employees for losses arising from the work performed by the Contractor for the State of 
Arizona. 

This indemnity shall not apply if the contractor or sub-contractor(s) is/are an agency, board, 
commission or university of the State of Arizona. 

 

6.2 Insurance Requirements 
6.2.1 Contractor and subcontractors shall procure and maintain, until all of their obligations 

have been discharged, including any warranty periods under this Contract, insurance 
against claims for injury to persons or damage to property arising from, or in 
connection with, the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, 
representatives, employees or subcontractors. 

6.2.2 The Insurance Requirements herein are minimum requirements for this Contract and in 
no way limit the indemnity covenants contained in this Contract. The State of Arizona in 
no way warrants that the minimum limits contained herein are sufficient to protect the 
Contractor from liabilities that arise out of the performance of the work under this 
Contract by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors, 
and the Contractor is free to purchase additional insurance. 

6.3 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance  

Contractor shall provide coverage with limits of liability not less than those stated below. 
6.3.1 Commercial General Liability (CGL) – Occurrence Form 

Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, and broad form contractual liability 
coverage. 
• General Aggregate $2,000,000 
• Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 
• Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 21 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

• Damage to Rented Premises $50,000 
• Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
a. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, to include the 

State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, 
officers, officials, agents, and employees as additional insured with respect to 
liability arising out of the activities performed by or on behalf of the Contractor.  

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required by this 
written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, 
boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for 
losses arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

6.3.2 Business Automobile Liability 

Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, and/or non-owned 
automobiles used in the performance of this Contract. 

• Combined Single Limit (CSL) $1,000,000 
a. Policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, to include the 

State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, 
officers, officials, agents, and employees as additional insured with respect to 
liability arising out of the activities performed by, or on behalf of, the Contractor 
involving automobiles owned, hired and/or non-owned by the Contractor. 

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement as required by this 
written agreement in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, 
boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for 
losses arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

6.3.3 Workers’ Compensation and Employers' Liability 

• Workers' Compensation Statutory 
• Employers' Liability 

o Each Accident $1,000,000 
o Disease – Each Employee $1,000,000 
o Disease – Policy Limit $1,000,000 

 
a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required by this 

written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, 
boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for 
losses arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

b. This requirement shall not apply to each Contractor or subcontractor that is 
exempt under A.R.S. § 23-901, and when such Contractor or subcontractor 
executes the appropriate waiver form (Sole Proprietor or Independent 
Contractor). 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 22 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

6.3.4 Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions Liability) 

• Each Claim $2,000,000 
• Annual Aggregate $2,000,000 

a. In the event that the Professional Liability insurance required by this Contract is 
written on a claims-made basis, Contractor warrants that any retroactive date 
under the policy shall precede the effective date of this Contract and, either 
continuous coverage will be maintained, or an extended discovery period will be 
exercised, for a period of two (2) years beginning at the time work under this 
Contract is completed. 

b. The policy shall cover professional misconduct or negligent acts for those 
positions defined in the Scope of Work of this contract. 

6.4 Additional Insurance Requirements 

The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include, as required by this written agreement, the 
following provisions: 
6.4.1 The Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that the insurance afforded the 

Contractor shall be primary and that any insurance carried by the Department, its 
agents, officials, employees or the State of Arizona shall be excess and not contributory 
insurance, as provided by A.R.S. § 41-621 (E). 

6.4.2 Insurance provided by the Contractor shall not limit the Contractor’s liability assumed 
under the indemnification provisions of this Contract. 

6.5 Notice of Cancellation 

Applicable to all insurance policies required within the Insurance Requirements of this Contract, 
Contractor’s insurance shall not be permitted to expire, be suspended, be canceled, or be 
materially changed for any reason without thirty (30) days prior written notice to the State of 
Arizona. Within two (2) business days of receipt, Contractor must provide notice to the State of 
Arizona if they receive notice of a policy that has been or will be suspended, canceled, materially 
changed for any reason, has expired, or will be expiring. Such notice shall be sent directly to the 
Department and shall be mailed, emailed, hand delivered or sent by facsimile transmission to 
(State Representative’s Name, Address & Fax Number). 

6.6 Acceptability of Insurers 

Contractor’s insurance shall be placed with companies licensed in the State of Arizona or hold 
approved non-admitted status on the Arizona Department of Insurance List of Qualified 
Unauthorized Insurers. Insurers shall have an “A.M. Best” rating of not less than A- VII. The State 
of Arizona in no way warrants that the above-required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to 
protect the Contractor from potential insurer insolvency. 

6.7 Verification of Coverage 

Contractor shall furnish the State of Arizona with certificates of insurance (valid ACORD form or 
equivalent approved by the State of Arizona) evidencing that Contractor has the insurance as 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 23 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

required by this Contract. An authorized representative of the insurer shall sign the certificates. 

6.7.1 All such certificates of insurance and policy endorsements must be received by the 
State before work commences. The State’s receipt of any certificates of insurance or 
policy endorsements that do not comply with this written agreement shall not waive or 
otherwise affect the requirements of this agreement. 

6.7.2 Each insurance policy required by this Contract must be in effect at, or prior to, 
commencement of work under this Contract. Failure to maintain the insurance policies 
as required by this Contract, or to provide evidence of renewal, is a material breach of 
contract. 

6.7.3 All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the Department. The 
State of Arizona project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the 
certificate of insurance. The State of Arizona reserves the right to require complete 
copies of all insurance policies required by this Contract at any time. 

6.8 Subcontractors 

Contractor’s certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as insured under its policies or 
Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring and/or verifying that all subcontractors have valid 
and collectable insurance as evidenced by the certificates of insurance and endorsements for 
each subcontractor. All coverage for subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum Insurance 
Requirements identified above. The Department reserves the right to require, at any time 
throughout the life of this contract, proof from the Contractor that its subcontractors have the 
required coverage. 

6.9 Approval and Modifications 

The Contracting Agency, in consultation with State Risk, reserves the right to review or make 
modifications to the insurance limits, required coverage, or endorsements throughout the life of 
this contract, as deemed necessary. Such action will not require a formal Contract amendment 
but may be made by administrative action. 

6.10 Exceptions 

In the event the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a public entity, then the Insurance 
Requirements shall not apply. Such public entity shall provide a certificate of self-insurance. If 
the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a State of Arizona agency, board, commission, or 
university, none of the above shall apply. 

7.0 Warranties 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

8.0 State's Contractual Remedies 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

9.0 Contract Termination 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 24 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

10.0 Contract Claims 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

11.0 Design Professional Responsibilities  
No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

12.0 Agency Responsibilities 
No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

13.0 Data and Information Handling 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

14.0 Information Technology Work 

14.1 Background 
Checks 

Each of Contractor’s personnel who is an applicant for an information technology 
position must undergo the security clearance and background check procedure, 
which includes fingerprinting, as required by A.R.S § 41-710. Contractor shall obtain 
and pay for the security clearance and background check. Contractor personnel who 
will have administrator privileges on a State network must additionally provide 
identify and address verification and undergo State-specified training for unescorted 
access, confidentiality, privacy, and data security. 

14.2 Systems and 
Controls 

In consideration for State having agreed to permit Pass-Through Indemnities in lieu 
of direct indemnity, Contractor agrees to establish and keep in place systems and 
controls appropriate to ensure that State funds under this Contract are not 
knowingly used for the acquisition, operation, or maintenance of Materials or 
Services in violation of intellectual property laws or a third party’s intellectual 
property rights.  

14.3 Section 508 
Compliance 

Unless specifically authorized in the Contract, any electronic or information 
technology offered to the State of Arizona under this Contract shall comply with 
A.R.S. § 18-131 and § 18-132 and Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 
which requires that employees and members of the public shall have access to and 
use of information technology that is comparable to the access and use by 
employees and members of the public who are not individuals with disabilities.  

14.4 Cloud Applications The following are required for Contractor of any “cloud” solution that hosts State 
data outside of the State’s network, or transmits and/or receives State data. 

1. Submit a completed Arizona Baseline Infrastructure Security Controls 
assessment spreadsheet as found at: https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-
standards-and-procedures, and mitigate or install compensating controls for 
any issues of concern identified by State. Contractor is required to provide 
any requested documentation supporting the review of the assessment. The 
assessment shall be re-validated on a minimum annual basis.  

https://appstate.az.gov/
https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-standards-and-procedures
https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-standards-and-procedures


 

Request for Qualifications 
For Design Professional 

Solicitation No. 
BPM004132 

Description:  
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services 

Arizona Department of 
Administration 

General Services 
Division 

1400 West Washington Street., 
Suite B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

 Section Title: Special Terms and Conditions 
Page 25 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v   
 

2. State reserves the right to conduct Penetration tests or hire a third party to 
conduct penetration tests of the Contractor’s application. Contractor will be 
alerted in advance and arrangements made for an agreeable time. 
Contractor shall respond to all serious flaws discovered by providing an 
acceptable timeframe to resolve the issue and/or implement a compensating 
control. 

3. Contractor must submit copy of system logs from cloud system to State of AZ 
security team on a regular basis to be added to the State SIEM (Security 
Information Event Monitor) or IDS (Intrusion Detection System). 

Contractor must employ a government-rated cloud compartment to better protect 
sensitive or regulated State data. 

End of Section 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 26 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

UNIFORM TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS: 
1) DEFINITION OF TERMS ................................................................................................... 1 

 Additional Work .................................................................................. 1 1.1.
 Agency ................................................................................................. 1 1.2.
 Agency Designated Representative .................................................... 1 1.3.
 Allowance ............................................................................................ 1 1.4.
 Application for Progress Payment ....................................................... 1 1.5.
 Application for Final Payment ............................................................. 1 1.6.
 Arizona Procurement Code; A.R.S., A.A.C. .......................................... 1 1.7.
 Arizona TPT ......................................................................................... 2 1.8.
 As-Builts .............................................................................................. 2 1.9.

 Attachment ......................................................................................... 2 1.10.
 Basic Work ........................................................................................... 2 1.11.
 Bidding Documents ............................................................................. 2 1.12.
 Building Work ...................................................................................... 2 1.13.
 Change Order ...................................................................................... 3 1.14.
 Close Out Documents .......................................................................... 3 1.15.
 Conditional Waiver of Lien .................................................................. 3 1.16.
 Construction ........................................................................................ 3 1.17.
 Construction Contract ......................................................................... 3 1.18.
 Construction Contractor ..................................................................... 4 1.19.
 Construction Documents .................................................................... 4 1.20.
 Contingency ........................................................................................ 4 1.21.
 Contract ............................................................................................... 4 1.22.
 Contract Amendment ......................................................................... 4 1.23.
 Contract Cost ....................................................................................... 4 1.24.
 Contract Terms and Conditions .......................................................... 5 1.25.
 Contractor ........................................................................................... 5 1.26.
 Contractor Indemnitor ........................................................................ 5 1.27.
 Cost ..................................................................................................... 5 1.28.
 Cost of Work ....................................................................................... 5 1.29.
 Day ...................................................................................................... 5 1.30.
 Design Change Notice ......................................................................... 5 1.31.
 Design Professional ............................................................................. 5 1.32.
 Design Professional Services ............................................................... 5 1.33.
 Design Professional Service Contract .................................................. 6 1.34.

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 27 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Design Requirements .......................................................................... 6 1.35.
 Drawings.............................................................................................. 6 1.36.
 Estimated Project Construction Cost .................................................. 6 1.37.
 Excusable Delay ................................................................................... 6 1.38.
 Exhibit.................................................................................................. 6 1.39.
 Field Order Directive ........................................................................... 6 1.40.
 Final Completion ................................................................................. 6 1.41.
 Final Completion Certificate................................................................ 7 1.42.
 Final Payment ...................................................................................... 7 1.43.
 General Conditions of Contractor ....................................................... 7 1.44.
 Gratuity ............................................................................................... 7 1.45.
 Hazardous Waste; Release .................................................................. 7 1.46.
 Hazardous Substance .......................................................................... 8 1.47.
 Hazardous Waste ................................................................................ 8 1.48.
 Indemnified Basic Claims .................................................................... 8 1.49.
 Instructions to Offerors ....................................................................... 8 1.50.
 Materials ............................................................................................. 8 1.51.
 Negotiation ......................................................................................... 8 1.52.
 Notice to Cure ..................................................................................... 9 1.53.
 Notice to Proceed ............................................................................... 9 1.54.
 Offer and Acceptance Form ................................................................ 9 1.55.
 Part, Section; Exhibit ........................................................................... 9 1.56.
 Payment Bond ..................................................................................... 9 1.57.
 Performance Bond .............................................................................. 9 1.58.
 Person ................................................................................................. 9 1.59.
 Preconstruction Services ..................................................................... 9 1.60.
 Procurement Officer ........................................................................... 9 1.61.
 eProcurement System (currently APP) ............................................. 10 1.62.
 Product Data ..................................................................................... 10 1.63.
 Project ............................................................................................... 10 1.64.
 Change Order Request ...................................................................... 10 1.65.
 Punch List .......................................................................................... 10 1.66.
 Record Documents ............................................................................ 10 1.67.
 Request for Information.................................................................... 10 1.68.
 Reimbursable Expenses .................................................................... 11 1.69.
 Samples ............................................................................................. 11 1.70.
 Schedule ............................................................................................ 11 1.71.
 Schedule of Values ............................................................................ 11 1.72.
 Scope of Work ................................................................................... 11 1.73.
 Secure Locations ............................................................................... 12 1.74.

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 28 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Services ............................................................................................. 12 1.75.
 Shop Drawings................................................................................... 12 1.76.
 Site .................................................................................................... 12 1.77.
 Solicitation; Solicitation Documents ................................................. 12 1.78.
 Special Terms and General Conditions ............................................. 12 1.79.
 Specification ...................................................................................... 12 1.80.
 State .................................................................................................. 12 1.81.
 State Indemnitees ............................................................................. 12 1.82.
 State Fiscal Year ................................................................................ 13 1.83.
 Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum) ........................................... 13 1.84.
 Subconsultant ................................................................................... 13 1.85.
 Subcontract ....................................................................................... 13 1.86.
 Subcontractor.................................................................................... 13 1.87.
 Submittal Register ............................................................................. 13 1.88.
 Substantial Completion ..................................................................... 13 1.89.
 Unconditional Waiver of Lien ............................................................ 14 1.90.
 Uniform Terms and Conditions ......................................................... 14 1.91.
 Unit Price Work ................................................................................. 14 1.92.
 Work .................................................................................................. 14 1.93.
 Progress Schedule ............................................................................. 14 1.94.

2.0 CONTRACT INTERPRETATION ...................................................................................... 14 

2.1 Arizona Law ....................................................................................... 14 
2.2 Contract Order of Precedence .......................................................... 14 
2.3 Implied Terms ................................................................................... 15 
2.4 References to Statute ....................................................................... 15 
2.5 Usage ................................................................................................. 15 
2.6 Independent Contractor ................................................................... 16 
2.7 Severability ........................................................................................ 16 
2.8 Complete Integration ........................................................................ 16 
2.9 No Waiver of Rights .......................................................................... 17 

3.0 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATION ......................................................... 17 

3.1. Term of Contract ............................................................................... 17 
3.2. Contract Extensions .......................................................................... 17 
3.3. Notices and Correspondence ............................................................ 17 
3.4. Contractor Performance Evaluation ................................................. 18 
3.5. Signing of Contract Amendments ..................................................... 18 
3.6. Click-Through Terms and Conditions ................................................ 18 
3.7. Books and Records ............................................................................ 18 
3.8. Design Professional Licenses and Registration ................................. 19 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 29 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

3.9. Ownership of Intellectual Property ................................................... 19 
3.10. Subcontracts and Subconsultants ..................................................... 20 
3.11. Non-Discrimination ........................................................................... 21 
3.12. E-Verify Requirements ...................................................................... 21 
3.13. Offshore Performance of Certain Work Prohibited .......................... 21 
3.14. Other Contractors ............................................................................. 21 
3.15. Work on State Premises .................................................................... 22 
3.16. Background Checks ........................................................................... 22 
3.17. Advertising, Publishing and Promotion of Contract .......................... 23 
3.18. Inspection and Testing ...................................................................... 23 

4.0 COSTS AND PAYMENTS ................................................................................................ 23 

4.1. Additional Work ................................................................................ 23 
4.2. Applicable Taxes ................................................................................ 23 
4.3. Application for Progress Payment, Contractor ................................. 24 
4.4. Application for Payment Certification by Design Professional ......... 26 
4.5. Automated Clearing House ............................................................... 26 
4.6. Availability of Funds .......................................................................... 26 
4.7. Basis of Compensation; Design Professional .................................... 26 
4.8. Contracted Labor Rate ...................................................................... 27 
4.9. Delay ................................................................................................. 27 
4.10. Equipment Rental.............................................................................. 28 
4.11. Invoicing Requirements .................................................................... 28 
4.12. Interest .............................................................................................. 29 
4.13. Payment ............................................................................................ 29 
4.14. Project Suspension by Agency .......................................................... 30 
4.15. Recovery of Overpayment ................................................................ 30 
4.16. Reimbursable Expenses .................................................................... 30 
4.17. Standard Hourly Rate Basis for Work ................................................ 30 
4.18. Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum) Basis for Work .................. 30 
4.19. Notification of Payments .................................................................. 30 

5.0 CONTRACT CHANGES ................................................................................................... 31 

5.1. Assignments and Delegation ............................................................. 31 
5.2. Contract Amendments ...................................................................... 31 
5.3. Unauthorized Contract Amendments or Orders are Void ................ 31 
5.4. Change Orders................................................................................... 31 
5.5. Field Order Directive ......................................................................... 32 
5.6. Minor Changes in the Work .............................................................. 33 
5.7. Claims ................................................................................................ 33 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 30 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

6.0 RISK AND LIABILITY ...................................................................................................... 33 

6.1. Risk of Loss ........................................................................................ 33 
6.2. Basic Indemnification ........................................................................ 33 
6.3. Patent and Copyright Indemnification .............................................. 33 
6.4. Force Majeure ................................................................................... 34 
6.5. Performance in Public Health Emergency ......................................... 34 
6.6. Safety Standards ............................................................................... 35 
6.7. Third Party Antitrust Violations......................................................... 35 

7.0 WARRANTIES ............................................................................................................... 35 

7.1 Liens .................................................................................................. 35 
7.2 Guarantees and Warranties .............................................................. 35 
7.3 Contractor Personnel ........................................................................ 35 
7.4 Intellectual Property ......................................................................... 36 
7.5 Compliance with Laws ....................................................................... 36 
7.6 100% Construction Documents ......................................................... 36 
7.7 Contracted Work, Errors and Omissions ........................................... 36 
7.8 Licenses and Permits ......................................................................... 37 
7.9 Operational Continuity ...................................................................... 37 
7.10 Pandemic Contractual Performance ................................................. 37 
7.11 Lobbying ............................................................................................ 37 
7.12 Survival of Warranties ....................................................................... 38 
7.13 Waiver of the Statute of Repose ....................................................... 38 

8.0 STATE'S CONTRACTUAL REMEDIES .............................................................................. 38 

8.1 Agency’s Right to Carry Out the Work .............................................. 38 
8.2 Consequential Damages .................................................................... 38 
8.3 Nonconforming Tender ..................................................................... 39 
8.4 Non-exclusive Remedies ................................................................... 39 
8.5 Right to Assurance ............................................................................ 39 
8.6 Right of Offset ................................................................................... 39 
8.7 Stop Work Order ............................................................................... 39 

9.0 CONTRACT TERMINATION ........................................................................................... 39 

9.1 Agency Failure to Perform ................................................................ 39 
9.2 Gratuities ........................................................................................... 39 
9.3 Notice to Cure ................................................................................... 40 
9.4 Rights to Work Project ...................................................................... 40 
9.5 Suspension or Debarment ................................................................. 40 
9.6 Termination for Conflict of Interest .................................................. 40 
9.7 Termination for Convenience ........................................................... 40 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 31 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

9.8 Termination for Default .................................................................... 41 
9.9 Work Performance Continuation Required ...................................... 41 

10.0 CONTRACT CLAIMS ...................................................................................................... 41 

10.1 Claim Resolution ............................................................................... 41 
10.2 Mandatory Arbitration ...................................................................... 41 
10.3 Additional Parties to Arbitration ....................................................... 41 

11.0 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES .................................................................. 42 

11.1 Acceptance of Work .......................................................................... 42 
11.2 Additional Work ................................................................................ 42 
11.3 Agency Reviews and Approvals During Design ................................. 42 
11.4 Allowances ........................................................................................ 42 
11.5 As-Built Drawings .............................................................................. 43 
11.6 Automatic Temperature Control Design ........................................... 43 
11.7 Basic Work, Design Professional Services ......................................... 43 
11.8 Bidding Phase .................................................................................... 43 
11.9 Clean Up of Site ................................................................................. 44 
11.10 Compliance with Codes ..................................................................... 44 
11.11 Cooperation and Coordination ......................................................... 44 
11.12 Schedule ............................................................................................ 44 
11.13 Conformity of Work to Construction Documents Review ................ 45 
11.14 Construction Cost Control ................................................................. 45 
11.15 Construction Safety ........................................................................... 45 
11.16 Contractor Pre-Award Conference ................................................... 46 
11.17 Construction Meetings ...................................................................... 46 
11.18 Correction of Defects and Non-Compliant Work .............................. 46 
11.19 Demolition Plan ................................................................................. 49 
11.20 Design Development ......................................................................... 49 
11.21 Design Professional Agreements, Communication ........................... 49 
11.22 Design Schematics ............................................................................. 49 
11.23 Energy Efficiency ............................................................................... 49 
11.24 Examination of Site ........................................................................... 49 
11.25 Forced Substitutions ......................................................................... 50 
11.26 Inclement Weather Day .................................................................... 50 
11.27 Inspection and Material Testing........................................................ 51 
11.28 Inspection of Work by Design Professional....................................... 52 
11.29 Issue Addenda ................................................................................... 52 
11.30 Key Personnel .................................................................................... 53 
11.31 Labor and Materials .......................................................................... 53 
11.32 Life Cycle Cost Analysis ..................................................................... 54 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 32 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

11.33 Management and Supervision of the Work, Design Professional Service 54 
11.34 Meeting Minutes ............................................................................... 54 
11.35 Observations ..................................................................................... 54 
11.36 Outline Specifications ....................................................................... 55 
11.37 Pre-Bid Conference Site Visit ............................................................ 55 
11.38 Preconstruction Conference ............................................................. 55 
11.39 Program and Budget Review ............................................................. 55 
11.40 Project Closeout ................................................................................ 55 
11.41 Proposed Change Order Review ....................................................... 55 
11.42 Proprietary Specifications ................................................................. 55 
11.43 Quality Assurance ............................................................................. 56 
11.44 Record Documents ............................................................................ 56 
11.45 Requirements at Location ................................................................. 57 
11.46 Schedule of Values ............................................................................ 57 
11.47 Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples ...................................... 57 
11.48 Special Inspections and Testing ........................................................ 58 
11.49 Specification Submittal Requirements; Design Professional ............ 58 
11.50 Statutory Review ............................................................................... 58 
11.51 Structural, Mechanical, Electrical, Calculations ................................ 59 
11.52 Submittal Register ............................................................................. 59 
11.53 Substantial and Final Completion ..................................................... 59 
11.54 Substitution of Material or Equipment ............................................. 59 
11.55 Supervision and Project Administration ........................................... 60 
11.56 Transition .......................................................................................... 60 
11.57 Unknown, Unforeseen, or Concealed Conditions ............................. 60 
11.58 Use of Seals; Design Professionals .................................................... 61 
11.59 Work Performance; Design Professional .......................................... 61 

12.0 AGENCY RESPONSIBILITIES .......................................................................................... 61 

12.1 Access to Work Site ........................................................................... 61 
12.2 Accuracy of Information .................................................................... 61 
12.3 Budget ............................................................................................... 61 
12.4 Errors or Omissions ........................................................................... 61 
12.5 Site Information ................................................................................ 61 
12.6 Geotechnical Engineers ..................................................................... 61 
12.7 Testing ............................................................................................... 61 
12.8 Communications ............................................................................... 62 
12.9 Design Professional Agreements, Related Construction................... 62 
12.10 Promotional Materials ...................................................................... 62 
12.11 Substitutions of Material .................................................................. 62 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Table of Contents Page 33 of 99 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

12.12 Timely Review ................................................................................... 62 

13.0 DATA AND INFORMATION HANDLING ......................................................................... 62 

13.1 Applicability ....................................................................................... 62 
13.2 Data Protection and Confidentiality of Information ......................... 62 
13.3 Personally Identifiable Information .................................................. 62 
13.4 Protected Health Information ........................................................... 63 

 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY WORK ........................................................................... 63 14.0

14.1 Applicability ....................................................................................... 63 
14.2 Information Access ............................................................................ 63 
14.3 Pass-Through Indemnity ................................................................... 64 
14.4 Redress of Infringement. ................................................................... 64 
14.5 First Party Liability Limitation............................................................ 65 
14.6 Information Technology Warranty.................................................... 65 
14.7 Specific Remedies ............................................................................. 66 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 1 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Uniform Terms and General Conditions Design Professional 
4. DEFINITION OF TERMS 

As used in the Contract, the terms listed below are defined as follows: 

 Additional Work 1.1.
“Additional Work” means the addition of any Work, not 
described as Basic Work, to be provided to the Agency by the 
Design Professional that is contemplated by, but not 
specifically described in, an Exhibit to this Contract. 
Compensation for Additional Work must be approved through 
a Change Order or Contract Amendment. 

 Agency 1.2.
“Agency” is used with the same meaning as “State” in 
definition below. 

 Agency Designated Representative 1.3.
“Agency Designated Representative” means the assigned 
representative of the Agency to monitor the progress and 
Schedules of the Work for the Project.  

 Allowance 1.4.
“Allowance” means construction funds established by the 
Agency to compensate for a portion of the Work which 
cannot sufficiently be specified or determined. The Contractor 
shall place any and all Allowances within separate line items 
in the Contractor’s Contract Cost at time of offer submission. 

 Application for Progress Payment 1.5.
“Application for Progress Payment” means Contractor and/or 
Contractor’s monthly invoice request for payment that 
includes any and all portions of the Work in a Contract that 
have been completed and accepted by the Agency for which 
an invoice has not been previously submitted in accordance 
with the requirements of the Contract Documents. Progress 
Payments for Contractor Work approved and certified by the 
Contractor and Agency signature, shall be paid less 
deductions to pay the expenses the Agency reasonably 
expects to incur in correcting a deficiency set for in an Agency 
written finding in accordance with A.R.S. §41-2577, and 
retained percentage in accordance with A.R.S. §41-2576.  

 Application for Final Payment 1.6.
“Application for Final Payment” means Construction 
Contractor’s final invoice for payment. The Application for 
Final Payment shall meet all the requirements of Applications 
for Payment, but shall also include any and all remaining open 
invoices under the Contract. After a Construction Contractor’s 
Application for Final Payment is approved by the Agency, the 
Agency shall not release any additional payments to that 
Construction Contractor under the Contract.  

 Arizona Procurement Code; A.R.S., A.A.C. 1.7.
“Arizona Procurement Code” means, collectively, Arizona 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 2 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Revised Statutes (abbreviated “A.R.S.”) Title 41 Chapter 23, 
Section 2501, et seq., and the rules promulgated thereunder, 
Arizona Administrative Code (abbreviated “A.A.C.”) R2-7-101, 
et seq.  

NOTE: There are frequent references to the Arizona 
Procurement Code throughout the Solicitation, therefore, you 
will need to be familiar with its provisions to be able to 
understand the Solicitation fully. Links for obtaining copies 
are given below. 

The Arizona Department of Administration State Procurement 
Office provides a reference compilation of the Arizona 
Procurement Code on its website: 

https://spo.az.gov/administration-policy/state-procurement-
resource/procurement-regulations 

The Arizona State Legislature provides the official A.R.S. 
online at: 

http://www.azleg.gov/arstitle/ 

The Office of the Arizona Secretary of State provides the 
official A.A.C. online at: http://www.azsos.gov/rules/arizona-
administrative-code 

 Arizona TPT 1.8.
“Arizona TPT” means Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax. For 
information, refer to the Arizona Department of Revenue 
(DOR) website at: 

https://www.azdor.gov/business/transactionprivilegetax.aspx
.  

 As-Builts 1.9.
“As-builts” shall mean the marked-up version of the As-built 
Drawings and Specifications Contract Documents prepared by 
the Construction Contractor to record as-built conditions, 
current changes, and selections made during construction. 

 Attachment 1.10.
“Attachment” means any item that the Offeror is required to 
submit as part of the provision of Services required to design 
or engineer or construct the Project, as detailed in Exhibit A. 

 Basic Work 1.11.
“Basic Work” means the services to be provided to the 
Agency by the Design Professional described in an Exhibit. 

 Bidding Documents 1.12.
"Bidding Documents" means those documents prepared and 
furnished by the Design Professional for the purpose of 
obtaining bids from Construction Contractors to construct the 
Work. 

 Building Work 1.13.
“Building Work” means everything covered by the definitions 

https://appstate.az.gov/
http://www.azsos.gov/rules/arizona-administrative-code
http://www.azsos.gov/rules/arizona-administrative-code
https://www.azdor.gov/business/transactionprivilegetax.aspx
https://www.azdor.gov/business/transactionprivilegetax.aspx


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 3 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

in A.R.S. § 41-2503 [Definitions] of the terms “construction” 
(para. 4), "maintenance services" (para. 26), and "operations 
services" (para. 28). 

 Change Order 1.14.
“Change Order” means the instrument by which the Agency 
authorizes Construction Contractor to perform some or all of 
the Work, including but not limited, Construction Change 
Orders, Design Change Notices, and Field Order Directives. 
Consistent with A.R.S. § 41-2503(3), only the Procurement 
Officer responsible for this Contract has the authority to 
modify or amend this Contract through a signed Change 
Order or Contract Amendment. The Agency will only 
compensate Construction Contractor for Work that has been 
approved by the Agency through a fully authorized Change 
Order or Contract Amendment. 

 Close Out Documents 1.15.
“Close Out Documents” means those items required by 
Exhibit M-Contractor Project Closeout, and as may be further 
defined, identified, and required by the Contract Documents. 

 Conditional Waiver of Lien 1.16.
“Conditional Waiver of Lien” has the meaning defined in A.R.S 
§33-1008 which, for convenience of reference only, is a:  

 

Conditional Waiver and release on Progress Payment “where 
the claimant is required to execute a waiver and release in 
exchange for or in order to induce the payment of a progress 
payment and the claimant is not in fact paid in exchange for 
the waiver and release or a single payee check or joint payee 
check is given in exchange for the waiver and release”; and  

 

Conditional Waiver and release on Final Payment “where the 
claimant is required to execute a waiver and release in 
exchange for or in order to induce payment of a final payment 
and the claimant is not paid in exchange for the waiver and 
release or a single payee check or joint payee check is given in 
exchange for the waiver and release”. 

 Construction 1.17.
“Construction” as defined in A.R.S. § 41-2503(4) means the 
process of building, altering, repairing, improving or 
demolishing any public structure or building or other public 
improvements of any kind to any real property in which the 
public has an intrest. 

 Construction Contract 1.18.
“Construction Contract” means any contract between the 
State and a Person that has or will engage in Construction 
Services for the benefit of the State.  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 4 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Construction Contractor 1.19.
“Construction Contractor” is a Person that has or had a 
contract with the State to engage in Construction Services for 
the benefit of the State.   

 Construction Documents 1.20.
“Construction Documents” means any and all documents 
created by the Design Professionals that describe the Work in 
detail, including but not limited to, plans, specifications, 
revisions, addenda, and Change Orders, issued to build the 
project. Construction Documents created after the Contract is 
signed may be integrated into the Contract if, and only if, 
there is a properly executed Contract Amendment or Change 
Order to verify that integration. 

 Contingency 1.21.
“Contingency” means an amount associated with Costs that 
were unforeseen by the Contractor when it submitted its 
offer which may be authorized by the Agency through a 
Change Order. Contractor may not proceed with Work on 
Contingencies without prior authorization from the Agency 
through a Field Order Directive or Change Order. The Agency 
will not compensate Contractor for unauthorized Contingency 
Work. 

 Contract 1.22.
“Contract” means, collectively, the entire agreement between 
Agency and Design Professional and/or Construction 
Contractor, including all of the Contract Documents, the 
Acceptance, the Solicitation Documents, any and all 
authorized Change Orders, and any Contract Amendments. 
The Contract is identified as a “Purchase Order” in APP, since 
that is the terminology used in the software. The terms of this 
Contract are defined in this document alone. The use of 
different terminology, or the same terminology with a 
different meaning, in any State eProcurement system 
(including, but not limited to, APP) does not override any 
term in this Contract. The Design Professional and/or 
Construction Contractor should contact the relevant 
Procurement Officer if it has any questions regarding the 
meaning of terms in the State’s eProcurement system. 

 Contract Amendment 1.23.
"Contract Amendment" means a document signed by 
Procurement Officer that has been issued for the purpose of 
making changes to the Contract after execution without 
changing the general scope. Only the Procurement Officer 
responsible for this Contract has the authority to modify or 
amend this Contract. The term “Change Order” in APP is 
synonymous with “Contract Amendment.” 

 Contract Cost 1.24.
“Contract Cost” means the amount for which a Design 
Professional and/or Construction Contractor agrees to 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 5 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

perform the Work as set forth in its Contract with the Agency. 
 Contract Terms and Conditions  1.25.

“Contract Terms and Conditions” means the Special Terms 
and General Conditions and these Uniform Terms and 
General Conditions taken collectively.  

 Contractor 1.26.
For the purpose of this Contract, “Contractor” refers to any 
Person who has entered into a Contract with the Agency, 
including, but not limited to, a Design Professional or 
Construction Contractor. 

 Contractor Indemnitor 1.27.
“Contractor Indemnitor” means Contractor and/or any of its 
owners, officers, directors, agents, employees, or 
Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants and, if applicable, their 
respective spouses. 

 Cost 1.28. 1) Cost” as defined by A.R.S. § 41-2571(2), means the aggregate Cost of all 
Materials and services, including labor performed by force account. The 
Agency shall only pay for expenses explicitly authorized as part of the 
Work under the Contract. 

2) For any changes, subject to Markup, in the Work or additional charges 
sought by Construction Contractor under the contract, “Cost” shall only 
mean actual direct labor, material, and service Costs incurred by 
Construction Contractor at the construction site and which are 
necessary to complete the Work. Such Costs shall include those from 
subcontractors, vendors, and material suppliers. 

3) Costs, for the purpose of this section, shall exclude markup for, 
including but not limited to, Costs incurred for general conditions, 
bonds, insurance, contingency, overhead or profit. 

 Cost of Work 1.29.
“Cost of Work” means the sum of the Costs the Design 
Professional and/or Construction Contractor necessarily 
incurred and paid in the proper performance of the Work.  

 Day 1.30.
“Day” means a calendar day unless otherwise specified in a 
particular context. 

 Design Change Notice 1.31.
“Design Change Notice” refers to an agreement that records a 
change to the time for Work completion, price, and/or change 
in design after the initial completion of the design was 
reviewed and approved by the Statutory Review. The purpose 
of the Design Change Notice is to ensure: the changes are re-
reviewed and approved by Statutory Review and the 
Procurement Officer; and the Contract Documents are revised 
in a manner that is consistent with the Design Requirements 
under the Contract. 

 Design Professional 1.32.
“Design Professional” means the individual or firm with which 
the Agency has entered into a written Design Professional 
Services Contract. 

 Design Professional Services 1.33.
“Design Professional Services” as defined in A.R.S. § 41-
2571(4), means architect services, engineer services, land 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 6 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

surveying services, geologist services or landscape architect 
services or any combination of those services performed by or 
under the supervision of a Design Professional or employees 
or Subconsultants of the Design Professional. 

 Design Professional Service Contract 1.34.
“Design Professional Service Contract” shall be the executed 
Exhibit A 

 Design Requirements 1.35.
"Design Requirements" means, at a minimum, the purchasing 
Agency's written description of the Work by the Design 
Professional including: the required features, functions, 
characteristics, qualities and properties; the anticipated 
Schedules, including start, duration and completion; and 
estimated budgets applicable to the specific procurement for 
design and Construction and, if applicable, for operation and 
maintenance and plans and specification for the project. 

“Design requirements” may also include the following, at the 
purchasing Agency’s discretion: Drawings and other 
documents illustrating the scale and relationship of the 
features, functions and characteristics of the project, which 
shall all be prepared by a design professional who is 
registered pursuant to A.R.S. § 32-121; and/or additional 
design information or documents.   

 Drawings 1.36.
“Drawing” means the Work product of the Design 
Professional which graphically depicts the Work. 

 Estimated Project Construction Cost 1.37.
“Estimated Project Construction Cost” shall mean Design 
Professional's written estimate in the form specified by the 
Agency of the total Construction Cost of the Project at the 
various stages of the design process. 

 Excusable Delay 1.38.
“Excusable Delay” means a delay to the Schedules approved 
by the Agency and Design Professional through a Change 
Order that entitles the Construction Contractor to an 
adjustment of the Contract time for Substantial Completion, 
but not an adjustment of the Contract Cost.  

 Exhibit 1.39.
“Exhibit” means any item labeled as an Exhibit in the 
Solicitation or placed in the Exhibits section of the Contract 
Documents. 

 Field Order Directive  1.40.
“Field Order Directive” refers to written directives used in 
advance of a Construction Change Order,  as more specifically 
prescribed in these Uniform Terms and General Conditions. 

 Final Completion 1.41.
“Final Completion” means the date upon which the Work is 
complete in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Contract, including punch list items. The date of Final 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 7 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Completion shall be set by the Agency as a certain number of 
days after Substantial Completion. Any additional or 
supplemental Work after this date due to Construction 
Contractor error or omission shall be completed by the 
Construction Contractor without additional compensation. 

 Final Completion Certificate 1.42.
The “Final Completion Certificate-Exhibit L” is the certificate 
issued by the Design Professional and/or the Agency 
Designated Representative that documents, to the best of  
the Design Professional’s and/or the Agency Designated 
Representative’s knowledge and understanding, that 
Construction Contractor has completed all Work required by 
the Contract Documents, including, but not limited to: all of 
the Punch List items and pre-final Punch List items for which it 
is responsible; final cleanup; and Construction Contractor’s 
provision of Record Documents, operations manuals, 
maintenance manuals, and any and all other Close Out 
Documents required by the Contract Documents and list on 
Exhibit M-Contractor Project Closeout. 

 Final Payment 1.43.
“Final Payment” means the last and final monetary 
compensation the Agency will make to Construction 
Contractor for any portion of the Project including any Work 
that has been completed and accepted for which payment 
has not been made, amounts owing to adjustments to the 
final Contract Sum resulting from approved Change Orders, 
and release of Construction Contractor’s retainage if any. 

 General Conditions of Contractor 1.44.
“General Conditions of Contractor” means the Construction 
Contractor’s resources, equipment, and items used by the 
Construction Contractor in the Work of the Project that is 
used to complete the Project. The General Conditions Fee will 
be based on actual itemized, documented Cost. 

 Gratuity 1.45.
“Gratuity” means a payment, loan, subscription, advance, 
deposit of money, services, or anything of more than nominal 
value, present or promised, unless consideration of 
substantially equal or greater value is received. 

 Hazardous Waste; Release 1.46.
“Release” means any discharging, disposing, dumping, 
emitting, emptying, escaping, injecting, leaching, leaking, 
pouring, pumping, releasing, spilling, or similar action or 
event. 

“Construction Contractor Hazardous Waste Release” means 
any Release of a Hazardous Substance on  Agency’s property 
or adjoining property during the Work arising, in whole or in 
part, from acts or omissions of Construction Contractor or any 
Subcontractor. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 8 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Hazardous Substance 1.47.
“Hazardous Substance” means a substance, material or 
hazardous waste which, by reason of being explosive, 
flammable, poisonous, corrosive, oxidizing, irritating or 
otherwise harmful, is likely to cause death or injury. 

 Hazardous Waste 1.48.
“Hazardous Waste” means “hazardous waste”, as defined in 
the Resource Conversation and Recovery Act of 1976 and the 
Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq.) and any 
successor statutes and any regulations, rules or guidelines 
promulgated pursuant thereto as in effect from time to time 
(including, without limitation, any such waste resulting from 
removal of, demolition or modifications of or additions to part 
or all of any existing structure, facility or equipment). 

“Contractor Hazardous Waste” means any Hazardous Waste 
arising during or from Work that is generated, in whole or in 
part, by the acts or omissions of Construction Contractor or a 
Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants. 

 Indemnified Basic Claims 1.49.
“Indemnified Basic Claims” means any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including court Costs, 
expert fees, attorneys’ fees, and Costs of claim processing, 
investigation and litigation, for any and all damage or 
equitable claims made against the Agency, including, but not 
limited to, personal injuries, death, property damages (real, 
personal, tangible or intangible), and injunctive relief. See 
paragraph 6.2. 

 Instructions to Offerors 1.50.
“Instructions to Offerors” is part of the Solicitation 
Documents. 

 Materials 1.51.
“Materials” means, as defined in A.R.S. § 41-2503(7) “all 
property, including equipment, supplies, printing, insurance, 
and leases of property [but] does not include land, a 
permanent interest in land or real property or leasing space.”  

“Materials” includes software, unless the software is sold or 
provided as a service under the Contract. Software sold or 
provided as a service under the Contract is both a Material (to 
the extent it consists of encoded information or computer 
instructions) and a service, as described in “Services”. 

 Negotiation 1.52.
“Negotiation” means, as defined in A.A.C. R2-7-101(32), an 
exchange or series of exchanges between the Agency and an 
offeror or Design Professional and/or Construction Contractor 
that allows the Agency or the offeror or Design Professional 
and/or Construction Contractor to revise an offer or Contract, 
unless revision is specifically prohibited by the Arizona 
Procurement Code. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 9 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Notice to Cure 1.53.
“Notice to Cure” means a written letter from a Procurement 
Officer to cure an event of default and/or an anticipatory 
breach of Contract setting forth a time limit in which the cure 
is to be completed or commenced and diligently prosecuted. 

 Notice to Proceed 1.54.
“Notice to Proceed” means the written document from the 
Project Manager, by letter or email, informing Design 
Professional and/or Construction Contractor of the date 
designated as the date of commencement of construction and 
the date of Substantial Completion. 

 Offer and Acceptance Form 1.55.
“Offer and Acceptance Form” means the document bearing 
the State Contract number once Procurement Officer has 
signed it to signify (a) Agency’s formal acceptance of the 
negotiated offer from the Design Professional and (b) the 
formation of the Contract. For clarity of intent, the foregoing 
is not to be confused with the term “acceptance” used 
throughout the Contract in the context of delivery, inspection, 
etc., with respect to Materials or Services. 

 Part, Section; Exhibit 1.56.
“Part,” “Section,” and “Exhibit” are each defined in the 
Instructions to Offerors.  

 Payment Bond 1.57.
“Payment Bond” means a bond issued by a surety authorized 
to transact business in this State, issued in the amount for the 
Contract Cost and is payable to Agency, solely for the 
protection and use of payment bond beneficiaries pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 41-2574. 

 Performance Bond 1.58.
“Performance Bond” means a bond issued by a surety 
authorized to transact business in this State, issued in the 
amount for the Contract Cost and is payable to State, to 
guarantee the faithful performance of the Work by the 
Construction Contractor in accordance with the Contract 
Documents pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-2574. 

 Person 1.59.
“Person” means any corporation, business, individual, firm, 
partnership, association, union, committee, club, or other 
organization or group of individuals. 

 Preconstruction Services 1.60.
“Preconstruction Services” means services and other activities 
during the design phase.  

 Procurement Officer  1.61.
“Procurement Officer” means the person, or his or her 
designee, who has been duly authorized by Agency to enter 
into and administer the Contract and to make written 
determinations with respect to the Contract. Procurement 
Officer is as identified on the Acceptance unless subsequently 
changed by Contract Amendment. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 10 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 eProcurement System (currently APP) 1.62. 1) “eProcurement System” means the State’s official electronic 
procurement system, established pursuant to A.A.C. R2-7-201, as set 
forth in the Arizona Department of Administration (“ADOA”) State 
Procurement Office policy.  This eProcurement System may be subject 
to change.  The State’s current eProcurement system is “APP.”   The 
current version of the ADOA policy regarding the State’s eProcurement 
System is Technical Bulletin No. 020, APP – The Official State 
eProcurement System. 

2) NOTE (1): Technical Bulletin No. 020 is available online at: 
https://spo.az.gov/administration-policy/state-procurement-
resource/procurement-regulations  

3) NOTE (2): The URL for APP itself is: 

https://appstate.az.gov/ 
 Product Data 1.63.

“Product Data” means illustrations, Schedules, performance 
charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams and other 
information furnished by the Design Professional and/or 
Construction Contractor to illustrate Materials or equipment 
for some portion of the Work. 

 Project 1.64.
“Project” means any and all activities necessary for realization 
of the Work. This includes but is not limited to design, 
Contract award(s), execution of the Work itself, and 
fulfillment of all Contract and warranty obligations. 

 Change Order Request 1.65.
“Change Order Request” means a document that informs 
Agency of a proposed change in the Work and appropriately 
describes or otherwise documents such change including 
Construction Contractor(s)’s response of pricing for the 
requested change. 

 Punch List 1.66.
“Punch List” means a list of items of Work to be completed or 
corrected by Construction Contractor after Substantial 
Completion. Punch Lists indicate items to be finished, 
remaining Work to be performed, or minor Work that does 
not meet quality or quantity requirements as required in the 
Contract Documents. 

 Record Documents 1.67.
The term "Record Documents" shall mean those documents 
including, but not limited to, the updated version of the 
Construction Documents prepared by the Design Professional 
incorporating any Attachments, Exhibits, Change Orders, and 
information from the As-Builts and other data furnished by 
Construction Contractors to the Design Professional. 

 Request for Information 1.68.
“Request for Information” (RFI) means a written request by 
Construction Contractor directed to Design Professional or 
Agency Designated Representative for a clarification of the 
information provided in the Contract Documents or direction 
concerning information necessary to perform the Work that 

https://appstate.az.gov/
https://spo.az.gov/administration-policy/state-procurement-resource/procurement-regulations
https://spo.az.gov/administration-policy/state-procurement-resource/procurement-regulations
https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 11 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

may be omitted or unclear from the Contract Documents. 
 Reimbursable Expenses 1.69.

“Reimbursable Expenses” means a limited range of direct, 
actual Costs approved by the Agency for which the Design 
Professional can receive compensation under the Contract for 
amounts expended in the interest of the Project. Unless 
otherwise detailed in the Scope of Work or limited by other 
State policies, and subject to review and approval by the 
Agency, the following, and only the following, are the 
categories of Costs which may be Reimbursable Expenses: 

Subject to the Cost limitation of the State of Arizona Travel 
Policy, transportation Costs accrued in furtherance of Work 
and under the Contract and Agency authorized out-of-town 
travel and subsistence;  

Fees paid to governmental entities that ensure State 
compliance with any applicable laws or codes;  

Costs paid toward reproduction, plots, standard form 
documents, postal charges;  

If requested and approved by the Agency, Costs paid for 
surveys, requests and special requests. 

Design Professional shall not exceed the approved 
Reimbursable Expense amount stated in the Contract without 
prior written approval of the Agency through a Contract 
Amendment. 

 Samples 1.70.
“Samples” mean representative physical examples of 
Materials, equipment, or workmanship used to confirm 
compliance with requirements and/or to establish standards 
for use in execution of the Work. 

 Schedule 1.71.
“Schedule” means the timetable which sets forth pertinent 
milestones, reviews, critical path of activities and other 
deadlines for timely completion of the Work for the Project 
prepared by Design Professional or Construction Contractor 
and accepted by Agency. The Schedule shall not exceed the 
time limit current under the Contract Documents unless 
approved by Agency through a Contract Amendment. 

 Schedule of Values 1.72.
“Schedule of Values” means the detailed breakdown of the 
original Contract Cost for the Materials, labor, and equipment 
necessary to accomplish the Design and/or Construction 
Work. 

 Scope of Work 1.73.
“Scope of Work” means the Requirements Document of the 
Solicitation Documents. Scope of Work is inclusive of the 
Project program for design Work and the Construction 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 12 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Documents for performance of the construction Work. 
 Secure Locations 1.74.

“Secure Locations” means those buildings and grounds (Sites) 
that require specific security-related criteria where access to 
the Work Site or the Site’s daily operations negatively affects 
the Construction Contractor’s productivity on a daily basis. 

 Services 1.75.
“Services” as defined in A.R.S. § 41-2503(35), means “the 
furnishing of labor, time, or effort by [the] [C]ontractor or 
[S}ubcontractor which does not involve the delivery of a 
specific end product other than required reports and 
performance [but] does not include employment agreements 
or collective bargaining agreements.” Services includes 
Building Work and the service aspects of software described 
in “Materials” 

 Shop Drawings 1.76.
“Shop Drawings” mean the drawings, diagrams, illustrations, 
Schedules, performance charts, brochures, and other data 
prepared by Construction Contractor or its Subcontractors 
which detail a portion of the Work. 

 Site 1.77.
“Site” means the geographical location of the Work for the 
Project.  

 Solicitation; Solicitation Documents 1.78.
“Solicitation” and “Solicitation Documents” are defined in the 
Instructions to Offerors. 

 Special Terms and General Conditions 1.79.
“Special Terms and General Conditions” are contained in the 
Solicitation Documents. 

 Specification 1.80.
“Specification” has the meaning given in A.R.S. § 41-2561, 
which, for convenience of reference only, is “… any 
description of the physical or functional characteristics, or of 
the nature of a material, service or construction item. 
Specification may include a description of any requirement 
for inspecting, testing or preparing a material, service or 
construction item for delivery.” Specifications (if any are 
included in the Contract), are indexed in the Scope of Work 
and could be bound separately from the other documents 
forming the Contract. 

 State  1.81.
With respect to the Contract generally, “State” means the 
State of Arizona and its department, agency, university, 
commission, or board that has executed the Contract. With 
respect to administration or rights, remedies, obligations and 
duties under the Contract for a given Order, “State” means 
each eligible Agency who has issued the Order. 

 State Indemnitees 1.82.
“State Indemnitees” means, collectively, the State of Arizona, 
its departments, agencies, universities, commissions, and 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 13 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

boards and, and their respective officers, agents, and 
employees. 

 State Fiscal Year  1.83.
“State Fiscal Year” means the period beginning each July 1 
and ending each June 30. 

 Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum) 1.84.
“Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum)” means the 
complete and total amount the Construction Contractor is 
obligated to complete the Work barring unforeseen 
conditions, Agency change to the Scope of Work, or other 
circumstances set forth in the Contract. 

 Subconsultant 1.85.
“Subconsultant” as defined in A.R.S. § 41-2571, means any 
person, firm, partnership, corporation, association or other 
organization, or a combination of any of them, that has a 
direct Contract with Design Professional or another 
Subconsultant to perform a portion of the Work. 

 Subcontract  1.86.
“Subcontract” means any contract, express or implied, 
between Contractor and another party or between a 
Subcontractor and/or Subconsultant and another party 
delegating or assigning, in whole or in part, the making or 
furnishing of any Materials, the performing of any Services, or 
the carrying out of any other aspect of the Work. 

 Subcontractor 1.87.
“Subcontractor” as defined in A.R.S. § 41-2503(38), is “… a 
person who contracts to perform Work or render service to … 
[C]ontractor or to another [S]ubcontractor as a part of a 
Contract with an Agency governmental unit . . .” The Contract 
is to be construed as “a Contract with a Agency governmental 
unit” for purposes of the definition. Any Person carrying out 
an element of the Work who is neither a Contractor nor a 
representative of the State is a Subcontractor from the 
moment that Person first carries out that element of the 
Work, regardless of whether a Contract exists between that 
Person and the Contractor, then or subsequently.  

 Submittal Register 1.88.
“Submittal Register” means a list provided by Construction 
Contractor of all items to be furnished for review and 
approval by Design Professional and/or Agency and as 
identified in the Contract Documents including submittal 
dates. 

 Substantial Completion 1.89.
Substantial Completion” means the date determined and 
certified by the Design Professional’s and/or Agency 
Designated Representative’s signature, when the Work, or a 
designated portion thereof, is sufficiently complete, in 
accordance with the Contract, so as to be operational, fit for 
the use intended, and so the Agency may occupy the Work. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 14 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Unconditional Waiver of Lien 1.90.
“Unconditional Waiver of Lien” has the meaning defined in 
A.R.S. §33-1008. An Unconditional Waiver of Lien on Progress 
Payment is “where the claimant is required to execute a 
waiver and release in exchange for or in order to induce the 
payment of a Progress Payment and the claimant asserts in 
the waiver that it has been paid the Progress Payment”. 
Unconditional Waiver of Lien on Final Payment is “where the 
claimant is required to execute a waiver and release in 
exchange for or in order to induce payment of a Final 
Payment and the claimant asserts in the waiver that it has 
been paid the Final Payment”. 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions  1.91.
The “Uniform Terms and General Conditions” are made up of 
this document and whichever of the Appendices are indicated 
in the Special Terms and General Conditions as being 
applicable.  

 Unit Price Work 1.92.
“Unit Price Work” means the Work, or a portion of the Work, 
paid for based on incremental units of measurement. 

 Work 1.93.
“Work” means the totality of the Materials and the Services 
and all the acts of administration, creation, production, and 
performance necessary to fulfill and incidental to fulfilling all 
of Contractor(s)’s obligations and duties under the Contract in 
conformance with the Contract and applicable laws. "Work" 
shall refer to any and all authorized Basic and/or Additional 
Work. 

 Progress Schedule 1.94.
“Progress Schedule” means the continually updated time 
Schedule prepared and monitored by Construction Contractor 
that accurately indicates all necessary appropriate revisions 
as required by the conditions of the Work and the Project 
while maintaining a concise comparison to the overall 
Schedule. 

2.0 Contract Interpretation 

2.1 Arizona Law 
The Contract is governed by, and is to be interpreted in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Arizona, including, 
but not limited to the Arizona Procurement Code, without 
consideration of conflict of laws principles. 

2.2 Contract Order of Precedence 1) COMPLEMENTARY DOCUMENTS. All of the documents forming 
the Contract are complementary and all provisions are to be 
interpreted as a single, united contract. If certain Work, 
requirements, obligations, or duties are set out only in one but 
not in another, Construction Contractor shall carry out the 
Work as though the relevant Work, requirements, obligations, 
or duties had been fully described in all, consistent with the 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 15 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

other documents forming the Contract and as is reasonably 
inferable from them as being necessary to produce complete 
results.  

2) CONFLICTS. In case of any inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity 
among the documents forming the Contract and their 
provisions, Contractor shall i) provide the better quality or 
greater quantity of Work or ii) comply with the more stringent 
requirements. If the foregoing requirements do not resolve the 
issue of inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity, then the following 
contract documents and their provisions are to prevail in the 
following order, descending from most dominate to most 
subordinate, provided that, among categories of documents or 
provisions within the same sub-section below, the document or 
provision with the latest date prevails; information being 
identified in one document but not in another is not to be 
considered a conflict or inconsistency: 
a) Change Orders, in reverse chronological order;  
b) Solicitation Documents, in this order:  

i) Special Terms and Conditions; 
ii) Exhibits to the Special Terms and Conditions; 
iii) Federal Terms and Conditions (for any Projects with 

federal funding) 
iv) Uniform Terms and Conditions; 
v) Scope of Work; 
vi) Exhibits to the Scope of Work; and 
vii) Any other documents referenced or included in the 

Solicitation; 
c) Accepted Offer 
d) Any Contract created as a result of an IGA and Project 

Proposal including Task Orders, Attachments, Exhibits, and 
Schedules created as part of, or under any Contract; 

e) Design Requirements; 
i) Specifications 
ii) Drawings (given dimensions take precedence over 

scaled measurements); 
f) Notice to Proceed; and  
g) Schedule 

 

2.3 Implied Terms Each provision of law and any terms required by law to be in the 
Contract are a part of the Contract as if fully stated in it. 

2.4 References to Statute The above Definitions of Terms includes statutory language for 
convenience. If any definition in the Contract references a statute 
without modification, the current statutory language, not the stated 
definition in the Contract, will take priority in any interpretation of the 
Contract. 

2.5 Usage 1) Where the Contract: 
a) Assigns obligations to the Design Professional, any reference to 

“Design Professional” is to be construed to be a reference to 
“Design Professional” and all Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors whether or not they are first-tier, suppliers, sub-

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 16 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

suppliers, consultants, or sub-consultants, as well as all of Design 
Professional’s and the Subconsultant’s and/or Subcontractor’s 
respective agents, representatives, and employees” in every 
instance unless the context plainly requires that it is a reference 
only to Design Professional as apart from Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors; 

b) Uses the permissive “may” with respect to a party’s actions, 
determinations, etc., the term is to be interpreted as in A.A.C. R2-
7-101(31) [Definitions]. For clarity of intent, any right given to 
State using “State may” or a like construction, denotes discretion 
and freedom to act so far as any regulatory or operative 
constraints permit in the relevant circumstances, provided that 
the State’s discretion extends to whatever is in the best interest of 
the State; 

c) Uses the imperative “shall” with respect to a party’s actions, 
duties, etc., the term is to be interpreted as in A.A.C. R2-7-101(43) 
[Definitions]. Conversely, the phrase “shall not” is to be 
interpreted as an imperative prohibition; 

d) Uses the term “must” with respect to a requirement, criterion, 
etc., the term is to be interpreted as conveying compulsion or 
strict necessity, and is to be read as though written “must, if [the 
subject] is to be entitled to have [the object] considered or 
credited as being compliant with, conforming to, or satisfying [the 
requirement, criterion, constraint, etc.], otherwise, [the object] 
will be considered or debited as being non-compliant, non-
conforming, or unsatisfactory for its Contract-related purposes” in 
every instance; 

e) Uses the term “might” with respect to an event, outcome, action, 
etc., the term is to be interpreted as conveying contingency or 
non-discretionary conditionality; and 

f) Uses the term “will” or the phrases “is to be” or “are to be” with 
respect to an event, outcome, action, etc., the term or phrase is to 
be interpreted as conveying such certainty or imperativeness that 
“shall” is either unnecessary or irrelevant in that instance. 

2.6 Independent Contractor Design Professional is an Independent Contractor and shall act in an 
independent capacity in performance under the Contract. Neither 
party is or is to be construed as being to be the employee or agent of 
the other party, and no action, inaction, event, or circumstance will be 
grounds for deeming it to be so. 

2.7 Severability The provisions of this Contract are severable to the extent allowed 
under Arizona contract law.  Any term or condition deemed or 
adjudged illegal or invalid is thereby stricken from the Contract and will 
not affect any other term or condition of the Contract.  

2.8 Complete Integration The Contract, including any documents incorporated into the Contract 
by reference and any authorized Contract Amendments and Change 
Orders, is intended by the parties to be a final and complete expression 
of their agreement. There are no prior, contemporaneous, or additional 
agreements, either oral or in writing, pertaining to the Contract. No 
course of prior dealings between the parties and no usage of the trade 
shall supplement or explain any terms used in this document and no 
other understanding either oral or in writing can independently bind 
the Agency to changes to the Contract. The Agency may avoid any 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 17 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

unauthorized modifications to the Contract. 
2.9 No Waiver of Rights Either party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any term or 

condition of the Contract is not, and is not to be construed as being, 
nor will it be deemed, a waiver of that term or condition or a bar to, or 
diminishment of the right of, subsequent enforcement of any term or 
condition. 

3.0 Contract Administration and Operation 

3.1. Term of Contract The term of the Contract will commence on the date indicated on the 
Acceptance and continue for the period specified in the Special Terms 
and General Conditions unless canceled, terminated, or permissibly 
extended. If the Special Terms and General Conditions do not specify a 
period, then the Contract will remain in force for that period required 
for Final Completion of the Work for the Project, including required 
extensions thereto, unless discontinued by any of the several 
provisions contained elsewhere in the Contract, but no longer than 5 
years total. Agency has no obligation to extend or renew the Contract 
past the initial term. 

3.2. Contract Extensions Agency may at its discretion extend the initial Contract term in 
increments of one or more months and do so one or more times, 
provided that, the maximum aggregate term of the Contract including 
extensions cannot exceed the period specified in the Special Terms and 
Conditions. If the Special Terms and Conditions do not specify a period, 
then a reasonable period of time, but no more than an aggregate of 5 
(five) years. Nothing herein shall negate Contractor’s obligation to 
continuously perform the Work with adequate manpower and due 
diligence. 

3.3. Notices and Correspondence 1) TO DESIGN PROFESSIONAL. Unless stated otherwise in 
the Special Terms and General Conditions, Agency shall: 
a) Address all Contract correspondence other than 

formal notices to the email address indicated as 
“Default for Type” for “General Mailing Address” in 
Design Professional’s corresponding APP Vendor 
Profile; and 

b) Address any required notices to Design Professional 
to the “Contact Name and Title” at the “Mailing 
Address” indicated in the Contract Documents. 

2) TO AGENCY. Unless stated otherwise in the Special Terms 
and General Conditions, Design Profewssional shall: 
a) Address all Contract correspondence and formal 

notices to the Agency Procurement Officer indicated 
in Exhibit A “Agreement.” 

b) CHANGES. Agency may change the designated 
Procurement Officer, update contact information, or 
change the applicable mailing address. 

3) Notice is deemed served when emailed or mailed. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 18 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

3.4. Contractor Performance Evaluation The Agency may evaluate the Contractor’s performance during the 
progress of the Work, at completion of a phase of Work for the Project, 
completion of the Work, or any of the foregoing. The Agency shall 
retain the evaluation(s) in the procurement file. The Agency will use 
the evaluation(s) in determining the responsibility of the Contractor for 
any award of a future contract for the next five (5) years. If the 
Contractor or any of the Contractor’s Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors commit a breach of the contract for the project, the 
Agency will use the responsibility analysis for future projects for five (5) 
years after the date of breach of the Contractor’s Subconsultants 
and/or Subcontractors (where applicable) for future contract awards 
with the Agency or subcontracts on Agency Projects. Contractor may 
comment or take exception to any rating in accordance with the 
Agency’s protest policies.  

3.5. Signing of Contract Amendments 1) Counter-signature – or “approval” in APP, in the case of a Change Order 
– is not required to give effect if the Contract Amendment only covers 
either: 
g) Extension of the term of the Contract within the maximum 

aggregate term; 
h) Revision to Procurement Officer appointment or contact 

information; or 
i) Modifications of a clerical nature that have no effect on terms, 

conditions, price, scope, or other Material aspect of the Contract.  
2) In every case other than those listed in a), b), and c) above, the 

signatures of all required parties – or “approval” in APP, in the case of a 
Change Order – is necessary to give it effect. 

3) If the initial scope of the Project is changed materially by the Agency, 
the compensation will be equitably adjusted through negotiation upon 
execution of a Contract Amendment. 

3.6. Click-Through Terms and Conditions Unless expressly stated otherwise in the Special Terms and Conditions, 
if either party uses a web based ordering system, an electronic 
purchase order system, an electronic order acknowledgement, a form 
of an electronic acceptance, or any software based ordering system 
with respect to the Contract (each an “Electronic Ordering System”), 
the parties acknowledge and agree that an Electronic Ordering System 
is for ease of administration only, and Contractor is hereby given notice 
that the persons using Electronic Ordering Systems on behalf of Agency 
do not have any actual or apparent authority to create legally binding 
obligations that vary from the terms and conditions of the Contract. 
Accordingly, where an authorized Agency user is required to “click 
through” or otherwise accept or be made subject to any terms and 
conditions in using an Electronic Ordering Systems, any such terms and 
conditions are deemed void upon presentation. Additionally, where an 
authorized Agency user is required to accept or be made subject to any 
terms and conditions in accessing or employing any Materials or 
Services, those terms and conditions will also be void. 

3.7. Books and Records 1) RETAIN RECORDS. By A.R.S. § 41-2548(B), Design Professional shall 
retain and shall contractually require each Subconsultant and/or 
Subcontractor to retain books and records relating for any Cost and 
pricing data submitted in satisfaction of § 41-2543 for the period 
specified in the statute.  

2) RIGHT TO AUDIT. The retained books and records are subject to audit 
by Agency during that period. By A.R.S. § § 35-214 and 41-2548(B), 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 19 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Design Professional shall retain and shall contractually require each 
Subconsultant and/or Subcontractor to retain books and records 
relating to performance under the Contract for the period specified in 
the statute and those retained books and records are subject to audit 
by Agency during that period.  

3) AUDITING.  Design Professional or Subconsultant and/or Subcontractor 
shall either make all such books and records under subparagraphs 2) 
and 3) available to Agency at all reasonable times or produce the 
records at a designated Agency office on Agency’s demand, the choice 
of which being at Agency’s discretion. For the purpose of this 
paragraph, “reasonable times” are during normal business hours and in 
such a manner so as to not unreasonably interfere with normal 
business activities.  Any Person who obstructs or impairs an audit being 
conducted or about to be conducted in relation to any contract or 
subcontract with the State may be found guilty of a class 5 felony under 
A.R.S. § 35-215. 

3.8. Design Professional Licenses and Registration Design Professional and all Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, 
persons, firms and/or entities in the service of Design Professional shall 
maintain current licenses, registrations, including but not limited to 
registration under the Arizona Board of Technical Registration, and 
permits required for the operation of its business in general, for its 
operations under the Contract, and, unless expressly stated otherwise 
in the Special Terms and General Conditions, for the Work itself. 

3.9. Ownership of Intellectual 
Property 

1) PRE-EXISTING MATERIAL. All pre-existing software and other Materials 
developed or otherwise obtained by or for Design Professional or its 
affiliates independently of the Contract are not part of the Work 
instruments of service to which rights are granted state under 
subparagraph 3) below, and will remain the exclusive property of 
Design Professional, provided that: 
a) any derivative Works of such pre-existing Material or elements 

thereof that are created pursuant to the Contract are part of the 
Work instruments set forth below;  

b) any elements of derivative Work of such pre-existing Material that 
was not created pursuant to the Contract are not part of that 
Work instrument; and 

c) except as expressly stated otherwise, nothing in the Contract is to 
be construed to interfere or diminish Design Professional’s or its 
affiliates’ ownership of such pre-existing Materials. 

2) JOINT DEVELOPMENTS. The parties may each use equally any ideas, 
concepts, know-how, or techniques developed jointly during the course 
of the Contract, and may do so at their respective discretion, without 
obligation of notice or accounting to the other party. 

3) DEVELOPMENTS OUTSIDE OF CONTRACT. Unless expressly stated 
otherwise in the Special Terms and Conditions, the Contract does not 
preclude Design Professional from developing competing Materials 
outside the Contract, irrespective of any similarity to Materials 
delivered or to be delivered to Agency hereunder. 

4) OWNERSHIP AND USE OF DOCUMENTS. The Design Professional agrees 
all Project information, including but not limited to, notes, plans, 
Drawings, Specifications photos, studies, computer programs, 
Schedules, technical reports, prototypes and AutoCAD design 
backgrounds, or other Work instruments produced by the Design 
Professional under this Contract necessary to complete the Work, are 
the property of the Agency. The Design Professional agrees to continue 
to supply the Project AutoCAD design backgrounds to the Agency for 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 20 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

other projects outside the scope of this Contract, as requested by the 
Agency. The Design Professional shall also provide the Agency high 
quality copies on Agency-approved media of updated drawings and 
reproducible copies of specifications as specified. The cost of such 
copies will be reimbursed by the Agency to the Design Professional as a 
Reimbursable Expense. The Design Professional may not provide copies 
of or otherwise use the Work instruments in any format for the Project 
without the express prior written approval of the Agency. 

5) The Design Professional agrees that items such as plans, Drawings, 
Specifications photos, studies, computer programs, Schedules, 
technical reports, or other Work products which is/are specified to be 
delivered under this Contract, and which is/are to be paid for by the 
Agency, is/are subject to the rights of the Agency in effect on the date 
of this Contract. These rights include the right to use, duplicate and 
disclose such items in whole or in part, in any manner and for whatever 
purpose, and to have others do so. The Design Professional shall not 
copyright or otherwise claim Ownership of the Work instruments of 
service for the Project. The Design Professional shall include in its 
Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors Contracts appropriate 
provisions to achieve the purpose of this section. 

6) Design Professional shall give Agency full ownership of, including any 
and all necessary permissions to use, every aspect of the Work, unless 
explicitly excluded by law or contract, including the ability to create 
new structures based on the design Specifications and Drawings. 

7) In the event of any dispute with the Design Professional regarding any 
breach or default of this Contract, the Agency shall have the right to 
possess and use any and all plans, Specifications, Drawings, 
documentation, reproducibles, Design Requirements, and any other 
Materials necessary to complete the project. 

8) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Agency, at all times, shall 
have unlimited rights to copy and use in connection with the Project 
any and all Design Requirements and/or Materials prepared by Design 
Professional for the Project at no additional Cost to Agency, regardless 
of degree of completion. Design Professional also grants to Agency a 
royalty free license to all such any and all Design Requirements and/or 
Materials to which Design Professional may assert any rights under 
patent or copyright laws.  
a) Design Professional hereby assigns outright and 

exclusively to Agency all copyrights to any and all 
Design Requirements and/or Materials created for, or 
used in, the Project.  

b) Design Professional, as part of its agreements with 
any Subcontractors and/or Subconsultants, will 
secure such license and use rights from each such 
entity to all copyrights to any and all Design 
Requirements and/or Materials created for, or used 
in, the Project, and shall defend, indemnify and hold 
Agency harmless from any claims by such entities for 
copyright or patent infringement.  

3.10. Subcontracts and Subconsultants 1) INITIAL LIST. Prior to Contract execution, Design Professional’s 
candidate Subconsultants and Subcontractors were identified in their 
Offer if required.  

2) ADDITIONAL NAMES. Design Professional shall not enter into a 
Subcontract without first obtaining Procurement Officer’s written 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 21 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

consent with any prospective Subcontractor or Subconsultant that (a) 
was not listed at time of Contract execution or (b) is for any Materials 
or Services categories other than the ones for which they were 
previously consented. For either case (a) or (b), Design Professional 
shall submit a written request sufficiently in advance of the need date 
for those Materials or services so that performance under the Contract 
is not impaired. Procurement Officer may request any additional 
information he or she determines is necessary to assess the submittal, 
and may withhold consent pending it.  

3) FLOW-DOWN. Design Professional shall incorporate the provisions, 
terms, and conditions of the Contract into every Subcontract or 
Subconsultant agreement by inclusion or by reference. Subconsultants 
and/or Subcontractors shall incorporate the provisions, terms, and 
conditions of the Contract into their Subcontracts and Subconsultant 
agreements. When making any post-execution consent requests, 
Design Professional shall include its warrant that it will do the same for 
the pending Subcontractor and/or Subconsultant covered by the 
request. Entering into Subcontract and/or Subconsultant agreement 
will not relieve Design Professional of any of its obligations or duties 
under the Contract, including, among other things, the duty to 
supervise and coordinate the Work of Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors. Nothing contained in any Subcontract and/or 
Subconsultant agreement will create or is to be construed as creating 
any contractual relationship between Agency and the Subconsultant. 

3.11. Non-Discrimination Contractor shall comply with [Arizona] State Executive Order No. 2009-
09 and all other applicable federal and state laws, rules, and 
regulations regarding non-discrimination and equal opportunity, 
including the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

3.12. E-Verify Requirements As required by A.R.S. § 41-4401, Design Professional and each 
Subconsultant and/or Subcontractor warrants compliance with A.R.S. 
§ 23-214(A) and all federal immigration laws and any regulations 
relating to the immigration status of their employees. Design 
Professional and each Subconsultant and/or Subcontractor 
acknowledge that under A.R.S. § 41-4401, Agency retains the legal right 
to inspect the papers of any Design Professional or Subconsultant 
and/or Subcontractor employee who Works under the Contract to 
ensure that Design Professional or Subconsultant and/or Subcontractor 
employee is in compliance with the foregoing warranty and 
understands that a breach of the foregoing warranty under shall be 
deemed a material breach of the Contract that is subject to penalties 
up to and including termination of the Contract. 

3.13. Offshore Performance of Certain Work 
Prohibited 

Contractor shall only perform those portions of the Work that directly 
serve the Agency or its clients and involve access to secure or sensitive 
data or personal client data within the defined territories of the United 
States. Unless specifically stated otherwise in the Specifications or the 
Scope of Work, this paragraph does not apply to indirect or overhead 
services, redundant back-up services, or services that are incidental to 
performance under the Contract. This provision applies to Work 
performed by Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors at all tiers. 

3.14. Other Contractors 1) Agency may undertake with its own forces or award other contracts to 
the same or Other Contractors for additional or related Work.  

2) In such cases, Contractor shall cooperate fully with Agency’s employees 
and such Other Contractors and carefully coordinate, fit, connect, 
accommodate, adjust, or sequence its Work to the related Work by 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 22 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

others.  
3) Where the Contract requires handing-off Contractor’s Work to others, 

Contractor shall cooperate as Agency instructs regarding the necessary 
transfer of its Work product, services, or records to Agency or the 
Other Contractors.  

4) Contractor shall not commit or permit any act that interferes with the 
Agency’s or Other Contractor’s performance of their Work, provided 
that, Agency shall enforce the foregoing section equitably among all its 
Contractors so as not impose an unreasonable burden on any one of 
them.  

5) Agency shall be reimbursed by Contractor for Costs incurred by Agency 
which are payable to an Agency separate Contractor because of delays, 
improperly timed activities, or defective design or construction by 
Contractor. Agency will equitably adjust the Contract by Change Order 
for Costs incurred by Contractor because of delays, improperly timed 
activities, damage to the Work or defective design or construction by 
an Agency separate Contractor. 

6) Should the Work be interrupted or hindered by the Agency or 
Contractor, the Contractor shall be entitled to an extension of time 
pursuant to the paragraph “Change Orders” in an amount equal to such 
interruption or hindrance but such interruption or hindrance shall not 
constitute a claim for damages nor for loss of anticipated profits by the 
Contractor. 

3.15. Work on State Premises 1) COMPLIANCE WITH RULES. Construction Contractor is responsible for 
ensuring that its personnel comply with Agency’s rules, regulations, 
policies, documented practices, and documented operating procedures 
while delivering or installing Materials or performing Services on 
State’s grounds or in its facilities. Construction Contractor shall comply 
with State security requirements in order to deliver, install, or perform 
at that particular location without entitlement to any additional 
compensation or additional time for performance even if those 
particular requirements are not expressly stated in the Contract. 

2) PROTECTION OF GROUNDS AND FACILITIES. Construction Contractor 
shall deliver and perform the Services without damaging any State 
grounds or facilities. Construction Contractor shall promptly repair or 
replace any damage caused by Construction Contractor, or any of its 
Subcontractors or Subconsultants, at its own expense, subject to 
whatever instructions and restrictions Agency needs to make to 
prevent inconvenience or disruption of operations. If Construction 
Contractor fails to make the necessary repairs or replacements in a 
timely manner, Agency will be entitled to exercise its remedies 
available under the Contract (including the Design Professional Services 
Contract.) 

3.16. Background Checks 1) Each of Contractor personnel who is performing Work 
with information technology, correctional facilities, 
proprietary and sensitive data or confidential or access-
restricted or in an Agency defined secured area, or as 
otherwise requested by Agency, must undergo the 
security clearance and background check procedure, 
which may include fingerprinting. 

2) Contractor shall obtain and pay for the security clearance 
and background check and shall incorporate Cost in the 
Contractor offer submitted to perform the Work.  

3) Contractor personnel who will have administrator 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 23 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

privileges on a State network must additionally provide 
identity and address verification and undergo State-
specified training for unescorted access, confidentiality, 
privacy, and data security. 

3.17. Advertising, Publishing and Promotion of 
Contract 

Contractor shall not advertise, promote, or otherwise use information 
concerning the Contract for commercial benefit without the prior 
written approval of Procurement Officer.  The Procurement Officer may 
withhold approval at his or her discretion. 

3.18. Inspection and Testing By A.R.S. § 41-2547, State may at reasonable times inspect the part of 
Contractor’s or Subcontractors’ plant or places of business related to 
performance under the Contract. Accordingly, Contractor agrees to 
permit (for itself) and ensure (for Subcontractors) access for inspection 
at any reasonable time to its facilities, processes, and services. State 
may inspect or test, at its own Cost, any finished goods, work-in-
progress, components, or unfinished materials that are be supplied 
under the Contract or that will be incorporated into something to be 
supplied under the Contract. If the inspection or testing shows non-
conformance or defects, then Contractor will owe State reimbursement 
or payment of all Costs it incurred in carrying out or contracting for the 
inspection and testing, as well as for any re-inspection or re-testing 
that might be necessary. Neither inspection of facilities nor testing of 
goods, work, components, or unfinished materials will of itself 
constitute acceptance by State of those things. 

4.0  Costs and Payments 
4.1. Additional Work 1) Compensation for Additional Work will be in accordance with basis for 

compensation established in the Contract. 
2) Compensation for Additional Services will be determined either on a 

Standard Hourly Rate with a Not-to-Exceed-Maximum-Amount 
(“Standard Hourly Rate”) fee basis in Contract or as a Stipulated Sum 
fee basis, as amended to the Contract, through Contract Amendment 
or Change Order, by the Procurement Officer. 

3) Before Additional Work may be performed or additional Costs incurred 
beyond the specified approved Contract for the Project, both the 
Agency and Construction Contractor must execute a written Contract 
Amendment or Change Order. 

4) The Agency is not responsible for actions of the Construction 
Contractor or its Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors for any Costs 
incurred by the Construction Contractor or its Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors relating to Additional Work prior to the execution of a 
Contract Amendment or Change Order. 

5) Any Additional Work must be performed within the time period 
established in the Contract Amendment or Change Order for the 
Project. 

6) The Agency shall only approve of requests for Additional Work due to:  
a) need for additional design;  
b) acts or omissions of the Agency;  
c) significant changes to the Project; or  
d) need to provide services due to the default of another Contractor. 

 
4.2. Applicable Taxes 1) CONTRACTOR TO PAY ALL TAXES. Agency is subject to Arizona 

Transaction Privilege Tax (TPT). Therefore, Arizona TPT applies to all 
sales under the Contract and Arizona TPT is Contractors’ responsibility 
(as seller) to remit. Contractor’s failure to collect Arizona TPT or any 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 24 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

other applicable sales or use taxes from Agency will not relieve 
Contractor of any obligation to remit sales or use taxes that are due 
under the Contract or laws. Unless stated otherwise in the Commercial 
Document, all prices therein include Arizona TPT as well as every other 
manner of transaction privilege or sales/use tax that is due to a 
municipality or another state or its political subdivisions. Contractor 
shall pay all federal, state, and local taxes applicable to its operations 
and personnel. 

2) TAX INDEMNITY. Contractor shall hold Agency harmless from any 
responsibility for taxes or contributions, including any applicable 
damages and interest, that are due to federal, state, and local 
authorities with respect to the Work and the Contract, as well any 
related Costs; the foregoing expressly includes Arizona TPT, 
unemployment compensation insurance, social security, and workers’ 
compensation insurance. 

4.3. Application for Progress Payment, Contractor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1) The Construction Contractor shall submit to the Agency 
an itemized Application for Payment completed and 
accepted in accordance with the Schedule of Values. Such 
application shall be supported by such data 
substantiating the Construction Contractor's right to 
payment as the Agency requires below, and reflecting 
retainage, if applicable. 

2) The Application for Payment (Exhibit H) shall: 
a) be an accurate reflection of the progress of the Work; 
b) contain line items based on the Schedule of Values; 
c) bear the notarized signature of Construction 

Contractor; 
d) bear the signature of the Design Professional if 

contracted to perform Construction Phase Services; 
e) only be paid after approval by the Agency Designated 

Representative; and 
f) not include Subcontracted items or any other items 

for which Construction Contractor does not intend to 
pay. 

3) Unless otherwise stated in the Special Terms and 
Conditions, the Construction Contractor is required to 
include the following, at a minimum: 
a) Construction Contractor Name and Address; 
b) Subcontractor’s Name, Remit to Address and Contact 

Information, and 
c) All backup documentation to Application for 

Payment, detailed prior to showing subtotals for each 
item for Construction Contractor and Subcontractor 
(e.g., labor detail, Materials, and tax listed in separate 
line items).  

4) Applications for Payment may include requests for 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 25 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

payment on account of changes in the Work which have 
been properly authorized and executed by the Agency in 
Change Orders. 

5) Applications for Payment may not include requests for 
payment of amounts the Construction Contractor does 
not intend to pay to a Subcontractor or Material supplier 
because of a dispute or other reason. 

6) Applications for payment shall be made on account of 
Materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at 
the Site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. 
a) If approved in advance by the Agency, payment may 

similarly be made for Materials and equipment 
suitably stored off the Site at a location agreed upon 
in writing in accordance with Arizona General 
Accounting Office policies. 

b) Payment for Materials and equipment stored on or 
off the Site shall be conditioned upon compliance by 
the Construction Contractor with procedures to 
establish the Agency’s title to such Materials and 
equipment or otherwise protect the Agency’s 
interest, and shall include applicable insurance, 
storage and transportation to the Site for such 
Materials and equipment stored off the Site. 

7) The Construction Contractor further warrants that upon 
submittal of any Progress  Application for Payment all 
Work for which Applications for Payment have been 
previously issued and payments received from the 
Agency shall, to the best of the Construction Contractor's 
knowledge, information and belief, be free and clear of 
liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances in favor 
of the Construction Contractor, Subcontractors, Material 
suppliers, or other persons or entities making a claim by 
reason of having provided labor, Materials, and 
equipment relating to the Work by also submitting a 
Conditional Waiver of Lien form with the Application for 
Payment.  

8) At the time of submittal for payment of retainage, if 
requested by the Construction Contractor prior to the 
Final Application for Payment, and at Final Application for 
Payment, Construction Contractor shall provide the 
Agency with all items contained in Contractor Project 
Closeout- 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 26 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Exhibit M. 
9) Agency shall not accept improper or incorrect Application 

for Payment until corrections have been made.  
10)  A Progress Payment shall not be made to Construction 

Contractor until the Application for Payment has been 
certified.  

11) Final Payment shall not be made to Construction Contractor until a 
Final Completion Certificate has been issued. 

4.4. Application for Payment Certification by 
Design Professional 

The Design Professional will review and certify the amounts due to the 
Contractor and will issue Certificates for Payment in such amounts 
based on the Design Professional's inspections, observations and 
evaluations of the Construction Contractor's Applications for Payment 
for the Work accepted and in conformance to the Contract. 

4.5. Automated Clearing House Agency may pay invoices through an Automated Clearing House (ACH). 
In order to receive payments in this manner, Design Professional must 
complete an ACH Vendor Authorization Form (form GAO-618) within 
30 (thirty) days after the effective date of the Contract. The form is 
available online at: https://gao.az.gov/afis/vendor-information 

4.6. Availability of Funds By A.R.S. § 35-154, every Agency payment obligation under the 
Contract is conditioned on the availability of funds appropriated for 
payment of that obligation. If funds are not appropriated and available 
for continuance of the Contract, Agency may terminate the Contract at 
the end of the period for which funds are available, or, at Agency’s 
discretion, allow appropriate amendment to the Contract. No liability 
will accrue to Agency if it exercises the foregoing right or discretion, 
and Agency will have no obligation or liability for any future payments 
or for any damages as a result of having exercised it. 

4.7. Basis of Compensation; Design Professional 1) The Agency will compensate the Design Professional monthly upon the 
Agency acceptance described in the approved Contract, as it may be 
subsequently amended, upon receipt of an accurate monthly billing 
statement providing evidence of expenses. 

2) No advance payment will be made to the Design Professional prior to 
rendering services. 

3) Payments for Basic Work will be made monthly in proportion to 
services performed within each phase of services as reasonably 
determined by Agency. Agency shall have the right to review and 
inspect any and all records including, but not limited to, time sheets 
and work product of Design Professional, in order to determine 
whether the amount requested is accurate. Payment applications will 
be reviewed by the Agency to ensure the following information is 
included and correct or Agency will not approve the payment: 
j) Figures on the payment application shall be accurately calculated; 
k) Labor rates, reimbursables, fixed fee, subconsultant rates, 

overhead and fringe benefits listed on the payment application 
shall be consistent with the terms of the Contract; 

l) Charges included on the payment application shall be for Work 
included in the Contract or an amendment to the Contract, and 
shall be tied directly to the tasks outlined in the Contract; 

m) Design Professional principals shall bill at staff rates when acting 
as staff. Principals may only bill at the hourly rate of Principals 
when acting in that capacity. The Design Professional shall provide 

https://appstate.az.gov/
https://gao.az.gov/afis/vendor-information


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 27 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

documentation with each payment request that clearly indicates 
how that individual's time is allocated and the justification for that 
allocation;  

n) Subconsultant is an approved subconsultant in the Contract or an 
amendment to the Contract and any subconsultant approved for a 
specific discipline is being paid when Work in that discipline is 
performed; 

o) Reimbursable Expenses claimed are permitted by the terms of the 
Contract and supporting documentation is provided with the 
invoice; and 

p) If invoice has item(s) in dispute. Design Professional may resubmit 
an invoice for the undisputed amount or wait for payment until 
the dispute has been resolved. 

q) Design Professional shall not be entitled to receive payment until 
they have provided Agency with conditional and/or unconditional 
lien waivers, including waivers from Subconsultants, along with a 
detailed description of services and such other documents 
showing compliance with the terms of the contract as Agency may 
reasonably require in connection with requests for payment.  

4.8. Contracted Labor Rate 1) The contracted labor rates are the fully-burdened and marked-up 
billing rates for Construction Contractor’s labor Exhibit C 

2) The rates are deemed to be inclusive of the actual gross wages plus all: 
r) Applicable payroll taxes, non-payroll employer burden, workers’ 

compensation contributions and health and welfare benefit 
contributions; 

s) Retirement or other pension contributions, vacation, sick time or 
other paid leave allowances and the like; 

t) Required home office support, corporate or subordinate licenses 
or registrations, corporate insurance, professional association 
fees, advertising, time and travel by any of Construction 
Contractor personnel other than billable personnel and any 
bonuses or other incentives for all personnel (including billable 
Personnel); 

u) Insurance coverages to be provided by Construction Contractor 
under the Contract; and  

v) Profit. 
3) The rates are not subject to overtime or other premium time unless 

expressly stated otherwise. 
4) Prior to Construction Contractor finalization of Subconsultants and/or 

Subcontractors contracts, the Agency shall review and approve 
Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors hourly rates. 

4.9. Delay  1) Pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-2617, if the Construction Contractor incurs 
damages due to a delay for which the Agency and the Construction 
Contractor agree is (a) the fault of the Agency, (b) unreasonable under 
the circumstances, and (c) was not already contemplated by the terms 
of the agreement, then the Agency and the Construction Contractor 
may negotiate for the recovery of those damages. In this case, if the 
Construction Contractor sustains damages, which could not have been 
avoided by the judicious handling of forces, equipment and materials; 
or by reasonable revision in the Construction Contractor’s schedule of 
operation, the compensation for such damages will be negotiated. The 
Construction Contractor shall notify the Agency of the condition in 
writing by the next work day. Failure to notify the Agency within this 
time may be just cause to reject any claims for such damages. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 28 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 
2)  DELAYS THAT RESULT IN A MATERIAL CHANGE TO THE DATE OF 

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION MAY RESULT IN LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. 
Agency may assess Liquidated Damages (as detailed in the Special 
Terms and General Conditions) for unexcused and/or unauthorized 
delays, caused by the Construction Contractor, or any of its 
Subconsultants or Subcontractors, that result in a material change to 
the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. Construction 
Contractor is responsible for any reasonably foreseeable causes of 
delay. 

3) TIME EXTENSION. Within one business day after the Construction 
Contractor should have reasonably known of the occurrence prompting 
the request for an extension of time, the Construction Contractor must 
deliver a preliminary written notice to the Agency describing the 
general nature of the request. Within a reasonable time after the 
preliminary notice, the Construction Contractor must provide the 
Agency written supporting documentation stating all known time 
extensions to which the Construction Contractor is entitled. 
Construction Contractor may submit written time extension requests to 
the Agency for approval if the Construction Contractor is delayed 
through no fault of its own. 

4) CONCURRENT DELAYS. To the extent the Construction Contractor is 
entitled to an extension of time due to an Excusable Delay but the 
performance of the Work would have been suspended, delayed or 
interrupted by the fault or neglect of the Construction Contractor 
and/or any of its subcontractors/subconsultants, and suppliers, the 
Construction Contractor shall not be entitled to any additional Costs for 
the period of such concurrency. 

5) CHANGE ORDER. Any requests for time extensions must be approved 
by Agency and/or Design Professional through the use of a Change 
Order. 

4.10. Equipment Rental Construction Contractor rental of construction equipment to perform 
the Work shall be recorded and billed to the Agency to the nearest 
one-half hour and shall cease when equipment is no longer necessary 
for the Work. Billing shall include sales tax, the Cost of transportation, 
loading, unloading, and dismantling and removal thereof in accordance 
with the rental agreement terms and Agency approved Construction 
Contractor markup for overhead and profit. Rates for Construction 
Contractor -owned equipment shall be approved by Agency prior to 
equipment use. Construction Contractor shall not charge Agency for 
equipment that is inoperable due to breakdown or used for Work not 
related to the Project. 

4.11. Invoicing Requirements 1) Design Professional shall only submit invoice that match the prices in 
the Contract, including the pricing in any authorized Change Order or 
Contract Amendment. 

2) Design Professional shall comply with the following requirements for 
the submittal of invoices to the Agency. The Agency may, in its 
discretion, choose to deny all or some of an invoice due to the Design 
Professional’s failure to fully comport invoices to these requirements: 
w) TRAVEL. Travel Costs will be reimbursed according to the policies 

and procedures set by the State of Arizona’s General Accounting 
Office as specified in the Contract. See 
http://www.gao.az.gov/travel/ for Current Policies. Any 
anticipated travel Costs should be detailed as a line item in Design 
Professional’s fee proposal. 

https://appstate.az.gov/
http://www.gao.az.gov/travel/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 29 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

x) LODGING, SUBSISTENCE, AND MILEAGE. Design Professional and 
Agency must agree upon any lodging and subsistence Costs before 
these Costs are incurred for the Design Professional to receive 
reimbursement for these Costs. If lodging and subsistence Costs 
are incurred fifty (50) or more miles from the Design Professional 
primary place of business, then the invoice must include all 
receipts associated with these Costs for full reimbursement. 
Design Professional will only be reimbursed for mileage for travel 
fifty (50) or more miles from the Design Professional’s primary 
place of business. 

y) PREVIOUS MONTH. Design Professional shall only submit invoices 
for authorized and accepted Work, and Reimbursable Expenses 
for the previous month less any applicable penalties. 

z) INVOICES MUST BE VERIFIED. Design Professional shall bear the 
primary responsibility for the validity of any and all invoices, and 
shall certify that its invoices have been examined and that the 
contents therein are accurate and consistent with the Design 
Professional’s books of account. 

aa) INVOICE REQUIREMENTS STRICTLY ENFORCED. Agency reserves 
the right to reject, or partially pay, any invoices that are 
improperly addressed, or contain inaccurate or incomplete 
information. Agency is not responsible for any financing or other 
charges due to payments that are late due to Design Professional 
error. 

bb) FINAL INVOICE. Design Professional shall submit an invoice that 
contains a clear designation that it is the “Final” invoice when the 
Work is complete. Agency is under no obligation to release 
payment on a Final Invoice until the Design Professional has fully 
documented the final completion of the Work and Agency has 
reviewed and agreed with the amount due on the Final Invoice. 

4.12. Interest Payments to Design Professional are issued pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-
342. If payments to Design Professional are allowable and 30 days past 
due, interest shall accrue at the rate detailed in A.R.S. § 44-1201. 

4.13. Payment 1) PAYMENT NOT ACCEPTANCE. Agency payment of any invoice or 
Application for Payment shall not be construed to be acceptance of the 
Work. 

2) PAYMENT DEADLINE. Agency shall make payments in compliance with 
Arizona Revised Statues Titles 35 and 41. Unless and then only to the 
extent expressly stated otherwise in the Contract, Agency shall make 
payment in full for Materials that have been delivered and accepted 
and Work that has been performed and accepted within the time 
specified in A.R.S. § 35-342 after both of the following become true: 
a) All of the Materials being invoiced have been delivered or 

installed (as applicable) and accepted and all of the Work being 
invoiced have been performed and accepted; and  

b) Contractor has provided a complete and accurate invoice in the 
form and manner called for in the Contract and reasonably 
requested by the Agency, provided that, the Agency will not make 
or be liable for any payments to Contractor until Contractor has 
registered properly in APP and provided a current IRS Form W-9 
to Agency unless excused by law from providing one. 

3) PAYMENTS ONLY TO CONTRACTOR. Unless compelled otherwise by 
operation of law or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, Agency 
shall make payment to Contractor under the federal tax identifier 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 30 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

5.0  

provided. 
4.14. Project Suspension by Agency If the Project is suspended or abandoned in whole or in part for more 

than six (6) months by the Agency, the Design Professional will be 
compensated for only the following: all Work performed prior to 
receipt of written notice from the Agency of such suspension or 
abandonment together with Reimbursable Expenses then due. The 
Agency will not be liable for any additional expenses or any damages, 
including but not limited to consequential damages. If the Project is 
resumed after having been suspended for more than six (6) months, 
the Design Professional’s compensation may be equitably adjusted 
through negotiation. If the parties cannot agree on an adjustment, 
Agency may terminate the Agreement. 

4.15. Recovery of Overpayment If Agency determines that an over-payment has been made to Design 
Professional on any prior invoice, it shall inform Design Professional of 
the amount and date of the over-payment and may deduct the over-
paid amount from amounts then or thereafter due to Design 
Professional. 

4.16. Reimbursable Expenses Reimbursable expenses may be billed in accordance with Uniform 
Terms and General Conditions for amounts expended in the interest of 
the Project. Design Professional shall not exceed the approved 
reimbursement amount without prior written approval of the Agency 
through a Contract Amendment. 

4.17. Standard Hourly Rate Basis for Work For Projects compensated on a Standard Hourly Rate basis, the invoice 
statement for all Applications for Payment must show the name of all 
employees and Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors charging time to 
the Project, the amount of time billed, the fully burdened hourly rates, 
and the activities performed by each person listed. If requested by 
Agency, payroll time sheets and any other documents reasonably 
requested by Agency to verify amounts requested, shall be provided. 

4.18. Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum) Basis 
for Work  

For Projects compensated on a Stipulated Sum basis, the invoice 
statement for Application for Payment must include a brief summary of 
the progress and completion of tasks in accordance with the Work to 
substantiate the percentage of completion of Work by phase during 
the time period covered by the Application for Payment. Any Costs in 
excess of approved maximum not to exceed Contract amount incurred 
prior to Agency’s written consent will not be paid unless Costs were 
incurred at the Agency’s direction. 

4.19. Notification of Payments Any Design Professional, Subconsultant, or Subcontractor may notify 
the Agency in writing requesting that it be notified by the Agency in 
writing within five days from payment of each progress payment made 
to a Construction Contractor. If a request is made to the Agency as 
described in this paragraph, the request remains in effect for the 
duration of the requestor's Work related to this Contract pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 41-2577. Note that this paragraph in no way limits the Design 
Professional’s and/or Construction Contractor's ability to withhold any 
application or certification due to issues related to the Work of a 
Design Professional, Subconsultant, or Subcontractor as described in 
A.R.S. § 41-2577(D). 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 31 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

 Contract Changes 

5.1. Assignments and Delegation 1) NOTICE AND ASSIGNMENT OF TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP. In additions to Sections 5.2 and 
5.3 below, the Agency will require immediate notice and explicit assignment, pursuant to this 
Section, of any change to the underlying ownership of the Contractor. For the purpose of this 
Section, a change in ownership is defined by the transfer of any ownership interest or control 
of fifty percent or more of the Contractor, regardless of the form under which the Contractor 
conducts its business. 

2) IN WHOLE. Contractor shall not assign in whole or in part its rights or delegate in whole or in 
part its duties under the Contract without (a) notifying the Procurement Officer in advance 
and (b) obtaining the Procurement Officer’s prior written consent, which the Procurement 
Officer may withhold at his or her discretion. If Contractor’s proposed assignment or 
delegation stems from a split, sale, acquisition, or any other change in control, then no such 
consent will be given in any event without the assignee or delegate giving the Agency 
satisfactory and equivalent evidence or assurance of its financial soundness, competency, 
capacity, and qualification to perform as that which Contractor possessed when Agency first 
awarded it the Contract. Such determinations shall be made by the Procurement Officer in 
its sole discretion. 

5.2. Contract Amendments The Contract is issued for Agency under the authority of Procurement Officer. Only a 
Contract Amendment can modify the Contract, and then only if it does not change the 
Contract’s general scope. 

5.3. Unauthorized Contract Amendments 
or Orders are Void 

Purported changes to the Contract by a person not expressly authorized by Procurement 
Officer or made unilaterally by Design Professional will be void and without effect; Design 
Professional will not be entitled to any claim made under the Contract based on any such 
purported changes. The Design Professional is on notice that any course of conduct dealings 
cannot bind the Agency to any changes to the Contract; the Agency may avoid any 
unauthorized modifications to the Contract, Contract Amendments, or Orders. 

5.4. Change Orders 1) The Agency will only compensate for and the Construction Contractor shall only deliver or 
perform Additional Work that has been approved by the Agency through a fully authorized 
Change Order. 

2) CHANGE ORDER TERMS. All Change Orders are subject to the Contract Terms and Conditions 
except to the extent they are modified by Change Order. 

3) REASONABLE TIME FOR REVIEW. Both parties to the Contract agree to allow a reasonable 
period of time for the review and consideration of any requested Change Orders.  

4) FIELD ORDER DIRECTIVES (See Exhibit I). Field Order Directives should be followed by a 
Change Order within a reasonable time. The Not-to-Exceed Cost detailed in the Field Order 
Directive is enforceable against the Construction Contractor if the Agency and Construction 
Contractor are unable to agree to a price through a Construction Change Order. 

5) ITEMIZATION OF WORK. The Construction Contractor shall include the proposed Cost 
itemized breakout including Subcontractor or Subconsultant pricing by Work division labor 
and Materials, at a minimum to include: General Conditions, Overhead and Profit, Total- 
Labor Costs, Total Materials Cost, Equipment, Field Office and Job Site Supervision, Bonds, 
Insurance, and applicable tax. Failure of Construction Contractor to submit itemized Cost 
information with the Change Order Request will delay processing through no fault of the 
Agency. 

6) ADDITIONAL TIME FOR DELAY.  Construction Contractor must submit any request for an 
Excusable Delay within one business day after the Construction Contractor should have 
reasonably known of the occurrence prompting the request for an extension of time.   
a) Any Construction Contractor request for an Excusable Delay must be made through 

Construction Contractor initiation of a Change Order Request and written notice to the 
Agency.  

b) Failing to timely and properly provide written notice of the Delay, which must include a 
request through a Change Order Request, will waive Construction Contractor’s ability to 
negotiate increased time to complete the Work.  

c) The Construction Contractor's request shall include an estimate of Cost and of probable 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 32 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

effect of delay on the Work Progress Schedule. Adverse weather conditions shall not be 
a basis for a claim for additional Costs. 

7) FUEL SURCHARGES. Under no circumstances will the Agency accept any fuel surcharges on 
any Change Order request or Construction Contractor Pay Applications 

8) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR AND SUBCONTRACTOR MARKUP. The combination of 
overhead and profit shall not exceed the original percentage mutually agreed upon value of 
labor and Material for Work performed by any Construction Contractor or subcontractor for 
any Change Order or 5%, whichever is greater.  

9) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR ADDITIONAL WORK. Any Additional Work caused by 
Construction Contractor error, inconsistency, ambiguity, or otherwise conduct of 
Construction Contractor shall not constitute a change, and such Work will be performed at 
no additional cost to Agency. 

10) AGREEMENT ON CHANGE ORDER. Agreement on any Change Order shall constitute a final 
settlement of any and all matters relating to the change in the Work which is the subject of 
the Change Order including, but not limited to, any and all direct and indirect costs 
associated with such change and any and all adjustments to the Contract sum and the 
Schedule. 

5.5. Field Order Directive 1) The Agency may order changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract, 
consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, the Contract Cost and time for 
Substantial Completion being adjusted accordingly.  

2) A Field Order Directive (Exhibit I) shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the 
terms of a Change Order. 

3) If the Agency and the Construction Contractor cannot agree as to what amount should be 
charged for the Field Order Directive, Construction Contractor shall only be entitled to be 
reimbursed for actual direct labor and material Costs incurred at the construction site 
attributable to the change plus 5% for overhead and profit. Construction Contractor shall 
keep detailed records of all such Costs and submit such records to the Agency on a weekly 
basis. Within ten (10) days of completion of the change and the submission of all Cost data to 
the Agency, the Agency shall determine the total allowable Costs for the purpose of pricing 
and paying for the additional work required by the Field Order Directive and advise the 
Construction Contractor of such determination in writing.  This determination shall be final 
and binding unless Construction Contractor objects in writing within ten (10) days of this 
determination. The written objection shall contain a detailed statement of those elements 
and items of the determination with which the Construction Contractor disagrees with an 
adequate explanation forming the bases of the disagreement. The parties shall then make a 
good faith effort to resolve the disagreement within fifteen (15) days. If the parties still fail to 
agree, the dispute shall be submitted to the Procurement Officer. The Procurement Officer 
shall determine the Costs and notify the Construction Contractor in writing of his or her 
determination. If the Construction Contractor disagrees with the Procurement Officer’s 
determination, the Construction Contractor shall immediately initiate the contract claims 
resolution process in the Arizona Procurement Code (A.A.C. R2-7-B901, et seq.) 

4) When both additions and credits covering related Work or substitutions are involved in a 
change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of net increase, if 
any, with respect to that change. 

5) The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Agency for a deletion or change 
which results in a net decrease in the Contract Cost shall be actual net Cost as determined by 
the Design Professional or Agency. 

6) Pending final determination of Cost to the Agency, amounts not in dispute may be included 
in applications for payment. 

7) For any disagreement between the Contractor and Agency on the adjustment in Contract 
time or the method for determining it, the adjustment or the method shall be referred to the 
Agency for determination. 

8) When the Agency and Contractor agree with the determination made by the Contractor 
concerning the adjustments in the Contract Cost and Contract time, or otherwise reach 
agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective immediately and shall 
be recorded by preparation and execution of an appropriate Change Order. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 33 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

5.6. Minor Changes in the 
Work 

The Contractor, with the Agency’s approval, has the authority to order minor 

changes in the Work not involving adjustment in the Contract Cost or extension of the 
Contract time and consistent with the intent of the Contract. Such changes shall be effected 
by written order and shall be binding on the Agency and Contractor.  

The Contractor shall carry out such written orders promptly. 
5.7. Claims If Contractor is aware of any act, omission, or condition that would give rise to a breach of 

Contract or a Change Order and/or claim, Contractor shall notify Agency in writing within 48 
hours after becoming aware of such act, omission, or condition. This notice shall provide 
sufficient detail so that the claim may be properly evaluated by the Agency in a timely 
manner. Failure to give such notice shall be deemed a waiver of the right of the Contractor 
to recover. 

6.0  Risk and Liability 

6.1. Risk of Loss If applicable, Contractor shall bear all risk of loss and damages caused by Drawings, 
Specifications, Design Requirements, or other documents prepared by Contractor and used 
by Contractor in bidding, designing, and/or constructing the project to the extent that such 
documents are ambiguous, incomplete, contain errors or inconsistencies or fail to comply 
with any applicable codes, regulations and laws. 

6.2. Basic Indemnification CONTRACTOR/VENDOR (NOT PUBLIC AGENCY). If a Design Professional provides Work, 
services, studies, planning, surveys or other preparatory Work in connection with a public 
building or improvement,  the Contractor, and any and all of its Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors under this Contract, shall indemnify and hold harmless the State of Arizona 
and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, 
and employees, from liabilities, damages, losses and Costs, including reasonable attorney 
fees and court Costs (including, but not limited to, primary loss investigation, judgment 
Costs, expert witness fees, and any and all fees and Costs from appellate proceedings), for 
any and all acts arising from or connected to the performance of this contract but only to the 
extent caused by the negligence, recklessness, or intentional wrongful conduct of such 
Contractor or other persons employed or used by such Contractor or Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors in the performance of the Contract or subcontract, as allowed under A.R.S. 
Section 41-2586 (C) and A.R.S. Section 34-226. The Design Professional additionally agrees to 
indemnify the State of Arizona and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for any vicarious liability for the 
tortious conduct of the Design Professional’s actions including the actions of any of the 
Design Professional’s personnel or Subcontractors and/or Subconsultants.  The amount and 
type of insurance coverage requirements set forth in the Contract shall not be construed as 
limiting the scope of the indemnity in this paragraph. 

This indemnity shall not apply if the Contractor or Subconsultant(s) and/or Subcontractor(s) 
is/are an agency, board, commission or university of the State of Arizona. 

6.3. Patent and Copyright 
Indemnification 

1) DESIGN PROFESSIONAL/VENDOR (NOT PUBLIC AGENCY). With respect to Materials or 
Services provided or proposed by a Design Professional Indemnitor for performance under 
the Contract, Design Professional shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless  the State of 
Arizona and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees against any third-party claims for liability, Costs, and expenses, 
including, but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees, for infringement or violation of any 
patent, trademark, copyright, or trade secret by the Materials and the Services. With respect 
to the defense and payment of claims under this subparagraph:  
a) Agency shall provide reasonable and timely notification to Design Professional of any 

claim for which Design Professional may be liable under this paragraph; 
b) Design Professional, with reasonable consultation from Agency, shall have control of 

the defense of any action on an indemnified claim including all negotiations for its 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 34 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

settlement or compromise. Design Professional shall provide the Agency with notice of 
settlement negotiations and allow the Agency to participate in negotiations, if Agency 
so chooses;  

c) Agency may elect to participate in such action at its own expense; and  
d) Agency may approve or disapprove any settlement or compromise, provided that, 

Agency shall not unreasonably withhold or delay such approval or disapproval and 
Agency shall cooperate in the defense and in any related settlement negotiations.  

2) If Design Professional is a public agency, this paragraph does not apply. 
 

6.4. Force Majeure 1) DEFINITION. For this paragraph, “force majeure” means an occurrence that is:  
a) beyond the control of the affected party,  
b) occurred without the party’s fault or negligence, and  
c) something the party was unable to prevent by exercising reasonable diligence.  

2) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, force majeure expressly includes acts of 
God, acts of the public enemy, war, riots, strikes, mobilization, labor disputes, civil disorders, 
fire, flood, lockouts, injunctions-intervention-acts, failures or refusals to act by government 
authorities, and subject to paragraph 6.5 “Performance in Public Health Emergency,” 
declared public health emergencies. 

3) Force majeure expressly does not include late delivery caused by congestion at a 
manufacturer’s plant or elsewhere, an oversold condition of the market, late performance by 
a Subcontractor unless the delay arises out of an occurrence of force majeure. 

4) RELIEF FROM PERFORMANCE. Except for payment of sums due at the time of Force Majeure, 
the parties are not liable to each other if an occurrence of force majeure prevents its 
performance under the Contract. If either party is delayed at any time in the progress of their 
respective performance under the Contract by an occurrence of force majeure, the delayed 
party shall provide written notice to the other no later than the following working day after 
the occurrence, or as soon as it could reasonably have been expected to recognize that the 
occurrence had effect in cases where the effects were not readily apparent. In any event, the 
notice must make specific reference to this paragraph specifying the causes of the delay in 
the notice and, if the effects of the occurrence are on-going, provide an initial notification 
and thereafter the delayed party shall provide regular updates until such time as the effects 
are fully known. To the extent it is able, the delayed party shall cause the delay to cease 
promptly and notify the other party when it has done so. The parties shall extend the time of 
completion by Contract Amendment for a period equal to the time that the results or effects 
of the delay prevented the delayed party from performing. 

5) DELAY CAUSED BY FORCE MAJEURE IS NOT DEFAULT. Failure in performance by either party 
will not constitute default hereunder or give rise to any claim for damages or loss of 
anticipated profits or any other consequential damages if and to the extent that such failure 
was or is being caused by an occurrence of force majeure. 

6) DEFAULT DIMINISHES RELIEF. Entitlement to relief from the effects of an occurrence of force 
majeure is diminished to the extent that the delay did or will result from the affected party’s 
default unrelated to the occurrence, in which case and to that extent the other party’s 
normal remedies and the affected party’s obligations would apply undiminished. 

6.5. Performance in Public Health 
Emergency 

1) Construction Contractor warrants that it will:  
2) Have in effect promptly after commencement a plan for continuing performance in the event 

of a declared public health emergency that addresses, at a minimum:  
3) identification of response personnel by name;  
4) key succession and performance responses in the event of sudden and significant decrease in 

workforce; and  
5) alternative avenues to keep the project consistent with its Schedule or sufficient product on 

hand or in the supply chain; and 
6) Provide a copy of its current plan to Agency within three (3) business days after Agency’s 

written request. If Construction Contractor claims relief under the paragraph “Force 
Majeure” for an occurrence of force majeure that is a declared public health emergency, 
then that relief will be conditioned on Construction Contractor having first implemented its 
plan and exhausted all reasonable opportunity for that plan implementation to overcome 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 35 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

the effects of that occurrence, or mitigate those effects to the extent that overcoming 
entirely is not practicable. 

7) For clarification of intent, being obliged to implement the plan is not of itself an occurrence 
of Force Majeure, and Construction Contractor will not be entitled to any additional 
compensation or extension of time by virtue of having to implement it. Furthermore, failure 
to have or implement an appropriate plan will be a Material breach of contract. 

6.6. Safety Standards 1) Contractor shall provide Materials and Services under this Contract that comply with all 
current applicable safety standards and regulations, including but not limited to, the 
Occupational Safety and Health Standards of the State of Arizona Industrial Commission, 
the National Electric Code and the National Fire Protection Association Standards and any 
other standard references in the Contract. 

2) Contractor shall provide necessary protection, take all precautions for and monitor the 
safety of Construction Contractor personnel and Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants 
during the performance of Work. 

3) Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss of persons, the 
Work, or property at the Site or adjacent thereto in emergencies affecting the safety or 
protection thereof. 

6.7. Third Party Antitrust 
Violations 

Contractor assigns to Agency any claim for overcharges resulting from antitrust violations to 
the extent that those violations concern Materials or services supplied by third parties to 
Contractor toward fulfillment of the Contract. 

7.0  Warranties 

7.1  Liens Contractor warrants that the Materials and Services when accepted will be and will remain 
free of liens or other encumbrances. 

7.2 Guarantees and Warranties 1) Design Professional warrants that it has carefully conducted and performed internal checking 
of any and all Design Requirements to ensure proper layouts and dimension completeness 
and clarity, and through due diligence has no knowledge of any inconsistencies, ambiguities, 
errors, omissions, or conflicts with regard to such Design Requirements. 

2) Design Professional warrants that it has advised Agency in writing of the need for tests, 
studies, analysis or subconsultant services for the development of design documents. 

3) Design Professional warrants that construction drawings and specifications submitted for 
bidding or negotiation with a Construction Contractor are complete, accurate, unambiguous 
and in compliance with all applicable codes, laws and ordinances. 

4) Design Professional warrants that it is financially solvent and possesses sufficient experience, 
licenses, personnel, and capital to complete the services for the Agency. 

5) Design Professional warrants that they have visited the project Site, is thoroughly familiar 
with the conditions of the Site, and will correlate its observations with the construction 
drawings and specifications. 

6) Design Professional warrants that it shall be responsible for any and all defects in the 
construction drawings and specifications, and other design documents prepared by Design 
Professional and/or Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, that are caused by the Design 
Professional, Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, or any other person or firm hired by the 
Design Professional. 

7) Design Professional warrants that the construction drawings and specifications are sufficient 
for the intended purpose of performing design services under this agreement. 

8) Design Professional warrants that the construction drawings and specifications may be built 
at the Site and that construction and completion of the project will not violate any zoning 
ordinance or use restrictions imposed by any governing authority. 

9) Design Professional warrants that all personnel or Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors 
used for construction administration services shall have sufficient knowledge and experience 
to properly carry out the duties required for the Work. 

7.3 Contractor Personnel 1) Construction Contractor warrants that its personnel will perform their duties under the 
Contract in a professional manner, applying the requisite skills and knowledge, consistent 
with industry standards, and in accordance with the requirements of the Contract. 
Construction Contractor further warrants that its key personnel will maintain any 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 36 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

certifications relevant to their Work, and Construction Contractor shall provide individual 
evidence of certification to Agency’s authorized representatives upon request. 

2) The Construction Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the 
Construction Contractor’s employees and other persons carrying out the Contract Work. The 
Construction Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not skilled 
in tasks assigned to them. 

7.4 Intellectual Property 1) Design Professional warrants that the Materials and Services do not and will not infringe 
or violate any patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret, or other intellectual property rights 
or laws, except only to the extent the Specifications do not permit use of any other product 
and Design Professional is not and cannot reasonably be expected to be aware of the 
infringement or violation. 

2) SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS. In consideration for Agency having agreed to permit Pass-Through 
Indemnities in lieu of direct indemnity, Design Professional agrees to establish and keep 
in place systems and controls appropriate to ensure that Agency funds under this Contract 
are not knowingly used for the acquisition, operation, or maintenance of Materials or 
Services in violation of intellectual property laws or a third party’s intellectual property rights 

7.5 Compliance with Laws 
If applicable, Design Professional warrants that the Materials and Services and any disposal 
thereof bearing on performance of the Work do and will continue to comply with all applicable 
federal, state, and local laws. 
Some of the local codes with which the Work performed by the Design 
Professional must be in compliance include, but are not limited to, the 
Arizonans with Disabilities Act (A.A.C. R10-3-401 through 412) and American 
National Standards Institute’s Specifications for Making Buildings and Facilities 
Accessible to and Usable by the Physically Handicapped; State of Arizona Fire 
Code; regulations related to solar energy and life cycle Cost analysis (see A.R.S. 
§ 34-452); and Water Conservation for State Facilities (see Executive Order 91-
3). 

7.6 100% Construction Documents 1) Construction Documents shall be consistent with the Project program, construction budget, 
and Progress Schedule. 

2) Prior to the first Construction Documents phase submittal, Design Professional and its 
Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors shall review Agency’s Bidding Documents for Project 
requirements and recommend any changes needed to make them applicable to the Project.  

3) Design Professional shall update the documents and provide additional drawings, details and 
specifications in sufficient detail as to be deemed complete and buildable.  

4) Prior to submitting the 100% Construction Documents, Design Professional and its 
Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors shall have thoroughly checked, coordinated, and 
revised all documents to bring them to 100% completed level 

5) The Design Professional shall provide or assist with the preparation of the following: 
a) Certification Page  
b) Project Description  
c) Index to the Specifications  
d) Specifications and List of Drawings with dates  

7.7 Contracted Work, Errors and Omissions 1) Errors, inconsistencies, ambiguities or omissions discovered by the Contractor shall be 
reported as a written Request for Information to the Agency immediately prior to the 
execution of Work. 

2) If the Contractor performs any Work activity knowing or should have known it involves an 
error, inconsistency or omission in the Contract without such written notice to the Agency, 
the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such performance and shall bear the full 
Costs for correction.  

3) REMEDIATION OF ERRORS. Contractor bears full responsibility for errors and omissions in its 
Work and any and all Work of the Contractor’s Subconsultant’s and/or Subcontractor’s 
Work. Contractor shall include in its Work, without limit or additional Cost to the Agency, all 
Work necessitated, in whole or in part, by any and all errors and omissions of, or breach of, 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 37 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

the Contract by, the Contractor, its Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, or any entity 
working under the Contractor. At a minimum, the Contractor shall, at no Cost to the Agency, 
promptly remediate any errors, omissions, deficiencies, or contradictions in its Work to the 
satisfaction of the Agency.  

4) ACCEPTANCE OR APPROVAL DOES NOT ALLEVIATE CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
ERRORS. The approval, review, or acceptance of the Contractor’s Work by any Agency or 
other party does not, in any way, alleviate the Contractor from its responsibility to fully 
remediate the Work from any errors discovered subsequently or necessary clarification of 
any ambiguities. The obligations of the Contractor to correct defective or nonconforming 
Work shall not, in any way, limit the Contractor’s other obligations under the Contract. 

5) DESIGN PROFESSIONAL PERFORMING WORK WITH A CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK. 
When working with a Construction Manager-at-Risk, Design Professional has a shared 
responsibility with Construction Contractor for discovery and resolution of discrepancies, 
errors, and omissions in the Contract Documents when hired by the Agency to perform pre-
construction services. In such case, Design Professional’s responsibility pertains to review, 
coordination, and recommendation of resolution strategies within budget constraints. 

7.8 Licenses and Permits 
Design Professional warrants that it will maintain all licenses and proper State registration 
required under paragraph 3.8 [Design Professional Licenses] valid and in force. 

7.9 Operational Continuity Contractor warrants that it will perform without relief notwithstanding being sold or 
acquired; no such event will operate to mitigate or alter any of Contractor’s duties 
hereunder absent a consented delegation under paragraph 5.1 Assignments and Delegation 
that expressly recognizes the event. 

7.10 Pandemic Contractual Performance 1) The Design Professional shall have a plan that illustrates how the Design 
Professional shall perform contractual requirements in the event of a pandemic. At a 
minimum, the plan shall include:  
a) Key succession and performance planning in the event of sudden significant decrease in 

Design Professional’s workforce; 
b) Alternative methods to ensure there are products in the supply chain; and  
c) a current organizational chart and contact list. 

2) In the event of a pandemic, as declared by the Governor of Arizona, U.S. 
Government or the World Health Organization, which makes performance 
of any term under this Contract impossible or impracticable, the following 
shall apply: 
(a) The Agency may temporarily void the Contract(s) in whole or specific sections if 

the Design Professional cannot perform contractual requirements; 
(b) The Agency shall not incur any liability if a pandemic is declared and emergency 

procurements are authorized by the director as per § 41-2537 of the Arizona 
Procurement Code; and  

(c) The Agency may, at its sole discretion, reinstate the voided contracts or sections of 
contracts when the pandemic is officially declared over and/or the Contractor can 
demonstrate the ability to perform. 

3) The Agency, at any time, may request to see a copy of the written plan from the Design 
Professional. The Design Professional shall produce the written plan within seventy-
two (72) hours of the request. 

7.11 Lobbying 1) PROHIBITION. Design Professional warrants that: 
a) it will not engage in lobbying activities, as defined in 40 CFR part 34 

and A.R.S. § 41-1231, et seq., using monies awarded under the 
Contract, provided that, the foregoing does not intend to constrain 
Design Professional’s use of its own monies or property, including 
without limitation any net proceeds duly realized under the Contract 
or any value thereafter derived from those proceeds; and, upon award 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 38 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

of the Contract, it will disclose all lobbying activities to Agency to the 
extent they are an actual or potential conflict of interest or where such 
activities could create an appearance of impropriety. Design 
Professional shall implement and maintain adequate controls to assure 
compliance with this paragraph. 

b) Design Professional shall obtain an equivalent warranty from all Subcontractor and/or 
Subconsultants and shall include an equivalent no-lobbying provision in all 
Subcontracts. 

2) EXCEPTION. This paragraph does not apply to the extent that the Services 
are defined in the Contract as being lobbying for Agency’s benefit or on 
Agency’s behalf. 

7.12 Survival of Warranties  All representations and warrants made by Design Professional under the Contract will 
survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Contract. 

7.13 Waiver of the Statute of Repose To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor waives Arizona’s statute of repose as 
defined in A.R.S. § 12-552 (the "Statute of Repose"). The Contractor ’s express written 
warranties stated elsewhere in the Contract, and any and all any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses including attorney fees and court Costs, for bodily 
injury or personal injury (including death), will not be time-barred by the Statute of Repose. 
Court Costs shall include, but are not limited to, Costs associated with claim processing, 
primary loss investigation, judgment, expert witnesses, and any and all fees and 
Costs related to appellate proceedings. 

 
8.0  State's Contractual Remedies 

 

8.1 Agency’s Right to Carry Out the Work 1)  If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and fails within a seven-day period after receipt of written notice from 
the Agency to commence and continue correction of such default or neglect with diligence 
and promptness, the Agency may after such seven-day period, without prejudice to other 
remedies the Agency may have, correct such deficiencies or cause such deficiencies to be 
corrected. Contractor shall pay any and all Costs incurred by the Agency for such corrections 
to the work.  

2)  In such case, an appropriate Change Order shall be issued deducting from payments 
then or thereafter due the Contractor the Cost of correcting such deficiencies, including 
compensation for the Designer's additional services and expenses made necessary by such 
default, neglect or failure.  

3)  Such action by the Agency and amounts charged to the Contractor are both subject to 
prior review and confirmation by the Designer. If payments then or thereafter due the 
Contractor are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Contractor shall pay the difference 
to the Agency. 

4)  An Agency may require that Contractor provide a work plan to address the deficiencies 
within 48 hours of receiving the above-referenced notice from Agency. 

8.2 Consequential Damages 1) Design Professional and Agency waive claims against each other for consequential damages 
arising out of relating to the Contract. This mutual waiver includes, but is not limited to: 
a) Damages incurred by the Agency for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, profit, 

financing, business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee 
productivity or of the services of such persons; and 

b) Damages incurred by the Design Professional for principal office 
expenses including, but not limited to, the compensation of personnel 
stationed there, for losses of financing, inherent loss, bond capacity 
loss, business and reputation, and for loss of profit arising directly from 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 39 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

the Work, and for indirect expenses and general office overhead and 
future profits. 

2) This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to 
either party’s termination. Nothing contained in this section shall be deemed to preclude an 
award of liquidated direct damages, when applicable, in accordance with the requirements 
of the Design Professional documents. 

3) In the event the liquidated damage clause is deemed unenforceable by any tribunal or court 
of competent jurisdiction, the Agency’s waiver of consequential damages shall be null and 
void. 

8.3 Nonconforming Tender 1) The Materials provided and Services performed must comply fully with the Contract, and 
providing Materials or performing Services or any portion thereof that do not comply fully 
constitutes a breach of Contract, in which event Agency will be entitled to exercise any 
remedy available to it under the Contract or laws. 

2) Any material deviation from the final bid may be deemed a breach of contract unless 
specifically authorized by the Procurement Officer through a contract Change Order.  

3) The Agency will not accept a material reduction and/or modification in the quality and/or 
quantity of the Work. 

8.4 Non-exclusive Remedies Agency’s rights and remedies under the Contract are not exclusive. 

8.5 Right to Assurance 1) If Agency in good faith has reason to believe that Contractor does not 
intend to, or is unable to, perform or continue performing under the 
Contract, Procurement Officer may demand that Contractor promptly 
provide written assurance of intent to perform. Failure by Contractor to 
provide the assurance within the time specified may be the basis for 
terminating the Contract or for Agency to exercise any other remedy 
available to it under the Contract or laws. 

2) The Agency may demand any and all documents in its reasonable discretion to assure itself 
that the Contractor has the resources and ability to perform the Contract. 

8.6 Right of Offset 1)  Agency is entitled to offset against any sums due Contractor any 
expenses or Costs Agency incurs or damages it has assessed against it 
concerning Contractor’s non-conforming performance or failure to carry 
out the Work, including any expenses, Costs, and damages to which it is 
entitled by the Contract or laws.  

2)  Further, the Agency is also entitled to the right of offset on this 
Contract for breach and defaults on other Contracts between the Agency 
and Contractor. 

8.7 Stop Work Order The Agency may at any time require Contractor to stop all or any part of the Work by written 
order (a “Stop Work Order”). Upon receipt of a Stop Work Order, Contractor shall 
immediately comply with its terms and take all reasonable steps to minimize incurring of 
further Costs during the period of stoppage that might be chargeable to Agency associated 
with the portions of the Work covered by the order. If Contractor incurs losses, it may make 
a claim under Article 10 solely for Work performed to date of the Stop Work Order subject to 
the limitations set forth in this Contract. Further, upon issuance of a Stop Work Order, 
Contractor shall take all steps necessary to ensure the safety of the Site. 

9.0  Contract Termination 

9.1 Agency Failure to Perform 
The Design Professional is not liable or responsible for Agency delays or 
suspensions of Work. 

9.2 Gratuities Agency may, by written notice, terminate the Contract, in whole or in part, if Agency 
determines that employment or a Gratuity was offered or made by Design Professional or a 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 40 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

representative of Design Professional to any officer or employee of Agency for the purpose 
of influencing the outcome of the procurement or the administration of the Contract or any 
favorable treatment concerning the Contract or performance of the Contract. Agency, in 
addition to any other rights or remedies available to it, will be entitled to recover exemplary 
damages in the amount of three (3) times the value of the Gratuity offered by Design 
Professional. 

9.3 Notice to Cure In the event a Notice to Cure is issued to the Design Professional, the Design Professional 
shall attend a meeting with the Agency Procurement Officer and any designated Agency 
personnel. Upon receipt of any Notice to Cure, the Design Professional receiving the Notice 
must prepare a report describing its program and measures to affect the Cure of the event of 
default and/or anticipatory breach of Contract within the time required by the Notice to 
Cure. The report must be delivered to the Agency Procurement Officer at least three (3) 
business days prior to the required Notice to Cure meeting with the Agency.  

9.4 Rights to Work Project Should the Design Professional be terminated under this Contract, the Agency may continue 
the Project and receive copies of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents within 
fourteen (14) calendar days of the termination notice. Copies will be in the format 
designated by the Agency. The Agency reserves the right to have these documents 
completed, corrected, revised or added to by another Design Professional 

9.5 Suspension or Debarment Agency may, by written notice to Design Professional, terminate the Contract immediately if 
Agency discovers that Design Professional has been debarred, suspended or otherwise 
lawfully prohibited from participating in any public procurement activity, including but not 
limited to, being disapproved as a Subcontractor and/or Subconsultant of any public 
procurement unit or other governmental body. Agency has taken Design Professional’s 
submittal of the Offer and Acceptance Form and will take its performance under the 
Contract as Design Professional’s attestation that it is not currently suspended or debarred. If 
Design Professional subsequently becomes suspended or debarred, it shall notify 
Procurement Officer immediately. 

9.6 Termination for Conflict of Interest By A.R.S. § 38-511, Agency may terminate the Contract within three (3) years after the 
effective date without penalty or further obligation if any Person significantly involved in 
initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting, or creating the Contract on behalf of Agency is or 
becomes an employee or agent of any other party to the Contract in any capacity or a 
consultant to any other party to the Contract with respect to the subject matter of the 
Contract. Any such termination will be effective when Design Professional receives Agency’s 
written notice of the termination unless the notice specifies a later date. 

9.7 Termination for Convenience Agency may terminate the Contract for convenience and in its sole discretion, in whole or in 
part, at any time, and without penalty or recourse on Contractor’s part other than as 
expressly stated in the Contract. Upon receipt of Agency’s written termination notice, 
Contractor shall stop work as directed in the notice, notify all Subcontractor and/or 
Subconsultants of the termination and its effective date, place no further orders for Work or 
Materials, enter into any further Contracts for Materials or Work, terminate all Contracts 
regarding Work remaining to be done, take all reasonable and necessary actions to protect 
the Work and the Site, and minimize any further Costs that might be chargeable to Agency. 
Contractor shall take all necessary actions to protect and preserve the work. In the event of 
termination under this paragraph, all Design Requirements, plans, Specifications, Drawings, 
Construction Documents, data, and reports prepared by Contractor under the Contract will 
become Agency’s property and Contractor shall deliver it all promptly on demand. 
Contractor will be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for necessary and 
attributable unfinished Materials on hand, Work in progress, Work completed, and Work 
accepted before the effective date of the termination. Should the Agency terminate the 
Contract under this paragraph, the Agency will not be liable for Contractor lost profits or any 
consequential damages.   

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 41 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

9.8 Termination for Default 1) In addition to the rights reserved to it under the Contract, Agency may terminate the 
Contract in whole or in part due to Contractor’s failure to:  
a) comply with any term or condition of the Contract;  
b) comply with any warranty made by construction contractor under the contract  
c) obtain and maintain all required insurance policies, bonds, licenses, and permits; or  
d) make satisfactory progress in carrying out the Work. Procurement Officer shall give 

written notice of the termination and the reasons for it.  
e) or fails to furnish Agency with assurances satisfactory to Agency evidencing 

Contractor’s ability to complete the work in compliance with all the requirements of the 
Contract Documents.  

2) Upon termination under this paragraph, all documents, data and reports prepared by 
Contractor under the Contract and all necessary and attributable unfinished Materials on 
hand, Work in progress, Work completed, and Work accepted will become Agency’s 
property, and Contractor shall deliver all of it immediately on demand. Agency may, 
following termination of the Contract under this paragraph, procure on terms and in the 
manner determined to be appropriate Materials or services to replace those that were to 
have been provided or performed by Contractor, and Contractor will be liable to Agency for 
any excess Cost Agency incurs in procuring such substitutes. 

3) In the event the Agency terminates for default, the Agency shall be entitled to recover from 
the Contractor any and all reasonable attorney fees and court Costs (including, but not 
limited to, primary loss investigation, judgment Costs, expert witness and/or consultant fees 
and any and all expenses, fees, and Costs from appellate proceedings). 

4) If a termination for default is later determined to have been improper, such termination shall 
be automatically converted to a termination for convenience, and Contractor’s remedies and 
compensation shall be limited to those for a termination for convenience under the 
Contract. 

9.9 Work Performance Continuation 
Required Design Professional shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress 

Schedule during all disputes, disagreements, or alternative resolution processes 
with the Agency. 

Design Professional shall not delay or postpone any Work except as Agency and 
Design Professional may agree in writing. Design Professional shall continue to 
perform in accordance with the requirements of the Contract up to the 
effective date of any Stop Work Notice issued or Termination, as directed by 
Agency in the notice.  

10.0  Contract Claims 
 

10.1  Claim Resolution Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, all Contract claims or controversies under 
the Contract are to be resolved according to Arizona Revised Statutes Title 41, Chapter 23, 
Article 9, and the rules adopted thereunder. 

10.2  Mandatory Arbitration In compliance with A.R.S. § 12-1518, the parties agree to comply in a judicial review 
proceeding with any applicable, mandatory arbitration requirements for the resolution of 
claims valued at less than $100,000 by the State. The parties agree that any and all 
mandatory arbitration shall be through the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”), with 
the arbitrator to be selected pursuant to AAA rules and the arbitration to be conducted 
according to the applicable AAA rules, and with the Costs of arbitration (including but not 
limited to the arbitrator’s fees, and Costs) to be allocated between the parties by the 
arbitrator. Costs do not include attorney fees. 

10.3 Additional Parties to Arbitration At the State's request, Design Professional agrees to allow for the joinder of an additional 
party, or additional parties, to an arbitration of any claim relating to the Contract.  This 
provision is intended for circumstances in which the State, Design Professional, or an 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 42 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

additional party, has a claim or claims that relate to either the facts or claim at issue in the 
Design Professional's arbitration with the State, and the State determines that it would be 
efficient to join all the parties involved in the dispute in one arbitration. 

11.0  Design Professional Responsibilities  
11.1 Acceptance of Work 1) Agency has the right to make acceptance of the Work subject to a complete inspection on 

delivery and installation, if installation is Construction Contractor’s responsibility. Agency 
may apply as acceptance criteria conformity to the Contract, workmanship and quality, 
correctness of constituent Materials, and any other matter for which the Contract or 
applicable laws state a requirement, whether stated directly or by reference to another 
document, standard, reference specification, etc.  

2) Construction Contractor shall remove and replace any rejected Work; and remove 
any rejected Materials from the delivery location, or from any immediate environs 
to which it might have been reasonably necessary to move it, carry it off the 
delivery premises, and subsequently deliver an equal number or quantity of 
conforming items. Agency will not owe Construction Contractor any payment for 
rejected Work, and Agency may, at its discretion, withhold or make partial 
payment for any rejected Materials that have been returned to Construction 
Contractor in those instances where Agency has agreed to permit repair instead of 
demanding replacement 

11.2  Additional Work 1) AUTHORIZATION FOR ADDITIONAL WORK REQUIRED. Contractor shall only provide 
Additional Work when authorized in a written Order signed by the responsible Agency 
Procurement Officer. The Agency will not provide compensation for unauthorized Work. 

2) PROMPT NOTIFICATION. Contractor shall notify the Agency with reasonable promptness 
when the need for additional services is identified and explain the facts and circumstances 
giving rise to the need. If the Agency determines that all or parts of those services are not 
required, the Agency shall give prompt written notice to the Contractor, and the Agency shall 
have no further obligation to compensate the Contractor for those services. 

3) PROMPT AND ACCURATE SUBMITTALS. To avoid delay in the Schedule, Contractor 
shall submit any Requests for Information (“RFI’s) or any other necessary 
documentation completely, accurately, and in a timely fashion, in accordance with 
the Contract. 

11.3  Agency Reviews and Approvals During 
Design Each design phase is subject to review and approval by the Agency.  

Other Agency personnel, external consultants, or public agencies may also 
review the Design Professional’s submittals at the Agency’s discretion or as 
required by applicable regulations in advance of Agency approval. 

The Agency will review the submitted drawings at all stages at times mutually 
agreeable with the Design Professional and provide written comments.  The 
Design Professional may not proceed with Work until it has received Agency 
approval. 

11.4  Allowances 1) The Construction Contractor shall include in the Contract Cost at time of 
offer submission any and all Allowances stated in the Contract as separate 
line items. Items covered by Allowances shall be supplied for such amounts 
and by such persons or entities as the Construction Documents may direct, 
but the Construction Contractor shall not be required to employ persons or 
entities against which the Construction Contractor makes reasonable 
objection. Agency shall approve all use of Allowances through the use of 
Authority to Use Allowance Form, Exhibit S. 

2) Allowances shall: 
a) Cover the Cost to the Construction Contractor of Materials and equipment 

delivered to the Site and all required taxes, less applicable trade discounts; 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 43 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

b) Construction Contractor's Costs for unloading and handling at the Site, labor, 
installation Costs, overhead, profit and other expenses contemplated for stated 
Allowance amounts shall be included in the Contract Cost and not in the 
Allowances; 

c) Construction Contractor shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the scope and 
budget of Allowances are correct. When Costs are more than or less than 
Allowances, the Contract Cost shall be adjusted accordingly by a Change Order. 
Construction Contractor shall notify the Agency immediately if the scope selected 
for the Allowance causes Costs to be more or less than Allowance. 

d) Amount of Allowance must reflect reasonable Cost of providing the items, whether 
the item is actually provided. 

 
 

11.5  As-Built Drawings Construction Contractor will review and update the As-Built Drawings on a 
weekly basis reflecting the changes in Specifications and working Drawings 
during the Construction of the Work and such updated As-built Drawing shall 
be made available at the construction site for review by agency and Design 
Professional. Construction Contractor will submit the fully revised set of 
Drawings to the Design Professional upon Final Completion of the Work for the 
Project. Design Professional will incorporate Construction Contractor’s red-line 
drawings and will submit the fully revised set of As-Built Drawings to the 
Agency upon Final Completion of the Work for the Project. 

11.6 Automatic Temperature Control Design Where applicable, the Design Professional shall specify open protocol automatic Energy 
Management System (EMS)/HVAC controls systems that communicate with and are interoperable 
with the Agency system. The Agency’s Designated Representative shall arrange an initial meeting 
to discuss the integration and specification of the EMS/HVAC Control System. The Design 
Professional shall thereafter incorporate these requirements into Project design and Construction 
Documents. 

11.7 Basic Work, Design Professional 
Services Design Professional’s Basic Work, as detailed in the Design Professional 

Services Agreement, shall include but are not limited to, any and all structural, 
mechanical, civil and electrical engineering Services. If the initial scope of the 
Project is changed materially by the Agency, the Design Professionals 
compensation will be equitably adjusted through negotiation upon execution 
of a contract amendment. 

11.8  Bidding Phase During the Bidding phase, only the Agency Procurement Officer shall receive all 
requests for interpretation, clarification and modification from Bidders, and log 
in the date, time, contact information and question in the e-procurement 
system. The Agency Procurement Officer will forward this information to the 
Design Professional. The Design Professional and its Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors may answer general questions and collect information from 
Bidders, but shall not clarify intent or change the Bidding Documents verbally 
or in writing. The Design Professional and its Subconsultants and/or 
Subcontractors shall forward a copy of questions they directly received from 
Bidders to the Agency Procurement Officer. The Agency Procurement Officer 
sets the deadline for receiving all requests for clarification or interpretation of 
the Bidding Documents. Questions received after the deadline may be 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 44 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

answered at the discretion of the Agency Procurement Officer 
11.9 Clean Up of Site 1) The Construction Contractor shall at all times keep the premises, Site of 

construction, surrounding area, and any storage areas neat and clean, and 
free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish caused by operation 
of Work under the Contract.  

2) At completion of the Work the Construction Contractor shall remove from 
and about the Project waste materials, rubbish, the Construction 
Contractor 's tools, construction equipment, machinery, surplus material, 
and any excess rocks and dirt from the Work, to restore affected areas of 
Site to a neat and clean condition satisfactory to the Agency Designated 
Representative.  

3) If the Construction Contractor fails to clean up, the Agency may do so and 
the Cost thereof shall be charged to the Construction Contractor. 

4) Any landscaped seeded or sodded area requiring repair as a result of 
construction damage shall be leveled, raked, and re-seeded or re-sodded 
with like material at Construction Contractor ’s expense. 

11.10  Compliance with Codes Contractor shall bear full responsibility for ensuring that the Work performed 
under the Contract complies with all applicable laws, codes and regulations. In 
the case of conflicts between codes, the more stringent conditions shall apply.  
The Arizona Department of Administration Statutory Review is the authority 
having jurisdiction and is the enforcement agency for code requirements. 

11.11  Cooperation and Coordination 1) Agency and Design Professional will cooperate and participate fully in 
coordinating at all levels and among all the parties involved in this Project, 
and at their own expense. Cooperation shall mean both formal and 
informal interaction between and among all the parties involved in the 
Project, including but not limited to, Agency’s Representatives, Design 
Professional’s Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, Construction 
Contractors, Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants and outside entities as 
designated by Agency to promote the desired goal of a successful, non-
adversarial completion of the Project on time and within budget. The 
requirement for Cooperation shall not be construed as a change in the 
terms or conditions of the Contract for the Project.  

2) The Agency and Construction Contractor shall endeavor to communicate 
through the Design Professional. Communications by and with the Design 
Professional 's Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors shall be through the 
Design Professional. Communications by and with Subcontractor and/or 
Subconsultants and material suppliers shall be through the Construction 
Contractor. Communications by and with separate Construction 
Contractors shall be through the Design Professional. 

11.12  Schedule 1) SCHEDULE. The Schedule for Construction and any and all updates thereto 
shall include time for any and all necessary review and approvals by Agency 
or outside entities, as well as sufficient time for other Consultants to 
complete their portion of the Work. The Schedule shall be in a format and 
provide sufficient detailed information that is acceptable to the Agency. 
Construction Contractor shall provide the Agency and Design Professional 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 45 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

with an approved baseline Schedule, within a time frame determined by 
the Agency, to include at a minimum initiation of construction, 
mobilization, procurement, installation, testing, inspection, delivery of 
Close-out Documents and Substantial Completion of the Work of the 
Contract and any other information required in the Special Terms and 
Conditions.  

2) ADDITIONAL TIME. Construction Contractor shall bear the primary 
responsibility for determining whether additional time is required for the 
review of any orders or amendments to the Contract for Construction; 
allowing time for Agency review and approval of any such orders or 
amendments; and is responsible for ensuring that such time is reflected in 
a modified Schedule in a Change Order.  

3) CONTRACTOR REVIEW. Contractor shall bear the primary responsibility for ensuring that it 
was allotted sufficient time in the Schedule for construction for any and all necessary reviews 
and approvals. The Agency and/or Design Professional shall timely review all requests for 
information, changes, and submittals in a timely fashion as to not delay the project.  

11.13  Conformity of Work to 
Construction Documents Review 

1) The Design Professional shall review inspection reports, laboratory reports, and test data 
to determine conformity of such data with the Design Requirements expressed, implied, or 
depicted in the Contract Documents; approved Shop Drawings, Product Data, and Samples; 
and Clarification Drawings. 

2) The Design Professional shall also recommend to the Agency, actions to be taken by the 
Agency as determined from Design Professional Project Site visits, inspection reports, 
laboratory reports, and test data or from Construction Contractor proposals, or other 
relevant documents. Agencies shall have the right, in the event of a dispute over 
conformity, to conduct an independent evaluation. 

11.14  Construction Cost Control Throughout the Project, the Design Professional shall keep the Project’s estimated 

construction Cost within the Construction Budget and is responsible to periodically  

submit to Agency, at review times mutually agreeable to Agency and Design  

Professional, a current Estimated Project Construction Cost to verify that this is  

accomplished. Design Professional and Agency shall establish times in the Schedule  

to review the Construction Budget. 
11.15  Construction Safety 1) INJURIES. In the event of an incident or accident involving outside medical 

care for an individual on or near the Work, Construction Contractor shall 
notify Agency Designated Representative and other parties as may be 
directed promptly, but no later than twenty-four (24) hours after 
Construction Contractor learns that an event required medical care, supply 
Agency Designated Representative and Construction Contractor with an 
incident report no later than thirty-six (36) hours after the occurrence of 
the event. In the event of a catastrophic incident (one (1) fatality or three 
(3) or more workers hospitalized), barricade and leave intact the scene of 
the incident until all investigations are complete. A full set of incident 
investigation documents, including facts, witness names and statements, 
finding of cause, and remedial plans shall be provided to Agency 
Designated Representative within one (1) week after occurrence, unless 
otherwise directed by Agency. 

2) ENVIRONMENTAL SAFETY Construction Contractor shall immediately stop 
Work activities impacted by encountering any previously unknown 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 46 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

potentially hazardous Material, or other Materials potentially 
contaminated by hazardous Material, and secure the affected area, and 
notify Agency Designated Representative immediately. Agency Designated 
Representative will promptly engage qualified experts to investigate and 
issue a written report to Construction Contractor identifying the 
Material(s) found. The Agency shall remediate and render harmless the 
hazard caused by Agency or if an unknown and could not have been 
reasonably foreseen by Construction Contractor. 

3) TRENCHING AND EXCAVATING PLAN. Construction Contractor is required 
to submit a trenching and excavation plan to Agency Designated 
Representative prior to commencing operations unless an engineered plan 
is part of the Contract Documents.  

4) ASBESTOS CONTAINING MATERIAL. The Construction Contractor shall not 
knowingly use, specify, request or approve for use any asbestos containing 
Materials or lead-based paint in the Work. When a specific product is 
specified, the Construction Contractor shall endeavor to verify that the 
product does not include asbestos containing Material. 

5) Construction Contractor, Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants. employees 
and all Site visitors, at all times on the job Site, shall furnish and wear 
sufficient protective gear, including but not limited to, hardhats, safety 
shoes and safety goggles. Construction Contractor shall also provide 
temporary protection measures, drinking water and temporary sanitation 
facilities for use by construction personnel. Construction Contractor shall 
provide up-to-date Material safety data sheets (MSDS) as required for 
Materials at the Site. Construction Contractor shall have a detailed site-
specific safety plan to address State and Federal safety laws.  

11.16  Contractor Pre-Award Conference 
Design Professional shall, participate in a pre-award meeting to include 
review of Construction Contractors’ submittals which are received with 
the signed Agreement of the Construction Contractor. 

Design Professional shall submit, prior to the bid date, a complete list of 
all submittals required by the Contract Documents listed by individual 
specification sections. 

11.17  Construction Meetings 
Design Professional shall attend regular construction meetings with the 
Agency and Construction Contractor at the Project Site with duration and 
frequency determined by the Agency for the Project. 

11.18  Correction of Defects 
and Non-Compliant Work 

1) Construction Contractor shall use due care in inspections and observations 
to determine non-conformance. 

2) Design Professional shall keep agency informed of progress and quality of 
Work and use due care to guard against defects and deficiencies in 
Construction Contractor’s Work. Should the Design Professional and/or the 
Agency Designated Representative identify Work as noncompliant with the 
Contract Documents, upon notice Construction Contractor shall 
immediately correct such Work at no additional Cost to the Agency. The 
approval of Work by either Design Professional or Agency Designated 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 47 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Representative does not relieve Construction Contractor from the 
obligation to comply with all requirements of the Contract Documents. 

3) Construction Contractor shall take any and all steps to meet the 
requirements of the Project Specifications. If Construction Contractor fails 
to do so, the Agency will require correction and full compliance. After 
corrective action is taken, the Agency will retest to determine compliance 
with the Specifications. Construction Contractor shall be responsible for 
the Cost of the additional testing and inspections, and such Cost shall be 
deducted from progress payment to Construction Contractor. 

4) Construction Contractor shall, at no additional Contract Cost and without 
entitlement to extension of any delivery deadline or specified time for 
performance, remove or exchange and replace any defective or non-
conforming delivered or installed Materials or Work.  

5) Construction Contractor shall bear the expense of making good all Work of 
Agency other contractors destroyed or damaged by removal or 
replacement of defective Construction Contractor Work. Agency shall 
equally enforce this clause against any Agency other contractors. 

6) If Construction Contractor fails to take prompt action to comply with the 
Contract Documents in a timely manner, as determined by the Agency, 
Agency will be entitled to exercise its remedies under paragraph 8.6 [Right 
of Offset] of the Uniform Terms and Conditions, or any other remedies set 
forth in the Contract.  

7) Whether Agency will permit Construction Contractor to repair in place or 
demands that Construction Contractor remove and replace is at Agency’s 
discretion in each instance, provided that, Agency shall not apply that 
discretion punitively if repair in place is practicable and doing so would not 
create safety hazards, put property at risk, unreasonably interfere with 
operations, create public nuisance, or give rise to any other reasonable 
concern on Agency’s part.  

8) AGENCY ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK. At the absolute discretion of 
the Agency, the Agency may decide to accept defective Work, instead of 
requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work. 
Construction Contractor shall pay all claims, Costs, losses and damages 
attributable to Agency’s evaluation of and determination to accept such 
defective Work. If any such acceptance occurs prior to recommendation of 
final payment, a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary 
revisions in the Contract Documents and compensating the Agency for the 
diminished value of the project resulting from the defective Work. If the 
acceptance occurs after such recommendation, an appropriate amount will 
be paid by Construction Contractor to Agency after a calculation by Agency 
of the diminution in value of the project resulting from defective Work.  

9) The Construction Contractor’s obligations to perform Warranty Work will 
survive the acceptance of any Work and any termination of the Contract. 

10) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR NON-COMPLIANT WORK. Should the Design 
Professional and/or the Agency Designated Representative identify Work 
as noncompliant with the Contract Documents, Design Professional and/or 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 48 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Agency Designated Representative shall communicate the finding to 
Construction Contractor, and Construction Contractor shall correct such 
Work at no additional Cost to the Agency. The approval of Work by either 
Design Professional or Agency Designated Representative does not relieve 
Construction Contractor from the obligation to comply with all 
requirements of the Contract Documents. 

11) AGENCY MAY CORRECT NON-COMPLIANT WORK. Agency shall issue a 
written notice to Construction Contractor to correct and remedy any 
deficiency including but not limited to  
a) Remove and replace rejected Work, or  
b) Construction Contractor failure to perform Work in accordance with 

the Contract Documents; or 
c) Construction Contractor fails to comply with other provisions of the 

Contract Documents. 
12) If, in the opinion of the Agency, significant progress to correct the 

deficiency by the Construction Contractor has not been made, within seven 
(7) days, the Agency may exercise any actions necessary to remedy the 
deficiency including but not limited to: 
a) Exclude Construction Contractor from all or part of the Site; 
b) Take possession of all or part of the Work, and 
c) Suspend Construction Contractor 's services related thereto, and  
d) Incorporate in the Work all Materials and equipment stored for the 

Project at the Site or for which Agency has paid Construction 
Contractor but which are stored elsewhere. 

e) Hire a replacement contractor or take other measures that are reasonably necessary to 
correct the noncompliant Work. Any and all Costs incurred shall be paid by the 
Construction Contractor or deducted from any amounts due or that may be due 
Construction Contractor under this or any other contract with the State of 
Arizona.  Costs, shall include, but not be limited to, repair and replacement Costs, labor 
and material Costs, removal Costs, design Costs, administrative expenses, and any other 
Costs and expenses caused by Construction Contractor’s non-compliance. 

13) Construction Contractor shall allow the Agency, its agents and employees, 
Agency's other Construction Contractors, Construction Contractors and 
Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors access to the Site to enable Agency 
to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph. All claims, Costs, 
losses and damages incurred or sustained by the Agency in exercising such 
rights and remedies will be charged against Construction Contractor and a 
Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the 
Contract Documents with respect to the Work. Such claims, Costs, losses 
and damages will include but not be limited to all Costs of repair or 
replacement of Work of others destroyed or damaged by correction, 
removal or replacement of Construction Contractor's defective Work. 
Construction Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract 
times (or Milestones), or claims of damage because of any delay in the 
performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Agency of 
Agency's rights and remedies hereunder. 

14) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR NON-COMPLIANT WORK. If the 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 49 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Construction Contractor Materially fails to furnish services in compliance 
with the approved Project Schedule or any subsequently approved 
amendments to the Schedule or the Construction Contractor’s services, or 
deliverables are unusable for their intended purpose and these failures are 
a Material breach of this Contract, then Agency, in its reasonable 
discretion, and after failure of Construction Contractor to respond to the 
Notice to Cure, may Contract with another Construction Contractor to 
complete the services or Work product, and Construction Contractor shall 
pay the Agency for the difference between the balance under Construction 
Contractor’s Contract with Agency and the amount charged by the 
replacing Construction Contractor to complete Construction Contractor’s 
Scope of Work.  
a) Agency will provide Construction Contractor with the itemized Costs as 

they are being incurred.  
b) Prior to contracting with another Construction Contractor, the Agency 

shall provide Consultant with a Notice to Cure, as described in these 
Uniform Terms and General Conditions. 

c) Should the Construction Contractor failure to Cure the Material 
breaches of this Contract, as identified in the Notice to Cure, the 
Agency may pursue any of the available remedies for breach of 
Contract available in Section 8 above. 

d) It is understood that if the Construction Contractor materially breaches 
this Contract and the Agency Terminates for Default under this 
Contract, Construction Contractor shall not be entitled to any sums 
due or that may become due under this Contract. 

11.19  Demolition Plan 

 
Demolition Plan (whenever a Project requires the demolition of a building or portions 
thereof). Design Professional shall differentiate between new Work (walls, doors, finishes, 
and so on), existing Work to be removed, and existing Work to remain in place. 

11.20  Design Development Design Professional shall provide conceptual civil, landscape, architectural, structural, 
plumbing, mechanical, electrical drawings as required for the Design Requirements of the 
Work. 

11.21  Design Professional Agreements, 
Communication 

The Agency will ensure that Design Professionals receive the necessary communication from 
other Construction Contractors to perform the required Work, and shall promptly notify 
Design Professionals of any and all communications that the Agency determines may 
materially affect the Design Professional’s Work. 

11.22  Design Schematics Design Professional shall prepare and submit to Agency diagrammatic drawings which 
delineate the design criteria (e.g., exit paths, travel distances, required exits, rated walls, 
rated corridors, building occupancy, construction type, and fire zones). This graphic 
documentation of the design criteria shall be updated with each subsequent submittal. 

11.23  Energy Efficiency 
Upon request by the Agency, Design Professional will analyze the Work or 
related components for energy efficiency gains including, but not limited to Life 
Cycle Costing, pursuant to A.R.S. 34-452. 

11.24  Examination of Site 1) The Contractor acknowledges that it has taken steps reasonably 
necessary to ascertain the nature and location of the Work, and that it 
has investigated and satisfied itself as to the general and local conditions 
which can affect the Work or its Cost. Contractor and its key personnel 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 50 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

shall visit the Project Site to become familiar with existing Site conditions 
for the Agency Project and visually survey for coordination of the Work, 
which may include but not limited to, the Site location and size, Site and 
adjacent perimeter, utility capacities, conditions bearing upon 
transportation, disposal, handling, and storage of Materials, the 
conformation and conditions of the ground, the character of equipment 
and facilities needed preliminary to and during Work performance, and 
connection options of external utilities, all relevant areas of any existing 
buildings to be altered, ceiling, interior, exterior, and concealed spaces, 
prior to submitting an Offer for the Work. 

2) The Contractor shall take field measurements and verify field conditions 
and shall carefully compare such field measurements and conditions and 
other information known to the Contractor with the solicitation prior to 
bid submittal and Contract before commencing Work. 

3) The Contractor acknowledges that it has satisfied itself as to the 
character, quality, and quantity of surface and subsurface Materials or 
obstacles to be encountered insofar as this information is reasonably 
ascertainable from an inspection of the Site, including all exploratory 
Work done by the Agency, as well as from the drawings and 
specifications made a part of this Contract. Any failure of the Contractor 
to take the actions described and acknowledged in this paragraph will not 
relieve the Contractor from responsibility for estimating properly the 
difficulty and Cost of successfully performing the Work, or for proceeding 
to successfully perform the Work without additional expense to the 
Agency. 

4) The Agency assumes no responsibility for any conclusions or 
interpretations made by the Contractor based on the information made 
available by the Agency. Nor does the Agency assume responsibility for 
any understanding reached or representation made concerning 
conditions which can affect the Work by any of its officers or agents 
before the execution of this contract, unless that understanding or 
representation is expressly stated in this Contract. 

11.25  Forced Substitutions  Forced substitutions will not be permitted; Contractor shall obtain Agency’s prior  

written consent before making any substitution for any Material or Service covered by  

the Contract. 
11.26  Inclement Weather Day 1) RAIN DELAY.  Construction Contractor bears the risk of rainfall activity 

unless delayed on a critical path for more than 7 days. 
2) Construction Contractor shall immediately notify the Agency Designated 

Representative on the day, and any subsequent days throughout the 
Project, the Construction Contractor is unable to perform Work at the 
Site on the critical path for more than seven (7) continuous normal Work 
hours due to inclement weather or rain. The Agency Designated 
Representative shall confirm the weather conditions and provide a 
written confirmation to the Construction Contractor.  

3) Construction Contractor shall submit to the Design Professional and 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 51 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Agency Designated Representative for review a Change Order Request 
with the number of days the Construction Contractor is requesting a no 
Cost time extension for Substantial Completion for inclement weather or 
rain in excess of normal rain fall, along with documentation of the 
weather days that occurred, and the impact on the critical path Work no 
later than the end of the month in which the inclement weather day or 
days occurred. Failure of Construction Contractor to submit a Change 
Order Request in accordance with this paragraph requirement shall 
constitute a waiver of additional time for Substantial Completion. Agency 
Representative shall be the final decision maker on the number of 
inclement weather days in any Construction Contractor properly 
submitted Change Order Request for extension of time for Substantial 
Completion in the event of disagreement between the Construction 
Contractor and Agency Designated Representative. Average days of rain 
per month will be determined by meteorological data obtained from the 
closest National Weather Service Station to the Project Site. 

11.27  Inspection and Material Testing 1) All Materials and equipment used in the construction of the Project shall 
be subject to inspection and testing in accordance with generally 
accepted standards, as required and defined in the Contract Documents. 

2) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES. Construction 
Contractor shall provide, at Construction Contractor’s expense, the 
testing and inspection services required by the Contract Documents. 
Construction Contractor shall provide such equipment and facilities as 
are required for conducting field tests and for collecting and forwarding 
samples of sufficient size for test purposes. No Materials or equipment 
represented by samples are to be used until tests, if required, have been 
made and the Materials or equipment are found to be acceptable.  

3) UNFIT FOR USE AFTER APPROVAL. Any Material which becomes unfit for 
use after approval thereof shall not be incorporated into the Work. 
Approvals or failures to properly inspect or test shall not relieve 
Construction Contractor from its obligation to perform the WORK in 
accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents and to also 
inspect Construction Contractor’s own Work. Failure to discover, inspect, 
or timely report shall not excuse Construction Contractor from full 
performance of the Work.  

4) TIMELY NOTICE. Construction Contractor shall notify Agency Designated 
Representative and/or Design Professional in writing if any Work will 
need to be inspected, tested, or approved by someone other than 
Construction Contractor. Construction Contractor shall coordinate with 
the Agency and Design Professional well in advance of such testing, 
inspection, or approval process. Should an inspection, test, or approval 
be required under this paragraph, Construction Contractor shall bear the 
sole responsibility for updating the Progress Schedule. 

5) NON-CANCELLATION OF SCHEDULED INSPECTIONS. Construction 
Contractor shall bear all Costs, for any and all instances, in which 
Construction Contractor fails to cancel no less than twenty-four 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 52 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

(24) hours in advance any Construction Contractor scheduled 
11.28  Inspection of Work by Design 

Professional 
1) Design Professional is responsible for inspection activity and shall use due 

care to observe the Work as Work progresses and determine whether or 
not Construction Contractor’s Work or any part of Work is defective or 
fails to conform to standards of the trade and generally accepted 
standards for such Work defined in the Contract Documents. Work will 
be compared to the Drawings and Specifications and any and all 
supplemental Drawings and Specifications for the Project.  

2) Design Professional shall provide technical direction to, and 
interpretation of, the Contract Documents for inspectors and advise 
inspectors of decisions rendered. 

3) Any inspectors, acting under the direction of Agency’s Designated 
Representative, or Design Professional will: 
a) Be responsible for milestone inspections (spot checks) to assess compliance with 

the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
b) Prepare a written report following each milestone inspection. The inspector shall 

notify the Agency’s Designated Representative when Work that does not comply 
with the Contract Document requirements is observed in the field. Observed 
instances of noncompliance shall be noted in the inspector’s report. 

c) Comment in subsequent inspector’s reports on whether or not instances of 
noncompliance have been corrected. 

d) Participate in Punch List inspections for partial occupancy, Substantial 
Completion and final completion. 

e) Assist Agency Designated Representative in reviewing test and inspection results 
from testing laboratories.  

f) If Agency contracts for specialty inspection services, the inspector shall report 
the results of these inspections to Agency’s Designated Representative. 

g) Not authorize deviations from the Contract Documents. 
h) Not advise or issue directions to Construction Contractor regarding any aspect of 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures or 
regarding safety programs in connection with the Project.  

11.29  Issue Addenda 1) Interpretation, clarification, and modification of the Contract Documents 
shall be issued only in the form of an Addendum to the Contract 
Documents. Design Professional shall furnish the information required to 
the Agency Procurement Officer for issuance of Addenda. 

2) Design Professional is responsible for receiving, reviewing, approving, 
coordinating, and incorporating addenda items received from the 
Subconsultants and/or Subcontractor(s) into a single addendum document 
prior to submitting this document to the Agency Procurement Officer.  

3) Addenda shall be submitted to the Agency Procurement Officer in the 
same format as the Construction Documents. 

4) Design Professional shall provide to the Agency at the end of the Bidding 
phase the following documents with changes identified as follows.  
a) In the Specifications, all additions shall be shown in bold underline and 

all deletions shown in strikethrough. 
b) In the Drawings, changes shall be “clouded.” 
c) One set of individual Construction Drawings and sections of the Specifications which 

were altered by Addenda. 
d) One complete set of Construction Drawings and Specifications that 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 53 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

fully integrate all addenda items. 
11.30  Key Personnel 1) AUTHORITY. The Contractor shall designate which of its employees have the authority to 

enter into agreements with the Agency on behalf of the Contractor, and which of its 
employees, its, Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, will bear the primary responsibility 
for the completion of the Work. 

2) REMOVAL OF PERSONNEL. Notwithstanding that Contractor is in every circumstance 
responsible for hiring, assigning, directing, managing, training, disciplining, and rewarding its 
personnel, Agency may at its discretion and, without the obligation to demonstrate cause, 
instruct Contractor to remove any of its personnel from Agency’s facilities or from further 
assignment under the Contract. In such cases, Contractor shall promptly replace them with 
other personnel having equivalent qualifications, experience, and capabilities. The Agency 
Designated Representative may require, in writing, that the Contractor remove from the 
Work any employee the Agency Designated Representative deems incompetent, careless, or 
otherwise objectionable. 

3) STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS.  At every stage of the Project, Design Professional 
guarantees that Key Personnel will have the minimum skills and qualifications listed in the 
most recent Statement of Qualifications the Design Professional submitted to the State. 

4) PERSONNEL SUBSTITUTIONS. Contractor shall not be permitted to substitute Contractor Key 
Personnel, or Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors after offer submittal, without the prior 
written approval of the Agency Designated Representative. Requests shall be made in writing 
detailing the reasons for the requested change and shall not commence without written 
approval from Agency. The Agency has the right to the same kind and quality of the 
employee initially offered.  

5) ROLE APPROVALS. Contractor Key Personnel designated in Offer Documents shall 
be deemed approved for the roles and responsibilities stated unless expressly 
stated otherwise by the Agency prior to execution of the Contract. 

11.31  Labor and Materials 1) Construction Contractor shall perform Work during regular business hours unless such non-
normal Work hours are required by the Contract Documents and not permit overtime work. 
Agency Designated Representative may approve alternate Work hours that neither add 
additional Cost nor time to the Contract Cost or Project Substantial Completion.  

2) All equipment, Materials, and articles incorporated into the Work covered by this Contract 
shall be new and of the most suitable grade for the purpose intended, shall be stored, 
applied, installed, connected, erected, used, cleaned and conditioned by Construction 
Contractor in accordance with the instructions of the applicable manufacturer, fabricator, 
supplier or distributor, unless otherwise specifically provided in the Contract Documents. 

3) References in the Specifications to equipment, Materials, articles, or patented processes by 
trade name, make, or catalog number, shall be regarded as establishing a standard of quality, 
function, and type, and shall not be construed as limiting competition. 

4) All Work under this Contract shall be performed in a skillful and workmanlike manner. 
Construction Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey, lay-
out, and construct the Work as required by the Contract Documents and maintain good 
discipline and order at the Site at all times.  

5) Construction Contractor is solely responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences or procedures, for safety precautions and programs, protection of installed Work, 
for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract and qualify controls in 
connection with the Work. and will utilize the above so as not to destroy materials for reuse 
or to remain the property of the Agency 

6) The Construction Contractor shall be responsible for all Materials delivered and Work 
performed until completion and acceptance of the entire Work, except for any completed 
unit of Work which may have been partially accepted under the Contract. Construction 
Contractor shall remain responsible for the care and protection of Materials and Work in the 
areas where Punch List items are completed until Final Completion. 

7) The Construction Contractor shall provide and pay for labor, materials, equipment, tools, 
construction equipment and machinery, drinking water, water, heat, ventilation, utilities, 
barricades, lighting, construction and warning signs, temporary fire protection, 
transportation, temporary facilities, fencing, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 54 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

sanitary facilities, and services necessary for the construction, performance, testing, start-up, 
inspection and completion of the Work. Any temporary sanitation facilities shall be serviced 
a minimum of one (1) time weekly. 

8) Construction Contractor shall install and maintain temporary fencing with lockable gates as 
indicated or directed by the Agency Designated Representative.  

9) Materials, equipment or items required for Work which are shown on the Drawings but not 
mentioned in the Specifications or Materials, equipment or items required by the 
Specifications but not shown on the Drawings, shall be furnished and installed the same as 
though both shown on the Drawings and required by the Specifications. 

10) Materials as-shipped must comply with applicable safety regulations and standards. Unless 
expressly stated otherwise in the Scope of Work, Agency is not responsible for making any 
Materials safe or compliant following acceptance and is relying exclusively on Construction 
Contractor to deliver and install only products that are already safe and compliant. 

11) Construction Contractor shall pursue with diligence the procurement of any long-lead-
material or equipment required for the Work and provide the Agency Designated 
Representative with an anticipated and consistently updated schedule for the delivery. 

12) Materials and equipment procured and installed by the Construction Contractor shall be in 
accordance with Specifications and derived from the energy life cycle Cost analysis pursuant 
to the latest revision of A.R.S. §34-452. 

13) For any Agency furnished equipment or Material that will be in the care, custody, and control 
of Construction Contractor, Construction Contractor is responsible for damage or loss. 
Agency shall deliver to Construction Contractor a complete list and respective values of such 
Materials or equipment and make an equitable adjustment to the contract amount for any 
increase in Cost of Builder’s Risk insurance. 

14) Construction Contractor shall provide and install weather-tight or temporary enclosures for 
protection of in progress and completed construction Work from exposure and weather. 
Construction Contractor shall remove protection when no longer needed. 

15) Construction Contractor shall store Materials in their original packaging with any and all seals 
and labels intact and visible. 

16) Construction Contractor shall remove Agency-salvaged items with care and in a 
workmanship-like manner and deliver items not being reinstalled, ready for use, to a nearby 
area as instructed by the Agency Designated Representative. 

11.32  Life Cycle Cost Analysis Upon the request of the Agency, the Design Professional shall perform Life Cycle Cost 
Analysis (LCCA) to evaluate alternative Materials and systems by preparing an economic 
assessment of all significant Costs of ownership over the economic life. 

11.33  Management and Supervision of 
the Work, Design Professional Service 

Design Professional shall bear the primary responsibility for the management and 
supervision of the Work for Design. At a minimum, the Design Professional shall 
regularly consult with the Agency and receive any and all necessary Agencyapprovals; 
provide updated Cost estimates and gain approval for any material changes to Cost 
estimates through a Change Order prior to incurring those Costs; thoroughly research 
all the design elements upon which the Work relies; attend meetings related to the 
Work; communicate fully with all Construction Contractors, as necessary and 
appropriate; and provide the Agency with regular reports on the status of the Work. 

11.34  Meeting Minutes Design Professional or Agency authorized design professional substitute, shall attend 
and draft complete minutes of each Project design and construction meeting between 
Design Professional, Agency and Construction Contractor, and submit them to Agency 
for approval within five (5) calendar days after each Project conference. 

11.35  Observations 
Design Professional, Agency Designated Representative, and/or Construction 
Contractor observations shall be for the purpose of ascertaining the progress of 
the Work, to include but is not limited to, the character, scope, quality and 
detail of construction (including workmanship and Materials) compliance with 
the design expressed in the Contract Documents, directives of the Agency 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 55 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Designated Representative, approved product data and samples and 
clarification drawings.Observations shall be separate from any inspections 
which may be provided by the Agency. Any Agency provision of inspection 
services, if any, shall not relieve Design Professional of its responsibilities under 
this Contract. 

11.36  Outline Specifications 1) Design Professional shall outline specifications with a detailed description of all building 
components and systems shall include: 
a) An index showing all divisions and sections intended to be used. The format shall 

be that recommended by the Construction Specifications Institute (CSI), narrow 
scope type. 

b) All technical sections in outline specification format (Part 2 of a narrow scope CSI 
specification). 

2) Organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and arrangement of 
Drawings shall not control the Construction Contractor in dividing the Work among 
Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants or in establishing the extent of Work to be performed 
by any Subcontractor and/or Subconsultant. 

11.37  Pre-Bid Conference Site Visit Agency’s Procurement Officer may conduct, and Design Professional and its Subconsultants 
and/or Subcontractors shall attend and participate in pre-bid conferences and pre-bid Site 
visits with potential bidders to help identify questions that bidders may raise during the 
Bidding phase. Questions from prospective Bidders shall be collected by the Agency’s 
Procurement Officer during these conferences and Site visits. No questions shall be 
answered at these events which require interpretation, clarification or modifications of the 
Contract Documents 

11.38  Preconstruction Conference Agency may conduct a Preconstruction conference after Contract award and before 
Construction Contractor starts Work at the Project Site. Conference discussion will establish 
the lines of communication among the parties as to the Work, coordination of Work, and 
procedures and handling of the Schedule of Values, Shop Drawing and other submittals, 
Construction Schedule, and Payment Application processing. The Construction Contractor, 
Construction Contractor’s Superintendent, and Construction Contractor’s designated safety 
officer shall attend the Pre-Construction Conference. The Design Professional shall attend if 
requested by Agency. 

11.39  Program and Budget Review Agency will furnish the Project program to Design Professional at the start of Schematic 
Design. Design Professional shall evaluate the Project’s programmatic requirements, 
promptly call attention to any discrepancy contained therein, and request direction from the 
Agency’s Designated Representative. 

11.40  Project Closeout Construction Contractor shall submit Project Close Out documents as listed in Exhibit M in 
appropriate quantities as indicated in the Contract Documents to the Construction 
Contractor. Construction Contractor shall ensure documents are complete and accurate and 
provide written acceptance to the Agency. Construction Contractor shall not submit final 
Application for Payment until documents are accepted by the Agency. 

11.41  Proposed Change Order Review 1) During performance of Construction Phase Services, the Design Professional shall review 
Construction Contractor’s proposed Change Order(s) for fairness of pricing and make 
recommendations to the Agency on fairness of pricing for the Materials and Work. 

2) Any Construction Contractor proposed Change Order shall include the estimate of Cost and 
of probable effect of delay on progress of the Work if any. 

11.42  Proprietary Specifications 1) Under A.R.S. § 34-104, if a Design Professional or the Agency includes 
bidding, contracting, or purchasing specifications that are proprietary to 
one supplier, distributor, or manufacturer, then the details of the essential 
characteristic of that product will be included in the Special Terms and 
General Conditions with a statement indicating that the Design 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 56 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Professional shall consider alternative products which have the 
aforementioned desired essential characteristics.  

2) Design Professional shall consider, and either approve or reject, any and all 
alternative product proposals that are submitted at least eight (8) days 
prior to the deadline for receiving bids for this Solicitation. If any 
alternative product proposal is approved, the Design Professional shall 
modify the bidding documents to include the alternative product proposal 
by the end of the fifth day prior to the deadline for receiving bids and 
publish the documents that same day. If the Design Professional rejects 
any alternative product proposal, the Design Professional shall provide the 
Agency with notice of that rejection, including the details of the alternative 
product proposal, prior to the deadline for receiving bids. 

3) No modifications shall be made without the approval of the agency 
11.43  Quality Assurance The Design Professional person or firm shall have a well-coordinated 

internal Quality Assurance program for review of documents, plan check, 
and incorporates the Agency’s drawings and specification requirements to 
assure consistent submittal to Statutory Review. 

11.44  Record Documents 1) UPDATING RECORD DOCUMENTS. Design Professional or other party 
specified by the Agency Designated Representative shall be responsible for 
updating the Record Documents for all Construction Contractor initiated 
documents and changes to the Contract Documents due to coordination 
and actual field conditions, including RFIs. Design Professional shall be 
responsible for updating the Record Documents for any addenda, Change 
Orders, Design Professional supplemental instructions and any other 
alterations to the Contract Documents generated by Design Professional or 
Agency. 

2) MAINTAIN AT SITE. Construction Contractor shall maintain at the Site one 
copy of all Drawings, Specifications, addenda, approved submittals, 
Contract modifications, Schedules and all Project correspondence and 
provide Agency and Design Professional access to these documents for 
reference and examination. Contractor shall keep current and maintain 
Drawings and Specifications in good order with postings and markings to 
record actual conditions of Work and show and reference all changes made 
during construction and reflect the actual field conditions and 
representations of the Work performed, whether it be directed by 
addendum, Change Order or otherwise.  

3) MONTHLY UPDATE. Record Documents shall be updated a minimum of 
monthly prior to submission of a Payment Application or as otherwise 
directed by Agency. Construction Contractor failure to maintain current 
Record Documents shall constitute cause for Agency denial of a Progress 
Payment otherwise due. 

4) TRANSFER OF RECORD DOCUMENTS TO AGENCY. Construction Contractor 
shall furnish a copy of its marked-up Record Documents and a preliminary 
copy of each instructional manual, maintenance and operating manual, 
parts catalog, wiring diagrams, spare parts, specified written warranties 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 57 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

and like publications, or parts for all installed equipment, systems, and like 
items and as described in the Contract Documents prior to requesting 
Substantial Completion inspection with the Design Professional. 

5) After review by the Design Professional and acceptance by the Agency 
Designated Representative, one (1) electronic media copy and one (1) 
reproducible copy of the Record Documents shall be provided in the 
format designated by the Agency Designated Representative. 

6) PREPARATION OF RECORD DOCUMENTS. Record Documents shall be 
carefully and neatly prepared by a competent drafter familiar with the 
Work.  

11.45  Requirements at Location 1) Contractor acknowledges that the location of its Work for the Project might be inside an 
industrial building, institutional building, or one of various office types and classes and 
Contractor personnel shall conduct themselves cordially and professionally with Agency 
personnel and the public.  

2) When performing the Work requires Construction Contractor personnel to Work inside a 
secured perimeter at certain institutional facilities such as prisons where prior clearances are 
required, Construction Contractor shall contact the facility directly to confirm its most-
current security clearance procedures, allowable hours for Work, visitor dress code, and 
other applicable rules. Agency will neither allow extra charges for wait time, comebacks, or 
the like nor excuse late performance if Construction Contractor has failed to make the 
confirmation or comply with the applicable conditions. 

3) Construction Contractor shall ensure Construction Contractor personnel and Subconsultants 
and/or Subcontractors performing Work at the Project Site: 
a) Park in any assigned location at the Site; 
b) Have proper State or federal issued identification within their possession at all 

times; 
c) No eating, drinking, or smoking except in designated areas. 
d) Construction Contractor shall adequately monitor and control noise levels. 

 
11.46  Schedule of Values Prior to the execution of Work, the Construction Contractor shall submit to the Design 

Professional and Agency for approval a Schedule of Values (See Exhibit R) allocated to 
various portions of the Work, prepared in such form and supported by such data to 
substantiate its accuracy. This Schedule of Values, unless objected to by the Design 
Professional and/or Agency Designated Representative, shall be used as a basis for reviewing 
the Construction Contractor's Payment Applications. The Schedule of Values shall include 
quantities and unit prices aggregating the Contract Cost, and for lump sum items shall 
subdivide the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for 
Progress Payments during construction. 

11.47  Shop Drawings, Product Data and 
Samples 

1) The Construction Contractor shall maintain at the Site for the Agency one record copy of the 
Drawings, Specifications, addenda, Change Orders and other Modifications, in good order 
and marked currently to record changes and selections made during construction, and in 
addition approved Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar required submittals. 
These shall be available to the Design Professional and/or Agency and shall be delivered to 
the Design Professional for submittal to the Agency upon completion of the Work. 

2) Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals are not Contract Documents. 
The purpose of their submittal is to demonstrate for those portions of the Work for which 
submittals are required the way the Construction Contractor proposes to conform to the 
information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract. 

3) The Construction Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work requiring submittal and 
review of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals until the respective 
submittal has been reviewed and approved or other appropriate action taken by the Design 
Professional and/or Agency. Such Work shall be in accordance with approved submittals. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 58 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

4) The Construction Contractor shall not be relieved of responsibility for deviations from 
requirements of the Contract by the Design Professional’s and/or Agency’s  review and 
approval of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals unless the 
Construction Contractor has specifically informed the Design Professional and/or Agency’s in 
writing of such deviation at the time of submittal and the Design Professional and/or Agency 
has given written approval to the specific deviation. The Construction Contractor shall not be 
relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or 
similar submittals by the Design Professional's and/or Agency’s approval thereof. 

5) The Construction Contractor shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop 
Drawings, product Data, Samples or similar submittals, to revisions other than those 
requested by the Design Professional on previous submittals. 

6) When professional certification of performance criteria of Materials, systems or equipment 
is required by the Contract, the Construction Contractor shall be entitled to rely upon the 
accuracy and completeness of such calculations and certifications but shall use due care and 
identify and notify the Agency of any palpable errors. 

7) Construction Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings to the Design Professional and State Fire 
Marshall or appropriate authority having jurisdiction for any required modifications to 
sprinkler or alarm system Work. 

8) Construction Contractor will update to show actual conditions for Work specified and shall 
submit final Shop Drawings to Agency.  

11.48  Special Inspections and Testing The Design Professional shall recommend special inspection or testing and any retesting of 
the Work in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents if, in Design 
Professional’s reasonable opinion, such inspection or testing or retesting is necessary or 
advisable for the implementation of the Contract Documents, regardless of the state of 
completion of the Work subject to such inspection or testing or retesting. 

11.49  Specification Submittal 
Requirements; Design Professional 

1) Specifications shall be in CSI format. Each specification section shall be saved as a document 
file named with the corresponding Master format number (e.g., 134010.doc). 

2) Design Professional shall submit a list of each item of equipment and/or each system to be 
designated as sole source by the notation in the documents, “or equivalent (no known 
equivalent)”. This list shall include the following information: 
a) Description of each item of equipment and/or each system; 
b) Provide estimated Cost of each item of equipment and/or each system; Agency 

Procurement Officer shall write determination justification as to why each item of 
equipment and/or each system needs to be from a sole brand name or source. 

c) Include brief performance specifications detailing those features which, because 
they are unique or state-of-the-art, or the preclude use of an alternative product. 

3) Specifications shall be: 
a) Complete, coordinated and consistent with each other and the drawings. 
b) Coordinated with the Agency’s General Conditions and Requirements. 
c) Written for a two-party Contract between the Agency and the Contractor. 
d) Written with open specifications for material and equipment except in specifically 

permitted exceptions in conjunction with Agency Procurement Officer’s approved 
written determination of sole brand name or source. 

11.50  Statutory Review 1) The Design Professional shall design and prepare the Construction Documents in compliance 
with all applicable laws, codes, regulations, and generally accepted engineering and design 
standards, and shall incorporate any and all Agency Standards where applicable to their 
Work.  

2) The Design Professional shall submit final Construction Documents for review to the Agency 
Designated Representative for submittal to the Statutory Review. Design Professional shall 
verify presentation requirements for the review with the Agency’s Designated 
Representative. The Arizona Department of Administration Statutory Review is the authority 
having jurisdiction and is the enforcement agency for code requirements.  

3) The initial submission fee and one (1) re-review fee for submission to the Statutory Review 
may be paid by the Agency or paid by Design Professional firm a part of a Reimbursable 
Expense as requested by the Agency. Any subsequent submission fees shall be paid by the 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 59 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

Design Professional firm in accordance with the Solicitation Performance Guarantee 
requirements. 

4) Design Professional shall give Agency sufficient rights and privileges to use to any and all 
Design Professional Work in furtherance of the Scope of Work including, but not limited to, 
distribution and submission of Design Professional Work 

5) A State Inspector will conduct regular inspections and the Work must be in compliance 
before permanent occupancy will be allowed.  Regular inspections must be performed at 
each stage of construction prior to concealment or cover.    

11.51  Structural, Mechanical, Electrical, 
Calculations 

Design Professional shall provide Agency the Project structural, mechanical, and electrical 
calculations upon request. Calculations shall be checked and stamped by an engineer 
registered in the applicable discipline. 

11.52  Submittal Register The Construction Contractor shall prepare and keep current, for the Design Professional's 
approval, a schedule of submittals which is coordinated with the Construction Contractor's 
Schedule and allows the Design Professional reasonable time to review Submittals. 

11.53  Substantial and Final Completion 1) When the Construction Contractor considers that the Work, or a portion thereof, is 
substantially complete, the Construction Contractor shall prepare and submit to the Agency 
and/or Design Professional a comprehensive list of items (Punch List) to be completed or 
corrected prior to final payment.  Failure to include an item on the Punch List does not alter 
the responsibility of the Construction Contractor to complete all Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents. 

2) The Agency and/or Design Professional will perform an inspection of the Work within five (5) 
days to accept or reject the Punch List to determine whether the Work or designated portion 
thereof is substantially complete.  If the Agency and/or Design Professional’s inspection 
discloses any item, whether or not included on the Contractor’s list, which is not sufficiently 
complete in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall complete and or 
correct those items and then submit a request to the Owner and Design Professional for 
another inspection to determine Substantial Completion of the Work. 

3) EXHIBIT K – SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION CERTIFICATE.  When the Work, or designated 
portion thereof, is Substantially Complete, the Design Professional and/or Owner will 
prepare a Certificate of Substantial Completion (Certificate) that shall establish the 
Substantial Completion date, establish responsibilities of the Owner and Contractor to 
include, but not limited to: security, maintenance, heat, air conditioning, utilities, damage to 
the Work and insurance.  The Certificate will establish the date and time within which the 
Contractor shall finish all Punch List items attached thereto.  Warranties required by the 
Contract Documents shall commence on the date of Substantial Completion of the Work, 
unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Substantial Completion.  

4) Construction Contractor shall submit an Exhibit H-Application for Payment for payment of all 
Work, less retention if retention was held.  If retention was not held, final payment will not 
be issued until all items listed on Exhibit M-Contractor Project Closeout have been received 
by the Agency. 

5) PARTIAL OCCUPANCY. The Agency may occupy or use a portion of the Project prior to 
Contract completion if the authority having jurisdiction over the Project authorizes the 
Agency to occupy the portion of the Project. The Construction Contractor shall proceed with 
submission to the Agency for a Substantial Completion inspection for the portion of the 
Work Project prior to the Agency occupying or using a portion of the Project. 

6) EXHIBIT L – FINAL COMPLETION CERTIFICATE.  The date of Final Completion of the 
Contractor’s Work is the date signed by the Design Professional, Contractor, Compliance 
Officer and Project Manager that all Work is 100% complete in accordance with the 
Contract Documents including all those items listed on Exhibit M-Contractor Project 
Closeout. The Construction Contractor will submit an Application for Final Payment for 
certification by the Agency. 

11.54  Substitution of Material or 
Equipment 

1) Construction Contractor shall not order or install any substitute Material or equipment 
without the Agency Designated Representative prior written approval of the substitute. 

2) If Contract is a firm fixed price, all substitution requests shall be submitted by the 
Construction Contractor in accordance with the Solicitation Instructions to Offerors and 
approved by the Agency Designated Representative prior to the Bid Opening Date listed in 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 60 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

the State e-procurement system. Prior to the Bid Opening Date, the Agency Procurement 
Officer issued Addenda authorizing use of the substitute shall serve as the written approval. 

3) Agency Designated Representative shall review all Construction Contractor furnished data 
for review to include maintenance, repair, and replacement for the proposed substitute. 

4) The Agency may not approve any extension of Contract time for Construction Contractor 
Project completion due to a substitute unless Agency determines the time extension is in 
the best interest of the Agency. 

11.55  Supervision and Project 
Administration 

1)  The Construction Contractor shall not be relieved of obligations to 
perform the Work in accordance with the Contract either by activities or 
duties of the Agency in the Agency's administration of the Contract, or by 
tests, inspections or approvals required or performed by persons other 
than the Construction Contractor. The Construction Contractor shall not be 
relieved of obligations to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract either by activities or duties of the Agency in the Agency's 
administration of the Contract, or by tests, inspections or approvals 
required or performed by persons other than the Construction Contractor. 

2) The Construction Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work using the Construction 
Contractor's best skill and attention.  

3) Construction Contractor shall provide project administration for all Construction Contractor’s 
Subcontractor and/or Subconsultants, vendors, suppliers, and others involved in 
implementing the Work and shall coordinate administration efforts with those of the 
Construction Contractor and Agency Designated Representative. 

4) Construction Contractor’s project administration includes periodic daily reporting on 
weather, Work progress, labor, Materials, equipment, any and all obstructions to 
prosecution of the Work, accidents and injuries, and transmitted no less frequently to the 
Agency Designated Representative than on a weekly basis. 

5) The Construction Contractor shall be responsible to the Agency for acts and 
omissions of the Construction Contractor's employees, Subcontractor 
and/or Subconsultants and their agents and employees, and other persons 
performing portions of the Work for the Construction Contractor.  

11.56  Transition 5. If needed, during commencement, Construction Contractor shall attend transition 
meetings with any outgoing Construction Contractors to coordinate and ease the 
transition so that the effect on Agency’s operations is kept to a minimum. Agency may 
elect to have outgoing Construction Contractors complete some or all of their Work or 
orders in progress to ease the transition as is safest and most efficient in each instance, 
even if that scope is covered under the Contract. Upon the expiration or termination of 
the Contract, Construction Contractor shall Work closely with any new (incoming) 
Construction Contractor and Agency to ensure as smooth and complete a transfer as is 
practicable. Agency’s representative shall coordinate all transition activities and 
facilitate joint development of a comprehensive transition plan by both Construction 
Contractor and the incoming vendor. As with the incoming transition. 

11.57  Unknown, Unforeseen, or 
Concealed Conditions 

1) If conditions are encountered at the Site which are (a) subsurface or otherwise concealed 
physical conditions which differ materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents 
or (b) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, which differ materially from those 
ordinarily found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the 
character provided for in the Contract Documents, then written notice by the observing 
party shall be given to the other party promptly before conditions are disturbed and in no 
event later than twenty four hours after first observance of the conditions.  

2) It is understood that Construction Contractor, prior to award, has inspected the Site, was 
free to do its own tests and inspections, and in undertaking this contract, warrants that the 
Site is suitable for construction and accepts the risk of all Site conditions.  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 61 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

12.0  Agency Responsibilities 
12.1 Access to Work Site The Agency will provide Design Professional with access to the Work Site, as necessary, for 

the preparation for, and review of, the Work. 
12.2 Accuracy of Information Agency may provide in the Solicitation, or by other means, any reports of investigations and 

tests of subsurface and latent physical conditions at the Site, and any reports of conditions 
that otherwise may affect Cost. These reports are not intended to constitute any explicit or 
implicit representation as to the nature of the subsurface and latent physical conditions 
which may be encountered at the Site or to constitute explicit or implicit representations as 
to any other matter contained in any report. Such reports are not guaranteed as to accuracy 
or completeness and are not part of the Contract Documents. 

12.3 Budget The Agency may create a budget for the Work. If applicable, the Agency may update the 
budget, as needed. The budget may include the Estimated Contract Cost, Agency’s other 
Costs for the Project, Contingencies, and Reimbursable Expenses.  

12.4 Errors or Omissions The Agency will promptly notify the Contractor in writing if it becomes aware of a material 
error, potential error, or omission in the Work, Design Requirements, and/or Construction 
Documents. 

12.5 Site Information 
The Agency will provide the Design Professional with basic information 
regarding the Site locations at which the Work will be performed. This basic 
information may include surveys, Site evaluations, legal descriptions, existing 
conditions, subsurface and environmental studies, reports and investigations. 

12.6 Geotechnical Engineers 
If applicable, the Agency will provide geotechnical expertise it deems sufficient to 
support the Work, including but not limited to, the necessary soil testing, written 
reports, and recommendations. 

12.7 Testing 
The Agency will provide legally or contractually required environmental testing 

3) Any reports and Materials provided to Construction Contractor prior to construction are for 
informational purposes only.   However, if Construction Contractor believes that the Agency 
materially misrepresented the condition of the Site then the Agency will promptly investigate 
such conditions. Should the Agency determine that the Site differs from the Contract 
Documents such that there will be a material change to Construction Contractor’s Contract 
Cost and/or Schedule for the performance of any part of the Work, then the Agency will 
recommend an equitable adjustment in the Contract Cost and/or Contract time. If the 
Agency determines that the conditions at the Site are not materially different from those 
indicated in the Contract Documents, and no change in the Construction Contractor’s Cost or 
Schedule is justified, then the Agency shall so notify the Construction Contractor in writing 
stating the reasons. 

11.58  Use of Seals; Design Professionals “Seal" refers to the type of "seal" required by A.R.S. § 32-101, et seq., and the rules 
promulgated thereunder, A.A.C. R4-30-01, et seq., or any equivalent licensing body, for use 
on Work performed by Contractors. Contractor shall affix its Seal to any and all documents 
required by the Work that are incomplete without such a Seal including, but not limited to, 
design specifications, data, and construction drawings. Contractor will accept professional 
responsibility for its Work including, but not limited to, any and all information upon which 
its Seal is affixed.  

11.59  Work Performance; Design 
Professional 

The Design Professional will perform Work under this Contract with the degree of skill and 
care ordinarily provided by competent professional engineers, architects, or consultants 
practicing in the same or similar locality and under the same or similar circumstances and 
professional license and as expeditiously as is prudent, considering the ordinary professional 
skill and care of a competent engineer, architect, or other consultant. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 62 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

including tests for hazardous materials, and air and water pollution.  

12.8 Communications 
The Agency will facilitate communication between Design Professional and 
Construction Contractor, as needed, on the Work necessary to fully perform the 
Contract, unless direct communication between Design Professional and Construction 
Contractor has been explicitly authorized. 

12.9 Design Professional Agreements, 
Related Construction 

The Agency will meet with the Design Professional to coordinate its Work prior to finalizing a 
related Construction Contract. Any related Construction Contracts will be made available to 
the Design Professional through the State’s eProcurement system. 

12.10 Promotional Materials Agency will endeavor to timely review and respond to any written Design Professional 
request for permission for use of photographic or other artistic representation of the Work 
for promotional or other professional materials. Agency shall have full discretion to 
determine whether to allow Design Professional use of the representations. 

12.11 Substitutions of Material Design Professional and/or Agency shall approve any and all substitutions that would cause a 
change in the Work of the Construction Contractor. 

12.12 Timely Review The Agency will endeavor to timely review and respond to any requests from the 
Construction Contractor that the Construction Contractor deems necessary to avoid delay or 
modification to the Schedule. 

13.0  Data and Information Handling 
13.1  Applicability Article 13 applies to the extent the Work includes handling of any (a) Agency’s proprietary 

and sensitive data or (b) confidential or access-restricted information obtained from Agency 
or from others at Agency’s behest. 

13.2  Data Protection and Confidentiality 
of Information 

1) Design Professional warrants that it will establish and maintain procedures and controls 
acceptable to Agency for ensuring that Agency’s proprietary and sensitive data is protected 
from unauthorized access and information obtained from Agency or others in performance 
of its contractual duties is not mishandled, misused, or inappropriately released or 
disclosed. For purposes of this paragraph, all data created by Design Professional in any way 
related to the Contract, provided to Design Professional by Agency, or prepared by others 
for Agency are proprietary to Agency, and all information by those same avenues is Agency’s 
confidential information. To comply with the foregoing warrant: 
a) Design Professional shall:  

i) Notify Agency immediately of any unauthorized access or inappropriate 
disclosures, whether stemming from an external security breach, internal breach, 
system failure, or procedural lapse;  

ii) Cooperate with Agency to identify the source or cause of and respond to each 
unauthorized access or inappropriate disclosure; and  

iii) Notify Agency promptly of any security threat that could result in unauthorized 
access or inappropriate disclosures. 

b) Design Professional shall not:  
i) Release any such data or allow it to be released or divulge any such information 

to anyone other than its employees or officers as needed for each person’s 
individual performance of his or her duties under the Contract, unless Agency has 
agreed otherwise in advance and in writing; or  

ii) Respond to any requests it receives from a third party for such data or 
information, and instead route all such requests to Agency’s designated 
representative. 

13.3  Personally Identifiable Information 1) Design Professional warrants that it will protect any personally identifiable information 
(“PII”) belonging to Agency’s employees’ or other Design Professionals or members of the 
general public that it receives from Agency or otherwise acquires in its performance under 
the Contract.  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 63 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

2) For purposes of this paragraph:  
a) PII has the meaning given in the [federal] Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 

Memorandum M-07-16 Safeguarding Against and Responding to the Breach of 
Personally Identifiable Information; and 

b) “Protect” means taking measures to safeguard personally identifiable information and 
prevent its breach that are functionally equivalent to those called for in that OMB 
memorandum and elaborated on in the [federal] General Services Administration 
(GSA) Directive CIO P 2180.1 GSA Rules of Behavior for Handling Personally Identifiable 
Information. 
 

3) NOTE (1): For convenience of reference only, the OMB memorandum is available at: 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/memoranda/fy2007
/m07-16.pdf  

4) NOTE (2): For convenience of reference only, the GSA directive is available at: 

http://www.gsa.gov/portal/directive/d0/content/658222  

13.4  Protected Health Information 1) Design Professional warrants that, to the extent performance under the Contract involves 
individually identifiable health information (referred to hereinafter as protected health 
information (“PHI”) and electronic PHI (“ePHI”) as defined in the Privacy Rule referred to 
below), it: 
a) Is familiar with and will comply with the applicable aspects of the following collective 

regulatory requirements regarding patient information privacy protection: (1) the 
“Privacy Rule” in CFR 45 Part 160 and Part 164 pursuant to the Health Insurance 
Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) of 1996; (2) Arizona laws, rules, and 
regulations applicable to PHI/ePHI that are not preempted by CFR 45-160(B) or the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) as amended; and (3) 
Agency’s current and published PHI/ePHI privacy and security policies and procedures; 

b) Will cooperate with Agency in the course of performing under the Contract so that 
both Agency and Contractor stay in compliance with the requirements in (a) above; 
and 

c) Will sign any documents that are reasonably necessary to keep both Agency and 
Contractor in compliance with the requirements in (a) above, in particular “Business 
Associate Agreements” in accordance with the Privacy Rule. 

NOTE: For convenience of reference only, the Privacy Rule is available at: 
http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/index.html 

  Information Technology Work 14.0
14.1  Applicability Article 14 applies to any Invitation for Bids, Request for Qualifications, or Request for 

Quotations for "Information Technology," as defined In A.R.S. § 41-3501(6) 6: “computerized 
and auxiliary automated information processing, telecommunications and related 
technology, including hardware, software, vendor support and related services, equipment 
and projects” if and to the extent that the Work is or includes Information Technology. 

14.2  Information Access 1) SYSTEM MEASURES. Design Professional shall employ appropriate system management 
and maintenance, fraud prevention and detection, and encryption application and tools to 
any systems or networks containing or transmitting Agency’s proprietary data or 
confidential information. 

2) INDIVIDUAL MEASURES. Design Professional personnel shall comply with applicable 
Agency policies and procedures regarding data access, privacy, and security, including 
prohibitions on remote access and obtaining and maintaining access IDs and passwords. 
Design Professional is responsible to Agency for ensuring that any State access IDs and 

https://appstate.az.gov/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/memoranda/fy2007/m07-16.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/memoranda/fy2007/m07-16.pdf
http://www.gsa.gov/portal/directive/d0/content/658222
http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/index.html


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 64 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

passwords are used only by the person to whom they were issued. Design Professional 
shall ensure that personnel are only provided the minimum only such level of access 
necessary to perform his or duties. Design Professional shall on request provide a current 
register of the access IDs and passwords and corresponding access levels currently 
assigned to its personnel. 

3) ACCESS CONTROL. Design Professional is responsible to Agency for ensuring that 
hardware, software, data, information, and that has been provided by Agency or belongs 
to or is in the custody of Agency and is accessed or accessible by Design Professional 
personnel is only used in connection with carrying out the Work, and is never 
commercially exploited in any manner whatsoever not expressly permitted under the 
Contract. Agency may restrict access by Construction Contractor personnel, or instruct 
Design Professional to restrict access their access, if in its determination the requirements 
of this subparagraph are not being met. 

14.3  Pass-Through Indemnity 1) INDEMNITY FROM THIRD PARTY. For computer hardware or software 
included in the Work as discrete units that were manufactured or 
developed solely by a third party, Design Professional may satisfy its 
indemnification obligations under the Contract by, to the extent 
permissible by law, passing through to Agency such indemnity as it 
receives from the third-party source (each a “Pass-Through Indemnity”) 
and cooperating with Agency in enforcing that indemnity. If the third party 
fails to honor its Pass-Through Indemnity, or if a Pass-Through Indemnity is 
insufficient to indemnify Agency Indemnitees to the extent and degree 
Design Professional is required to do by the Uniform Terms and Conditions, 
then Design Professional shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
Agency Indemnitees to the extent the Pass-Through Indemnity does not.  

2) NOTIFY OF CLAIMS. Agency shall notify Design Professional promptly of any claim to which 
a Pass-Through Indemnity might apply. Design Professional, with reasonable consultation 
from Agency, shall control of the defense of any action on any claim to which a Pass-
Through Indemnity applies, including negotiations for settlement or compromise, 
provided that:  
a) Agency reserves the right to elect to participate in the action at its own expense; 
b) Agency reserves the right to approve or reject any settlement or compromise on 

reasonable grounds and if done so timely; and 
c) Agency shall in any case cooperate in the defense and any related settlement 

negotiations. 

14.4  Redress of Infringement. 1) REPLACE, LICENSE, OR MODIFY. If Construction Contractor becomes aware that any 
Materials or Services infringe, or are likely to be infringing on, any third party’s intellectual 
property rights, then Construction Contractor shall at its sole Cost and expense and in 
consultation with Agency either: 
cc) Replace any infringing items with non-infringing ones; 
dd) Obtain for Agency the right to continue using the infringing items; or 
ee) Modify the infringing item so that they become non-infringing, so long as they continue 

to function as specified following the modification. 
 

2) CANCELLATION OPTION. In every case under 14.4, if none of those options can reasonably 
be accomplished, or if the continued use of the infringing items is impracticable, Agency may 
cancel the relevant Order or terminate the Contract and Construction Contractor shall take 
back the infringing items. If Agency does cancel the Order or terminate the Contract, 
Construction Contractor shall refund to Agency: 
ff) For any software created for Agency under the Contract, the amount Agency paid to 

Contractor for creating it;  

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 65 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

gg) For all other Materials, the net book value of the product or actual monies paid by the 
Agency provided according to generally accepted accounting principles; and 

hh) For Services, the amount paid by Agency or an amount equal to twelve (12) months of 
charges, whichever is less.  

3) EXCEPTIONS. Contractor will not be liable for any claim of infringement based solely on any 
of the following by a State Indemnitee:  
ii) Modification or use of Materials other than as contemplated by the Contract or 

expressly authorized or proposed by a Contractor Indemnitor;  
jj) Operation of Materials with any operating software other than that supplied by 

Contractor or authorized or proposed by a Contractor Indemnitor; or 
kk) Combination or use with other products in a manner not contemplated by the Contract 

or expressly authorized or proposed by a Contractor Indemnitor. 

14.5 First Party Liability Limitation 1) LIMIT. Subject to the provisos that follow below and unless stated otherwise in the Special 
Terms and General Conditions, Agency’s first party liability arising from or related to the 
Contract is limited to the lesser of $1,000,000 (one million dollars) or 3 (three) times the 
purchase price of the specific Materials or Services giving rise to the claim.  

2) PROVISONS. This paragraph limits liability of any and all damages to which Contractor is 
entitled under this Contract for contract breaches or that comes out of performance or 
concerns this contract, regardless of the legal theory under which the liability is asserted. 
This paragraph 14.5 does not the effect of paragraph 6.2 of this Contract:  

3) PURCHASE PRICE DETERMINATION. If the Contract is for a single-agency and a single Order 
(or if no Order applies), then “purchase price” in Subparagraph 14.6.1 above means the 
aggregate Contract price current at the time of Contract expiration or earlier termination, 
including all change orders or other forms of Contract Amendment having an effect on the 
aggregate price through that date. In all other cases, “purchase price” above means the total 
price of the Order for the specific equipment, software, or services giving rise to the claim, 
and therefore a separate limit will apply to each Order. 

4) NO EFFECT ON INSURANCE. This paragraph does not modify the required coverage limits, 
terms, and conditions of, or any insured’s ability to claim against, any insurance that Design 
Professional is required by the Contract to provide, and Design Professional shall obtain 
express endorsements that it does not. 

14.6  Information Technology Warranty 1) SYSTEM MEASURES. Design Professional shall employ appropriate system management 
and maintenance, fraud prevention and detection, and encryption application and tools to 
any systems or networks containing or transmitting Agency’s proprietary data or 
confidential information. 

2) INDIVIDUAL MEASURES. Design Professional personnel shall comply with applicable 
Agency policies and procedures regarding data access, privacy, and security, including 
prohibitions on remote access and obtaining and maintaining access IDs and passwords. 
Design Professional is responsible to Agency for ensuring that any State access IDs and 
passwords are used only by the person to whom they were issued. Design Professional 
shall ensure that personnel are only provided the minimum only such level of access 
necessary to perform his or duties. Design Professional shall on request provide a current 
register of the access IDs and passwords and corresponding access levels currently 
assigned to its personnel. 

3) ACCESS CONTROL. Design Professional is responsible to Agency for ensuring that 
hardware, software, data, information, and that has been provided by Agency or belongs 
to or is in the custody of Agency and is accessed or accessible by Design Professional 
personnel is only used in connection with carrying out the Work, and is never 
commercially exploited in any manner whatsoever not expressly permitted under the 
Contract. Agency may restrict access by Design Professional personnel, or instruct Design 
Professional to restrict access their access, if in its determination the requirements of this 
subparagraph are not being met. 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Uniform Terms and 
Conditions 

Design Professional 
 

10.19.20 
 

 

 Uniform Terms and Conditions 
Design Professional 

Page 66 of 66 

A v a i l a b l e  o n l i n e  a t :  
a p p s t a t e . a z . g o v  

 

14.7  Specific Remedies 
Unless expressly stated otherwise elsewhere in the Contract, Agency’s remedy for 
breach of warranty under this Contract includes, at Agency’s discretion, 
re-performance, repair, replacement, or refund of any amounts paid by Agency for the 
nonconforming Work, plus (in every case) Design Professional’s payment of Agency’s 
additional, documented, and reasonable Costs to procure Materials or services 
equivalent in function, capability, and performance at that first called for. For 
clarification of intent, the foregoing obligations are limited by the First Party Liability 
Limitation in paragraph 14.5. If none of the forgoing options can reasonably be 
effected, or if the use of the Materials by Agency is made impractical by the 
nonconformance, then Agency may seek any remedy available to it under law. 

End of Uniform Terms and Conditions 
 

https://appstate.az.gov/


  

 Solicitation No:  BPM004132 Available online at 
https://app.az.gov Solicitation Amendment, page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Solicitation Amendment I 
 

Solicitation No.:  BPM004132 

Description:  ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering 
Services 

 
 
 

Page 
1 

State of Arizona 
Department of Administration 

General Services Division 
1400 W Washington St., Ste. B200 

Phoenix, AZ  85007 

Amendment No.: 1 
of 
1 

 

 
 
Pursuant to the Uniform Instructions to Offerors, Item 2.6., Solicitation Amendments, the above referenced solicitation shall 
be amended as follows: 

 

BID DUE DATE:   January 7, 2022 by 3:00 PM Arizona Time  

AMENDED DUE DATE:  January 11, 2022 by 3:00 PM Arizona Time   

   RFIs will be accepted through the Discussion Forum until January 5, 2022 2 PM 

 

SCOPE REQUIREMENTS: 

3.3 Schedule for Solicitation 

Revised Statement of Qualifications Due: January 11, 2022, 3:00 PM, Arizona Time 

 SOLICITATION RESPONSE QUESTIONNAIRE AND ATTACHMENTS 

 METHOD PROPOSAL 

 Revision: on-call architectural/landscape architectural TO on-call civil engineering services as follows: 
1. Substantiate how your team can most effectively undertake the requirements and responsibilities associated with 
the on-call civil engineering services for the state of Arizona and your proposed team’s understanding of this scope of 
services by:  

 

  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF SOLICITATION AMENDMENT SHALL BE DONE ELECTRONICALLY PRIOR TO OFFER DUE 
DATE AND TIME.  All other all terms, conditions, specifications and amendments to the Solicitation remain unchanged. 

 
 

https://app.az.gov/


Contract Amendment I Arizona Department of 

Administration 

General Services Division 

1400 W. Washington St., Ste. B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

  Contract ID: 
     CTR058871 

 Contractor: 
  CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. 

Contract Amendment #1 Date:  10/12/2023 

ADOA ON-CALL CIVIL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
The above-mentioned contract is hereby amended as follows: In accordance with the Special Terms and 
Conditions, Section 5.0, Contract Changes. 

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 

4.0 Costs and Payments 

4.1 DELAY CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY DESIGN PROFESSIONAL 

If delay in the completion of the Project is caused by the negligent actions or inaction of the Design 
Professional, the Design Professional shall indemnify the Agency against all reasonable Costs, 
expenses, liabilities, or damages resulting from such delay. In addition, the Design Professional at its 
own expense shall provide all Services (whether provided by the Design Professional itself or a Design 
Professional Subconsultant necessary to bring the Project back into compliance with the Schedule. 

9.0 Contract Termination 

9.1 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT-DESIGN PROFESSIONAL 
1) In addition to all other rights reserved to it under the Contract, Agency may terminate the Contract due

to Design Professional’s failure to:

a) Comply with any term or condition of the Contract;
b) Comply with any warranty made by Design Professional under the Contract;
c) Obtain and maintain all required insurance policies, bonds, licenses and/or permits;
d) Make satisfactory progress in carrying out the Work; or
e) Furnish Agency with assurances satisfactory to Agency evidencing Design Professional’s ability

to complete the Work in compliance with all the requirements of the Contract.

2) Procurement Officer shall give written notice of the termination and the reasons for it. Upon receipt of
written notice by Agency, Design Professional shall immediately discontinue all Services and will
immediately terminate placing orders or entering into Subcontracts for Services, supplies, assistance,
facilities or Materials in connection with this Contract. In addition, Design Professional shall proceed
to cancel promptly all existing Subconsultants insofar as they are related to this Contract.

3) Upon termination under this paragraph, all documents, data and reports prepared by Design
Professional under the Contract and all attributable Work in progress, Work completed, and Work
accepted will become Agency’s property, and Design Professional shall deliver all of it to Agency
immediately upon a demand made by Agency.

4) Upon termination under this paragraph and as soon as practicable after receipt of notice of termination,
the Design Professional shall submit a statement, showing in detail the Services performed but not paid
for under this Contract to the date of termination. Agency shall then pay Design Professional promptly
the accrued and unpaid Services to the date of termination, to the extent the Services are approved by
Agency.



5) Agency may, following termination of the Contract under this paragraph, procure on terms and in the
manner determined to be appropriate Services to replace those that were to have been provided or
performed by Design Professional and/or Design Professional’s Subcontractors, and Design
Professional will be liable to Agency for any excess Cost Agency incurs in procuring such substitutes.
Agency shall ascertain Cost to complete the balance of the Work under this Contract. If the Cost to
complete the balance of the Work is greater than the unpaid Contract amount, Agency shall retain all
unpaid balances and, in addition, Design Professional shall pay directly to Agency the difference in the
unpaid balance and the Cost to complete the Work.

6) In the event the Agency terminates the Contract for default, the Agency shall be entitled to recover
from the Design Professional any and all reasonable attorney fees and court costs (including, but not
limited to, primary loss investigation, judgment costs, expert witness and/or consultant fees and any
and all expenses, fees, and costs from appellate proceedings).

7) If a termination of this Contract by Agency for default later is determined to have been improper, such
termination shall be automatically converted to a termination for convenience, and Design
Professional’s remedies and compensation shall be limited to those for a termination for convenience
under the Contract.

8) Except as expressly provided in this paragraph, in no case shall Agency pay Design Professional any
additional monies other than those previously paid under the Contract.

11.0 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

11.1 MANAGEMENT OF SCHEDULE. 

The Design Professional is responsible for timely completion of all its activities, responsibilities, and 
obligations under this Contract in accordance with the approved Schedule as amended and approved 
by the Agency. The Agency shall seek the Design Professional’s input if any change in the Agency’s 
requirements affects the Schedule. The Design Professional acknowledges and agrees, absent fault of 
the Agency or force majeure, that if the agreed-upon design milestones in the Schedule are not met, the 
Design Professional will, at its own expense, accelerate the Work, including accelerating the Work 
to be performed by (or replace) delinquent Design Professional Sub-contractors and retain such 
additional resources as necessary to return the Project to compliance with the Schedule. 

ATTACHED: Full Special Terms and Conditions revised by Amendment I. 

ALL OTHER REQUIREMENTS, SPECIFICATIONS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN UNCHANGED 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AUTHORIZATION 
This change order shall be fully executed upon the approval electronically in APP by an authorized 
representative of the Contractor and applied to the contract in APP by the Procurement Officer or delegate. 

Available online at 
APP.AZ.gov 

https://procure.az.gov/


SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS AMENDED 
The Special Terms and Conditions modify the Uniform Terms and Conditions and its Appendices. It can modify them by replacing, deleting, 
appending to, or revising the text of an existing provision or by inserting a new paragraph into an existing article. No other document 
modifies or adds to the Uniform Terms and Conditions, except as may subsequently be otherwise and expressly agreed and incorporated 
by Contract Amendment. 

1.0 Definition of Terms 
As used in the Contract, the terms listed below are defined as follows: 

1.1 Co-Op Buyer “Co-Op Buyer” means a member of the State Purchasing Cooperative that has entered into a 
“Cooperative Purchasing Agreement” with the Arizona Department of Administration State 
Procurement Office under A.R.S. § 41-2632. Unless there is an applicable Cooperative Purchasing 
Agreement in effect at the time, a State Purchasing Cooperative member cannot be a Co-Op 
Buyer. For reference, “Co-Op Buyer” is to be construed as encompassing “eligible procurement 
unit” under A.A.C. R2-7-101(23). 
NOTE: Membership in the State Purchasing Cooperative is open to all Arizona political 
subdivisions, including cities, counties, school districts, and special districts. Membership is also 
available to non-profit organizations, other state governments, the federal government and tribal 
nations. For reference, “non-profit organizations” are defined in A.R.S. § 41-2631(4) as any 
nonprofit corporation as designated by the IRS under section 501(c)(3) through 501(c)(6) of the 
tax code. 

1.2 Eligible Agency  “Eligible Agency" in the use of this contract shall mean any State of Arizona agency, university, 
commission, or board. The State reserves the right to expand the definition of "Eligible Agency" 
to include Co-Op Buyer as defined in the Special Terms and Conditions paragraph 1.2 at time of a 
Contract Extension. 

2.0 Contract Interpretation 

No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

3.0 Contract Administration and Operation 

3.1 Term of Contract The term of the Contract will commence on the date indicated on the Acceptance and continue 
for a term not to exceed five (5) years unless canceled, terminated, or permissibly extended.   

4.0 Costs and Payments 
4.1 Delay Caused in 

Whole or In Part 
by Design 
Professional

If delay in the completion of the Project is caused by the negligent actions or inaction of the 
Design Professional, the Design Professional shall indemnify the Agency against all reasonable 
Costs, expenses, liabilities, or damages resulting from such delay. In addition, the Design 
Professional at its own expense shall provide all Services (whether provided by the Design 
Professional itself or a Design Professional Sub-consultant necessary to bring the Project back 
into compliance with the Schedule. 

5.0 Contract Changes 

No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

6.0 Risk and Liability 
6.1 Indemnification Clause  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the State of Arizona, 
and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees 
(hereinafter referred to as “Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, 
or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim processing, investigation and litigation) 
(hereinafter referred to as “Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury (including death), or loss or damage to 
tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts 
or omissions of Contractor or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or subcontractors. This 
indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of, or recovered under, the Workers’ Compensation Law or 
arising out of the failure of such Contractor to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, 



 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 2 of 5  

   
 

regulation, or court decree. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, 
except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified 
by Contractor from and against any and all claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be responsible for primary loss 
investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is applicable. In consideration of the award 
of this contract, the Contractor agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Arizona, its officers, 
officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by the Contractor for the State of 
Arizona. 

This indemnity shall not apply if the contractor or sub-contractor(s) is/are an agency, board, commission or 
university of the State of Arizona. 

6.2 Insurance Requirements 

6.2.1 Contractor and subcontractors shall procure and maintain, until all of their obligations have been 
discharged, including any warranty periods under this Contract, insurance against claims for injury to 
persons or damage to property arising from, or in connection with, the performance of the work 
hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. 

6.2.2 The Insurance Requirements herein are minimum requirements for this Contract and in no way limit 
the indemnity covenants contained in this Contract. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the 
minimum limits contained herein are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities that arise out 
of the performance of the work under this Contract by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, 
employees or subcontractors, and the Contractor is free to purchase additional insurance. 

6.3 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance  

Contractor shall provide coverage with limits of liability not less than those stated below. 
6.3.1 Commercial General Liability (CGL) – Occurrence Form 

Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, and broad form contractual liability coverage. 
● General Aggregate $2,000,000 
● Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 
● Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000 
● Damage to Rented Premises $50,000 
● Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
a. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, to include the State of 

Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of the activities 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor.  

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required by this written agreement, 
in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, 
officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work performed by or on behalf 
of the Contractor. 

6.3.2 Business Automobile Liability 

Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, and/or non-owned automobiles used in the 
performance of this Contract. 

● Combined Single Limit (CSL) $1,000,000 
a. Policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, to include the State of Arizona, 

and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and 
employees as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of the activities performed 
by, or on behalf of, the Contractor involving automobiles owned, hired and/or non-owned by 
the Contractor. 

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement as required by this written agreement 
in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work performed by 
or on behalf of the Contractor. 

6.3.3 Workers’ Compensation and Employers' Liability 

● Workers' Compensation Statutory 
● Employers' Liability 

o Each Accident $1,000,000 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 3 of 5  

   
 

o Disease – Each Employee $1,000,000 
o Disease – Policy Limit $1,000,000 

a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required by this written agreement, 
in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work performed by 
or on behalf of the Contractor. 

b. This requirement shall not apply to each Contractor or subcontractor that is exempt under A.R.S. 
§ 23-901, and when such Contractor or subcontractor executes the appropriate waiver form 
(Sole Proprietor or Independent Contractor). 

6.3.4 Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions Liability) 

● Each Claim $2,000,000 
● Annual Aggregate $2,000,000 

a. In the event that the Professional Liability insurance required by this Contract is written on a 
claims-made basis, Contractor warrants that any retroactive date under the policy shall precede 
the effective date of this Contract and, either continuous coverage will be maintained, or an 
extended discovery period will be exercised, for a period of two (2) years beginning at the time 
work under this Contract is completed. 

b. The policy shall cover professional misconduct or negligent acts for those positions defined in 
the Scope of Work of this contract. 

6.4 Additional Insurance Requirements 

The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include, as required by this written agreement, the following 
provisions: 
6.4.1 The Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that the insurance afforded the Contractor shall 

be primary and that any insurance carried by the Department, its agents, officials, employees or the 
State of Arizona shall be excess and not contributory insurance, as provided by A.R.S. § 41-621 (E). 

6.4.2 Insurance provided by the Contractor shall not limit the Contractor’s liability assumed under the 
indemnification provisions of this Contract. 

6.5 Notice of Cancellation 

Applicable to all insurance policies required within the Insurance Requirements of this Contract, Contractor’s 
insurance shall not be permitted to expire, be suspended, be canceled, or be materially changed for any reason 
without thirty (30) days prior written notice to the State of Arizona. Within two (2) business days of receipt, 
Contractor must provide notice to the State of Arizona if they receive notice of a policy that has been or will be 
suspended, canceled, materially changed for any reason, has expired, or will be expiring. Such notice shall be sent 
directly to the Department and shall be mailed, emailed, hand delivered or sent by facsimile transmission to (State 
Representative’s Name, Address & Fax Number). 

6.6 Acceptability of Insurers 

Contractor’s insurance shall be placed with companies licensed in the State of Arizona or hold approved non-
admitted status on the Arizona Department of Insurance List of Qualified Unauthorized Insurers. Insurers shall 
have an “A.M. Best” rating of not less than A- VII. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the above-required 
minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect the Contractor from potential insurer insolvency. 

6.7 Verification of Coverage 

Contractor shall furnish the State of Arizona with certificates of insurance (valid ACORD form or equivalent 
approved by the State of Arizona) evidencing that Contractor has the insurance as required by this Contract. An 
authorized representative of the insurer shall sign the certificates. 
6.7.1 All such certificates of insurance and policy endorsements must be received by the State before work 

commences. The State’s receipt of any certificates of insurance or policy endorsements that do not 
comply with this written agreement shall not waive or otherwise affect the requirements of this 
agreement. 

6.7.2 Each insurance policy required by this Contract must be in effect at, or prior to, commencement of 
work under this Contract. Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this Contract, or to 
provide evidence of renewal, is a material breach of contract. 

6.7.3 All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the Department. The State of Arizona 
project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the certificate of insurance. The 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 4 of 5  

   
 

State of Arizona reserves the right to require complete copies of all insurance policies required by this 
Contract at any time. 

6.8 Subcontractors 

Contractor’s certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as insureds under its policies or Contractor shall be 
responsible for ensuring and/or verifying that all subcontractors have valid and collectable insurance as 
evidenced by the certificates of insurance and endorsements for each subcontractor. All coverages for 
subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum Insurance Requirements identified above. The Department 
reserves the right to require, at any time throughout the life of this contract, proof from the Contractor that its 
subcontractors have the required coverage. 

6.9 Approval and Modifications 

The Contracting Agency, in consultation with State Risk, reserves the right to review or make modifications to the 
insurance limits, required coverages, or endorsements throughout the life of this contract, as deemed necessary. 
Such action will not require a formal Contract amendment but may be made by administrative action. 

6.10 Exceptions 

In the event the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a public entity, then the Insurance Requirements shall not 
apply. Such public entity shall provide a certificate of self-insurance. If the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are 
a State of Arizona agency, board, commission, or university, none of the above shall apply. 

 7.0 Warranties 

  No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

 8.0 State's Contractual Remedies 

  No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section 

 9.0 Contract Termination 

 9.1 Termination 
for Default – 
Design 
Professional 

 1) In addition to all other rights reserved to it under the Contract, Agency may terminate the 
Contract due to Design Professional’s failure to:  
a) Comply with any term or condition of the Contract;  
b) Comply with any warranty made by Design Professional under the Contract;  
c) Obtain and maintain all required insurance policies, bonds, licenses and/or permits;  
d) Make satisfactory progress in carrying out the Work; or  
e) Furnish Agency with assurances satisfactory to Agency evidencing Design Professional’s 

ability to complete the Work in compliance with all the requirements of the Contract.  
2) Procurement Officer shall give written notice of the termination and the reasons for it. Upon 

receipt of written notice by Agency, Design Professional shall immediately discontinue all 
Services and will immediately terminate placing orders or entering into Subcontracts for 
Services, supplies, assistance, facilities or Materials in connection with this Contract. In 
addition, Design Professional shall proceed to cancel promptly all existing Subconsultants 
insofar as they are related to this Contract.  

3) Upon termination under this paragraph, all documents, data and reports prepared by Design 
Professional under the Contract and all attributable Work in progress, Work completed, and 
Work accepted will become Agency’s property, and Design Professional shall deliver all of it 
to Agency immediately upon a demand made by Agency.    

4) Upon termination under this paragraph and as soon as practicable after receipt of notice of 
termination, the Design Professional shall submit a statement, showing in detail the Services 
performed but not paid for under this Contract to the date of termination. Agency shall then 
pay Design Professional promptly the accrued and unpaid Services to the date of termination, 
to the extent the Services are approved by Agency.  

5) Agency may, following termination of the Contract under this paragraph, procure on terms 
and in the manner determined to be appropriate Services to replace those that were to have 
been provided or performed by Design Professional and/or Design Professional’s 
Subcontractors, and Design Professional will be liable to Agency for any excess Cost Agency 
incurs in procuring such substitutes. Agency shall ascertain Cost to complete the balance of 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 

Available online at: appstate.az.gov RFQ Page 5 of 5  

   
 

the Work under this Contract. If the Cost to complete the balance of the Work is greater than 
the unpaid      Contract amount, Agency shall retain all unpaid balances and, in addition, 
Design Professional shall pay directly to Agency the difference in the unpaid balance and the 
Cost to complete the Work. 

6) In the event the Agency terminates the Contract for default, the Agency shall be entitled to 
recover from the Design Professional any and all reasonable attorney fees and court costs 
(including, but not limited to, primary loss investigation, judgment costs, expert witness 
and/or consultant fees and any and all expenses, fees, and costs from appellate proceedings). 

7) If a termination of this Contract by Agency for default later is determined to have been 
improper, such termination shall be automatically converted to a termination for 
convenience, and Design Professional’s remedies and compensation shall be limited to those 
for a termination for convenience under the Contract. 

8) Except as expressly provided in this paragraph, in no case shall Agency pay Design 
Professional any additional monies other than those previously paid under the Contract. 

 10.0 Contract Claims 

  No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

 11.0 Design Professional Responsibilities  
 

11.1 Management of Schedule  The Design Professional is responsible for timely completion of all its activities, responsibilities, and 
obligations under this Contract in accordance with the approved Schedule as amended and 
approved by the Agency. The Agency shall seek the Design Professional’s input if any change in the 
Agency’s requirements affects the Schedule. The Design Professional acknowledges and agrees, 
absent fault of the Agency or force majeure, that if the agreed-upon design milestones in the 
Schedule are not met, the Design Professional will, at its own expense, accelerate the Work, 
including accelerating the Work to be performed by (or replace) delinquent Design Professional 
Subcontractors and retain such additional resources as necessary to return the Project to compliance 
with the Schedule.  

12.0 Agency Responsibilities 
No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

13.0 Data and Information Handling 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

14.0 Information Technology Work 
 No modifications to uniform terms and conditions section. 

End of Section 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://appstate.az.gov/


 
February 7, 2022 
 
Carollo Engineers, Inc. 
Jessica Dresang, PE, Vice President 
4600 E. Washington Street, Suite 500 
Phoenix, AZ 85034 
(602) 236-9500 
Sent via e-mail to: JDresang@carollo.com  
 
 Re:  Award of Contract No. CTR058871 for ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services. 
 
Dear Ms. Dresang, 
 
Thank you for submitting a response to Request for Qualifications No. BPM004132. I am pleased to 
inform you that your company’s offer has been selected for award. The initial contract term shall begin on 
February 7, 2022. 
 
All offers received were evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the solicitation. 
The procurement file for this solicitation, including evaluation documents and resultant contracts, will be 
available for public viewing via the State’s e-Procurement system, APP within 10 days. 
 
Please return to me a current Certificate of Liability Insurance by Thursday, February 17, 2022. On your 
certificate, please include: CTR058871 ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services. 
 
You are cautioned not to begin any work under the contract until you have been issued a purchase order 
or written notice to proceed.  
 
We look forward to working with you and if you have any questions regarding your company’s contract, 
please contact me at crista.clevenger@azdoa.gov or (602) 542-1718.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
Crista J. Clevenger 
Construction Procurement Manager 
 

 
 
 
Douglas A. Ducey 

Governor 

 

 
 
 

Andy Tobin 
Director 

 ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION 
1400 W. WASHINGTON ST., SUITE B200 

PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85007 
(602) 542-1500 

 

mailto:JDresang@carollo.com
mailto:%20crista.clevenger@azdoa.gov


 
 

 
 
 

Contract Amendment III 
 

Arizona Department of 

Administration 

General Services Division 

1400 W. Washington St., Ste. B200 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

                                     Contract ID:  
                                      CTR058871 

                              Contractor:                               
           CAROLLO ENGINEERS 

Extension #2 

 

Date:  12/14/2023 
 

 
                          ADOA ON-CALL CIVIL ENGINEERING 

 
 

1. The above-mentioned contract is hereby amended as follows: 
 

a. In accordance with the Special Terms and Conditions, Section 3.2 
Contract Extensions, the above referenced contract shall be extended 
from 2/7/2024 to 2/7/2025.  

 
i. 2 optional extensions remaining of a 5-year contract 

 
b. All Terms, Conditions and Provisions of the contract shall remain 

unchanged and apply during the renewal period unless otherwise 
amended. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ALL OTHER REQUIREMENTS, SPECIFICATIONS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN UNCHANGED 
 
 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AUTHORIZATION 
 

This change order shall be fully executed upon the approval electronically in APP by the Procurement Officer. 

Available online at 
APP.AZ.gov 

https://procure.az.gov/


 Engineer  I Hourly  $                          117 

 Engineer  II Hourly  $                          128 

 Engineer  III Hourly  $                          149 

 Engineer  IV Hourly  $                          188 

 Engineer  V Hourly  $                          208 

 Engineer  VI Hourly  $                          224 

 Engineer  VII Hourly  $                          251 

 Engineer  VIII Hourly  $                          267 
Admin III Hourly  $                          123 

Document Processing III Hourly  $                          123 
Inspector VI Hourly  $                          166 

Special Inspector VI Hourly  $                          187 
Special Inspector VII Hourly  $                          208 

 Tech Specialist/CAD  III Hourly  $                          139 

 Tech Specialist/CAD  IV Hourly  $                          162 

 Tech Specialist/CAD  V Hourly  $                          187 

 Tech Specialist/CAD  VI Hourly  $                          208 

 Tech Specialist/CAD  VII Hourly  $                          219 

Carollo Engineers, Inc.
ADOA On-Call Civil Engineering Services - Fee Schedule

2-Feb-24

Title Level
Unit of 

pay 

Burdened Labor 
Rate (including 

PECE)



   9. E.  9. E.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Kristin Decker, Special Services Supervisor
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:   Approval of the Cooperative Purchase Contract with PFVT
Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford for the purchase of Four 2023 Ford Explorer Police Interceptors for the Flagstaff
Police Department in the amount of $211,955.44.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Approval of the Cooperative Purchase Contract with PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford for the
purchase of Four 2023 Ford Explorer Police Interceptors for the Flagstaff Police Department in the
amount of $211,955.44; and

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford holds a state contract for vehicle purchases under CTR059322. The
Flagstaff Police Department is seeking to purchase Four 2023 Ford Explorer Police Interceptors from Peoria
Ford in the amount of $211,955.44. The purchase is needed to replace vehicles that have met age and
mileage requirements for retirement as well as vehicles that sustained accident damage. This purchase will
assist the Flagstaff Police Department in maintaining a healthy fleet ready for emergency response. The
acquisition of these four vehicles has been approved by the Fleet Management Committee as well as the
Budget Committee.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
The FY2024 Flagstaff Police Department budget was $312,031 remaining for the purchase of (4) Police
Interceptor Explores and the upfitting of these vehicles in account 001-04-061-0221-2-4401.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
None.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
None.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

1. Approve the Cooperative Purchase Contract for Four 2023 Ford Explorer Interceptors from Peoria Ford;
or

2. Approve a purchase of fewer than Four 2023 Ford Explorer Interceptors; or
3. Deny the request to purchase the Four 2023 Ford Explorer Interceptors.

Background and History:Background and History:
The Flagstaff Police Department's authorized patrol fleet strength is fifty vehicles. By the end of June, it is



anticipated our fleet strength will be forty-five. The addition of the four vehicles in this proposal will allow the
police department to approach the goal of fifty vehicles while allowing for the retirement of some vehicles over
the age and mileage recommendations for our fleet.

The Purchasing section has reviewed the competitively solicited cooperative purchase options available and
confirmed that the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) conducted a competitive and open
procurement process through Request for Proposal Solicitation No. BPM004157 that resulted in Contract No.
CTR059322 with PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford. This underlying agency contract has been verified as
valid and appropriate for the purchase of the specified vehicles and presents the best value to the City. These
vehicles are currently in stock and available on the lot of Peoria Ford.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Personnel: Attract and Retain Quality Staff
Transportation and Other Public Infrastructure: Replace aging infrastructure

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Goal PF.3. Provide high-quality emergency response and public safety services including law enforcement,
fire, medical and ambulance service.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
It remains a priority for the Flagstaff Police Department to seek hybrid vehicle models for patrol. The
department has had to revert to gasoline models in this instance since hybrid models are unavailable. Our
current fleet does include fourteen hybrids and four electric vehicles.

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
Sustaining a reliable police fleet helps minimize vehicle downtime, effectively maximizing the number of police
vehicles available for use, which may result in faster response times and an elevated level of service to our
citizens.

Attachments:Attachments: 2024-166 Police Interceptors (4)
Exhibit A
Exhibit B1
Exhibit B2
Exhibit B3



1 

 

COOPERATIVE PURCHASE CONTRACT 
Contract No. 2024-166 

This Cooperative Purchase Contract is made and entered into this _________ day of 
______________, 20_____by and between the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, a political subdivision of the 
State of Arizona (“City”) and PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford, a Delaware Limited Liability 
Corporation (“Contractor”). 

RECITALS: 

A. Contractor is a fully authorized vendor (dealership) of Police Interceptors. 

B. The State of Arizona, Procurement Department, Public Sector conducted a competitive and 
open procurement process through Request for Proposal Solicitation No. BPM004157 that 
resulted in Contract No. CTR059322 with Contractor (“Agency Contract”); and 

C. The City has authority to enter into a cooperative purchase contract with Contractor utilizing the 
Agency Contract. 

AGREEMENT: 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the Parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Materials and or Services Purchased: Contractor shall provide to the City the materials and or 
services, as specified in the Scope of Work attached as Exhibit A, and in accordance with the 
Agency Contract. A general description of materials and/or services being purchased is: 

2023 Police Interceptor Quantity (4) Four  

2. Specific Requirements of City: Contractor shall comply with all specific purchase and delivery 
requirements and/or options of City, as specified in the Scope of Work attached as Exhibit A 
and incorporated by reference. 

3. Payment: Payment to Contractor for the materials and/or services provided for two hundred 
eleven thousand nine hundred fifty-five and forty-four hundredths ($211,955.44); made in 
accordance with the price list and terms set forth in the Agency Contract. Any price adjustment 
must be approved by mutual written consent of the Parties through a formal amendment. The 
City Manager or his/her designee (the Purchasing Director) may approve an amendment if the 
amendment price increase is less than $100,000; otherwise, City Council approval is required. 

4. Terms and Conditions of Agency Contract Apply: All provisions of the Agency Contract 
documents attached as Exhibit B, including any amendments, are incorporated in and shall 
apply to this Contract as though fully set forth herein. Contractor is responsible for promptly 
notifying City in writing of any changes to the Agency Contract, including, specifically changes in 
price for materials and/or services. 



2 

 

5. Certificates of Insurance: All insurance provisions of the Agency Contract shall apply, including 
any requirement to name the City as an additional insured. Prior to commencing performance 
under this Contract, Contractor shall furnish City with a copy of the current Certificate of 
Insurance required by the Agency Contract. 

6. Term: This Cooperative Purchase Contract shall commence upon execution by the Parties and 
shall continue until expiration or termination of the underlying Agency Contract, unless sooner 
terminated by City in writing. 

7. Renewal: This Cooperative Purchase Contract shall be automatically renewed if the underlying 
Agency Contract is renewed, for the same renewal period, unless City provides advance written 
notice to Contractor of its intention to non-renew. 

8. Notice: Any formal notice required under the Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified 
mail and email as follows: 

To the City: To Contractor: 

Nathan Naliborski, Fleet Manager 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W. Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
nnaliborski@flagstaffaz.gov  
Phone: 928-213-2187 

Chad Riccio 
Government sales 
PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford 
Chad Riccio 
Government Sales 
9130 W Bell Road 
Peoria, AZ 85382 
chad.riccio@governmentautosales.com 
(480) 405-2929 

 
With a copy to: 
Liane Garcia, Buyer 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W. Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
lgarcia@flagstaffaz.gov  
Phone: 928-213-2279 

 
 

 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank) 

 

mailto:nnaliborski@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:chad.riccio@governmentautosales.com
mailto:lgarcia@flagstaffaz.gov


3 

 

9. Authority: Each Party warrants that it has authority to enter into the Contract and perform its 
obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into the Contract. 

PFVT MOTORS, LLC dba: PEORIA FORD:  
 
By:_____________________________ 
 
Title:____________________________  
 
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 
By:_____________________________ 
 
Title:____________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
 
 
Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 20___ 



4 

 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

(attached) 
 

1. PFVT Motors, LLC dba: Peoria Ford Quote dated April 25, 2024 (1 page) 
 



5 

 

EXHIBIT B 
AGENCY CONTRACT 

(attached) 
 

1. State of Arizona – Arizona Department of Transportation RFP – 88 pages 
2. CTR059322 Contract Amendment & Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs Ban Form– 2 pages 
3. CTR059322 Contract Pricing – 65 pages 

 



14/25/2024 7:12:29

Quote
PFVT MOTORS, LLC. Date

Valid Until
Contract
PO
Lead Time

NATHAN NALIBORSKI PGB75006 Same

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PGB76353
PGB76085
PGB26739

POLICE INTERCEPTOR PG B26739
 2023 UTILITY AWD EXTERIOR

 119" WHEELBASE OXFORD WHITE
 3.3L TI-VCT V6 FFV ENGINE INTERIOR

 10-SPEED AUTO TRANSMISSION EBONY CLOTH FRT/VINYL REAR
EXTERIOR

 18" H.D.STEEL WHEELS
 255/60R18 A/S BSW

 POLICE TIRES
 CLASS III HITCH RECEIVER
 DUAL EXHAUST SYSTEM
 DUAL POWER MIRRORS
 FULL SIZE 18" SPARE W/TPMS
 HEADLAMPS - AUTO, LED

 LOW/HIGH INCLUDES FRONT
 HOUSING (W/ LED WIG-WAG)

 KEY LOCKS (DR/PASS/LFTGT)
 PRIVACY GLASS 2ND/3RD ROW

 TRANSMISSION OIL COOLER
 TRANSMISSION-10-SPEED AUTO

SAFETY/SECURITY
 75 MPH REAR-CRASH TESTED
 ADVANCETRAC™ WITH RSC®
 AIRBAGS - FRONT AND SIDE
 AIRBAGS - SAFETY CANOPY
 SOS POST CRASH ALERT SYS
 TIRE PRESSURE MONITOR SYS

WARRANTY
 3 YR/36K MILE BUMPER-TO-

 BUMPER WARRANTY
 5 YR/100K MILE POWERTRAIN

 CARE EXTENDED SERVICE PLAN
 (ZERO DEDUCTIBLE

EQUIPMENT GROUP 500A
OPTIONAL EQUIPMENT/OTHER
.AM/FM STEREO
3.3L TI-VCT V6 FFV ENGINE - 2,830.00
10-SPEED AUTO TRANSMISSION NO CHARGE
ULTIMATE WIRING KIT 560.00
.WIRING GRILL/LAMP/SIREN/SPKRS
.REAR CONSOLE MOUNTING PLATE
CARGO DOME LAMP -RED/WHITE 50.00
50 STATE EMISSIONS NO CHARGE
SPOT LAMP LED DR - WHELEN 420.00
KEYLESS ENTRY - 4 FOBS 340.00
4G LTE WI-FI HOTSPOT CREDIT - 20.00
18" FULL FACE WHEEL COVERS 60.00
POL WIRE HARNESS CONNECTOR KIT 185.00
.POLICE WIRING KIT REAR
.POLICE WIRING KIT FRONT
REAR DR HNDL AND LOCKS INOPR 75.00
FLEX-FUEL CAPABILITY
FRONT LICENSE PLATE BRACKET NO CHARGE

2 KEYS 

TINT

THIS IS QUOTED OUT OF STOCK PHASE 2 PRICING
THIS IS AVERAGE PRICE FOR 4 OF THESE UNITS.  IF QTY CHANGES SO DOES PRICE.
VINS ARE LISTED ABOVE IN INVOICE  ADDRESS TAB

Above information is not an invoice and only an estimate of services/goods described above. Quote subject to change. 

Please confirm your acceptance of this quote by signing this document, and returning
your PO.

INTERIOR
 35/30/35 SPLIT VINYL REAR
 A/C W/AUTOMATIC CLIMATE

 CONTROL, DUAL ZONE
 BLACK VINYL FLOOR COVERING
 CERTIFIED SPEEDOMETER
 CLOTH BUCKET FRONT SEATS
 CONSOLE MOUNTING PLATE
 ENGINE HOUR / IDLE METER
 HTD SANITIZATION SOLUTION
 PWR DR SEAT/6-WAY/M LUMBAR
 RED/WHITE TASK LIGHTING
 SEATBACK INTRUSION PLATES
 TILT/TELESCOPING STEERING

 WHL W/ 4 CONFIGURABLE
 LATCHING SWITCHES

 UNIVERSAL TOP TRAY
FUNCTIONAL

 AM/FM/MP3/BLUETOOTH & USB
 COLUMN MOUNTED SHIFTER
 ENGINE OIL COOLER
 FORD TELEMATICS™
 FULL-TIME ALL WHEEL DRIVE

 SYSTEM
 HEAVY DUTY SUSPENSION
 HEAVY-DUTY 80-AMP BATTERY
 INTERIOR TRUNK/LIFTGATE

 RELEASE
 POLICE BRAKES: 4 WHL DISC

 W/ ABS & TRACTION CONTROL
 POWER STEERING W/EPAS
 REAR VIEW CAMERA

4/25/2024
5/12/2024

CTR059322-AZ STATE

$49,013.75

.

INC 
INC

Subtotal $49,013.75
Sales Tax 0.081 $3,970.11

Tire Tax 5 $5.00
Extended Warranty $0.00

Flooring $0.00
Freight

MSO / ODO .
Total Per Unit less Trade-In $52,988.86

Quantity of Units 4

If you have any questions concerning this quote, contact Chad Riccio

9130 W Bell Road, Peoria AZ 85382
480-405-2929 - chad.riccio@governmentautosales.com

CHAD RICCIO
Government Account Team
Direct: 480-405-2929

Customer: Invoice Address: Delivery Address:

Special Notes and Instructions

$211,955.44

Description Line Total

Sale Total

Signature

Print Name

Date

Thank you for your business!



��������	
������	���	��
���������������������������������

	� !"#$%&& 	'()*+ &&,-.+ %/,"/&"&&



��������	�	���

��������������������������
���������� � ������������������������������������������������������ !"#�$%�&'()*+,��-%.��-/%����0+/,12.����3455!�� ���67���������������8�������8�9���������7�:��;��<
=>>?@AB�����9�������;�C�D�E�FGH��
��FIJ�J���67�������;��K�L�G�G�J���MI�NG�M��F��J�HGG�I�G���I������O��J�O�G���N���HG����F���MF�PQR�SPTPRUV�RW
����������JXJ���Y�Z�G[��I�
����������
���IH�\Z

]�\F��̂J_̀̀Î âI[aM�b̀]��JG�M��F��cGJ�JJG���d������IOa�� ������������������e8f���9�7��e������������g�����������8�9�������%��� ����� ��� ��0+h'*�i+j,/kk�
����������lmmG���
F���_��n>oWB@oWpAo>�q�IGH_�rs����HHtI[N��aM�b�� ���� �rFGJ�J�HGG�I�G���GJ�GJJ��N�G��I��NI���DG�F�Zauava�w?@WoAx?�I�N�ZaZaya�uoWBWyx>@����J�LaY�y��̂ ��G�Gb��v�IH�N�
��̂�JIHJa� ����z{|�}~�T�������P�|�P��{�R|���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �������¡�����������¢£¤��¥¦§�̈�����	©	��	�ª�̈� ��««�	����¬�����������������������������®������������¥���������®̄��������������®��������������������������������̄����°����������̄������������������������°��°�������������������������������������¡���®°������������������������®������������°������������������°���̄�����°®����®������������������������������������������������®�����������������¡�������������¡��°��������������������������������¡�����������������������������������±²³́µ¶́�·̧¹·�³²º»¼³²�¹�³²¹́µ¶¹½¾²�¹¿¿µÀÀµÁ¹·¼µ¶�½¹́²Á�µ¶�¾¹¶Â»¹Â²�µ³�Á¼́¹½¼¾¼·Ã�̧́µ»¾Á�¿µ¶·¹¿·�ÄÅÆÇÈ́�±³µ¿»³²À²¶·�ÆÉÉ¼¿²�½Ã�Ê�����¥¤�	�¦¢	¬	�§£����Ë°��������°���®��������������̄���������®���������°�������̈������������������°���̄��������������������������������Ì������������Ë°����Ë°�����������������¥�������������������®���̄�������������������������������������®�����������������������������Í��\n>o]�B@oWo>pÎa���



� ��������������� ���������	�
��
����

�������������������������� ������ �!�����!�����"��#$�%%�##&�'&(�%� ��(!�)�*�+���

,-./0-12134���	�5�
� � � � � � � � � � ,�6���� 789:;<� =�� >?@A<�8B�C8D9<D9E� F�G;8H<�8B�I8JK� L�� GH<;:?A�><JME�?DN�C8DN:9:8DE� O�� PD:B8JM�><JME�?DN�C8DN:9:8DE� =Q�� R<N<J?A�SJ8T:E:8DE� FQ�� �UV5�5��� �� =�W��>:9A<�XYZ78DW[:E;J:M:D?9:8D�\EE]J?D;<E�\HH<DN:̂�\� OL�� F�W��>:9A<�XYZ78DW[:E;J:M:D?9:8D�\EE]J?D;<E�\HH<DN:̂�_� Ò�� LW����PE?a<�b<H8J9�_̂c:@:9�L� Od�Ẁ����eDWE:9<�f?D]B?;9]J<J�:DEH<;9:8D�C8MHA:?D;<�C<J9:B:;?9:8D�_̂c:@:9�̀� �Og�dW�����SJ<W\h?JN�\]N:9�?DN�C<J9:B:;?9:8D�_̂c:@:9�d�� �OO�� gW���Sijklmnojpn�SJ<W\h?JN�b<q]:J<M<D9E�C<J9:B:;?9:8D�_̂c:@:9�g�� Or� �� OW����S8E9W\h?JN�C<J9:B:;?9:8D�?DN�b<q]:J<M<D9E�_̂c:@:9�O� OQ�� rW����Sijklmnojpn�S8E9W\h?JN�b<q]:J<M<D9E�C<J9:B:;?9:8D�_̂c:@:9�r�� r=� �� � ��� �



� ��������������� �����������	
���

���������������������������� ������ ����� �����!��"#�$$�""%�&%'��$� ��' �(��)�*���

�+,-.+/0/12�34��252/0/12�,6�7//8��9:9:�;<=><?@A�AB�ACD�E=FGB@?�;=BH<=DID@A�JBKDL�E:M:N:�OP9QRST9�DA�>DU:L�ACD�NA?AD�BV�E=FGB@?�WDX?=AID@A�BV�Y=?@>XB=A?AFB@�ZWDX?=AID@A[L�C?>�?�=DU<F=DID@A�VB=�\D]�̂DCFH_D�;<=HC?>D:���4̀�a12+,8.-2b,1�518�c5-de+,.18��R:9�YCD�NA?AD�BV�E=FGB@?�WDX?=AID@A�BV�Y=?@>XB=A?AFB@�ZWDX?=AID@A[�F>�>DDfF@g�AB�HB@A=?HA�]FAC�?�U<?_FVFDK�hD@KB=Z>[�]CB�H?@�X=BhFKD�@D]�hDCFH_D>�Z?__�V<D_�AiXD>L�Cij=FKL�?@K�V<__�D_DHA=FH[�F@H_<KF@g�j<A�@BA�_FIFADK�ABk�NDK?@>L�Y=<Hf>�<X�AB�9lLSTT�m̂nML�̂?@>L�NXB=A�oAF_FAi�̂DCFH_D>�ZNô>[L�?@K�J=B>>BhD=>�VB=�ACD�NA?AD�BV�E=FGB@?�?@K�X?=AFHFX?AF@g�p_FgFj_D�EgD@HFD>:�YCD>D�hDCFH_D>�]F__�jD�<>DK�AB�><XXB=A�BVVFHF?_�B=g?@FG?AFB@?_�gB?_>:�YCD>D�hDCFH_D>�]F__�jD�<>DK�B@�CFgC]?i>L�HFAiqHB<@Ai�=B?K>�?@K�>C?__�jD�KD>Fg@DK�AB�BXD=?AD�<@KD=�AiXFH?_�E=FGB@?�?IjFD@A�ADIXD=?A<=D>:���R:R�r?Hfg=B<@Kk�YCD�NA?AD�?@K�FA>�p_FgFj_D�EgD@HFD>�H<==D@A_i�>XD@K�?@�D>AFI?ADK�A]D@AiQB@D�IF__FB@�KB__?=>�F@�ACD�X<=HC?>D�BV�@D]�hDCFH_D>�?@@<?__i:���R:s�YCD�VB__B]F@g�?=D�ACD�YC=DD�J?ADgB=FD>�HBhD=DK�F@�ACF>�NHBXD�BV�nB=fk�t��52/e,+u��1/v��w5x/��1/�y3z�{/wb-|/��.+-w5x/x�t��52/e,+u�}~,v��w5x/�}~,�ỳz�{/wb-|/��.+-w5x/x�t��52/e,+u�}w+//v��}���.18/8�{/wb-|/x��s��/1/+5|�	/�.b+/0/12x�s:9�� D̂CFH_D>�>C?__�jD�@D]�?@K�><XX_FDK�]FAC�?__�DU<FXID@A�?@K�?HHD>>B=FD>�F@KFH?ADK�?>�>A?@K?=K�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������AB�IDDA�ACD�IF@FI<I�=DU<F=DID@A>�>C?__�jD�F@H_<KDK:��s:R��E__�hDCFH_D>�B=KD=DK�AC=B<gC�;C?>D�9�ZBVV�ACD�_F@D[�>C?__�jD��?@<V?HA<=D=�>�H<==D@A�iD?=�IBKD_>�F@�X=BK<HAFB@�AC=B<gCB<A�ACD�AD=I�BV�ACF>�HB@A=?HA�?@K�>C?__�jD�>D=hFHDK�HBIX_DAD_i�ji�ACD�hD@KB=�jDVB=D�KD_FhD=i�?@K�=D?Ki�F@�?__�=D>XDHA>�VB=�<>D:��B=�ACD�F@FAF?_�HB@A=?HA�XD=FBK��hDCFH_D>�>C?__�jD�@D]�IBKD_�iD?=�RTRR�B=�g=D?AD=:��s:s�� D̂CFH_D>�B=KD=DK�AC=B<gC�;C?>D�R�ZB@�ACD�_BA[�>C?__�C?hD�_D>>�AC?@�9TT�B=FgF@?_�BKBIDAD=�IF_D>�?@K�jD�@D]�ZC?hD�@DhD=�jDD@�X=DhFB<>_i�B]@DK[�<@_D>>�X=DQ?XX=BhDK�F@�]=FAF@g�ji�ACD�p_FgFj_D�EgD@Hi:��s:P��E__�hDCFH_D>�>C?__�IDDA�=DU<F=DID@A>�BV�?XX_FH?j_D�E=FGB@?��BAB=�̂DCFH_D�_?]>�?@K�?__�BACD=�?XX_FH?j_D��DKD=?_��BAB=�̂DCFH_D�N?VDAi�NA?@K?=K>�ZF@H_<KF@g�ACD��DKD=?_�r=FKgD��B=I<_?[L�]CDACD=�B=�@BA�><HC�=DU<F=DID@A>�?=D�>XDHFVFDK�F@�KDA?F_:��s:S���B=�;C?>D�Y]B�ZR[�hDCFH_D>L�ACD�JB@A=?HAB=�>C?__�><XX_i�?�U<BAD�]FACF@�VFhD�ZS[�H?_D@K?=�K?i>�?VAD=�=DHDFhF@g�?�=DU<D>A�V=BI�ACD�p_FgFj_D�EgD@Hi:�YCD�U<BA?AFB@�>C?__�F@H_<KD�j<A�@BA�jD�_FIFADK�AB�ACD�VB__B]F@g�F@VB=I?AFB@k�NA?AD�HB@A=?HA�@<IjD=L�hDCFH_D�?h?F_?jF_FAi�?@K�KD_FhD=i�_D?KQAFIDL�̂DCFH_D��KD@AFVFH?AFB@�\<IjD=�Ẑ�\[L�KD?_D=�>ABHf�@<IjD=L�hDCFH_D�j?>D�jFK�X=FHDL�FADIFGDK�BXAFB@>L�?XX_FH?j_D�A? L�KD_FhD=i�HB>AL�ABA?_�X=FHDL�?@K�XBF@A�BV�HB@A?HA:��B=�hDCFH_D>�=DU<F=F@g�<XQVFAqIBKFVFH?AFB@>L�?__�?XX_FH?j_D�HB>A�I?i�jD�F@H_<KDK�F@�U<BA?AFB@�B=�?>�?�>DX?=?AD�U<BA?AFB@:�



� ��������������� �����������	
���

���������������������������� ������ ����� �����!��"#�$$�""%�&%'��$� ��' ����(�)���

�*+,-*./.01�234��567896:;�7<=>?8<@�AB>77�C6�8D6@?8E86D�<@�?B6�8AAF8@G�>G6@=;�HF:=B>A6�<:D6:3�567896:86A�AB>77�C6�I>D6�J8?B8@�KLM�D>;A�<E�:6=68H?�<E�HF:=B>A6�<:D6:AN�F@76AA�E>=?<:;�D67>;A�I>O6�?B8A�8IH<AA8C763�56>76:�AB>77�@<?8E;�?B6�<:D6:8@G�>G6@=;�<E�AF=B�D67>;A�>7<@G�J8?B�>�:698A6D�D67896:;�6A?8I>?6�E:<I�?B6�E>=?<:;�8II6D8>?67;�>E?6:�8?�C6=<I6A�O@<J@3�PE�?B6�I>@FE>=?F:6:�B>A�>�J6CA8?6�>9>87>C76�?<�=B6=O�<:D6:�A?>?FAN�?B8A�8@E<:I>?8<@�J877�C6�AB<J@�8@�AH>=6�H:<98D6D�<@�QEE6:�R6AH<@A6�S<:I3�23T��U77�D67896:86A�AB>77�C6�I>D6�V<@D>;�?B:<FGB�S:8D>;�E:<I�WXMM�U3V3�?<�LXMM�Y3V3�ZB6�[<@?:>=?<:�AB>77�C6�:6\F8:6D�?<�G896�?B6�FA8@G�>G6@=;�>�I8@8IFI�<E�L]̂B<F:�@<?8E8=>?8<@�H:8<:�?<�D67896:;�J8?B�?B6�>@?8=8H>?6D�?8I6�<E�D67896:;�>@D�@FIC6:�<E�F@8?A�?<�C6�D67896:6D3��23W��U77�96B8=76A�AB>77�C6�D67896:6D�J8?B�E<F:�_]̀�6@?:>@=6�?<<7A�>@D�>�EF77�?>@O_À�<E�EF67N�76AA�D67896:;�EF673��23a��ZB6�E<77<J8@G�D<=FI6@?A�AB>77�C6�H:<98D6D�FH<@�D67896:;�<E�?B6�96B8=76_ÀX��23a3K�V3b3Q3�_V>@FE>=?F:6:�b?>?6I6@?�<E�Q:8G8@̀�?B>?�8@=7FD6A�?B6�<D<I6?6:�A?>?6I6@?��23a3L�c>::>@?;�5<=FI6@?��23a32�V>@FE>=?F:6:A�F@>7?6:6D�8@9<8=6��23a3]�567>;6D�J>::>@?;�d�8@�A6:98=6�A?>:?�:6\F6A?�E<:I�_8E�:6\F6A?6D�C;�<:D6:8@G�6@?8?;̀��23a3e�f6967�K�P@AH6=?8<@�8E�>HH78=>C76N�=<IH76?6D�C6E<:6�D67896:;��23KM��S<:�YB>A6�Q@6�_K̀�?B6�[<@?:>=?<:�AB>77�H:<98D6�?B6�g78G8C76�UG6@=;�=<H86A�<E�?B6�I>@FE>=?F:6:hA�96B8=76�8D6@?8E8=>?8<@�@FIC6:A�_iPjk̀�?<�=<@E8:I�96B8=76A�B>96�C66@�<:D6:6D�F@76AA�8IH<AA8C76�DF6�?<�I>@FE>=?F:6�D67>;�J8?B8@�@8@6?;�_aM̀�=>76@D>:�D>;A�>E?6:�:6=68H?�<E�>�HF:=B>A6�<:D6:3�PE�lmnopqrstpmn�mo�rsnuosltuqvqwx�yz{�|}x~�px�nmt�qvlvp�v���pt�pn�t�px�tprvoqsrv�t�v���p�p��v���vnl��B>A�?B6�<H?8<@�?<�>J>:D�?<�?B6�A6=<@D�7<J6A?�C8DD6:�I66?8@G�AH6=8E8=>?8<@A3�ZB8A�AB>77�C6�=<@A8D6:6D�>�I>@D>?<:;�:6\F8:6I6@?�>@D�?B6�?8I6E:>I6�IFA?�C6�I6?�F@76AA�?B6:6�8A�>�I>@FE>=?F:6�D67>;3�S>87F:6�?<�H:<98D6�?B8A�D<=FI6@?�E<:�6>=B�96B8=76�<:D6:6D�I>;�C6�=>FA6�E<:�D6?6:I8@>?8<@�<E�D6E>F7?�<E�=<@?:>=?3��]���.,���,�	.�-�*./.01��]3K��ZB6�[<@?:>=?<:A�>:6�6@=<F:>G6D�?<�H:<98D6�>�EF77�78@6�<E�@6J�96B8=76A�_G>A<78@6N�B;C:8DN�EF77�676=?:8=̀�8@=7FD8@G�CF?�@<?�78I8?6D�?<�?B6�E<77<J8@G�=>?6G<:86AX�b6D>@AN�Z:F=OA�FH�?<�KaNeMM��icRN�i>@A�_=>:G<N�H>AA6@G6:N�?:>@A8?N�6?=3̀N�bH<:?��?878?;�i6B8=76A�_b�iÀN�>@D�[:<AA<96:A3�g78G8C76�UG6@=86A�?B:<FGB<F?�?B6�b?>?6�J877�B>96�9>:;8@G�96B8=76�@66DA3�[<@?:>=?<:A�>:6�?<�H:<98D6�>�EF77�78@6�<E�I>@FE>=?F:6D�@6J�96B8=76A�>@D�>77�AFCA6\F6@?�9>:8>@?A�<E�6>=B�96B8=76��8@=7FD8@G�CF?�@<?�C6�78I8?6D�?<X�I<D67A�>@D�I>@FE>=?F:6:�<H?8<@AN�?:8I�H>=O>G6N�6?=3�?<�I66?�6>=B�@66D�<E�>@�g78G8C76�UG6@=;3��]3L��UA�@6J�I<D67�;6>:�96B8=76A�C6=<I6�>9>87>C76N�96@D<:�AB>77�AFCI8?�H:8=8@G�>?�68?B6:�?B6�A>I6�:>?6�>A�?B6�H:698<FA�I<D67N�<:�AFCI8?�>�:6\F6A?�E<:�>@�8@=:6>A6�<:�D6=:6>A6�C>A6D�<@7;�<@�?B6�rsnuosltuqvqwx�pnlqvsxv�mq��vlqvsxv��5<=FI6@?>?8<@�IFA?�C6�AFCI8??6D�?<�?B6�Y:<=F:6I6@?�QEE8=6:�J8?B8@�2M�D>;A�<E�?B6�6EE6=?896�D>?6�<E�=B>@G63�j6J�I<D67�;6>:�96B8=76A�=>@@<?�C6�<EE6:6D�J8?B<F?�>HH:<9>7�E:<I�?B6�Y:<=F:6I6@?�QEE8=6:3��]32��ZB6�E<77<J8@G�EF67�?;H6A�>:6�>77<J>C76�F@D6:�?B8A�=<@?:>=?�>:6�?<�8@=7FD6�CF?�>:6�@<?�78I8?6D�?<<3��]323K�S76�8C76�SF67�i6B8=76A�_SSì�>7A<�=>776D�g?B>@<7�<:�gWe��]323L�586A67��



� ��������������� �����������	
���

���������������������������� ������ ����� �����!��"#�$$�""%�&%'��$� ��' ����(�)���

�*+,-*./.01�23434�56789:;<��23432�=8>?@<77<A�B6CD@69�567�E=B5FG�=B5�7H7C<>7�>D7C�I<�J3K3L3�8@�J3K3L3�6??@8M<A��2343N�OHI@:APK9<QC@:Q�R<S:Q9<7�EOKRF��2343T�U9DVP:;�OHI@:A�K9<QC@:Q�R<S:Q9<7�EUOKRF��2343W�K9<QC@:Q�R<S:Q9<7�EKRF�6978�Q699<A�X6CC<@H�K9<QC@:Q�R<S:Q9<7�EXKRF��2343Y�ZD<9�=<99�R<S:Q9<7�EZ=RF��232�R<S:Q9<�[?P\:C�]�L8A:\:Q6C:8;7��2323̂�_S<�K9:V:I9<�̀V<;QH�>6H�@<aD<7C�CS<�6b6@A<A�=8;C@6QC8@E7F�C8�D?P\:C]>8A:\H�6;H�M<S:Q9<�\8@�7?<Q:\:Q�8@V6;:c6C:8;69�;<<A73�Z8@�<d6>?9<e�CS<�Q6I�6;A�QS677:7�8\�f�C8;e�g�C8;e�6;A]8@�D?�C8�ĥeNii�5Rj�C@DQk7�>6H�@<aD:@<�6�7?<Q:69:c<A�I8AH�E:3<3G�AD>?�I8AHe�96;A7Q6?<�I8AHe�<CQ3F3�JCS<@�M<S:Q9<7�>6H�@<aD:@<�:;C<@:8@�6;A]8@�<dC<@:8@�>8A:\:Q6C:8;7�?<@�CS<�:;A:M:AD69�K9:V:I9<�V̀<;QH3��2323l�_S<�K9:V:I9<�̀V<;QH�b:99�7D??9H�699�D?P\:C]>8A:\:Q6C:8;�@<aD<7C7�C8�CS<�=8;C@6QC8@3�_S<�=8;C@6QC8@�7S699�:A<;C:\H�6;H�Q8;A:C:8;7�CS6C�6??9H�C8�CS<�D?P\:C]>8A:\:Q6C:8;�8;�6�aD8C6C:8;�C8�CS<�K9:V:I9<�̀V<;QH�\8@�@<M:<b�I<\8@<�6;H�b8@k�Q8>><;Q<73��23N�L:;:>D>�R<S:Q9<�m<aD:@<><;C7G�̀99�?@:Q<7�7S699�:;Q9DA<�CS<�\8998b:;V�<aD:?><;CG�� 23N3̂�̀99�7C6;A6@A�\6QC8@H�<aD:?><;C��23N3l�̀DC8>6C:Q�C@6;7>:77:8;�n>6d:>D>�C8b:;V]?6H986A�Q6?6Q:CH�7S699�I<�?@8M:A<A�D?8;�@<aD<7CF��23N34�X9D<C88CS�Q6?6I:9:C:<7��23N32�̀L]ZL�@6A:8��23N3N�=@D:7<�=8;C@89��23N3T�U8b<@�o88@�p8Qk7]U8b<@�j:;A8b7��23N3W�U8b<@�L:@@8@7�bS<;�6M6:96I9<��23N3Y�Z8D@�E2F�<;C@6;Q<�C8897�E:;�6;H�Q8>I:;6C:8;�6998b<Aq�k<H9<77�<;C@H�@<>8C<7e�:;C<V@6C<A�8@�7>6@C�k<H7e�7C6;A6@A�QDC�k<H7F�?<@�M<S:Q9<3��63�_H?<�8\�k<H7�C8�I<�?@8M:A<A�7S699�I<�:;A:Q6C<A�8;�aD8C<3��23N3h�̀:@�Q8;A:C:8;:;V��63�m<6@�6:@�Q8;A:C:8;:;V�8;�699�M<S:Q9<7e�bS<;�6M6:96I9<��23N3̂i�=98CS�7<6C7��23N3̂̂ �m<6@�M:<b�>:@@8@7�:;Q9DA:;V�8;�A@:M<@�6;A�?677<;V<@�A88@7��63��ZJm�_m[=rsG�m<6@�M:<b�>:@@8@7�8;�A@:M<@�\@8;C�6;A�?677<;V<@�\@8;C�A88@7e�96@V<7C�6M6:96I9<�b:CS8DC�D?V@6A:;V�M<S:Q9<�8?C:8;7�?6Qk6V<3��I3�X6Qk�D?�=6><@6�23N3̂l�s?6@<�C:@<��63��ZD99�7:c<�7C6;A6@A�7C<<9�bS<<9�b:CS�>6CQS:;V�J@:V:;69�KaD:?><;C�L6;D\6QCD@<@�7?6@<�C:@<�:A<;C:Q69�C8�7C6;A6@A�<aD:?><;C�b:CS�CS<�C@:>�9<M<9�8\�CS<�A<9:M<@<A�M<S:Q9<3��I3�t\�\D99�7?6@<�:7�;8C�6M6:96I9<�AD<�C8�7?6Q<�8@�>6;D\6QCD@<@�7C6;A6@A7e�6;�69C<@;6C:M<�7S699�I<�?@8M:A<A�6;A�;8C<A�8;�aD8C<�?@8M:A<A3��23N3̂4�Z988@�L6C7��



� ��������������� �����������	
���

���������������������������� ������ ����� �����!��"#�$$�""%�&%'��$� ��' �(��)�*���

�+,-.+/0/12� 34��546474�89::;�<3=�>?=>�@A>=399?B�@A�399�>?3=@AC�;:D>�DE?;?�=E?�F?E@G9?�G:<?>�D@=E�G3;H?=?B�89::;>4��I4�J@K?B�B;@F?;�89::;�<3=��L4M4NL�O;@P:A3�9?C39�=@A=?B�C93>>��L4M4NM�7@A@<Q<�:8�R�STU�GE3;C@AC�V:;=>�L4W�TH?G@8@G�X?YQ@;?<?A=>�8:;�Z;QG[>�\DE?A�3F3@93I9?]��L4W4N�OA=@̂>9@H�B@88?;?A=@39�8:;�=D:̂DE??9�B;@F?�H@G[QH�=;QG[>_�̀�=:A_�QH�=:�Na_Mbb�cde4��L4W4R�T[@B�H93=?�H3G[3C?�3AB�3A=@̂>9@H�B@88?;?A=@39�8:;�8:Q;̂DE??9�B;@F?�F?E@G9?>��L4W4f�J;:A=�=:D�E::[>��M�ghijklmjhkno�pqorhiostsusjsqo�v:A=;3G=:;�>E399�I?�;?>H:A>@I9?�8:;�H;:G?>>@AC�=E?�;?C@>=;3=@:A_�9@G?A>@AC_�=@=9?�3AB�H93=@AC�:8�399�A?D�F?E@G9?>�:;B?;?B�:A9w�@8�;?YQ?>=?B�Iw�=E?�69@C@I9?�OC?AGw4�W�xqrlkjyqijno�pqorhiostsusjsqo�ZE?�69@C@I9?�OC?AG@?>�D@99�H;:F@B?�8@A39�3GG?H=3AG?�3AB�3HH;:F39�:8�3Aw�?YQ@H<?A=�3AB�>?;F@G?>�B?9@F?;?B���



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$� ��,�-���

�./01.23245�67����	
��	�	�
���89:�;:<=�>?�@AB�<:CDE;@A;�F>A;<@F;�C9@EE�F>==:AF:�>A�;9:�:??:F;GH:�I@B�>?�@J@<I�@AI�C9@EE�F>A;GAD:�?><�@�K:<G>I�>?�;J:EH:�=>A;9C�LMNO�;9:<:@?;:<P�DAE:CC�;:<=GA@;:IP�F@AF:EE:I�><�:Q;:AI:I�@C�>;9:<JGC:�K<>HGI:I�9:<:GAR��S7����	
��	��T	��������UB�=D;D@E�J<G;;:A�F>A;<@F;�@=:AI=:A;P�@AB�<:CDE;@A;�F>A;<@F;�=@B�V:�:Q;:AI:I�?><�CDKKE:=:A;@E�K:<G>IC�>?�DK�;>�@�=@QG=D=�>?�?><;BW:GX9;�LYZO�=>A;9CR��[7����\�]����\��������89GC�F>A;<@F;�C9@EE�V:�?><�;9:�DC:�>?�@EE�̂;@;:�>?�_<G̀>A@�I:K@<;=:A;CP�@X:AFG:C�@AI�V>@<ICR�aA�@IIG;G>AP�:EGXGVE:�DAGH:<CG;G:CP�K>EG;GF@E�CDVIGHGCG>AC�@AI�A>AK<>?G;�:IDF@;G>A@E�><�KDVEGF�9:@E;9�GAC;G;D;G>AC�=@B�K@<;GFGK@;:�@;�;9:G<�IGCF<:;G>AR�aA�><I:<�;>�K@<;GFGK@;:�GA�@AB�<:CDE;@A;�F>A;<@F;P�@�DAGH:<CG;BP�K>EG;GF@E�CDVIGHGCG>A�><�A>AK<>?G;�:IDF@;G>A@E�><�KDVEGF�9:@E;9�GAC;G;D;G>A�=DC;�9@H:�:A;:<:I�GA;>�@�F>>K:<@;GH:�KD<F9@CGAX�@X<::=:A;�JG;9�;9:�̂;@;:�b<>FD<:=:A;�c??GF:�@C�<:dDG<:I�VB�_<G̀>A@�e:HGC:I�̂;@;D;:C�fYMWNghNR��i7����j�T��k��l�����	
��	��89GC�F>A;<@F;�C9@EE�V:�?><�;9:�C>E:�F>AH:AG:AF:�>?�;9:�m:K@<;=:A;R�89:�m:K@<;=:A;�<:C:<H:C�;9:�<GX9;�;>�>V;@GA�EGn:�X>>IC�><�C:<HGF:C�?<>=�@A>;9:<�C>D<F:�J9:A�A:F:CC@<BR�89:�c??Wo>A;<@F;�bD<F9@C:�_D;9><G̀@;G>A�@AI�CDVC:dD:A;�K<>FD<:=:A;�C9@EE�V:�F>ACGC;:A;�JG;9�;9:�_<G̀>A@�b<>FD<:=:A;�o>I:R��p7��
�
��\��
�������89:�m:K@<;=:A;�C9@EE�GCCD:�@�KD<F9@C:�><I:<�;>�;9:�o>A;<@F;><R�q@F9�KD<F9@C:�><I:<�=DC;�FG;:�;9:�F>A;<@F;�AD=V:<R�89GC�KD<F9@C:�><I:<�C9@EE�V:�;9:�>AEB�I>FD=:A;�<:dDG<:I�?><�;9:�m:K@<;=:A;�;>�><I:<�@AI�;9:�o>A;<@F;><�;>�I:EGH:<�;9:�=@;:<G@E�@AIr><�C:<HGF:R��_AB�@;;:=K;C�;>�<:K<:C:A;�@AB�=@;:<G@E�@AIr><�C:<HGF:�A>;�CK:FG?GF@EEB�@J@<I:I�@C�V:GAX�DAI:<�F>A;<@F;�GC�@�V<:@F9�>?�;9:�F>A;<@F;�@AI�@�HG>E@;G>A�>?�;9:�_<G̀>A@�b<>FD<:=:A;�o>I:R�_AB�CDF9�@F;G>A�GC�CDVs:F;�;>�;9:�E:X@E�@AI�F>A;<@F;D@E�<:=:IG:C�@H@GE@VE:�;>�;9:�̂;@;:�GAFEDCGH:�>?�VD;�A>;�EG=G;:I�;>�F>A;<@F;�F@AF:EE@;G>AP�CDCK:ACG>A�@AIr><�I:V@<=:A;�>?�;9:�o>A;<@F;><R��t7��u�����\�	�
����m:EGH:<B�C9@EE�V:�vRcRUR�m:C;GA@;G>A�;>�;9:�E>F@;G>A�I:CGXA@;:I�9:<:GAR�o>A;<@F;><�C9@EE�<:;@GA�;G;E:�@AI�F>A;<>E�>?�@EE�X>>IC�DA;GE�;9:B�@<:�I:EGH:<:IR�_EE�<GCn�>?�;<@ACK><;@;G>A�@AI�<:E@;:I�F9@<X:C�C9@EE�V:�;9:�<:CK>ACGVGEG;B�>?�;9:�o>A;<@F;><R�_EE�FE@G=C�?><�HGCGVE:�><�F>AF:@E:I�I@=@X:�C9@EE�V:�?GE:I�VB�;9:�o>A;<@F;><R�89:�m:K@<;=:A;�JGEE�A>;G?B�;9:�o>A;<@F;><�K<>=K;EB�>?�@AB�I@=@X:I�X>>IC�@AI�C9@EE�@CCGC;�;9:�o>A;<@F;><�GA�@<<@AXGAX�?><�GACK:F;G>AR��



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,��-�,���

�./01.23245�67����8�
9�:;<=>?@=�A>B@CD�DE;F<�G;>�C?@E�HCEB@IC�B<@IJKC�KCIBHC>L�@;D=�FB=EB<�?�DBM=L�NOPQ�RBIC�>?KBJD�;G�SE;C<BMT��U;>�=EC�AJ>A;DC�;G�=EBD�@;<=>?@=V�=EC�?KK>CDD�JDCK�G;>�R?AAB<W�=EC�>?KBJD�FB=EB<�SE;C<BM�FBII�XC�?D�G;II;FDY�� Z[JBARC<=�DC>HB@CD�DE;A\]̂_̀�aaab�c�aa<K�]HCV�SE;C<BMV�]d�ebPPf��̂CIBHC>L�@;D=D�G;>�C?@E�@;J<=L�;J=DBKC�;G�=EC�SE;C<BM�?>C?�DE?II�XC�B<KB@?=CK�;<�_GGC>�gCDA;<DC�G;>RT�ÈBD�FBII�XC�?<�?KKCK�@;D=�=;�=EC�@;<=>?@=�A>B@CT��ĈIBHC>BCD�DE?II�XC�@;RAIC=CK�h<�?@@;>K?<@C�FB=E�=EC�>C[JB>CRC<=D�;G�=EC�@;<=>?@=T��ĈIBHC>L�;G�=EC�A>;KJ@=�K;CD�<;=�@;<D=B=J=C�?@@CA=?<@CT��i7�������	������������	������Z?@E�B=CR�KCIBHC>CK�DE?II�XC�DJXjC@=�=;�?�@;RAIC=C�B<DAC@=B;<�XL�=EC�̂CA?>=RC<=�FB=EB<�kP�K?LD�?G=C>�KCIBHC>LT�h<DAC@=B;<�@>B=C>B?�DE?II�B<@IJKCV�XJ=�<;=�XC�IBRB=CK�=;V�@;<G;>RB=L�=;�=EC�DAC@BGB@?=B;<DV�F;>lR?<DEBAV�[J?IB=L�?<K�R?=C>B?IDT��hG�=EC�KCIBHC>CK�A>;KJ@=�BD�<;=�?@@CA=CK�?<K�>C=J><CK�G;>�@;>>C@=BHC�?@=B;<V�?<�?KKB=B;<?I�GBG=CC<�NkbQ�@?IC<K?>�K?LD�DE?II�XC�?II;FCK�G;>�B<DAC@=B;<�;G�=EC�@;>>C@=CK�;>�>CAI?@CRC<=�A>;KJ@=T��̀EC�:;<=>?@=;>�DE?II�XC�>CDA;<DBXIC�G;>�=EC�=>?<DA;>=�;G�=EC�R?=C>B?I�=;�?<K�G>;R�=EC�̂CA?>=RC<=�G;>�=EC�@;>>C@=B;<�;G�B=CRD�;>�F;>lR?<DEBA�<;=�B<�@;RAIB?<@C�FB=E�=EC�DAC@BGB@?=B;<DT��S>;KJ@=�>C=J><CK�G;>�@;>>C@=BHC�?@=B;<�R?L�KCI?L�A?LRC<=T�h<H;B@CD�FBII�XC�A>;@CDDCK�G;>�A?LRC<=�;<IL�?G=C>�=EC�A>;KJ@=�BD�?@@CA=CKT��m7���8�����n�o4p���9���	��:;<=>?@=;>�DE?II�DJXRB=�?II�XBIIB<W�<;=B@CD�;>�B<H;B@CD�=;�=EC�ZIBWBXIC�]WC<@L�;>�:;q_A�rJLC>�?=�=EC�?KK>CDD�h<KB@?=CK�;<�=EC�?AAIB@?XIC�_>KC>�K;@JRC<=T���cCA?>?=C�B<H;B@CD�?>C�>C[JB>CK�G;>�C?@E�DEBARC<=�;G�A>;KJ@=�;>�KCIBHC>L�;G�DC>HB@C�?<K�DE?II�B<@IJKC�?=�?�RB<BRJRY�� s�tuvwxyzu{y�|}~wy�}{����wzC�?<K�]KK>CDD�s��C<K;>��?RCV�gCRB=�=;�]KK>CDD�?<K�:;<=?@=�h<G;>R?=B;<�s��:;<=>?@=��JRXC>�s�SJ>@E?DC�_>KC>��JRXC>�s�h<H;B@C��JRXC>�?<K�̂?=C�s� ?̂=C�=EC�B=CRD�FC>C�DEBAACK�=;�=EC�̂CA?>=RC<=�s�]AAIB@?XIC�A?LRC<=�=C>RD�s�:;<=>?@=��B<C�h=CR��JRXC>�s��B<C�h=CR�̂CD@>BA=B;<�;>�h=CR�;>�cC>HB@C�s��J?<=B=L�SJ>@E?DCK�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,��-�.���

�/012/34356�7�89:;�<=;>�?:9=�@A�B;CDEF;�7�GF9H;�I;F�?:9=�C:J�K@=CL�I;F�?:9=�7�MC=CL@N�@F�O=P;F�Q9DH@E:=�R9A�CIIL9HCSL;T�7�U;=�?:9=�GF9H;�C:J�K@=CL�I;F�?:9=�R9A�CIIL9HCSL;T�7�VIIL9HCSL;�=CW;D�RCD�C�D;ICFC=;�9:X@9H;�L9:;�9=;>T�7�VIIL9HCSL;�YP9II9:NZ[F;9NP=�MPCFN;D�;=H\�RCD�C�D;ICFC=;�9:X@9H;�L9:;�9=;>T�BC=;F9CLD�@:L]\�7�K@=CL�<:X@9H;�V>@E:=�QE;��<:X@9H;D�:@=�D;:=�=@�=P;�IF@I;F�CJJF;DD̂�@F�:@=�H@:=C9:9:N�=P;�:;H;DDCF]�C:J�F;_E9F;J�9:A@F>C=9@:�>C]�J;LC]�IC]>;:=\�V�M@:=FCH=@F�̀P@D;�IC]>;:=D�CF;�J;LC];J�JE;�=@�9>IF@I;F�9:X@9H9:N�DPCLL�>Ca;�:@�HLC9>�CNC9:D=�=P;�Q;ICF=>;:=�@F�=P;�Y=C=;�A@F�LC=;�@F�A9:C:H;�HPCFN;D\��KP;�Q;ICF=>;:=�̀9LL�>Ca;�;X;F]�;AA@F=�=@�IF@H;DD�IC]>;:=�A@F�=P;�IEFHPCD;�@A�IF@JEH=�̀9=P9:�=P9F=]�RbcT�HCL;:JCF�JC]D�CA=;F�=P;�Q;ICF=>;:=�PCD�H@:JEH=;J�=P;�:;H;DDCF]�F;X9;̀D̂�9:DI;H=9@:D�C:J�CHH;I=C:H;�CD�J;DHF9S;J�P;F;9:\���KP;�J;ICF=>;:=�CHH;I=C:H;�JC=;�̀9LL�S;�=P;�XCL9J�JC=;�A@F�D=CF=9:N�=P;�=P9F=]�RbcT�HCL;:JCF�JC]�IC]>;:=�I;F9@J\��GC]>;:=�JE;�JC=;D̂�9:HLEJ9:N�J9DH@E:=�I;F9@JD̂�̀9LL�S;�H@>IE=;J�AF@>�=P;�JC=;�@A�CHH;I=C:H;�@F�JC=;�@A�deffgdh�ijkeidg�lmnidngkgf�io�pqhgfr�he�hng�sqhg�hng�tguqfhvgjhwo�mqffqjh�io�vqipgsx��yz{���	���	��|��}���KP;�Q;ICF=>;:=�C:=9H9IC=;D�H@:D9J;FCSL;�EDCN;�E:J;F�=P9D�H@:=FCH=\�KP;�Q;ICF=>;:=�F;D;FX;D�=P;�F9NP=�=@�9:HF;CD;�@F�J;HF;CD;�CH=ECL�_EC:=9=9;D�@FJ;F;J�CD�H9FHE>D=C:H;D�>C]�F;_E9F;\�U@�NECFC:=;;D�CF;�>CJ;�H@:H;F:9:N�CH=ECL�IEFHPCD;D�E:J;F�=P9D�H@:=FCH=\��yy{��
����}�~�GPCD;�~�C:J���IF9H9:N�A@F�X;P9HL;D�DPCLL�S;�C�>9:9>E>�G;FH;:=CN;�@AA�BY�Ĝ�L;DD�=ng�vqj��qdh�fgfwo�F;SC=;D�C:J�C:]�CJJ9=9@:CL�J9DH@E:=D�CXC9LCSL;�A@F�=PC=�>@J;LZI@̀;F�=FC9:�H@>S9:C=9@:\���C\��ejhfqdhef�onqpp�ufekisg�q�deu��e��vqj��qdh�fgfwo�ijkeidg�he�hng�efsgfij��q�gjd��EI@:�F;_E;D=\��ng�vqj��qdh�fgfwo�ijkeidg�onqpp��g��jqphgfgs�he�ijdp�sg�efi�ijqp�ufidij���fev�=P;�>C:EACH=EF;F\��S\��KFC:DI@F=C=9@:�H@D=D�=@�=FC:DA;F�C�X;P9HL;�AF@>�C:@=P;F�J;CL;F�A@F�C�GPCD;���@F�IEFHPCD;�AF@>�D=@Ha�>C]�S;�CJJ;J�=@�=P;�H@D=�@A�=P;�X;P9HL;\�KP;��ED=9A9HC=9@:�A@F�=P9D�H@D=�9D�C=�=P;�J9DHF;=9@:�@A�=P;��L9N9SL;�VN;:H]\��H\��V:]�F;A;F;:H;�=@�GPCD;�~�IF9H9:N�DPCLL�S;�9:�F;A;F;:H;�=@�X;P9HL;D�@FJ;F;J�IF9@F�=@�=P;�ACH=@F]�HE=�@AA�JC=;\��J\���j��fg�gfgjdg�he��nqog���ufidij��onqpp��g�ij�fg�gfgjdg�he�kgnidpgo�u�fdnqogs��fev�ohed��ef��ej�hng�peh�x��;\��GPCD;���IF9H9:N�DPCLL�F;H;9X;�=P;�DC>;�H@D=�H@:D9J;FC=9@:D�CD�GPCD;�~�IF9H9:N̂�CLL�J9DH@E:=D�C:J�F;SC=;D�DP@ELJ�S;�ICDD;J�@:=@�=P;��L9N9SL;�VN;:H]\�A\��VLL�X;P9HL;D�CF;�=@�S;�S9LL;J�C=�IF9H;D�9:�;AA;H=�C=�=P;�=9>;�@A�@FJ;F̂�:@=�=P;�JC=;�@A�DP9I>;:=\��



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�����,�-���

�./01.23245�67�89:;:<6�=>9�?@A:;B@C�CADBB�:<;BEF@�DBB�F:C;>E<GC�D<F�F@FE;G:><CH�B@CC�I@F@9DB�D<F�JGDG@�GDK@C7�89:;:<6�CADBB�L@�=:9M�=>9�B:=@�>=�;><G9D;G�E<B@CC�DM@<F@F�LN�ODN�>=�;><G9D;G�;AD<6@�>9F@97����P�QRSTUVQTRUWX�YZXT�[U\Q\S]̂�X_̀ àbcd�efddfghi�hjfhk�lmd�hjc�hcdn�ml�hjc�Qmghdfohk�hjc�̀dboci�fgp�F:C;>E<GC�C@G�>EG�:<�GA@�89:;:<6�q>;EM@<GCH�:<;BEF:<6�D<N�CELC@rE@<G�D69@@F�DM@<FM@<G�G>�:G�sGA@�tQmghdfoh�[dbobguvwk�ebaa�xc�cy_fa�hm�md�xchhcd�hjfg�hjc�amecih�̀dboci�fgp�afducih�pbiom_ghik�xmhj�C@zD9DG@BN�D<F�:<�;>ML:<DG:><H�DG�OA:;A�{><G9D;G>9�C@BBC�@rE:?DB@<G�:G@MC�>=�@rE:zM@<G�D<F�MDG@9:DBC7��� P7|�}ADG�z9:;@~zBEC~pbiom_gh�cy_b�facgoc��tQmghdfohmdWi�Ycih�[dbobguvw�bi�bghcgpcp�hm�xc�bddcìcohb�c�>=�OA@GA@9�>9�<>G�GA>C@�>GA@9�CDB@C�AD?@�Cz@;:DB�zE9;ADC@�G@9MCH�;><F:G:><CH�9@LDG@C�>9�DBB>OD<;@C7��P���\l�QmghdfohmdWi��@CG�89:;:<6�=>9�@rE:?DB@<G�:G@MC�>=�@rE:zM@<G�D<F�MDG@9:DBC�:C�L@GG@9�GAD<�GA@�Qmghdfoh�[dbobguk�hjcg�Qmghdfohmd�fudcci�hm�fp�_ih�hjc�Qmghdfoh�[dbobgu�hm�nfhoj�hjc�QmghdfohmdWi��@CG�89:;:<6�=>9�DBB�CDB@C�9@BDG@F�G>�GA@�{><G9D;G>9�MDF@�D=G@9�GA@�FDG@�OA@<�hjc�QmghdfohmdWi��@CG�89:;:<6�ODC�=:9CG�L@GG@9�GAD<�GA@�{><G9D;G�89:;:<67��P7���I>9�;BD9:=:;DG:><�>=�:<G@<GH�GADG�FDG@�:C�:<G@<F@F�G>�L@�GA@�FDG@�OA@<�GA@�F:==@9@<;@�=:9CG�>;;E99@FH�OA:;A�M:6AG�AD?@�L@@<�L@=>9@�GA@�F:==@9@<;@�ODC�=:9CG�:F@<G:=:@F7��=�:G�ODC�L@=>9@H�GA@<�JEzzB:@9�D69@@C�G>�;AD96@�DG�B@CC�GAD<�GA@�{><G9D;G�89:;:<6�E<G:B�GA@�@KG@<F@F�F:==@9@<;@�GADG�em_ap�jf�c�xccg�dcfab�cp��b�c�k�bl�hjc�QmghdfohmdWi�Ycih�[dbobgu�jfp�xccg�f̀ àbcp�ejcg�bh�ijm_ap�AD?@�L@@<��ADC�L@@<�C@GGB@F7�����8��{���~���~��{��J�����89:;:<6�:C�DBB~:<;BEC:?@H�:<;BEF:<6�D<N�D<;:BBD9N�=@@C�D<F�;>CGC�9@rE:9@F�G>�foomǹ abij�hjc�Xom̀c�ml��md��fgp�faa�fìcohi�ml�QmghdfohmdWi�mllcd�fi�fooc̀hcp�x��Xhfhc���chfbai�ml�icd�boc�gmh�c�̀abobha��ihfhcp�bg�hjc�Xom̀c�ml��md��md�bg�QmghdfohmdWi�Rl=@9H�LEG�<@;@CCD9:BN�D�zD9G�>=H�D9@�F@@M@F�G>�L@�E<F@9CG>>F�LN�{><G9D;G>9�D<F�:<;BEF@F�A@9@:<7��BB�DFM:<:CG9DG:?@H�9@z>9G:<6H�>9�>GA@9�9@rE:9@M@<GCH�DBB�>?@9A@DF�;>CGC�D<F�z9>=:G�D<F�D<N�>GA@9�;>CGC�G>OD9F�GA@�D;;>MzB:CAM@<G�>=�GA@�9@rE:9@M@<GC�:<�GA@�{><G9D;G�D9@�:<;BEF@F�:<�GA@�z9:;:<6�z9>?:F@F7�����������������q�J{���}�8��{������<��B:6:LB@��6@<;N�MDN�C@@��G>�>LGD:<�DFF:G:><DB�?>BEM@�F:C;>E<G�z9:;:<6�=>9�BD96@�>9F@9C�z9>?:F@F�{><G9D;G>9�:C�O:BB:<6�G>�>==@9�DFF:G:><DB�F:C;>E<GC�=>9�BD96@�?>BEM@�>9F@9C7��>�DM@<FM@<G�G>�GA:C�{><G9D;G�:C�<@;@CCD9N�=>9�{><G9D;G>9�G>�>==@9�F:C;>E<G�z9:;:<6�G>�D<��B:6:LB@��6@<;N�=>9�BD96@�?>BEM@�zE9;ADC@C7�������z9:;@�9@FE;G:><�DF�ECGM@<G�MDN�L@�>==@9@F�DG�D<N�G:M@�FE9:<6�GA@�G@9M�>=�D�;><G9D;G�D<F�CADBB�L@;>M@�@==@;G:?@�Ez><�<>G:;@�GA9>E6A�D�O9:GG@<�;><G9D;G�DM@<FM@<G7��������
�������
�������}A@�q@zD9GM@<G�O:BB�9@?:@O� 1¡¡¢�£/0132452£�9@rE@CGC�=>9�z9:;@�:<;9@DC@C�=>9�D<N�;><G9D;G�OA:;A�O:BB�>9�ADC�L@@<�:<�@==@;G�=>9�GO@B?@�s|P��M><GAC7�}A@�9@rE@CG�CADBB�L@�CELM:GG@F�<>�B@CC�GAD<�¤¥�FDNC�z9:>9�G>�GA@�;><G9D;G�9@<@ODB�FDG@7�}A@�{><G9D;G>9�CADBB�z9>?:F@�=EBBN�F>;EM@<G@F�:<=>9MDG:><�OA:;A�CEzz>9GC�GA@�z9:;@�:<;9@DC@�9@rE@CG7�IEBBN�F>;EM@<G@F�M@D<C�GADG�GA@�9@rE@CG�CADBB�z9@C@<G�F@GD:B@F�:<=>9MDG:><�D<F�;DB;EBDG:><C�GADG�MD�@�:G�;B@D9�A>O�GA@�;BD:M@F�:<;9@DC@�ADC�D<�:MzD;G�><�GA@�;><G9D;G�E<:G�z9:;@C7��BB�DCCEMzG:><C�9@6D9F:<6�;>CG�=D;G>9C�GADG�AD?@�D<�:MzD;G�><�GA@�9@rE@CG@F�:<;9@DC@�CADBB�DBC>�L@�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�����,�-���

�./01.23245�6789:7;�<=8>?<@<8=�9>=�ABC?<@<8=D�EF8�:8GB8C?8=�H:<68�<>6:89C8�IBC?�J8�J9C8=�BHK>�9�6KC?�<>6:89C8�?F9?�L9C�6789:7;�B>H:8=<6?9J78�9?�?F8�?<I8�K@�?F8�K@@8:�9>=�69>�J8�CFKL>�?K�=<:86?7;�9@@86?�?F8�H:<68�K@�?F8�<?8I�6K>68:>8=D�M>;�H:<68�<>6:89C8�9=ABC?I8>?�:8GB8C?�H:<K:�?K�?F8�?<I8�K@�6K>?:96?�8N?8>C<K>�L<77�J8�9�@96?K:�<>�?F8�8N?8>C<K>�:8O<8L�H:K68CCD�EF8�P8H9:?I8>?�L<77�=8?8:I<>8�LF8?F8:�?F8�:8GB8C?8=�H:<68�<>6:89C8�K:�9>�97?8:>9?8�KH?<K>Q�<C�<>�?F8�J8C?�<>?8:8C?�K@�?F8�R?9?8D�M77�H:<6<>S�CFKB7=�:8@786?�?F8�I<><IBI�H8:68>?9S8�K@�TRUVD��WXY���Z�	[��	���
���\?8IC�CBHH7<8=�B>=8:�?F<C�6K>?:96?�CF977�6KIH7;�L<?F�977�6B::8>?�9HH7<69J78�C9@8?;�C?9>=9:=C�9>=�:8SB79?<K>C�<>67B=<>S�?F8�]66BH9?<K>97�R9@8?;�9>=�̂897?F�R?9>=9:=C�K@�?F8�R?9?8�K@�M:<_K>9�\>=BC?:<97�K̀II<CC<K>Q�?F8�a9?<K>97�b786?:<6�̀K=8�9>=�?F8�a9?<K>97�c<:8�V:K?86?<K>�MCCK6<9?<K>�R?9>=9:=CD��WdY�e�

��	[��EF8�̀K>?:96?K:�L9::9>?Cf��gD�EF9?�977�C8:O<68C�H8:@K:I8=�F8:8B>=8:�CF977�6K>@K:I�?K�?F8�:8GB<:8I8>?C�K@�?F<C�6K>?:96?�9>=�CF977�J8�H8:@K:I8=�J;�GB97<@<8=�H8:CK>>87�<>�966K:=9>68�L<?F�?F8�F<SF8C?�H:K@8CC<K>97�C?9>=9:=CD��h��M?�9�I<><IBI�977�8GB<HI8>?�CBHH7<8=�B>=8:�?F8C8�CH86<@<69?<K>C�CF977�J8�@B77;�L9::9>?8=�J;�?F8�O8F<678�I9>B@96?B:8:�9S9<>C?�I86F9><697�9>=�8786?:<697�=8@86?C�@K:�9�I<><IBI�H8:<K=�K@�?F<:?;iC<N�jklm�IK>?FC�@:KI�?F8�=9?8�O8F<678�<C�H7968=�<>�C8:O<68D�k��EF<C�L9::9>?;�CF977�6KO8:�CB6F�<?8IC�9C�96?B97�:8H9<:�79JK:Q�H9:?CQ�9>=�CF<HH<>S�6F9:S8C�?K�9>=�@:KI�?F8�>89:8C?�C8:O<68�@96<7<?;�K:�K?F8:�=8C<S>9?8=�:8H9<:�=8HK?D��n�M>;�=8@86?C�K@�=8C<S>Q�LK:oI9>CF<H�K:�I9?8:<97Q�CF977�J8�@B77;�6K::86?8=�J;�?F8�O8>=K:�L<?FKB?�6KC?�?K�?F8�C?9?8�9S8>6;�K:�HK7<?<697�CBJ=<O<C<K>D��p��EF8�L:<??8>�L9::9>?;�CF977�J8�<>67B=8=�L<?F�?F8�=87<O8:8=�O8F<678C�?K�?F8�b7<S<J78�MS8>6;D�EF8�L9::9>?;�?8:IC�CF977�J8�C?9?8=�K>�M??96FI8>?�kiMQ�LF8:8�<>=<69?8=D�c9<7B:8�?K�H:KO<=8�?F<C�S8>8:97�<>@K:I9?<K>�I9;�:8CB7?�<>�?F8�K@@8:�J8<>S�:8A86?8=D��l� ;̂J:<=�q�b786?:<6�r8F<678�s9::9>?;f�̂;J:<=i:879?8=�6KIHK>8>?C�<>67B=<>S�69?97;?<6�6K>O8:?K:Q�8786?:K><6�6K>?:K7�B><?Q�K>JK9:=�8I<CC<K>C�=<9S>KC?<6�=8O<68Q�F<SF�OK7?9S8�J9??8:;Q�?:9>CI<CC<K>Q�P̀qP̀�6K>O8:?K:�@K:�F;J:<=�O8F<678C�CF977�J8�6KO8:8=�@K:�t�;89:CqguuQuuu�I<78CQ�J9??8:;�@K:�8786?:<6�O8F<678C�CF977�J8�tq;89:CqguuQuuu�I<78C�9>=�J<==8:�CF977�<>=<69?8�7<I<?9?<K>�K@�L9::9>?;�=B8�?K�OK7?9S8�9>=�9IHCD�EF8�L9::9>?;�?8:IC�CF977�J8�C?9?8=�LF8:8�<>=<69?8=�K>�M??96FI8>?�kiMD�c9<7B:8�?K�H:KO<=8�?F<C�S8>8:97�<>@K:I9?<K>�I9;�:8CB7?�<>�?F8�J<=�J8<>S�:8A86?8=D��WvY��w

��	��
�w�	���M77�H:K=B6?C�CBHH7<8=�B>=8:�?F<C�6K>?:96?�CF977�J8�<>�6B::8>?�9>=�K>SK<>S�H:K=B6?<K>x�CF977�F9O8�J88>�@K:I977;�9>>KB>68=�@K:�S8>8:97�I9:o8?<>S�HB:HKC8Cx�CF977�J8�9�IK=87�K:�?;H8�6B::8>?7;�@B>6?<K><>S�<>�9�BC8:�jH9;<>S�6BC?KI8:m�8>O<:K>I8>?�9>=�69H9J78�K@�I88?<>S�K:�8N688=<>S�977�CH86<@<69?<K>C�9>=�:8GB<:8I8>?C�C8?�@K:?F�<>�?F8�6K>?:96?D��WyY��
�w�	������	��w�����



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$��,��-�.���

�/012/34356��78�9:;�;<;89�9:=9�=�>?@ABC9�@?�D@A;E�FG�AFGC@89F8B;A�HI�9:;�D=8BJ=C9B?;?K�9:;�L;>=?9D;89�=9�F9G�G@E;�AFGC?;9F@8�D=I�=EE@M�9:;�N@89?=C9@?�9@�>?@<FA;�=�GBHG9F9B9;�J@?�9:;�AFGC@89F8B;A�F9;DO�P:;�N@89?=C9@?�G:=EE�?;QB;G9�=B9:@?FR=9F@8�9@�GBHG9F9B9;�=�8;M�>?@ABC9�@?�D@A;E�=8A�>?@<FA;�9:;�J@EE@MF8ST��UO� V�J@?D=E�=88@B8C;D;89�J?@D�9:;�D=8BJ=C9B?;?�9:=9�9:;�>?@ABC9�@?�D@A;E�:=G�H;;8�AFGC@89F8B;AO��WO� L@CBD;89=9F@8�J?@D�9:;�D=8BJ=C9B?;?�9:=9�8=D;G�9:;�?;>E=C;D;89�>?@ABC9�@?�D@A;EO��XO� L@CBD;89=9F@8�9:=9�>?@<FA;G�CE;=?�=8A�C@8<F8CF8S�;<FA;8C;�9:=9�9:;�?;>E=C;D;89�D;;9G�@?�;YC;;AG�=EE�G>;CFJFC=9F@8G�?;QBF?;A�HI�9:;�@?FSF8=E�G@EFCF9=9F@8O��ZO� L@CBD;89=9F@8�9:=9�>?@<FA;G�CE;=?�=8A�C@8<F8CF8S�;<FA;8C;�9:=9�9:;�?;>E=C;D;89�MFEE�H;�C@D>=9FHE;�MF9:�=EE�9:;�JB8C9F@8G�@?�BG;G�@J�9:;�AFGC@89F8B;A�>?@ABC9�@?�D@A;EO��[O� L@CBD;89=9F@8�C@8JF?DF8S�9:=9�9:;�>?FC;�J@?�9:;�?;>E=C;D;89�FG�9:;�G=D;�=G�@?�E;GG�9:=8�9:;�AFGC@89F8B;A�>?@ABC9�@?�D@A;EO��\]̂����	
��	�������	
�	�����P:;�N@89?=C9@?�G:=EE�C@89=C9�9:;�=GGFS8;A�_?@CB?;D;89�̀JJFC;?�J@?�SBFA=8C;�@?�AF?;C9F@8�F8�D=99;?G�@J�C@89?=C9�F89;?>?;9=9F@8�@?�QB;G9F@8G�?;S=?AF8S�9:;�9;?DGK�C@8AF9F@8G�@?�GC@>;�@J�9:;�C@89?=C9O���\â���	������VEE�8@9FC;GK�?;QB;G9GK�A;D=8AGK�C@8G;89GK�=>>?@<=EGK�=8A�@9:;?�C@DDB8FC=9F@8G�M:FC:�D=I�@?�=?;�?;QBF?;A�9@�H;�G;?<;A�@?�SF<;8�:;?;B8A;?�bJ@?�9:;�>B?>@G;G�@J�9:FG�>?@<FGF@8G�C@EE;C9F<;EI�C=EE;A�cdefghijklm�jnopp�qi�gr�stgfgru�orv�jnopp�qi�jirf�qw�hitfgxgiv�yrgfiv�zfofij�{ogpm�tif|tr�tihig}f�ti~|ijfivm�@?�HI�=8I�@9:;?�D;9:@A�9:=9�>?@<FA;G�;<FA;8C;�@J�?;C;F>9K�=AA?;GG;A�9@�9:;�>=?9I�@?�>=?9F;G�9@�?;C;F<;�GBC:�8@9FC;�=G�J@EE@MGT��VO�7J�F89;8A;A�J@?�9:;��9=9;K�9@T�� V?FR@8=�L;>=?9D;89�@J�P?=8G>@?9=9F@8K�_?@CB?;D;89��?@B>�U�X���O��=C�G@8��9?;;9K��L�U��_�_:@;8FYK�V?FR@8=��[����XW�����O��x�grfirviv�xet�fni��erftohfetm�fe�fni�ovvtijj�oj�gvirfgxgiv�gr�fni��erftohfet�j�ipihftergh��irvet�>?@JFE;O�̀?�9@�GBC:�@9:;?�=AA?;GG�=G�;F9:;?�>=?9I�D=I�J?@D�9FD;�9@�9FD;�JB?8FG:�F8�M?F9F8S�9@�9:;�@9:;?�HI�8@9FC;�:;?;B8A;?O�V8I�8@9FC;�G@�D=FE;A�G:=EE�H;�A;;D;A�9@�:=<;�H;;8�SF<;8�=G�@J�9:;�A=9;�GBC:�8@9FC;�FG�?;C;F<;A�=G�G:@M8�@8�9:;�?;9B?8�?;C;F>9O��B?9:;?D@?;K�GBC:�8@9FC;�D=I�H;�SF<;8�HI�A;EF<;?F8S�>;?G@8=EEI�GBC:�8@9FC;K�FJ�F89;8A;A�J@?�9:;��9=9;K�9@�9:;�V?FR@8=�L;>=?9D;89�@J�P?=8G>@?9=9F@8K�_?@CB?;D;89�̀JJFC;?�=8AK�FJ�F89;8A;A�J@?�9:;�N@89?=C9@?K�9@�9:;�>;?G@8�8=D;A�@8�9:;�J̀J;?���N@89?=C9�VM=?A�@J�9:FG�C@89?=C9K�@?�9@�GBC:�@9:;?�>;?G@8�=G�;F9:;?�>=?9I�D=I�J?@D�9FD;�9@�9FD;�JB?8FG:�F8�M?F9F8S�9@�9:;�@9:;?�HI�8@9FC;�:;?;B8A;?O�V8I�8@9FC;�G@�A;EF<;?;A�G:=EE�H;�A;;D;A�9@�:=<;�H;;8�SF<;8�=G�@J�9:;�A=9;�GBC:�8@9FC;�FG�>;?G@8=EEI�A;EF<;?;A�9@�9:;�@9:;?�>=?9IO�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$��,��-�.���

�/012/34356��789���������	����:�
�������������:�;������������	��
���
	<��=>?@�ABCDEFAD�GFH�IJ�AFCAJKKJL�?M�NBCDEFADBE�BE�FCH�@OIABCDEFADBE@�BE�BD>JE@�?C�D>J�JGPKBH�BE�OCLJE�D>J�@OPJEQ?@?BC�BM�D>J�NBCDEFADBE�BE�@OIABCDEFADBE@�?@�MBOCL�DB�IJ�?C�PB@@J@@?BC�BM�RJFPBC@S��TB@@J@@?BC�BM�RJFPBC@�UM?EJFEG@V�JWPKB@?QJ�LJQ?AJV�XC?MJ�BE�IKFLJ�BM�GBEJ�D>FC�D>EJJ�?CA>J@V�BE�FCH�BD>JE�?C@DEOGJCD�LJ@?YCJL�MBE�KJD>FK�BE�L?@FIK?CY�O@JZ�?@�PEB>?I?DJL�BC�[\]=�PEBPJEDHS��̂OED>JEV�?M�D>J�NBCDEFADBE�BE�FCH�@OIABCDEFADBE@�BE�BD>JE@�?C�D>J�JGPKBH�BE�OCLJE�D>J�@OPJEQ?@?BC�BM�D>J�NBCDEFADBE@�BE�@OIABCDEFADBE@�FEJ�F@XJL�IH�FC�[\]=�BMM?A?FK�DB�KJFQJ�D>J�[\]=�PEBPJEDHV�D>JH�FEJ�FLQ?@JL�D>FD�MF?KOEJ�DB�ABGPKH�R?D>�@OA>�F�EJ_OJ@D�@>FKK�EJ@OKD�?C�AFCAJKKFD?BC�BM�D>J�ABCDEFAD�FCL�FCHBCJ�R>B�EJMO@J@V�R>JD>JE�FEGJL�BE�CBDV�?@�@OÌJAD�DB�PEB@JAOD?BC�OCLJE�[SaSbS�c�defdghiV�jNE?G?CFK�DEJ@PF@@�?C�D>J�D>?EL�LJYEJJk�AKF@@?M?AFD?BCSj���lm9�������:���	�������n���� �� =B�D>J�MOKKJ@D�JWDJCD�PJEG?DDJL�IH�KFRV�NBCDEFADBE�@>FKK�LJMJCLV�?CLJGC?MHV�FCL�>BKL�>FEGKJ@@�D>J�bDFDJ�BM�[E?oBCFV�FCL�?D@�LJPFEDGJCD@V�FYJCA?J@V�IBFEL@V�ABGG?@@?BC@V�OC?QJE@?D?J@V�BMM?AJE@V�BMM?A?FK@V�FYJCD@V�pqr�stuvwxssy�z{s|s}qp~�s|�|s~s||sr��w�py���qrstq}�ss���~|wt�pqr�p�p}qy��pqx�pqr�pvv��vp}ty��p��}wqy��K?FI?K?D?J@V�LFGFYJ@V�KB@@J@V�BE�JWPJC@J@�U?CAKOL?CY�Aw�|���wy�y��p��w|qsxy��~ssy��pqr��wy�y�w~��vp}t�u|w�syy}q���}q�sy�}�p�}wq�pqr�v}�}�p�}wq��z{s|s}qp~�s|�|s~s||sr��w�py���vp}ty���~w|��wr}vx�}q��|x�w|�us|ywqpv�?C̀OEH�U?CAKOL?CY�LJFD>ZV�BE�KB@@�BE�LFGFYJ�DB�DFCY?IKJ�BE�?CDFCY?IKJ�PEBPJEDH�AFO@JLV�BE�FKKJYJL�DB�IJ�AFO@JLV�?C�R>BKJ�BE�?C�PFEDV�IH�D>J�CJYK?YJCD�BE�R?KKMOK�FAD@�BE�BG?@@?BC@�BM�NBCDEFADBE�BE�FCH�BM�?D@�BRCJE@V�BMM?AJE@V�L?EJADBE@V�FYJCD@V�JGPKBHJJ@�BE�@OIABCDEFADBE@S�=>?@�?CLJGC?DH�?CAKOLJ@�FCH�AKF?G�BE�FGBOCD�FE?@?CY�BOD�BMV�BE�EJABQJEJL�OCLJEV�D{s��w|�s|y���wtusqyp�}wq��p��w|�p|}y}q��w���w~��{s�~p}v�|s�BM�@OA>�NBCDEFADBE�DB�ABCMBEG�DB�FCH�MJLJEFKV�@DFDJV�BE�KBAFK�KFRV�@DFDODJV�BEL?CFCAJV�EOKJV�EJYOKFD?BCV�BE�ABOED�LJAEJJS��D�?@�D>J�@PJA?M?A�?CDJCD?BC�BM�D>J�PFED?J@�D>FD�D>J��CLJGC?DJJ�@>FKKV�?C�FKK�?C@DFCAJ@V�JWAJPD�MBE�NKF?G@�FE?@?CY�@BKJKH�MEBG�D>J�CJYK?YJCD�BE�R?KKMOK�FAD@�BE�BG?@@?BC@�BM�D>J��CLJGC?DJJV�IJ�?CLJGC?M?JL�IH�NBCDEFADBE�MEBG�FCL�FYF?C@D�FCH�FCL�FKK�AKF?G@S��D�?@�FYEJJL�D>FD�NBCDEFADBE�R?KK�IJ�EJ@PBC@?IKJ�MBE�PE?GFEH�KB@@�?CQJ@D?YFD?BCV�LJMJC@JV�FCL�̀OLYGJCD�AB@D@�R>JEJ�D>?@�?CLJGC?M?AFD?BC�?@�FPPK?AFIKJS��C�ABC@?LJEFD?BC�BM�D>J�FRFEL�BM�D>?@�ABCDEFADV�D>J�NBCDEFADBE�FYEJJ@�DB�RF?QJ�FKK�E?Y>D@�BM�@OIEBYFD?BC�FYF?C@D�D>J�bDFDJ�BM�[E?oBCFV�?D@�BMM?AJE@V�BMM?A?FK@V�FYJCD@V�FCL�JGPKBHJJ@�MBE�KB@@J@�FE?@?CY�MEBG�D>J�RBEX�PJEMBEGJL�IH�D>J�NBCDEFADBE�MBE�D>J�bDFDJ�BM�[E?oBCFS�=>?@�?CLJGC?DH�@>FKK�CBD�FPPKH�?M�D>J�ABCDEFADBE�BE�@OIfABCDEFADBEU@Z�?@�FEJ�FC�FYJCAHV�IBFELV�ABGG?@@?BC�BE�OC?QJE@?DH�BM�D>J�bDFDJ�BM�[E?oBCFS��l79����n
�����
��n�
����	���idSd�NBCDEFADBE�FCL�@OIABCDEFADBE@�@>FKK�PEBAOEJ�FCL�GF?CDF?CV�OCD?K�FKK�BM�D>J?E�BIK?YFD?BC@�>FQJ�IJJC�L?@A>FEYJLV�?CAKOL?CY�FCH�RFEEFCDH�PJE?BL@�OCLJE�D>?@�NBCDEFADV�?C@OEFCAJ�FYF?C@D�AKF?G@�MBE�?C̀OEH�DB�PJE@BC@�BE�LFGFYJ�DB�PEBPJEDH�FE?@?CY�MEBGV�BE�?C�ABCCJAD?BC�R?D>V�D>J�PJEMBEGFCAJ�BM�D>J�RBEX�>JEJOCLJE�IH�D>J�NBCDEFADBEV�?D@�FYJCD@V�EJPEJ@JCDFD?QJ@V�JGPKBHJJ@�BE�@OIABCDEFADBE@S��idSi�=>J��C@OEFCAJ�aJ_O?EJGJCD@�>JEJ?C�FEJ�G?C?GOG�EJ_O?EJGJCD@�MBE�D>?@�NBCDEFAD�FCL�?C�CB�RFH�K?G?D�D>J�?CLJGC?DH�ABQJCFCD@�ABCDF?CJL�?C�D>?@�NBCDEFADS�=>J�bDFDJ�BM�[E?oBCF�?C�CB�RFH�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�����,�-���

�./01.23245�678879:;�:<7:�:<=�>?9?>@>�A?>?:;�BC9:7?9=D�<=8=?9�78=�;@EE?B?=9:�:C�F8C:=B:�:<=�GC9:87B:C8�E8C>�A?7H?A?:?=;�:<7:�78?;=�C@:�CE�:<=�F=8EC8>79B=�CE�:<=�6C8I�@9D=8�:<?;�GC9:87B:�HJ�:<=�GC9:87B:C8K�?:;�7L=9:;K�8=F8=;=9:7:?M=;K�=>FACJ==;�C8�;@HBC9:87B:C8;K�79D�:<=�GC9:87B:C8�?;�E8==�:C�F@8B<7;=�7DD?:?C97A�?9;@879B=N��OPNQ�R?9?>@>�SBCF=�79D�T?>?:;�CE�U9;@879B=�GC9:87B:C8�;<7AA�F8CM?D=�BCM=87L=�6?:<�A?>?:;�CE�A?7H?A?:J�9C:�A=;;�:<79�:<C;=�;:7:=D�H=AC6N��OPNQNP�GC>>=8B?7A�V=9=87A�T?7H?A?:J�WGVTX�Y�ZBB@88=9B=�[C8>��� \<=�GC9:87B:C8�;<7AA�E@89?;<�G=8:?E?B7:=W;X�CE�U9;@879B=�?9BA@;?M=�CE�:<=�ECAAC6?9L�8=]@?8=>=9:;�:C�:<=�̂=F78:>=9:N��G=8:?E?B7:=W;X�;<7AA�H=�8=B=?M=D�6?:<?9�P_�B7A=9D78�D7J;�CE�9C:?E?B7:?C9�CE�BC9:87B:�7678D�HJ�:<=�̀8CB@8=>=9:�ZEE?B=8N�� C̀A?BJ�;<7AA�?9BA@D=�HCD?AJ�?9a@8JK�F8CF=8:J�D7>7L=K�79D�H8C7D�EC8>�� BC9:87B:@7A�A?7H?A?:J�BCM=87L=N��b�cdedfgh�ijjfdjgkd�lmnooonooo�b�pfqrstku�Y�GC>FA=:=D�ZF=87:?C9;�vLL8=L7:=�wPK___K___�b�pdfuqegh�ger�irxdfkyuyej�ze{sfJ�wPK___K___�b�|g}gjd�kq�~dekdr�pfd}yudu�l�onooo�b��gt���ttsffdetd�l�nooonooo��7N�\<=�FCA?BJ�;<7AA�H=�=9DC8;=DK�7;�8=]@?8=D�HJ�:<?;�68?::=9�7L8==>=9:K�:C�?9BA@D=�:<=�S:7:=�CE�v8?�C97K�79D�?:;�D=F78:>=9:;K�7L=9B?=;K�HC78D;K�BC>>?;;?C9;K�@9?M=8;?:?=;K�CEE?B=8;K�CEE?B?7A;K�7L=9:;K�79D�=>FACJ==;�7;�7DD?:?C97A�?9;@8=D;�6?:<�8=;F=B:�:C�A?7H?A?:J�78?;?9L�C@:�CE�:<=�7B:?M?:?=;�F=8EC8>=D�HJ�C8�C9�H=<7AE�CE�:<=�GC9:87B:C8N��HN�̀CA?BJ�;<7AA�BC9:7?9�7�67?M=8�CE�;@H8CL7:?C9�=9DC8;=>=9:K�7;�8=]@?8=D�HJ�:<?;�68?::=9�7L8==>=9:K�?9�E7MC8�CE�:<=�S:7:=�CE�v8?�C97K�79D�?:;�D=F78:>=9:;K�7L=9B?=;K�HC78D;K�BC>>?;;?C9;K�@9?M=8;?:?=;K�CEE?B=8;K�CEE?B?7A;K�7L=9:;K�79D�=>FACJ==;�EC8�AC;;=;�78?;?9L�E8C>�6C8I�F=8EC8>=D�HJ�C8�C9�H=<7AE�CE�:<=�GC9:87B:C8N��OPNQNO��@;?9=;;�v@:C>CH?A=�T?7H?A?:J���CD?AJ�U9a@8J�79D�̀8CF=8:J�̂7>7L=�EC8�79J�C69=DK�<?8=DK�79D�C8�9C9�C69=D�7@:C>CH?A=;�@;=D�?9�:<=�F=8EC8>79B=�CE�:<?;�GC9:87B:N��b��q}�yedr��yejhd��y}yk�������l�nooonooo��7N�̀CA?BJ�;<7AA�H=�=9DC8;=DK�7;�8=]@?8=D�HJ�:<?;�68?::=9�7L8==>=9:K�:C�?9BA@D=�:<=�S:7:=�CE�v8?�C97K�79D�?:;�D=F78:>=9:;K�7L=9B?=;K�HC78D;K�BC>>?;;?C9;K�@9?M=8;?:?=;K�CEE?B=8;K�CEE?B?7A;K�7L=9:;K�79D�=>FACJ==;�7;�7DD?:?C97A�?9;@8=D;�6?:<�8=;F=B:�:C�A?7H?A?:J�78?;?9L�C@:�CE�:<=�7B:?M?:?=;�F=8EC8>=D�HJK�C8�C9�H=<7AE�CEK�:<=�GC9:87B:C8�?9MCAM?9L�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�����,�-���

�./01.23245� 6789:9;<=>?�9@A>BC�D<E>B�6ABF9E�A9AG9@A>B�;H�8D>�I9A8E6J89EK��;K�L9=<JH�?D6==�J9A86<A�6�@6<M>E�9N�?7;E9O68<9A�>AB9E?>:>A8�6?�E>P7<E>B�;H�8D<?�@E<88>A�6OE>>:>A8�<A�N6M9E�9N�8D>�Q868>�9N�RE<S9A6C�6AB�<8?�B>T6E8:>A8?C�6O>AJ<>?C�;96EB?C�J9::<??<9A?C�7A<M>E?<8<>?C�9NN<J>E?C�9NN<J<6=?C�6O>A8?C�6AB�>:T=9H>>?�N9E�=9??>?�6E<?<AO�NE9:�@9EU�T>EN9E:>B�;H�9E�9A�;>D6=N�9N�8D>�I9A8E6J89EK��VWXYXY�Z[\]̂\_̀�a[bĉd_efg[d�edh�ibcj[k̂\_l�mgengjgfk�o�Z[\]̂\_l�a[bĉd_efg[d���������������������������������������Q868789EH�o�ibcj[k̂\_l�mgengjgfk�9�p6JD�RJJ<B>A8��������������������������������������������������qWCrrrCrrr�9�s<?>6?>�t�p6JD�p:T=9H>>������������������������������qWCrrrCrrr�9�s<?>6?>�t�L9=<JH�u<:<8�������������������������������������qWCrrrCrrr�6K�L9=<JH�?D6==�J9A86<A�6�@6<M>E�9N�?7;E9O68<9A�>AB9E?>:>A8C�6?�E>P7<E>B�;H�8D<?�@E<88>A�6OE>>:>A8C�<A�N6M9E�9N�8D>�Q868>�9N�RE<S9A6C�6AB�<8?�B>T6E8:>A8?C�6O>AJ<>?C�;96EB?C�J9::<??<9A?C�7A<M>E?<8<>?C�9NN<J>E?C�9NN<J<6=?C�6O>A8?C�6AB�>:T=9H>>?�N9E�=9??>?�6E<?<AO�NE9:�@9EU�T>EN9E:>B�;H�9E�9A�;>D6=N�9N�8D>�I9A8E6J89EK��;K�vD<?�E>P7<E>:>A8�?D6==�A98�6TT=H�89�>6JD�I9A8E6J89E�9E�?7;J9A8E6J89E�8D68�<?�>w>:T8�7AB>E�RKxKQK�y�VzG{rWC�6AB�@D>A�?7JD�I9A8E6J89E�9E�?7;J9A8E6J89E�>w>J78>?�8D>�6TTE9TE<68>�@6<M>E�N9E:�|Q9=>�LE9TE<>89E�9E�}AB>T>AB>A8�I9A8E6J89E~K���VWK��RBB<8<9A6=�}A?7E6AJ>�x>P7<E>:>A8?�vD>�T9=<J<>?�?D6==�<AJ=7B>C�9E�;>�>AB9E?>B�89�<AJ=7B>C�6?�E>P7<E>B�;H�8D<?�@E<88>A�6OE>>:>A8C�8D>�N9==9@<AO�TE9M<?<9A?���� VWK�KW�vD>�I9A8E6J89E�?�T9=<J<>?C�6?�6TT=<J6;=>C�?D6==�?8<T7=68>�8D68�8D>�<A?7E6AJ>�6NN9EB>B�8D>�I9A8E6J89E�?D6==�;>�TE<:6EH�6AB�8D68�6AH�<A?7E6AJ>�J6EE<>B�;H�8D>�s>T6E8:>A8C�<8?�6O>A8?C�9NN<J<6=?C�>:T=9H>>?�9E�8D>�Q868>�9N�RE<S9A6�?D6==�;>�>wJ>??�6AB�A98�J9A8E<;789EH�<A?7E6AJ>C�6?�TE9M<B>B�;H�RKxKQK�y��WG�VW�|p~K��VWK�KV�}A?7E6AJ>�c\[�gĥh�nk�f�̂�a[df\e�f[\�_�ejj�d[f�jgbgf�f�̂�a[df\e�f[\̀_�jgengjgfk�e__�b̂ h�7AB>E�8D>�<AB>:A<N<J68<9A�TE9M<?<9A?�9N�8D<?�I9A8E6J8K��VWK�����98<J>�9N�I6AJ>==68<9A�RTT=<J6;=>�89�6==�<A?7E6AJ>�T9=<J<>?�E>P7<E>B�@<8D<A�8D>�}A?7E6AJ>�x>P7<E>:>A8?�9N�8D<?�I9Af\e�f��a[df\e�f[\̀_�gd_�\ed�̂�_�ejj�d[f�n̂�ĉ\bgff̂h�f[�̂�cg\̂��n̂�?7?T>AB>BC�;>�J6AJ>=>BC�9E�;>�:68>E<6==H�JD6AO>B�N9E�6AH�E>6?9A�@<8D978�8D<E8H�|zr~�B6H?�TE<9E�@E<88>A�A98<J>�89�8D>�Q868>�9N�RE<S9A6K��<8D<A�8@9�|V~�;7?<A>??�B6H?�9N�E>J><T8C�I9A8E6J89E�:7?8�TE9M<B>�A98<J>�89�8D>�Q868>�9N�RE<S9A6�<N�8D>H�E>J><M>�A98<J>�9N�6�T9=<JH�8D68�D6?�;>>A�9E�@<==�;>�?7?T>AB>BC�J6AJ>=>BC�:68>E<6==H�JD6AO>B�N9E�6AH�E>6?9AC�D6?�>wT<E>BC�9E�@<==�;>�>wT<E<AOK�Q7JD�A98<J>�?D6==�;>�?>A8�B<E>J8=H�89�8D>�s>T6E8:>A8�6AB�?D6==�;>�:6<=>BC�>:6<=>BC��edh�ĥjg�̂\̂h�[\�_̂df�nk��e�_gbgĵ�f\ed_bg__g[d�f[���fef̂��̂c\̂_̂dfefg�̂ _̀��eb̂ ���hh\̂__����6w��7:;>E~K��VWK�������̂cfengjgfk�[���d_�\̂\_�a[df\e�f[\̀_�gd_�\ed�̂�_�ejj�n̂�cje�̂h��gf���[bcedĝ_�jg�̂d_̂h�gd�f�̂�Q868>�9N�RE<S9A6�9E�D9=B�6TTE9M>B�A9AG6B:<88>B�?8687?�9A�8D>�RE<S9A6�s>T6E8:>A8�9N��d_�\ed�̂�mg_f�[����ejg�ĝh��de�f�[\g�̂h��d_�\̂\_X��d_�\̂\_�_�ejj��e�̂�ed���X�X��̂_f��\efgd��[��



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$��,��-�.���

�/012/34356�789�:;<<�9=>7�?@�ABBC�D=;�E9>9;�8F�?GHI87>�H7�78�J>K�J>GG>79<�9=>9�9=;�>L8M;@G;NOHG;P�QH7HQOQ�H7<OG;G�G>9H7R�H<�<OFFHSH;79�98�TG89;S9�9=;�U879G>S98G�FG8Q�T89;79H>:�H7<OG;G�H7<8:M;7SKC��VWCX���A;GHFHS>9H87�8F�U8M;G>R;�U879G>S98G�<=>::�FOG7H<=�9=;�E9>9;�8F�?GHI87>�JH9=�S;G9HFHS>9;<�8F�H7<OG>7S;�YM>:HP�?UZ[\�F8GQ�8G�;NOHM>:;79�>TTG8M;P�LK�9=;�E9>9;�8F�?GHI87>]�;MHP;7SH7R�9=>9�U879G>S98G�=><�9=;�H7<OG>7S;�><�G;NOHG;P�LK�9=H<�U879G>S9C�?7�>O9=8GHI;P�G;TG;<;79>9HM;�8F�9=;�H7<OG;G�<=>::�<HR7�9=;�S;G9HFHS>9;<C�� VWCXCW�?::�<OS=�S;G9HFHS>9;<�8F�H7<OG>7S;�>7P�T8:HSK�;7P8G<;Q;79<�QO<9�L;�G;S;HM;P�LK�9=;�E9>9;�L;F8G;�J8Ĝ�_̀aabc_bde�fgb�hijibkd�lb_bmni�̀o�jcp�_blimom_jibd�̀o�mcdqljc_b�̀l�T8:HSK�;7P8G<;Q;79<�9=>9�P8�789�S8QT:K�JH9=�9=H<�JGH99;7�>RG;;Q;79�<=>::�789�J>HM;�8G�89=;GJH<;�>FF;S9�9=;�G;NOHG;Q;79<�8F�9=H<�>RG;;Q;79C���VWCXCV�r>S=�H7<OG>7S;�T8:HSK�G;NOHG;P�LK�9=H<�U879G>S9�QO<9�L;�H7�;FF;S9�>9s�8G�TGH8G�98s�S8QQ;7S;Q;79�8F�J8Ĝ�O7P;G�9=H<�U879G>S9C�t>H:OG;�98�Q>H79>H7�9=;�H7<OG>7S;�T8:HSH;<�><�G;NOHG;P�LK�9=H<�U879G>S9s�8G�98�TG8MHP;�;MHP;7S;�8F�G;7;J>:s�H<�>�Q>9;GH>:�LG;>S=�8F�S879G>S9C��VWCXCu�?::�S;G9HFHS>9;<�G;NOHG;P�LK�9=H<�U879G>S9�<=>::�L;�<;79�PHG;S9:K�98�9=;�\;T>G9Q;79C�D=;�E9>9;�8F�?GHI87>�TG8v;S9wS879G>S9�7OQL;G�>7P�TG8v;S9�P;<SGHT9H87�<=>::�L;�789;P�87�9=;�S;G9HFHS>9;�8F�H7<OG>7S;C�D=;�E9>9;�8F�?GHI87>�G;<;GM;<�9=;�GHR=9�98�G;NOHG;�S8QT:;9;�S8TH;<�8F�>::�H7<OG>7S;�T8:HSH;<�G;NOHG;P�LK�9=H<�U879G>S9�>9�>7K�9HQ;C��VWCx�hqy_̀cilj_ìld�z̀cilj_ìlkd�_blimom_jib{d|�dgj}}�mc_}q~b�j}}�dqy_̀cilj_ìld�jd�mcdqlb~d�qc~bl�mid�T8:HSH;<�8G�U879G>S98G�<=>::�L;�G;<T87<HL:;�F8G�;7<OGH7R�>7Pw8G�M;GHFKH7R�9=>9�>::�<OLS879G>S98G<�=>M;�M>:HP�>7P�S8::;S9>L:;�H7<OG>7S;�><�;MHP;7S;P�LK�9=;�S;G9HFHS>9;<�8F�H7<OG>7S;�>7P�;7P8G<;Q;79<�F8G�;>S=�<OLS879G>S98GC�?::�S8M;G>R;<�F8G�<OLS879G>S98G<�<=>::�L;�<OLv;S9�98�9=;�QH7HQOQ�B7<OG>7S;�[;NOHG;Q;79<�HP;79HFH;P�>L8M;C�D=;�\;T>G9Q;79�G;<;GM;<�9=;�GHR=9�98�G;NOHG;s�>9�>7K�9HQ;�9=G8OR=8O9�9=;�:HF;�8F�9=;�U879G>S9s�TG88F�FG8Q�9=;�U879G>S98G�9=>9�H9<�<OLS879G>S98G<�=>M;�9=;�G;NOHG;P�S8M;G>R;C��VWC��?TTG8M>:�>7P��8PHFHS>9H87<�9=;�U879G>S9H7R�?R;7SKs�H7�S87<O:9>9H87�JH9=�E9>9;�[H<̂s�G;<;GM;<�9=;�GHR=9�98�G;MH;J�8G�Q>̂;�Q8PHFHS>9H87<�98�9=;�H7<OG>7S;�:HQH9<s�G;NOHG;P�S8M;G>R;<s�8G�;7P8G<;Q;79<�9=G8OR=8O9�9=;�:HF;�8F�9=H<�S879G>S9s�><�P;;Q;P�7;S;<<>GKC�EOS=�>S9H87�JH::�789�G;NOHG;�>�F8GQ>:�U879G>S9�>Q;7PQ;79�LO9�Q>K�L;�Q>P;�LK�>PQH7H<9G>9HM;�>S9H87C��VWCW��r�S;T9H87<�B7�9=;�;M;79�9=;�U879G>S98G�8G�<OLS879G>S98GY<]�H<w>G;�>�TOL:HS�;79H9Ks�9=;7�9=;�B7<OG>7S;�[;NOHG;Q;79<�<=>::�789�>TT:KC�EOS=�TOL:HS�;79H9K�<=>::�TG8MHP;�>�S;G9HFHS>9;�8F�<;:F@H7<OG>7S;C�BF�9=;�U879G>S98G�8G�<OLS879G>S98GY<]�H<w>G;�>�E9>9;�8F�?GHI87>�>R;7SKs�L8>GPs�S8QQH<<H87s�8G�O7HM;G<H9Ks�787;�8F�9=;�>L8M;�<=>::�>TT:KC������������
���
	��D=;�U879G>S98G�<=>::�FOG7H<=�DJ8�YV]��<>R;�G;T8G9<s�9=;�FHG<9�98�9=;�\;T>G9Q;79�87�>�NO>G9;G:K�L><H<�<=8JH7R�TOGS=><H7R�>S9HMH9K�O7P;G�9=H<�S879G>S9C��D=H<�O<>R;�G;T8G9�<=>::�L;�TG8MHP;P�H7�>�F8GQ�<OL<9>79H>::K�;NOHM>:;79�98�r�=HLH9��uC���<>R;�G;T8G9<�<=>::�L;�<OLQH99;P�98�9=;��G8SOG;Q;79�ZFFHS;G�78�:>9;G�9=>7�u��P>K<�>F9;G�9=;�;7P�8F�;>S=�NO>G9;GC�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�� ��,�-���

�./01.23245��6789:�;:<=;>�?@8;>:;7�7A8BB�C:�D:EFG:D�87�E=BB=H7I�J�K8G@8;L�>A;=@9A�M8;NA�O�P:<=;>�D@:�Q<;FB�RS�J�Q<;FB�>A;=@9A�K@G:�O�P:<=;>�D@:�K@BL�RS�J�K@BL�>A;=@9A�T:<>:UC:;�O�P:<=;>�D@:�VN>=C:;�RS�J�VN>=C:;�>A;=@9A�W:N:UC:;�O�P:<=;>�D@:�K8G@8;L�RS��X=G>;8N>=;�7A8BB�7@CUF>�>A:�7:N=GD�>=�>A:�T>8>:�D=N@U:G>FG9�8BB�X=G>;8N>�78B:7�>=�C=>A�YBF9FCB:�Q9:GNF:7�8GD�X=ZV<�[@L:;7\�F>:UF]:D�7:<8;8>:BL̂�Q�_̀abcdbef�ghaid�jdklbc�7A8BB�7>FBB�C:�7@CUF>>:Dm�:n:G�FE�>A:;:�A8n:�C::G�G=�78B:7�>=�:F>A:;�YBF9FCB:�Q9:GNF:7�8GDo=;�X=ZV<�[@L:;7̂�X=G>;8N>=;�7A8BB�E@;>A:;�F>:UF]:�DFnF7F=G7\�9;=@<7�=;�8;:87�HF>AFG�8�9Fn:G�YBF9FCB:�Q9:GNL�FE�>A:L�<B8N:�V;D:;7�FGD:<:GD:G>BL�=E�:8NA�=>A:;̂�p8FB@;:�>=�7@CUF>�>A:�;:<=;>�F7�8�U8>:;F8B�C;:8NA�=E�N=G>;8N>\�8GD�HFBB�:G>F>B:�T>8>:�>=�F>7�;:U:DF:7�@GD:;�Q;>FNB:�q�8GD�F>7�;F9A>�>=�>:;UFG8>:�E=;�D:E8@B>�@GD:;�Q;>FNB:�r̂�X=G>;8N>=;�7A8BB�7@CUF>�>A:�;:<=;>�@7FG9�>A:�E=;U7�8GD�E=BB=HFG9�>A:�FG7>;@N>F=G7�=G�>A:�T>8>:�s;=N@;:U:G>�VEEFN:�H:C7F>:I��� A>><7Ioo7<=̂8]̂9=noN=G>;8N>=;Z;:7=@;N:7o7>8>:HFD:ZN=G>;8N>7Z8DUFGF7>;8>Fn:ZE::��tuv����	
��	��
�
��w��
����������xG�>A:�:n:G>�=E�8�N=GEBFN>�FG�>A:�<;=nF7F=G7�=E�>A:�X=G>;8N>\�87�8NN:<>:D�CL�>A:�W:<8;>U:G>�8GD�87�>A:L�U8L�C:�8U:GD:D\�>A:�E=BB=HFG9�7A8BB�<;:n8FB�FG�>A:�=;D:;�7:>�E=;>A�C:B=HI��J�p:D:;8B�s;=nF7F=G7��T<:NF8B�y:;U7�8GD�X=GDF>F=G7��6GFE=;U�y:;U7�8GD�X=GDF>F=G7��T>8>:U:G>�=;�TN=<:�=E�z=;{��T<:NFEFN8>F=G7��Q>>8NAU:G>7��Y|AFCF>7��T<:NF8B�xG7>;@N>F=G7�>=�VEE:;=;7��6GFE=;U�xG7>;@N>F=G7�>=�VEE:;=;7��V>A:;�D=N@U:G>7�;:E:;:GN:D�=;�FGNB@D:D�FG�>A:�T=BFNF>8>F=G�t}v���������~���
��	�~���
	�w���	�������X=G>;8N>=;\�8>�>A:F;�:|<:G7:\�7A8BB�U8FG>8FG�FG�N@;;:G>�7>8>@7�HF>A=@>�8GL�nF=B8>F=G7\�N=U<B8FG>7\�=;�7@7<:G7F=G7�D@;FG9�>A:�>:;U�=E�>AF7�N=G>;8N>�8BB�p:D:;8B\�T>8>:�8GD��=N8B�BFN:G7:7\�<:;UF>7�8GD�N:;>FEFN8>F=G7�;:?@F;:D�E=;�>A:�=<:;8>F=G�=E�8�C@7FG:77�N=GD@N>:D�CL�>A:�X=G>;8N>=;̂��t�v��������������X=G>;8N>=;�7A8BB�n:;FEL�FE�8G�=;D:;FG9�:G>F>L�F7�8�C=G8�EFD:�X=ZV<�[@L:;�C:E=;:�7:BBFG9�M8>:;F8B7�>=�=;�<;=nFDFG9�T:;nFN:7�E=;�>A:U�@GD:;�>A:�X=G>;8N>̂�yA:�N@;;:G>�BF7>�=E�X=ZV<�[@L:;7�F7�8n8FB8CB:�=G�>A:�T>8>:�s;=N@;:U:G>�VEEFN:�H:C7F>:I�� A>><7Ioo7<=̂8]̂9=noN=G>;8N>=;Z;:7=@;N:7o7>8>:HFD:ZN=G>;8N>7Z8DUFGF7>;8>Fn:ZE::�



� ��������������� ��������	�
����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$��,��-�,���

�./01.23245��6789:;<97:�=>;??�=@??�97�67ABC�DEF@:=�;9�9>@�=;G@�C:H<@I�;8J�KH9>�9>@�=;G@�?@;J�9HG@=�;8J�79>@:�9@:G=�;8J�<78JH9H78=�E8J@:�K>H<>�H9�=@??=�97�L?HMHN?@�OM@8<H@=P�QH9>�9>@�=7?@�@R<@C9H78�7S�;8F�?@MH9HG;9@�;JJH9H78;?�<7=9=�S7:�@R9:;7:JH8;:F�=>HCCH8MI�7:�J@?HT@:F�:@UEH:@G@89=I�HS�9>@�67ABC�DEF@:�H=�>;TH8M�V;9@:H;?=�J@?HT@:@J�7:�H8=9;??@J�7:�W@:TH<@=�C@:S7:G@J�;9�?7<;9H78=�879�<789@GC?;9@J�H8�9>@�<789:;<9@J�C:H<H8M�X@PMP�J@?HT@:F�97�;�?7<;9H78�7E9=HJ@�O:HY78;ZP��6789:;<97:�=>;??�;<[87K?@JM@�@;<>�B:J@:�S:7G�67ABC�DEF@:=�H8�<78S7:G;8\]�̂_̀a�]b\a�cde]fgh�H8=9:E<9H78=�MHT@8�;9�9>@�9HG@�7S�7:J@:H8M�7:�H8�;8F�=ECC?@G@89;?�C;:9H<HC;9H8M�;M:@@G@89�6789:;<97:�GHM>9�>;T@�KH9>�9>@GP�B:J@:=�S:7G�67Aij�kde]fh�\f]b̀]�lm�mcn_ob̀_ml�ml�p̀b̀]gh�jbf̀q�h_l\]�̀a]e�bf]�@89H:@?F�N@9K@@8�9>@�67ABC�DEF@:�;lr�sml̀fb\̀mft�uab̀�lm̀ _̂̀ah̀blr_loq�sml̀fb\̀mfgh�mcn_ob̀_ml�dlr]f�9>@�6789:;<9�H=�97�=@:TH<@�67ABC�DEF@:=�<7GG@:<H;??F�;=�9>7EM>�9>@F�K@:@�KH9>�;8�L?HMHN?@�OM@8<FI�;8J�sml̀fb\̀mfgh�f]vdhbn�̀m�rm�hm�̂mdnr�c]�b�wb̀]f_bn�cf]b\a�mv�̀a]�sml̀fb\̀t���xyz����	��{�
����	��|��O9�9>@�JH=<:@9H78�7S�9>@�}@C;:9G@89I�9>@�6789:;<97:I�;9�9>@H:�@RC@8=@I�=>;??�;99@8J�;8J�C;:9H<HC;9@�H8�C7=9�;K;:J�G@@9H8M=�;=�=<>@JE?@J�NF�9>@�~:7<E:@G@89�BSSH<@:P��������������



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$��,��-�.���

/0123045467�89� 4:;6;7;16�1:�	405<�=>�?>@A�BC�DEB>�FGHBIBDJDBGC�JCA�JCK�L@>?HDBCM�NGCDLJIDO�DE@�D@LP>�HB>D@A�Q@HGR�JL@�A@SBC@A�J>�SGHHGR>T�� UVUV� WXYYZ[\]̂ _Ỳ�P@JC>�JCK�BD@P�DE@�FGHBIBDJDBGC�L@a?BL@>�DE@�bSS@LGL�DG�>?QPBD�J>�cJLD�GS�DE@�bSS@LV�UVdV� Wef_YgZ[Ỳ�P@JC>�DE@�IGPQBCJDBGC�GS�DE@�FGHBIBDJDBGCO�BCIH?ABCM�DE@�hCBSGLP�JCA�Fc@IBJH�iC>DL?IDBGC>�DG�bSS@LGL>O�DE@�hCBSGLP�JCA�Fc@IBJH�j@LP>�JCA�NGCABDBGC>O�JCA�DE@�Fc@IBSBIJDBGC>�JCA�FDJD@P@CD�GL�FIGc@�GS�kGLlm�DE@�bSS@L�JCA�JCK�n@>D�JCA�oBCJH�bSS@L>m�JCA�JCK�FGHBIBDJDBGC�=P@CAP@CD>�GL�NGCDLJID�=P@CAP@CD>V�UVpV� qrstuvwxu�yz{t|z{tu}�P@JC>�J�RLBDD@C�AGI?P@CD�>BMC@A�QK�DE@�~LGI?L@P@CD�bSSBI@L�DEJD�B>�B>>?@A�SGL�DE@�c?LcG>@�GS�PJlBCM�IEJCM@>�BC�DE@�NGCDLJIDV�UV�V� Wef_YgZ[Yfg̀�P@JC>�JCK�c@L>GC�REG�EJ>�J�NGCDLJID�RBDE�DE@�FDJD@V�UV�V� W�Z��̀�P@JC>�IJH@CAJL�AJK>�?CH@>>�GDE@LRB>@�>c@IBSB@AV�UV�V� W��\���Ỳ�P@JC>�JCK�BD@P�HJQ@H@A�J>�JC���EBQBD�BC�DE@�FGHBIBDJDBGC�GL�cHJI@A�BC�DE@���EBQBD>�>@IDBGC�GS�DE@�FGHBIBDJDBGCV���UV�V� W�gZY��Y�̀�P@JC>�J�cJKP@CDO�HGJCO�>?Q>ILBcDBGCO�JA�JCI@O�A@cG>BD�GS�PGC@KO�>@L�BI@>O�GL�JCKDEBCM�GS�PGL@�DEJC�CGPBCJH��JH?@O�cL@>@CD�GL�cLGPB>@AO�?CH@>>�IGC>BA@LJDBGC�GS�>?Q>DJCDBJHHK�@a?JH�GL�ML@JD@L��JH?@�B>�L@I@B�@AV�UV�V� ��ZŶg�Z��̀�P@JC>�JHH�cLGc@LDKO�BCIH?ABCM�@a?BcP@CDO�>?ccHB@>O�cLBCDBCMO�BC>?LJCI@�JCA�H@J>@>�GS�cLGc@LDK�Q?D�AG@>�CGD�BCIH?A@�HJCAO�J�c@LPJC@CD�BCD@L@>D�BC�HJCA�GL�L@JH�cLGc@LDK�GL�H@J>BCM�>cJI@V�UV�V� W�gf[�ĝ]̂ _Y�����[̂g̀�P@JC>�DE@�c@L>GCO�GL�EB>�GL�E@L�A@>BMC@@O�A?HK�J?DEGLB�@A�QK�DE@�FDJD@�DG�@CD@L�BCDG�JCA�JAPBCB>D@L�NGCDLJID>�JCA�PJl@�RLBDD@C�A@D@LPBCJDBGC>�RBDE�L@>c@ID�DG�DE@�NGCDLJIDV�UVU�V�W�̂g��[̂�̀�P@JC>�DE@�S?LCB>EBCM�GS�HJQGLO�DBP@�GL�@SSGLD�QK�J�IGCDLJIDGL�GL�>?QIGCDLJIDGL�REBIE�AG@>�CGD�BC�GH�@�DE@�A@HB�@LK�GS�J�>c@IBSBI�@CA�cLGA?ID�GDE@L�DEJC�L@a?BL@A�L@cGLD>�JCA�c@LSGLPJCI@O�Q?D�AG@>�CGD�BCIH?A@�@PcHGKP@CD�JML@@P@CD>�GL�IGHH@IDB�@�QJLMJBCBCM�JML@@P@CD>V�UVUUV�W���[f_YgZ[Ỳ�P@JC>�JCK�NGCDLJIDO�@�cL@>>�GL�BPcHB@AO�Q@DR@@C�DE@�NGCDLJIDGL�JCA�JCGDE@L�cJLDK�GL�Q@DR@@C�J�>?QIGCDLJIDGL�JCA�JCGDE@L�cJLDK�A@H@MJDBCM�GL�J>>BMCBCMO�BC�REGH@�GL�BC�cJLDO�DE@�PJlBCM�GL�S?LCB>EBCM�GS�JCK�PJD@LBJH�GL�JCK�>@L�BI@�L@a?BL@A�SGL�DE@�c@LSGLPJCI@�GS�DE@�NGCDLJIDV�UVUdV�W�YZŶ̀�P@JC>�DE@�FDJD@�GS�=LB�GCJ�JCA��@cJLDP@CD�GL�=M@CIK�GS�DE@�FDJD@�DEJD�@�@I?D@>�DE@�NGCDLJIDV�UVUpV�W�YZŶ����[Z���̂Zg̀�P@JC>�DE@�c@LBGA�Q@MBCCBCM�RBDE��?HK�U�JCA�@CABCM��?C@�p�V���9� �1670 27��6740¡047 7;16�dVUV� =LB�GCJ�¢JRV��jE@�=LB�GCJ�HJR�JccHB@>�DG�DEB>�NGCDLJID�BCIH?ABCMO�RE@L@�JccHBIJQH@O�DE@�hCBSGLP�NGPP@LIBJH�NGA@�J>�JAGcD@A�QK�DE@�FDJD@�GS�=LB�GCJ�JCA�DE@�=LB�GCJ�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,���-�.���

/0123045467� 89:;<9=>=?@�A:B=C�D9EF:?G�H=IEJ=B�K@G@<@=J�LDMHMKMN�OE@P=�QRC�ASGT@=9�UVC�G?B�E@J�E>TP=>=?@E?W�9<P=JC�D9EF:?G�DB>E?EJ@9G@EI=�A:B=�LDMDMAMN�OE@P=�UC�ASGT@=9�XM�UMUM� Y>TPE=B�A:?@9G;@�O=9>JM��ZG;S�T9:IEJE:?�:[�PG\�G?B�G?]�@=9>J�9=̂<E9=B�_]�PG\�@:�_=�E?�@SEJ�A:?@9G;@�G9=�G�TG9@�:[�@SEJ�A:?@9G;@�GJ�E[�[<PP]�J@G@=B�E?�E@M�UMVM� A:?@9G;@�̀9B=9�:[�89=;=B=?;=M��Y?�@S=�=I=?@�:[�G�;:?[PE;@�E?�@S=�T9:IEJE:?J�:[�@S=�A:?@9G;@C�GJ�G;;=T@=B�_]�@S=�K@G@=�G?B�GJ�@S=]�>G]�_=�G>=?B=BC�@S=�[:PP:\E?W�JSGPP�T9=IGEP�E?�@S=�:9B=9�J=@�[:9@S�_=P:\a�b�c=B=9GP�89:IEJE:?J��KT=;EGP�O=9>J�G?B�A:?BE@E:?J��d?E[:9>�O=9>J�G?B�A:?BE@E:?J��K@G@=>=?@�:9�K;:T=�:[�e:9f��KT=;E[E;G@E:?J��D@@G;S>=?@J��ZgSE_E@J��KT=;EGP�Y?J@9<;@E:?J�@:�̀[[=9:9J��d?E[:9>�Y?J@9<;@E:?J�@:�̀[[=9:9J�� @̀S=9�B:;<>=?@J�9=[=9=?;=B�:9�E?;P<B=B�E?�@S=�K:PE;E@G@E:?�UMQM� H=PG@E:?JSET�:[�8G9@E=JM��OS=�A:?@9G;@:9�<?B=9�@SEJ�A:?@9G;@�EJ�G?�E?B=T=?B=?@�A:?@9G;@:9M�h=E@S=9�TG9@]�@:�@SEJ�A:?@9G;@�JSGPP�_=�B==>=B�@:�_=�@S=�=>TP:]==�:9�GW=?@�:[�@S=�:@S=9�TG9@]�@:�@S=�A:?@9G;@M�UMiM� K=I=9G_EPE@]M��OS=�T9:IEJE:?J�:[�@SEJ�A:?@9G;@�G9=�J=I=9G_P=M��D?]�@=9>�:9�;:?BE@E:?�B==>=B�EPP=WGP�:9�E?IGPEB�JSGPP�?:@�G[[=;@�G?]�:@S=9�@=9>�:9�;:?BE@E:?�:[�@S=�A:?@9G;@M�UMjM� h:�8G9:P=�ZIEB=?;=M��OSEJ�A:?@9G;@�EJ�E?@=?B=B�_]�@S=�TG9@E=J�GJ�G�[E?GP�G?B�;:>TP=@=�=gT9=JJE:?�:[�@S=E9�GW9==>=?@M��h:�;:<9J=�:[�T9E:9�B=GPE?WJ�_=@\==?�@S=�TG9@E=J�G?B�?:�<JGW=�:[�@S=�@9GB=�JSGPP�J<TTP=>=?@�:9�=gTPGE?�G?]�@=9>J�<J=B�E?�@SEJ�B:;<>=?@�G?B�?:�:@S=9�<?B=9J@G?BE?W�=E@S=9�:9GP�:9�E?�\9E@E?W�JSGPP�_=�_E?BE?WM�UMXM� h:�eGEI=9k��lmnopq�rsqntuv�wsmxyqp�nz�m{vmvn�z{�vnqm|n�rpqwzq}s{|p�zw�s{t�npq}�zq�|z{~mnmz{�:[�@S=�A:?@9G;@�JSGPP�?:@�_=�B==>=B�G�\GEI=9�:[�@SG@�@=9>�:9�;:?BE@E:?�=I=?�E[�@S=�TG9@]�G;;=T@E?W�:9�G;̂<E=J;E?W�E?�@S=�?:?;:?[:9>E?W�T=9[:9>G?;=�f?:\J�:[�@S=�?G@<9=�:[�@S=�T=9[:9>G?;=�G?B�[GEPJ�@:�:_�=;@�@:�E@M���� �1670�27���5�6��70�7�16��6����40�7�16�VMRM� H=;:9BJM��d?B=9�DMHMKM���Vi�URQ�G?B���Vi�URiC�@S=�A:?@9G;@:9�JSGPP�9=@GE?�G?B�JSGPP�|z{nqs|nysxxt�qp�ymqp�ps|o�vy�|z{nqs|nzq�nz�qpnsm{�sxx�~sns�s{~�znopq��qp|zq~v��qpxsnm{��@:�@S=�G;̂<EJE@E:?�G?B�T=9[:9>G?;=�:[�@S=�A:?@9G;@�[:9�G�T=9E:B�:[�[EI=�]=G9J�G[@=9�@S=�;:>TP=@E:?�:[�@S=�A:?@9G;@M��DPP�9=;:9BJ�JSGPP�_=�J<_�=;@�@:�E?JT=;@E:?�G?B�G<BE@�_]�@S=�K@G@=�G@�9=GJ:?G_P=�@E>=JM��dT:?�9=̂<=J@C�@S=�A:?@9G;@:9�JSGPP�T9:B<;=�G�P=WE_P=�;:T]�:[�G?]�:9�GPP�J<;S�9=;:9BJM�VMUM� h:?��EJ;9E>E?G@E:?M��OS=�A:?@9G;@:9�JSGPP�;:>TP]�\E@S�K@G@=�Zg=;<@EI=�̀9B=9�h:M�U�������G?B�GPP�:@S=9�GTTPE;G_P=�c=B=9GP�G?B�K@G@=�PG\JC�9<P=J�G?B�9=W<PG@E:?JC�E?;P<BE?W�@S=�D>=9E;G?J�\E@S��EJG_EPE@E=J�D;@M�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,���-�.���

/0123045467�8989� :;<=>9��?;@A;BC>�>D�:EF�G�8HIJKLM�B>�BCN�>=OP�<;@=CQ�>RP�>P@O�DS�>R=A�TDC>@BU>�BC<�S=VP�WHX�NPB@A�YZ[\[]̂Y[\_�YZ[�̀abY\]cYa\de�a\�]bf�eghcabY\]cYa\de�haaie�]bj�\[ca\je�eZ]kk�h[�A;lmPU>�>D�B;<=>�lN�>RP�F>B>P�BC<M�nRP@P�Boop=UBlpPM�>RP�qP<P@Bp�rDVP@COPC>M�>D�>RP�Ps>PC>�>RB>�>RP�lDDtA�BC<�@PUD@<A�@PpB>P�>D�>RP�oP@SD@OBCUP�DS�>RP�TDC>@BU>�D@�F;lUDC>@BU>9�89L9� qBU=p=>=PA�uCAoPU>=DC�BC<�vB>P@=BpA�wPA>=CQ9��wRP�TDC>@BU>D@�BQ@PPA�>D�oP@O=>�BUUPAA�>D�=>A�]̂cxkxYx[e_�eghcabY\]cYa\�̂]cxkxYx[e�]bj�YZ[�̀abY\]cYa\de�y\ac[ee[e�a\�e[\zxc[e_�]Y�@PBADCBlpP�>=OPA�SD@�=CAoPU>=DC�DS�>RP�SBU=p=>=PA�D@�OB>P@=BpA�UDVP@P<�;C<P@�>R=A�TDC>@BU>9��wRP�F>B>P�ARBpp�BpAD�RBVP�>RP�@=QR>�>D�>PA>M�B>�=>A�DnC�UDA>M�>RP�OB>P@=BpA�>D�lP�A;oop=P<�gbj[\�YZxe�̀abY\]cY{��|[xYZ[\�xbey[cYxab�â�YZ[�̀abY\]cYa\de�̂]cxkxYx[e�ba\�}]Y[\x]ke�>PA>=CQ�ARBpp�UDCA>=>;>P�S=CBp�BUUPo>BCUP�DS�>RP�OB>P@=BpA�D@�AP@V=UPA9��uS�>RP�F>B>P�<P>P@O=CPA�CDCIUDOop=BCUP�DS�>RP�OB>P@=BpAM�>RP�TDC>@BU>D@�ARBpp�lP�@PAoDCA=lpP�SD@�>RP�oBNOPC>�DS�Bpp�UDA>A�=CU;@@P<�lN�>RP�F>B>P�SD@�>PA>=CQ�BC<�=CAoPU>=DC9�89H9� ~D>=UPA9��~D>=UPA�>D�>RP�TDC>@BU>D@�@P�;=@P<�lN�>R=A�TDC>@BU>�ARBpp�lP�OB<P�lN�>RP�F>B>P�>D�>RP�oP@ADC�=C<=UB>P<�DC�>RP��SSP@�BC<�:UUPo>BCUP�SD@O�A;lO=>>P<�lN�>RP�TDC>@BU>D@�;CpPAA�D>RP@n=AP�A>B>P<�=C�>RP�TDC>@BU>9��~D>=UPA�>D�>RP�F>B>P�@P�;=@P<�lN�>RP�TDC>@BU>�ARBpp�lP�OB<P�lN�>RP�TDC>@BU>D@�>D�>RP�FDp=U=>B>=DC�TDC>BU>�?P@ADC�=C<=UB>P<�DC�>RP�FDp=U=>B>=DC�UDVP@�ARPP>M�;CpPAA�D>RP@n=AP�A>B>P<�=C�>RP�TDC>@BU>9��:C�B;>RD@=�P<�?@DU;@POPC>��SS=UP@�BC<�BC�B;>RD@=�P<�TDC>@BU>D@�@Po@PAPC>B>=VP�OBN�URBCQP�>RP=@�@PAoPU>=VP�oP@ADC�>D�nRDO�CD>=UP�ARBpp�lP�Q=VPC�lN�n@=>>PC�CD>=UP�>D�>RP�D>RP@�BC<�BC�BOPC<OPC>�>D�>RP�TDC>@BU>�ARBpp�CD>�lP�CPUPAAB@N9�89�9� :<VP@>=A=CQM�?;lp=AR=CQ�BC<�?@DOD>=DC�DS�TDC>@BU>9��wRP�TDC>@BU>D@�ARBpp�CD>�;APM�B<VP@>=AP�D@�o@DOD>P�=CSD@OB>=DC�SD@�UDOOP@U=Bp�lPCPS=>�UDCUP@C=CQ�>R=A�TDC>@BU>�n=>RD;>�>RP�o@=D@�n@=>>PC�Boo@DVBp�DS�>RP�?@DU;@POPC>��SS=UP@9�89�9� ?@DoP@>N�DS�>RP�F>B>P9��:CN�OB>P@=BpAM�=CUp;<=CQ�@PoD@>AM�UDOo;>P@�o@DQ@BOA�BC<�D>RP@�<Pp=VP@BlpPAM�U@PB>P<�;C<P@�>R=A�TDC>@BU>�B@P�>RP�ADpP�o@DoP@>N�DS�>RP�F>B>P9��wRP�TDC>@BU>D@�=A�CD>�PC>=>pP<�>D�B�oB>PC>�D@�UDoN@=QR>�DC�>RDAP�OB>P@=BpA�BC<�OBN�CD>�>@BCASP@�>RP�oB>PC>�D@�UDoN@=QR>�>D�BCNDCP�PpAP9��wRP�TDC>@BU>D@�ARBpp�CD>�;AP�D@�@PpPBAP�>RPAP�OB>P@=BpA�n=>RD;>�>RP�o@=D@�n@=>>PC�UDCAPC>�DS�>RP�F>B>P9�89�9� �nCP@AR=o�DS�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N9��:CN�BC<�Bpp�=C>PppPU>;Bp�o@DoP@>NM�=CUp;<=CQ�l;>�CD>�p=O=>P<�>D�UDoN@=QR>M�=CVPC>=DCM�>@B<POB@tM�>@B<P�CBOPM�AP@V=UP�OB@tM�BC<�D@�>@B<P�APU@P>A�U@PB>P<�D@�UDCUP=VP<�o;@A;BC>�>D�D@�BA�B�@PA;p>�DS�>R=A�UDC>@BU>�BC<�BCN�@PpB>P<�eghcabY\]cY����bY[kk[cYg]k��\ay[\Yf��_�eZ]kk�h[��a@t�OB<P�SD@�R=@P�BC<�>RP�F>B>P�ARBpp�lP�UDCA=<P@P<�>RP�U@PB>D@�DS�A;UR�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N9��wRP�BQPCUNM�<PoB@>OPC>M�<=V=A=DCM�lDB@<�D@�UDOO=AA=DC�DS�>RP�F>B>P�DS�:@=�DCB�@P�;PA>=CQ�>RP�=AA;BCUP�DS�>R=A�UDC>@BU>�ARBpp�DnC�WSD@�BC<�DC�lPRBpS�DS�>RP�F>B>PX�>RP�PC>=@P�@=QR>M�>=>pP�BC<�=C>P@PA>�>D�>RP�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N�>R@D;QRD;>�>RP�nD@p<9��TDC>@BU>D@�ARBpp�CD>=SN�>RP�F>B>PM�n=>R=C�>R=@>N�W8�X�<BNAM�DS�>RP�U@PB>=DC�DS�BCN�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N�lN�=>�D@�=>A�A;lUDC>@BU>D@WAX9�TDC>@BU>D@M�DC�lPRBpS�DS�=>APpS�BC<�BCN�A;lUDC>@BU>D@WAXM�BQ@PPA�>D�PsPU;>P�BCN�BC<�Bpp�<DU;OPC>WAX�CPUPAAB@N�>D�BAA;@P�DnCP@AR=o�DS�>RP�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N�VPA>A�=C�>RP�F>B>P�BC<�ARBpp�>BtP�CD�BSS=@OB>=VP�BU>=DCA�>RB>�O=QR>�RBVP�>RP�PSSPU>�DS�VPA>=CQ�Bpp�D@�oB@>�DS�>RP�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N�=C�BCN�PC>=>N�D>RP@�>RBC�>RP�F>B>P9�wRP�uC>PppPU>;Bp�?@DoP@>N�ARBpp�CD>�lP�<=AUpDAP<�lN�UDC>@BU>D@�D@�=>A�A;lUDC>@BU>D@WAX�>D�BCN�PC>=>N�CD>�>RP�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,,��-�.���

/0123045467� 89:9;�<=9>?@9�9>;�;ABC;DD�<C=99;E�:@9>?C=F:9=?E�?G�9>;�:H;EIJK�L;B:C9M;E9K�L=N=D=?EK�O?:CL�?C�I?MM=DD=?E�?G�9>;�89:9;�?G�PC=F?E:�C;Q@;D9=EH�9>;�=DD@:EI;�?G�9>=D�I?E9C:I9R��SRTR� U;L;C:V�WMM=HC:9=?E�:EL�X:9=?E:V=9J�PI9R��Y>;�I?E9C:I9?C�D>:VV�I?MBVJ�<=9>�:VV�G;L;C:VK�D9:9;�:EL�V?I:V�=MM=HC:9=?E�V:<D�:EL�C;H@V:9=?ED�C;V:9=EH�9?�9>;�=MM=HC:9=?E�D9:9@D�?G�9>;=C�;MBV?J;;D�L@C=EH�9>;�9;CM�?G�9>;�I?E9C:I9R�U@C9>;CK�9>;�I?E9C:I9?C�D>:VV�GV?<�L?<E�9>=D�C;Q@=C;M;E9�9?�:VV�D@OI?E9C:I9?CD�@9=V=F;L�L@C=EH�9>;�9;CM�?G�9>;�I?E9C:I9R�Y>;�89:9;�D>:VV�C;9:=E�9>;�C=H>9�9?�B;CG?CM�C:EL?M�:@L=9D�?G�I?E9C:I9?C�:EL�D@OI?E9C:I9?C�C;I?CLD�?C�9?�=EDB;I9�B:B;CD�?G�:EJ�;MBV?J;;�9>;C;?G�9?�;ED@C;�I?MBV=:EI;R�8>?@VL�9>;�89:9;�L;9;CM=E;�9>:9�9>;�I?E9C:I9?C�:ELZ?C�:EJ�D@OI?E9C:I9?CD�O;�G?@EL�E?EI?MBV=:E9K�9>;�89:9;�M:J�B@CD@;�:VV�C;M;L=;D�:VV?<;L�OJ�V:<K�=EIV@L=EHK�O@9�E?9�V=M=9;L�9?[�D@DB;ED=?E�?G�<?C\K�9;CM=E:9=?E�?G�9>;�I?E9C:I9�G?C�L;G:@V9�:EL�D@DB;ED=?E�:ELZ?C�L;O:CM;E9�?G�9>;�I?E9C:I9?CR��SR]̂� _̀a;C=GJ�b;Q@=C;M;E9DR��WE�:II?CL:EI;�<=9>�PRbR8R�c�d]̀dd̂]K�e?E9C:I9?C�<:CC:E9D�I?MBV=:EI;�<=9>�:VV�U;L;C:V�=MM=HC:9=?E�V:<D�:EL�C;H@V:9=?ED�C;V:9=EH�9?�;MBV?J;;D�:EL�<:CC:E9D�=9D�I?MBV=:EI;�<=9>�8;I9=?E�PRbR8R�c�fS̀f]dK�8@OD;I9=?E�PR��SR]]� gGGD>?C;�h;CG?CM:EI;�?G�i?C\�hC?>=O=9;LR�PEJ�D;CN=I;D�9>:9�:C;�L;DIC=O;L�=E�9>;�DB;I=G=I:9=?ED�?C�DI?B;�?G�<?C\�9>:9�L=C;I9VJ�D;CN;�9>;�89:9;�?G�PC=F?E:�?C�=9D�IV=;E9D�:EL�=EN?VN;�:II;DD�9?�D;I@C;�?C�D;ED=9=N;�L:9:�?C�B;CD?E:V�IV=;E9�L:9:�D>:VV�O;�B;CG?CM;L�<=9>=E�9>;�L;G=E;L�9;CC=9?C=;D�?G�9>;�jE=9;L�89:9;DR�jEV;DD�DB;I=G=I:VVJ�D9:9;L�?9>;C<=D;�=E�9>;�DB;I=G=I:9=?EDK�9>=D�B:C:HC:B>�L?;D�E?9�:BBVJ�9?�=EL=C;I9�?C�k?N;C>;:Lk�D;CN=I;DK�C;L@EL:E9�O:I\̀@B�D;CN=I;D�?C�D;CN=I;D�9>:9�:C;�=EI=L;E9:V�9?�9>;�B;CG?CM:EI;�?G�9>;�I?E9C:I9R��Y>=D�BC?N=D=?E�:BBV=;D�9?�<?C\�B;CG?CM;L�OJ�D@OI?E9C:I9?CD�:9�:VV�9=;CDR�lm� �1n7n�o6p�/oq5467n�dR]R� h:JM;E9DR��h:JM;E9D�D>:VV�I?MBVJ�<=9>�9>;�C;Q@=C;M;E9D�?G�PRbR8R�Y=9V;D�Sr�:EL�d]K�X;9�Ŝ�L:JDR��jB?E�C;I;=B9�:EL�:II;B9:EI;�?G�H??LD�?C�D;CN=I;DK�9>;�e?E9C:I9?C�D>:VV�D@OM=9�:�I?MBV;9;�:EL�:II@C:9;�=EN?=I;�G?C�B:JM;E9�GC?M�9>;�89:9;�<=9>=E�9>=C9J�sŜt�L:JDR�dRfR� u;V=N;CJR��jEV;DD�D9:9;L�?9>;C<=D;�=E�9>;�e?E9C:I9K�:VV�BC=I;D�D>:VV�O;�URgRvR�u;D9=E:9=?E�:EL�D>:VV�=EIV@L;�:VV�GC;=H>9�L;V=N;CJ�:EL�@EV?:L=EH�:9�9>;�L;D9=E:9=?ER�dRSR� PBBV=I:OV;�Y:A;DR�dRSR]R�h:JM;E9�?G�Y:A;DR��Y>;�e?E9C:I9?C�D>:VV�O;�C;DB?ED=OV;�G?C�B:J=EH�:VV�:BBV=I:OV;�9:A;DR�dRSRfR�89:9;�:EL�w?I:V�YC:ED:I9=?E�hC=N=V;H;�Y:A;DR��Y>;�89:9;�?G�PC=F?E:�=D�D@Ox;I9�9?�:VV�:BBV=I:OV;�D9:9;�:EL�V?I:V�9C:ED:I9=?E�BC=N=V;H;�9:A;DR��YC:ED:I9=?E�BC=N=V;H;�9:A;D�:BBVJ�9?�9>;�D:V;�:EL�:C;�9>;�C;DB?ED=O=V=9J�?G�9>;�D;VV;C�9?�C;M=9R��U:=V@C;�9?�I?VV;I9�D@I>�9:A;D�GC?M�9>;�O@J;C�L?;D�E?9�C;V=;N;�9>;�D;VV;C�GC?M�=9D�?OV=H:9=?E�9?�C;M=9�9:A;DR�dRSRSR�Y:A�WEL;ME=G=I:9=?ER��e?E9C:I9?C�:EL�:VV�D@OI?E9C:I9?CD�D>:VV�B:J�:VV�U;L;C:VK�D9:9;�:EL�V?I:V�9:A;D�:BBV=I:OV;�9?�=9D�?B;C:9=?E�:EL�:EJ�B;CD?ED�;MBV?J;L�OJ�9>;�e?E9C:I9?CR��e?E9C:I9?C�D>:VVK�:EL�C;Q@=C;�:VV�D@OI?E9C:I9?CD�9?�>?VL�9>;�89:9;�>:CMV;DD�GC?M�:EJ�C;DB?ED=O=V=9J�G?C�9:A;DK�L:M:H;D�:EL�=E9;C;D9K�=G�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,-��.�/���

01234156578� 9::;<=9>;?@�=ABCD<>EC<ABF�D?GE<D?H�EBH?D�I?H?D9;@�9BHJAD�FC9C?�9BH�;A=9;�;9KF�9BH�D?LE;9C<ABF�9BH�9BM�ACN?D�=AFCF�<B=;EH<BL�CD9BF9=C<AB�:D<O<;?L?�C9P?F@�QRSTUVWXTSRY�ZWTUSR[\Y]WR�]R[Q̂\RZS_� ẀZ]\V� S̀ZQ̂]YX�\Ra�bŴcŜd[�eAf:?BF9C<ABg�hgighg�jkl�mn�IADfg��jB�ADH?D�CA�D?=?<O?�:9Mf?BC�CN?�eABCD9=CAD�FN9;;�N9O?�9�=EDD?BC�jgkglg�mn�IADf�AB�o<;?�K<CN�CN?�lC9C?�Ao�pD<qAB9@�EB;?FF�BAC�D?GE<D?H�>M�;9Kg�hghg� pO9<;9><;<CM�Ao�IEBHF�oAD�CN?�r?PC�lC9C?�o<F=9;�M?9Dg��IEBHF�f9M�BAC�:D?F?BC;M�>?�9O9<;9>;?�oAD�:?DoADf9B=?�EBH?D�CN<F�eABCD9=C�>?MABH�CN?�=EDD?BC�FC9C?�o<F=9;�M?9Dg��rA�;?L9;�;<9><;<CM�AB�CN?�:9DC�Ao�CN?�lC9C?�oAD�9BM�:9Mf?BC�f9M�9D<F?�EBH?D�CN<F�eABCD9=C�>?MABH�CN?�=EDD?BC�FC9C?�o<F=9;�M?9D�EBC<;�oEBHF�9D?�f9H?�9O9<;9>;?�oAD�:?DoADf9B=?�Ao�CN<F�eABCD9=Cg���hgsg� pO9<;9><;<CM�Ao�IEBHF�oAD�CN?�=EDD?BC�lC9C?�o<F=9;�M?9Dg��lNAE;H�CN?�lC9C?�t?L<F;9CED?�?BC?D�>9=u�<BCA�F?FF<AB�9BH�D?HE=?�CN?�9::DA:D<9C<ABF�AD�oAD�9BM�D?9FAB�9BH�CN?F?�LAAHF�AD�F?DO<=?F�9D?�BAC�oEBH?H@�CN?�lC9C?�f9M�C9u?�9BM�Ao�CN?�oA;;AK<BL�9=C<ABFv���hgsgwg� p==?:C�9�H?=D?9F?�<B�:D<=?�Aoo?D?H�>M�CN?�=ABCD9=CADx���hgsgyg� e9B=?;�CN?�eABCD9=Cx�AD��hgsgig� e9B=?;�CN?�=ABCD9=C�9BH�D?zFA;<=<C�CN?�D?GE<D?f?BCFg��{|� �2781}38��~}7�5��sgwg� pf?BHf?BCFg���N<F�eABCD9=C�<F�<FFE?H�EBH?D�CN?�9ECNAD<CM�Ao�CN?��DA=ED?f?BC��oo<=?D�KNA�F<LB?H�CN<F�eABCD9=Cg���N?�eABCD9=C�f9M�>?�fAH<o<?H�AB;M�CNDAELN�9�eABCD9=C�pf?BHf?BC�K<CN<B�CN?�F=A:?�Ao�CN?�eABCD9=Cg��eN9BL?F�CA�CN?�eABCD9=C@�<B=;EH<BL�CN?�9HH<C<AB�Ao�KADu�AD�f9C?D<9;F@�CN?�D?O<F<AB�Ao�:9Mf?BC�C?DfF@�AD�CN?�FE>FC<CEC<AB�Ao�KADu�AD�f9C?D<9;F@�H<D?=C?H�>M�9�:?DFAB�KNA�<F�BAC�F:?=<o<=9;;M�9ECNAD<q?H�>M�CN?�:DA=ED?f?BC�Aoo<=?D�<B�KD<C<BL�AD�f9H?�EB<;9C?D9;;M�>M�CN?�eABCD9=CAD�9D?�O<A;9C<ABF�Ao�CN?�eABCD9=C�9BH�Ao�9::;<=9>;?�;9Kg��lE=N�=N9BL?F@�<B=;EH<BL�EB9ECNAD<q?H�KD<CC?B�eABCD9=C�pf?BHf?BCF�FN9;;�>?�OA<H�9BH�K<CNAEC�?oo?=C@�9BH�CN?�eABCD9=CAD�FN9;;�BAC�>?�?BC<C;?H�CA�9BM�=;9<f�EBH?D�CN<F�eABCD9=C�>9F?H�AB�CNAF?�=N9BL?Fg�sgyg� lE>=ABCD9=CFg���N?�eABCD9=CAD�FN9;;�BAC�?BC?D�<BCA�9BM�lE>=ABCD9=C�EBH?D�CN<F�eABCD9=C�oAD�CN?�:?DoADf9B=?�Ao�CN<F�=ABCD9=C�K<CNAEC�CN?�9HO9B=?�KD<CC?B�9::DAO9;�Ao�CN?��DA=ED?f?BC��oo<=?Dg���N?�eABCD9=CAD�FN9;;�=;?9D;M�;<FC�9BM�:DA:AF?H�FE>=ABCD9=CADF�9BH�Y�S�[Q�ZWRŶ\ZYŴd[�ÛWUW[Sa�̂S[UWR[]�]V]Y]S[�����S�̀Q�ZWRŶ\ZY�[�\VV�]RZŴUŴ\YS��X�D?o?D?B=?�CN?�C?DfF�9BH�=ABH<C<ABF�Ao�CN<F�eABCD9=Cg��sgig� pFF<LBf?BC�9BH��?;?L9C<ABg���N?�eABCD9=CAD�FN9;;�BAC�9FF<LB�9BM�D<LNC�BAD�H?;?L9C?�9BM�HECM�EBH?D�CN<F�eABCD9=C�K<CNAEC�CN?�:D<AD�KD<CC?B�9::DAO9;�Ao�CN?��DA=ED?f?BC��oo<=?Dg���N?�lC9C?�FN9;;�BAC�EBD?9FAB9>;M�K<CNNA;H�9::DAO9;g��g� �����}7����}����8���gwg��k<Fu�Ao�tAFFv���N?�eABCD9=CAD�FN9;;�>?9D�9;;�;AFF�Ao�=ABoADf<BL�f9C?D<9;�=AO?D?H�EBH?D�CN<F�eABCD9=C�EBC<;�D?=?<O?H�>M�9ECNAD<q?H�:?DFABB?;�9C�CN?�;A=9C<AB�H?F<LB9C?H�<B�CN?�:ED=N9F?�ADH?D�AD�eABCD9=Cg���?D?�D?=?<:C�HA?F�BAC�=ABFC<CEC?�o<B9;�9==?:C9B=?g���N?�D<Fu�Ao�;AFF�oAD�BAB=ABoADf<BL�f9C?D<9;F�FN9;;�D?f9<B�K<CN�CN?�eABCD9=CAD�D?L9DH;?FF�Ao�D?=?<:Cg�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,���-�.���

/0123045467�89:9� ;<=>?<@A@BCD@E<�89:9F9� GE<DHCBDEHIJ><=EH�;<=>?<@A@BCD@E<�KLED�MNOP@B�QR><BST��UV>�WCHD@>X�DE�DV@X�BE<DHCBD�CRH>>�DVCD�DV>�YDCD>�EA�QH@ZE<C[�@DX�=>WCHD?><DX[�CR><B@>X[�OECH=X�C<=�BE??@XX@E<X�XVCPP�O>�@<=>?<@A@>=�C<=�V>P=�VCH?P>XX�OS�DV>�BE<DHCBDEH�AEH�DV>�\@BCH@ENX�P@CO@P@DS�EA�DV>�YDCD>�CX�C�H>XNPD�EA�><D>H@<R�@<DE�DV@X�BE<DHCBD9��]Ê>\>H[�DV>�WCHD@>X�ANHDV>H�CRH>>�DVCD�DV>�YDCD>�EA�QH@ZE<C[�@DX�=>WCHD?><DX[�CR><B@>X[�OECH=X�C<=�BE??@XX@E<X�XVCPP�O>�H>XWE<X@OP>�AEH�@DX�Ê<�<>RP@R><B>9��_CBV�WCHDS�DE�DV@X�BE<DHCBD�@X�H>XWE<X@OP>�AEH�@DX�Ê<�<>RP@R><B>9��89:9:9� MNOP@B�QR><BS�̀C<RNCR>�a<PS��_CBV�WCHDS�KCX�b@<=>?<@DEHbT�CRH>>X�DE�@<=>?<@AS[�=>A><=[�C<=�VEP=�VCH?P>XX�DV>�EDV>H�WCHDS�KCX�b@<=>?<@D>>bT�AHE?�C<=�CRC@<XD�C<S�C<=�CPP�BPC@?X[�PEXX>X[�P@CO@P@DS[�BEXDX[�EH�>cW><X>X�K@<BPN=@<R�H>CXE<COP>�CDDEH<>SbX�A>>XT�KV>H>@<CAD>H�BEPP>BD@\>PS�H>A>HH>=�DE�CX�bBPC@?XbT�CH@X@<R�END�EA�OE=@PS�@<dNHS�EA�C<S�W>HXE<�K@<BPN=@<R�=>CDVT�EH�WHEW>HDS�=C?CR>�OND�E<PS�DE�DV>�>cD><D�DVCD�XNBV�BPC@?X�̂V@BV�H>XNPD�@<�\@BCH@ENXI=>H@\CD@\>�P@CO@P@DS�DE�DV>�@<=>?<@D>>[�CH>�BCNX>=�OS�DV>�CBD[�E?@XX@E<[�<>RP@R><B>[�?@XBE<=NBD[�EH�EDV>H�ACNPD�EA�DV>�@<=>?<@DEH[�@DX�EAA@B>HX[�EAA@B@CPX[�CR><DX[�>?WPES>>X[�EH�\EPN<D>>HX9e�89f9� ;<=>?<@A@BCD@E<�g�MCD><D�C<=�GEWSH@RVDh�UV>�GE<DHCBDEH�XVCPP�@<=>?<@AS�C<=�VEP=�VCH?P>XX�DV>�YDCD>�CRC@<XD�C<S�P@CO@P@DS[�@<BPN=@<R�BEXDX�C<=�>cW><X>X[�AEH�@<AH@<R>?><D�EA�C<S�WCD><D[�DHC=>?CHi�EH�BEWSH@RVD�CH@X@<R�END�EA�GE<DHCBD�W>HAEH?C<B>�EH�NX>�OS�DV>�YDCD>�EA�?CD>H@CPX�ANH<@XV>=�EH�̂EHi�W>HAEH?>=�N<=>H�DV@X�GE<DHCBD9��UV>�YDCD>�XVCPP�H>CXE<COPS�<ED@AS�DV>�GE<DHCBDEH�EA�C<S�BPC@?�AEH�̂V@BV�@D�?CS�O>�P@COP>�N<=>H�DV@X�WCHCRHCWV9��;A�DV>�BE<DHCBDEH�@X�@<XNH>=�WNHXNC<D�DE�Q9j9Y9�k�lFg8:F�C<=�k�fmgFml[�DV@X�X>BD@E<�XVCPP�<ED�CWWPS9�89l9� nEHB>�oCd>NH>9�89l9F�_cB>WD�AEH�WCS?><D�EA�XN?X�=N>[�<>@DV>H�WCHDS�XVCPP�O>�P@COP>�DE�DV>�EDV>H�<EH�pqqrqp�st�pquvwxy�wtpqz�y{s|�}~tyzv�y�su�vtp�y~�y{q�q�yqty�y{vy�|w�{��vzy��|�W>HAEH?C<B>�EA�DV@X�GE<DHCBD�@X�WH>\><D>=�OS�H>CXE<�EA�AEHB>�?Cd>NH>9��UV>�D>H?�����������������?>C<X�C<�EBBNHH><B>�DVCD�@X�O>SE<=�DV>�BE<DHEP�EA�DV>�WCHDS�CAA>BD>=�C<=�EBBNHX�̂@DVEND�@DX�ACNPD�EH�<>RP@R><B>9���@DVEND�P@?@D@<R�DV>�AEH>RE@<R[�AEHB>�?Cd>NH>�@<BPN=>X�CBDX�EA��E=��CBDX�EA�DV>�WNOP@B�><>?S��̂CH��H@EDX��XDH@i>X��?EO@P@ZCD@E<��PCOEH�=@XWND>X��B@\@P�=@XEH=>HX��A@H>��APEE=��PEBiENDX��@<dN<BD@E<Xg@<D>H\><D@E<gCBDX��EH�AC@PNH>X�EH�H>ANXCPX�DE�CBD�OS�RE\>H<?><D�CNDVEH@DS��C<=�EDV>H�X@?@PCH�EBBNHH><B>X�O>SE<=�DV>�BE<DHEP�EA�DV>�WCHDS�=>BPCH@<R�AEHB>�?Cd>NH>�̂V@BV�XNBV�WCHDS�@X�N<COP>�DE�WH>\><D�OS�>c>HB@X@<R�H>CXE<COP>�=@P@R><B>9�89l9:9�nEHB>�oCd>NH>�XVCPP�<ED�@<BPN=>�DV>�AEPPÊ@<R�EBBNHH><B>X����89l9:9F9�̀CD>�=>P@\>HS�EA�>�N@W?><D�EH�?CD>H@CPX�BCNX>=�OS�BE<R>XD@E<�CD�C�rvtwuv�ywzqz�|��xvty�~z�qx|q�{qzq��~z�vt�~�qz|~xp��~<=@D@E<�EA�DV>�?CHi>D����89l9:9:9�̀CD>�W>HAEH?C<B>�OS�C�XNOBE<DHCBDEH�N<P>XX�DV>�=>PCS�CH@X>X�END�EA�C�AEHB>�?Cd>NH>�EBBNHH><B>�@<�CBBEH=C<B>�̂@DV�DV@X�AEHB>�?Cd>NH>�D>H?�C<=�BE<=@D@E<��EH�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,���-�.���

/0123045467� 89:9;9<9�=>?@ABACD�EF�GACHGI�CHG�JE>CI?KCEI�EI�?>D�LM@KE>CI?KCEI�CE�?KNMAIG�EI�O?A>C?A>�?>D�IGNMAIGP�A>LMI?>KGQ�@E>PLQ�BAKG>LGL�EI�RGIOACL9�89:9<9�=F�GACHGI�R?ICD�AL�PGB?DGP�?C�?>D�CAOG�A>�CHG�RIESIGLL�EF�CHG�TEIU�@D�FEIKG�O?VGMIGQ�CHG�PGB?DGP�R?ICD�LH?BB�>ECAFD�CHG�ECHGI�R?ICD�A>�TIACA>S�EF�LMKH�PGB?DQ�?L�LEE>�?L�AL�RI?KCAK?@BG�?>P�>E�B?CGI�CH?>�CHG�FEBBETA>S�TEIUA>S�P?DQ�EF�CHG�KEOOG>KGOG>C�CHGIGEF�?>P�LH?BB�LRGKAFD�CHG�K?MLGL�EF�LMKH�PGB?D�A>�LMKH�>ECAKG9��WMKH�>ECAKG�LH?BB�@G�PGBAXGIGP�EI�O?ABGP�KGICAFAGPYIGCMI>�IGKGARC�?>P�LH?BB�O?UG�?�LRGKAFAK�IGFGIG>KG�CE�CHAL�?ICAKBGQ�CHGIG@D�A>XEUA>S�ACL�RIEXALAE>L9��ZHG�PGB?DGP�R?ICD�LH?BB�K?MLG�LMKH�PGB?D�CE�KG?LG�?L�LEE>�?L�RI?KCAK?@BG�?>P�LH?BB�>ECAFD�CHG�ECHGI�R?ICD�A>�TIACA>S�THG>�AC�H?L�PE>G�LE9��ZHG�CAOG�EF�KEORBGCAE>�LH?BB�@G�G[CG>PGP�@D�JE>CI?KC�\OG>POG>C�FEI�?�RGIAEP�EF�CAOG�GNM?B�CE�CHG�CAOG�CH?C�IGLMBCL�EI�GFFGKCL�EF�LMKH�PGB?D�RIGXG>C�CHG�PGB?DGP�R?ICD�FIEO�RGIFEIOA>S�A>�?KKEIP?>KG�TACH�CHAL�JE>CI?KC9�89:9:9�\>D�PGB?D�EI�F?ABMIG�A>�RGIFEIO?>KG�@D�GACHGI�R?ICD�HGIGCE�LH?BB�>EC�KE>LCACMCG�PGF?MBC�HGIGM>PGI�EI�SAXG�IALG�CE�?>D�KB?AO�FEI�P?O?SGL�EI�BELL�EF�?>CAKAR?CGP�RIEFACL�AFQ�?>P�CE�CHG�G[CG>C�CH?C�LMKH�PGB?D�EI�F?ABMIG�AL�K?MLGP�@D�FEIKG�O?VGMIG9�89]9� ZHAIP�̂?ICD�\>CACIMLC�_AEB?CAE>L9��ZHG�JE>CI?KCEI�?LLAS>L�CE�CHG�WC?CG�?>D�KB?AO�FEI�EXGIKH?ISGL�IGLMBCA>S�FIEO�?>CACIMLC�XAEB?CAE>L�CE�CHG�G[CG>C�CH?C�CHELG�XAEB?CAE>L�KE>KGI>�O?CGIA?BL�EI�LGIXAKGL�LMRRBAGP�@D�CHAIP�R?ICAGL�CE�CHG�JE>CI?KCEIQ�CET?IP�FMBFABBOG>C�EF�CHAL�JE>CI?KC9�à� bc00c67d4e�f9g9� hAG>L9��ZHG�JE>CI?KCEI�T?II?>CL�CH?C�CHG�O?CGIA?BL�LMRRBAGP�M>PGI�CHAL�JE>CI?KC�?IG�FIGG�EF�BAG>L�?>P�LH?BB�IGO?A>�FIGG�EF�BAG>L9�f9;9� iM?BACD9��j>BGLL�ECHGITALG�OEPAFAGP�GBLGTHGIG�A>�CHGLG�CGIOL�?>P�KE>PACAE>LQ�CHG�JE>CI?KCEI�T?II?>CL�CH?CQ�FEI�E>G�DG?I�?FCGI�?KKGRC?>KG�@D�CHG�WC?CG�EF�CHG�O?CGIA?BLQ�CHGD�LH?BB�@Gk���f9;9g9�lF�?�NM?BACD�CE�R?LL�TACHEMC�E@VGKCAE>�A>�CHG�CI?PG�M>PGI�CHG�JE>CI?KC�PGLKIARCAE>m���f9;9;9�nAC�FEI�CHG�A>CG>PGP�RMIRELGL�FEI�THAKH�CHG�O?CGIA?BL�?IG�MLGPm���f9;9<9�oACHA>�CHG�X?IA?CAE>L�RGIOACCGP�@D�CHG�JE>CI?KC�?>P�?IG�EF�GXG>�UA>PQ�NM?>CACDQ�?>P�NM?BACD�TACHA>�G?KH�M>AC�?>P�?OE>S�?BB�M>ACLm���f9;9:9�\PGNM?CGBD�KE>C?A>GPQ�R?KU?SGP�?>P�O?IUGP�?L�CHG�JE>CI?KC�O?D�IGNMAIGm�?>P���f9;9]9�JE>FEIO�CE�CHG�TIACCG>�RIEOALGL�EI�?FFAIO?CAE>L�EF�F?KC�O?PG�@D�CHG�JE>CI?KCEI9�f9<9� nAC>GLL9��ZHG�JE>CI?KCEI�T?II?>CL�CH?C�?>D�O?CGIA?B�LMRRBAGP�CE�CHG�WC?CG�LH?BB�FMBBD�KE>FEIO�CE�?BB�IGNMAIGOG>CL�EF�CHG�JE>CI?KC�?>P�?BB�IGRIGLG>C?CAE>L�EF�CHG�JE>CI?KCEIQ�?>P�LH?BB�@G�FAC�FEI�?BB�RMIRELGL�?>P�MLGL�IGNMAIGP�@D�CHG�JE>CI?KC9�f9:9� =>LRGKCAE>pZGLCA>S9��ZHG�T?II?>CAGL�LGC�FEICH�A>�LM@R?I?SI?RHL�f9g�CHIEMSH�f9<�EF�CHAL�R?I?SI?RH�?IG�>EC�?FFGKCGP�@D�A>LRGKCAE>�EI�CGLCA>S�EF�EI�R?DOG>C�FEI�CHG�O?CGIA?BL�@D�CHG�WC?CG9�f9]9� JEORBA?>KG�oACH�\RRBAK?@BG�h?TL9��ZHG�O?CGIA?BL�?>P�LGIXAKGL�LMRRBAGP�M>PGI�CHAL�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,-��.�/���

01234156578� 9:;<=>?<�@A>BB�?:CDBE�FG<A�>BB�>DDBG?>HBI�JIKI=>BL�@<><I�>;K�B:?>B�B>F@L�>;K�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�@A>BB�C>G;<>G;�>BB�>DDBG?>HBI�BG?I;@I�>;K�DI=CG<�=IMNG=ICI;<@O�POQO� RN=SGS>B�:T�UGVA<@�>;K�WHBGV><G:;@�>T<I=�9:;<=>?<�XYDG=><G:;�:=�ZI=CG;><G:;O�POQO[O�9:;<=>?<:=\@�UID=I@I;<><G:;@�>;K�]>==>;<GI@O��̂ BB�=ID=I@I;<><G:;@�>;K�F>==>;<GI@�C>KI�HE�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�N;KI=�<AG@�9:;<=>?<�@A>BB�@N=SGSI�<AI�IYDG=><G:;�:=�<I=CG;><G:;�AI=I:TO��_;�>KKG<G:;L�<AI�D>=<GI@�AI=I<:�>?̀;:FBIKVI�<A><�DN=@N>;<�<:�̂OUORO��a�[bcd[eL�IY?ID<�>@�D=:SGKIK�G;�̂OUORO��a�[bcdbfL�<AI�R<><I�G@�;:<�@NHgI?<�<:�:=�H>==IK�HE�>;E�BGCG<><G:;@�:T�>?<G:;@�D=I@?=GHIK�G;�ÔUOROL�ZG<BI�[bL�9A>D<I=�dO�POQObO�hN=?A>@I�W=KI=@O��ZAI�9:;<=>?<:=�@A>BBL�G;�>??:=K>;?I�FG<A�>BB�<I=C@�>;K�?:;KG<G:;@�:T�<AI�9:;<=>?<L�TNBBE�DI=T:=C�>;K�@A>BB�HI�:HBGV><IK�<:�?:CDBE�FG<A�>BB�DN=?A>@I�:=KI=@�=I?IGSIK�HE�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�D=G:=�<:�<AI�IYDG=><G:;�:=�<I=CG;><G:;�AI=I:TL�N;BI@@�:<AI=FG@I�KG=I?<IK�G;�F=G<G;V�HE�<AI�h=:?N=ICI;<�WTTG?I=L�G;?BNKG;VL�FG<A:N<�BGCG<><G:;L�>BB�DN=?A>@I�:=KI=@�=I?IGSIK�D=G:=�<:�HN<�;:<�TNBBE�DI=T:=CIK�>;K�@><G@TGIK�><�<AI�IYDG=><G:;�:=�<I=CG;><G:;�:T�<AG@�9:;<=>?<O�ij� �8k85lm��2781k384kn��565op5m�qO[O� UGVA<�<:�̂@@N=>;?IO��_T�<AI�R<><I�G;�V::K�T>G<A�A>@�=I>@:;�<:�HIBGISI�<A><�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�K:I@�;:<�G;<I;K�<:L�:=�G@�N;>HBI�<:�DI=T:=C�:=�?:;<G;NI�DI=T:=CG;V�N;KI=�<AG@�9:;<=>?<L�<AI�h=:?N=ICI;<�WTTG?I=�C>E�KIC>;K�G;�F=G<G;V�<A><�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�VGSI�>�F=G<<I;�>@@N=>;?I�:T�G;<I;<�<:�DI=T:=CO��J>GBN=I�HE�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�<:�D=:SGKI�F=G<<I;�>@@N=>;?I�FG<AG;�<AI�;NCHI=�:T�r>E@�@DI?GTGIK�G;�<AI�KIC>;K�C>EL�><�<As�tuvuswx�yzu{y|}�~s�u�s�H>@G@�T:=�<I=CG;><G;V�<AI�9:;<=>?<�N;KI=�<AI��;GT:=C�ZI=C@�>;K�9:;KG<G:;@�:=�:<AI=�=GVA<@�>;K�=ICIKGI@�>S>GB>HBI�HE�B>F�:=�D=:SGKIK�HE�<AI�?:;<=>?<O�qObO� R<:D�]:=̀�W=KI=O���qObO[O�ZAI�R<><I�C>EL�><�>;E�<GCIL�HE�F=G<<I;�:=KI=�<:�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=L�=IMNG=I�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�<:�@<:D�>BB�:=�>;E�D>=<L�:T�<AI�F:=̀�?>BBIK�T:=�HE�<AG@�9:;<=>?<�T:=�DI=G:K�@��:T�K>E@�G;KG?><IK�HE�<AI�R<><I�>T<I=�<AI�:=KI=�G@�KIBGSI=IK�<:�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=O��ZAI�:=KI=�@A>BB�HI�@DI?GTG?>BBE�GKI;<GTGIK�>@�>�@<:D�F:=̀�:=KI=�G@@NIK�N;KI=�<AG@�?B>N@IO���D:;�=I?IGD<�:T�<AI�:=KI=L�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�@A>BB�GCCIKG><IBE�?:CDBE�FG<A�G<@�<I=C@�>;K�<>̀I�>BB�=I>@:;>HBI�@<ID@�<:�CG;GCG�I�<AI�G;?N==I;?I�:T�?:@<@�>BB:?>HBI�<:�<AI�F:=̀�?:SI=IK�HE�<AI�:=KI=�KN=G;V�<AI�DI=G:K�:T�F:=̀�@<:DD>VIO�qObObO�_T�>�@<:D�F:=̀�:=KI=�G@@NIK�N;KI=�<AG@�?B>N@I�G@�?>;?IBIK�:=�<AI�DI=G:K�:T�<AI�:=KI=�:=�>;E�IY<I;@G:;�IYDG=I@L�<AI�9:;<=>?<:=�@A>BB�=I@NCI�F:=̀O��ZAI�h=:?N=ICI;<�WTTG?I=�@A>BB�C>̀I�>;�IMNG<>HBI�>KgN@<CI;<�G;�<AI�KIBGSI=E�@?AIKNBI�:=�9:;<=>?<�D=G?IL�:=�H:<AL�>;K�<AI�9:;<=>?<�@A>BB�HI�>CI;KIK�G;�F=G<G;V�>??:=KG;VBEO�qO�O� �:;cIY?BN@GSI�UICIKGI@O��ZAI�=GVA<@�>;K�<AI�=ICIKGI@�:T�<AI�R<><I�N;KI=�<AG@�9:;<=>?<�>=I�;:<�IY?BN@GSIO�qO�O� �:;?:;T:=CG;V�ZI;KI=O���><I=G>B@�:=�@I=SG?I@�@NDDBGIK�N;KI=�<AG@�9:;<=>?<�@A>BB�TNBBE�?:CDBE�FG<A�<AI�9:;<=>?<O��ZAI�KIBGSI=E�:T�C><I=G>B@�:=�@I=SG?I@�:=�>�D:=<G:;�:T�<AI�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�, ��-�.���

/0123045467� 89:;<=9>?�@<�?;<A=B;?�:C9:�D@�E@:�FG>>H�B@8I>H�B@E?:=:G:;?�9�J<;9BC�@F�B@E:<9B:K��LE�D;>=A;<H�@F�E@EB@EF@<8=EM�89:;<=9>?�@<�?;<A=B;?N�:C;�O:9:;�89H�:;<8=E9:;�:C;�P@E:<9B:�F@<�D;F9G>:�GED;<�9II>=B9J>;�:;<8=E9:=@E�B>9G?;?�=E�:C;�P@E:<9B:N�;Q;<B=?;�9EH�@F�=:?�<=MC:?�9ED�<;8;D=;?�GED;<�:C;�RE=F@<8�P@88;<B=9>�P@D;N�@<�IG<?G;�9EH�@:C;<�<=MC:�@<�<;8;DH�9A9=>9J>;�:@�=:K�SKTK� U=MC:�@F�LFF?;:K��VC;�O:9:;�?C9>>�J;�;E:=:>;D�:@�@FF?;:�9M9=E?:�9EH�?G8?�DG;�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<N�9EH�;QI;E?;?�@<�B@?:?�=EBG<<;D�JH�:C;�O:9:;N�@<�D989M;?�9??;??;D�JH�:C;�WXYXZ�[\][Ẑ]_]̀�XaZ�b\]X̂Y[X\̂cd�]\]eB@EF@<8=EM�I;<F@<89EB;�@<�F9=>G<;�:@�I;<F@<8�:C;�P@E:<9B:N�=EB>GD=EM�;QI;E?;?N�B@?:?�9ED�D989M;?�D;?B<=J;D�=E�:C;�RE=F@<8�V;<8?�9ED�P@ED=:=@E?K�fg� �1670h27�	405i6h7i16�jKkK� P9EB;>>9:=@E�F@<�P@EF>=B:�@F�lE:;<;?:K��mG<?G9E:�:@�nKUKOK�o�pSeTkkN�:C;�O:9:;�89H�B9EB;>�:C=?�P@E:<9B:�q=:C=E�:C<;;�rps�H;9<?�9F:;<�P@E:<9B:�;Q;BG:=@E�q=:C@G:�I;E9>:H�@<�FG<:C;<�@J>=M9:=@E�=F�9EH�I;<?@E�?=ME=F=B9E:>H�=EA@>A;D�=E�=E=:=9:=EMN�E;M@:=9:=EMN�?;BG<=EMN�D<9F:=EM�@<�B<;9:=EM�:C;�P@E:<9B:�@E�J;C9>F�@F�:C;�O:9:;�=?�@<�J;B@8;?�9:�9EH�:=8;�qC=>;�:C;�P@E:<9B:�@<�9E�;Q:;E?=@E�@F�:C;�P@E:<9B:�=?�=E�;FF;B:�9E�;8I>@H;;�@F�@<�9�B@E?G>:9E:�:@�9EH�@:C;<�I9<:H�:@�:C=?�P@E:<9B:�q=:C�<;?I;B:�:@�:C;�?GJt;B:�89::;<�@F�:C;�P@E:<9B:K��VC;�B9EB;>>9:=@E�?C9>>�J;�;FF;B:=A;�qC;E�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�<;B;=A;?�q<=::;E�E@:=B;�@F�:C;�B9EB;>>9:=@E�GE>;??�:C;�E@:=B;�?I;B=F=;?�9�>9:;<�:=8;K��lF�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�=?�9�I@>=:=B9>�?GJD=A=?=@E�@F�:C;�O:9:;N�=:�89H�9>?@�B9EB;>�:C=?�P@E:<9B:�9?�I<@A=D;D�=E�nKUKOK�o�pSeTkkK�jKuK� v<9:G=:=;?K��VC;�O:9:;�89HN�JH�q<=::;E�E@:=B;N�:;<8=E9:;�:C=?�P@E:<9B:N�=E�qC@>;�@<�=E�I9<:N�=F�:C;�O:9:;�D;:;<8=E;?�:C9:�;8I>@H8;E:�@<�9�v<9:G=:H�q9?�@FF;<;D�@<�89D;�JH�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�@<�9�<;I<;?;E:9:=A;�@F�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�:@�9EH�@FF=B;<�@<�;8I>@H;;�@F�:C;�O:9:;�F@<�:C;�IG<I@?;�@F�=EF>G;EB=EM�:C;�@G:B@8;�@F�:C;�I<@BG<;8;E:�@<�?;BG<=EM�:C;�P@E:<9B:N�9E�98;ED8;E:�:@�:C;�P@E:<9B:N�@<�F9A@<9J>;�:<;9:8;E:�B@EB;<E=EM�:C;�P@E:<9B:N�=EB>GD=EM�:C;�89w=EM�@F�9EH�D;:;<8=E9:=@E�@<�D;B=?=@E�9J@G:�B@E:<9B:�I;<F@<89EB;K��VC;�O:9:;N�=E�9DD=:=@E�:@�9EH�@:C;<�<=MC:?�@<�<;8;D=;?N�?C9>>�J;�;E:=:>;D�:@�<;B@A;<�;Q;8I>9<H�D989M;?�=E�:C;�98@GE:�@F�:C<;;�:=8;?�:C;�A9>G;�@F�:C;�v<9:G=:H�@FF;<;D�JH�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<K�jKpK� OG?I;E?=@E�@<�x;J9<8;E:K��VC;�O:9:;�89HN�JH�q<=::;E�E@:=B;�:@�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<N�=88;D=9:;>H�:;<8=E9:;�:C=?�P@E:<9B:�=F�:C;�O:9:;�D;:;<8=E;?�:C9:�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�C9?�J;;E�D;J9<<;DN�?G?I;ED;D�@<�@:C;<q=?;�>9qFG>>H�I<@C=J=:;D�F<@8�I9<:=B=I9:=EM�=E�9EH�IGJ>=B�I<@BG<;8;E:�9B:=A=:HN�=EB>GD=EM�JG:�E@:�>=8=:;D�:@N�J;=EM�D=?9II<@A;D�9?�9�?GJB@E:<9B:@<�@F�9EH�IGJ>=B�I<@BG<;8;E:�GE=:�@<�@:C;<�M@A;<E8;E:9>�J@DHK��OGJ8=::9>�@F�9E�@FF;<�@<�;Q;BG:=@E�@F�9�B@E:<9B:�?C9>>�9::;?:�:C9:�:C;�B@E:<9B:@<�=?�E@:�BG<<;E:>H�?G?I;ED;D�@<�D;J9<<;DK��lF�:C;�B@E:<9B:@<�J;B@8;?�?G?I;ED;D�@<�D;J9<<;DN�:C;�B@E:<9B:@<�?C9>>�=88;D=9:;>H�E@:=FH�:C;�O:9:;K�jKyK� V;<8=E9:=@E�F@<�P@EA;E=;EB;K��VC;�O:9:;�<;?;<A;?�:C;�<=MC:�:@�:;<8=E9:;�:C;�P@E:<9B:N�=E�qC@>;�@<�=E�I9<:�9:�9EH�:=8;�qC;E�=E�:C;�J;?:�=E:;<;?:�@F�:C;�O:9:;N�q=:C@G:�I;E9>:H�@<�<;B@G<?;K��RI@E�<;B;=I:�@F�:C;�q<=::;E�E@:=B;N�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�?C9>>�?:@I�9>>�q@<wN�9?�D=<;B:;D�=E�:C;�E@:=B;N�E@:=FH�9>>�?GJB@E:<9B:@<?�@F�:C;�;FF;B:=A;�D9:;�@F�:C;�:;<8=E9:=@E�9ED�8=E=8=z;�9>>�FG<:C;<�B@?:?�:@�:C;�O:9:;K��lE�:C;�;A;E:�@F�:;<8=E9:=@E�GED;<�:C=?�I9<9M<9ICN�9>>�D@BG8;E:?N�D9:9�9ED�<;I@<:?�I<;I9<;D�JH�:C;�P@E:<9B:@<�GED;<�:C;�P@E:<9B:�?C9>>�J;B@8;�:C;�I<@I;<:H�@F�9ED�J;�D;>=A;<;D�:@�:C;�O:9:;�GI@E�D;89EDK��VC;�



� ��������������� ��������	
�����������	������

��������������������������� � !"����#�$������$�����%��&'�((�&&)�*)+�"(� ��+$�,-��.�-���

/0123045467� 89:;<=>;9<�?@=AA�BC�C:;D;ACE�;9�<C>CDFC�GH?;�=:E�CIHD;=BAC�>9JKC:?=;D9:�L9<�M9<N�D:�K<9O<C??P�M9<N�>9JKAC;CE�=:E�J=;C<D=A?�=>>CK;CE�BCL9<C�;@C�CLLC>;DFC�E=;C�9L�;@C�;C<JD:=;D9:Q��R@C�>9?;�K<D:>DKAC?�=:E�K<9>CEH<C?�K<9FDECE�D:�SQSQ8Q�TUVWVWXY�?@=AA�=KKAZQ�[Q\Q� RC<JD:=;D9:�L9<�]CL=HA;Q�[Q\QYQ� :̂�=EED;D9:�;9�;@C�<DO@;?�<C?C<FCE�D:�;@C�>9:;<=>;P�;@C�_;=;C�J=Z�;C<JD:=;C�;@C�89:;<=>;�D:�M@9AC�9<�D:�K=<;�EHC�;9�;@C�L=DAH<C�9L�;@C�89:;<=>;9<�;9�>9JKAZ�MD;@�=:Z�;C<J�9<�>9:ED;D9:�9L�;@C�89:;<=>;P�;9�=>IHD<C�=:E�J=D:;=D:�=AA�<CIHD<CE�D:?H<=:>C�K9AD>DC?P�B9:E?P�AD>C:?C?�=:E�KC<JD;?P�9<�;9�J=NC�?=;D?L=>;9<Z�K<9O<C??�D:�KC<L9<JD:O�;@C�89:;<=>;Q��R@C�̀<9>H<CJC:;�aLLD>C<�?@=AA�K<9FDEC�M<D;;C:�:9;D>C�9L�;@C�;C<JD:=;D9:�=:E�;@C�<C=?9:?�L9<�D;�;9�;@C�89:;<=>;9<Q�[Q\QUQ�bK9:�;C<JD:=;D9:�H:EC<�;@D?�K=<=O<=K@P�=AA�O99E?P�J=;C<D=A?P�E9>HJC:;?P�E=;=�=:E�<CK9<;?�K<CK=<CE�BZ�;@C�89:;<=>;9<�H:EC<�;@C�89:;<=>;�?@=AA�BC>9JC�;@C�K<9KC<;Z�9L�=:E�BC�ECADFC<CE�;9�;@C�_;=;C�9:�ECJ=:EQ�[Q\QcQ�R@C�_;=;C�J=ZP�HK9:�;C<JD:=;D9:�9L�;@D?�89:;<=>;P�K<9>H<CP�9:�;C<J?�=:E�D:�;@C�J=::C<�;@=;�D;�ECCJ?�=KK<9K<D=;CP�J=;C<D=A?�9<�?C<FD>C?�;9�<CKA=>C�;@9?C�H:EC<�;@D?�89:;<=>;Q��R@C�89:;<=>;9<�?@=AA�BC�AD=BAC�;9�;@C�_;=;C�L9<�=:Z�Cd>C??�>9?;?�D:>H<<CE�BZ�;@C�_;=;C�D:�K<9>H<D:O�J=;C<D=A?�9<�?C<FD>C?�D:�?HB?;D;H;D9:�L9<�;@9?C�EHC�L<9J�;@C�89:;<=>;9<Q�[QeQ� 89:;D:H=;D9:�9L�̀C<L9<J=:>C�R@<9HO@�RC<JD:=;D9:Q��R@C�89:;<=>;9<�?@=AA�>9:;D:HC�;9�KC<L9<JP�D:�=>>9<E=:>C�MD;@�;@C�<CIHD<CJC:;?�9L�;@C�89:;<=>;P�HK�;9�;@C�E=;C�9L�;C<JD:=;D9:P�=?�ED<C>;CE�D:�;@C�;C<JD:=;D9:�:9;D>CQ�fgh� �1670i27��jik5l�SAA�>9:;<=>;�>A=DJ?�9<�>9:;<9FC<?DC?�H:EC<�;@D?�89:;<=>;�?@=AA�BC�<C?9AFCE�=>>9<ED:O�;9�SQTQ_Q�RD;AC�mYP�8@=K;C<�UcP�S<;D>AC�[P�=:E�<HAC?�=E9K;CE�;@C<CH:EC<Q�ffh� �0nk70i7k16�R@C�K=<;DC?�;9�;@D?�89:;<=>;�=O<CC�;9�<C?9AFC�=AA�ED?KH;C?�=<D?D:O�9H;�9L�9<�<CA=;D:O�;9�;@D?�>9:;<=>;�;@<9HO@�=<BD;<=;D9:P�=L;C<�Cd@=H?;D:O�=KKAD>=BAC�=EJD:D?;<=;DFC�<CFDCMP�;9�;@C�Cd;C:;�<CIHD<CE�BZ�SQTQ_Q�o�YUVY\YpP�Cd>CK;�=?�J=Z�BC�<CIHD<CE�BZ�9;@C<�=KKAD>=BAC�?;=;H;C?�qRD;AC�mYrQ���fsh� �155467l�t4j2154�R@C�_;=;C�̀<9>H<CJC:;�aLLD>C�KC<D9ED>=AAZ�<CFDCM?�;@C�b:DL9<J�RC<J?�=:E�89:ED;D9:?�=:E�MCA>9JC?�=:Z�>9JJC:;?�Z9H�J=Z�@=FCQ�̀AC=?C�?HBJD;�Z9H<�>9JJC:;?�;9u�_;=;C�̀<9>H<CJC:;�SEJD:D?;<=;9<P�_;=;C�̀<9>H<CJC:;�aLLD>CP�YXX�v9<;@�Y\;@�SFC:HCP�_HD;C�UXYP�̀@9C:DdP�S<Dw9:=P�p\XXWQ��



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

� ����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�78��9	��	��:�	�	����������:����:���;���:��:�	�<�:�=�:��;��� >?@�ABCCBDEFG�HIBJEKEBFK�EFLCMN@O�EF�HPIQO�L@IQPEF�RQPFNPIN�>@ISK�PFN�TBFNEQEBFK�I@UMEI@N�VW�XY>O�D?@Q?@I�BI�FBQ�@ZHI@KKCW�K@Q�ABIQ?�EF�Q?@�HI@L@NEFG�LBFQIPLQ�HIBJEKEBFK[�\CC�LBFQIPLQMPC�HIBJEKEBFK�I@UMEI@N� VW� XY>O� PK� K@Q� ABIQ?� EF� ]>\� TEILMCPI� _̂_̀� PJPECPVC@� PQa�?QQHKabbDDD[QIPFKEQ[NBQ[GBJbI@GMCPQEBFKcPFNcGMENPFL@bAQPcLEILMCPIKbQ?EINcHPIQWcLBFQIPLQEFGcGMENPFL@�PI@�?@I@VW�EFLBIHBIPQ@N�VW�I@A@I@FL@[�\FWQ?EFG�QB�Q?@�LBFQIPIW�?@I@EF�FBQDEQ?KQPFNEFGO�PCC�]>\�SPFNPQ@N�Q@ISK�K?PCC�V@�N@@S@N�QB�LBFQIBC�EF�Q?@�@J@FQ�BA�P�LBFACELQ�DEQ?�BQ?@I�HIBJEKEBFK�LBFQPEF@N�EF�Q?EK�\GI@@S@FQ[�>?@�TBFQIPLQBI�K?PCC�FBQ�H@IABIS�PFW�PLQO�APEC�QB�H@IABIS�PFW�PLQO�BI�I@AMK@�QB�LBSHCW�DEQ?�PFW�dFPS@�BA�GIPFQ@@e�I@UM@KQK�D?EL?�DBMCN�LPMK@�dFPS@�BA�GIPFQ@@e�QB�V@�EF�JEBCPQEBF�BA�Q?@�]>\�Q@ISK�PFN�LBFNEQEBFK[�� >?@�]@N@IPC�>@ISK�PFN�TBFNEQEBFK�MFN@I�Q?EK�TBFQIPLQ�K?PCC�V@�EFLBIHBIPQ@N�EF�PFW�KMVcLBFQIPLQBIO�BI�CBD@IcQE@I�PGI@@S@FQ�ABI�PFW�A@N@IPCCWcAMFN@N�QPKf�PKKEGFS@FQ�b�HIBg@LQ�PDPIN@N�MFN@I�Q?EK�TBFQIPLQ[�� h8�	���������i	
��;�:�	j��i�:�	��:	�:k�������:����� >?@�X@HPIQS@FQ�PFN�TBFQIPLQBI�PLfFBDC@NG@�PFN�PGI@@�Q?PQO�FBQDEQ?KQPFNEFG�PFW�LBFLMII@FL@�V�Q?@�]@N@IPC�lBJ@IFS@FQ�EF�BI�PHHIBJPC�BA�Q?@�KBCELEQPQEBF�BI�PDPIN�BA�Q?@�MFN@ICWEFG�LBFQIPLQO�PVK@FQ�Q?@�@ZHI@KK�DIEQQ@F�LBFK@FQ�VW�Q?@�]@N@IPC�lBJ@IFS@FQO�Q?@�]@N@IPC�lBJ@IFS@FQ�EK�FBQ�P�HPIQW�QB�Q?EK�LBFQIPLQ�PFN�K?PCC�FBQ�V@�KMVg@LQ�QB�PFW�BVCEGPQEBFK�BI�CEPVECEQE@K�QB�Q?@�X@HPIQS@FQO�TBFQIPLQBIO�BI�PFW�BQ?@I�HPIQW�dD?@Q?@I�BI�FBQ�P�HPIQW�QB�Q?PQ�LBFQIPLQe�H@IQPEFEFG�QB�PFW�SPQQ@I�I@KMCQEFG�AIBS�Q?@�MFN@ICWEFG�LBFQIPLQ[�� >?@�TBFQIPLQBI�PGI@@K�QB�EFLCMN@�Q?@�PVBJ@�LCPMK@�EF�@PL?�KMVLBFQIPLQ�AEFPFL@N�EF�D?BC@�BI�EF�HPIQ�DEQ?�]@N@IPC�PKKEKQPFL@�HIBJEN@N�VW�]@N@IPC�]MFNEFG�\G@FLW[�mQ�EK�AMIQ?@I�PGI@@N�Q?PQ�Q?@�LCPMK@�K?PCC�FBQ�V@�SBNEAE@NO�@ZL@HQ�QB�EN@FQEAW�Q?@�KMVLBFQIPLQBI�D?B�DECC�V@�KMVg@LQ�QB�EQK�HIBJEKEBFK[�� n8���	i��;����o�����������	�����o�o��:��:�:�;�:���������:����9:��� TBFQIPLQBI�PLfFBDC@NG@K�Q?PQ�Q?@�HIBJEKEBFK�BA�Q?@�pIBGIPS�]IPMN�TEJEC�q@S@NE@K�\LQ�BA�rstuO�PK�PS@FN@NO�vr�wRT�vt̀r�@Q�K@U[�PFN�wRXY>�I@GMCPQEBFKO�xpIBGIPS�]IPMN�TEJEC�q@S@NE@KOx�̂s�T]q�vrO�PHHCW�QB�EQK�PLQEBFK�H@IQPEFEFG�QB�Q?EK�HIBg@LQ[�� wHBF�@Z@LMQEBF�BA�Q?@�MFN@ICWEFG�LBFQIPLQO�LBFQIPLQBI�L@IQEAE@K�BI�PAAEISK�Q?@�QIMQ?AMCF@KK�PFN�PLLMIPLW�BA�PFW�KQPQ@S@FQ�EQ�?PK�SPN@O�EQ�SPf@KO�EQ�SPW�SPf@O�BI�LPMK@K�QB�V@�SPN@O�H@IQPEFEFG�QB�Q?@�MFN@ICWEFG�LBFQIPLQ�BI�]>\�PKKEKQ@N�HIBg@LQ�ABI�D?EL?�Q?EK�LBFQIPLQ�DBIf�EK�V@EFG�H@IABIS@N[�mF�PNNEQEBF�QB�BQ?@I�H@FPCQE@K�Q?PQ�SPW�V@�PHHCELPVC@O�LBFQIPLQBI�AMIQ?@I�PLfFBDC@NG@K�Q?PQ�EA�EQ�SPf@KO�BI�LPMK@K�QB�V@�SPN@O�P�APCK@O�AELQEQEBMKO�BI�AIPMNMC@FQ�LCPESO�KQPQ@S@FQO�KMVSEQQPCO�BI�L@IQEAELPQEBFO�Q?@�wR�lBJ@IFS@FQ�I@K@IJ@K�Q?@�IEG?Q�QB�ESHBK@�Q?@�H@FPCQE@K�BA�Q?@�pIBGIPS�]IPMN�TEJEC�q@S@NE@K�\LQ�drstue�BF�LBFQIPLQBI�QB�Q?@�@ZQ@FQ�Q?@�wR�lBJ@IFS@FQ�N@@SK�PHHIBHIEPQ@[�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

� ����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�� 678�9:;<=>?<:=�>@A:�>?B;:C@8DE8A�<7><�FG�F<�H>B8AI�:=�?>JA8A�<:�K8�H>D8I�>�G>@A8I�GF?<F<F:JAI�:=�G=>JDJ@8;<�?@>FHI�A<><8H8;<I�AJKHFAAF:;I�:=�?8=<FGF?><F:;�<:�<78�L8D8=>@�M:N8=;H8;<�J;D8=�>�?:;<=>?<�?:;;8?<8D�CF<7�>�O=:P8?<�<7><�FA�GF;>;?8D�F;�C7:@8�:=�F;�O>=<�CF<7�L8D8=>@�>AAFA<>;?8�:=FEF;>@@Q�>C>=D8D�KQ�L6R�J;D8=�<78�>J<7:=F<Q�:G�ST�UVWV9V�X�YZ[\I�<78�M:N8=;H8;<�=8A8=N8A�<78�=FE7<�<:�FHO:A8�<78�O8;>@<F8A�:G��]̂�UVWV9V�X�][[]�>;D�ST�UVWV9V�X�YZ[\_;̀_]̀�_YZaZ_b̀̀�:;�<78�9:;<=>?<:=I�<:�<78�8c<8;<�<78�L8D8=>@�M:N8=;H8;<�D88HA�>OO=:O=F><8V�� 9:;<=>?<:=�A7>@@�F;?@JD8�<78�>K:N8�<C:�?@>JA8A�F;�8>?7�AJK?:;<=>?<�GF;>;?8D�F;�C7:@8�:=�F;�O>=<�CF<7�L6R�>AAFA<>;?8V�678�?@>JA8A�A7>@@�;:<�K8�H:DFGF8DI�8c?8O<�<:�FD8;<FGQ�<78�AJK?:;<=>?<:=�C7:�CF@@�K8�AJKP8?<�<:�<78�O=:NFAF:;AV�� de��ff����g	���f	����������	�g��� 678�G:@@:CF;E�>??8AA�<:�=8?:=DA�=8hJF=8H8;<A�>OO@Q�<:�<7FA�9:;<=>?<i�� ]V�j78=8�<78�kJ=?7>A8=�FA�;:<�>�W<><8�KJ<�>�@:?>@�E:N8=;H8;<�>;D�FA�<78�L6R�l8?FOF8;<�:=�>�AJKE=>;<88�:G�<78�L6R�l8?FOF8;<�F;�>??:=D>;?8�CF<7�ST�9V�LV�lV�]̂VZm_F̀I�<78�9:;<=>?<:=�A7>@@�n�O=:NFD8�<78�kJ=?7>A8=I�<78�L6RI�<78�UW�9:HO<=:@@8=�M8;8=>@�:=�<78F=�>J<7:=Fo8D�=8O=8A8;<><FN8A�>??8AA�<:�>;Q�K::BAI�D:?JH8;<AI�O>O8=A�>;D�?:;<=>?<:=�=8?:=DA�C7F?7�>=8�O8=<F;8;<�<:�<7FA�?:;<=>?<�G:=�<78�OJ=O:A8A�:G�H>BF;E�>JDF<AI�8c>HF;><F:;AI�8c?8=O<A�>;D�<=>;A?=FO<F:;AV�9:;<=>?<:=�A7>@@�>@A:�I�OJ=AJ>;<�<:�ST�9V�LV�lV�mZZV]YI�O=:NFD8�>J<7:=Fo8D�L6R�=8O=8A8;<><FN8�F;?@JDF;E�>;Q�kpq�9:;<=>?<:=�>??8AA�<:�9:;<=>?<:=rA�=8?:=DA�>;D�?:;A<=J?<F:;�AF<8A�O8=<>F;F;E�<:�>�?>OF<>@�O=:P8?<I�D8GF;8D�><�ST�UVWV9V�YZ[a_>̀]I�C7F?7�FA�=8?8FNF;E�>AAFA<>;?8�<7=:JE7�<78�O=:E=>HA�D8A?=FK8D�><�ST�UVWV9V�YZ[\I�YZ[T�:=�YZ]]V�� aV�j78=8�<78�kJ=?7>A8=�FA�>�W<><8�>;D�FA�<78�L6R�l8?FOF8;<�:=�>�AJKE=>;<88�:G�<78�L6R�l8?FOF8;<�F;�>??:=D>;?8�CF<7�ST�9VLVlV�mZZV]YI�9:;<=>?<:=�A7>@@�O=:NFD8�<78�kJ=?7>A8=I�>J<7:=Fo8D�L6R�=8O=8A8;<><FN8AI�F;?@JDF;E�>;Q�kpq�9:;<=>?<:=I�>??8AA�<:�<78�9:;<=>?<:=rA�=8?:=DA�>;D�?:;A<=J?<F:;�AF<8A�O8=<>F;F;E�<:�>�H>P:=�?>OF<>@�O=:P8?<I�D8GF;8D�><�ST�UVWV9V�YZ[a_>̀]I�C7F?7�=8?8FN8A�L6R�>AAFA<>;?8�<7=:JE7�<78�O=:E=>HA�D8A?=FK8D�><�ST�UVWV9V�YZ[\I�YZ[T�:=�YZ]]V�sQ�D8GF;F<F:;I�>�H>P:=�?>OF<>@�O=:P8?<�8c?@JD8A�?:;<=>?<A�:G�@8AA�<7>;�<78�AFHO@FGF8D�>?hJFAF<F:;�<7=8A7:@D�?J==8;<@Q�A8<�><�taY[I[[[V[[V�� ZV�j78=8�<78�kJ=?7>A8=�8;<8=A�F;<:�>�;8E:<F><8D�?:;<=>?<�G:=�:<78=�<7>;�>�AH>@@�OJ=?7>A8�:=�J;D8=�<78�AFHO@FGF8D�>?hJFAF<F:;�<7=8A7:@D�>;D�FA�>;�F;A<F<J<F:;�:G�7FE78=�8DJ?><F:;I�>�7:AOF<>@�:=�:<78=�;:;n�O=:GF<�:=E>;Fo><F:;�>;D�FA�<78�L6R�l8?FOF8;<�:=�>�AJKE=>;<88�:G�<78�L6R�l8?FOF8;<�F;�>??:=D>;?8�CF<7�ST�9VLVlV�]TVŜI�9:;<=>?<:=�A7>@@�O=:NFD8�<78�kJ=?7>A8=I�L6RI�<78�UW�9:HO<=:@@8=�M8;8=>@�:=�<78F=�>J<7:=Fo8D�=8O=8A8;<><FN8A�CF<7�>??8AA�<:�>;Q�K::BAI�D:?JH8;<AI�O>O8=A�>;D�=8?:=D�:G�<78�9:;<=>?<:=�C7F?7�>=8�DF=8?<@Q�O8=<F;8;<�<:�<7FA�?:;<=>?<�G:=�<78�OJ=O:A8A�:G�H>BF;E�>JDF<AI�8c>HF;><F:;AI�8c?8=O<A�>;D�<=>;A?=FO<F:;AV�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�� 67�89:;:�<�=>;?9<@:;�A9B?9�B@�C9:�DEF�G:?BHB:IC�J;�<�@>KL;<IC::�JM�C9:�DEF�G:?BHB:IC�BI�<??J;N<I?:�ABC9�6O�P7Q7R7�STUSV<W�:IC:;@�BICJ�<�?JIC;<?C�MJ;�<�?<HBC<X�H;JY:?C�J;�BZH;J[:Z:IC�VN:MBI:N�<C�6O�P7Q7R7�ST\UV<W]W�C9;J>L9�JC9:;�C9<I�?JZH:CBCB[:�KBNNBIL̂�C9:�RJIC;<?CJ;�@9<XX�Z<_:�<[<BX<KX:�;:?J;N@�;:X<C:N�CJ�C9:�?JIC;<?C�CJ�C9:�=>;?9<@:;̂�C9:�Q:?;:C<;̀�JM�PQabE�<IN�C9:�PQ�RJZHC;JXX:;�c:I:;<X�J;�<Ì�<>C9J;Bd:N�JMMB?:;�J;�:ZHXJ̀::�JM�<Ì�JM�C9:Z�MJ;�C9:�H>;HJ@:@�JM�?JIN>?CBIL�<I�<>NBC�<IN�BI@H:?CBJI7�� S7�RJIC;<?CJ;�@9<XX�H:;ZBC�<Ì�JM�C9:�MJ;:LJBIL�H<;CB:@�CJ�;:H;JN>?:�K̀�<Ì�Z:<I@�A9<C@J:[:;�J;�CJ�?JH̀�:e?:;HC@�<IN�C;<I@?;BHCBJI@�<@�;:<@JI<KX̀�I::N:N7�� f7�E9:�RJIC;<?CJ;�@9<XX�;:C<BÎ�<IN�@9<XX�;:g>B;:�BC@�@>K?JIC;<?CJ;@�<C�<XX�CB:;@̂�<XX�KJJ_@̂�;:?J;N@̂�<??J>IC@�<IN�;:HJ;C@�;:g>B;:N�>IN:;�C9B@�?JIC;<?C�MJ;�<�H:;BJN�JM�IJC�X:@@�C9<I�MB[:�̀:<;@�<MC:;�C9:�N<C:�JM�C:;ZBI<CBJI�J;�:eHB;<CBJI�JM�C9B@�?JIC;<?Ĉ�:e?:HC�BI�C9:�:[:IC�JM�XBCBL<CBJI�J;�@:CCX:Z:IC�JM�?X<BZ@�<;B@BIL�M;JZ�C9:�H:;MJ;Z<I?:�JM�C9B@�?JIC;<?Ĉ�BI�A9B?9�?<@:�RJIC;<?CJ;�<L;::@�CJ�Z<BIC<BI�@<Z:�>ICBX�C9:�=>;?9<@:;̂�C9:�DEF�FNZBIB@C;<CJ;̂�C9:�RJZHC;JXX:;�c:I:;<X̂�J;�<Ì�JM�C9:B;�N>X̀�<>C9J;Bd:N�;:H;:@:IC<CB[:@̂�9<[:�NB@HJ@:N�JM�<XX�@>?9�XBCBL<CBJÎ�<HH:<X@̂�?X<BZ@�J;�:e?:HCBJI@�;:X<C:N�C9:;:CJ7�G:M:;:I?:�6O�RDG�]h7TOVBWV]]W7�� ij�k��l��	��km��l��k����n���l�k����o	l����o��� RJIC;<?CJ;�@9<XX�<C�<XX�CBZ:@�?JZHX̀�ABC9�<XX�<HHXB?<KX:�D:N:;<X�D>INBIL�FL:I?̀�X<A@̂�;:L>X<CBJI@̂�HJXB?B:@̂�H;J?:N>;:@�<IN�NB;:?CB[:@̂�BI?X>NBIL�ABC9J>C�XBZBC<CBJI�C9J@:�XB@C:N�NB;:?CX̀�J;�K̀�;:M:;:I?:�BI�C9:�p<@C:;�FL;::Z:IĈ�<[<BX<KX:�<C�9CCH@qrrAAA7C;<I@BC7NJC7LJ[rM>INBILrL;<IC::s;:@J>;?:@r@<ZHX:sMC<s�<L;::Z:IC@rMC<sL;<ICs<L;::Z:IC@̂�K:CA::I�C9:�a:H<;CZ:IC�<IN�DEF̂�<@�C9:̀�Z<̀�K:�<Z:IN:N�J;�H;JZ>XL<C:N�M;JZ�CBZ:�CJ�CBZ:�N>;BIL�C9:�C:;Z�JM�C9B@�?JIC;<?C7�E9B@�p<@C:;�FL;::Z:IC�NJ:@�IJC�9<[:�<I�teHB;<CBJI�a<C:7�E9B@�p<@C:;�FL;::Z:IC�?JICBI>:@�CJ�<HHX̀�CJ�C9:�G:?BHB:IC�<IN�BC@�PIN:;X̀BIL�FL;::Z:IĈ�>ICBX�ZJNBMB:N�J;�@>H:;@:N:N�K̀�<�ZJ;:�;:?:ICX̀�:I<?C:N�J;�B@@>:N�<HHXB?<KX:�M:N:;<X�X<Â�;:L>X<CBJÎ�;:g>B;:Z:IĈ�J;�L>BN<I?:̂�J;�<Z:INZ:IC�CJ�C9B@�p<@C:;�FL;::Z:IC�J;�C9:�PIN:;X̀BIL�FL;::Z:IC7�EJ�<@@>;:�?JZHXB<I?:�C9:�G:?BHB:IC�Z>@C�C<_:�Z:<@>;:@�CJ�<@@>;:�C9<C�JC9:;�H<;CB?BH<IC@�BI�BC@�PIN:;X̀BIL�FL;::Z:IC@�Vuvw7̂�E9B;N�=<;C̀�=<;CB?BH<IC@W�?JZHX̀7�RJIC;<?CJ;x@�M<BX>;:�CJ�@J�?JZHX̀�@9<XX�?JI@CBC>C:�<�Z<C:;B<X�K;:<?9�JM�C9B@�?JIC;<?C7�� FXX�?JIC;<?C><X�H;J[B@BJI@�;:g>B;:N�K̀�C9:�P7Q7�a:H<;CZ:IC�JM�E;<I@HJ;C<CBJI�<;:�9:;:K̀�BI?J;HJ;<C:N�K̀�;:M:;:I?:7�yI�C9:�:[:IC�JM�<NNBCBJI<X�M>INBIL�H;J[BN:N�K̀�Dz8F̂�C9:�<HHXB?<KX:�;:g>B;:Z:IC@�JM�C9:�QC:A<;N@9BH�FL;::Z:IĈ�<[<BX<KX:�<C�9CCH@qrrAAA7M9A<7NJC7LJ[rM:N:;<X<BNr@C:A<;N@9BĤ�K:CA::I�C9:�a:H<;CZ:IC�<IN�Dz8F�<;:�BI?J;HJ;<C:N�K̀�;:M:;:I?:7�� {j�o�
�����nmk����|}���l�k��� E9:�Fct~R��B@�<I�tg><X�bHHJ;C>IBC̀�tZHXJ̀:;7�F@�@>?9̂�C9:�Fct~R��<L;::@�CJ�?JZHX̀�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�789:�;<<�;==<8>;?<@�A@B@C;<�>8D8<�C8E:9F�<;7F�;GB�8H=<@H@G98GE�C@EI<;98JGFK�L=;C9�MCJH�8G>JGF8F9@G9�C@NI8C@H@G9F�8H=JF@B�?O�A@B@C;<�<;7F�JC�C@EI<;98JGFP�9:@�LQRSTU�;EC@@F�9J�>JH=<O�789:�9:@�C@NI8C@H@G9F�JM�VW�XKYKTK�Z�[\]\̂:_�̂\_�?O�GJ9�IF8GE�;GO�A@B@C;<�;FF8F9;G>@�;7;CB@B�?O�ÀL�9J�FI==JC9�=CJ>IC@H@G9F�IF8GE�@a><IF8JG;CO�JC�B8F>C8H8G;9JCO�F=@>8M8>;98JGFK�� XGB@C�9:8F�LEC@@H@G9P�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�F:;<<�;9�;<<�98H@F�>JH=<O�789:�9:@�MJ<<J78GE�C@NI8C@H@G9F�;GB�F:;<<�8G><IB@�9:@F@�C@NI8C@H@G9F�8G�@;>:�FI?>JG9C;>9�@G9@C@B�8G9J�;F�=;C9�9:@C@JMK�� RNI;<�RH=<JOH@G9�b==JC9IG89O�� cK�SJGB8F>C8H8G;98JG�d�eG�;>>JCB;G>@�789:�̀89<@�fe�JM�9:@�T8D8<�g8E:9F�L>9P�;F�;H@GB@BP�V]�XKYKTK�Z�]hhhBP�F@>98JG�\h\�JM�9:@�LE@�i8F>C8H8G;98JG�L>9�JM�cWj[P�;F�;H@GB@BP�V]�XKYKTK�Z�kch]P�F@>98JG�]h]�JM�9:@�LH@C8>;GF�789:�i8F;?8<898@F�L>9�JM�cWWhP�V]�XKYKTK�Z�c]c\]P�;GB�A@B@C;<�9C;GF89�<;7�;9�VW�XKYKTK�Z�[\\]P�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9:;9�89�78<<�GJ9�B8F>C8H8G;9@�;E;8GF9�;GO�@H=<JO@@�JC�;==<8>;G9�MJC�@H=<JOH@G9�?@>;IF@�JM�C;>@P�>J<JCP�C@<8E8JGP�G;98JG;<�JC8E8GP�F@â8G><IB8GE�F@aI;<�JC8@G9;98JG�;GB�E@GB@C�8B@G989O_P�;E@P�JC�B8F;?8<89OK�eG�;BB898JGP�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9J�>JH=<O�789:�;==<8>;?<@�A@B@C;<�8H=<@H@G98GE�C@EI<;98JGF�;GB�J9:@C�8H=<@H@G98GE�C@NI8C@H@G9F�A@B@C;<�AIGB8GE�LE@G>O�H;O�8FFI@K�� ]K�g;>@P�TJ<JCP�C@<8E8JGP�S;98JG;<�bC8E8GP�Y@a�d�eG�;>>JCB;G>@�789:�̀89<@�fee�JM�9:@�T8D8<�g8E:9F�L>9P�;F�;H@GB@BP�V]�XKYKTK�Z�]hhh@P�;GB�A@B@C;<�9C;GF89�<;7F�;9�VW�XKYKTK�Z�[\\]P�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9J�>JH=<O�789:�;<<�;==<8>;?<@�@NI;<�@H=<JOH@G9�J==JC9IG89O�C@NI8C@H@G9F�JM�XKYK�i@=;C9H@G9�JM�l;?JC�̂XKYK�ibl_�C@EI<;98JGFP�mbMM8>@�JM�A@B@C;<�TJG9C;>9�TJH=<8;G>@�nCJEC;HFP�RNI;<�RH=<JOH@G9�b==JC9IG89OP�i@=;C9H@G9�JM�l;?JCPm�Vc�TKAKgK�n;C9F�kh�@9�F@NKP�̂7:8>:�8H=<@H@G9�Ra@>I98D@�bCB@C�SJK�cc]VkP�mRNI;<�RH=<JOH@G9�b==JC9IG89OPm�;F�;H@GB@B�?O�Ra@>I98D@�bCB@C�SJK�cc\j[P�mLH@GB8GE�Ra@>I98D@�bCB@C�cc]Vk�g@<;98GE�9J�RNI;<�RH=<JOH@G9�b==JC9IG89OPm�V]�XKYKTK�Z�]hhh@�GJ9@_P�;GB�789:�;GO�;==<8>;?<@�A@B@C;<�F9;9I9@FP�@a@>I98D@�JCB@CFP�C@EI<;98JGFP�;GB�A@B@C;<�=J<8>8@F�9:;9�H;O�8G�9:@�MI9IC@�;MM@>9�>JGF9CI>98JG�;>98D898@F�IGB@C9;o@G�8G�9:@�>JICF@�JM�9:@�nCJp@>9K�:̀@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9J�9;o@�;MM8CH;98D@�;>98JG�9J�@GFIC@�9:;9�;==<8>;G9F�;C@�@H=<JO@BP�;GB�9:;9�@H=<JO@@F�;C@�9C@;9@B�BIC8GE�@H=<JOH@G9P�789:JI9�C@E;CB�9J�9:@8C�C;>@P�>J<JCP�>C@@BP�G;98JG;<�JC8E8GP�F@aP�JC�;E@K�YI>:�;>98JG�F:;<<�8G><IB@P�?I9�GJ9�?@�<8H89@B�9JP�9:@�MJ<<J78GEq�@H=<JOH@G9P�I=EC;B8GEP�B@HJ98JG�JC�9C;GFM@CP�C@>CI89H@G9�JC�C@>CI89H@G9�;BD@C98F8GEP�<;OJMM�JC�9@CH8G;98JGr�C;9@F�JM�=;O�JC�J9:@C�MJCHF�JM�>JH=@GF;98JGr�;GB�F@<@>98JG�MJC�9C;8G8GEP�8G><IB8GE�;==C@G98>@F:8=K�eG�;BB898JGP�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9J�>JH=<O�789:�;GO�8H=<@H@G98GE�C@NI8C@H@G9F�A@B@C;<�AIGB8GE�LE@G>O�H;O�8FFI@K�� \K�LE@�d�eG�;>>JCB;G>@�789:�F@>98JG�V�JM�9:@�LE@�i8F>C8H8G;98JG�8G�RH=<JOH@G9�L>9�JM�cWkjP�;F�;H@GB@BP�]W�XKYKTK�Z�k]\�;GB�A@B@C;<�9C;GF89�<;7�;9�VW�XKYKTK�Z�[\\]P�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9J�C@MC;8G�MCJH�B8F>C8H8G;98JG�;E;8GF9�=C@F@G9�;GB�=CJF=@>98D@�@H=<JO@@F�MJC�C@;FJG�JM�;E@K�eG�;BB898JGP�9:@�TJG9C;>9JC�;EC@@F�9J�>JH=<O�789:�;GO�8H=<@H@G98GE�C@NI8C@H@G9F�A@B@C;<�AIGB8GE�LE@G>O�H;O�8FFI@K�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�++��,�-���

�./01.23245�� 67�89:;<9=9>9?:�@�AB�;CCDEF;BC?�G9>H�:?C>9DB�IJK�DL�>H?�MN?E9C;B:�G9>H�89:;<9=9>9?:�MC>O�;:�;N?BF?FO�6K�P7Q7R7�S�IKIIKO�>H?�RDB>E;C>DE�;TE??:�>H;>�9>�G9==�CDNU=V�G9>H�>H?�E?WX9E?N?B>:�DL�P7Q7�YWX;=�YNU=DVN?B>�ZUUDE>XB9>V�RDNN9::9DBO�[\?TX=;>9DB:�>D�ANU=?N?B>�>H?�YWX;=�YNU=DVN?B>�]ED̂9:9DB:�DL�>H?�MN?E9C;B:�G9>H�89:;<9=9>9?:�MC>O[�K_�R7̀7\7�];E>�IabJO�U?E>;9B9BT�>D�?NU=DVN?B>�DL�U?E:DB:�G9>H�F9:;<9=9>9?:7�AB�;FF9>9DBO�>H?�RDB>E;C>DE�;TE??:�>D�CDNU=V�G9>H�;BV�9NU=?N?B>9BT�E?WX9E?N?B>:�̀?F?E;=�̀XBF9BT�MT?BCV�N;V�9::X?7�� cH?�RDB>E;C>DE�;=:D�;TE??:�>D�9BC=XF?�>H?:?�E?WX9E?N?B>:�9B�?;CH�:X<CDB>E;C>�L9B;BC?F�9B�GHD=?�DE�9B�U;E>�G9>H�̀?F?E;=�;::9:>;BC?�UED̂9F?FO�NDF9L9?F�DB=V�9L�B?C?::;EV�>D�9F?B>9LV�>H?�;LL?C>?F�U;E>9?:7�� de�f��g��f�	�� c?EN9B;>9DB�DL�>H?�CDB>E;C>�:H;==�<?�9B�;CCDEF;BC?�G9>H�>H?�PB9LDEN�c?EN:�;BF�RDBF9>9DB:O�Q?C>9DB�_7O�U;E;TE;UH�_7I�>HEDXTH�_7a7�� he���i��g�f�	���j�����	�� cH9:�CDB>E;C>�9:�;�CD̂?E?F�>E;B:;C>9DB�LDE�UXEUD:?:�DL�6_�R̀\�];E>�K_7�M:�:XCHO�>H?�CDB>E;C>DE�9:�E?WX9E?F�>D�̂?E9LV�>H;>�BDB?�DL�>H?�CDB>E;C>DEO�9>:�UE9BC9U;=:O�;:�F?L9B?F�;>�6_�R̀\�K_7__kO�DE�;LL9=9;>?:O�;:�F?L9B?F�;>�6_�R̀\�K_7_JkO�;E?�?lC=XF?F�DE�F9:WX;=9L9?F�;:�F?L9B?F�;>�6_�R̀\�K_7_6J;BF�K_7_6k7�cH?�CDB>E;C>DE�9:�E?WX9E?F�>D�CDNU=V�G9>H�6_�R̀\�K_O�QX<U;E>�R�;BF�NX:>�9BC=XF?�>H?�E?WX9E?N?B>�>D�CDNU=V�G9>H�6_�R̀\�K_O�QX<U;E>�R�9B�;BV�=DG?E�>9?E�CD̂?E?F�>E;B:;C>9DB�9>�?B>?E:�9B>D7�� M:�:XCHO�>H?�RDB>E;C>DE�:H;==�̂?E9LV�>H;>�9>:�UE9BC9U;=:O�;LL9=9;>?:O�;BF�:X<CDB>E;C>DE:�;E?�?=9T9<=?�>D�U;E>9C9U;>?�9B�>H9:�L?F?E;==V�LXBF?F�CDB>E;C>�;BF�;E?�BD>�UE?:?B>=V�F?C=;E?F�<V�;BV�̀?F?E;=�F?U;E>N?B>�DE�;T?BCV�>D�<?m�� ;n�8?<;EE?F�LEDN�U;E>9C9U;>9DB�9B�;BV�L?F?E;==V�;::9:>?F�MG;EFo�<n�QX:U?BF?F�LEDN�U;E>9C9U;>9DB�9B�;BV�L?F?E;==V�;::9:>?F�MG;EFo�Cn�]EDUD:?F�LDE�F?<;EN?B>�LEDN�U;E>9C9U;>9DB�9B�;BV�L?F?E;==V�;::9:>?F�MG;EFo�Fn�8?C=;E?F�9B?=9T9<=?�>D�U;E>9C9U;>?�9B�;BV�L?F?E;==V�;::9:>?F�MG;EFo�?n�pD=XB>;E9=V�?lC=XF?F�LEDN�U;E>9C9U;>9DB�9B�;BV�L?F?E;==V�;::9:>?F�MG;EFo�DE�Ln�89:WX;=9L9?F�LEDN�U;E>9C9U;>9DB�9B�;V�L?F?E;==V�;::9:>?F�MG;EF7�� qV�:9TB9BT�;BF�:X<N9>>9BT�9>:�<9F�DE�UEDUD:;=O�>H?�<9FF?E�DE�UEDUD:?E�C?E>9L9?:�;:�LD==DG:m�� cH?�C?E>9L9C;>9DB�9B�>H9:�C=;X:?�9:�;�N;>?E9;=�E?UE?:?B>;>9DB�DL�L;C>�E?=9?F�XUDB�<V�>H?�8?U;E>N?B>7�AL�9>�9:�=;>?E�F?>?EN9B?F�>H;>�>H?�<9FF?E�DE�UEDUD:?E�rBDG9BT=V�E?BF?E?F�;B�?EEDB?DX:�C?E>9L9C;>9DBO�9B�;FF9>9DB�>D�E?N?F9?:�;̂;9=;<=?�>D�>H?�8?U;E>N?B>O�>H?�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�67879:;�<=>79?@7?A�@:B�CD9ED7�:>:F;:G;7�97@78F7EH�F?I;D8F?J�GDA�?=A�;F@FA78�A=�EDEC7?EF=?�:?8K=9�87G:9@7?AL�MN7�GF8879�=9�C9=C=E79�:J977E�A=�I=@C;B�OFAN�AN7�97PDF97@7?AE�=Q�RS�T6U�VSH�WDGC:9A�T�ONF;7�ANFE�=QQ79�FE�>:;F8�:?8�AN9=DJN=DA�AN7�C79F=8�=Q�:?B�I=?A9:IA�AN:A�@:B�:9FE7�Q9=@�ANFE�=QQ79L�MN7�GF8879�=9�C9=C=E79�QD9AN79�:J977E�A=�F?I;D87�:�C9=>FEF=?�97PDF9F?J�EDIN�I=@C;F:?I7�F?�FAE�;=O79�AF79�I=>7978�A9:?E:IAF=?EL�� XYZ��[	
��\�]̂_������̀��\�]�����a�����	�b	��	ca��\�]d�� MN7�T=?A9:IA=9�:J977E�A=�AN7�Q=;;=OF?Je�� fgh� iA�OF;;�I=@C;B�OFAN�AN7�97PDF97@7?AE�=Q�V�TL6LUL�C:9A�gjkH�EDGC:9A�TH�:E�:8=CA78�:?8�EDCC;7@7?A78�GB�lLWL�mnM�97JD;:AF=?E�:A�V�TL6LUL�C:9A�gVkkH�ONFIN�F?I;D87�AN7�Q=;;=OF?Je�� f:h�iA�OF;;�?=A�7?A79�F?A=�:?B�:99:?J7@7?A�A=�C:9AFIFC:A7�F?�AN7�87>7;=C@7?A�=9�F@C;7@7?A:AF=?�=Q�AN7�o9=p7IA�OFAN�:?B�MNF98�o:9AB�o:9AFIFC:?A�AN:A�FE�87G:9978�=9�EDEC7?878�7qI7CA�:E�:DAN=9Fr78�GBe�g�lLWL�mnM�97JD;:AF=?EH�stuvwxuyzx{|{v}�WDEC7?EF=?�:?8�m7G:9@7?A~��V�TL6LUL�C:9A�gVkkH�V���������~�s�z��{��v{��}u���{vy�{��uv��u�{xv|{v}����{��{��x|{v}��v���z�w{v��uv��tuvwxuyzx{|{v}�~�����������w�x}����~��vy�z��v���v��:@7?8@7?AE�AN797A=H�:?8����q7IDAF>7�n9879E��=EL�gV�RS�:?8�gV jSH�s�{��x|{v}��v���z�w{v��uv~��¡�������L�¢� gkg�?=A7H�� fGh�£}������x{��{��}¤{����������s���}{|�¥ux����x����v��{|{v}~��NAACEeKKOOOLE:@LJ=>H�FQ�97PDF978�GB�lLWL�mnM�97JD;:AF=?EH�V�TL6LUL�C:9A�gVkkH�:?8�� fIh�iA�OF;;�F?I;D87H�:?8�97PDF97�7:IN�=Q�FAE�MNF98�o:9AB�o:9AFIFC:?AE�A=�F?I;D87H�:�EF@F;:9�C9=>FEF=?�F?�7:IN�;=O79�AF79�I=>7978�A9:?E:IAF=?H�7?ED9F?J�AN:A�7:IN�;=O79�AF79�MNF98�o:9AB�o:9AFIFC:?Ae�� fgh�¦F;;�I=@C;B�OFAN�67879:;�87G:9@7?A�:?8�EDEC7?EF=?�x{§z�x{|{v}�~��v�����{��{���}¤{�s���}{|�¥ux����x����v��{|{v}���}�¤}}w�̈©©OOOLE:@LJ=>H�FQ�?7I7EE:9B�A=�I=@C;B�OFAN�lLWL�mnM�97JD;:AF=?EH�V�TL6LUL�C:9A�gVkkH�:?8�� iQ�AN7�m7C:9A@7?A�EDEC7?8EH�87G:9EH�=9�A:ª7E�:?B�EF@F;:9�:IAF=?�:J:F?EA�:�MNF98�o:9AB�o:9AFIFC:?A�=9�F?8F>F8D:;H�AN7�m7C:9A@7?A�OF;;�C9=>F87�F@@78F:A7�O9FAA7?�?=AFI7�A=�AN7e�� f:h� 6M«�U7JF=?:;�T=D?E7;�Q=9�AN7�U7JF=?�F?�ONFIN�AN7�U7IFCF7?A�FE�;=I:A78�=9�F@C;7@7?AE�AN7�o9=p7IAH�fGh� 6M«�o9=p7IA�¬:?:J79�FQ�AN7�o9=p7IA�FE�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245� 6789:9;<=>=7�?@�6:�ABC�D=67EF6><=>;�GHH9I=J�K>�LIM� ABC�NO9=H�NKF:;=PQ�RS��T���T�U�U�	�	��V���������VU������������W�U����	��XU�	�V	U�	���VU�VY2Z4�WZ52.�NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�IK8[P@�\9<O�6PP�6[[P9I6?P=�;<6:76>7;J�K>7=>;�K>�>=]FP6<9K:;�9;;F=7�[F>;F6:<�<K�<O=�A=7=>6P�̂6<=>�_KPPF<9K:�NK:<>KP�CI<J�6;�68=:7=7J�̀̀�abN�cdec�=<�;=EQ�NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�>=[K><�=6IO�f9KP6<9K:�<K�<O=�>=I9[9=:<�6:7�F:7=>;<6:7;�6:7�6]>==;�<O6<�<O=�>=I9[9=:<�;O6PPJ�9:�<F>:J�>=[K><�=6IO�f9KP6<9K:�6;�>=EF9>=7�<K�ABC�6:7�<O=�6[[>K[>96<=�g_C�h=]9K:6P�GHH9I=Q�NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�9:IPF7=�<O=;=�>=EF9>=8=:<;�9:�=6IO�;F?IK:<>6I<�=iI==79:]�jcekJkkk�H9:6:I=7�9:�\OKP=�K>�9:�[6><�\9<O�ABC�6;;9;<6:I=Q�� VY2Z4��l.�cM�NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�IK8[P@�\9<O�6PP�6[[P9I6?P=�;<6:76>7;J�K>7=>;�K>�>=]FP6<9K:;�[F>;F6:<�<K�<O=�NP=6:�C9>�CI<J�md�abN�nmkc�=<�;=EQ�NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�>=[K><�=6IO�f9KP6<9K:�<K�<O=�>=I9[9=:<�6:7�F:7=>;<6:7;�6:7�6]>==;�<O6<�<O=�>=I9[9=:<�\9PPJ�9:�<F>:J�>=[K><�=6IO�f9KP6<9K:�6;�>=EF9>=7�<K�ABC�6:7�<O=�6[[>K[>96<=�g_C�h=]9K:6P�GHH9I=Q�� dM�NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�9:IPF7=�<O=;=�>=EF9>=8=:<;�9:�=6IO�;F?IK:<>6I<�=iI==79:]�jcekJkkk�H9:6:I=7�9:�\OKP=�K>�9:�[6><�\9<O�ABC�6;;9;<6:I=Q�� opS�qXr��T���V��� s:�6:@�<6;t�6;;9]:8=:<�u�[>Kv=I<�HK>�IK:;<>FI<9K:J�6IEF9;9<9K:�KH�]KK7;J�K>�>KPP9:]�;<KIt�f6PF=7�6<�8K>=�<O6:�jcekJkkkJ�<O=�IK:<>6I<K>�6]>==;�<K�IK8[P@�\9<O�mw�aQbQNQ�èd̀LvM�6:7�mw�NQAQhQ�[6><�xxcJ�\O9IO�[>Kf97=�<O6<�A=7=>6P�HF:7;�86@�:K<�?=�K?P9]6<=7�F:P=;;�6PP�;<==PJ�9>K:J�6:7�86:FH6I<F>=7�[>K7FI<;�F;=7�9:�ABC�HF:7=7�[>Kv=I<;�6>=�[>K7FI=7�9:�<O=�a:9<=7�b<6<=;J�F:P=;;�6�\69f=>�O6;�?==:�]>6:<=7�?@�ABC�K>�<O=�[>K7FI<�9;�;F?v=I<�<K�6�]=:=>6P�\69f=>Q�y=:=>6P�\69f=>;�6>=�P9;<=7�9:�mw�NQAQhQ�z�xxcQnQ�b=[6>6<=�>=EF9>=8=:<;�HK>�>KPP9:]�;<KIt�6>=�;=<�KF<�6<�mw�aQbQNQ�èd̀LvMLdMLNM�6:7�mw�NQAQhQ�z�xxcQccQ�� NK:<>6I<K>�;O6PP�IK8[P@�\9<O�mw�abN�èd̀LvM�6:7�mw�NAh�xxcJ�;<6<9:]�<O6<�A=7=>6P�HF:7;�86@�:K<�?=�K?P9]6<=7�F:P=;;�;<==PJ�9>K:J�6:7�86:FH6I<F>=7�[>K7FI<;�F;=7�9:�ABC{HF:7=7�[>Kv=I<;�6>=��[>K7FI=7�9:�<O=�a:9<=7�b<6<=;J�F:P=;;�6�\69f=>�O6;�?==:�]>6:<=7�?@�ABC�K>�<O=�[>K7FI<�9;�;F?v=I<�<K�6�]=:=>6P�\69f=>Q�y=:=>6P�\69f=>;�6>=�P9;<=7�9:�mw�NAh�xxcQnJ�6:7�9:IPF7=�;KH<\6>=J�89I>KIK8[F<=>�=EF9[8=:<�6:7�;86PP�[F>IO6;=;�LIF>>=:<P@�P=;;�<O6:�jcekJkkkM�867=�\9<O�I6[9<6PJ�K[=>6<9:]J�K>�[P6::9:]�HF:7;Q�b=[6>6<=�>=EF9>=8=:<;�HK>�>KPP9:]�;<KIt�6>=�;<6<=7�6<�èd̀LvMLdMLNM�6:7�mw�NAh�xxcQccQ�hKPP9:]�;<KIt�8F;<�?=�86:FH6I<F>=7�9:�<O=�ab�6:7�O6f=�6�89:98F8�xe|�7K8=;<9I�IK:<=:<�HK>�A}dkcw�6:7�6�89:98F8�nk|�7K8=;<9I�IK:<=:<�HK>�A}dkdk�6:7�?=@K:7Q�C�?977=>�K>�KHH=>K>�;O6PP�;F?89<�6[[>K[>96<=�~F@�C8=>9I6�I=><9H9I6<9K:�<K�<O=�>=I9[9=:<�\9<O�6PP�?97;�K:�ABC{HF:7=7�IK:<>6I<;J�=iI=[<�<OK;=�;F?v=I<�<K�6�]=:=>6P�\69f=>Q�_>K[K;6P;�:K<�6IIK8[6:9=7�?@�6�IK8[P=<=7�6�I=><9H9I6<9K:�;O6PP�?=�>=v=I<=7�6;�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�7879:;<87;=>:?�@A=;�9:BC=9:D:7E�F8:;�78E�G<<HI�E8�H8J:9�E=:9�;CKL87E9GLE89;?�� MMN�O���PQ����������RS�����	�RS�	�� @A:�FCE=:;�G7F�8KH=TGE=87;�=D<8;:F�KI�EA:�U87E9GLE�V8LCD:7E;�G7F�EA:�9=TAE;�G7F�9:D:F=:;�G>G=HGKH:�EA:9:C7F:9�;AGHH�K:�=7�GFF=E=87�E8�G7F�78E�G�H=D=EGE=87�8W�G7I�FCE=:;X�8KH=TGE=87;X�9=TAE;�G7F�9:D:F=:;�8EA:9J=;:�=D<8;:F�89�G>G=HGKH:�KI�HGJ?�Y8�GLE=87�89�WG=HC9:�E8�GLE�KI�EA:�Z[:L=<=:7E\X�Z]9LA=E:LE\�89�U87E9GLE89�;AGHH�L87;E=ECE:�G�JG=>:9�8W�G7I�9=TAE�89�FCEI�GWW89F:F�G7I�8W�EA:D�C7F:9�EA:�U87E9GLEX�789�;AGHH�G7I�;CLA�GLE=87�89�WG=HC9:�E8�GLE�L87;E=ECE:�G7�G<<98>GH�8W�89�GLBC=:;L:7L:�=7�G7I�K9:GLA�EA:9:C7F:9X�:̂L:<E�G;�DGI�K:�;<:L=W=LGHHI�GT9::F�=7�J9=E=7T?�� V=;<CE:;�G9=;=7T�=7�EA:�<:9W89DG7L:�8W�EA=;�L87E9GLE�JA=LA�G9:�78E�9:;8H>:F�KI�GT9::D:7E�8W�EA:�<G9E=:;�;AGHH�K:�F:L=F:F�=7�J9=E=7T�KI�EA:�V:<G9ED:7E?�@A=;�F:L=;=87�;AGHH�K:�W=7GH�G7F�L87LHC;=>:�C7H:;;�J=EA=7�E:7�FGI;�W98D�EA:�FGE:�8W�9:L:=<E�8W�=E;�L8<IX�L87E9GLE89�DG=H;�89�8EA:9J=;:�WC97=;A:;�G�J9=EE:7�G<<:GH�E8�EA:�V:<G9ED:7E?�_7�L877:LE=87�J=EA�;CLA�G<<:GHX�L87E9GLE89�;AGHH�K:�GWW89F:F�G7�8<<89EC7=EI�E8�K:�A:G9F�G7F�E8�8WW:9�:>=F:7L:�=7�;C<<89E�8W�=E;�<8;=E=87?�@A:�F:L=;=87�8W�EA:�V:<G9ED:7E�;AGHH�K:�K=7F=7T�C<87�L87E9GLE89�G7F�L87E9GLE89�;AGHH�GK=F:�KI�EA:�F:L=;=87?�̀@]�AG;�G�>:;E:F�=7E:9:;E�=7�EA:�;:EEH:D:7E�8W�G7I�>=8HGE=87�8W�̀:F:9GH�HGJ�=7LHCF=7T�EA:�̀GH;:�UHG=D;�]LEX�ab�c?d?U?�e�afgh?�� i:9W89DG7L:�VC9=7T�V=;<CE:�j�c7H:;;�8EA:9J=;:�F=9:LE:F�KI�EA:�9:L=<=:7EX�L87E9GLE89�;AGHH�L87E=7C:�<:9W89DG7L:�C7F:9�EA=;�L87E9GLE�JA=H:�DGEE:9;�=7�F=;<CE:�G9:�K:=7T�9:;8H>:F?�UHG=D;�W89�VGDGT:;�j�dA8CHF�:=EA:9�<G9EI�E8�EA:�L87E9GLE�;CWW:9�=7kC9I�89�FGDGT:�E8�<:9;87�89�<98<:9EI�K:LGC;:�8W�G7I�GLE�89�8D=;;=87�8W�EA:�<G9EI�89�8W�G7I�8W�=E;�:D<H8I::;X�GT:7E;�89�8EA:9;�W89�JA8;:�GLE;�=E�=;�H:TGHHI�H=GKH:X�G�LHG=D�W89�FGDGT:;�EA:9:W89:�;AGHH�K:�DGF:�=7�J9=E=7T�E8�;CLA�8EA:9�<G9EI�J=EA=7�E:7�FGI;�GWE:9�EA:�W=9;E�8K;:9>G7L:�8W�;CLA�=7kC9I�89�FGDGT:?�� [:D:F=:;�j�c7H:;;�EA=;�L87E9GLE�<98>=F:;�8EA:9J=;:X�GHH�LHG=D;X�L8C7E:9LHG=D;X�F=;<CE:;�G7F�8EA:9�DGEE:9;�=7�BC:;E=87�K:EJ::7�EA:�V:<G9ED:7E�G7F�L87E9GLE89�G9=;=7T�8CE�8W�89�9:HGE=7T�E8�EA=;�GT9::D:7E�89�=E;�K9:GLA�J=HH�K:�F:L=F:F�KI�G9K=E9GE=87�=W�EA:�<G9E=:;�DCECGHHI�GT9::X�89�=7�G�L8C9E�8W�L8D<:E:7E�kC9=;F=LE=87�J=EA=7�EA:�9:;=F=7T�dEGE:?�� [=TAE;�G7F�[:D:F=:;�j�VCE=:;�G7F�8KH=TGE=87;�=D<8;:F�KI�EA:�L87E9GLE�F8LCD:7E;�G7F�EA:�9=TAE;�G7F�9:D:F=:;�G>G=HGKH:�EA:9:C7F:9�;AGHH�K:�=7�GFF=E=87�E8�G7F�78E�G�H=D=EGE=87�8W�G7I�FCE=:;X�8KH=TGE=87;X�9=TAE;�G7F�9:D:F=:;�8EA:9J=;:�=D<8;:F�89�G>G=HGKH:�KI�HGJ?�Y8�GLE=87�89�WG=HC9:�E8�GLE�KI�EA:�V:<G9ED:7E�89�L87E9GLE89�;AGHH�L87;E=ECE:�G�JG=>:9�8W�G7I�9=TAE�89�FCEI�GWW89F:F�G7I�8W�EA:D�C7F:9�EA:�L87E9GLEX�789�;AGHH�G7I�;CLA�GLE=87�89�WG=HC9:�E8�GLE�L87;E=ECE:�G7�G<<98>GH�8W�89�GLBC=:;L:7L:�=7�G7I�K9:GLA�EA:9:C7F:9X�:̂L:<E�G;�DGI�K:�;<:L=W=LGHHI�GT9::F�=7�J9=E=7T?�� MlN��	OOm�n�� @A:�U87E9GLE89�GT9::;�E8�L8D<HI�J=EA�EA:�<98>=;=87;�8W�@=EH:�abX�c?d?�U�baog�G;�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�6789:8:�;<�=>8�?@;;<A9B�CADEF@DGH8�IE=�@J�KLLMN�OP?P�KQRSTM�U=@�;8�E@:AJA8:�6=�V�WPXPYP�KTQKN�8=�D8ZP[�69:�\OG;FAE�?6]�KQKPKVK̂�6D�E@:AJA8:�A9�_A=F8�R̀N�a8:8H6F�IEZGADA=A@9�b8BGF6=A@9D�XG;c6H=�dP̀�69:�XG;c6H=�MVPVQdSKKP�_>8�F8BADF6=A@9�cH@>A;A=D�a8:8H6F�JG9:D�JH@7�;8A9B�8ec89:8:�;<�6�H8EAcA89=�@H�69<�F@]8H�=A8H�DG;S�H8EAcA89=D�@J�6�a8:8H6F�E@9=H6E=N�BH69=N�F@69N�@H�E@@c8H6=Af8�6BH88789=�=@�c6<�69<�c8HD@9�J@H�A9JFG89EA9B�@H�6==87c=A9B�=@�A9JFG89E8�6�a8:8H6F�6B89E<�@H�Y@9BH8DD�A9�E@998E=A@9�]A=>�=>8�6]6H:�@J�69<�a8:8H6F�E@9=H6E=N�=>8�76gA9B�@J�69<�a8:8H6F�BH69=�@H�F@69N�@H�89=8HA9B�A9=@�69<�E@@c8H6=Af8�6BH88789=N�A9EFG:A9B�=>8�8e=89DA@9N�E@9=A9G6=A@9N�H898]6FN�6789:789=�@H�7@:AJAE6=A@9�@J�69<�a8:8H6F�E@9=H6E=N�BH69=N�F@69�@H�E@@c8H6=Af8�6BH88789=P�IFF�:ADEF@DGH8�D=6=8789=D�6H8�=@�;8�JGH9AD>8:�=@�=>8�C8c6H=789=P�� Y@9=H6E=@HD�]>@�6ccF<�@H�cH@c@D8h;A:�J@H�69�6]6H:�@J�iKQQNQQQ�@H�7@H8�A9�f6FG8�D>6FF�JAF8�=>8�6==6E>8:�?@;;<A9B�Y8H=AJAE6=A@9�jQK?@;;<A9B�Y8H=AJAE6=A@9�:@EG789=k�H8ZGAH8:�;<�RL�Yab�c6H=�VQN�lm8]�b8D=HAE=A@9D�@9�?@;;<A9BPl�n6E>�=A8H�E8H=AJA8D�=@�=>8�=A8H�6;@f8�=>6=�A=�]AFF�9@=�69:�>6D�9@=�GD8:�a8:8H6F�6ccH@cHA6=8:�JG9:D�=@�c6<�69<�c8HD@9�@H�@HB69Ao6=A@9�J@H�A9JFG89EA9B�@H�6==87c=A9B�=@�A9JFG89E8�69�@JJAE8H�@H�87cF@<88�@J�69<�6B89E<N�6�787;8H�@J�Y@9BH8DDN�@JJAE8H�@H�87cF@<88�@J�Y@9BH8DDN�@H�69�87cF@<88�@J�6�787;8H�@J�Y@9BH8DD�A9�E@998E=A@9�]A=>�@;=6A9A9B�69<�a8:8H6F�E@9=H6E=N�BH69=�@H�69<�@=>8H�6]6H:�E@f8H8:�;<�dK�WPXPYP�KdMVP�n6E>�=A8H�D>6FF�6FD@�:ADEF@D8�=>8�9678�@J�69<�H8BAD=H69=�G9:8H�=>8�?@;;<A9B�CADEF@DGH8�IE=�@J�KLLM�]>@�>6D�76:8�F@;;<A9B�E@9=6E=D�@9�A=D�;8>6FJ�]A=>�9@9Sa8:8H6F�JG9:D�]A=>�H8Dc8E=�=@�=>6=�a8:8H6F�E@9=H6E=N�BH69=�@H�6]6H:�E@f8H8:�;<�dK�WPXPYP�KdMVP�XGE>�:ADEF@DGH8D�6H8�J@H]6H:8:�JH@7�=A8H�=@�=A8H�Gc�=@�=>8�H8EAcA89=P�� pqr���s��t���u��� _>8�Y@9=H6E=@H�6BH88D�=@�E@7cF<�]A=>�RL�WPXPYP�RQKK̀�\=>8�laF<�I78HAE6l�IE=̂�A9�6EE@H:69E8�]A=>�=>8�v898H6F�X8HfAE8D�I:7A9AD=H6=A@9wD�H8BGF6=A@9D�6=�RK�Yab�O6H=�dQKSKQN�]>AE>�cH@fA:8�=>6=�H8EAcA89=D�@J�a8:8H6F�JG9:D�69:�=>8AH�E@9=H6E=@HD�6H8�H8ZGAH8:�=@�GD8�WPXP�aF6B�6AH�E6HHA8HD�J@H�WPX�v@f8H9789=S�JA969E8:�A9=8H96=A@96F�6AH�=H6f8F�69:�=H69Dc@H=6=A@9�@J�=>8AH�c8HD@96F�8JJ8E=D�@H�cH@c8H=<N�=@�=>8�8e=89=�DGE>�D8HfAE8�AD�6f6AF6;F8N�G9F8DD�=H6f8F�;<�J@H8AB9�6AH�E6HHA8H�AD�6�76==8H�@J�98E8DDA=<N�6D�:8JA98:�;<�=>8�aF<�I78HAE6�IE=P�_>8�Y@9=H6E=@H�D>6FF�DG;7A=N�AJ�6�J@H8AB9�6AH�E6HHA8H�]6D�GD8:N�69�6ccH@cHA6=8�E8H=AJAE6=A@9�@H�787@H69:G7�6:8ZG6=8F<�8ecF6A9A9B�]><�D8HfAE8�;<�6�WPXP�JF6B�6AH�E6HHA8H�]6D�9@=��6f6AF6;F8�@H�]><�A=�]6D�98E8DD6H<�=@�GD8�6�J@H8AB9�6AH�E6HHA8H�69:�D>6FFN�A9�69<�8f89=N�cH@fA:8�6�E8H=AJAE6=8�@J�E@7cFA69E8�]A=>�=>8�aF<�I78HAE6�H8ZGAH8789=DP�_>8�Y@9=H6E=@H�6BH88D�=@�A9EFG:8�=>8�H8ZGAH8789=D�@J�=>AD�D8E=A@9�A9�6FF�DG;E@9=H6E=D�=>6=�76<�A9f@Ff8�A9=8H96=A@96F�6AH�=H69Dc@H=6=A@9P�� pxr����ys�u	���
�z�	�� _>8�E@9=H6E=@H�6BH88D�=@�E@7cF<�]A=>�769:6=@H<�D=69:6H:D�69:�c@FAEA8D�H8F6=A9B�=@�898HB<�8JJAEA89E<N�D=6=8:�A9�=>8�D=6=8�898HB<�E@9D8Hf6=A@9�cF69�ADDG8:�A9�E@7cFA69E8�]A=>�=>8�n98HB<�O@FAE<�69:�Y@9D8Hf6=A@9�IE=P�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�,���

�./01.23245�� 678�9	���9:��	���:����:�;��<��	=<�:�	��������������	���� >?@ABCDA?BE�FGHH�ICG@ACG@�C�FBGAAJ@�D?KJ�?L�EAC@KCBKE�?L�D?@KMDA�N?OJB@G@N�APJ�QJBL?BIC@DJ�?L�APJGB�JIQH?RJJE�J@NCNJK�G@�APJ�CFCBK�C@K�CKIG@GEABCAG?@�?L�D?@ABCDAES�T?�JIQH?RJJU�?LLGDJB�?B�CNJ@A�?L�APJ�VJQCBAIJ@A�?B�APJ�WJKJBCH�LM@KG@N�CNJ@DR�EPCHH�QCBAGDGQCAJ�G@�EJHJDAG?@U�?B�G@�APJ�CFCBK�?B�CKIG@GEABCAG?@�?L�C�D?@ABCDA�EMQQ?BAJK�XR�WJKJBCH�LM@KE�GL�C�D?@LHGDA�?L�G@AJBJEAU�BJCH�?B�CQQCBJ@AU�F?MHK�XJ�G@O?HOJKS�YMDP�C�D?@LHGDA�F?MHK�CBGEJ�FPJ@Z�[PJ�JIQH?RJJU�?LLGDJB�?B�CNJ@AU�C@R�IJIXJB�?L�PGE�GIIJKGCAJ�LCIGHRU�\GE�?B�PJB�QCBA@JBU�?B�C@�?BNC@G]CAG?@�FPGDP�JIQH?REU�?B�GE�CX?MA�A?�JIQH?RU�C@R�?L�APJ�CX?OJU�PCE�C�LG@C@DGCH�?B�?APJB�G@AJBJEA�G@�APJ�LGBI�EJHJDAJK�L?B�CFCBKS�VJQCBAIJ@A�?LLGDJBEU�JIQH?RJJE�?B�CNJ@AE�FGHH�@JGAPJB�E?HGDGA�@?B�CDDJQA�NBCAMGAGJEU�LCO?BE�?B�C@RAPG@N�?L�I?@JACBR�OCHMJ�LB?I�D?@ABCDA?BEU�Q?AJ@AGCH�D?@ABCDA?BEU�?B�QCBAGJE�A?�EMXCNBJJIJ@AES�� 6̂8�9	�=��_̀ :������:�:�� [?�APJ�JaAJ@A�QJBIGAAJK�XR�bScSYS�d�efghif�C@K�d�jkgfkeU�APJ�>?@ABCDA?B�EPCHH�G@KJI@GLR�C@K�P?HK�PCBIHJEE�bVl[�CNCG@EA�C@R�HGCXGHGARU�G@DHMKG@N�D?EAE�C@K�JaQJ@EJEU�L?B�G@LBG@NJIJ@A�?L�C@R�QCAJ@AU�ABCKJICBm�?B�D?QRBGNPA�CBGEG@N�?MA�?L�APGE�D?@ABCDA�QJBL?BIC@DJ�?B�MEJ�XR�bVl[�?L�ICAJBGCHE�LMB@GEPJK�?B�F?Bm�QJBL?BIJK�M@KJB�APGE�D?@ABCDAS�bVl[�EPCHH�BJCE?@CXHR�@?AGLR�APJ�>?@ABCDA?B�?L�C@R�DHCGI�L?B�FPGDP�GA�ICR�XJ�HGCXHJ�M@KJB�APGE�QCBCNBCQPS�� >?QRBGNPAE�QMBEMC@A�A?�ij�>Wc�einSfif�oXpZ�[PJ�VJQCBAIJ@AU�CE�C�YACAJ�Vl[�ICR�D?QRBGNPA�C@R�X??mEU�QMXHGDCAG?@EU�?B�?APJB�D?QRBGNPACXHJ�ICAJBGCHE�KJOJH?QJK�G@�APJ�D?MBEJ�?L�APJ�QB?qJDAU�C@K�K?JE�PJBJG@�JaJBDGEJ�APCA�BGNPAS�[PJ�LJKJBCH�LM@KG@N�CNJ@DR�BJEJBOJE�C�B?RCHARgLBJJU�@?@JaDHMEGOJ�C@K�GBBJO?DCXHJ�BGNPA�A?�BJQB?KMDJU�QMXHGEPU�?B�?APJBFGEJ�MEJU�C@K�A?�CMAP?BG]J�?APJBE�A?�MEJU�APJ�F?Bm�L?B�r?OJB@IJ@A�QMBQ?EJES�� sCAJ@AE�QMBEMC@A�A?�ij�>Wc�einSfif�oGpZ�[PJ�VJQCBAIJ@AU�CE�C�YACAJ�Vl[�GE�EMXqJDA�A?�APJ�QB?OGEG?@E�?L��jt�>Wc�QCBA�enf�N?OJB@G@N�QCAJ@AE�C@K�G@OJ@AG?@E�C@K�IMEA�G@DHMKJ�?B�DGAJ�APJ�EAC@KCBK�QCAJ@A�BGNPAE�DHCMEJ�CA�jt�>Wc�enfSfeU�JaDJQA�L?B�denfSfeoNpU�G@�CHH�EMXNBC@AE�?B�D?@ABCDAES�u@�CKKGAG?@U�YACAJ�Vl[E�IMEA�G@DHMKJ�APJ�L?HH?FG@N�DHCMEJU�EMGACXHR�I?KGLGJK�A?�GKJ@AGLR�APJ�QCBAGJEU�G@�CHH�EMXNBC@AE�?B�D?@ABCDAEU�BJNCBKHJEE�?L�vwxyz�{|y�x}~xyw�x�v��z��x�x�|~�x�v���|y�yx�x�y����|y������x�����y��vxx�|y��|�vy��v|y�FGHH�BJACG@�CHH�BGNPAE�QB?OGKJK�L?B�APJ�YACAJ�G@�APGE�DHCMEJU�C@K�APJ�YACAJ�FGHH�@?AU�CE�QCBA�?L�APJ�D?@EGKJBCAG?@�L?B�CFCBKG@N�APJ�EMXNBC@A�?B�D?@ABCDAU�?XACG@�BGNPAE�G@�APJ�����y��vxx���|y��|�vy��v|y�������x�v�w��x�vw|������YAC@KCBK�sCAJ@A�cGNPAE�BJ�MGBJK�QMBEMC@A�A?�jt�>Wc�enfSfeZ�� oCp�VJLG@GAG?@E�� ofp�u@OJ@AG?@�IJC@E�C@R�G@OJ@AG?@�?B�KGED?OJBR�FPGDP�GE�?B�ICR�XJ�QCAJ@ACXHJ�?B�?APJBFGEJ�QB?AJDACXHJ�M@KJB�[GAHJ�jk�?L�APJ��@GAJK�YACAJE�>?KJU�?B�C@R�@?OJH�OCBGJAR�?L�QHC@A�FPGDP�GE�?B�ICR�XJ�QB?AJDAJK�M@KJB�APJ�sHC@A��CBGJAR�sB?AJDAG?@�bDA�ot��SYS>S�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�7879�:;�<:=>?>�� @7?�ABCD:E;�FGH:G;FIG�J:KG<�KGL�FGH:G;FIG�IM�;N:�EIG;OKE;IO�EIGE:FH:P�IO�MFO<;�KE;BKQQL�O:PBE:P�;I�ROKE;FE:�FG�;N:�R:OMIOJKGE:�IM�SIOT�BGP:O�;NF<�EIG;OKE;U�ROIHFP:P�;NK;�FG�;N:�EK<:�IM�K�HKOF:;L�IM�RQKG;U�;N:�PK;:�IM�P:;:OJFGK;FIG�@K<�P:MFG:P�FG�<:E;FIG�V9@P?�IM�;N:�WQKG;�XKOF:;L�WOI;:E;FIG�YE;U�Z�[>A>\>�7V]9@P??�JB<;�KQ<I�IEEBO�PBOFĜ�;N:�R:OFIP�IM�EIG;OKE;�R:OMIOJKGE:>�� @8?�WOKE;FEKQ�YRRQFEK;FIG�J:KG<�;I�JKGBMKE;BO:�FG�;N:�EK<:�IM�K�EIJRI<F;FIG�IO�ROIPBE;U�;I�ROKE;FE:�FG�;N:�EK<:�IM�K�ROIE:<<�IO�J:;NIPU�IO�;I�IR:OK;:�FG�;N:�EK<:�IM�K�JKENFG:�IO�<L<;:J_�KGPU�FG�:KEN�EK<:U�BGP:O�<BEN�EIGPF;FIG<�K<�;I�:<;KCQF<N�;NK;�;N:�FGH:G;FIG�F<�C:FĜ�B;FQF̀:P�KGP�;NK;�F;<�C:G:MF;<�KO:U�;I�;N:�:a;:G;�R:OJF;;:P�CL�QKS�IO�ÎH:OGJ:G;�O:̂BQK;FIG<U�KHKFQKCQ:�;I�;N:�RBCQFE�IG�O:K<IGKCQ:�;:OJ<>�� @V?�bKP:�SN:G�B<:P�FG�O:QK;FIG�;I�KGL�FGH:G;FIG�J:KG<�;N:�EIGE:R;FIG�IO�MFO<;�KE;BKQ�O:PBE;FIG�;I�ROKE;FE:�IM�<BEN�FGH:G;FIG>�� @c?�AJKQQ�dB<FG:<<�eFOJ�J:KG<�K�<JKQQ�CB<FG:<<�EIGE:OG�K<�P:MFG:P�K;�<:E;FIG�7�IM�WBC>�f>�gchc8i�@9c�[>A>\>�i87?�KGP�FJRQ:J:G;FĜ�O:̂BQK;FIG<�IM�;N:�YPJFGF<;OK;IO�IM�;N:�AJKQQ�dB<FG:<<�YPJFGF<;OK;FIG>�eIO�;N:�RBORI<:�IM�;NF<�EQKB<:U�;N:�<F̀:�<;KGPKOP<�MIO�<JKQQ�CB<FG:<<�EIGE:OG<�FGHIQH:P�FG�̂IH:OGJ:G;�ROIEBO:J:G;�KGP�<BCEIG;OKE;FĜ�K;�98�\ej�979>8hg�KGP�98�\ej�979>8h97U�O:<R:E;FH:QLU�SFQQ�C:�B<:P>�� @i?�kIGROIMF;�lÔKGF̀K;FIG�J:KG<�K�BGFH:O<F;L�IO�I;N:O�FG<;F;B;FIG�IM�NF̂N:O�:PBEK;FIG�IO�KG�IÔKGF̀K;FIG�IM�;N:�;LR:�P:<EOFC:P�FG�<:E;FIG�c]9@E?@8?�IM�;N:�mG;:OGKQ�j:H:GB:�\IP:�IM�9ncV�@7i�[>A>\>�c]9@E?�KGP�:a:JR;�MOIJ�;KaK;FIG�BGP:O�<:E;FIG�c]9@K?�IM�;N:�mG;:OGKQ�j:H:GB:�\IP:�@7c�[>A>\>�c]9@K??�IO�KGL�GIGROIMF;�<EF:G;FMFE�IO�:PBEK;FIGKQ�IÔKGF̀K;FIG�=BKQFMF:P�BGP:O�K�<;K;:�GIGROIMF;�IÔKGF̀K;FIG�<;K;B;:>�� @Z?�oN:�;:OJ�<;K;B;IOL�R:OFIP�J:KG<�;N:�IG:hL:KO�R:OFIP�C:MIO:�;N:�:MM:E;FH:�MFQFĜ�PK;:�IM�K�EQKFJ:P�FGH:G;FIG�PBOFĜ�SNFEN�:aE:R;FIG<�;I�ROFIO�KO;�:aF<;�R:O�8c�[>A>\>�9]7@C?�K<�KJ:GP:P�CL�;N:�f:KNLhAJF;N�YJ:OFEK�mGH:G;<�YE;U�WBCQFE�fKS�997h7n>�� @g?�oN:�;:OJ�EIG;OKE;IO�J:KG<�KGL�R:O<IGU�<JKQQ�CB<FG:<<�MFOJ�IO�GIGROIMF;�IÔKGF̀K;FIGU�IOU�K<�<:;�MIO;N�FG�<:E;FIG�9U�RKOK̂OKRN�@C?@V?�IM�pa:EB;FH:�lOP:O�97cn9U�K<�KJ:GP:PU�KGL�CB<FG:<<�MFOJ�O:̂KOPQ:<<�IM�<F̀:U�SNFEN�F<�K�RKO;L�;I�K�MBGPFĜ�K̂O::J:G;>�� @C?�YQQIEK;FIG�IM�WOFGEFRKQ�jF̂N;<�� oN:�\IG;OKE;IO�JKL�O:;KFG�;N:�:G;FO:�OF̂N;U�;F;Q:U�KGP�FG;:O:<;�;NOIB̂NIB;�;N:�SIOQP�;I�:KEN�<BCD:E;�FGH:G;FIG�<BCD:E;�;I�;N:�ROIHF<FIG<�IM�;NF<�EQKB<:�KGP�8c�[>A>\>�7]8>�qF;N�O:<R:E;�;I�KGL�<BCD:E;�FGH:G;FIG�FG�SNFEN�;N:�\IG;OKE;IO�O:;KFG<�;F;Q:U�;N:�e:P:OKQ�ÎH:OGJ:G;�<NKQQ�NKH:�K�GIG:aEQB<FH:U�GIG;OKG<M:OKCQ:U�FOO:HIEKCQ:U�RKFPhBR�QFE:G<:�;I�ROKE;FE:�IO�NKH:�ROKE;FE:P�MIO�IO�IG�C:NKQM�IM�;N:�[GF;:P�A;K;:<�;N:�<BCD:E;�FGH:G;FIG�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�56789:6895�56;�<87=>?�� @AB�CDE;D5F8D�GFHA=8H97;I�J=;A5F8D�8K�LF5=;�MD>�NF=FD:�8K�OM5;D5�PQQ=FAM5F8D�RS�T8D57MA587�� @UB�L6;�A8D57MA587�<F==�>FHA=8H;�;MA6�H9RV;A5�FDE;D5F8D�58�56;�N;>;7M=�P:;DAS�<F56FD�5<8�W8D56H�MK5;7�56;�FDE;D587�>FHA=8H;H�F5�FD�<7F5FD:�58�A8D57MA587�Q;7H8DD;=�7;HQ8DHFR=;�K87�QM5;D5�WM55;7H?�L6;�>FHA=8H97;�58�56;�M:;DAS�H6M==�R;�FD�56;�K87W�8K�M�<7F55;D�7;Q875�MD>�H6M==�F>;D5FKS�56;�A8D57MA5�9D>;7�<6FA6�56;�FDE;D5F8D�<MH�WM>;�MD>�56;�FDE;D587@HB?�C5�H6M==�R;�H9KKFAF;D5=S�A8WQ=;5;�FD�5;A6DFAM=�>;5MF=�58�A8DE;S�M�A=;M7�9D>;7H5MD>FD:�58�56;�;X5;D5�YD8<D�M5�56;�5FW;�8K�56;�>FHA=8H97;I�8K�56;�DM597;I�Q97Q8H;I�8Q;7M5F8DI�MD>�56;�Q6SHFAM=I�A6;WFAM=I�RF8=8:FAM=�87�;=;A57FAM=�A6M7MA5;7FH5FAH�8K�56;�FDE;D5F8D?�L6;�>FHA=8H97;�H6M==�M=H8�F>;D5FKS�MDS�Q9R=FAM5F8DI�8D�HM=;�87�Q9R=FA�9H;�8K�56;�FDE;D5F8D�MD>�<6;56;7�M�WMD9HA7FQ5�>;HA7FRFD:�56;�FDE;D5F8D�6MH�R;;D�H9RWF55;>�K87�Q9R=FAM5F8D�MD>I�FK�H8I�<6;56;7�F5�6MH�R;;D�MAA;Q5;>�K87�Q9R=FAM5F8D�M5�56;�5FW;�8K�>FHA=8H97;?�CD�M>>F5F8DI�MK5;7�>FHA=8H97;�58�56;�M:;DASI�56;�T8D57MA587�<F==�Q78WQ5=S�D85FKS�56;�M:;DAS�8K�56;�MAA;Q5MDA;�8K�MDS�WMD9HA7FQ5�>;HA7FRFD:�56;�FDE;D5F8D�K87�Q9R=FAM5F8D�87�8K�MDS�8D�HM=;�87�Q9R=FA�9H;�Q=MDD;>�RS�56;�A8D57MA587?�� @ZB�L6;�A8D57MA587�<F==�;=;A5�FD�<7F5FD:�<6;56;7�87�D85�58�7;5MFD�5F5=;�58�MDS�H9A6�FDE;D5F8D�RS�D85FKSFD:�56;�N;>;7M=�M:;DAS�<F56FD�5<8�S;M7H�8K�>FHA=8H97;�58�56;�N;>;7M=�M:;DAS?�[8<;E;7I�FD�MDS�AMH;�<6;7;�M�QM5;D5I�M�Q7FD5;>�Q9R=FAM5F8DI�Q9R=FA�9H;I�HM=;I�87�856;7�MEMF=MRF=F5S�58�56;�Q9R=FA�6MH�FDF5FM5;>�56;�8D;�S;M7�H5M59587S�Q;7F8>�<6;7;FD�EM=F>�QM5;D5�Q785;A5F8D�AMD�H5F==�R;�8R5MFD;>�FD�56;�\DF5;>�]5M5;HI�56;�Q;7F8>�K87�;=;A5F8D�8K�5F5=;�WMS�R;�H6875;D;>�RS�56;�M:;DAS�58�M�>M5;�56M5�FH�D8�W87;�56MD�̂_�>MSH�Q7F87�58�56;�;D>�8K�56;�H5M59587S�Q;7F8>?�� @̀B�L6;�A8D57MA587�<F==�KF=;�F5H�FDF5FM=�QM5;D5�MQQ=FAM5F8D�8D�M�H9RV;A5�FDE;D5F8D�58�<6FA6�F5�;=;A5H�58�7;5MFD�5F5=;�<F56FD�8D;�S;M7�MK5;7�;=;A5F8D�8K�5F5=;�87I�FK�;M7=F;7I�Q7F87�58�56;�;D>�8K�MDS�H5M59587S�Q;7F8>�<6;7;FD�EM=F>�QM5;D5�Q785;A5F8D�AMD�R;�8R5MFD;>�FD�56;�\DF5;>�]5M5;H�MK5;7�M�Q9R=FAM5F8DI�8D�HM=;I�87�Q9R=FA�9H;?�CK�56;�A8D57MA587�KF=;H�M�Q78EFHF8DM=�MQQ=FAM5F8D�MH�F5H�FDF5FM=�QM5;D5�MQQ=FAM5F8DI�F5�H6M==�KF=;�M�D8DaQ78EFHF8DM=�MQQ=FAM5F8D�<F56FD�U_�W8D56H�8K�56;�KF=FD:�8K�56;�Q78EFHF8DM=�MQQ=FAM5F8D?�L6;�A8D57MA587�<F==�KF=;�QM5;D5�MQQ=FAM5F8DH�FD�M>>F5F8DM=�A89D57F;H�87�FD5;7DM5F8DM=�QM5;D5�8KKFA;H�<F56FD�;F56;7�5;D�W8D56H�8K�56;�KF7H5�KF=;>�QM5;D5�MQQ=FAM5F8D�87�HFX�W8D56H�K78W�56;�>M5;�Q;7WFHHF8D�FH�:7MD5;>�RS�56;�T8WWFHHF8D;7�8K�OM5;D5H�58�KF=;�K87;F:D�QM5;D5�MQQ=FAM5F8DH�<6;7;�H9A6�KF=FD:�6MH�R;;D�Q786FRF5;>�RS�M�];A7;AS�b7>;7?�� @cB�N87�MDS�H9RV;A5�FDE;D5F8D�<F56�N;>;7M=�M:;DAS�MD>�A8D57MA587�A8aFDE;D587HI�<6;7;�56;�N;>;7M=�M:;DAS�;WQ=8SFD:�H9A6�A8aFDE;D587�>;5;7WFD;H�56M5�F5�<89=>�R;�FD�56;�FD5;7;H5�8K�56;�:8E;7DW;D5I�Q97H9MD5�58�̀d�\?]?T?�Z_e@MB@̀BI�58�KF=;�MD�FDF5FM=�QM5;D5�MQQ=FAM5F8D�8D�56;�H9RV;A5�FDE;D5F8DI�56;�N;>;7M=�M:;DAS�;WQ=8SFD:�H9A6�A8aFDE;D587I�M5�F5H�>FHA7;5F8D�MD>�FD�A8DH9=5M5F8D�<F56�56;�A8D57MA587I�WMS�KF=;�H9A6�MQQ=FAM5F8D�M5�F5H�8<D�;XQ;DH;I�Q78EF>;>�56M5�56;�A8D57MA587�7;5MFDH�56;�MRF=F5S�58�;=;A5�5F5=;�Q97H9MD5�58�d̀�\?]?T?�Z_Z@MB?�� @dB�f;g9;H5H�K87�;X5;DHF8D�8K�56;�5FW;�K87�>FHA=8H97;I�;=;A5F8DI�MD>�KF=FD:�9D>;7�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�567687659:�;<=>�;?=>�6@A�;B=�CD�E9F:�GH6I:J�K6L>�6E�E9J�AF:G7JEFC@�CD�E9J�MJAJ76H�68J@GL>�NJ�876@EJAO�P9J@�6�GC@E76GEC7�96:�7JQIJ:EJA�6@�JREJ@:FC@�DC7�DFHF@8�6�@C@S57CTF:FC@6H�655HFG6EFC@�6DEJ7�DFHF@8�6�57CTF:FC@6H�655HFG6EFC@>�6�C@JSLJ67�JREJ@:FC@�UFHH�NJ�876@EJA�I@HJ::�E9J�MJAJ76H�68J@GL�@CEFDFJ:�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�UFE9F@�VW�A6L:�CD�7JGJFTF@8�E9J�7JQIJ:EO�� ;A=�XC@AFEFC@:�P9J@�E9J�YCTJ7@KJ@E�Z6L�[NE6F@�\FEHJ�� \9J�GC@E76GEC7�UFHH�GC@TJL�EC�E9J�MJAJ76H�68J@GL>�I5C@�U7FEEJ@�7JQIJ:E>�EFEHJ�EC�6@L�:IN]JGE�F@TJ@EFC@̂ �� ;<=�_D�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�D6FH:�EC�AF:GHC:J�C7�JHJGE�EFEHJ�EC�E9J�:IN]JGE�F@TJ@EFC@�UFE9F@�E9J�EFKJ:�:5JGFDFJA�F@�567687659�;G=�CD�E9F:�GH6I:J>�C7�JHJGE:�@CE�EC�7JE6F@�EFEHJO�� ;?=�_@�E9C:J�GCI@E7FJ:�F@�U9FG9�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�D6FH:�EC�DFHJ�56EJ@E�655HFG6EFC@:�UFE9F@�E9J�EFKJ:�:5JGFDFJA�F@�567687659�;G=�CD�E9F:�GH6I:J̀�57CTFAJA>�9CUJTJ7>�E96E�FD�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�96:�DFHJA�6�56EJ@E�655HFG6EFC@�F@�6�GCI@E7L�6DEJ7�E9J�EFKJ:�:5JGFDFJA�F@�567687659�;G=�CD�E9F:�GH6I:J>�NIE�57FC7�EC�FE:�7JGJF5E�CD�E9J�U7FEEJ@�7JQIJ:E�CD�E9J�MJAJ76H�68J@GL>�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�:96HH�GC@EF@IJ�EC�7JE6F@�EFEHJ�F@�E96E�GCI@E7LO�� ;B=�_@�6@L�GCI@E7L�F@�U9FG9�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�AJGFAJ:�@CE�EC�GC@EF@IJ�E9J�57C:JGIEFC@�CD�6@L�@C@S�57CTF:FC@6H�56EJ@E�655HFG6EFC@�DC7>�EC�56L�6�K6F@EJ@6@GJ>�6@@IFEL�C7�7J@JU6H�DJJ�C@>�C7�EC�AJDJ@A�F@�6�7JJR6KF@6EFC@�C7�C55C:FEFC@�57CGJJAF@8�C@>�6�56EJ@E�C@�6�:IN]JGE�F@TJ@EFC@O�� ;J=�ZF@FKIK�aF89E:�EC�XC@E76GEC7�6@A�b7CEJGEFC@�CD�E9J�XC@E76GEC7�aF89E�EC�MFHJ�� ;<=�\9J�GC@E76GEC7�UFHH�7JE6F@�6�@C@JRGHI:FTJ�7CL6HELSD7JJ�HFGJ@:J�E97CI89CIE�E9J�UC7HA�F@�J6G9�:IN]JGE�F@TJ@EFC@�EC�U9FG9�E9J�YCTJ7@KJ@E�CNE6F@:�EFEHJ>�JRGJ5E�FD�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�D6FH:�EC�AF:GHC:J�E9J�F@TJ@EFC@�UFE9F@�E9J�EFKJ:�:5JGFDFJA�F@�;G=>�6NCTJO�\9J�GC@E76GEC7c:�HFGJ@:J�JREJ@A:�EC�FE:�ACKJ:EFG�:IN:FAF67L�6@A�6DDFHF6EJ:>�FD�6@L>�UFE9F@�E9J�GC75C76EJ�:E7IGEI7J�CD�U9FG9�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�F:�6�567EL�6@A�F@GHIAJ:�E9J�7F89E�EC�876@E�:INHFGJ@:J:�CD�E9J�:6KJ�:GC5J�EC�E9J�JREJ@E�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�U6:�HJ86HHL�CNHF86EJA�EC�AC�:C�6E�E9J�EFKJ�E9J�GC@E76GE�U6:�6U67AJAO�\9J�HFGJ@:J�F:�E76@:DJ76NHJ�C@HL�UFE9�E9J�6557CT6H�CD�E9J�MJAJ76H�68J@GL�JRGJ5E�U9J@�E76@:DJ77JA�EC�E9J�:IGJ::C7�CD�E96E�567EL�CD�E9J�GC@E76GEC7c:�NI:F@J::�EC�U9FG9�E9J�F@TJ@EFC@�5J7E6F@:O�� ;?=�\9J�GC@E76GEC7c:�ACKJ:EFG�HFGJ@:J�K6L�NJ�7JTCdJA�C7�KCAFDFJA�NL�E9J�DI@AF@8�MJAJ76H�68J@GL�EC�E9J�JREJ@E�@JGJ::67L�EC�6G9FJTJ�JR5JAFEFCI:�576GEFG6H�655HFG6EFC@�CD�E9J�:IN]JGE�F@TJ@EFC@�5I7:I6@E�EC�6@�655HFG6EFC@�DC7�6@�JRGHI:FTJ�HFGJ@:J�:INKFEEJA�F@�6GGC7A6@GJ�UFE9�655HFG6NHJ�57CTF:FC@:�6E�Be�XMa�567E�fWf�6@A�68J@GL�HFGJ@:F@8�7J8IH6EFC@:�;FD�6@L=O�\9F:�HFGJ@:J�UFHH�@CE�NJ�7JTCdJA�F@�E96E�DFJHA�CD�I:J�C7�E9J�8JC87659FG6H�67J6:�F@�U9FG9�E9J�GC@E76GEC7�96:�6G9FJTJA�576GEFG6H�655HFG6EFC@�6@A�GC@EF@IJ:�EC�K6dJ�E9J�NJ@JDFE:�CD�E9J�F@TJ@EFC@�7J6:C@6NHL�6GGJ::FNHJ�EC�E9J�5INHFGO�\9J�HFGJ@:J�F@�6@L�DC7JF8@�GCI@E7L�K6L�NJ�7JTCdJA�C7�KCAFDFJA�6E�E9J�AF:G7JEFC@�CD�E9J�DI@AF@8�MJAJ76H�68J@GL�EC�E9J�JREJ@E�E9J�GC@E76GEC7>�FE:�HFGJ@:JJ:>�C7�E9J�ACKJ:EFG�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�67869:9;<9=6�><�;??9@9;A=6�B;C=�?;9@=:�A>�;DB9=C=�E<;DA9D;@�;EE@9D;A9>F�9F�AB;A�?><=9GF�D>7FA<HI�� JKL�M=?><=�<=C>D;A9>F�><�N>:9?9D;A9>F�>?�AB=�@9D=F6=O�AB=�?7F:9FG�P=:=<;@�;G=FDH�Q9@@�?7<F96B�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�;�Q<9AA=F�F>A9D=�>?�9A6�9FA=FA9>F�A>�<=C>R=�><�N>:9?H�AB=�@9D=F6=O�;F:�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�Q9@@�8=�;@@>Q=:�AB9<AH�:;H6�J><�67DB�>AB=<�A9N=�;6�N;H�8=�;7AB><9S=:�8H�AB=�?7F:9FG�P=:=<;@�;G=FDH�?><�G>>:�D;76=�6B>QF�8H�AB=�D>FA<;DA><L�;?A=<�AB=�F>A9D=�A>�6B>Q�D;76=�QBH�AB=�@9D=F6=�6B>7@:�F>A�8=�<=C>R=:�><�N>:9?9=:I�TB=�D>FA<;DA><�B;6�AB=�<9GBA�A>�;EE=;@O�9F�;DD><:;FD=�Q9AB�;EE@9D;8@=�<=G7@;A9>F6�9F�KU�VPW�E;<A�XYX�;F:�;G=FDH�<=G7@;A9>F6�J9?�;FHL�D>FD=<F9FG�AB=�@9D=F69FG�>?�Z>C=<FN=FA[>QF=:�9FC=FA9>F6O�;FH�:=D969>F�D>FD=<F9FG�AB=�<=C>D;A9>F�><�N>:9?9D;A9>F�>?�AB=�@9D=F6=I�� J?L�V>FA<;DA><�\DA9>F�A>�]<>A=DA�AB=�Z>C=<FN=FÂ6�_FA=<=6A�� J̀L�TB=�D>FA<;DA><�;G<==6�A>�=a=D7A=�><�A>�B;C=�=a=D7A=:�;F:�E<>NEA@H�:=@9C=<�A>�AB=�P=:=<;@�;G=FDH�;@@�9F6A<7N=FA6�F=D=66;<H�A>�J9L�=6A;8@96B�><�D>F?9<N�AB=�<9GBA6�AB=�Z>C=<FN=FA�B;6�AB<>7GB>7A�AB=�Q><@:�9F�AB>6=�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>F6�A>�QB9DB�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�=@=DA6�A>�<=A;9F�A9A@=O�;F:�J99L�D>FC=H�A9A@=�A>�AB=�P=:=<;@�;G=FDH�QB=F�<=c7=6A=:�7F:=<�E;<;G<;EB�J:L�;8>C=�;F:�A>�=F;8@=�AB=�G>C=<FN=FA�A>�>8A;9F�E;A=FA�E<>A=DA9>F�AB<>7GB>7A�AB=�Q><@:�9F�AB;A�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>FI�� JdL�TB=�D>FA<;DA><�;G<==6�A>�<=c79<=O�8H�Q<9AA=F�;G<==N=FAO�9A6�=NE@>H==6O�>AB=<�AB;F�D@=<9D;@�;F:�F>FA=DBF9D;@�=NE@>H==6O�A>�:96D@>6=�E<>NEA@H�9F�Q<9A9FG�A>�E=<6>FF=@�9:=FA9?9=:�;6�<=6E>F698@=�?><�AB=�;:N9F96A<;A9>F�>?�E;A=FA�N;AA=<6�;F:�9F�;�?><N;A�67GG=6A=:�8H�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�=;DB�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>F�N;:=�7F:=<�D>FA<;DA�9F�><:=<�AB;A�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�D;F�D>NE@H�Q9AB�AB=�:96D@>67<=�E<>C969>F6�>?�E;<;G<;EB�JDL�>?�AB96�D@;76=O�A>�;669GF�A>�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�AB=�=FA9<=�<9GBAO�A9A@=�;F:�9FA=<=6A�9F�;F:�A>�=;DB�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>F�N;:=�7F:=<�D>FA<;DAO�;F:�A>�=a=D7A=�;@@�E;E=<6�F=D=66;<H�A>�?9@=�E;A=FA�;EE@9D;A9>F6�>F�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>F6�;F:�A>�=6A;8@96B�AB=�G>C=<FN=FÂ6�<9GBA6�9F�AB=�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>F6I�TB96�:96D@>67<=�?><N;A�6B>7@:�<=c79<=O�;6�;�N9F9N7NO�AB=�9F?><N;A9>F�<=c79<=:�8H�E;<;G<;EB�JDLJ̀L�>?�AB96�D@;76=I�TB=�D>FA<;DA><�6B;@@�9F6A<7DA�67DB�=NE@>H==6�AB<>7GB�=NE@>H==�;G<==N=FA6�><�>AB=<�679A;8@=�=:7D;A9>F;@�E<>G<;N6�>F�AB=�9NE><A;FD=�>?�<=E><A9FG�9FC=FA9>F6�9F�67??9D9=FA�A9N=�A>�E=<N9A�AB=�?9@9FG�>?�E;A=FA�;EE@9D;A9>F6�E<9><�A>�eIfI�><�?><=9GF�6A;A7A><H�8;<6I�� JKL�P><�=;DB�678b=DA�9FC=FA9>FO�AB=�D>FA<;DA><�Q9@@O�F>�@=66�AB;F�gY�:;H6�E<9><�A>�AB=�=aE9<;A9>F�>?�AB=�6A;A7A><H�:=;:@9F=O�F>A9?H�AB=�P=:=<;@�;G=FDH�>?�;FH�:=D969>Fh�i>A�A>�D>FA9F7=�AB=�E<>6=D7A9>F�>?�;�F>F[�E<>C969>F;@�E;A=FA�;EE@9D;A9>Fj�F>A�A>�E;H�;�N;9FA=F;FD=O�;FF79AH�><�<=F=Q;@�?==j�F>A�A>�:=?=F:�9F�;�<==a;N9F;A9>F�><�>EE>69A9>F�E<>D==:9FG�>F�;�E;A=FAO�9F�;FH�D>7FA<Hj�A>�<=c7=6AO�8=�;�E;<AH�A>O�><�A;R=�;DA9>F�9F�;�A<9;@�E<>D==:9FG�8=?><=�AB=�];A=FA�T<9;@�;F:�\EE=;@6�M>;<:�>?�AB=�eIfI�];A=FA�;F:�T<;:=N;<R�k??9D=O�9FD@7:9FG�87A�F>A�@9N9A=:�A>�E>6A[G<;FA�<=C9=QO�<=C9=Q�>?�;�8769F=66�N=AB>:�E;A=FAO�9FA=<�E;<A=6�<=C9=QO�;F:�:=<9C;A9>F�E<>D==:9FGj�><�A>�<=c7=6AO�8=�;�E;<AH�A>O�><�A;R=�;DA9>F�9F�;�F>F[A<9;@�678N9669>F�>?�;<A�><�9F?><N;A9>F�;A�AB=�eIfI�];A=FA�;F:�T<;:=N;<R�k??9D=O�9FD@7:9FG�87A�F>A�@9N9A=:�A>�;�E<=[9667;FD=�678N9669>FO�;�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�6789:;88<=>?@�8<AB;88;7>C�=>D�8<66E@B@>9=E�@F=B;>=9;7>G�� HIJ�KL@�?7>9M=?97M�=NM@@8�97�;>?E<D@C�O;9L;>�9L@�86@?;P;?=9;7>�7P�=>Q�R>;9@D�S9=9@8�6=9@>9�=66E;?=9;7>8�=>D�=>Q�6=9@>9�;88<;>N�9L@M@7>�?7T@M;>N�=�8<AU@?9�;>T@>9;7>C�9L@�VWXXWYZ[\�]̂_̂̀ à [̂b�cdeZ]�Z[f@>9;7>�O=8�B=D@�O;9L�N7T@M>B@>9�8<667M9�<>D@M�H;D@>9;PQ�9L@�?7>9M=?9J�=O=MD@D�AQ�H;D@>9;PQ�9L@�g@D@M=E�=N@>?QJG�KL@�N7T@M>B@>9�L=8�?@M9=;>�M;NL98�;>�9L@�Z[f̀[̂ZW[hi�� HNJ�S<A?7>9M=?98�� HjJ�KL@�?7>9M=?97M�O;EE�;>?E<D@�9L;8�?E=<8@C�8<;9=AEQ�B7D;P;@D�97�;D@>9;PQ�9L@�6=M9;@8C�;>�=EE�8<A?7>9M=?98C�M@N=MDE@88�7P�9;@MC�P7M�@F6@M;B@>9=EC�D@T@E76B@>9=E�7M�M@8@=M?L�O7Mk�97�A@�6@MP7MB@D�AQ�=�8<A?7>9M=?97MGG�KL@�8<A?7>9M=?97M�O;EE�M@9=;>�=EE�M;NL98�6M7T;D@D�P7M�9L@�?7>9M=?97M�;>�9L;8�?E=<8@C�=>D�9L@�?7>9M=?97M�O;EE�>79C�=8�6=M9�7P�9L@�?7>8;D@M=9;7>�P7M�=O=MD;>N�9L@�8<A?7>9M=?9C�7A9=;>�M;NL98�;>�9L@�8<A?7>9M=?97Ml8�8<AU@?9�;>T@>9;7>8G�� HmJ�KL@�?7>9M=?97M�O;EE�;>?E<D@�;>�=EE�79L@M�8<A?7>9M=?98C�M@N=MDE@88�7P�9;@MC�P7M�@F6@M;B@>9=E�D@T@E76B@>9=E�7M�M@8@=M?L�O7Mk�9L@�6=9@>9�M;NL98�?E=<8@�M@n<;M@D�AQ�H?;9@�8@?9;7>�7P�=N@>?Q�;B6E@B@>9;>N�M@N<E=9;7>8�7M�gopJG�� HqJ�r>�9L@�?=8@�7P�8<A?7>9M=?98C�=9�=>Q�9;@MC�OL@>�9L@�6M;B@�=O=MD�O;9L�9L@�g@D@M=E�=N@>?Q�O=8�=�?7>9M=?9�HA<9�>79�=�NM=>9�7M�?776@M=9;T@�=NM@@B@>9JC�9L@�=N@>?QC�8<A?7>9M=?97MC�=>D�9L@�?7>9M=?97M�=NM@@�9L=9�9L@�B<9<=E�7AE;N=9;7>8�7P�9L@�6=M9;@8�?M@=9@D�AQ�9L;8�?E=<8@�?7>89;9<9@�=�?7>9M=?9�A@9O@@>�9L@�8<A?7>9M=?97M�=>D�9L@�g@D@M=E�=N@>?Q�O;9L�M@86@?9�97�9L@�B=99@M8�?7T@M@D�AQ�9L@�?E=<8@s�6M7T;D@DC�L7O@T@MC�9L=9�>79L;>N�;>�9L;8�6=M=NM=6L�;8�;>9@>D@D�97�?7>P@M�=>Q�U<M;8D;?9;7>�<>D@M�9L@�t7>9M=?9�u;86<9@8�o?9�;>�?7>>@?9;7>�O;9L�6M7?@@D;>N8�<>D@M�6=M=NM=6L�HUJ�7P�9L;8�?E=<8@G�� HLJ�p@67M9;>N�7>�R9;E;v=9;7>�7P�S<AU@?9�r>T@>9;7>8�� KL@�t7>9M=?97M�=NM@@8�97�8<AB;9�7>�M@n<@89�6@M;7D;?�M@67M98�>7�B7M@�PM@n<@>9EQ�9L=>�=>><=EEQ�7>�9L@�<9;E;v=9;7>�7P�=�8<AU@?9�;>T@>9;7>�7M�7>�@PP7M98�=9�7A9=;>;>N�8<?L�<9;E;v=9;7>�9L=9�=M@�A@;>N�B=D@�AQ�9L@�?7>9M=?97M�7M�;98�E;?@>8@@8�7M�=88;N>@@8G�S<?L�M@67M98�8L=EE�;>?E<D@�;>P7MB=9;7>�M@N=MD;>N�9L@�89=9<8�7P�D@T@E76B@>9C�D=9@�7P�P;M89�?7BB@M?;=E�8=E@�7M�<8@C�NM788�M7Q=E9;@8�M@?@;T@D�AQ�9L@�?7>9M=?97MC�=>D�8<?L�79L@M�D=9=�=>D�;>P7MB=9;7>�=8�9L@�=N@>?Q�B=Q�M@=87>=AEQ�86@?;PQG�KL@�?7>9M=?97M�=E87�=NM@@8�97�6M7T;D@�=DD;9;7>=E�M@67M98�=8�B=Q�A@�M@n<@89@D�AQ�9L@�=N@>?Q�;>�?7>>@?9;7>�O;9L�=>Q�B=M?L:;>�6M7?@@D;>N�<>D@M9=k@>�AQ�9L@�=N@>?Q�;>�=??7MD=>?@�O;9L�6=M=NM=6L�HUJ�7P�9L;8�?E=<8@G�o8�M@n<;M@D�AQ�qw�RGSGtG�mxmH?JHwJC�9L@�=N@>?Q�=NM@@8�;9�O;EE�>79�D;8?E78@�8<?L�;>P7MB=9;7>�97�6@M87>8�7<98;D@�9L@�N7T@M>B@>9�O;9L7<9�6@MB;88;7>�7P�9L@�?7>9M=?97MG�� H;J�yM@P@M@>?@�P7M�R>;9@D�S9=9@8�r>D<89MQ�� z79O;9L89=>D;>N�=>Q�79L@M�6M7T;8;7>�7P�9L;8�?E=<8@C�9L@�?7>9M=?97M�=NM@@8�9L=9�>@;9L@M�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�56�789�:7;�:<<5=7>>�?5@@�=9:76�68�:7;�A>9<87�6B>�>CD@E<5F>�95=B6�68�E<>�89�<>@@�:7;�<EGH>D6�57F>76587<�57�6B>�I756>J�K6:6><�E7@><<�<EDB�A>9<87�:=9>><�6B:6�:7;�A98JED6<�>LG8J;57=�6B>�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�89�A98JED>J�6B98E=B�6B>�E<>�8M�6B>�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�?5@@�G>�L:7EM:D6E9>J�<EG<6:765:@@;�57�6B>�I756>J�K6:6><N�O8?>F>9P�57�57J5F5JE:@�D:<><P�6B>�9>QE59>L>76�M89�<EDB�:7�:=9>>L>76�L:;�G>�?:5F>J�G;�6B>�R>J>9:@�:=>7D;�EA87�:�<B8?57=�G;�6B>�D8769:D689�89�56<�:<<5=7>>�6B:6�9>:<87:G@>�GE6�E7<EDD><<ME@�>MM896<�B:F>�G>>7�L:J>�68�=9:76�@5D>7<><�87�<5L5@:9�6>9L<�68�A86>765:@�@5D>7<>><�6B:6�?8E@J�G>�@5S>@;�68�L:7EM:D6E9>�<EG<6:765:@@;�57�6B>�I756>J�K6:6><�89�6B:6�E7J>9�6B>�D59DEL<6:7D><�J8L><65D�L:7EM:D6E9>�5<�786�D8LL>9D5:@@;�M>:<5G@>N�� THU�V:9DBW57�X5=B6<�� YB>�D8769:D689�:=9>><�6B:6�?56B�9><A>D6�68�:7;�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�57�?B5DB�56�B:<�:DQE59>J�656@>P�6B>�R>J>9:@�:=>7D;�B:<�6B>�95=B6�57�:DD89J:7D>�?56B�6B>�A98D>JE9><�57�Z[�\RX�]̂_Ǹ�:7J�:7;�<EAA@>L>76:@�9>=E@:6587<�8M�6B>�:=>7D;�68�9>QE59>�6B>�D8769:D689P�:7�:<<5=7>>�89�>CD@E<5F>�@5D>7<>>�8M�:�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�68�=9:76�:�787>CD@E<5F>P�A:965:@@;�>CD@E<5F>P�89�>CD@E<5F>�@5D>7<>�57�:7;�M5>@J�8M�E<>�68�:�9><A87<5G@>�:AA@5D:76�89�:AA@5D:76<P�EA87�6>9L<�6B:6�:9>�9>:<87:G@>�E7J>9�6B>�D59DEL<6:7D><P�:7J�5M�6B>�D8769:D689P�:<<5=7>>P�89�>CD@E<5F>�@5D>7<>>�9>ME<><�<EDB�:�9>QE><6�6B>�R>J>9:@�:=>7D;�B:<�6B>�95=B6�68�=9:76�<EDB�:�@5D>7<>�56<>@M�5M�6B>�R>J>9:@�:=>7D;�J>6>9L57><�6B:6a�� T_U�KEDB�:D6587�5<�7>D><<:9;�G>D:E<>�6B>�D8769:D689�89�:<<5=7>>�B:<�786�6:S>7P�89�5<�786�>CA>D6>J�68�6:S>�?56B57�:�9>:<87:G@>�65L>P�>MM>D65F>�<6>A<�68�:DB5>F>�A9:D65D:@�:AA@5D:6587�8M�6B>�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�57�<EDB�M5>@J�8M�E<>N�� TbU�KEDB�:D6587�5<�7>D><<:9;�68�:@@>F5:6>�B>:@6B�89�<:M>6;�7>>J<�?B5DB�:9>�786�9>:<87:G@;�<:65<M5>J�G;�6B>�D8769:D689P�:<<5=7>>�89�6B>59�@5D>7<>><c�� TZU�KEDB�:D6587�5<�7>D><<:9;�68�L>>6�9>QE59>L>76<�M89�AEG@5D�E<>�<A>D5M5>J�G;�R>J>9:@�9>=E@:6587<�:7J�<EDB�9>QE59>L>76<�:9>�786�9>:<87:G@;�<:65<M5>J�G;�6B>�D8769:D689P�:<<5=7>>�89�@5D>7<>><c�89�� T]U�KEDB�:D6587�5<�7>D><<:9;�G>D:E<>�6B>�:=9>>L>76�9>QE59>J�G;�A:9:=9:AB�T5U�8M�6B5<�D@:E<>�B:<�786�G>>7�8G6:57>J�89�?:5F>J�89�G>D:E<>�:�@5D>7<>>�8M�6B>�>CD@E<5F>�95=B6�68�E<>�89�<>@@�:7;�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�57�6B>�I756>J�K6:6><�5<�57�G9>:DB�8M�<EDB�:=9>>L>76N�� TSU�KA>D5:@�d98F5<587<�M89�\8769:D6<�?56B�e87A98M56�f9=:75g:6587<��hM�6B>�D8769:D689�5<�:�787A98M56�89=:75g:6587P�56�:=9>><�6B:6a��T_U�X5=B6<�68�:�<EGH>D6�57F>76587�57�6B>�I756>J�K6:6><�L:;�786�G>�:<<5=7>J�?56B8E6�6B>�:AA98F:@�8M�6B>�R>J>9:@�:=>7D;P�>CD>A6�?B>9>�<EDB�:<<5=7L>76�5<�L:J>�68�:7�89=:75g:6587�?B5DB�B:<�:<�87>�8M�56<�A95L:9;�ME7D6587<�6B>�L:7:=>L>76�8M�57F>76587<P�A98F5J>J�6B:6�<EDB�:<<5=7>>�?5@@�G>�<EGH>D6�68�6B>�<:L>�A98F5<587<�:<�6B>�D8769:D689c��



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�567�89:�;<=>?@;><?�ABCC�D9@?:�?<E@C>B:D�;<CC:;>:F�<=�@�DGHI:;>�B=J:=>B<=�AB>9�>9:�B=J:=><?K�B=;CGFB=L�M:F:?@C�:NOC<E::�;<PB=J:=><?D�5A9:=�>9:�@L:=;E�F::ND�B>�@OO?<O?B@>:7�A9:=�>9:�DGHI:;>�B=J:=>B<=�BD�@DDBL=:F�B=�@;;<?F@=;:�AB>9�QR�STUTVT�6W65:7�@=F�QX�VMY�ZW[T[W\�� 5Q7�89:�H@C@=;:�<]�@=E�?<E@C>B:D�<?�B=;<N:�:@?=:F�HE�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�AB>9�?:DO:;>�><�DGHI:;>�B=J:=>B<=DK�@]>:?�O@EN:=>�<]�:̂O:=D:D�5B=;CGFB=L�O@EN:=>D�><�B=J:=><?D7�B=;BF:=>@C�><�>9:�@FNB=BD>?@>B<=�<]�DGHI:;>�B=J:=>B<=DK�ABCC�H:�G>BCB_:F�]<?�>9:�DGOO<?>�<]�D;B:=>B]B;�?:D:@?;9�<?�:FG;@>B<=\�@=F�� 5Z7�̀>�ABCC�N@a:�:]]<?>D�>9@>�@?:�?:@D<=@HC:�G=F:?�>9:�;B?;GND>@=;:D�><�@>>?@;>�CB;:=D::D�<]�DGHI:;>�B=J:=>B<=D�>9@>�@?:�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�]B?ND�@=F�>9@>�B>�ABCC�LBJ:�@�O?:]:?:=;:�><�@�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�]B?N�A9:=�CB;:=DB=L�@�DGHI:;>�B=J:=>B<=�B]�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�F:>:?NB=:D�>9@>�>9:�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�]B?N�9@D�@�OC@=�<?�O?<O<D@C�]<?�N@?a:>B=L�>9:�B=J:=>B<=�A9B;9K�B]�:̂:;G>:FK�BD�:bG@CCE�@D�CBa:CE�><�H?B=L�>9:�B=J:=>B<=�><�O?@;>B;@C�@OOCB;@>B<=�@D�@=E�OC@=D�<?�O?<O<D@CD�]?<N�@OOCB;@=>D�>9@>�@?:�=<>�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�]B?ND\�O?<JBF:FK�>9@>�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�BD�@CD<�D@>BD]B:F�>9@>�>9:�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�]B?N�9@D�>9:�;@O@HBCB>E�@=F�?:D<G?;:D�><�;@??E�<G>�B>D�OC@=�<?�O?<O<D@CT�89:�F:;BDB<=�A9:>9:?�><�LBJ:�@�O?:]:?:=;:�B=�@=E�DO:;B]B;�;@D:�ABCC�H:�@>�>9:�FBD;?:>B<=�<]�>9:�;<=>?@;><?T�c<A:J:?K�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�@L?::D�>9@>�>9:�M:F:?@C�@L:=;E�N@E�?:JB:A�>9:�;<=>?@;><?dD�CB;:=DB=L�O?<L?@N�@=F�F:;BDB<=D�?:L@?FB=L�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�@OOCB;@=>DK�@=F�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�ABCC�=:L<>B@>:�;9@=L:D�><�B>D�CB;:=DB=L�O<CB;B:DK�O?<;:FG?:DK�<?�O?@;>B;:D�AB>9�>9:�M:F:?@C�@L:=;E�A9:=�>9:�M:F:?@C�@L:=;EdD�?:JB:A�FBD;C<D:D�>9@>�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�;<GCF�>@a:�?:@D<=@HC:�D>:OD�><�BNOC:N:=>�N<?:�:]]:;>BJ:CE�>9:�?:bGB?:N:=>D�<]�>9BD�O@?@L?@O9�5a75Z7T�̀=�@;;<?F@=;:�AB>9�QX�VMY�ZW[TXK�>9:�M:F:?@C�@L:=;E�<?�>9:�;<=>?@;><?�N@E�?:bG:D>�>9@>�>9:�U:;?:>@?E�?:JB:A�>9:�;<=>?@;><?dD�CB;:=DB=L�O?<L?@N�@=F�F:;BDB<=D�?:L@?FB=L�DN@CC�HGDB=:DD�@OOCB;@=>DT�� efg���h	
�����i�j�������� 89:�V<=>?@;><?�@L?::D�><�O?<JBF:�@�O?:]:?:=;:�]<?�>9<D:�O?<FG;>D�@=F�D:?JB;:D�>9@>�;<=D:?J:�=@>G?@C�?:D<G?;:DK�O?<>:;>�>9:�:=JB?<=N:=>K�@=F�@?:�:=:?LE�:]]B;B:=>�HE�;<NOCEB=L�AB>9�@=F�]@;BCB>@>B=L�;<NOCB@=;:�AB>9�U:;>B<=�kWW6�<]�>9:�Y:D<G?;:�V<=D:?J@>B<=�@=F�Y:;<J:?E�l;>K�@D�@N:=F:FK�Z6�STUTVT�m�knk6K�@=F�STUT�o=JB?<=N:=>@C�pqrstusvrw�xytwuz�{|}~}��px�����r��qt�tw�v�t�pqru�qt�tws���v�t�vwt��rq�pqr��us���rws�vwvwy��tur�tqt����stqv����������}�}�}���qs����}�� e�g������	����j�	�	��i	j	��
���h����� @T�U:@>��:C>�SD:T�89:�Y:;BOB:=>�@L?::D�><�BNOC:N:=>�ô:;G>BJ:��?F:?��<T�[QWZQK���wuqt��vwy�~t�s��t�s�|�t�vw�s�t�|wvst��~s�st����x�qv�������  ����¡�|}~}�}�¢�����wrst��5k6�M:FT�Y:LT�[n6[X7K�HE£�� 5[7�lF<O>B=L�@=F�O?<N<>B=L�<=P>9:PI<H�D:@>�H:C>�GD:�O<CB;B:D�@=F�O?<L?@ND�]<?�B>D�:NOC<E::D�@=F�<>9:?�O:?D<==:C�>9@>�<O:?@>:�;<NO@=EP<A=:F�J:9B;C:DK�;<NO@=EP?:=>:F�J:9B;C:DK�<?�O:?D<=@CCE�<O:?@>:F�J:9B;C:DK�@=F�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�� 678�9:;<=>?:@�A�BCDAE�FD<E�GHDI�JKLM?H?L:�?:�DA;N�EN?K>�JAKEO�A@KDDPD:E�KD<AED>�EL�END�QRSTUV�� WV�XYZ[TS\[]U�XTŶY_̀a�b_\cdUY_̀�e]f[�g]ZZS̀Y_̀�hiYc]�XTŶY_̀V�ei]�j]\YkY]_[�S̀T]]Z�[l�\lmkcn�RY[io�� 6p8�qf]\=E?MD�rK>DK�sLt�uvwuvx�ByD>DKA<�zDA>DKHN?J�L:�{D>=;?:@�|D}E�~DHHA@?:@��N?<D��K?M?:@xI�r;EL�DK�ux�����x��v�GtCt�t�������:LEDx�����yD>t�j]̀V��p77�8a�� 678�GtCt��r|�rK>DK�v���tu�x�B|D}E�~DHHA@?:@��N?<D��K?M?:@xI��D;DP�DK�v�x�����x�S_U�� 6�8�ei]��lcclRY_̀��V�V�X�e��k]\YSc��Tl̂YZYl_�k]T[SY_Y_̀�[l�XYZ[TS\[]U�XTŶY_̀o�� 6S8��S�][nV�ei]�j]\YkY]_[�S̀T]]Z�[l�SUlk[�S_U�]_�lT\]�RlT�kcS\]�ZS�][n�klcY\Y]Z�[l�U]\T]SZ]�\TSZi]Z�\SdZ]U�Wn�UYZ[TS\[]U�UTŶ]TZa�Y_\cdUY_̀�klcY\Y]Z�[l�WS_�[]f[�m]ZZS̀Y_̀�RiYc]�dZY_̀�S_�]c]\[Tl_Y\�U]̂Y\]�ZdkkcY]U�Wn�S_�]mkcln]Ta�S_U�UTŶY_̀�S�̂]iY\c]�[i]�UTŶ]T�lR_Z�lT�T]_[Za�S�̂]iY\c]�j]\YkY]_[�lR_Za�c]SZ]Za�lT�T]_[Za�lT�S�kTŶS[]cn�lR_]U�̂]iY\c]�Ri]_�l_�l��Y\YSc�WdZY_]ZZ�Y_�\l__]\[Yl_�RY[i�[i]�QRSTUa�lT�Ri]_�k]T�lTmY_̀�S_n�RlT���lT�lT�l_�W]iSc��l��[i]�QRSTUa�� 6W8�j]\YkY]_[��Y�]V�ei]�j]\YkY]_[�S̀T]]Z�[l�\l_Ud\[�RlT�kcS\]�ZS�][n�Y_Y[YS[Ŷ]Z�Y_�S�mS__]T�\lmm]_ZdTS[]�RY[i�Y[Z�ZY�]a�Zd\i�SZ�]Z[SWcYZiY_̀�_]R�Tdc]Z�S_U�kTl̀TSmZ�[l�kTliYWY[�[]f[�m]ZZS̀Y_̀�RiYc]�UTŶY_̀a�T]�]̂ScdS[Y_̀�[i]�]fYZ[Y_̀�kTl̀TSmZ�[l�kTliYWY[�[]f[�m]ZZS̀Y_̀�RiYc]�UTŶY_̀a�S_U�kTl̂YUY_̀�]Ud\S[Yl_a�SRST]_]ZZa�S_U�l[i]T�ld[T]S\i�[l�]mkcln]]Z�SWld[�[i]�ZS�][n�TYZ�Z�SZZl\YS[]U�RY[i�[]f[Y_̀�RiYc]�UTŶY_̀a�S_U�� 6\8�qf[]_ZYl_�l���Tl̂YZYl_V�ei]�j]\YkY]_[�S̀T]]Z�[l�Y_\cdU]�[i]�kT]\]UY_̀��k]\YSc��Tl̂YZYl_�l��Z]\[Yl_���VW6�86S8���6W8�l��[iYZ�gSZ[]T�Q̀T]]m]_[�Y_�Y[Z�[iYTU�kST[n�S̀T]]m]_[Za�S_U�]_\ldTS̀]�Y[Z�eiYTU��ST[n��ST[Y\YkS_[Z�[l�\lmkcn�RY[i�[iYZ��k]\YSc��Tl̂YZYl_a�S_U�Y_\cdU]�[iYZ��k]\YSc��Tl̂YZYl_�Y_�]S\i�[iYTU�kST[n�ZdWS̀T]]m]_[�S[�]S\i�[Y]T�ZdkklT[]U�RY[i��]U]TSc�SZZYZ[S_\]V�� ���������������	��������������� ei]��eQ��]T[Y�Y\S[Yl_Z�S_U�QZZdTS_\]Z�ST]�Y_\lTklTS[]U�i]T]Y_�Wn�T]�]T]_\]V��kl_�SRSTU�lT�\l_[TS\[�T]_]RSca�[i]��l_[TS\[lT�mdZ[�S̀T]]�[l�\lmkcn�RY[i�[i]�mlZ[�\dTT]_[��eQ��]T[Y�Y\S[Yl_Z�S_U�QZZdTS_\]Z�Wn�ZỲ_Y_̀�S_U�ZdWmY[[Y_̀�[i]�ZỲ_S[dT]�kS̀]�kTl̂YU]U�Wn�[i]�X]kST[m]_[V�b_�[i]�]̂]_[��eQ�YZZd]Z�_]R��]T[Y�Y\S[Yl_Z�S_U�QZZdTS_\]Za�[i]�X]kST[m]_[�T]Z]T̂]Z�[i]�TỲi[�[l�T]�dYT]�ZdWmYZZYl_�l��S�_]R�ZỲ_S[dT]�kS̀]�S̀T]]Y_̀�[l�\lmkcn��[l�W]�SUU]U�[l�[i]�[]TmZ�S_U�\l_UY[Yl_Z�Wn�Qm]_Um]_[V�Qcc�Zd\i�T]�d]Z[Z�ST]�S�\l_UY[Yl_�l��\l_[Y_d]U�SRSTUV�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�� 567������
�8�9���:;�������8���������� <76��.=>/?@�� ABC�DEFGHIJ�KCLJEMNCIM�HO�AEJIPLHEMJMFHI�QBCECFIJOMCE�MBC�KCLJEMNCIMR�BJP�CPMJSTFPBCU�J�KFPJUVJIMJWCU�XYPFICPP�ZIMCELEFPC�QKXZR�LEHWEJN�FI�J[[HEUJI[C�\FMB�MBC�ECWYTJMFHIP�HO�MBC�]̂_̂�KCLJEMNCIM�HO�AEJIPLHEMJMFHI�Q]_K̀ ARa�bc�def�gJEM�hî�ABC�KCLJEMNCIM�BJP�EC[CFVCU�eCUCEJT�OFIJI[FJT�JPPFPMJI[C�OEHN�MBC�]̂_̂�KCLJEMNCIM�HO�AEJIPLHEMJMFHI�JIU�JP�J�[HIUFMFHI�HO�EC[CFVFIW�MBFP�JPPFPMJI[Ca�MBC�KCLJEMNCIM�BJP�PFWICU�JI�JPPYEJI[C�MBJM�FM�\FTT�[HNLTj�\FMB�bc�def�gJEM�hî�� kM�FP�MBC�LHTF[j�HO�MBC�KCLJEMNCIM�MH�CIPYEC�MBJM�KXZPa�JP�UCOFICU�FI�gJEM�hia�BJVC�JI�ClYJT�HLLHEMYIFMj�MH�EC[CFVC�JIU�LJEMF[FLJMC�FI�]_K̀AmJPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MP̂�kM�FP�JTPH�MBC�LHTF[j�HO�MBC�KCLJEMNCIMn�� ô�AH�CIPYEC�IHIUFP[EFNFIJMFHI�FI�MBC�J\JEU�JIU�JUNFIFPMEJMFHI�HO�]_K̀ AmJPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MPp�ĥ�AH�[ECJMC�J�TCVCT�LTJjFIW�OFCTU�HI�\BF[B�KXZP�[JI�[HNLCMC�OJFETj�OHE�]_K̀ AmJPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MPp�q̂�AH�CIPYEC�MBJM�MBC�KXZ�LEHWEJN�FP�IJEEH\Tj�MJFTHECU�FI�J[[HEUJI[C�\FMB�JLLTF[JSTC�TJ\p�b̂�AH�CIPYEC�MBJM�HITj�OFENP�MBJM�OYTTj�NCCM�bc�def�gJEM�hi�CTFWFSFTFMj�PMJIUJEUP�JEC�[HYIMCU�JP�KXZPp�r̂�AH�BCTL�ECNHVC�SJEEFCEP�MH�MBC�LJEMF[FLJMFHI�HO�KXZP�FI�]_K̀ AmJPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MPp�î�AH�JPPFPM�FI�MBC�UCVCTHLNCIM�HO�OFENP�MBJM�[JI�[HNLCMC�PY[[CPPOYTTj�FI�MBC�NJEsCM�LTJ[C�HYMPFUC�MBC�KXZ�LEHWEJNp�JIU�t̂�AH�LEHNHMC�MBC�YPC�HO�KXZP�FI�JTT�MjLCP�HO�OCUCEJTTjmJPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MP�JIU�LEH[YECNCIM�J[MFVFMFCP̂�� kM�FP�JTPH�MBC�LHTF[j�HO�MBC�KCLJEMNCIM�MH�OJ[FTFMJMC�JIU�CI[HYEJWC�LJEMF[FLJMFHI�HO�_NJTT�XYPFICPP�dHI[CEIP�Q_XdPRa�JP�UCOFICU�BCECFIa�FI�]_K̀ AmJPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MP̂�ABC�KCLJEMNCIM�CI[HYEJWCP�[HIMEJ[MHEP�MH�MJsC�ECJPHIJSTC�PMCLP�MH�CTFNFIJMC�HSPMJ[TCP�MH�uvwxy�z{|}~�~z{}~���{���}���}~�~���uvwx�~��z�|��|�~������}|{�}x��� 576����0-�3/1��.��.3��>�/->2>3�4>.3@�� ABC�[HIMEJ[MHEa�PYSEC[FLFCIMa�HE�PYS[HIMEJ[MHE�PBJTT�IHM�UFP[EFNFIJMC�HI�MBC�SJPFP�HO�EJ[Ca�[HTHEa�PC��HE�IJMFHIJT�HEFWFI�FI�MBC�LCEOHENJI[C�HO�MBFP�[HIMEJ[M̂�ABC�[HIMEJ[MHE�PBJTT�[JEEj�HYM�JLLTF[JSTC�EClYFECNCIMP�HO�bc�def�gJEM�hi�FI�MBC�J\JEU�JIU�JUNFIFPMEJMFHI�HO�K̀ A�JPPFPMCU�[HIMEJ[MP̂�eJFTYEC�Sj��MBC�[HIMEJ[MHE�MH�[JEEj�HYM�MBCPC�EClYFECNCIMP�FP�J�NJMCEFJT�SECJ[B�HO�MBFP�[HIMEJ[Ma�\BF[B�NJj�ECPYTM�FI�MBC�MCENFIJMFHI�HO�MBFP�[HIMEJ[M�HE�PY[B�HMBCE�ECNCUj�JP�MBC�KCLJEMNCIM�UCCNP�JLLEHLEFJMCa�\BF[B�NJj�FI[TYUCa�SYM�JEC�IHM�TFNFMCU�MHn�� ô��FMBBHTUFIW�NHIMBTj�LEHWECPP�LJjNCIMPp�ĥ�DPPCPPFIW�PJI[MFHIPp�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�+���

�-./0-12134� 56�789:8;<=>;�;<?<@>AB�C6�D:AE>FA8GF�GH�I>J<H?>F=�E>H�KF8LGH?�M>H?A�<F;�NGF;8=8GFA�O<H<@H<EP�Q65�GL�=P>�RGF=H<R=GH�LHG?�L:=:H>�J8;;8F@B�<F;SGH�T6�N<FR>UU<=8GFV�=>H?8F<=8GFV�GH�A:AE>FA8GF�GL�=P>�NGF=H<R=V�8F�WPGU>�GH�8F�E<H=6�� MP>�RGF=H<R=GHV�A:JH>R8E8>F=V�GH�A:JRGF=H<R=GH�AP<UU�>FA:H>�=P<=�<UU�A:JRGF=H<R=�<@H>>?>F=A�RGF=<8F�=P8A�FGFX;8ARH8?8F<=8GF�<AA:H<FR>6�� YZ[��1\]3]4].3̂_�� �̀a�b.221-/]cdde�f̂1\0d��03/4].3�̀bf�a_�NG??>HR8<UUg�KA>L:U�h:FR=8GF�8A�;>L8F>;�L:UUg�8F�CQ�Nhi�jk6TTV�WP8RP�;>L8F8=8GF�8A�8FRGHEGH<=>;�P>H>8F�Jg�H>L>H>FR>6�� l̀a��]̂cmnc34co1m�l0̂]31̂ �̂�341-p-]̂1�̀�l�a_�<�LGHXEHGL8=�A?<UU�J:A8F>AA�RGFR>HF�WP8RP�?>>=A�JG=P�GL�=P>�LGUUGW8F@�H>9:8H>?>F=Aq�� rst�uA�<=�U><A=�Ts�E>HR>F=�GWF>;�Jg�GF>�GH�?GH>�AGR8<UUg�<F;�>RGFG?8R<UUg�;8A<;v<F=<@>;�8F;8v8;:<UA�GHV�8F�=P>�R<A>�GL�<Fg�E:JU8RUg�GWF>;�J:A8F>AAV�<=�U><A=�Ts�E>HR>F=�GL�=P>�A=GRw�8A�GWF>;�Jg�GF>�GH�?GH>�A:RP�8F;8v8;:<UAB�<F;V�� rjt�xPGA>�?<F<@>?>F=�<F;�;<8Ug�J:A8F>AA�GE>H<=8GFA�<H>�RGF=HGUU>;�Jg�GF>�GH�?GH>�GL�=P>�AGR8<UUg�<F;�>RGFG?8R<UUg�;8A<;v<F=<@>;�8F;8v8;:<UA�WPG�GWF�8=6��b̀a���b��b.m1_�MP>�yGH=P�z?>H8R<F�uF;:A=Hg�NU<AA8L8R<=8GF�DgA=>?�ryzuNDt�8A�=P>�A=<F;<H;�:A>;�Jg�h>;>H<U�A=<=8A=8R<U�<@>FR8>A�8F�RU<AA8Lg8F@�J:A8F>AA�>A=<JU8AP?>F=A�LGH�=P>�E:HEGA>�GL�RGUU>R=8F@V�<F<Ug{8F@V�<F;�E:JU8AP8F@�A=<=8A=8R<U�;<=<�H>U<=>;�=G�=P>�K6D6�J:A8F>AA�>RGFG?g6�� �̀a�.3|�l�_�<Fg�L8H?�=P<=�8A�FG=�<�I}~6�� �̀a��c/1|b.3̂/].0̂�̀�ba_�<�?><A:H>�GH�EHG@H<?�LGR:A>;�AE>R8L8R<UUg�GF�<AA8A=8F@�GFUg�I}~AV�8FRU:;8F@�WG?>FXGWF>;�I}~A6�� �̀a��c/1|104-cd�̀�a_�<�?><A:H>�GH�EHG@H<?�:A>;�=G�<AA8A=�<UU�A?<UU�J:A8F>AA>A6�hGH�=P>�E:HEGA>A�GL�=P8A�E<H=V�H<R>XF>:=H<U�8FRU:;>A�@>F;>HXF>:=H<U8=g6�� �̀a��2cdd�l0̂]31̂ �̂b.3/1-3�̀�lba_�<�J:A8F>AA�=P<=�?>>=A�<UU�GL�=P>�LGUUGW8F@�RGF;8=8GFAq�� rst��E>H<=>A�<A�<�LGHXEHGL8=�J:A8F>AA�H>@8A=>H>;�=G�;G�J:A8F>AA�8F�zH8{GF<B�� rjt��E>H<=>A�<�EU<R>�GL�J:A8F>AA�EH8?<H8Ug�W8=P8F�=P>�K6D6V�GH�?<w>A�<�A8@F8L8R<F=�RGF=H8J:=8GF�=G�=P>�K6D6�>RGFG?g�=PHG:@P�E<g?>F=�GL�=<�>A�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245� 67�89:�6;�<=:7>?@A�B76C8?D9E�=@D:7>@F9E�67�F@G67H�� IJK�L9�>AC:B:AC:ADFM�6NA:C�@AC�6B:7@D:CH�� IOK�L9�A6D�C6=>A@AD�>A�>D9�;>:FC�6A�@�A@D>6A@F�G@9>9H�@AC�� IPK�Q6:9�A6D�R@S:�@AA8@F�T7699�7:?:>BD9�DR@D�:U?::C�DR:�V=@FF�W89>A:99�<C=>A>9D7@D>6A�9>X:�9D@AC@7C9�@S:7@T:�@AA8@F�>A?6=:�?7>D:7>@�;67�>D9�B7>=@7M�Y67DR�<=:7>?@A�LAC89D7M�ZF@99>;>?@D>6A�VM9D:=�IY<LZVK�?6C:[�� \]̂��/0_̀aab�̀4c��0/4/3_0̀aab��_d̀cè45̀f2c��4c_e_c1̀adg�@AM�>AC>S>C8@F�NR6�>9�@�?>D>X:A�I67�F@N;8FFM�@C=>DD:C�B:7=@A:AD�7:9>C:ADK�6;�DR:�hA>D:C�VD@D:9�@AC�NR6�>9i�� IjK�<AM�>AC>S>C8@F�NR6�>9�;68AC�D6�G:�@�96?>@FFM�@AC�:?6A6=>?@FFM�C>9@CS@AD@T:C�>AC>S>C8@F�6A�@�?@9:kGMk?@9:�G@9>9[�� IlK�<AM�>AC>S>C8@F�>A�DR:�;6FF6N>AT�T768B9E�=:=G:79�6;�NR>?R�@7:�7:G8DD@GFM�B7:98=:C�D6�G:�96?>@FFM�@AC�:?6A6=>?@FFM�C>9@CS@AD@T:Ci�� I>K�mWF@?n�<=:7>?@A9Em�NR>?R�>A?F8C:9�B:796A9�R@S>AT�67>T>A9�>A�@AM�6;�DR:�WF@?n�7@?>@F�T768B9�6;�<;7>?@H�� I>>K�mo>9B@A>?�<=:7>?@A9Em�NR>?R�>A?F8C:9�B:796A9�6;�p:U>?@AE�q8:7D6�r>?@AE�Z8G@AE�Q6=>A>?@AE�Z:AD7@F�67�V68DR�<=:7>?@AE�67�6DR:7�VB@A>9R�67�q67D8T8:9:�?8FD87:�67�67>T>AE�7:T@7CF:99�6;�7@?:H�� I>>>K�mY@D>S:�<=:7>?@A9Em�NR>?R�>A?F8C:9�B:796A9�NR6�@7:�:A76FF:C�=:=G:79�6;�;:C:7@FFM�67�VD@D:�7:?6TA>X:C�LAC>@A�D7>G:E�<F@9n@A�Y@D>S:9�67�Y@D>S:�o@N@>>@A9H�� I>SK�stuvwxkywzv{vz�t|}~vzwxu�����vz��vxz���}u��}~u�xu����u}��~v�vxu�@7:�;76=��@B@AE�ZR>A@E��@>N@AE��67:@E�W87=@�IpM@A=@7KE��>:DA@=E��@69E�Z@=G6C>@�I�@=B8?R:@KE��R@>F@ACE�p@F@M9>@E�LAC6A:9>@E�DR:�qR>F>BB>A:9E�W78A:>E�V@=6@E��8@=E�DR:�h[V[��789D��:77>D67>:9�6;�DR:�q@?>;>?�L9F@AC9�Ir:B8GF>?�6;�q@F@8KE�DR:�r:B8GF>?�6;�DR:�Y67DR:7A�p@7>@A@9�L9F@AC9E�p@?@6E��>�>E��6AT@E��>7>G@D>E��8S@F8E�Y@878E��:C:7@D:C�VD@D:9�6;�p>?76A:9>@E�67�o6AT��6ATH�� ISK�s���z�x�vx}x��tuvwx�t|}~vzwxu�����vz��vxz���}u��}~u�xu����u}�67>T>A9�@7:�;76=�LAC>@E�q@n>9D@AE�W@ATF@C:9RE�WR8D@AE�DR:�p@FC>S:9�L9F@AC9E�Y:B@F�67�V7>��@An@H�� IS>K�m�6=:AHm�� IS>>K�<AM�@CC>D>6A@F�T768B9�NR69:�=:=G:79�@7:�C:9>TA@D:C�@9�96?>@FFM�@AC�:?6A6=>?@FFM�C>9@CS@AD@T:C�GM�DR:�V=@FF�W89>A:99�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134� 567898:;<=;8>9�?@A5BC�=;�:DEF�;87G�=:�;FG�@A5�6G:8H9=;8>9�IGE>7G:�GJJGE;8KGL�� MNO� P.-QR3S�TR4U��V�WX�� YFG�ZG[=<;7G9;�\><]:�\8;F�ZÂ:�=96�=::8:;:�;FG7�89�;FG8<�GJJ><;:�;>�[=<;8E8[=;G�89�;FG�_̀a_bcd�efghijkeìfgl�mnn�ojfofhpjh�h_fknq�efgicei�i_p�rpocjispgith�ukh̀gphh�9̂H=HG7G9;�=96�v>7[w8=9EG�xJJ8EG�?ÂvxB�Iy�[F>9GC�;F<>DHF�G7=8wC�><�=;�;FG�=66<G::�:F>\9�IGw>\C�J><�=::8:;=9EG�89�;FG8<�GJJ><;:�;>�D:G�ZÂ:�89�;FG�F8HF\=y�E>9:;<DE;8>9�896D:;<yL�Âvx�E>9;=E;�89J><7=;8>9�8:�=:�J>ww>\:z�� 5<8{>9=� ZG[=<;7G9;� >J�Y<=9:[><;=;8>9� AD:89G::�9̂H=HG7G9;�=96�v>7[w8=9EG�xJJ8EG�|}~|��L��GJJG<:>9�@;LC�@;GL�|~|C��=8w�Z<>[�|��5��F>G98�C�5��}�~~���F>9G�?�~�B��|�����|��5�� ?�~�B��|��}����7̂=8wz�E>9;<=E;><E>7[w8=9EG�={6>;LH>K��GI:8;Gz�\\\L={6>;LH>K�IGE�� MNO�� �134.-��-.4�S���-.S-�2X�� YFG�ZG[=<;7G9;�F=:�G:;=Iw8:FG6�=��G9;><���<>;�H��[<>H<=7�=:�=9�898;8=;8KG�;>�G9E>D<=HG�=96�6GKGw>[�68:=6K=9;=HG6�ID:89G::G:�89�;FG�F8HF\=y�E>9:;<DE;8>9�896D:;<yL�YFG�[<>H<=7�G9E>D<=HG:�[<87G�E>9;<=E;><:�;>�[<>K86G�EG<;=89�;y[G:�>J�=::8:;=9EG�;>�EG<;8J8G6�ZÂ�:DIE>9;<=E;><:L�5ZxY�G9E>D<=HG:�E>9;<=E;><:�=96�EG<;8J8G6�ZÂ�:DIE>9;<=E;><:�;>�G9H=HG�89�=��G9;><��<>;�H��=H<GG7G9;�D96G<�EG<;=89�E>968;8>9:L�@DEF�=9�=H<GG7G9;�7D:;�IG�7D;D=wwy�IG9GJ8E8=w�;>�I>;F�[=<;8G:�=96�;>�5ZxY�89�JDwJ8ww89H�<G�D8<G7G9;:�>J����v����=<;���L��><�HD86=9EG�<GH=<689H�;F8:�[<>H<=7�<GJG<�;>�;FG��G9;><��<>;�H���<>H<=7��D86Gw89G:�=K=8w=IwG�>9�;FG�Âvx�\GI:8;GL�� YFG��G9;><��<>;�H��[<>H<=7�8:�89;G96G6�;>�89E<G=:G�wGH8;87=;G�ZÂ�=E;8K8;8G:L�YFG�[<>H<=7�6>G:�9>;�687898:F�;FG�ZÂ�<DwG:�><�<GHDw=;8>9:C�=96�[=<;8E8[=9;:�7=y�9>;�E8<ED7KG9;�;FG:G�<DwG:L�� �NO� ����R/��R�R4�X�� YFG�ZG[=<;7G9;�F=:�G:;=Iw8:FG6�=9�>KG<=ww�=99D=w�H>=w�J><�ZÂ�[=<;8E8[=;8>9�>9��G6G<=w�=86�E>9;<=E;:L�YFG�ZG[=<;7G9;�89;G96:�J><�;FG�H>=w�;>�IG�7G;�\8;F�=�E>7I89=;8>9�>J�<=EG�E>9:E8>D:�GJJ><;:�=96�<=EG�9GD;<=w�GJJ><;:L��=EG�E>9:E8>D:�[=<;8E8[=;8>9�>EED<:�\FG9�;FG�E>9;<=E;><�D:G:�=�[G<EG9;=HG�>J�ZÂ:C�=:�6GJ89G6�FG<G89C�;>�7GG;�;FG�E>9;<=E;�:[GE8J8G6�H>=wL��=EG�9GD;<=w�GJJ><;:�=<G�;F>:G�;F=;�=<GC�><�E=9�IGC�D:G6�;>�=::8:;�=ww�:7=ww�ID:89G::G:�><�89E<G=:G�>[[><;D98;8G:�J><�=ww�:7=ww�ID:89G::G:L�YFG�<GHDw=;8>9C����v�����C�6GJ89G:�<=EG�9GD;<=w�=:�\FG9�=�ZÂ�\89:�=�[<87G�E>9;<=E;�;F<>DHF�ED:;>7=<y�E>7[G;8;8KG�[<>ED<G7G9;�[<>EG6D<G:�><�8:�=\=<6G6�=�:DIE>9;<=E;�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�56�7�89:;<�=56>97=>�>?7>�@5<A�65>�=799B�7�CDE�=56>97=>�F57GH�� I9:;<�=56>97=>59A�79<�<6=5J97F<@�>5�5K>7:6�CDE�879>:=:87>:56�<L<6�:M�7�CDE�F57G�N7A�65>�<A>7KG:A?<@�56�7�=56>97=>H�� O?<�CDE�895L:A:56A�79<�788G:=7KG<�>5�7GG�=56>97=>59A�:6=GJ@:6F�CDE�=56>97=>59AH�� PQR� S1-4TUT/V4T.3�V3W��1XTY4-V4T.3Z�� PQ[� �\��S1-4TUT/V4T.3Z�� ]<9>:M:=7>:56�7A�7�CDE�A?7GG�K<�89<@:=7><@�56̂�� _̀a�O?<�=5;8G<>:56�76@�<b<=J>:56�5M�76�788G:=7>:56�M59�=<9>:M:=7>:56�7A�7�cC:A7@L76>7F<@�DJA:6<AA�E6><989:A<cH�� _da�O?<�AJK;:AA:56�5M�@5=J;<6>A�8<9>7:6:6F�>5�>?<�M:9;_Aa�7A�A>7><@�:6�>?<�788G:=7>:56_Aae�:6=GJ@:6F�KJ>�65>�G:;:><@�>5�7�A>7><;<6>�5M�A5=:7G�@:A7@L76>7F<�76@�7�8<9A567G�M:676=:7G�A>7><;<6>H�� _fa�O?<�AJK;:AA:56�5M�76B�7@@:>:567G�:6M59;7>:56�N?:=?�>?<�C<879>;<6>�59�>?<�788G:=7KG<�g9:h567�i6:M:<@�]<9>:M:=7>:56�_i]Ia�7F<6=B�;7B�9<jJ:9<�>5�@<><9;:6<�>?<�M:9;kA�<G:F:K:G:>B�>5�879>:=:87><�:6�>?<�CDE�895F97;H�� _la�O?<�:6M59;7>:56�5K>7:6<@�@J9:6F�>?<�56mA:><�L:A:>A�>5�>?<�5MM:=<A�5M�>?<�M:9;�76@�>5�7=>:L<�n5KmA:><AH�� g88G:=7>:56A�M59�=<9>:M:=7>:56�;7B�K<�M:G<@�56G:6<�N:>?�>?<�C<879>;<6>�59�>?<�788G:=7KG<�i]I�7F<6=B�7>�76B�>:;<�>?95JF?�>?<�g9:h567�i6:M:<@�O976A859>7>:56�o<F:A>97>:56� 76@� ]<9>:M:=7>:56� pBA><;� _gq� iOog]pa� N<KA:><� 7>�?>>8̂rrNNNH7hJ>97=AH=5;H��� CDE�M:9;A�76@�M:9;A�A<<s:6F�CDE�=<9>:M:=7>:56�A?7GG�=558<97><�MJGGB�N:>?�9<jJ<A>A�M59�:6M59;7>:56�9<G<L76>�>5�>?<�=<9>:M:=7>:56�895=<AAH�t7:GJ9<�59�9<MJA7G�>5�895L:@<�AJ=?�:6M59;7>:56�:A�7�F95J6@�M59�@<6:7G�59�9<;5L7G�5M�=<9>:M:=7>:56H�� gCuO�:A�7�;<;K<9�5M�>?<�gq�i6:M:<@�]<9>:M:=7>:56�I95F97;�_gqi]IaH�u6GB�CDE�M:9;A�>?7>�79<�=<9>:M:<@�KB�>?<�gqi]I�79<�<G:F:KG<�M59�=9<@:>�56�gCuO�895n<=>AH�g�G:A>�5M�CDE�M:9;A�=<9>:M:<@�KB�gqi]I�:A�7L7:G7KG<�56�>?<�:6><96<>�7>�?>>8̂rrNNNH7hJ>97=AH=5;rH�O?<�G:A>�N:GG�:6@:=7><�=56>7=>�:6M59;7>:56�76@�A8<=:7G>B�M59�<7=?�CDE�M:9;e�76@�;7B�K<�A59><@�:6�7�L79:<>B�5M�N7BAH�v5N<L<9e�gCuO�@5<A�65>�FJ7976><<�>?<�7==J97=B�76@r59�=5;8G<><6<AA�5M�>?:A�:6M59;7>:56e�659�@5<A�gCuO�9<89<A<6>�>?7>�76B�G:=<6A<A�59�9<F:A>97>:56A�79<�7889589:7><�M59�>?<�N59s�>5�K<�@56<H�� wxy�zy{|}~�y�~����y}~����|~�������|�z��������~�|�}y{}y�y�~|~����5M�jJ7G:M:=7>:56A�76@r59�7K:G:>:<A�659�@5<A�:>�;<76�>?7>�7�CDE�M:9;�:A�FJ7976><<@�59�<6>:>G<@�>5�9<=<:L<�59�K<�7N79@<@�7�=56>97=>H�D<:6F�=<9>:M:<@�A:;8GB�;<76A�>?7>�7�M:9;�?7A�;<>�>?<�=9:><9:7�M59�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�678�9:;<=>=9?<=@A�?B�@C<D=A:E�=A�FG�HIJ�K?;<�LMN�OP:�9@A<;?9<@;�Q:?;B�?DD�;=BRB�@>�:ABC;=AS�<P?<�678�>=;TB�B:D:9<:E�QU�<P:�9@A<;?9<@;�?;:�?QD:�<@�V:;>@;T�<P:�W@;RN�� XYZ� �[\��2]̂_5.̀5̂/4a�� bc�dcefgh�ijkl�mn�opq�rstk�uvwxny�z{|b}~�{���rtc�tse�j�dctfctsk�~�dc�ktsdkj���;:�C=;:T:A<B�<@�>?9=D=<?<:�V?;<=9=V?<=@A�QU��T?DD�7CB=A:BB�H@A9:;AB���7HB��=A�>:E:;?DDU�?BB=B<:E�9@A<;?9<BN��7HB�?;:�>@;��V;@>=<�QCB=A:BB:B�?C<P@;=�:E�<@�E@�QCB=A:BB:B�=A��;=�@A?�<P?<�T::<�<P:��T?DD�7CB=A:BB��ET=A=B<;?<=@A���7���B=�:�B<?AE?;EB�>@;�?�:;?S:�?AAC?D�;:�:AC:�9;=<:;=?�>@;�=<B�V;=T?;U��@;<P��T:;=9?A��AECB<;U�HD?BB=>=9?<=@A��UB<:T�����H���9@E:N�� �P=D:�<P:��7H�9@TV@A:A<�@>�<P:�678�V;@S;?T�E@:B�A@<�;:�C=;:�C<=D=�?<=@A�@>�S@?DB�@A�V;@�:9<B���6�O�B<;@ASDU�:A9@C;?S:B�9@A<;?9<@;B�<@�C<=D=�:�BT?DD�QCB=A:BB:B�<P?<�?;:�;:S=B<:;:E�=A�����OJ�H��@A�<P:=;�9@A<;?9<B��=A�?EE=<=@A�<@�678B�T::<=AS�<P:�9:;<=>=9?<=@A�;:�C=;:T:A<N�OP:�9@A<;?9<@;�T?U�CB:�<P:�����OJ�H��W:QB=<:�<@�B:?;9P�>@;�9:;<=>=:E�678B�?AE�;:S=B<:;:E��7HB�<P?<�9?A�Q:�CB:E�@A�<P:�9@A<;?9<N��@W:�:;���7HB�<P?<�?;:�A@<�678B�W=DD�A@<�Q:�9@CA<:E�<@W?;E�678�V?;<=9=V?<=@AN�� �7HB�9?A�;:S=B<:;�@AD=A:�?<�<P:�����OJ�H��W:QB=<:N�� bl��{�fstke��k}~�t��j~ktskjc��c����o~�j~��ck�s�t�ft�~��kskjc��c����sgj�jdskjc�~�s���ct�?Q=D=<=:B�A@;�E@:B�=<�T:?A�<P?<�?A��7H�>=;T�=B�SC?;?A<::E�@;�:A<=<D:E�<@�;:9:=�:�@;�Q:�?W?;E:E�?�9@A<;?9<N�7:=AS��7H�;:S=B<:;:E�B=TVDU�T:?AB�<P?<�?�>=;T�P?B�T:<�<P:�9;=<:;=?�>@;��7H�;:S=B<;?<=@A�?B�@C<D=A:E�=A�FG�HIJ�K?;<�LMN�OP:�9@A<;?9<@;�Q:?;B�?DD�;=BRB�@>�:ABC;=AS�<P?<��7H�>=;TB�B:D:9<:E�QU�<P:�9@A<;?9<@;�?;:�?QD:�<@�V:;>@;T�<P:�W@;RN�� �Y���[���̂4̀40̂̀���4_5̂515̂/4_a�� OP:�6:V?;<T:A<�<P@;@CSPDU�=A�:B<=S?<:B�<P:�>CDD�:�<:A<�@>�B:;�=9:B�@>>:;:E�QU�>=A?A9=?D�=AB<=<C<=@AB�@WA:E�?AE�9@A<;@DD:E�QU�B@9=?DDU�?AE�:9@A@T=9?DDU�E=B?E�?A<?S:E�=AE=�=EC?DB�=A�=<B�B:;�=9:�?;:?�?AE�T?R:B�;:?B@A?QD:�:>>@;<B�<@�CB:�<P:B:�=AB<=<C<=@ABN�OP:�6:V?;<T:A<�:A9@C;?S:B�V;=T:�9@A<;?9<@;B�<@�CB:�BC9P�=AB<=<C<=@AB�@A���6�O�?BB=B<:E�9@A<;?9<BN��@W:�:;��CB:�@>�678�>=A?A9=?D�=AB<=<C<=@AB�W=DD�A@<�Q:�9@CA<:E�<@W?;E�678�V?;<=9=V?<=@AN�� OP:�6:V?;<T:A<�:A9@C;?S:B�V;=T:�9@A<;?9<@;B�<@�;:B:?;9P�<P:�I:E:;?D�J:B:;�:�7@?;E�W:QB=<:�?<�WWWN>:E:;?D;:B:;�:NS@��<@�=E:A<=>U�T=A@;=<U�@WA:E�Q?ARB�=A��;=�@A?�E:;=�:E�>;@T�<P:�H@AB@D=E?<:E�J:V@;<B�@>�H@AE=<=@A�?AE��A9@T:�>=D:E��C?;<:;DU�QU�Q?ARB��II�8H�� ¡�?AE��m¢£�s����tce�ckl�t�j��cteskjc��c��kl���cst�}~�¤skjc�sg��A>@;T?<=@A�H:A<:;�E?<?Q?B:N�� ¥Y��¦̂32�̂_�/§�5̈2��__2402a�� O�©8�����I�O�8�8��8�H8����J8�K8HO�O��O�8�678�KJ�ª������N�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�� 678�9/3:15;5</4�/=�><32?�� @A�BCDEFGHAI�JAK�ELMHCN�CO�GHDL�NLPBMHQLN�HA�GRHP�STU�PELBHJV�EMCWHPHCAX�PFBR�JP�BJVLANJM�NJKPX�GRL�NJK�OMCD�YRHBR�GRL�ELMHCN�QLIHAP�GC�MFA�HP�ACG�BCFAGLNX�JAN�YRLA�GRL�VJPG�NJK�CO�GRL�ELMHCN�HP�J�ZJGFMNJKX�ZFANJKX�CM�[LNLMJV�CM�ZGJGL�RCVHNJKX�GRL�ELMHCN�L\GLANP�GC�GRL�AL\G�NJK�GRJG�HP�ACG�J�ZJGFMNJKX�ZFANJKX�CM�[LNLMJV�CM�ZGJGL�RCVHNJK]�@A�_̂̂̀abcdef̂gc�hig̀g�dig�jgkèdbgfdlc�mnn_̂gc�èg�̂omcgp�nm̀�eoo�m̀�kèd�mn�dig�oecd�peqr�dig�kg̀_mp�gsdgfpc�dm�dig�fgsd�peq�mf�hi_̂i�dig�jgkèdbgfdlc�mnn_̂gc�èg�CELA]�� t878� 9/45.;05/.�;4u��1v0/45.;05/.��2w1<.23245x?�� t87t� y242.;z?�� UJBR�BCAGMJBGCM�PRJVV�LPGJQVHPR�J�EMCIMJD�GRJG�YHVV�LAPFML�ACANHPBMHDHAJGHCA�HA�GRL�JYJMN�JAN�JNDHAHPGMJGHCA�CO�BCAGMJBGP�JAN�PFQBCAGMJBGP]�� {IMLLDLAGP�QLGYLLA�GRL�QHNNLM�JAN�J�STU�HA�YRHBR�GRL�STU�EMCDHPLP�ACG�GC�EMCWHNL�PFQBCAGMJBGHAI�|FCGJGHCAP�GC�CGRLM�QHNNLMP�JML�EMCRHQHGLN]�� t87}� �~���<;<x/4?�� �RL�BCAGMJBGCM�PRJVV�NLPHIAJGL�J�STU��HJHPCA�MLPECAPHQVL�OCM�GRL�JNDHAHPGMJGHCA�CO�GRL�m̂fd̀êdm̀lc�j���k̀m�̀eb���ig�febg�mn�dig�pgc_�fedgp�j����_e_cmf�cieoo��g�_f̂oapgp�_f�GRL�STU�@AGLANLN��JMGHBHEJGHCA�{OOHNJWHG�ZFDDJMK]�� tt78� �~��y/;zx�� �RL�SLEJMGDLAG�RJP�ACG�LPGJQVHPRLN�BCAGMJBG�ICJVP�OCM�STU�EJMGHBHEJGHCA�HA�GRHP�BCAGMJBG]�� �CAGMJBGCMP�JML�PGHVV�LABCFMJILN�GC�LDEVCK�MLJPCAJQVL�DLJAP�GC�CQGJHA�STU�EJMGHBHEJGHCA]��CAGMJBGCMP�DFPG�MLGJHA�MLBCMNP�HA�JBBCMNJABL�YHGR�GRLPL�STU�PELBHOHBJGHCAP]��RL�BCAGMJBGCM�HP�ACGHOHLN�GRJG�GRHP�MLBCMN��LLEHAI�HP�HDECMGJAG�GC�GRL�SLEJMGDLAG�PC�GRJG�HG�BJA�GMJB��STU�EJMGHBHEJGHCA�YRLML�CAVK�MJBL�ALFGMJV�LOOCMGP�JML�LDEVCKLN]�� tt7t� �;02�215.;z�9/45.;05���<5��/��~��y/;z��� �RL�SLEJMGDLAG�RJP�LPGJQVHPRLN�J�SHPJNWJAGJILN�TFPHALPP�UAGLMEMHPL��STU��EMCIMJD�HA�JBBCMNJABL�YHGR�GRL�MLIFVJGHCAP�CO�GRL��]Z]�SLEJMGDLAG�CO��MJAPECMGJGHCA���ZS���X�����[���JMG���]�{S���RJP�MLBLHWLN�OLNLMJV�OHAJABHJV�JPPHPGJABL�OMCD�GRL��ZS���JAN�JP�J�BCANHGHCA�CO�MLBLHWHAI�GRHP�JPPHPGJABLX�{S���RJP��PHIALN�JA�JPPFMJABL�GRJG�HG�PRJVV�BCDEVK�YHGR�����[���JMG���]�� �d�_c��j��lc�kmo_̂q�dm�gfcàg�died�j��cr�ec�pgn_fgp�_f�������� èd�¡¢r�ie£g�ef�g¤aeo�CEECMGFAHGK�GC�MLBLHWL�JAN�EJMGHBHEJGL�HA�OLNLMJVVK¥OFANLN�BCAGMJBGP]�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�� 56�76589:78�;<=�>6:?�@:A�<==5�=A8:<?BA@=;�C69�;<=�D:98B7BD:8B65�65�8@BA�76589:78E�� 7FGHIJKHFIL�JIM�LHNOO�MGKFPIJQMR�HF�MSTOFU�IMJLFGJVOM�SMJGL�HF�FVHJNG�;<=�TJIHNKNTJHNFGE�7FGHIJKHFIL�SPLH�IMHJNG�IMKFIRL�NG�JKKFIRJGKM�WNHX�HXMLM�;<=�LTMKNYNKJHNFGLE�8XM�KFGLPOHJGH�NL�GFHNYNMR�HXJH�HXNL�IMKFIR�ZMMTNGQ�NL�NSTFIHJGH�HF�HXM�;MTJIHSMGH�LF�HXJH�NH�KJG�HIJKZ�;<=�TJIHNKNTJHNFG�WXMIM�FGOU�IJKM�GMPHIJO�MYYFIHL�JIM�MSTOFUMRE�� [\]̂� _̀aa1-bc�-.d.b1-b��̀b4�e3a��f�gh��i���1j̀b4-e4̀.3��1k0̀-12134l�� mGRMI�8NHOM�no�7C9�FY�HXM�7FRM�FY�CMRMIJO�9MQPOJHNFGLp�DJIH�qrEssp�;68L�JIM�IMtPNIMR�HF�KFOOMKH�KMIHJNG�NGYFISJHNFG�YIFS�JOO�KFGHIJKHFIL�JGR�LPVKFGHIJKHFIL�WXF�LMMZ�HF�WFIZ�FG�YMRMIJOOUuJLLNLHMR�KFGHIJKHL�NG�FIRMI�HF�LMH�FvMIJOO�JGR�KFGHIJKH�;<=�QFJOLE�:;68�KFOOMKHL�HXNL�NGYFISJHNFG�WXMG�YNISL�IMQNLHMI�HXMNI�KFSTJGNML�FG�HXM�:INwFGJ�mGNYNMR�8IJGLTFIHJHNFG�9MQNLHIJHNFG�JGR�7MIHNYNKJHNFG�AULHMS�x:y�m89:7Az�WMV�TFIHJO�JH�XHHT{||WWWEJwPHIJKLEKFS|�J�KMGHIJONwMR�RJHJVJLM�YFI�KFSTJGNML�HXJH�LMMZ�HF�RF�VPLNGMLL�WNHX�:;68E�8XNL�NGYFISJHNFG�WNOO�VM�SJNGHJNGMR�JL�KFGYNRMGHNJO�HF�HXM�M}HMGH�JOOFWMR�VU�YMRMIJO�JGR�LHJHM�OJWE�� DINSM�KFGHIJKHFIL�JGR�JOO�LPVKFGHIJKHFILp�NGKOPRNGQ�;<=L�ONLHMR�NG�HXM�FYYMI�SPLH�VM�IMQNLHMIMR�NG�:ym89:7AE�DIFTFLMIL�SJU�vMINYU�HXJH�HXMNI�YNIS�JGR�MJKX�LPVKFGHIJKHFI�NL�IMQNLHMIMR�PLNGQ�HXM�:ym89:7A�WMVLNHME�� DIFTFLMIL�SJU�FVHJNG�JRRNHNFGJO�NGYFISJHNFG�JH�HXM�:y�m89:7A�WMVLNHM�FI�VU�KFGHJKHNGQ�<=76E���:OO�TIFTFLMIL�LXJOO�KIMJHM�J�<NRRMIL|DIFTFLMIL�ONLH�NG�HXM�:y�m89:7A�VU�LMOMKHNGQ�JOO�YNISLp�LMIvNKM�TIFvNRMILp�JGR�vMGRFIL�HXJH�M}TIMLLMR�NGHMIMLH�FI�LPVSNHHMR�TIFTFLJOL�FI�tPFHML�YFI�HXNL�KFGHIJKHE�8XM�<NRRMIL|DIFTFLMIL�?NLH�YFIS�SPLH�VM�KFSTOMHM�JGR�SPLH�NGKOPRM�HXM�GJSML�YFI�JOO�LPVKFGHIJKHFILp�LMIvNKM�TIFvNRMILp�JGR�vMGRFIL�HXJH�LPVSNHHMR�TIFTFLJOL�~����~����~���������~����������������~��������~�~�������������~���HF�PLM�HXM�HXFLM�YNISL�FG�HXM�TIF�MKHE�� :OO�TIFTFLMIL�SPLH�KFSTOMHM�JGR�LPVSNH�HXM�<NRRMIL|DIFTFLMIL�?NLH�FGONGM�JH�:y�m89:7A�TINFI�HF�6YYMI�LPVSNHHJOE�:�KFGYNISJHNFG�MSJNO�WNOO�VM�QMGMIJHMR�VU�HXM�LULHMSE�8XNL�MSJNO�KFGYNISJHNFG�LXJOO�VM�LPVSNHHMR�WNHX�HXM�6YYMIE�� [�]̂� �e�2134��1d.-4̀3jl�� 8XM�KFGHIJKHFI�LXJOO�IMTFIH�FG�J�SFGHXOU�VJLNL�NGRNKJHNGQ�HXM�JSFPGHL�TJNR�HF�JOO�LPVKFGHIJKHFILp�FY�JOO�HNMILp�WFIZNGQ�FG�HXM�TIF�MKHE�9MTFIHNGQ�LXJOO�VM�NG�JKKFIRJGKM�WNHX�VMOFWE�� �0�/.34-e/4bl�� JE�APVu7FGHIJKH�8MISL{�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�� 56�789�:;<=>?@=;>�?A>99B�=;�9C9@D=9�?�E>F==9<�:;<=>?@=�EF=8�?GG�HDI@;<=>?@=;>B�J;>�E;>K�=;�I9�@;LMG9=9N�D<N9>�=8FB�:;<=>?@=6�789�9C9@D=9N�:;<=>?@=�B8?GG�OPQRSTU�VSWQXPYZ[QYXZ\]�VQX̂U�X_�̀ XZa�[PT�[RR�Yb9�c<FJ;>L�79>LB�?<N�:;<NF=F;<B�B9=�J;>=8�F<�=8FB�:;<=>?@=6�� d6�789�:;<=>?@=;>�B8?GG�M>;eFN9�9G9@=>;<F@�@;MF9B�;J�BFA<9N�BDI@;<=>?@=�?A>99L9<=B�EF=8�?GG�HDI@;<=>?@=;>B�=;�fgh7�iDBF<9BB�j<A?A9L9<=�?<N�kXl̂ RO[PQU�m__OQU�nopkmq�Wr�ŜRX[TOPs�YbUl�YX�YbU�opkm\]�XPRF<9�gij�:;<=>?@=�t�u?I;>�:;LMGF?<@9�v?<?A9L9<=�HwB=9L�x�y���z{412|�?=�8==MB}~~?N;=6NI9BwB=9L6@;L6�HDI@;<=>?@=�?A>99L9<=B�B8?GG�F<@GDN9�?GG�>9�DF>9N�?BBD>?<@9B�?<N�>9�DF>9N�@G?DB9B�?B�;D=GF<9N�F<�=8FB�:;<=>?@=6�j?@8�?A>99L9<=�?<N�>9�DF>9N�?==?@8L9<=�B8?GG�I9�N?=9N�?<N�BFA<9N�Iw�=89�HDI@;<=>?@=;>�F<�;>N9>�J;>�=89�BDI@;<=>?@=�=;�I9�@;<BFN9>9N�e?GFN6�� �6�789�:;<=>?@=;>�L?w�I9�F<�I>9?@8�;J�=8FB�:;<=>?@=�FJ�=89�:;<=>?@=;>�L?=9>F?GGw�L;NFJF9B�=89�J9N9>?G�>9ADG?=F;<B�?<N�H=?=9�B=?=D=9B�F<�F=B�BDI@;<=>?@=�?A>99L9<=B�=9>LB�?<N�@;<NF=F;<B�EF=8�F=B�HDI@;<=>?@=;>B6�g9eF?=F;<B�J>;L�=89�=9>LB�;J�=8FB�:;<=>?@=�L?w�>9BDG=�F<�=9>LF<?=F;<�;J�=89�:;<=>?@=��;>�?<w�;=89>�BD@8�>9L9Nw�?B�N99L9N�?MM>;M>F?=9�Iw�=89�g9M?>=L9<=6�� I6�HDI�:;<=>?@=��?wL9<=B�� 56��9=9<=F;<}��J�=89�M>FL9�@;<=>?@=�N;9B�<;=�M>;eFN9�J;>�>9=9<=F;<��=89�@;<=>?@=;>�?<N�9?@8�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>�B8?GG�<;=�EF=88;GN�>9=9<=F;<�;<�?<w�BDI@;<=>?@=6��J�=89�M>FL9�@;<=>?@=�M>;eFN9B�J;>�>9=9<=F;<��=89�M>FL9�@;<=>?@=;>�?<N�9?@8�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>�B8?GG�<;=�>9=?F<�?�8FA89>�M9>@9<=?A9�=8?<�=89�g9M?>=L9<=�L?w�>9=?F<�D<N9>�=89�M>FL9�@;<=>?@=6��9=?F<?A9�B8?GG�I9�M?FN�=;�=89�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�EF=8F<���N?wB�;J�B?=FBJ?@=;>w�@;LMG9=F;<�;J�=89�E;>K�M9>J;>L9N�Iw�=89�BDI@;<=>?@=;>6�� d6��;�H9=�;JJB�f>FBF<A�J>;L�h=89>�:;<=>?@=B}��J�?�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�FB�M9>J;>LF<A�E;>K�;<�LDG=FMG9�@;<=>?@=B�J;>�=89�B?L9�@;<=>?@=;>�;>�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>��=89�@;<=>?@=;>�;>��BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>�B8?GG�<;=�EF=88;GN�;>�>9ND@9�M?wL9<=�J>;L�F=B�BDI@;<=>?@=;>B�;<�=89�@;<=>?@=�I9@?DB9�;J�NFBMD=9B�;>�@G?FLB�;<�?<;=89>�@;<=>?@=6�� �6��?>=F?G��?wL9<=}�789�@;<=>?@=;>�?<N�9?@8�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>�B8?GG�L?K9�M>;LM=�M?>=F?G�M?wL9<=B�=;�F=B�BDI@;<=>?@=;>B�EF=8F<�B9e9<�N?wB�;J�>9@9FM=�;J�M?wL9<=�J>;L�=89�g9M?>=L9<=6��;=EF=8B=?<NF<A�?<w�M>;eFBF;<�;J�f>F�;<?��9eFB9N�H=?=D=9B�H9@=F;<�d���55��=89�M?>=F9B�L?w�<;=�?A>99�;=89>EFB96�� �6��F<?G��?wL9<=}�789�@;<=>?@=;>�?<N�9?@8�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>�B8?GG�L?K9�M>;LM=�JF<?G�M?wL9<=�=;�9?@8�;J�F=B�BDI@;<=>?@=;>B6�789�@;<=>?@=;>�?<N�9?@8�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�;J�?<w�=F9>�B8?GG�M?w�?GG�L;<F9B��F<@GDNF<A�>9=9<=F;<��ND9�=;�F=B�BDI@;<=>?@=;>�EF=8F<�B9e9<�N?wB�;J�>9@9FM=�;J�M?wL9<=6��;=EF=8B=?<NF<A�?<w�M>;eFBF;<�;J�f>F�;<?��9eFB9N�H=?=D=9B�H9@=F;<�d���55��=89�M?>=F9B�L?w�<;=�?A>99�;=89>EFB96�� �6��?wL9<=��9MXZYOPs���XZ�YbU�̂SẐX]U]�X_�YbO]�]SW]UQYOXP���ÛXZY[WRU�kXPYZ[QY]��lU[P]�[Pr�]SWQXPYZ[QY��X_�[Pr�YOUZ���op�XZ�PXP�gij��Iw�E8F@8�E;>K�B8?GG�I9�M9>J;>L9N�;<�I98?GJ�;J�=89�@;<=>?@=;>�?<N�?<w�@;<=>?@=�;J�?<w�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245� 6789�:76;�<�=>?�@<6897<A�B9�C89D7E8�CFGGA789H�� I;8�98JF798@8K6C�BL�6;7C�CFMC8E67BK�<GGAN�6B�<AA�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6CH�� Q<N@8K6�O8GB967KR�LB9�<AA�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6C�C;<AA�M8�SBK8�6;9BFR;�6;8�TUVWXYZU[Y\]�̂U_̀�M<C8S�=>?�aNC68@H�I;8�=>?�aNC68@�E<K�M8�<EE8CC8S�bXcZ�YdU�TUVWXYZU[Y\]�efgh�̂U_]iYUj�kc�lWYUX�YdW[�L7L688K�E<A8KS<9�S<NC�<L689�6;8�mB67E8�6B�Q9BE88S�7C�7CCF8Sn�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�ABR�7K6B�6;8�TUVWXYZU[Y\]�̂U_�_W]Uo�Tef�pq]YUZ�W[o�U[YUX�cX�rUXibq�YdU�[WZUs�tc[YWtY�7KLB9@<67BKn�<KS�CFMEBK69<E6�<@BFK6C�LB9�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6C�BK�6;8�G9Bu8E6H�vC�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6C�<98�<GG9BD8S�BD89�6;8�EBF9C8�BL�6;8�EBK69<E6n�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�8K689�6;8@�7K�6;8�CNC68@H�O8GB96<MA8�EBK69<E6C�C;<AA�M8�8K6898S�7K6B�6;8�CNC68@�KB�A<689�6;<K�L7D8�E<A8KS<9�S<NC�<L689�<GG9BD<A�MN�6;8�=8G<96@8K6H�� I;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�98GB96�BK�<�@BK6;AN�M<C7C�7KS7E<67KR�6;8�<@BFK6C�<E6F<AAN�G<7S�<KS�6;8�S<68C�BL�8<E;�G<N@8K6�FKS89�<KN�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6�BK�6;8�G9Bu8E6H�wK�<SS767BKn�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�98JF798�6;<6�<AA�G<967E7G<K6C�7K�<KN�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6�8A8E69BK7E<AAN�D897LN�98E87G6�BL�G<N@8K6�BK�6;8�EBK69<E6�MN�6;8�A<C6�S<N�BL�6;8�@BK6;�<KS�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�<E67D8AN�Zc[iYcX�YdU�TUVWXYZU[Y\]�Tef�pq]YUZ�Yc�U[]xXU�YdWY�YdU�rUXibitWYic[]�WXU�7KGF6H�I;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�G9B<E67D8AN�:B9y�6B�98CBAD8�<KN�G<N@8K6�S7CE98G<KE78C�7K�6;8�=>?�aNC68@�M86:88K�G<N@8K6�<@BFK6C�76�98GB96C�<KS�G<N@8K6�EBKL79@<67BK�<@BFK6C�98GB968S�MN�B6;89CH�� I;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�8KCF98�6;<6�<AA�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6�<E67D76N�7C�98GB968S�6B�6;8�=8G<96@8K6H�I;7C�7KEAFS8C�<AA�AB:89̀6789�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6Cn�98R<9SA8CC�BL�:;86;89�<�=>?�7C�7KDBAD8S�B9�KB6H�� I;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�@<7K6<7K�98EB9SC�LB9�8<E;�G<N@8K6�8zGA<7K7KR�6;8�<@BFK6�98JF8C68S�MN�6;8�CFMEBK69<E6B9n�<KS�6;8�<@BFK6�<E6F<AAN�G<7S�GF9CF<K6�6B�6;8�98JF8C6n�:;7E;�@<N�7KEAFS8�MF6�<98�KB6�A7@768S�6Bn�8C67@<68Cn�7KDB7E8Cn�G<N�98JF8C6Cn�EBG78C�BL�E;8EyC�B9�:798�69<KCL89Cn�<KS�A78K�:<7D89C�7K�CFGGB96�BL�6;8�@BK6;AN�G<N@8K6C�7K�6;8�=>?�aNC68@H�� I;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�G9BD7S8�7KLB9@<67BK�LB9�G<N@8K6C�@<S8�BK�<AA�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6C�SF97KR�6;8�G98D7BFC�@BK6;�MN�6;8�{|6;�S<N�BL�6;8�EF998K6�@BK6;H�wK�6;8�8D8K6�6;<6�KB�G<N@8K6C�:898�@<S8�SF97KR�<�R7D8K�@BK6;n�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�7S8K67LN�6;<6�MN�8K6897KR�<�SBAA<9�D<AF8�BL�}89BH�wL�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�SB8C�KB6�G<N�6;8�LFAA�<@BFK6�BL�<KN�7KDB7E8�L9B@�<�CFMEBK69<E6B9n�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�C;<AA�KB68�6;<6�<KS�G9BD7S8�6;8�98<CBKC�7K�6;8�EB@@8K6�C8E67BK�BL�6;8�~BK6;AN�Q<N@8K6�vFS76�BL�6;8�=>?�aNC68@H�� �B9�8<E;�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6�BK�:;7E;�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�L<7AC�6B�CFM@76�67@8AN�G<N@8K6�7KLB9@<67BK�6;8�=8G<96@8K6�:7AA�986<7K��{n���H���<C�A7JF7S<68S�S<@<R8Cn�L9B@�6;8�@BK78C�SF8�6B�6;8�EBK69<E6B9H��7JF7S<68S�S<@<R8C�:7AA�M8�S8SFE68S�8<E;�@BK6;�LB9�8<E;�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6�BK�:;7E;�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�L<7AC�6B�CFM@76�G<N@8K6�7KLB9@<67BK�FK67A�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�G9BD7S8C�6;8�98JF798S�7KLB9@<67BK�<C�S8CE97M8S�;8987KH�vL689����EBKC8EF67D8�S<NC�BL�KBK̀�98GB967KRn�6;8�A7JF7S<68S�S<@<R8C�:7AA�7KE98<C8�6B���n���H���LB9�8<E;�CFMC8JF8K6�@BK6;n�LB9�8<E;�O8GB96<MA8�PBK69<E6�BK�:;7E;�6;8�EBK69<E6B9�L<7AC�6B�98GB96�FK67A�6;8�7KLB9@<67BK�7C�G9BD7S8SH�I;8C8�A7JF7S<68S�S<@<R8C�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134� 56788�9:�;<�7==;>;?<�>?�788�?>6:@�@:>:<>;?<�?@�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�E@?F;=:=�G?@�:85:H6:@:�;<�>6:�I?<>@7I>J�� K7LC:<>�@:E?@>;<D�@:AB;@:C:<>5�7EE8L�>?�788�I?<>@7I>5M�G:=:@78�7<=�<?<NG:=:@78�GB<=:=J�� O6:�I?<>@7I>?@�56788�:<5B@:�>67>�7�I?EL�?G�>6;5�PB95:I>;?<�;5�;<I8B=:=�;<�:F:@L�Q:E?@>798:�R?<>@7I>�?G�:F:@L�>;:@J�� S7T� P7<I>;?<5�G?@�U<7=:AB7>:�Q:E?@>;<DV�� W?@�:7I6�Q:E?@>798:�R?<>@7I>�?<�H6;I6�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�G7;85�>?�5B9C;>�>;C:8L�7<=�I?CE8:>:�E7LC:<>�;<G?@C7>;?<�>6:�X:E7@>C:<>�H;88�@:>7;<�YZM[[[J[[�75�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5M�G@?C�>6:�C?<;:5�=B:�>?�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@J�\;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�H;88�9:�=:=BI>:=�:7I6�C?<>6�G?@�:7I6�Q:E?@>798:�R?<>@7I>�?<�H6;I6�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�G7;85�>?�5B9C;>�E7LC:<>�;<G?@C7>;?<�B<>;8�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�E@?F;=:5�>6:�@:AB;@:=�;<G?@C7>;?<�75�=:5I@;9:=�6:@:;<J�]G>:@�̂[�I?<5:IB>;F:�=7L5��?G�<?<N@:E?@>;<DM�>6:�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�H;88�;<I@:75:�>?�Y_M[[[J[[�G?@�:7I6�5B95:AB:<>�C?<>6M�G?@�:7I6�Q:E?@>798:�R?<>@7I>�?<�H6;I6�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�G7;85�>?�@:E?@>�B<>;8�>6:�;<G?@C7>;?<�;5�E@?F;=:=J�O6:5:�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�56788�9:�;<�7==;>;?<�>?�788�?>6:@�@:>:<>;?<��?@�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�E@?F;=:=�G?@�:85:H6:@:�;<�>6:�I?<>@7I>J�� J̀�abcdefghbi�bj�kblmn�o�pqrsbigltsgblup�vblm�hp�ptghpjtsgblhew�sbcdefgfx�H6:<�788�>6:�>75y5�I788:=�G?@�;<�>6:�5B9I?<>@7I>�67F:�9::<�7II?CE8;56:=M�=?IBC:<>:=M�7<=�7II:E>:=�9L�>6:�X:E7@>C:<>J�� zJ�X;5EB>:5V�UG�=;5EB>:5�7@;5:�@:D7@=;<D�E7LC:<>�?G�5B9I?<>@7I>?@5M�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�56788�;CC:=;7>:8L�E@?F;=:�>6:�]X{O�K@?|:I>�}7<7D:@�H;>6�7�H@;>>:<M�F:@;G;798:�:~E87<7>;?<�;GV�� ��O6:�I?<>@7I>?@�=?:5�<?>�E7L�>6:�GB88�7C?B<>�?G�7<L�;<F?;I:�G@?C�7�5B9I?<>@7I>?@�H;>6;<�5:F:<�=7L5�?G�@:I:;E>�?G�7�E@?D@:55�E7LC:<>�G@?C�>6:�X:E7@>C:<>M�?@���O6:�C?<>68L�:5>;C7>:�=?:5�<?>�;<I8B=:�788�H?@y�I87;C:=�9L�7�5B9I?<>@7I>?@�>?�67F:�9::<�E:@G?@C:=J�� O6:�X:E7@>C:<>�H;88�=:>:@C;<:�H6:>6:@�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�675�7I>:=�;<�D??=�G7;>6�I?<I:@<;<D�7<L�5BI6�:~E87<7>;?<5J�O6:�X:E7@>C:<>�@:5:@F:5�>6:�@;D6>�>?�@:AB:5>�7<=�@:I:;F:�=?IBC:<>5�G@?C�>6:�I?<>@7I>?@�7<=�788�5B9I?<>@7I>?@5�?G�7<L�>;:@M�;<�?@=:@�>?�=:>:@C;<:�H6:>6:@�>:@C;<7>;?<�@:AB;@:C:<>5�H:@:�C:>J�O6:�I?<>@7I>?@�56788�;CE8:C:<>�7<=�B5:�>6:�=;5EB>:�@:5?8B>;?<�E@?I:55�?B>8;<:=�;<�>6:�5B9I?<>@7I>M�75�=:5I@;9:=�;<��<;G?@C�O:@C5�7<=�R?<=;>;?<5�K7@7D@7E6M�>?�@:5?8F:�E7LC:<>�=;5EB>:5J�� �J��?<NR?CE8;7<I:V�W7;8B@:�>?�C7y:�E@?CE>�E7@>;78�E7LC:<>�?@�E@?CE>�G;<78�E7LC:<>�;<I8B=;<D�7<L�@:>:<>;?<M�H;>6;<�>6:�>;C:�G@7C:5�:5>798;56:=�;<�>6;5�I?<>@7I>M�H;88�@:5B8>�;<�@:C:=;:5M�75�>6:�X:E7@>C:<>�=::C5�7EE@?E@;7>:M�H6;I6�C7L�;<I8B=:M�9B>�7@:�<?>�8;C;>:=�>?V�� ��\;AB;=7>:=�X7C7D:5V�O6:5:�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�56788�9:�;<�7==;>;?<�>?�788�?>6:@�@:>:<>;?<�?@�8;AB;=7>:=�=7C7D:5�E@?F;=:=�G?@�:85:H6:@:�;<�>6:�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�+���

�-./0-12134� 56789:58;�� <=>� ?@A�BAC:98DA78�E=FF�E=8@@6FG�8E6�8=DAH�8@A�G=HCI8AG�G6FF:9�:D6I78�768�C:=G�86�A:5@�HIJ56789:5869;�<==>� KL�LMNN�OPQRSTU�VW�RPXS�YVUZVT�[\�XPQW�]L�UZS�̂SOP_URSTÙW�C:aDA78�86�8@A�56789:5869b�8@A�:D6I78�E=8@@AFG�Ja�8@A�BAC:98DA78�E=FF�JA�9AFA:HAG;�<===>� KL�LMNN�OPQRSTU�VW�RPXS�PLUS_�[\�XPQW�]L�UZS�̂SOP_URSTÙW�C:aDA78�86�8@A�56789:5869b�8@A�BAC:98DA78�E=FF�9AFA:HA�cd�CA95A78�6e�8@A�eI7GH�E=8@@AFG;�?@A�BAC:98DA78�E=FF�9A8:=7�fd�CA95A78�6e�8@A�D67=AH�E=8@@AFG�:H�F=gI=G:8AG�G:D:hAH;�� i�jGG=8=67:F�kADAG=AHl�me�8@A�56789:5869�e:=FH�86�D:nA�C96DC8�C:aDA78�e69�8@9AA�567HA5I8=oA�D678@Hb�69�:7a�e6I9�D678@H�6oA9�8@A�56I9HA�6e�67A�C96pA58b�69�=e�8@A�56789:5869�e:=FH�86�D:nA�C96DC8�C:aDA78�67�8E6�69�D69A�56789:58H�E=8@=7�fq�D678@Hb�8@A�BAC:98DA78�D:ab�=7�:GG=8=67b�=7o6nA�8@A�e6FF6E=7h�9ADAG=AHl�� <=>� r=8@@6FG�D678@Fa�C96h9AHH�C:aDA78H�I78=F�8@A�=HHIA�=H�9AH6FoAG�:7G�eIFF�C:aDA78�@:H�JAA7�D:GA�86�:FF�HIJ56789:5869H�:7G�oA7G69H�HIJpA58�86�8@A�9AgI=9ADA78H�6I8F=TSX�MTXS_�stVuMVXPUSX�P̂RPvSWw�:J6oAb�<==>� ?A9D=7:8A�8@A�56789:58�e69�GAe:IF8�=7�:5569G:75A�E=8@�8@=H�x6789:58b�:7Gy69�<===>� zIHCA7H=67�69�BAJ:9DA78�CA9�{7=e69D�?A9DH�:7G�x67G=8=67H�|:9:h9:C@�};~�6e�8@A�56789:5869�e96D�eI8I9A�J=GG=7h�8ADC69:9=Fa�69�CA9D:7A78Fab�GACA7G=7h�67�8@A�7IDJA9�:7G�HAoA9=8a�6e�o=6F:8=67;�<=o>� �SLNS�U�UZS��]TU_P�U]_̀W�OS_L]_RPT�S�VT�WM�RVUUVTv�OPQRSTU�9AC698H�:7G�D:n=7h�HIJ56789:5869�C:aDA78H�I8=F=�=7h�8@A�ŜOP_URSTÙW��STX]_��S_L]_RPT�S�kAC698;�� ������-1��4�3��������-4�/���4�.3��� �������131-����1�0�-12134���� ?6�56I78�86E:9G�B���C:98=5=C:8=67b�8@A�B���e=9DH�DIH8�JA�5A98=e=AG�:8�8@A�8=DA�6e��eeA9�HIJD=HH=67�=7�A:5@��jmxz�56GA�:CCF=5:JFA�86�8@A�n=7G�6e�E69n�8@A�e=9D�E=FF�CA9e69D�67�8@A�56789:58;��jmxz�e69�A:5@�B���5:7�JA�e6I7G�67�8@A�j��{?kjxz�EAJH=8A;��A7A9:F�GAH59=C8=67H�6e�:FF��jmxz�56GAH�5:7�JA�e6I7G�:8�@88ClyyEEE;7:=5H;56DyHA:95@y;�� x9AG=8�=H�h=oA7�67Fa�:e8A9�8@A�B���@:H�JAA7�C:=G�e69�8@A�E69n�CA9e69DAG;�� ?@A�A78=9A�:D6I78�6e�:�56789:58�8@:8�=H�CA9e69DAG�Ja�8@A�̂��̀W�]YT�L]_�SW��VT�NMXVTv�8@A�56H8�6e�HICCF=AH�:7G�D:8A9=:FH�CI95@:HAG�Ja�8@A�B���e69�8@A�E69n�67�8@A�56789:58�:7G�AgI=CDA78�FA:HAG�Ja�8@A�B���E=FF�JA�59AG=8AG�86E:9G�B���C:98=5=C:8=67;�zICCF=AH�:7G�AgI=CDA78�8@A�B���HIJ56789:5869�CI95@:HAH�69�FA:HAH�e96D�8@A�C9=DA�56789:5869�69�=8H�:ee=F=:8A�E=FF�768�JA�59AG=8AG�86E:9G�B���C:98=5=C:8=67;�� ?@A�56789:5869�JA:9H�8@A�9AHC67H=J=F=8a�86�GA8A9D=7A�E@A8@A9�8@A�B���C6HHAHHAH�8@A�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�678697�:8;<7=:<87>?�@A:9;?9B?C�<8�697D87E�<F9�G87H�=;IJ�AD�KLM�:79IA<�A?�79NO9?<9IJ�PQRP�PQS�TUV�WXYZ[\P]RZP[]�̂W�ZS]P̂_̂S̀�_[]�PQS�]SaXSWPS̀�PbcS�[_�d[]ef�� gF9�K96=7<E9;<>?�:97<ADA:=<A8;�A?�;8<�=�79679?9;<=<A8;�8D�=�KLM>?�NO=@ADA:=<A8;?�=;Ih87�RŶîP̂SWf�jQS�Z[\P]RZP[]�YSR]W�Rii�]̂WeW�PQRP�PQS�TUV�kRb�\[P�YS�RYiS�P[�cS]_[]k�̂PW�d[]e�_[]�R\b�]SRW[\f�� l�TUV�kRb�cR]P̂ẐcRPS�RW�R�c]̂kS�Z[\P]RZP[]m�WXYZ[\P]RZP[]m�[]�RW�R�nS\̀[]�[_�kRPS]̂RiW�[]�WXccîSWf�jQS�̀[iiR]�Rk[X\P�[_�d[]e�P[�YS�RZZ[kcîWQS̀�Yb�TUVWm�\̂ZiX̀ \̂o�cR]P̂Ri�Rk[X\P�[_�R�iXkc�WXk�[]�[PQS]�Ŵk̂iR]�̂PSkm�WQRii�YS�[\�PQS�YRŴW�[_�WXYZ[\P]RZPm�cX]ZQRWS�[]̀S]m�Q[X]ib�]RPSm�]RPS�cS]�P[\m�SPZfm�RW�Ro]SS̀�P[�YSPdSS\�cR]P̂SWf�� TUV�Z]S̀ P̂�kRb�YS�[YPR̂\S̀�[\ib�_[]�WcSẐ_̂Z�d[]e�̀[\S�_[]�PQS�c][pSZPm�WXccib�[_�SaX̂ckS\P�WcSẐ_̂ZRiib�_[]�cQbŴZRi�d[]e�[\�PQS�c][pSZPm�[]�WXccib�[_�kRPS]̂RiW�P[�YS�\̂Z[]c[]RPS̀�̂\�PQS�d[]ef�TUV�Z]S̀ P̂�d̂ii�\[P�YS�Rii[dS̀�_[]�Z[WPW�WXZQ�RW�[nS]QSR̀�P̂SkWm�ZRĉPRi�SqcS\̀ P̂X]SW�r_[]�SqRkciSm�cX]ZQRWS�[_�SaX̂ckS\Psm�R\̀�[__̂ZS�̂PSkWf�� jQS�Z[\P]RZP[]�kRb�Z]S̀ P̂�WSZ[\̀tP̂S]�WXYZ[\P]RZPW�̂WWXS̀�P[�TUVW�Yb�\[\tTUV�WXYZ[\P]RZP[]Wf�l\b�WSZ[\̀tP̂S]�WXYZ[\P]RZP�P[�R�TUV�kXWP�kSSP�PQS�]SaX̂]SkS\PW�[_�R�_̂]WPtP̂S]�TUV�WXYZ[\P]RZPf�� l�c]̂kS�Z[\P]RZP[]�kRb�Z]S̀ P̂�PQS�S\P̂]S�Rk[X\P�[_�PQRP�c[]P̂[\�[_�R�Z[\P]RZP�PQRP�̂W�697D87E9I�uv�<F9�KLM>?�8G;�D87:9?w�gF9�:8?<�8D�?O66@A9?�=;I�E=PS]̂RiW�[YPR̂\S̀�Yb�PQS�TUV�_[]�PQS�d[]e�[_�PQS�Z[\P]RZP�ZR\�YS�̂\ZiX̀S̀�W[�i[\o�RW�PQRP�Z[WP�̂W�]SRW[\RYiSf�xSRWS̀�SaX̂ckS\P�kRb�RiW[�YS�̂\ZiX̀S̀f�y[�Z]S̀ P̂�̂W�cS]k̂PPS̀�_[]�WXccîSW�cX]ZQRWS̀�[]�SaX̂ckS\P�iSRWS̀�_][k�PQS�c]̂kS�Z[\P]RZP[]�[]�̂PW�R__̂îRPSrWsf�� zQS\�R�TUV�WXYZ[\P]RZPW�R�cR]P�[_�PQS�d[]e�[_�̂PW�Z[\P]RZP�P[�R\[PQS]�_̂]km�PQS�nRiXS�8D�<F9�?Ou:8;<7=:<�E=v�u9�:79IA<9I�<8G=7I?�KLM�6=7<A:A6=<A8;�8;@v�AD�<F9�KLM>?�WXYZ[\P]RZP[]�̂W�̂PWSi_�R�TUV�R\̀�cS]_[]kW�PQS�d[]e�d̂PQ�̂PW�[d\�_[]ZSWf�z[]e�PQRP�R�TUV�WXYZ[\P]RZPW�P[�R�\[\tTUV�_̂]k�̀[SW�\[P�Z[X\P�P[dR]̀�TUV�cR]P̂ẐcRP̂[\f�� l�c]̂kS�Z[\P]RZP[]�kRb�Z]S̀ P̂�PQS�S\P̂]S�Rk[X\P�[_�_SSW�[]�Z[kk̂WŴ[\W�ZQR]oS̀�Yb�R�TUV�_̂]k�_[]�c][n̂̀ \̂o�R�Y[\R�_̂̀S�WS]n̂ZSm�WXZQ�RW�c][_SWŴ[\Rim�PSZQ\̂ZRim�Z[\WXiP̂\om�[]�kR\RoS]̂Ri�WS]n̂ZSWm�[]�_[]�c][n̂̀ \̂o�Y[\̀W�[]�̂\WX]R\ZS�WcSẐ_̂ZRiib�]SaX̂]S̀�_[]�PQS�cS]_[]kR\ZS�[_�R�{|T}jtRWŴWPS̀�Z[\P]RZPm�c][n̂̀ S̀�PQS�_SSW�R]S�]SRW[\RYiS�R\̀�\[P�SqZSWŴnS�RW�Z[kcR]S̀�d̂PQ�_SSW�ZXWP[kR]̂ib�Rii[dS̀�_[]�Ŵk̂iR]�WS]n̂ZSWf�� ~����������.�32��/45.�05/.��� zQS\�R�ZS]P̂_̂S̀�TUV�_̂]k�c][c[WSW�[\�R�Z[\P]RZP�jRWe�lWŴo\kS\P�Rii�PQS�d[]e�PQRP�̂W�cS]_[]kS̀�Yb�PQS�TUV�Z[\P]RZP[]�[]�R\b�[PQS]�TUV�WXYZ[\P]RZP[]W�R\̀�TUV�WXccîS]W�d̂ii�Z[X\P�P[dR]̀�TUV�cR]P̂ẐcRP̂[\f�� ~��������205�/���/���/���������������5����



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�678�9:;<=>>�?=@A�B@@CD:EF:G�H7:G8=HG@I�CJ�=�KLM�C@�NFFEFN�C:F>CDCO>F�PNFHF8GCJCFNQ�78�@R@SF:NFN�OT�BK9?�78�7:F�7J�CG@�U<V�V=8G:F8�BDF:HCF@�C:�=HH78N=:HF�WCGX�YZ�<6[�\]̂_̀�=:N�\]̂__I�GXF�KLM�E=T�:7G�OF�H7R:G�G7W=8N�KLM�S=8GCHCS=GC7:�7:�=�:FW�?=@A�B@@CD:EF:GI�ORG�E=T�OF�H7:@CNF8FN�J78�GXF�H7:G8=HGa?=@A�B@@CD:EF:G�KLM�S=8GCHCS=GC7:�CJ�=�@ROH7:G8=HG�78�H7:G8=HG�E7NCJCH=GC7:�J78�GXF�W78A�G7�OF�H7ES>FGFN�7:�GXF�?=@A�B@@CD:EF:G�W=@�FbFHRGFN�OFJ78F�GXF�KLM�@R@SF:@C7:�78�NFHF8GCJCH=GC7:�C@�FJJFHGCcF̂�� B�@ROH7:G8=HG�78�H7:G8=HG�E7NCJCH=GC7:�J78�W78A�7:�GXF�G=@A�=@@CD:EF:G�EF=:@I�=:T�@ROH7:G8=HG�78�=D8FFEF:G�J78�GXF�G=@A�=@@CD:EF:GI�WXCHX�C:H>RNF@�=�@SFHCJCH�BK9?�?[B<daV87eFHG�fREOF8I�NFJC:FN�@H7SFI�NR8=GC7:�=:N�ORNDFG�J78�GXF�W78A�G7�OF�H7ES>FGFN�R:NF8�GXF�?=@A�B@@CD:EF:G�GX=G�C@�NR>T�@CD:FN�OT�GXF�H7:G8=HG78aH7:G8=HG78�=:N�@ROH7:G8=HG78a@ROH7:G8=HG78̂�� gXF:�GXF�H7:G8=HG78aH7:G8=HG78�C:GF:G@�G7�R@F�=:�C:F>CDCO>F�KLM�JC8E�78�BK9?�E=NF�=�H7EECGEF:G�G7�R@F�=:�C:F>CDCO>F�KLM�S8CEF�H7:G8=HG78aH7:G8=HG78I�ORG�=�@ROH7:G8=HG�78�<7:G8=HG�h7NCJCH=GC7:�J78�GXF�W78A�G7�OF�H7ES>FGFN�7:�GXF�?=@A�B@@CD:EF:G�X=@�:7G�OFF:�FbFHRGFN�OFJ78F�=�NFHF8GCJCH=GC7:�:7GCHF�C@�C@@RFN�G7�GXF�KLM�JC8E�OT�CG@�HF8GCJTC:D�=DF:HTI�GXF�C:F>CDCO>F�JC8E�N7F@�:7G�H7R:G�G7W=8N�KLM�S=8GCHCS=GC7:̂�gXF:�=�@ROH7:G8=HG�78�H7:G8=HG�E7NCJCH=GC7:�C@�FbFHRGFN�WCGX�GXF�KLM�JC8E�J78�GXF�W78A�G7�OF�H7ES>FGFN�7:�GXF�?=@A�B@@CD:EF:G�OFJ78F�BK9?�:7GCJCFN�GXF�JC8E�7J�CG@�C:F>CDCOC>CGTI�ijk�lmnop�qrst�ru�ijk�vwpt�xppyzu{kui�{w|�}ruiyu~k�ir��k�}sk�yik��irqws��lmn�S=8GCHCS=GC7:�J78�Gjk��ys{op�W78Â�� ������/5����4��5�2��/45.�05/.�/�������2.5���0�5�/4��5�51���� M=HX�KLM�H7:G8=HG�=G�=:T�GCF8�@X=>>�8F�RC8F�=:T�KLM�@ROH7:G8=HG78�78�@RSS>CF8�GX=G�C@�FCGXF8�NFHF8GCJCFN�78�HF8GCJCFN�NR8C:D�GXF�GF8E�7J�GXF�H7:G8=HG�G7�CEEFNC=GF>T�:7GCJT�GXF�H7:G8=HG78�=:N�=>>�S=8GCF@�G7�GXF�KLM�H7:G8=HG�C:�W8CGC:DI�WCGX�GXF�N=GF�7J�NFHF8GCJCH=GC7:�78�HF8GCJCH=GC7:̂�?XF�H7:G8=HG78�@X=>>�8F�RC8F�GX=G�GXC@�S87cC@C7:�OF�C:H78S78=GFN�C:�=:T�H7:G8=HG�7J�=:T�GCF8�C:�WXCHX�=�KLM�C@�=�S=8GCHCS=:Ĝ�� �������/332.0��������2�1���1405�/4��� B�S8CEF�H7:G8=HG78�H=:�H8FNCG�FbSF:NCGR8F@�G7�=�KLM�@ROH7:G8=HG78�7:>T�CJ�GXF�KLM�SF8J78E@�=�<7EEF8HC=>>T�U@FJR>�6R:HGC7:�P<U6Q̂�� B�KLM�SF8J78E@�=�<U6�WXF:�CG�C@�8F@S7:@CO>F�J78�FbFHRGC7:�7J�GXF�W78A�7J�=�H7:G8=HG�=:N�H=88CF@�7RG�CG@�8F@S7:@COC>CGCF@�OT�=HGR=>>T�SF8J78EC:DI�E=:=DC:DI�=:N�@RSF8cC@C:D�GXF�W78A�C:c7>cFN̂�?7�SF8J78E�=�H7EEF8HC=>>T�R@FJR>�JR:HGC7:I�GXF�KLM�ER@G�=>@7�OF�8F@S7:@CO>FI�WCGX�8F@SFHG�G7�E=GF8C=>@�=:N�@RSS>CF@�7:�GXF�H7:G8=HGI�J78�:FD7GC=GC:D�S8CHFI�NFGF8EC:C:D��R=>CGT�=:N��R=:GCGTI�78NF8C:D�GXF�E=GF8C=>I�=:N�C:@G=>>C:D�PWXF8F�=SS>CH=O>FQ�=:N�S=TC:D�J78�GXF�E=GF8C=>�CG@F>J�GX=G�CG�R@F@�7:�GXF�S87eFHĜ�?7�NFGF8EC:F�WXFGXF8�=�KLM�C@�SF8J78EC:D�=�H7EEF8HC=>>T�R@FJR>�JR:HGC7:I�GXF�KFS=8GEF:G�WC>>�Fc=>R=GF�GXF�=E7R:G�7J�W78A�@ROH7:G8=HGFNI�C:NR@G8T�S8=HGCHF@I�WXFGXF8�GXF�=E7R:G�GXF�JC8E�C@�G7�OF�S=CN�R:NF8�GXF�H7:G8=HG�C@�H7EEF:@R8=GF�WCGX�GXF�W78A�CG�C@�=HGR=>>T�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�6789:8;<=>�?=@�AB7�CDE�F87@<A�FG?<;7@�9:8�<AH�6789:8;?=F7�:9�AB7�I:8JK�?=@�:AB78�87G7L?=A�9?FA:8HM�� N�CDE�I<GG�=:A�O7�F:=H<@787@�A:�6789:8;�?�F:;;78F<?GGP�QH79QG�9Q=FA<:=�<9�<AH�8:G7�<H�G<;<A7@�A:�AB?A�:9�?=�7RA8?�6?8A<F<6?=A�<=�?�A8?=H?FA<:=K�F:=A8?FAK�:8�68:S7FA�AB8:Q>B�IB<FB�9Q=@H�?87�6?HH7@�<=�:8@78�A:�:OA?<=�AB7�?667?8?=F7�:9�CDE�6?8A<F<6?A<:=M�T=�@7A78;<=<=>�IB7AB78�?�CDE�<H�HQFB�?=�7RA8?�6?8A<F<6?=AK�AB7�C76?8A;7=A�I<GG�7R?;<=7�H<;<G?8�A8?=H?FA<:=HK�6?8A<FQG?8GP�AB:H7�<=�IB<FB�CDEH�@:�=:A�6?8A<F<6?A7M�� T9�?�CDE�@:7H�=:A�6789:8;�:8�7R78F<H7�87H6:=H<O<G<AP�9:8�?A�G7?HA�UV�678F7=A�:9�AB7�A:A?G�F:HA�:9��<AH�F:=A8?FA�I<AB�<AH�:I=�I:8J�9:8F7K�:8�<9�AB7�CDE�HQOF:=A8?FAH�?�>87?A78�6:8A<:=�:9�AB7�I:8J�:9�?�F:=A8?FA�AB?=�I:QG@�O7�7R67FA7@�:=�AB7�O?H<H�:9�=:8;?G�<=@QHA8P�68?FA<F7�9:8�AB7�AP67�:9�I:8J�<=L:GL7@K�AB7�C76?8A;7=A�I<GG�687HQ;7�AB?A�AB7�CDE�<H�=:A�6789:8;<=>�?�F:;;78F<?GGP�QH79QG�9Q=FA<:=M�� WB7=�?�CDE�<H�687HQ;7@�=:A�A:�O7�6789:8;<=>�?�F:;;78F<?GGP�QH79QG�9Q=FA<:=�?H�68:L<@7@�?O:L7K�AB7�CDE�;?P�687H7=A�7L<@7=F7�A:�87OQA�AB<H�687HQ;6A<:=M�XB7�C76?8A;7=A�I<GG�@7A78;<=7�<9�AB7�9<8;�<H�6789:8;<=>�?�YZ[�><L7=�AB7�AP67�:9�I:8J�<=L:GL7@�?=@�=:8;?G�<=@QHA8P�68?FA<F7HM�� XB7�C76?8A;7=A�I<GG�=:A<9P�AB7�F:=A8?FA:8K�<=�I8<A<=>K�<9�<A�@7A78;<=7H�AB?A�AB7�\]̂_̀a\_]̀bc�def�cgh\]̂_̀a\_]̀�ic�̂]_�jk̀l]̀mîn�a�opqr�stk�\]̂_̀a\_]̀�uivv�hk�]̂_ilikw�ui_tî�ckxk̂�\avk̂wà�wayc�]l�_tk�dkjà_mk̂_bc�wk\ic<:=M�� C7F<H<:=H�:=�YZ[�;?P�O7�?667?G7@�A:�AB7�YB<79�z8:FQ87;7=A�{99<F78�|Yz{}M�XB7�?667?G�;QHA�O7�<=�I8<A<=>�?=@�678H:=?GGP�@7G<L787@�:8�H7=A�OP�F78A<9<7@�;?<GK�87AQ8=�87F7<6A�87~Q7HA7@K�A:�AB7�Yz{M�XB7�?667?G�;QHA�O7�87F7<L7@�OP�AB7�Yz{�=:�G?A78�AB?=�H7L7=�\avk̂wà�wayc�al_k̀�_tk�wk\ici]̂�]l�efo�r�efo�bc�wk\ici]̂�̀kmaîc�î�jva\k�ĝvkcc�âw�ĝ_iv�_tk�o���̀kxk̀ckc�]̀�m]wilikc�efo�bc�wk\ici]̂r�o���uivv�j̀]mj_vy�\]̂ciwk̀�ây�ajjkavc�ĝwk̀�_tic�cghck\_i]̂�âw�̂]_ily�_tk�\]̂_̀a\_]̀�]l�o��bc�lîwînc�âw�@7F<H<:=HM�C7F<H<:=H�:=�YZ[�;?AA78H�?87�=:A�?@;<=<HA8?A<L7GP�?667?G?OG7�A:�Z�C{XM�� XB7�DEY{�;?P�F:=@QFA�68:S7FA�H<A7�L<H<AH�:=�AB7�F:=A8?FA�A:�F:=9<8;�AB?A�CDEH�?87�jk̀l]̀mîn�a�opqr�stk�\]̂_̀a\_]̀�ctavv�\]]jk̀a_k�wg̀în�_tk�ci_k�xici_c�âw�_tk�efo�bc�HA?99�I<GG�;?J7�7L78P�799:8A�=:A�A:�@<H8Q6A�I:8J�:=�AB7�68:S7FAM�� ����� �2�1�.2���./����/4���/.������1�0/45.�05���� NGG�HQOF:=A8?FAH�:9�?=P�A<78K�?GG�HQ66GP�F:=A8?FAHK�?=@�?=P�:AB78�F:=A8?FAH�<=�IB<FB�?�CDE�<H�?�6?8A<F<6?=A�HB?GG�<=FGQ@7�?H�?�6BPH<F?G�?AA?FB;7=AK�CDE��QOF:=A8?FA:8�Y:;6G<?=F7�NHHQ8?=F7H�87978�A:�AB7�[7@78?G�NAA?FB;7=AH�?=@�ERB<O<AHM�� Y:=A8?FA:8H�7R7FQA<=>�?>877;7=AH�I<AB�HQOF:=A8?FA:8HK�CDE�:8�=:=�CDEK�AB?A�;?A78<?GGP�;:@<9P�97@78?G�87>QG?A<:=�?=@�HA?A7�HA?AQA7H�HQFB�?HK�68:;6A�6?P;7=A�?=@�87A7=A<:=�87~Q<87;7=AHK�AB8:Q>B�HQOF:=A8?FA�A78;H�?=@�F:=@<A<:=H�I<GG�O7�9:Q=@�<=�O87?FB�:9�F:=A8?FA�IB<FB�;?P�87HQGA�<=�A78;<=?A<:=�:9�AB7�F:=A8?FAK�:8�?=P�:AB78�HQFB�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�7898:;�<=�>?8�:8898:�<@@7A@7B<>8�<=�AC>DBE8:�BE�FGH�ICJ=8K>BAE�LMN�AO�>?8=8�FGH�@7APB=BAE=M�� Q?8�F8@<7>98E>�78=87P8=�>?8�7BR?>�>A�KAE:CK>�7<E:A9�78PB8S=�AO�FGH�<E:�EAETFGH�=CJKAE>7<K>�:AKC98E><>BAE�>A�8E=C78�KA9@DB<EK8�SB>?�O8:87<D�78UCB7898E>=M�� Q?8�KAE>7<K>A7�=?<DD�8E=C78�>?<>�<DD�=CJKAE>7<K>=�A7�<R78898E>=�SB>?�FGH=�>A�=C@@D;�D<JA7�A7�9<>87B<D=�78UCB78�>?<>�>?8�=CJKAE>7<K>�<E:�<DD�DAS87�>B87�=CJKAE>7<K>=�J8�@87OA798:�BE�<KKA7:<EK8�SB>?�VW�XYZ�[<7>�L\�@7APB=BAE=M�� Q?8�XAE>7<K>A7�=?<DD�@7APB:8�8D8K>7AEBK�KA@B8=�AO�=CJKAE>7<K>�<R78898E>=�SB>?�<DD�ICJKAE>7<K>A7=�J;�C@DA<:BER�>?89�SB>?BE�]̂�K<D8E:<7�:<;=�AO�<E�8_8KC>8:�KAE>7<K>�>A�>?8�̀FaQ�FGH�I;=>89M�ICJKAE>7<K>�<R78898E>=�=?<DD�BEKDC:8�<DD�78UCB78:�<==C7<EK8=�<E:�KD<C=8=�<=�AC>DBE8:�BE�FGH�ICJKAE>7<K>A7�XA9@DB<EK8�̀==C7<EK8=�78O87�>A�>?8�Y8:87<D�̀>><K?98E>=�<E:�H_?BJB>=�AO�>?8�XAE>7<K>M�H<K?�<R78898E>�<E:�78UCB78:�<>><K?98E>�=?<DD�J8�:<>8:�<E:�=BRE8:�J;�>?8�ICJKAE>7<K>A7�BE�A7:87�OA7�>?8�=CJKAE>7<K>�>A�J8�KAE=B:878:�P<DB:M�� Q?8�XAE>7<K>A7�=?<DD�J8�BE�J78<K?�AO�>?B=�XAE>7<K>�BO�>?8�XAE>7<K>A7�9<>87B<DD;�9A:BOB8=�>?8�O8:87<D�78RCD<>BAE=�<E:�I><>8�=><>C>8=�BE�B>=�=CJKAE>7<K>�<R78898E>=�>879=�<E:�KAE:B>BAE=�SB>?�B>=�ICJKAE>7<K>A7=M�F8PB<>BAE=�O7A9�>?8�>879=�AO�>?B=�XAE>7<K>�9<;�78=CD>�BE�>879BE<>BAE�AO�>?8�XAE>7<K>b�A7�<E;�A>?87�=CK?�7898:;�<=�:8898:�<@@7A@7B<>8�J;�>?8�F8@<7>98E>�� cdef� g3/6hih1j6h05�0i��h5jk��l���jm4356no�� FGH�@<7>BKB@<>BAE�AE�>?8�KAE>7<K>�B=�98<=C78:�J;�<K>C<D�@<;98E>=�9<:8�>A�>?8�FGH=M�pqr�stuvwxsvtw�yqxzz�y{|}~v�vqr���rwv~�~sxv~tu�t���~uxz������x�}ruvy���tw}��tw�rxsq�FGH�OB79�SA7�BER�AE�>?8�KAE>7<K>M�Q?B=�OA79�=?<DD�J8�=BRE8:�J;�>?8�KAE>7<K>A7�<E:�>?8�78D8P<E>�FGHb�<E:�=CJ9B>>8:�>A�>?8�HERBE887�EA�D<>87�>?<E��N�:<;=�<O>87�>?8�FGH�KA9@D8>8=�B>=�SA7�M�� Q?8�KAE>7<K>A7�SBDD�EA>�J8�78D8<=8:�O7A9�>?8�AJDBR<>BAE=�AO�>?8�KAE>7<K>�CE>BD�>?8���rwv~�~sxv~tu�t���~uxz������x�}ruvy���tw}y�xwr�wrsr~�r��xu���rr}8:�<KK8@><JD8�J;�>?8�HERBE887�<E:�GHXaM�� c�ef� �jkn3���/j2�2k356��0/��hn�053n6�g05�216o�� �E�<::B>BAE�>A�<E;�A>?87�7898:B8=�A7�<K>BAE=b�>?8�F8@<7>98E>�SBDD�J7BER�>A�>?8�<>>8E>BAE�AO�>?8��I�F8@<7>98E>�AO�Q7<E=@A7><>BAE�<E;�<@@8<7<EK8�AO�O<D=8b�O7<C:CD8E>b�A7�:B=?AE8=>�KAE:CK>�BE�KAEE8K>BAE�SB>?�>?8�FGH�@7AR7<9b�=A�>?<>��IFaQ�K<E�><�8�=>8@=�=CK?�<=�78O877<D�>A�>?8�F8@<7>98E>�AO��C=>BK8�OA7�K7B9BE<D�@7A=8KC>BAEb�78O877<D�>A�>?8��IFaQ��E=@8K>A7��8E87<D�OA7�@A==BJD8�BEB>B<>BAE�AO�=C=@8E=BAE�<E:�:8J<798E>�@7AK88:BE�y�x�x~uyv�vqr�t��ru�~u���xwv~ry�tw�x��z~sxv~tu�t����wt�wx}��wx{��xu���~�~z��ruxzv~ry��w{zry��wt�~�r��~u���������xwv������



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�789�	���:��;��<�	�� =>�?@ABCD�EFG�HGAIJAKLCMG�JI�EFBN�OJCEALMEP�EFG�OJCN@QELCEP�IJA�BENGQIP�BEN�R@SMJCN@QELCENP�LNNBDCGGN�LCT�N@MMGNNJAN�NFLQQU�� L>�VJE�TBNMABKBCLEG�JC�EFG�SLNBN�JI�ALMGP�MJQJAP�CLEBJCLQ�JABDBCP�JA�NGW�LCT�NFLQQ�MLAAX�J@E�LHHQBMLSQG�AGY@BAGKGCEN�JI�Z[�O\]�̂LAE�_̀�BC�EFG�HGAIJAKLCMG�JI�EFBN�OJCEALME>�\LBQ@AG�SX�EFG�OJCN@QELCE�EJ�MLAAX�J@E�EFGNG�AGY@BAGKGCEN�BN�L�KLEGABLQ�SAGLMF�JI�EFBN�OJCEALMEP�aFBMF�KLX�AGN@QE�BC�EFG�EGAKBCLEBJC�JI�EFBN�OJCEALMEP�TBNY@LQBIBMLEBJC�IAJK�HAJHJNBCD�JC�JEFGA�OJCEALMEN�JA�JEFGA�AGKGTX�LN�EFG�RELEG�TGGKN�LHHAJHABLEG>�� S>�OJKHQX�aBEF�bWGM@EBcG�dATGA�_ee[fe[P�ĝAJFBSBEBJC�JI�?BNMABKBCLEBJC�BC�bKHQJXKGCE�SX�hJcGACKGCE�OJCEALMEJAN�LCT�R@SMJCEALMEJANPg�aFBMF�BN�FGAGSX�BCMQ@TGT�BC�BEN�GCEBAGEX�SX�AGIGAGCMG�LCT�MJCNBTGAGT�L�HLAE�JI�EFBN�OJCEALME>�� M>�OJKHQX�aBEF�EFG�HAJcBNBJCN�JI�bWGM@EBcG�dATGA�==_Z̀P�GCEBEQGT�gbY@LQ�bKHQJXKGCE�dHHJAE@CBEXPg�LN�LKGCTGT�SX�bWGM@EBcG�dATGA�==ijkP�LCT�LN�N@HHQGKGCEGT�BC�?GHLAEKGCE�JI�lLSJA�]GD@QLEBJCN�mZ=�O\]�̂LAE�̀en>�RLBT�HAJcBNBJCN�LAG�KLTG�LHHQBMLSQG�SX�AGIGAGCMG�LCT�LAG�FGAGBCLIEGA�MJCNBTGAGT�L�HLAE�JI�EFBN�OJCEALME>�� T>�̂ JNE�BC�MJCNHBM@J@N�HQLMGN�LcLBQLSQG�EJ�GKHQJXGGN�LCT�LHHQBMLCEN�IJA�GKHQJXKGCEP�EFG�IJQQJaBCD�CJEBMGU�� opq�rs�qtu�vwxryz�w{�qtrs�yw|v}~z�~wq�qw��rsy�r|r~}qu�}�}r~sq�}~z�u|vxwzuu��w�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �����������������������������������������������¡��¢�����������������������������������������������������ywu�yrw~£¤�� G>�OJKHQX�aBEF�EFG�]GD@QLEBJCN�AGQLEBcG�EJ�CJCTBNMABKBCLEBJC�BC�\GTGALQQXfLNNBNEGT�HAJDALKN�JI�EFG�¥>R>�?GHLAEKGCE�JI�¦ALCNHJAELEBJC�mFGAGBCLIEGA�¥R?d¦nP�Z[�O\]�̂LAE�_=P�LN�EFGX�KLX�SG�LKGCTGT�IAJK�EBKG�EJ�EBKGP�mFGAGBCLIEGA�AGIGAAGT�EJ�LN�EFG�]GD@QLEBJCNnP�aFBMF�LAG�FGAGBC�BCMJAHJALEGT�SX�AGIGAGCMG�LCT�KLTG�L�HLAE�JI�EFBN�OJCEALME>��� I>�VJE�TBNMABKBCLEG�JC�EFG�DAJ@CTN�JI�ALMGP�MJQJAP�NGWP�JA�CLEBJCLQ�JABDBC�BC�EFG�NGQGMEBJC�LCT�AGEGCEBJC�JI�R@SMJCN@QELCENP�BCMQ@TBCD�HAJM@AGKGCE�JI�KLEGABLQN�LCT�QGLNGN�JI�GY@BHKGCE>�¦FG�OJCN@QELCE�NFLQQ�CJE�HLAEBMBHLEG�GBEFGA�TBAGMEQX�JA�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245� 67869:;<=>�67�<?:�86@;96A67B<6C7�D9C?6E6<:8�E>�F:;<6C7�GHIJ�CK�<?:�L:MN=B<6C7@O�67;=N867M�:AD=C>A:7<�D9B;<6;:@I�� MI�P7�B==�@C=6;6<B<6C7@�:6<?:9�E>�;CAD:<6<6Q:�E68867M�C9�7:MC<6B<6C7@�AB8:�E>�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�KC9�SC9T�<C�E:�D:9KC9A:8�N78:9�B�@NE;C7<9B;<O�67;=N867M�D9C;N9:A:7<�CK�AB<:96B=@�C9�=:B@:@�CK�:UN6DA:7<O�7C<6K>�:B;?�DC<:7<6B=�VWXYZ[\W]̂_[̂�Z̀�\Waa]bc̀�Zd�̂ec�fZ[\W]̂_[̂g\�ZX]bh_̂bZ[\�W[ic̀�̂eb\�fZ[̂ _̀Ŷ�B78�<?:�L:MN=B<6C7@�9:=B<6Q:�<C�7C786@;96A67B<6C7�C7�<?:�M9CN78�CK�9B;:O�;C=C9O�C9�7B<6C7B=�C96M67I�� ?I�j9CQ68:�B==�67KC9AB<6C7�B78�9:DC9<@�9:UN69:8�E>�<?:�L:MN=B<6C7@�C9�869:;<6Q:@�6@@N:8�DN9@NB7<�<?:9:<CO�B78�@?B==�D:9A6<�B;;:@@�<C�6<@�ECCT@O�9:;C98@O�B;;CN7<@O�C<?:9�@CN9;:@�CK�67KC9AB<6C7�B78�6<@�KB;6=6<6:@�B@�AB>�E:�8:<:9A67:8�E>�<?:�F<B<:�<C�E:�D:9<67:7<�<C�B@;:9<B67�;CAD=6B7;:�S6<?�@N;?�L:MN=B<6C7@O�C98:9@�B78�67@<9N;<6C7@I�k?:9:�B7>�67KC9AB<6C7�9:UN69:8�CK�B�RC7@N=<B7<�6@�67�<?:�:l;=N@6Q:�DC@@:@@6C7�CK�B7C<?:9�S?C�KB6=@�C9�9:KN@:@�<C�KN976@?�<?6@�67KC9AB<6C7O�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�@?B==�@C�;:9<6K>�<C�<?:�F<B<:�B@�BDD9CD96B<:O�B78�@?B==�@:<�KC9<?�S?B<�:KKC9<@�6<�?B@�AB8:�<C�CE<B67�<?:�67KC9AB<6C7I�� GI�m[�̂ec�cnc[̂�Zd�̂ec�fZ[\W]̂_[̂g\�[Z[YZoa]b_[Yc�pb̂e�̂ec�qrqsmVftmumqmqvwmrq�D9CQ6@6C7�xF:;<6C7�yz�CK�<?6@�RC7<9B;<O�<?:�F<B<:�@?B==�6ADC@:�@N;?�RC7<9B;<�@B7;<6C7@�B@�<?:�F<B<:�C9�{|ky�AB>�8:<:9A67:�<C�E:�BDD9CD96B<:O�67;=N867M�EN<�7C<�=6A6<:8�<C}�� BI�k6<??C=867M�CK�DB>A:7<@�<C�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�N78:9�<?:�RC7<9B;<�N7<6=�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�;CAD=6:@O�� B78~C9��� EI�RB7;:==B<6C7O�<:9A67B<6C7O�C9�@N@D:7@6C7�CK�<?:�RC7<9B;<O�67�S?C=:�C9�67�DB9<I�� �I��?:�RC7@N=<B7<�@?B==�67;=N8:�<?:�D9CQ6@6C7@�CK�DB9BM9BD?�HIBI�<?9CNM?�HI?I�67�:Q:9>�@NE;C7<9B;<�S6<?�FNE;C7@N=<B7<@O����@�B78�7C7����@O�67;=N867M�D9C;N9:A:7<�CK�AB<:96B=@�B78�:UN6DA:7<�=:B@:@O�N7=:@@�:l:AD<�E>�<?:�L:MN=B<6C7@�C9�869:;<6Q:@�6@@N:8�DN9@NB7<�<?:9:<CI�� �I��?:�RC7@N=<B7<�@?B==�<BT:�@N;?�B;<6C7�S6<?�9:@D:;<�<C�B7>�FNE;C7@N=<B7<@�C9�D9C;N9:A:7<�B@�<?:�F<B<:�C9�<?:�{:8:9B=�yQ6B<6C7�y8A676@<9B<6C7�x{yyzO�{|ky�B78�<?:�{:8:9B=��9B7@6<�y8A676@<9B<6C7�x{�yz�AB>�869:;<�B@�B�A:B7@�CK�:7KC9;67M�@N;?�D9CQ6@6C7@�67;=N867M�@B7;<6C7@�KC9�7C7;CAD=6B7;:I�j9CQ68:8O�?CS:Q:9O�<?B<�67�<?:�:Q:7<�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�E:;CA:@�67QC=Q:8�67�C9�6@�<?9:B<:7:8�S6<?�=6<6MB<6C7�S6<?�B�FNE;C7@N=<B7<�C9�@NDD=6:9�B@�B�9:@N=<�CK�@N;?�869:;<6C7O�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�AB>�9:UN:@<�<?:�F<B<:�<C�:7<:9�67<C�@N;?�=6<6MB<6C7�<C�D9C<:;<�<?:�67<:9:@<@�CK�<?:�F<B<:O�B78�67�B886<6C7O�<?:�RC7@N=<B7<�AB>�9:UN:@<�<?:��76<:8�F<B<:@�<C�:7<:9�67<C�@N;?�=6<6MB<6C7�<C�D9C<:;<�<?:�67<:9:@<@�CK�<?:��76<:8�F<B<:@I��



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�667������8�9�
���:9�	�� ;<=>?@A><?�BC@DD�>@EF�>CF�G<DD<HI=J�@GGI?K@>ILF�@A>I<=�B>FMB�HI>C�?FBMFA>�><�BFAN?I=J�BNMMDIFBO��FPNIMKF=>O�<?�BF?LIAFB�N=QF?�>CF�>F?KB�<G�>CIB�A<=>?@A>R�� @S�T=ADNQF�PN@DIGIFQ�GI?KB�<H=FQ�UV�B<AI@DDV�@=Q�FA<=<KIA@DDV�QIB@QL@=>@JFQ�I=QILIQN@DB�<=�B<DIAI>@>I<=�DIB>BS�� US�WBBN?F�>C@>�GI?KB�<H=FQ�UV�B<AI@DDV�@=Q�FA<=<KIA@DDV�QIB@QL@=>@JFQ�I=QILIQN@DB�@?F�B<DIAI>FQ�HCF=FLF?�>CFV�@?F�M<>F=>I@D�B<N?AFBS�� AS�XCF=�FA<=<KIA@DDV�GF@BIUDFO�QILIQF�><>@D�?FPNI?FKF=>B�I=><�BK@DDF?�>@BEB�<?�PN@=>I>IFB�B<�@B�><�MF?KI>�K@YIKNK�M@?>IAIM@>I<=�UV�GI?KB�<H=FQ�UV�B<AI@DDV�@=Q�FA<=<KIA@DDV�QIB@QL@=>@JFQ�I=QILIQN@DBS�� QS�XCF?F�>CF�?FPNI?FKF=>�MF?KI>BO�FB>@UDIBC�QFDILF?V�BACFQNDFB�HCIAC�HIDD�F=A<N?@JF�M@?>IAIM@>I<=�UV�GI?KB�<H=FQ�UV�B<AI@DDV�@=Q�FA<=<KIA@DDV�QIB@QL@=>@JFQ�I=QILIQN@DBS�� FS�ZBF�>CF�BF?LIAFB�@=Q�@BBIB>@=AF�<G�>CF�[K@DD�\NBI=FBB�WQKI=IB>?@>I<=O�>CF�]GGIAF�<G�̂I=<?I>V�\NBI=FBB�_=>F?M?IBF�<G�>CF�̀FM@?>KF=>�<G�;<KKF?AFO�@=Q�>CF�;<KKN=I>V�[F?LIAFB�WQKI=IB>?@>I<=O�@B�?FPNI?FQS�� �� 6a7�:	9��:9�b	�c�d	e����������9f��9��������:9�� gCF�G<DD<HI=J�AD@NBFB�@MMDV�><�@=V�hFQF?@Di@IQ�A<=>?@A>�I=�@=�@K<N=>�I=�FYAFBB�<G�jkllOlll�@=Q�BNUmFA>�><�>CF�<LF?>IKF�M?<LIBI<=B�<G�>CF�;<=>?@A>�X<?E�n<N?B�@=Q�[@GF>V�[>@=Q@?QB�WA>S�gCFBF�AD@NBFB�BC@DD�UF�I=BF?>FQ�I=�@QQI>I<=�><�>CF�AD@NBFB�?FPNI?FQ�UV�op�;hq�rSrs@t�<?�op�;hq�uSvS�WB�NBFQ�I=�>CIB�M@?@J?@MCO�>CF�>F?KB�D@U<?F?B�@=Q�KFAC@=IAB�I=ADNQF�H@>ACKF=�@=Q�JN@?QBS�� 	w2.5x32�.2y1x.23245z7�{<�A<=>?@A><?�<?�BNUA<=>?@A><?�A<=>?@A>I=J�G<?�@=V�M@?>�<G�>CF�A<=>?@A>�H<?E�HCIAC�K@V�?FPNI?F�<?�I=L<DLF�>CF�FKMD<VKF=>�<G�D@U<?F?B�<?�KFAC@=IAB�BC@DD�?FPNI?F�<?�MF?KI>�@=V�BNAC�D@U<?F?�<?�KFAC@=IA�I=�@=V�H<?EHFFE�I=�HCIAC�CF�<?�BCF�IB�FKMD<VFQ�<=�BNAC�H<?E�><�H<?E�I=�FYAFBB�<G�G<?>V�C<N?B�I=�BNAC�H<?EHFFE�N=DFBB�BNAC�D@U<?F?�<?�KFAC@=IA�?FAFILFB�A<KMF=B@>I<=�@>�@�?@>F�=<>�DFBB�>C@=�<=F�@=Q�<=FiC@DG�>IKFB�>CF�U@BIA�?@>F�<G�M@V�G<?�@DD�C<N?B�H<?EFQ�I=�FYAFBB�<G�G<?>V�C<N?B�I=�BNAC�H<?EHFFES�� 
x/|}5x/4~�|x}�x|x5���/.�14�}x���}�2z~�|xy1x�}52���}3}�2zS�T=�>CF�FLF=>�<G�@=V�LI<D@>I<=�<G�>CF�AD@NBF�BF>�G<?>C�I=�M@?@J?@MC�skSt�<G�>CIB�BFA>I<=O�>CF�A<=>?@A><?�@=Q�@=V�BNUA<=>?@A><?�?FBM<=BIUDF�>CF?FG<?�BC@DD�UF�DI@UDF�G<?�>CF�N=M@IQ�H@JFBS�T=�@QQI>I<=O�BNAC�A<=>?@A><?�@=Q�BNUA<=>?@A><?�BC@DD�UF�DI@UDF�><�>CF�Z=I>FQ�[>@>FB�sI=�>CF�A@BF�<G�H<?E�Q<=F�N=QF?�A<=>?@A>�G<?�>CF�̀IB>?IA>�<G�;<DNKUI@�<?�@�>F??I><?VO�><�BNAC��̀IB>?IA>�<?�><�BNAC�>F??I><?VtO�G<?�DIPNIQ@>FQ�Q@K@JFBS�[NAC�DIPNIQ@>FQ�Q@K@JFB�BC@DD�UF�A<KMN>FQ�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�++��,�-���

�./01.23245�6789�:;<=;>8�8?�;@>9�7AB7C7BD@E�E@F?:;:�?:�G;>9@A7>H�7A>EDB7AI�6@8>9G;A�@AB�ID@:B<H�;G=E?J;B�7A�C7?E@87?A�?K�89;�>E@D<;�<;8�K?:89�7A�=@:@I:@=9�LMNO�?K�897<�<;>87?AH�7A�89;�<DG�?K�PMQ�K?:�;@>9�>@E;AB@:�B@J�?A�697>9�<D>9�7AB7C7BD@E�6@<�:;RD7:;B�?:�=;:G788;B�8?�6?:S�7A�;T>;<<�?K�89;�<8@AB@:B�6?:S6;;S�?K�K?:8J�9?D:<�6789?D8�=@JG;A8�?K�89;�?C;:87G;�6@I;<�:;RD7:;B�FJ�89;�>E@D<;�<;8�K?:89�7A�=@:@I:@=9�LMNO�?K�897<�<;>87?AN�� UV5WW/XYV4Z�[/.�14\]VY�̂]Z2_�]4Y�XV̀1VY]52Y�Y]3]Z2_a�b9;�cdef�?:�89;�>?A8@>87AI�@I;A>J�<9@EE�D=?A�78<�?6A�@>87?A�?:�D=?A�6:788;A�:;RD;<8�?K�@A�@D89?:7g;B�:;=:;<;A8@87C;�?K�89;�h;=@:8G;A8�?K�i@F?:�67899?EB�?:�>@D<;�8?�F;�67899;EBH�K:?G�@AJ�G?A;J<�=@J@FE;�?A�@>>?DA8�?K�6?:S�=;:K?:G;B�FJ�89;�>?A8:@>8?:�?:�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�DAB;:�@AJ�<D>9�>?A8:@>8�?:�@AJ�?89;:�c;B;:@E�>?A8:@>8�6789�89;�<@G;�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8?:H�?:�@AJ�?89;:�K;B;:@EEJj@<<7<8;B�>?A8:@>8�<DFk;>8�8?�89;�l?A8:@>8�e?:S�d?D:<�@AB�m@K;8J�m8@AB@:B<�f>8H�697>9�7<�9;EB�FJ�89;�<@G;�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8?:H�<D>9�<DG<�@<�G@J�F;�B;8;:G7A;B�8?�F;�A;>;<<@:J�8?�<@87<KJ�@AJ�E7@F7E787;<�?K�<D>9�>?A8:@>8?:�?:�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�K?:�DA=@7B�6@I;<�@AB�E7RD7B@8;B�B@G@I;<�@<�=:?C7B;B�7A�89;�>E@D<;�<;8�K?:89�7A�=@:@I:@=9�LnNO�?K�897<�<;>87?AN�� �1o0/45.]05_a�b9;�>?A8:@>8?:�?:�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�<9@EE�7A<;:8�7A�@AJ�<DF>?A8:@>8<�89;�>E@D<;<�<;8�K?:89�7A�=@:@I:@=9�LMNO�89:?DI9�LpNO�?K�897<�<;>87?A�@AB�@E<?�@�>E@D<;�:;RD7:7AI�89;�<DF>?A8:@>8?:<�8?�7A>EDB;�89;<;�>E@D<;<�7A�@AJ�E?6;:�87;:�<DF>?A8:@>8<N�b9;�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8?:�<9@EE�F;�:;<=?A<7FE;�K?:�>?G=E7@A>;�FJ�@AJ�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�?:�E?6;:�87;:�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�6789�89;�>E@D<;<�<;8�K?:89�7A�=@:@I:@=9<�LMNO�89:?DI9�LpNO�?K�897<�<;>87?AN�� qra���������st�u���� b9;�l?A8@>8?:�@AB�78<�<DFj>?A8:@>8?:<�<9@EE�>?G=EJ�6789�@EE�@==E7>@FE;�cbf�:;IDE@87?A<H�=?E7>7;<H�=:?>;BD:;<�@AB�B7:;>87C;<H�7A>EDB7AI�6789?D8�E7G78@87?A�89?<;�E7<8;B�B7:;>8EJ�?:�FJ�:;K;:;A>;�7A�89;�v@<8;:�fI:;;G;A8�F;86;;A�89;�h;=@:8G;A8�@AB�cbfH�@<�89;J�F;�@G;AB;B�?:�=:?GDEI@8;B�K:?G�87G;�8?�87G;�BD:7AI�89;�8;:G�?K�89;�>?A8:@>8N�wxyz{|}zx{~���|���{��zx�}x�������|���}xy�z�z�8;�@�G@8;:7@E�F:;@>9�?K�89;�>?A8:@>8N�� q�a���	��������� b9;�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8?:�@I:;;<�8?�=@J�;@>9�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�DAB;:�897<�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8�K?:�<@87<K@>8?:J�=;:K?:G@A>;�?K�78<�>?A8:@>8�A?�E@8;:�89@A��Q�B@J<�K:?G�89;�:;>;7=8�?K�;@>9�=@JG;A8�89;�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8�:;>;7C;<�K:?G�89;��;>7=7;A8N�b9;�=:7G;�>?A8:@>8?:�@I:;;<�KD:89;:�8?�:;8D:A�:;8@7A@I;�=@JG;A8<�8?�;@>9�<DF>?A8:@>8?:�67897A��Q�B@J<�@K8;:�89;�<DF>?A8:@>8?:<�6?:S�7<�<@87<K@>8?:7EJ�>?G=E;8;BN�fAJ�B;E@J�?:�=?<8=?A;G;A8�?K�=@JG;A8�K:?G�89;�@F?C;�:;K;:;A>;B�87G;�K:@G;�G@J�?>>D:�?AEJ�K?:�I??B�>@D<;�K?EE?67AI�6:788;A�@==:?C@E�?K�89;��;>7=7;A8N�b97<�>E@D<;�@==E7;<�8?�F?89�h���@AB�A?Ajh���<DF>?A8:@>8<N�� q�a���������	���s	�������	�� �A�@>>?:B@A>;�6789�p���NmNlN�����n�L9O�@EE�=:?>D:;G;A8�8:@A<@>87?A<�<9@EE�F;�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+���,�-���

�./01.23245�6789:6;<9�=8�>�?>88<@�;A>;�B@7C=9<D�E:FF�>89�7B<8�67?B<;=;=78G�� HIJ���	K�L�M�	��N���M��OP�Q��	��R�	�����P��S��M	�R����P���P�M�	��� TB>@;�E@7?�=8678D=D;<8;�@<U:=@<?<8;D�=?B7D<9�VW�X<9<@>F�D;>;:;<�7@�@<Y:F>;=78DZ�;A<�678;@>6;7@�DA>FF�67?BFW�[=;A�;A<�@<U:=@<?<8;D�7E�\]�̂_̀�abcbdAedce�VW�@<E@>=8=8Y�E@7?�:D=8Y�>8W�XfT�>DD=D;>86<�;7�D:BB7@;�B@76:@<?<8;D�:D=8Y�<g6F:D=78>@W�7@�9=D6@=?=8>;7@W�DB<6=E=6>;=78DG�� HhJ�P	�	�S�P��i�MK��M���M�	�����PK�M�PMQ���� 7̀8;@>6;7@�DA>FF�678E7@?Z�;7�;A<�<g;<8;�>BBF=6>VF<Z�;7�;A<�j>;=78>F�k8;<FF=Y<8;�f@>8DB7@;>;=78�_;>89>@9D�>@6A=;<6;:@<�>D�@<U:=@<9�VW�_TXlflTmn̂�_<6;=78�abopd6eZ�cb�qrsrtr�suvwxyz�{|}�zywu�~z���y��y��w�u���y�x�xyz��y�������ywxvu��������~wxyz~����v�xwuvw��u��y�xv��yz���~z�xw���y�uvw��������u�r��u�r|�{{�uw��u�r���~z�~������}��|��~z��>8W�7;A<@�=?BF<?<8;=8Y�9=@<6;=C<D�XfT�?>W�=DD:<�>;�>�F>;<@�9>;<Z�<g6<B;�;7�;A<�<g;<8;�XfT�9<;<@?=8<D�7;A<@[=D<�=8�[@=;=8YG�� H�J��PP�������Q���S�M���	������	��i�MK�����L���M����� 7̀8;@>6;7@�DA>FF�67?BFW�[=;A�\]�̂_̀�abo�d9eZ�D;>;=8Y�X<9<@>F�B7F=6W�;A>;�;A<�<F9<@FW�>89�B<@D78D�[=;A�9=D>V=F=;=<D�A>C<�;A<�D>?<�@=YA;D�>D�7;A<@�B<@D78D�;7�:D<�?>DD�;@>8DB7@;>;=78�D<@C=6<D�>89�E>6=F=;=<D�>89�;A>;�DB<6=>F�<EE7@;D�DA>FF�V<�?>9<�=8�BF>88=8Y�>89�9<D=Y8=8Y�;A7D<�D<@C=6<D�>89�E>6=F=;=<D�;7�=?BF<?<8;�;A>;�B7F=6WG�� 7̀8;@>6;7@�DA>FF�>FD7�67?BFW�[=;A�>FF�>BBF=6>VF<�@<U:=@<?<8;D�7E�_<6G�ao\�7E�;A<��<A>V=F=;>;=78�T6;�d�]pbeZ�>D�>?<89<9Z�c]�̂_̀�p]\Z�[A=6A�B@7A=V=;D�9=D6@=?=8>;=78�78�;A<�V>D=D�7E�A>89=6>BDZ�>89�;A<�T?<@=6>8D�[=;A��=D>V=F=;=<D�T6;�7E��]]o�dT�TeZ�>D�>?<89<9Z�\c�̂_̀��c�o��<;�D<UGZ�[A=6A�@<U:=@<D�;A>;�>66<DD=VF<�E>6=F=;=<D�>89�D<@C=6<D�V<�?>9<�>C>=F>VF<�;7�B<@D78D�[=;A�9=D>V=F=;=<DZ�=86F:9=8Y�>8W�D:VD<U:<8;�>?<89?<8;D�;A<@<;7G���  ¡J�	M���P�M�	�	�������������M�P���M�	�� f7�;A<�<g;<8;�@<U:=@<9�VW�F>[Z�=8�;A<�>887:86<?<8;�7E�>8W�;A=@9�B>@;W�678;@>6;�>[>@9�E7@�Y779D�>89�D<@C=6<D�d=86F:9=8Y�678D;@:6;=78�D<@C=6<De�A>C=8Y�>8�>YY@<Y>;<�C>F:<�7E�¢aooZooo�7@�?7@<Z�678;@>6;7@�DA>FF�DB<6=EW�;A<�>?7:8;�7E�X<9<@>F�>DD=D;>86<�;7�V<�:D<9�=8�E=8>86=8Y�;A>;�>6U:=D=;=78�7E�Y779D�>89�D<@C=6<D�>89�;7�<gB@<DD�;A>;�>?7:8;�7E�X<9<@>F�>DD=D;>86<�>D�>�B<@6<8;>Y<�7E�;A<�;7;>F�67D;�7E�;A<�;A=@9�B>@;W�678;@>6;G��  £J��M����M�	��S�SL����	������N�M���M	�P	N������ j7�?<?V<@D�7EZ�7@�9<F<Y>;<D�;7Z�;A<�̂_�̀78Y@<DD�DA>FF�V<�>9?=;;<9�;7�>8W�DA>@<�7@�B>@;�7E�;A=D�678;@>6;�87@�;7�>8W�V<8<E=;�>@=D=8Y�;A<@<E@7?G��



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�,���

�./01.23245�678�����9�:���;	<��;<	�������=:;	<��;<	���� >?@�?ABC�ADDCAEF?G�HDI?�JKC�LIBDJEIMMCE�NC?CEAMOP�MFPJ�IQ�F?CMFGFRMC�SI?JEASJIEP�QIE�TUVUWXYYZ[X\\]\̂UV�_̀âWX_̂\�\bXYY�cU�]aUY]d]cYU�̂̀�X_̂�X\�X�\ec_̀âWX_̂̀ W�T̀W�_̀âWX_̂̀ W�DHEPHA?J�JI�JKFP�SI?JEASJf�gQ�SI?JEASJIE�FP�I?�JKC�LIBDJEIMMCE�NC?CEAMOP�MFPJ�IQ�F?CMFGFRMC�_̀âWX_̂̀ W\�hb̂ î\jkklllm\Xnmd̀okpqrks�T̀W�TUVUWXYYZ�T]aXa_UV� Ẁ�X\\]\̂UV�_̀a\̂We_̂]̀at�̂bU�WU_]i]Uâ�\bXYY�_Xa_UYt�̂UWn]aX̂U�̀W�\e\iUaV�̂b]\�_̀âWX_̂m�� 668�	<u���;	<��;<���v=���w�<��� x̀�̂bU�UŷUâ�à �̂]a_̀a\]\̂Uâ�l]̂b�̂bU�T̀WUd̀]ad�zUVUWXY�WU{e]WUnUâ\t�̂b]\�_̀âWX_̂�\bXYY�XY\̀�]a_YeVU�̂b̀\U�\̂XaVXWV�_YXe\U\�X̂̂X_bUV�bUWÛ̀ t�XaV�\bXYY�_̀niYZ�l]̂b�̂bU�ECSFDFC?JOP�|EISHECBC?J�}e]VUY]aU\t�XoX]YXcYU�eìa�WU{eU\̂�TẀn�̂bU�~UiXŴnUâm�� 6�8�;	w����;����<u�����������9=��<�	��� qaZ�_̀âWX_̂�UâUWUV�ieW\eXâ�̂ �̀̂b]\�\̀Y]_]̂X̂]̀a�\bXYY�_̀âX]a�̂bU�T̀YỲl]ad�iẀo]\]̀a\j�qYY��p~�x[�WU{e]WUV�_̀âWX_̂eXY�iẀo]\]̀a\t�X\�\Û�T̀Ŵb�]a�zxq��]W_eYXW�����t�XWU�]a_̀WìWX̂UV�cZ�WUTUWUa_Um�qaẐb]ad�̂̀�̂bU�_̀âWXWZ�bUWU]a�à l̂]̂b\̂XaV]adt�zxq�nXaVX̂UV�̂UWn\�\bXYY�_̀âẀY�]a�̂bU�UoUâ�̀T�X�_̀aTY]_̂�l]̂b�̀ b̂UW�iẀo]\]̀a\�_̀âX]aUV�]a�̂b]\�qdWUUnUâm��̀âWX_̂̀ W�\bXYY�à �̂iUWT̀Wn�XaZ�X_̂t�TX]Y�̂̀�iUWT̀Wn�XaZ�X_̂t�̀W�WUTe\U�̂̀�_̀niYZ�l]̂b�XaZ�dWXâUU�WU{eU\̂�̂bX̂�l̀eYV�_Xe\U�̂bU�WU_]i]Uâ�̂̀�cU�]a�o]̀YX̂]̀a�̀T�zxq�̂UWn\�XaV�_̀aV]̂]̀a\m��̀âWX_̂̀ W�\bXYY�_̀niYZ�l]̂b�XYY�XiiY]_XcYU�zxq�WUdeYX̂]̀a\t�ìY]_]U\t�iẀ_UVeWU\�XaV�V]WU_̂]oU\t�]a_YeV]adt�l]̂b̀ê�Y]n]̂X̂]̀at�b̂̀\U�Y]\̂UV�V]WU_̂YZ�̀W�]a_̀WìWX̂UV�cZ�WUTUWUa_U�]a�̂bU�rX\̂UW�qdWUUnUâ�cÛlUUa�b̂U�WU_]i]Uâ�XaV�zxqt�X\�nXZ�cU�XnUaVUV�̀W�iẀneYdX̂UV�TẀn�̂]nU�̂̀�̂]nU�VeW]ad�JKC�JCEB�IQ�JKFP�SI?JEASJf�LI?JEASJIEOP�QAFMHEC�JI�PI�SIBDM@�PKAMM�SI?PJFJHJC�A�BAJCEFAM�cWUX_b�̀T�̂b]\�_̀âWX_̂m�� 6�8��������	���<��� qaZ�_̀âWX_̂�UâUWUV�]ầ �\bXYY�_̀âX]a�̂bU�T̀YỲl]ad�iẀo]\]̀a\j��̀âWX_̂̀ W�\bXYY�X̂�XYY�]̂nU\�_̀niYZ�l]̂b�XYY�XiiY]_XcYU�\̂X̂êU\�XaV��p~�x�WUdeYX̂]̀a\t�ìY]_]U\t�iẀ_UVeWU\�XaV�V]WU_̂]oU\�d̀oUWa]ad�̂bU�X_{e]\]̂]̀at�e\U�XaV�V]\ì\XY�̀T�WUXY�iẀiUŴZt�]a_YeV]adt�cê�à �̂Y]n]̂UV�̂̀t�����z����m��[��m��t�����z����m��[��m��t�����z���XŴ���t�����z�������X\�XnUaVUV�cZ�rXi[��t�����z��iXŴ����̀W���t�����p������t�XiiY]_XcYU�zxq��]W_eYXW�����t�XaV�zxq�rX\̂UW�qdWUUnUât�X\�̂bUZ�nXZ�cU�XnUaVUV�̀W�iẀneYdX̂UV��HEF?G�JKC�JCEB�IQ�JKFP�SI?JEASJf�LI?JEASJIEOP�QAFMHEC�JI�PI�SIBDM@�PKAMM�SI?PJFJHJC�A�nX̂UW]XY�cWUX_b�̀T�̂b]\�_̀âWX_̂m�� 6�8��;;����<	����
�;����	������	����<u���w�<����9���u���	��;��;��� x̀�̂bU�UŷUâ�XiiY]_XcYU�XaV�Uy_Uî�̂̀ �̂bU�UŷUâ�̂bX̂�zxq�VÛUWn]aU\�̀ b̂UWl]\U�]a�lW]̂]adt�̂bU��U_]i]Uâ�XdWUU\�̂̀�_̀niYZ�l]̂b�̂bU�ìY]_]U\�̀T��yU_ê]oU��WVUW��̀m������t���niẀo]ad�q__U\\�̂̀�pUWo]_U\�T̀W��UW\̀a\�l]̂b��]n]̂UV��adY]\b��ẀT]_]Ua_Zt������mpm�m�������V���à Ût�XaV�l]̂b�̂bU�iẀo]PFI?P�IQ��f�f������IJFSC �¡����NHF�A?SC�JI��U_]i]Uâ\�̀ a�piU_]XY��XadeXdU�pUWo]_U\�̂ �̀�]n]̂UV��adY]\b��ẀT]_]Uâ�h���s�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�+,��-�.���

�/012/34356�7898:;<;=>;8?@A�BC�D8EF�G8HF�BICJB@�K8<8LM8>�NI@�OPPQR��� STU��
��	V�W���XY�W�Z��� [\]̂_̀�ab�̀ĉ�d̂êfag�hiĵfkl̂ k̀�ê`̂flmk̂b�ìĉfnmb̂�mk�nfm̀mkop�̀ĉ�q̂]m_m̂k̀�aof̂̂ b�̀i�_filì �̂̂kjmfikl̂ k̀ag�rsb̀m]̂�tu�vigginmkow�xyz�[\̂]s̀mĵ�{fêf�|iR�yO}~}p��D8E8>=���<�;�9?�����EE>8??��9�;>�9L89�=����?�;<8�;9��;9�>;��������=�;�9?�=9E������9<�L8������=�;�9?@A�D8M>�=>��NN@�N��I@�I���R�R�R�����Oy�kì p̂�ab�n̂gg�ab�va]mgm̀àmko�]il_gmak]̂�nm̀c�̀cà�[\̂]s̀mĵ�{fêfp�ake�xOz�K����>E8>���NCF�@��K8�=>�L89���:��>=9?��>�=�;�9��<�;�9?�����EE>8??��9�;>�9L89�=���sb̀m]̂�mk��mkifm̀u��i_sgàmikb�ake��in��9<�L8������=�;�9?@A����D8EF�G8HF�NJ BB@�¡_fmg�yQp�y~~¢p�ake�x�z�£ĉ�lib̀�f̂]̂k̀�ake�a__gm]atĝ�̂em̀mik�iv�d£¡��mf]sgaf��¢P�Ryp���9�;>�9L89�=����?�;<8����;<��¤�;E=9<8�:�>�D8E8>=���>=9?;���EL;9;?�>=�;�9�G8<;�;89�?@A�¡sosb̀�yQp�OPyOp�̀i�̀ĉ�̂\̀̂ k̀�]ikbmb̀̂ k̀�nm̀c�a__gm]atĝ�d̂êfag�ganbp�f̂osgàmikbp�ake�osmeak]̂p�� S¥U��
��	V�W�����	W�ZW�	��� �il_gmak]̂�mb�f̂¦smf̂e�nm̀c�aku�a__gm]atĝ�d̂êfag�ganb�ml_ibmko�̂kjmfikl̂ k̀ag�ake�f̂bisf]̂�]ikb̂fjàmik�f̂¦smf̂l̂ k̀b�vif�̀ĉ�_fir̂]̀R��il̂ p�ts̀�kì�aggp�iv�̀ĉ�larif�d̂êfag�ganb�̀cà�lau�avv̂]̀�̀ĉ�_fir̂]̀�mk]gsêw�̀ĉ�|àmikag�[kjmfikl̂ k̀ag��igm]u�¡]̀�iv�y~§~̈�̀ĉ��ĝak�¡mf�¡]̀̈�̀ĉ�q̂bisf]̂��ikb̂fjàmik�ake�q̂]iĵfu�¡]̀̈�̀ĉ�]il_f̂ĉkbmĵ�[kjmfikl̂ k̀ag�f̂b_ikb̂p��il_̂kbàmik�ake���matmgm̀u�¡]̀̈�ab�n̂gg�ab�k̂jmfikl̂ k̀ag�_fijmbmikb�nm̀c�£m̀ĝ�O���R�R�Rp�ake��~��R�R�]ca_̀̂ f�Q�R�£ĉ��R�R�[�¡p�d©ª¡�ake�ìĉf�v̂êfag�aôk]m̂b�lau�mbbŝ�ìĉf�v̂êfag�f̂osgàmikb�ake�emf̂]̀mĵb�c̀à�lau�avv̂]̀�̀ĉ�_fir̂]̀R��il_gmak]̂�mb�f̂¦smf̂e�nm̀c�aku�a__gm]atĝ�d̂êfag�ganb�ake�f̂osgàmikb�mk�̂vv̂]̀�kin�if�̀cà�t̂]il̂ �̂vv̂]̀mĵ�mk�̀ĉ�vs̀sf̂R�� S«U�¬�	�¬����Z���	�V�W�	�����W���W	����W������W��� ¡ku�_fir̂]̀�a]̀mjm̀m̂b�mkjigjmko�b_àmag�eàa�if�ôiofa_cm]�mkviflàmik�bub̀̂lb�a]̀mjm̀m̂b�vmkak]̂e�nm̀c�d̂êfag�abbmb̀ak]̂�af̂�f̂¦smf̂e�̀i�t̂�]ikbmb̀̂ k̀�nm̀c�̀ĉ�|àmikag��_àmag�®àa�̄kvfab̀fs]̀sf̂�_filsgoà̂ e�tu�̀ĉ�d̂êfag�ĥiofa_cm]�®àa��illm̀̀^̂p�̂\]̂_̀�̀i�̀ĉ�̂\̀̂ k̀�̀cà�d£¡�ê`̂flmk̂b�ìĉfnmb̂�mk�nfm̀mkoR�� °±U�¬�	¬����Z��������Z��� �sfbsak̀�̀i�O��dq�OPPR�y~xtzp�agg�_fi]sf̂l̂ k̀b�lsb̀�t̂�]ikes]̀̂e�mk�a�lakk̂f�̀cà�_ficmtm̀b�̀ĉ�sb̂�iv�b̀às̀ifmgu�if�aelmkmb̀fàmĵgu�ml_ib̂e�b̀à̂ p�gi]agp�if�̀fmtag�ôiofa_cm]ag�_f̂v̂f̂k]̂b�mk�̀ĉ�̂jagsàmik�iv�tmeb�if�_fi_ibagbp�̂\]̂_̀�mk�̀cib̂�]ab̂b�nĉf̂�a__gm]atĝ�d̂êfag�b̀às̀ b̂�̂\_f̂bbgu�lakeà̂ �if�̂k]isfaô�ôiofa_cm]�_f̂v̂f̂k]̂R�|ìcmko�mk�̀cmb�b̂]̀mik�_f̂̂ l_̀b�b̀à̂ �gm]̂kbmko�ganbR�ªĉk�]ik̀fa]̀mko�vif�af]cm̀̂]̀sfag�ake�̂komk̂ f̂mko�x¡²[z�b̂fjm]̂bp�ôiofa_cm]�gi]àmik�lau�t̂�a�b̂ĝ]̀mik�]fm̀̂fmik�_fijmêe�m̀b�a__gm]àmik�ĝaĵb�ak�a__fi_fmà̂ �kslt̂f�iv�¦sagmvm̂e�vmflbp�omĵk�̀ĉ�kàsf̂�ake�bm³̂�iv�̀ĉ�_fir̂]̀p�̀i�]il_̂`̂�vif�̀ĉ�]ik̀fa]̀zR��� °́U�	�¬��µ�W�	���Z	���ZW��	���W����W�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�� 567�879:;:7<=�>?@77A�=6>=�:=�B:CC�<D=�7<=7@�:<=D�>�;@D9E@7F7<=�=6>=�:<GDCG7A�>�@7>C�D@�>;;>@7<=�D@?><:H>=:D<>C�9D<IC:9=�DI�:<=7@7A=�J7A9@:K7J�>A�IDCCDBAL�� MNO�P67<�Q=�R99E@AS�T<�D@?><:H>=:D<>C�9D<IC:9=�DI�:<=7@7A=�D99E@A�B67<�=67�U@DV79=�BD@WX�B:=6DE=�>;;@D;@:>=7�@7A=@:9=:D<A�D<�97@=>:<�IE=E@7�>9=:G:=:7AX�@7AEC=A�:<�><�E<I>:@�9DF;7=:=:G7�>JG><=>?7L�� M>O�5D�=6>=�56:@J�U>@=Y�U>@=:9:;><=�D@�><D=67@�56:@J�U>@=Y�U>@=:9:;><=�;7@ID@F:<?�=67�U@DV79=�BD@WX�><J�MKO�56>=�:F;>:@A�Z[\Z�][̂_̀�a\_Zb�a\_Ẑĉd\eZfg�hijkcẐl̂Zb�̂e�dk_mh_n̂eo�Z[k�a_hjkcZ�BD@WX�D@�� MpO�R=67@S�T<�D@?><:H>=:D<>C�9D<IC:9=�DI�:<=7@7A=�F>Y�:<GDCG7�D=67@�A:=E>=:D<A�@7AEC=:<?�:<�IE<J>F7<=>CCY�E<I>:@�9DF;7=:=:G7�9D<J:=:D<AX�� MqO�r:A9CDAE@7�87sE:@7F7<=AS�tD<A:A=7<=�B:=6�u5T�;DC:9:7AX�=67�879:;:7<=�FEA=�J:A9CDA7�=D�u5TX�><J�7>96�DI�:=A�vEK@79:;:7<=A�FEA=�J:A9CDA7�=D�=67�879:;:7<=L�� M>O�T<Y�:<A=><97A�DI�D@?><:H>=:D<>C�9D<IC:9=�DI�:<=7@7A=X�D@�MKO�w:DC>=:D<A�DI�I7J7@>C�9@:F:<>C�C>BX�:<GDCG:<?�I@>EJX�K@:K7@YX�D@�?@>=E:=Y�G:DC>=:D<A�;D=7<=:>CCY�>II79=:<?�=67�I7J7@>C�>B>@JX�><J�� MxO�u>:CE@7�=D�r:A9CDA7S�u>:CE@7�=D�F>W7�@7sE:@7J�J:A9CDAE@7A�9><�@7AEC=�:<�@7F7J:7A�ID@�<D<9DF;C:><97X�:<9CEJ:<?�J7K>@F7<=�D@�AEA;7<A:D<S�� yz{�
�|�����������}��� TA�;@DG:J7J�KY�x~��SvStS����qp�MWOX�=D�=67�7�=7<=�;@>9=:9>KC7X�=67�879:;:7<=�>?@77A�><J�>AAE@7A�=6>=�7>96�DI�:=A�vEK@79:;:7<=AL�� MNO�P:CC�?:G7�>�6:@:<?�;@7I7@7<97�=D�G7=7@><AX�>A�J7I:<7J�:<����SvStS���pN��X�B6D�6>G7�=67�AW:CCA�><J�>K:C:=:7A�@7sE:@7J�=D�;7@ID@F�9D<A=@E9=:D<�BD@W�@7sE:@7J�E<J7@�>�=6:@J�;>@=Y�9D<=@>9=�:<�9D<<79=:D<�B:=6�>�t>;:=>C�U@DV79=�AE;;D@=7J�B:=6�I7J7@>C�>AA:A=><97�>;;@D;@:>=7J�D@�F>J7�>G>:C>KC7�ID@�x~��SvStS�96>;=7@��qX�><J�MpO�P:CC�<D=�@7sE:@7�><�7F;CDY7@�=D�?:G7�>�;@7I7@7<97�=D�><Y�G7=7@><�DG7@�><Y�7sE>CCY�sE>C:I:7J�>;;C:9><=�B6D�:A�>�F7FK7@�DI�><Y�@>9:>C�D@�7=6<:9�F:<D@:=YX�I7F>C7X�><�:<J:G:JE>C�B:=6�>�J:A>K:C:=YX�D@�>�ID@F7@�7F;CDY77S�� y�{�}�|��	��	�����������	���|�}������|�}����}��������|���}�|�	�������� 567�FE<:9:;>C�;@DV79=�A;D<AD@�:A�@7sE:@7J�=D�:J7<=:IY�:<�:=A�>99DE<=A�>CC�u7J7@>C�>B>@JA�@797:G7J�><J�7�;7<J7JX�><J�=67�u7J7@>C�;@D?@>FA�E<J7@�B6:96�=67Y�B7@7�@797:G7JS�u7J7@>C�;@D?@>F�><J�>B>@J�:J7<=:I:9>=:D<�A6>CC�:<9CEJ7X�>A�>;;C:9>KC7X�=67�turT�=:=C7�><J�<EFK7@X�>B>@J�<EFK7@�><J�Y7>@X�<>F7�DI�=67�u7J7@>C�>?7<9YX�><J�<>F7�DI�=67�;>AA�=6@DE?6�7<=:=YS���



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#�����+�,���

�-./0-12134�556���7���8���9�:;�����<���:�����8:�=���>��?@A�BCDEFGBECF�GHFAAI�EC�BCJKLM�NOE@�E@A�FAPQOFAJADEI�CR�ST�UVWVXV�Y�Z[\]�̂_̀a�N@OB@�IEGEAI�E@A�bA_AFGL�KCLOBM�E@GE�E@A�AL_AFLM�GD_�KAFICDI�NOE@�_OIGcOLOEOAI�@GdA�E@A�IGJA�FOH@E�GI�CE@AF�KAFICDI�EC�QIA�JGII�EFGDIKCFEGEOCD�IAFdOBA�GD_�RGBOLOEOAIa�GD_�E@GE�IKABOGL�ARRCFEI�I@GLL�cA�JG_A�OD�KLGDDODH�GD_�_AIOHDODH�E@CIA�IAFdOBAI�GD_�RGBOLOEOAI�EC�OJKLAJADE�E@GE�KCLOBMV�?@A�BCDEFGBECF�GLIC�GHFAAI�EC�BCJKLM�NOE@�GLL�GKKLOBGcLA�FAPQOFAJADEI�CR�IABEOCD�Z\S�CR�E@A�eA@GcOLOEGEOCD�fBE�CR�]Tg[a�GI�GJAD_A_a�hT�UVWVXV�Y�gTSa�N@OB@�KFC@OcOEI�_OIBFOJODGEOCD�CD�E@A�cGIOI�CR�@GD_OBGKIa�NOE@�E@A�fJAFOBGDI�NOE@�iOIGcOLOEOAI�fBE�CR�]TT\�̂fif̀a�GI�GJAD_A_a�Sh�UVWVXV�YY�]h]\]�AE�IAPVa�N@OB@�FAPQOFAI�E@GE�GBBAIIOcLA�RGBOLOEOAI�GD_�IAFdOBAI�cA�JG_A�GdGOLGcLA�EC�KAFICDI�NOE@�_OIGcOLOEOAIa�ODBLQ_ODH�GDM�IQcIAPQADE�GJAD_JADEI�EC�E@GE�fBEa�GD_�NOE@�E@A�fFB@OEABEQFGL�jGFFOAFI�GBE�CR�]Tkla�GI�GJAD_A_a�Sh�UVWVXV�YY�S]Z]�AE�IAPVa�N@OB@�FAPQOFAI�E@GE�cQOL_ODHI�GD_�KQcLOB�GBBCJJC_GEOCDI�cA�GBBAIIOcLA�EC�KAFICDI�NOE@�_OIGcOLOEOAIa�ODBLQ_ODH�GDM�IQcIAPQADE�GJAD_JADEI�EC�E@GE�fBEV�mD�G__OEOCDa�E@A�BCDEFGBECF�GHFAAI�EC�BCJKLM�NOE@�GDM�GD_�GLL�GKKLOBGcLA�FAPQOFAJADEI�OIIQA_�cM�E@A�b?fa�in?a�inoa�UVWV�pWfa�UVWV�qqnXa�UVWV�bXXa�GDM�IQcIAPQADE�GJAD_JADEI�E@AFAEC�GD_�GDM�CE@AF�DCD_OIBFOJODGEOCD�IEGEQEÂÌ�E@GE�JGM�GKKLM�EC�E@A�rFCsABEV��5t6���<u����:�v�	<<u�w��7��7�:��XCDEFGBECFI�N@C�GKKLM�CF�cO_�RCF�GD�GNGF_�CR�x]\\a\\\�CF�JCFA�I@GLL�ROLA�E@A�FAPQOFA_�BAFEOROBGEOCDV�qGB@�EOAF�BAFEOROAI�EC�E@A�EOAF�GcCdA�E@GE�OE�NOLL�DCE�GD_�@GI�DCE�QIA_�bA_AFGL�GKKFCKFOGEA_�RQD_I�EC�KGM�GDM�KAFICD�CF�CFHGDOyGEOCD�RCF�ODRLQADBODH�CF�GEEAJKEODH�EC�ODRLQADBA�GD�CRROBAF�CF�AJKLCMAA�CR�GDM�GHADBMa�G�JAJcAF�CR�XCDHFAIIa�CRROBAF�CF�AJKLCMAA�CR�XCDHFAIIa�CF�GD�AJKLCMAA�CR�G�JAJcAF�CR�XCDHFAII�OD�BCDDABEOCD�NOE@�CcEGODODH�GDM�bA_AFGL�BCDEFGBEa�HFGDEa�CF�GDM�CE@AF�GNGF_�BCdAFA_�cM�[]�UVWVXV�Y�][ZhV�qGB@�EOAF�I@GLL�GLIC�_OIBLCIA�GDM�LCccMODH�NOE@�DCDRA_AFGL�RQD_I�E@GE�EGzAI�KLGBA�OD�BCDDABEOCD�NOE@�CcEGODODH�GDM�bA_AFGL�GNGF_V�WQB@�_OIBLCIQFAI�GFA�{|}~�}����{}|�����}��|����}�����|��������������� 5�6�	�w	
��7�:�	<��w�:�	�:	�:;�������:�����?@A�fHADBM�GD_�XCDEFGBECF�GBzDCNLA_HA�GD_�GHFAA�E@GEa�DCENOE@IEGD_ODH�GDM�BCDBQFFADBA�cM�E@A�bA_AFGL�pCdAFDJADE�OD�CF�GKKFCdGL�CR�E@A�ICLOBOEGEOCD�CF�GNGF_�CR�E@A�QD_AFLMODH�XCDEFGBEa�GcIADE�E@A�A�KFAII�NFOEEAD�BCDIADE�cM�E@A�bA_AFGL�pCdAFDJADEa�E@A�bA_AFGL�pCdAFDJADE�OI�DCE�G�KGFEM�EC�E@OI�XCDEFGBE�GD_�I@GLL�DCE�cA�IQcsABE�EC�GDM�CcLOHGEOCDI�CF�LOGcOLOEOAI�EC�E@A�fHADBMa�XCDEFGBECF�CF�GDM�CE@AF�KGFEM�̂N@AE@AF�CF�DCE�G�KGFEM�EC�E@GE�BCDEFGBÈ�KAFEGODODH�EC�GDM�JGEEAF�FAIQLEODH�RFCJ�E@A�QD_AFLMODH�XCDEFGBEV�?@A�XCDEFGBECF�GHFAAI�EC�ODBLQ_A�E@A�GcCdA�BLGQIA�OD�AGB@�IQcBCDEFGBE�RODGDBA_�OD�N@CLA�CF�OD�KGFE�NOE@�bA_AFGL�GIIOIEGDBA�KFCdO_A_�cM�E@A�b?fV�mE�OI�RQFE@AF�GHFAA_�E@GE�E@A�BLGQIA�I@GLL�DCE�cA�JC_OROA_a�A�BAKE�EC�O_ADEORM�E@A�IQcBCDEFGBECF�N@C�NOLL�cA�IQcsABE�EC�OEI�KFCdOIOCDIV�� 556����<���:��:�w��?@A�CKAFGECF�CR�E@A�cQIE�EAIEODH�RGBOLOEM�OI�FAPQOFA_�EC�KFCdO_A�E@A�FAIQLEODH�EAIE�FAKCFE�EC�E@A�ADEOEM�E@GE�IQcJOEI�E@A�cQI�RCF�EAIEODHV��?@A�JGDQRGBEQFAF�CF�_AGLAF�CR�G�DAN�cQI�



� ��������������� ����������	
���	���

�����������������������������  !����"�#������#�����$��%&�''�%%(�)(*�!'� ��*#��+��,�-���

�./01.23245�6789:�7;�<�=>?�@;78>A98�BCDE�<�6<F7;�AE<GH9�CG�A76@7G9GD�7;�A7GICH>;<DC7G�C?�;9J>C;98�D7�@;7KC89�<�A7@L�7I�DE9�A7;;9?@7G8CGH�I>::�=>?�D9?DCGH�;9@7;D�<G8�<GL�<@@:CA<=:9�@<;DC<:�D9?DCGH�;9@7;DM?N�D7�DE9�OH9GAL�8>;CGH�DE9�@7CGD�CG�DE9�@;7A>;969GD�@;7A9??�?@9ACIC98�=L�DE9�OH9GALP�=>D�CG�<::�A<?9?�=9I7;9�ICG<:�<AA9@D<GA9�7I�DE9�IC;?D�=>?�=L�DE9�OH9GALQ��RE9�A76@:9D9�=>?�D9?DCGH�;9@7;D�;9J>C;969GD?�<;9�@;7KC89�CG�ST�UQVQWQ�X�YYZQ[[Q��\]̂�_��̀	��������_����ab���c�d���RE9�A7GD;<AD7;�<H;99?e�� <Q�D7�>?9�@;CK<D9:L�7BG98�fGCD98�gD<D9?hV:<H�A7669;AC<:�K9??9:?�D7�?EC@�<D�:9<?D�Zi�@9;A9GD�7I�DE9�H;7??�D7GG<H9�MA76@>D98�?9@<;<D9:L�I7;�8;L�=>:j�A<;;C9;?P�8;L�A<;H7�:CG9;?P�<G8�D<Gj9;?N�CGK7:K98P�BE9G9K9;�?EC@@CGH�<GL�9J>C@69GDP�6<D9;C<:P�7;�A76678CDC9?�@>;?><GD�D7�DE9�>G89;:LCGH�A7GD;<AD�D7�DE9�9kD9GD�?>AE�K9??9:?�<;9�<K<C:<=:9�<D�I<C;�<G8�;9<?7G<=:9�;<D9?�I7;�fGCD98�gD<D9?hV:<H�A7669;AC<l�mnoonlop��=Q�D7�I>;GC?E�BCDECG�qi�B7;jCGH�8<L?�I7::7BCGH�DE9�8<D9�7I�:7<8CGH�I7;�?EC@69GD?�7;CHCG<DCGH�BCDECG�DE9�fGCD98�gD<D9?�7;�BCDECG�ri�B7;jCGH�8<L?�I7::7BCGH�DE9�8<D9�7I�:7<8CGH�I7;�?EC@69GD?�7;CHCG<DCGH�7>D?C89�DE9�fGCD98�gD<D9?P�<�:9HC=:9�A7@L�7I�<�;<D98P�s7G=7<;8s�A7669;AC<:�7A9<G�=C::h7Ih:<8CGH�CG�tGH:C?E�I7;�9<AE�?EC@69GD�7I�A<;H7�89?A;C=98�CG�DE9�@;9A98CGH�@<;<H;<@E�D7�DE9�uCKC?C7G�7I�v<DC7G<:�U<;H7P�wIICA9�7I�x<;j9D�u9K9:7@69GDP�x<;CDC69�O86CGC?D;<DC7GP�y<?ECGHD7GP�uU�qiZTi�<G8�D7�DE9�VRO�W9AC@C9GD�MDE;7>HE�DE9�A7GD;<AD7;�CG�DE9�A<?9�7I�<�?>=A7GD;<AD7;z?�=C::h7Ihl{|}~���p�{~|��AQ���D7�CGA:>89�DE9?9�;9J>C;969GD?�CG�<::�?>=A7GD;<AD?�C??>98�@>;?><GD�D7�DEC?�A7GD;<AD�BE9G�DE9���?>=A7GD;<AD�6<L�CGK7:K9�DE9�D;<G?@7;D�7I�9J>C@69GDP�6<D9;C<:P�7;�A76678CDC9?�=L�7A9<G�K9??9:Q��\�̂���������������	�d�����
�����b��d��	���	���̀ ��d	_���b�_�������RE9�U7GD;<AD7;�<H;99?�D7�A76@:L�BCDE�ST�fQgQUQ�X�ZrqrM6N�<G8�VROz?�C6@:969GDCGH�;9H>:<DC7G�<D�ST�UQVQWQ�@<;D�YYrQ�RE9�U7GD;<AD7;�?E<::�A76@:L�BCDE�DE9��>L�O69;CA<�A9;DCICA<DC7GM?N�?>=6CDD98�BCDE�CD?�@;7@7?<:�=C8Q�RE9�U7GD;<AD7;�<H;99?�D7�@<;DCAC@<D9�<G8�A77@9;<D9�CG�<GL�@;9h<B<;8�<G8�@7?Dh89:CK9;L�<>8CD?�@9;I7;698�@>;?><GD�D7�ST�UQVQWQ�@<;D�YYr�<G8�;9:<D98�VRO�H>C8<GA9Q���� ��



� ��������������� ������������	
����������	���	�	��
	��������������������	�����

��� !"!#$#!�%�&�'��()*++,-./� 01$! $2 3��% !%3�$#��4##56'77$558$98:�17� )$:3�/;��<�=-��

>���������
�?@ABCD�EFG�HGAIJAKLCMG�JI�EFBN�MJCEALMEO�EFG�MJCEALMEJAO�IJA�BENGPIO�BEN�LNNBDCGGNO�LCQ�N@MMGNNJAN�BC�BCEGAGNE�RFGAGBCLIEGA�AGIGAAGQ�EJ�LN�EFG�SMJCEALMEJAST�LDAGGN�LN�IJPPJUNV���W�X����	�����Y	
Z�[�\���
	���]�̂FG�MJCEALMEJA�RFGAGBCLIEGA�BCMP@QGN�MJCN@PELCENT�UBPP�MJKHP_�UBEF�EFG�̀MEN�LCQ�EFG�aGD@PLEBJCN�AGPLEBbG�EJ�cJCdQBNMABKBCLEBJC�BC�eGQGALPP_dLNNBNEGQ�HAJDALKN�JI�EFG�fghg�?GHLAEKGCE�JI�ÂLCNHJAELEBJCO�EFG�ijkjlmn�opqrsmt�ukvpwpxylmypzw{�LN�EFG_�KL_�|G�LKGCQGQ�IAJK�EBKG�EJ�EBKGO�UFBMF�LAG�FGAGBC�BCMJAHJALEGQ�|_�AGIGAGCMG�LCQ�KLQG�L�HLAE�JI�EFBN�MJCEALMEg��}W������	���	�	��
	��]�̂FG�MJCEALMEJAO�UBEF�AGDLAQ�EJ�EFG�UJA~�HGAIJAKLCMG�|_�BE�Q@ABCD�EFG�MJCEALMEO�UBPP�CJE�QBNMABKBCLEG�JC�EFG�DAJ@CQN�JI�ALMGO�MJPJAO�JA�CLEBJCLP�JABDBC�BC�EFG�NGPGMEBJC�LCQ�AGEGCEBJC�JI�N@|MJCEALMEJANO�BCMP@QBCD�HAJM@AGKGCEN�JI�KLEGABLPN�LCQ�PGLNGN�JI�G�@BHKGCEg�̂FG�MJCEALMEJA�UBPP�CJE�HLAEBMBHLEG�QBAGMEP_�JA�BCQBAGMEP_�BC�EFG�QBNMABKBCLEBJC�HAJFB|BEGQ�|_�EFG�̀MEN�LCQ�EFG�aGD@PLEBJCNO�BCMP@QBCD�GKHPJ_KGCE�HALMEBMGN�UFGC�EFG�MJCEALME�MJbGAN�LC_�LMEBbBE_O�HAJ�GMEO�JA�HAJDALK�NGE�IJAEF�BC�̀HHGCQB����JI�����ea��LAE���g���W����	�	
�
	��������������
���
���������	�\�>���������
�������
��	�����������	����
]��C�LPP�NJPBMBELEBJCNO�GBEFGA�|_�MJKHGEBEBbG�|BQQBCDO�JA�CGDJEBLEBJC�KLQG�|_�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�IJA�UJA~�EJ�|G�HGAIJAKGQ�@CQGA�L�N@|MJCEALMEO�BCMP@QBCD�HAJM@AGKGCEN�JI�KLEGABLPNO�JA�PGLNGN�JI�G�@BHKGCEO�GLMF�HJEGCEBLP�N@|MJCEALMEJA�JA�N@HHPBGA�UBPP�|G�CJEBIBGQ�|_�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�JI�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�N�J|PBDLEBJCN�@CQGA�EFBN�MJCEALME�LCQ�EFG�̀MEN�LCQ�aGD@PLEBJCN�AGPLEBbG�EJ�cJCdQBNMABKBCLEBJC�JC�EFG�DAJ@CQN�JI�ALMGO�MJPJAO�JA�CLEBJCLP�JABDBCg���W��������
	�������[����
�]�̂FG�MJCEALMEJA�UBPP�HAJbBQG�LPP�BCIJAKLEBJC�LCQ�AGHJAEN�AG�@BAGQ�|_�EFG�̀MENO�EFG�aGD@PLEBJCNO�LCQ�QBAGMEBbGN�BNN@GQ�H@AN@LCE�EFGAGEJ�LCQ�UBPP�HGAKBE�LMMGNN�EJ�BEN�|JJ~NO�AGMJAQNO�LMMJ@CENO�JEFGA�NJ@AMGN�JI�BCIJAKLEBJCO�LCQ�BEN�ILMBPBEBGN�LN�KL_�|G�QGEGAKBCGQ�|_�EFG�aGMBHBGCE�JA�EFG�ijkjlmn�opqrsmt�ukvpwpxylmypzw�EJ�|G�HGAEBCGCE�EJ�LNMGAELBC�MJKHPBLCMG�UBEF�N@MF�̀MENO�aGD@PLEBJCNO�LCQ�BCNEA@MEBJCNg��FGAG�LC_�BCIJAKLEBJC�AG�@BAGQ�JI�L�MJCEALMEJA�BN�BC�EFG�G�MP@NBbG�HJNNGNNBJC�JI�LCJEFGA�UFJ�ILBPN�JA�AGI@NGN�EJ�I@ACBNF�EFG�BCIJAKLEBJCO�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�UBPP�NJ�MGAEBI_�EJ�EFG�aGMBHBGCE�JA�EFG�ijkjlmn�opqrsmt�ukvpwpxylmypzw{�LN�LHHAJHABLEGO�LCQ�UBPP�NGE�IJAEF�UFLE�GIIJAEN�BE�FLN�KLQG�EJ�J|ELBC�EFG�BCIJAKLEBJCg���W�����
	����������������	����]��C�EFG�GbGCE�JI�L�MJCEALMEJA�N�CJCMJKHPBLCMG�UBEF�EFG�cJCdQBNMABKBCLEBJC�HAJbBNBJCN�JI�EFBN�MJCEALMEO�EFG�aGMBHBGCE�UBPP�BKHJNG�N@MF�MJCEALME�NLCMEBJCN�LN�BE�JA�EFG�ijkjlmn�opqrsmt�ukvpwpxylmypzw�OKL_�QGEGAKBCG�EJ�|G�LHHAJHABLEGO�BCMP@QBCDO�|@E�CJE�PBKBEGQ�EJV��Lg� UBEFFJPQBCD�HL_KGCEN�EJ�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�@CQGA�EFG�MJCEALME�@CEBP�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�MJKHPBGN��LCQ�JA�|g� MLCMGPPBCDO�EGAKBCLEBCDO�JA�N@NHGCQBCD�L�MJCEALMEO�BC�UFJPG�JA�BC�HLAEg���W����������
	������>���	�	���]�̂FG�MJCEALMEJA�UBPP�BCMP@QG�EFG�HAJbBNBJCN�JI�HLALDALHFN�JCG�EFAJ@DF�NB��BC�GbGA_�N@|MJCEALMEO�BCMP@QBCD�HAJM@AGKGCEN�JI�KLEGABLPN�LCQ�PGLNGN�JI�G�@BHKGCEO�@CPGNN�G�GKHE�|_�EFG�̀MENO�EFG�aGD@PLEBJCN�LCQ�QBAGMEBbGN�BNN@GQ�H@AN@LCE�EFGAGEJg�̂FG�MJCEALMEJA�UBPP�EL~G�LMEBJC�UBEF�AG�@GNE�EJ�LC_�N@|MJCEALME�JA�HAJM@AGKGCE�LN�EFG�aGMBHBGCE�JA�EFG�ijkjlmn�opqrsmt�ukvpwpxylmypzw�KL_�QBAGME�LN�L�KGLCN�JI�GCIJAMBCD�N@MF�HAJbBNBJCN�BCMP@QBCD�NLCMEBJCN�IJA�CJCMJKHPBLCMGg��AJbBQGQO�EFLE�	��EFG�MJCEALMEJA�|GMJKGN�BCbJPbGQ�BCO�JA�BN�EFAGLEGCGQ�UBEF�PBEBDLEBJC�|_�L�N@|MJCEALMEJA�JA�N@HHPBGA�|GML@NG�JI�N@MF�QBAGMEBJCO�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�KL_�AG�@GNE�EFG�aGMBHBGCE�EJ�GCEGA�BCEJ�LC_�PBEBDLEBJC�EJ�HAJEGME�EFG�BCEGAGNEN�JI�EFG�aGMBHBGCEg��C�LQQBEBJCO�EFG�MJCEALMEJA�KL_�AG�@GNE�EFG�fCBEGQ�hELEGN�EJ�GCEGA�BCEJ�EFG�PBEBDLEBJC�EJ�HAJEGME�EFG�BCEGAGNEN�JI�EFG�fCBEGQ�hELEGNg�



� ��������������� ������������	
����������	���	�	��
	��������������������	�����

��� !"!#$#!�%�&�'��()*++,-./� 01$! $2 3��% !%3�$#��4##56'77$558$98:�17� )$:3�/,��;�<-��

=���������
�>?@ABC�DEF�GF@HI@JKBLF�IH�DEAM�LIBD@KLDN�DEF�LIBD@KLDI@N�HI@�ADMFOHN�ADM�KMMACBFFMN�KBP�M?LLFMMI@M�AB�ABDF@FMD�QEF@FABKHDF@�@FHF@@FP�DI�KM�DEF�RLIBD@KLDI@RS�KC@FFM�DI�LIJGOT�UADE�DEF�HIOOIUABC�BIBVPAML@AJABKDAIB�MDKD?DFM�KBP�K?DEI@ADAFMW�ABLO?PABC�X?D�BID�OAJADFP�DIY��=��
	���
������	���	�	��
	�����
Z��	
	��[�\�]ADOF�̂_�IH�DEF�̀AaAO�bACEDM�cLD�IH�defg�Qgh�ijkj̀j�l�hmmmP�no�pnqrs�tu�MDKDj�hvhSN�QG@IEAXADM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�IB�DEF�XKMAM�IH�@KLFN�LIOI@N�BKDAIBKO�I@ACABSY�KBP�ge�̀wb�xK@D�hdj��\�]EF�iBAHI@J�bFOILKDAIB�cMMAMDKBLF�KBP�bFKO�x@IGF@DT�cLy?AMADAIB�xIOALAFM�cLD�IH�detmN�Qgh�ijkj̀j�l�gfmdSN�QG@IEAXADM�?BHKA@�D@FKDJFBD�IH�GF@MIBM�PAMGOKLFP�I@�UEIMF�G@IGF@DT�EKM�XFFB�KLy?A@FP�XFLK?MF�IH�wFPF@KO�I@�wFPF@KOVKAP�G@IC@KJM�KBP�G@IzFLDMSW��\�wFPF@KOVcAP�{ACEUKT�cLD�IH�det|N�Qh|�ijkj̀j�l�|hg�nopnqr}s�QG@IEAXADM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�IB�DEF�XKMAM�IH�MF~SW��\�kFLDAIB�vmg�IH�DEF�bFEKXAOADKDAIB�cLD�IH�det|N�Qhe�ijkj̀j�l�teg�no�pnqr}s�KM�KJFBPFPN�QG@IEAXADM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�IB�DEF�XKMAM�IH�PAMKXAOADTSW�KBP�ge�̀wb�xK@D�htW��\�]EF�cCF�>AML@AJABKDAIB�cLD�IH�detvN�KM�KJFBPFPN�Qgh�ijkj̀j�l�fdmd�no�pnqr}s�QG@IEAXADM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�IB�DEF�XKMAM�IH�KCFSW��\��cA@GI@D�KBP�cA@UKT�_JG@IaFJFBD�cLD�IH�deuhN�Qge�ik̀�l�gtdN�kFLDAIB�gtdh|SN�KM�KJFBPFPN�QG@IEAXADM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�XKMFP�IB�@KLFN�L@FFPN�LIOI@N�BKDAIBKO�I@ACABN�I@�MF~SW��\�]EF�̀AaAO�bACEDM�bFMDI@KDAIB�cLD�IH�deutN�Qx��dmmVhmeSN�Q�@IKPFBFP�DEF�MLIGFN�LIaF@KCF�KBP�KGGOALKXAOADT�IH�]ADOF�̂_�IH�DEF�̀AaAO�bACEDM�cLD�IH�defgN�]EF�cCF�>AML@AJABKDAIB�cLD�IH�detv�KBP�kFLDAIB�vmg�IH�DEF�bFEKXAOADKDAIB�cLD�IH�det|N�XT�F~GKBPABC�DEF�PFHABADAIB�IH�DEF�DF@JM�RG@IC@KJM�I@�KLDAaADAFMR�DI�ABLO?PF�KOO�IH�DEF�G@IC@KJM�I@�KLDAaADAFM�IH�DEF�wFPF@KOVKAP�@FLAGAFBDMN�M?XV@FLAGAFBDM�KBP�LIBD@KLDI@MN�UEFDEF@�M?LE�G@IC@KJM�I@�KLDAaADAFM�K@F�wFPF@KOOT�H?BPFP�I@�BIDSW��\�]ADOFM�__�KBP�___�IH�DEF�cJF@ALKBM�UADE�>AMKXAOADAFM�cLDN�UEALE�G@IEAXAD�PAML@AJABKDAIB�IB�DEF�XKMAM�IH�PAMKXAOADT�AB�DEF�IGF@KDAIB�IH�G?XOAL�FBDADAFMN�G?XOAL�KBP�G@AaKDF�D@KBMGI@DKDAIB�MTMDFJMN�GOKLFM�IH�G?XOAL�KLLIJJIPKDAIBN�KBP�LF@DKAB�DFMDABC�FBDADAFM�Qgh�ijkj̀j�ll�dhd|dVdhdueS�KM�AJGOFJFBDFP�XT�>FGK@DJFBD�IH�]@KBMGI@DKDAIB�@FC?OKDAIBM�KD�ge�̀jwjbj�GK@DM�|t�KBP�|uW��\�]EF�wFPF@KO�caAKDAIB�cPJABAMD@KDAIB�M��IBVPAML@AJABKDAIB�MDKD?DF�Qge�ijkj̀j�l�gtdh|S�QG@IEAXADM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�IB�DEF�XKMAM�IH�@KLFN�LIOI@N�BKDAIBKO�I@ACABN�KBP�MF~SW��\��~FL?DAaF��@PF@�dhueuN�wFPF@KO�cLDAIBM�DI�cPP@FMM��BaA@IBJFBDKO��?MDALF�AB��ABI@ADT�xIG?OKDAIBM�KBP��IUV�_BLIJF�xIG?OKDAIBMN�UEALE�FBM?@FM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�KCKABMD�JABI@ADT�GIG?OKDAIBM�XT�PAMLI?@KCABC�G@IC@KJMN�GIOALAFMN�KBP�KLDAaADAFM�UADE�PAMG@IGI@DAIBKDFOT�EACE�KBP�KPaF@MF�E?JKB�EFKODE�I@�FBaA@IBJFBDKO�FHHFLDM�IB�JABI@ADT�KBP�OIUVABLIJF�GIG?OKDAIBMW��\��~FL?DAaF��@PF@�d|dffN�_JG@IaABC�cLLFMM�DI�kF@aALFM�HI@�xF@MIBM�UADE��AJADFP��BCOAME�x@IHALAFBLTN�KBP�@FM?ODABC�KCFBLT�C?APKBLFN�BKDAIBKO�I@ACAB�PAML@AJABKDAIB�ABLO?PFM�PAML@AJABKDAIB�XFLK?MF�IH�OAJADFP��BCOAME�G@IHALAFBLT�Q��xSj�]I�FBM?@F�LIJGOAKBLF�UADE�]ADOF�̂_N�TI?�J?MD�DK�F�@FKMIBKXOF�MDFGM�DI�FBM?@F�DEKD���x�GF@MIBM�EKaF�JFKBABCH?O�KLLFMM�DI�TI?@�G@IC@KJM�Qtm�wFPj�bFCj�KD�tgmut�DI�tgdmmSW��\�]ADOF�_��IH�DEF��P?LKDAIB�cJFBPJFBDM�IH�dethN�KM�KJFBPFPN�UEALE�G@IEAXADM�TI?�H@IJ�PAML@AJABKDABC�XFLK?MF� IH� MF~� AB� FP?LKDAIB� G@IC@KJM� I@� KLDAaADAFM� Qhm� ijkj̀j� dfut� FDj� MFySj



�
��������

� ������
����������� 	
����������������

�����������������
� � ��

 !"!#$#!�%�&�'��()*++,-.
/�

01$! $2 3��% !%3�$#�� 4##56'77$558$98:�17�
)$:3�/.��;�<-�

�����������
� =>?@�AB>?C?D�EFDG?HA@�D>A�IEH

DAHD�JAKF?JAL�MEJ�D>A�KFNJ
DAJGO�F@NPA�JAQEJDR�S@NPA

�JAQEJD@�T?GG�CA�@FCU?DDAL
�DE�D>A�NQQJEQJ?NDA�VJEIF

JAUAHD�WMM?IAJ�?H�NIIEJLN
HIA�T?D>�D>A�

JAKF?JAUAHD@�@Q AI?M?AL�?H
�XQAI?NG�=AJU@�NHL�YEHL

?D?EH@R�=>A�ZAQNJDUAHD�JA
@AJ[A@�D>A�J?P>D�DE�UN\A�N

LL?D?EH@]�LAGAD?EH@�NHL�I>
NHPA@�N@�LAAUAL�HAIA@@N

JOR�
�

�
��

_̂̀abcdef�g_bdahi��
�

�
��

�
�

jaecbklc�mnojah_i�
�

jaecklc�pkq_i��
rsc_bekc_�jaecklc�pkq_i

��
jaecbklc� tku_son_vlbd̀cdaei�

�
jaecklc�gwae_� pxqu_bi��

rsc_bekc_�jaecklc�gwae_� pxqu_bi�
�

jaecbklcabi�
�

jaecklc�yqkdsi��
rsc_bekc_�jaecklc�yqkdsi�

�
jaecbklcab�rhhb_vvi�

�
��

�
�

�
�

��
�

�
� rf_elzo{bfo|edc�jxvca

q_b� pkq_�n_sd}_bz�rhhb
_vv�g{�pxqu_b� ab�mh_ecd~z�kv� ���������{bh_b� nkc_�jaecbklc� mc_q� pxqu_b�jaecbklc�mc_q� n_vlbd̀cdae��xkecd

cz�|edc�a~� �_kvxb_�jaecbklc� |edc� gbdl_�jaecbklc� y�c_eh_h� gbdl_�me}adl_� pxqu_b�
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��
��

��
���

���
��

��
��

���
���

��



� ��������������� �����������	
�������
�����������
������	
��	����
��������������	
��

�������������������� !""#$%&� '(����)�*������*�����+��,-�..�,,/�0/1�(.�  �1*�&2��3�4$��

�567859:9;<�=>?@ABCDEFGDHI�JKHLMNODHPO�HDQRSTUVUWAX�SW�Y?VZ[S\WYU�]SÂ�ÂU�_ÙUT\[�TUQRSTUVUWA@�?_�ab�cdedfd�eUYAS?W�ghih=Vjj��	
�������
�����������
������	
��	����
��������������	
��k�6llm;n��<67o��567859:9;<p�q65�:659�<rs;�tu�v9rm7l9p�q65�s59sp�wxuuyuuu�m;�z6z8ls<m6;{��|@�TUQRSTÙ�}~�ab�f���>\TA���heR}Z\TA�fX�ÂU���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������DLFJFD��PO��N�D��fUTAS_SU@�Â\A�\�TU@S̀UWA�SW@ZUYA?TX�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������=�\VU�?_�SW@ZUYA?Tj��\@�\A���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������MD��N�K�NL�KHDHPO���V\WR_\YARTSW��@SAU�̀RTSW��ÂU�ZUTS?̀�?_�V\WR_\YARTU�?_�ÂU�}R@U@X��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������=̀U@YTSZAS?W�?_�}R@U@jd���̂U�SW@ZUYA?T��S@R\[[~�SW@ZUYASW��ÂU�}R@U@X�ÂU�������������������������������������������=ÂU�TUYSZSUWAj�̂\@�TU�SU]Ù�ÂU�SW@ZUYAS?W�̀?YRVUWA\AS?WX�V\SWA\SW@�\�Y?Z~�?_�ÂS@�TUZ?TAX�\Ẁ�YUTAS_SU@�Â\A�ÂU�}R@U@�VUUA�ÂU�Y?WAT\YA�@ZUYS_SY\AS?W@d��	
�������
�����������
������	
��	����
��������������	
��k�6llm;n��<67o��567859:9;<p�q65�:659�<rs;�xu�v9rm7l9p�q65�s59sp���xuuyuuu�m;�z6z8ls<m6;{��|@�TUQRSTÙ�}~�ab�f���>\TA���h�eR}Z\TA�fX�ÂU���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������DLFJFD��PO��N�D��fUTAS_SU@�Â\A�\�TU@S̀UWA�SW@ZUYA?TX�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������=�\VU�?_�SW@ZUYA?Tj��\@�\A���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������MD��N�K�NL�KHDHPO���V\WR_\YARTSW��@SAU�̀RTSW��ÂU�ZUTS?̀�?_�V\WR_\YARTU�?_�ÂU�}R@U@X��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������=̀U@YTSZAS?W�?_�}R@U@jd��̂U�SW@ZUYA?T��S@R\[[~�SW@ZUYASW��ÂU�}R@U@X�ÂU�������������������������������������������������������=ÂU�TUYSZSUWAj�̂\@�TU�SU]Ù�ÂU�SW@ZUYAS?W�?̀YRVUWA\AS?WX�V\SWA\SW@�\�Y?Z~�?_�ÂS@�TUZ?TAX�\Ẁ�YUTAS_SU@�Â\A�ÂU�}R@U@�VUUA�ÂU�Y?WAT\YA�@ZUYS_SY\AS?W@d��eS�W\ARTU����������������������������������������������������\AU�������������������������SA[U�������������������������������������������������������������������������������



� ��������������� �����������	
����
��������������
������������

��������������������� !!"#$%� &'����(�)������)�����*��+,�--�++.�/.0�'-� ��0)�%%��1�2#��

	345637879:�

������������



� ��������������� ����������������	
���������	����������
�����������������������

�������������� �!��"#$%%&'()� *+����,�-������-�����.��/0!11�//2�324�+1� #�4-�)5��6�5'��

	789:7;<;=>�

������



� ��������������� ����������	
���������	�����������
�����������������������

�������������� �!��"#$%%&'()� *+����,�-������-�����.��/0!11�//2�324�+1� #�4-�)5��6�7'��

	89:;8<=<>?�

���� ���������������



� ��������������� ����������	
���������	�����������
�����������������������

�������������� �!��"#$%%&'()� *+����,�-������-�����.��/0!11�//2�324�+1� #�4-�5%��6�5'��

	789:7;<;=>��

����



� ��������������� ����������	
���������	�����������
�����������������������

������������� �!��"#$%%&'()� *+����,�-������-����.��/0!11�//2�324�+1� #�4-�5'��6�5'��

	789:7;<;=>�

�



������������������������	
��� ���������������������������������������������� !"#$��%&''%(�����))���*#'$+,(����-.))��/)0���0��0���� �#1+ +%�%+#$��2'$32'$%��422�&5���67���������8�9��)):�.�� �������������8���$'�;�<����7�����8��'=�>'*+ 1'"��4& *�"'��

?�@A�BCDEBEB��

���F�G	
�
��
H��I	JK����L	F
���
J�	F�
��MKK����FN�L
���OAPN�Q�RJ�J
G
J�	�S��	T��	
FN�
H��GU�@����K���	��T�F�RJ�J
G
J�	�FHGRR�U��G��	T�T�GF�K�RR�VFW�� ���XH��F�RJ�J
G
J�	�T���TG
��HGF�U��	��HG	Y�T�K����ZG	�G�[�\]N�EBEE�G
�̂WBB��_�_QX�
��ZG	�G�[�\̀N�EBEE�G
�̂WBB��_�_QXA��0��SRR��
H���
���FN���	TJ
J�	F�G	T�a��@JFJ�	F��K�
HJF�F�RJ�J
G
J�	����GJ	��	�HG	Y�TA�� ��� ���



������������������������	
��� ���������������������������������������������� !"#$��%&''%(�����))���*#'$+,(����-.))��/)0���0��0���� �#1+ +%�%+#$��2'$32'$%��422�&5���67���������8�9��)):�.�� �������������8���;#�<0=����7�����8��';�>'*+ 1'"��4& *�"'"��

?�@A�BCDEBEB��

���F�G	
�
��
H��I	JK����L	F
���
J�	F�
��MKK����FN�L
���OAPN�Q�RJ�J
G
J�	�S��	T��	
FN�
H��GU�@����K���	��T�F�RJ�J
G
J�	�FHGRR�U��G��	T�T�GF�K�RR�VFW�� ����X' +Y+ �%+#$"�ZH��K�RR�VJ	[�F��
J�	F�G���H���U\���TJKJ�T�
����GTW�� GA���&�]&�X*�0���̂ZH��Q
G
���K�S�J_�	G�̀�aG�
��	
��K�Z�G	Fa��
G
J�	�b̀�aG�
��	
c�JF�F��dJ	[�
����	
�G�
�VJ
H�G�e�GRJKJ�T�@�	T��bFc�VH���G	�a��@JT��	�V�@�HJ�R�F�bGRR�K��R�
\a�FN�H\U�JTN�G	T�K�RR��R��
�J�c�J	�R�TJ	[�U�
�	�
�RJ�J
�T�
�W�Q�TG	FN�Z���dF��a�
��fgNhBB�ijk?N�jG	FN�Qa��
�I
JRJ
\�j�HJ�R�F�bQIjFcN�G	T�l��FF�@��F�K���
H��Q
G
���K�S�J_�	G�G	T�aG�
J�JaG
J	[�mRJ[JUR��S[�	�J�FA�ZH�F��@�HJ�R�F�VJRR�U���F�T�
��F�aa��
��KKJ�JGR���[G	J_G
J�	GR�[�GRFA�ZH�F��@�HJ�R�F�VJRR�U���F�T��	�HJ[HVG\FN��J
\D���	
\���GTF�G	T�FHGRR�U��T�FJ[	�T�
���a��G
���	T���
\aJ�GR�S�J_�	G�G�UJ�	
�
��a��G
���FAn�UA���&�]&�X*������(���.����$3���.�0�JF�H���U\�����@�TA���A���&�]&�X*�:��W�̂ZH��l�	
�G�
��F�G����	����G[�T�
��a��@JT��G�K�RR�RJ	���K�	�V�@�HJ�R�F�b[GF�RJ	�N�H\U�JTN�K�RR��R��
�J�c�J	�R�TJ	[�U�
�	�
�RJ�J
�T�
��
H��K�RR�VJ	[��G
�[��J�FW�Q�TG	FN�Z���dF��a�
��fgNhBB�ijk?N�jG	F�b�G�[�N�aGFF�	[��N�
�G	FJ
N��
�AcN�Qa��
�I
JRJ
\�j�HJ�R�F�bQIjFcN�G	T�l��FF�@��FA�mRJ[JUR��S[�	�J�F�
H���[H��
�
H��Q
G
��VJRR�HG@��@G�\J	[�@�HJ�R��	��TFA�l�	
�G�
��F�G���
��a��@JT��G�K�RR�RJ	���K��G	�KG�
���T�	�V�@�HJ�R�F�G	T�GRR�F�UF�e��	
�@G�JG	
F��K��G�H�@�HJ�R�o�J	�R�TJ	[�U�
�	�
�U��RJ�J
�T�
�W���T�RF�G	T��G	�KG�
������a
J�	FN�
�J��aG�dG[�N��
�A�
�����
��G�H�	��T��K�G	�mRJ[JUR��S[�	�\An�TA���&�]&�X*�:�����JF�H���U\�����@�TA���A���&�]&�X*�:�:��8p�ZH��mRJ[JUR��S[�	�\��G\���e��F
�
H��GVG�T�T�l�	
�G�
��bFc�
���aqKJ
D��TJK\�G	\�@�HJ�R��K���Fa��JKJ����[G	J_G
J�	GR�	��TFA�r����sG�aR�N�
H���GU�G	T��HGFFJF��K�t�
�	N�u�
�	N�G	TD����a�
��fgNhBB�ijk�
���dF��G\���e�J���G�Fa��JGRJ_�T�U�T\�bJA�AW�T��a�U�T\N�RG	TF�Ga��U�T\N��
�AcA�M
H���@�HJ�R�F��G\���e�J���J	
��J���G	TD����s
��J�����TJKJ�G
J�	F�a���
H��J	TJ@JT�GR�mRJ[JUR��S[�	�\A�̂�KA���&�]&�X*�:�/��v�n�S	
JqFRJa�TJKK���	
JGR�K���
V�qVH��R�T�J@��aJ�d�a�
���dFN�u�
�	N��a�
��fgNhBB�ijkAn����� 0���X' +�1��'&2"��$3�7#$3+%+#$"��ZH��K�RR�VJ	[�F��
J�	F�G���H���U\���TJKJ�T�
����GTW�������&�]&�X*�����N�bGq[cW�̂�HGF��f�G	T�E�a�J�J	[�K���@�HJ�R�F�FHGRR�U��G��J	J���������	
G[���KK�wQ?�N�R�FF�
H���G	�KG�
��xyz{�yx|}~x{�G	T�G	\�GTTJ
J�	GR�TJF���	
F�G@GJRGUR��K���
HG
���T�RDa�V��q
�GJ	����UJ	G
J�	A�GA����~y}�~�y�{�}����y����x�}����������}���}�~�yxyz{�������x�~��~�x��y�xy����}�x�����a�	���e��F
����x��}���}�~�yxyz{�������x�{�}���|x���}�~xyx��~��������x��y����}���y�������y���~�x��G	�KG�
����A��



������������������������	
��� ���������������������������������������������� !"#$��%&''%(�����))���*#'$+,(����-.))��/)0���0��0���� �#1+ +%�%+#$��2'$32'$%��422�&5���67���������8�9��)):�.�� �������������8���*&''�;�<����7�����8��'=�>'*+ 1'"��4& *�"'"��

?�@A�BCDEBEB��

���F�G	
�
��
H��I	JK����L	F
���
J�	F�
��MKK����FN�L
���OAPN�Q�RJ�J
G
J�	�S��	T��	
FN�
H��GU�@����K���	��T�F�RJ�J
G
J�	�FHGRR�U��G��	T�T�GF�K�RR�VFW�� ����X' +Y+ �%+#$"�ZH��K�RR�VJ	[�F��
J�	F�G���H���U\���TJKJ�T�
����GTW�� GA���&�]&�X*���.�̂_����HGF��ZV��̀Ea�@�HJ�R�FN�
H��b�	
�G�
���FHGRR�F�ccR\�G�d��
��VJ
HJ	�KJ@��̀ea��GR�	TG��TG\F�GK
�������J@J	[�G���d��F
�K����
H��fRJ[JUR��S[�	�\A�ZH��d��
G
J�	�FHGRR�J	�R�T��U�
�	�
�U��RJ�J
�T�
��
H��K�RR�VJ	[�J	K���G
J�	W�Q
G
����	
�G�
�	��U��N�@�HJ�R��G@GJRGUJRJ
\�G	T�T�RJ@��\�R�GTg
J��N�h�HJ�R��LT�	
JKJ�G
J�	�i��U���̀hLiaN�T�GR���F
��j�	��U��N�@�HJ�R��UGF��UJT�c�J��N�J
��Jk�T��c
J�	FN�GccRJ�GUR��
GlN�T�RJ@��\���F
N�
�
GR�c�J��N�G	T�c�J	
��K���	
G�
A�_���@�HJ�R�F���d�J�J	[��cgKJ
D��TJKJ�G
J�	FN�GRR�GccRJ�GUR����F
��G\�U��J	�R�T�T�J	�d��
G
J�	����GF�G�F�cG�G
��d��
G
J�	Am��UA���&�]&�X*����)n�̂_����HGF��M	��̀oa�
H��b�	
�G�
���FHGRR�c��@JT��
H��fRJ[JUR��S[�	�\���cJ�F��K�
H���G	�KG�
����pF�@�HJ�R��JT�	
JKJ�G
J�	�	��U��F�̀hLiqa�
����	KJ���@�HJ�R�F�HG@��U��	���T���T��	R�FF�J�c�FFJUR��T���
���G	�KG�
����T�RG\�VJ
HJ	�	J	�
\�̀rBa��GR�	TG��TG\F�GK
�������Jc
��K�G�c���HGF����T��A�st�uvwtxyz{|xvw�vt�z{w}t{u|}y~y����s�������x��wv|�y~u~x�~���x|�xw�|�x��|xz~ty{z~�
H��fRJ[JUR��S[�	�\�HGF�
H���c
J�	�
��GVG�T�
��
H��F���	T�R�V�F
�UJTT������
J	[�Fc��JKJ�G
J�	FA�ZHJF�FHGRR�U����	FJT���T�G��G	TG
��\���d�J����	
�G	T�
H��
J��K�G�����F
�U����
��	R�FF�
H����JF�G��G	�KG�
����T�RG\A�_GJR����
��c��@JT��
HJF�T�����	
�K����G�H�@�HJ�R����T���T��G\�U���G�F��K���T�
���J	G
J�	��K�T�KG�R
��K���	
�G�
�m���0��SRR��
H���
���FN���	TJ
J�	F�G	T�c��@JFJ�	F��K�
HJF�F�RJ�J
G
J�	����GJ	��	�HG	[�TA��



������������������������	
��� ���������������������������������������������� !"#$��%&''%(�����))���*#'$+,(����-.))��/)0���0��0���� �#1+ +%�%+#$��2'$32'$%��422�&5���67���������8�9��)):�.�� �������������8���;#�<0=����7�����8��';�>'*+ 1'"��4& *�"'"��

?�@A�BCDEBEB��

FA��G�H	IJ��
H
K�	���I
I�
��
�H	IL���H�@�MK�N��L����H	�
M���O�HN���L���H��MHI��E����J���MHI��L����I
��P��HQ�F��HOO�O�
��
M����I
��L�
M��@�MK�N�A�GM��R�I
KLK�H
K�	�L���
MKI���I
�KI�H
�
M��OKI���
K�	��L�
M��SNKTKFN��UT�	�QA���A��U	Q���L���	���
���MHI��V�J�K�K	T�IMHNN�F��K	���L���	���
��@�MK�N�I���O���O�J�K���
��
M��LH�
��Q���
W�LL�OH
�A��OA��U	Q���L���	���
���MHI��E�J�K�K	T�IMHNN�F��K	���L���	���
��@�MK�N�I�J���MHI�O�L����I
��P����XYZ�[\]�̂Y[_̀���A���MHI��E�J�K�K	T�IMHNN�����K@��
M��IH�����I
���	IKO��H
K�	I�HI��MHI��V�J�K�K	Ta�HNN�OKI���	
I�H	O���FH
�I�IM��NO�F��JHII�O��	
��
M��SNKTKFN��UT�	�QA�LA�� UNN�@�MK�N�I�H���
��F��FKNN�O�H
�J�K��I�K	��LL��
�H
�
M��
K����L���O��a�	�
�
M��OH
���L�IMKJ��	
A��TA���K�K	T�L���@�MK�N�I�IMHNN�K	�N�O��HNN�OKI���	
I�H	O�O�O��
K�	Ia�N�II�b�O��HN�H	O�c
H
��
Hd�IA���K�K	T�IMHNN�F��LK���L���NKL���L���	
�H�
��	N�II�H��	O�O�FQ�eHQ��L���	
�H�
��MH	T����O��A�X��f����&�g&�h*�00�+"�*'&'f5�&'h1� '3�;+%*�%*'�i#11#;+$g8��XGM��j�	
�H�
���IMHNN�L��	KIM�Ge��kEl�mIHT����J��
Ia�
M��LK�I
�
��
M��n�JH�
��	
��	�H�o�H�
��NQ�FHIKI�IM�eK	T�J���MHIK	T�H�
K@K
Q��	O���
MKI���	
�H�
A��GMKI��IHT����J��
�IMHNN�F��J��@KO�O�K	�H�L����I�FI
H	
KHNNQ��o�K@HN�	
�
��SdMKFK
�BpA��mIHT����J��
I�IMHNN�F��I�F�K

�O�
��
M�����������	
�qLLK����	��NH
���
MH	�pB�OHQI�HL
���
M���	O��L��H�M�o�H�
��A�� mIHT����J��
�o�H�
��I�IMHNN�F��O�LK	�O�HI�L�NN�eIr�s�tH	�H�Q�
M���TM�uH��M�v�?�J��
�O���UJ�KN�pB�s�UJ�KN�
M���TM�t�	��v�?�J��
�O���t�NQ�pB�s�t�NQ�
M���TM�c�J
��F���v�?�J��
�O���q�
�F���pB�s�q�
�F���
M���TM�n����F���v�?�J��
�O���tH	�H�Q�pB��j�	
�H�
���IMHNN�I�F�K
�
M��I���	O�
��
M��c
H
��O�����	
K	T�HNN�j�	
�H�
�IHN�I�
��F�
M�SNKTKFN��UT�	�K�I�H	O�j�WqJ�w�Q��Ia�K
��Kx�O�I�JH�H
�NQA�U�yz{|}~|�����{�~��~��|}�IMHNN�I
KNN�F��I�F�K

�O���@�	�KL�
M����MH@��F��	�	��IHN�I�
���K
M���SNKTKFN��UT�	�K�I�H	OD���j�WqJ�w�Q��IA�j�	
�H�
���IMHNN�L��
M���K
��Kx��OK@KIK�	Ia�T���JI����H��HI�eK
MK	�H�TK@�	�SNKTKFN��UT�	�Q�KL�
M�Q�JNH���q�O��I�K	O�J�	O�	
NQ��L��H�M��
M��A�bHKN����
��I�F�K
�
M����J��
�KI�H��H
��KHN�F��H�M��L���	
�H�
a�H	O�eKNN��	
K
N��c
H
��
��K
I�����OK�I��	O���U�
K�N����H	O�K
I��KTM
�
��
���K	H
��L���O�LH�N
��	O���U�
K�N���A�j�	
�H�
���IMHNN�I�F�K
�
M����J��
��IK	T�
M��L���I�H	O�L�NN�eK	T�
M��K	I
���
K�	I��	�
M��c
H
�����������	
�qLLK���e�FIK
�r��� M

JIrDDIJ�AHxAT�@D��	
�H�
��W��I�����IDI
H
�eKO�W��	
�H�
IWHO�K	KI
�H
K@�WL��_��� ����&�g&�h*�0.r�j�W�J�HO�K	KI
�H
K@��L���MHI�M���FQ�F��	�����@�OA������



������������������������	
��� ���������������������������������������������� !"#$��%&''%(�����))���*#'$+,(����-.))��/)0���0��0���� �#1+ +%�%+#$��2'$32'$%��422�&5���67���������8�9��)):�.�� �������������8���;#�<0=����7�����8��';�>'*+ 1'"��4& *�"'"��

?�@A�BCDEBEB��

����FF'&��'"G#$"'��#&2�HI�J���KL���MNO��P�QH
J�?�@HIH�	�RQ��SET�O

O�J��	
A��:��UNN��
J���
���IV���	PH
H�	I�O	P�M��@HIH�	I��W�
JHI�I�NH�H
O
H�	����OH	��	�JO	X�PA��



������������������������	
��� ���������������������������������������������� !"#$��%&''%(�����))���*#'$+,(����-.))��/)0���0��0���� �#1+ +%�%+#$��2'$32'$%��422�&5���67���������8�9��)):�.�� �������������8���*&''�;�<����7�����8��'=�>'*+ 1'"��4& *�"'"��

?�@A�BCDEBEB��

���F�G	
�
��
H��I	JK����L	F
���
J�	F�
��MKK����FN�L
���OAPN�Q�RJ�J
G
J�	�S��	T��	
FN�
H��GU�@����K���	��T�F�RJ�J
G
J�	�FHGRR�U��G��	T�T�GF�K�RR�VFW�� ����X' +Y+ �%+#$"�ZH��K�RR�VJ	[�F��
J�	F�G���H���U\���TJKJ�T�
����GTW�� GA���&�]&�X*���.�̂_����HGF��ZV��̀Ea�@�HJ�R�FN�
H��b�	
�G�
���FHGRR�F�ccR\�G�d��
��VJ
HJ	�KJ@��̀ea��GR�	TG��TG\F�GK
�������J@J	[�G���d��F
�K����
H��fRJ[JUR��S[�	�\A�ZH��d��
G
J�	�FHGRR�J	�R�T��U�
�	�
�U��RJ�J
�T�
��
H��K�RR�VJ	[�J	K���G
J�	W�Q
G
����	
�G�
�	��U��N�@�HJ�R��G@GJRGUJRJ
\�G	T�T�RJ@��\�R�GTg
J��N�h�HJ�R��LT�	
JKJ�G
J�	�i��U���̀hLiaN�T�GR���F
��j�	��U��N�@�HJ�R��UGF��UJT�c�J��N�J
��Jk�T��c
J�	FN�GccRJ�GUR��
GlN�T�RJ@��\���F
N�
�
GR�c�J��N�G	T�c�J	
��K���	
G�
A�_���@�HJ�R�F���d�J�J	[��cgKJ
D��TJKJ�G
J�	FN�GRR�GccRJ�GUR����F
��G\�U��J	�R�T�T�J	�d��
G
J�	����GF�G�F�cG�G
��d��
G
J�	Am��UA���&�]&�X*����)n�̂_����HGF��M	��̀oa�
H��b�	
�G�
���FHGRR�c��@JT��
H��fRJ[JUR��S[�	�\���cJ�F��K�
H���G	�KG�
����pF�@�HJ�R��JT�	
JKJ�G
J�	�	��U��F�̀hLiqa�
����	KJ���@�HJ�R�F�HG@��U��	���T���T��	R�FF�J�c�FFJUR��T���
���G	�KG�
����T�RG\�VJ
HJ	�	J	�
\�̀rBa��GR�	TG��TG\F�GK
�������Jc
��K�G�c���HGF����T��A�st�uvwtxyz{|xvw�vt�z{w}t{u|}y~y����s�������x��wv|�y~u~x�~���x|�xw�|�x��|xz~ty{z~�
H��fRJ[JUR��S[�	�\�HGF�
H���c
J�	�
��GVG�T�
��
H��F���	T�R�V�F
�UJTT������
J	[�Fc��JKJ�G
J�	FA�ZHJF�FHGRR�U����	FJT���T�G��G	TG
��\���d�J����	
�G	T�
H��
J��K�G�����F
�U����
��	R�FF�
H����JF�G��G	�KG�
����T�RG\A�_GJR����
��c��@JT��
HJF�T�����	
�K����G�H�@�HJ�R����T���T��G\�U���G�F��K���T�
���J	G
J�	��K�T�KG�R
��K���	
�G�
�m���0��SRR��
H���
���FN���	TJ
J�	F�G	T�c��@JFJ�	F��K�
HJF�F�RJ�J
G
J�	����GJ	��	�HG	[�TA��



���� ����������	
����	����������
���������������������������������������
�
 ���!"�����#���$��� %���������&��'&�����(&&��)�%�����%���*�
+�������������� ��	���	������*��,��-./��	�%��
����*�%����01..�2���,�+� !�3���
(�� ������

4567�89:;8;8��


���(��&����<=>?=@AB�BC�BD5�EAFGC>H�I5>H?�@AJ�KCAJFBFCA?L�M5NBFCA�OL�KCAB>@NB�KD@AP5?L�BD5�@QC65�>5G5>5AN5J�NCAB>@NB�F?�@H5AJ5J7�M=HH@>R�CG�ND@AP5?�F?�@?�GCSSCT?U�����VH5AJH5AB�ITC�W;X�BC�H=B=@SSR�5YB5AJ�BDF?�NCAB>@NB�G>CH�Z@>ND�[\L�;8;9�BD>C=PD�Z@>ND�[]L�;8;O�=AS5??�B5>HFA@B5JL�N@AN5S5J�C>�5YB5AJ5J�@?�CBD5>TF?5�̂>C6FJ5J�FA�BD5�NCAB>@NB7��.��ID5�5Y5N=B5J�M<_;8O�̀C>N5J�a@QC>�CG�bBDAFN�ERPD=>?�c@A�GC>H�F?�D5>5QR�FANS=J5J�TFBD�BDF?�@H5AJH5AB7���1��VSS�CBD5>�B5>H?L�NCAJFBFCA?�@AJ�̂>C6F?FCA?�CG�BDF?�NCAB>@NB�>5H@FA�=AND@AP5J7������������������� ���������� ��



����������	
 �����
����
��
������
������
���


������	�	���
 �!



 "#����$��
������
�	

%		&'!((�&&)�*)+�#
 ��+�
,
�-

,
./0
1234
567
839:
6;<5655=

>����?
@�$��
�-
A	%���
BC+%��'
D��
EFGHIG
JKLG
LMHL
NO
HJP
KO
LMG
OKFFKQNJR
HSSFP
LK
LMG
�KJLTHULKTV
LMGJ
LMG
�OOGTKT
IMHFF
IGFGUL
LMG
W�XGYSL
�KJLTHULKTZ
KSLNKJ
[GFKQ\

] �̂�	���	��
�'
�
'���
&��&���	��'%�&_] �̂�	���	��
%�'
-�̀��
	%��
	��
a,bc
��&��C��'_
de] �̂�	���	��
�'
�
���f&��-�	
��+���*�	���)EgTIgHJL
LK
�hh�h
i
jkljmnV
LMG
�LHLG
KO
�TNoKJH
STKMN[NLI
H
Sg[FNU
GJLNLP
OTKY
GJLGTNJR
NJLK
KT
TGJGQNJR
H
UKJLTHUL
QNLM
H
UKYSHJP
gJFGII
LMG
UKJLTHUL
NJUFgpGI
QTNLLGJ
UGTLNONUHLNKJ
LMHL
LMG
UKYSHJP
pKGI
JKL
gIG
LMG
OKTUGp
FH[KTV
KT
HJP
RKKpI
KT
IGTqNUGI
STKpgUGp
[P
LMG
OKTUGp
FH[KTV
KO
GLMJNU
�PRMgTI
NJ
LMG
EGKSFGrI
GSg[FNU
KO
�MNJHh
B�?��
")e)�)
stuftvw!
,)x̂��&��Cx
����'
��
��+���*�	���y
�''����	���y
���&���	���y
&��	���'%�&y
z���	
#��	���y
����	�?
&��	���'%�&y
����	�?
���$���	C&��	���'%�&y
����	�?
���$���	C
���&��C
��
�	%��
��	�	C
��
$�'���''
�''����	���y
�����?��+
�
̀%���C
�̀��?
'�$'�?���Cy
��z���	Cf�̀��?
'�$'�?���Cy
&����	
���&��C
��
�--����	�y
	%�	
��+�+�'
��
-��f&��-�	
��	�#�	C
��?
	%�	
%�'
	��
��
����
-���f	���
��&��C��'){)x��$���
��	�	Cx
����'
	%�'
�	�	�y
�
&���	����
'�$?�#�'���
�-
	%�'
�	�	�
��
��
�+���Cy
$���?y
�����''���
��
?�&��	���	
�-
	%�'
�	�	�
��
�
&���	����
'�$?�#�'���
�-
	%�'
�	�	�)�J
UKYSFNHJUG
QNLM
�hh�h
ii
jkljmn
GL
IG|hV
HFF
KOOGTKTI
YgIL
IGFGUL
KJG
KO
LMG
OKFFKQNJR\
}
~%�
̂��&��C
'�$��		��+
	%�'
d--��
?��'
��	
�'�y
��?
�+���'
��	
	�
�'�
?����+
	%�
	���
�-
	%�
���	���	y
��C
�-
	%�
-����̀��+!
] >����?
��$��
�-
�	%���
BC+%��'
��
	%�
���&���'
e�&�$���
�-
̂%���_] "�C
+��?'
��
'��#���'
&��?���?
$C
	%�
-����?
��$��
�-
�	%���
BC+%��'
��
	%�
���&���'
e�&�$���
�-
̂%���_
��] "�C
̂��	���	��'y
��$���	���	��'y
��
'�&&����'
	%�	
�'�
	%�
-����?
��$��
��
��C
+��?'
��
'��#���'
&��?���?
$C	%�
-����?
��$��
�-
�	%���
BC+%��'
��
	%�
���&���'
e�&�$���
�-
̂%���)} ~%�
̂��&��C
'�$��		��+
	%�'
d--��
pKGI
&��	���&�	�
��
�'�
�-
>����?
BC+%��'
@�$��
�'
?�'���$�?
��
")e)�)
s
tuftvw)�
�XGYSL
�KJLTHULKTh
��?���	�
̀%��%
�-
	%�
-����̀��+
'	�	����	'
�&&���'
	�
	%�'
̂��	���	��
a��C
$�
����
	%��
���c!
� �̂�	���	��
�'
�
'���
&��&���	��'%�&_� �̂�	���	��
%�'
-�̀��
	%��
	��
a,bc
��&��C��'_
��?(��� �̂�	���	��
�'
�
���f&��-�	
��+���*�	���)�>�~
��	��'
@@̂
?$�
������
>��?
�̂�&��C
 ���
 ��+��	���
�-
���'��
"�	%���*�?
	�
��+�
v,tb
��'	
D���
e��?
 ��'��C
D�'̀���
"??��''
 ����	�?
 ���
������
 
"�
 
�ut�{
 ��#������	
"�����	
����+��
�̂	C
 �	�	�
 ��&
 ~�	��
,b({w({b{t
 ��	�




����������	
����	����	�����������������������������	
���	�����

���� �!"!��#�$�%��&'())*+,-� ./"��"0�1��#��#1�"!��2!!34%55"336"768�/�

9:;<=;�>;=?@AB�C@�CD;�E@::@FGAH�GC;I=�<JJ@>BGAH�C@�CD;�GA=C>KJCG@A=�L;:@FM�N<JD�>;=?@A=;�=D@K:B�B;I@A=C><C;�OPQ�RSSQTUTVW�XYZ[ZO\�OU�WXOZWS\�OPQ�]?;JGEGJ<CG@A=�>;̂KG>;I;AC=M�_<G:K>;�C@�>;=?@AB�I<̀�A;H<CGa;:̀�GI?<JC�CD;�@?CG@A�C@�<F<>BM��bcbc��d21�e�#!f" !�f�42"���3f�/�g1�!21�8��g4541f/� 14�g14 f�01g��#�"#h��f�"����i�!21� �#!f" !� "!18�f�146�j#g� "!1�!21� "!18�f�14�!2"!�"33�h�!��h�kf��ii1f%�l�m�n�o	�p��
�q��������
���b��������������������l�m�n�o	�p���	q���������	�����������������������l�m�n�o	�p������q���r���
s�s����������bc���truv��v��b�������
o��	����������������������q�������w��nq�x.#h�y"#ki" !kf1f�"/"��"0�1�0h�zii1f�f�42"���01�{f�!!1#��#�01��{�{2� 2��# �kg14�"����3!��#"��1|k�3y1#!}�'f� 1�42"���01�"�i�~1g�31f 1#!"81��ii�(��'6��d21�g1!"��1g�3f� 1���4!�i�f�1" 2�"/"��"0�1�y�g1��{����01�41#!�!��!21�'f� kf1y1#!�zii� 1f�"4�!21h�01 �y1�"/"��"0�1�gkf�#8�!21� �#!f" !�!1fy6�ji�yk�!�3�1��1/1��g�4 �k#!4�"33�h�i�f�!2"!�431 �i� � "!18�fh��h�k�y"h�3f�/�g1�!21�y�#�yky�31f 1#!"816����������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�!�3f�/�g1�3f� �#8��#�"#h��!21f�i�fy"!��!21f�!2"#�{2"!��4�3f�/�g1g�01��{%���������
���b�����
����n����m�n�o	�p���c�c�u������s	����b�����r��b������	�����m���������n��n�c��������
�����u��������n�	
�� �����
n�o����������	����
����n������n������������u���� z��5� ¡+,)5�¢�dz$�d�£e¤��¥��¦§�e.&���£'¦�e.&��e�¦̈ �e.&�¥�*©*�.$��*©ª��§.�� «¬�®®̄°±� z��5 ¡+,)5+5ª�dz$�¥�e�¦̈ �e.&�*©*�¥�²j§³d$j$§� «¬�́µ̄́ ±� z��5� ¡ª,)¡,,)5�¶�dz$�d�£e¤�¡��¦§�e.&���£'¦�e.&��e�¦̈ �e.&�¥�*©*�.$��*©ª� «¬�®·̄°±� z��5�£̧5�¦�e.'¦��¦©'²z�¦���¦©'¦�jdjz$�¥� ̈ ����̈ ���.̈ ���*©*��*©ª� «¬�́¹̄®°±� z��5(.e³¡¦5e�z��z̧¦��¥�.̈ ��z��*©ª� «º»�́̄°±� z��5&�z$ez��'z�d5ez('.ed��£̧�¥�*©*� «¬�́¹̄®±� z��5&�z$ez5(j�¡�j¼¦���£̧�¥�*©*� «¬�½̄́ ±� z��5¦¡�¦�j¦�5e£d.̈ .¾� «¬�®µ̄®±� z��5d�.$�jd�̈.§z$5'.��¦$§¦��.$��e�¦̈ �̧.$��¥�¢�dz$�dz�+�dz$�¥�²z̈ ��(¦���³j§³��zz �¡��³z�d��²z$§�.$��¦©d¦$�¦��²¦$§d³�� «¬�́µ̄́ ±� z��5d�.$�jd5�e.�§z�̧.$��¡�¢�dz$�dz�+�dz$�¥�²z̈ ��(¦���³j§³��zz �¡��³z�d��²z$§�.$��¦©d¦$�¦��²¦$§d³�� «¬�́µ̄®±� z��5d�.$�jd�ez$$¦ed�̈.§z$5(j$j�'.��¦$§¦��̧.$� «¬�¹̄°±�



����������	
����	����	�����������������������������	
���	�����

���� �!"!��#�$�%��&'())*+,-� ./"��"0�1��#��#1�"!��2!!34%55"336"768�/�

999':;<:$=.>:��?@;�(@A:B��=C.=�.;:�<D;;:$=BE�D$.F.GB.&B:�.;:�&.�:A�@$�A;.?=�';G<G$>�.$A�';:FG@D��(@A:B�E:.;�=;:$A�6�':;<:$=.>:�@??�G��BGH:BE�=@�G$<;:.�:�@$�(@�=�G=:(��@$<:�';G<G$>�?@;�$:I=�(@A:B�E:.;�G��;:B:.�:A�JKL��MNOP��Q�����������
R��	����������������������S�T.#U�V"#WX" !WY1Y�"/"��"0�1�0U�@XX1Y�Y�42"���01�ZY�!!1#��#�01��Z�Z2� 2��# �W[14�"����3!��#"��1\W�3V1#!]�'Y� 1�42"���01�"�X�̂1[�31Y 1#!"81��XX�(�;'6��=21�[1!"��1[�3Y� 1���4!�X�Y�1" 2�"/"��"0�1�V�[1��Z����01�41#!�!��!21�'Y� WY1V1#!�@XX� 1Y�"4�!21U�01 �V1�"/"��"0�1�[WY�#8�!21� �#!Y" !�!1YV6�GX�VW�!�3�1��1/1��[�4 �W#!4�"33�U�X�Y�!2"!�431 �X� � "!18�YU_�U�W�V"U�3Y�/�[1�!21�V�#�VWV�31Y 1#!"816�̀abcdeaf�ghdia�edjbj�kdee�lmb�na�haopdhaf�cb�bqa�bdra�ms�thmgmjce�jpnrdbbceu��A��#�!�3Y�/�[1�3Y� �#8��#�"#U��!21Y�X�YV"!��!21Y�!2"#�Z2"!��4�3Y�/�[1[�01��Z%��

?@;A5=;.$�G=�<@$$:<=5(G$G�<.;>@�F.$�v��w&�@;�Bw&� xyz�{|�?@;A5�:}=;.$�G=5�:B:<=;G<�=;.$�G=�<.;>@�F.$�v�B@w_�(:A_�CG>C�;@@?�v��C@;=_�B@$>�.$A�:I=:$A:A�B:$>=C��}�;wA� xyz�~�~|�?@;A5�?}�,)�=@�?},,)�<C.��G�5�<C.��G��<.&�v�*I*�.$A�*I�� xyz����~|�?@;A5:�<.':�'C:F5'BD>}G$�CE&;GA�.$A�CE&;GA�<@('.<=��DF� xyz��{��|�?@;A5'@BG<:�G$=:;<:'=@;5(GA}�G�:A�'D;�DG=��DF�}�.wA� xyz����~|�?@;A5�;.$>:;5�(GA}�G�:�=;D<H�v�:I=:$A:A�@;�<;:w�<.&�}�*I*�@;�*I�� xyz����{|�?@;A5(.F:;G<H5<@('.<=�=;D<H�v�<;:w�<.&�v�.wA�@;�?wA� xyz�����~|�?@;A5(D�=.$>5<@D':�}�;wA� xyz�����|�

��������	��������
�������������R	�����K�K�O�������	����J�����N��J������	��������������������K��������
�����O����������	
�� �����
��R����������	����
������������������������O����?@;A5�?}+,)5���=@$�=;D<H��v�;:>�<.&_��D':;<.&_�<;:w�<.&�v�*I*�.$A�*I�_�>.�� xyz����~|�?@;A5?}+,)5+5��=@$�v�<;:w�<.&�*I*�v�BG>C=$G$>� xyz����|�?@;A5�?}�,)},,)5���=@$�=;D<H�}�;:>�<.&_��D':;<.&_�<;:w�<.&�v�*I*�.$A�*I�� xyz�����|�?@;A5�DF5�:�<.':_�:I'B@;:;_�:I':AG=G@$�v�?wA_�;wA_�.wA_�*I*_�*I�� xyz�����~|�?@;A5(.<C}:5<;@��@F:;�v�.wA�@;�*I�� x����|�



����������	
����	����	�����������������������������	
���	�����

���� �!"!��#�$�%��&'())*+,-� ./"��"0�1��#��#1�"!��2!!34%55"336"768�/�
999':;<:$=.>:��?@;�(@A:B��=C.=�.;:�<D;;:$=BE�D$.F.GB.&B:�.;:�&.�:A�@$�A;.?=�';G<G$>�.$A�F:;E�BG(G=:A�<D;;:$=�(.;H:=�.F.GB.&GBG=E6�';G<G$>�AG�<@D$=��.;:�BGH:BE�=@�G$<;:.�:�@$<:�';G<G$>�G��(.A:�.F.GB.&B:�.$A�<@$�=;.G$=��?@;�<@((@AG=G:��BG?=�999'C.�:�I�':;<:$=.>:��.;:�&.�:A�@$�<D;;:$=�;:=.GB�(.;H:=�.$A�.F.GB.&GBG=E�@?�?B::=�.BB@<.=G@$�

?@;A5&;@$<@��'@;=5<@('.<=��DF�J�*K*� LMN�OPQOR�?@;A5&;@$<@5(GAS�GT:A��DF�J�*K*� LMN�UQOR�?@;A5:S�:;G:�5<D=.V.E� LMN�OWQUR�?@;A5=;.$�G=�V.>@$5'.��:$>:;�.$A�<;:V�F.$��J�X�=@$�=@�+�=@$�J�B@VY�(:AY�CG>C�;@@?�S��C@;=Y�B@$>�.$A�:K=:$A:A�B:$>=C�� LMN�OZQUR�?@;A5=;.$�G=5�<.;>@�F.$��S�X�=@$�=@�+�=@$�J�B@VY�(:AY�CG>C�;@@?�S��C@;=Y�B@$>�.$A�:K=:$A:A�B:$>=C�� LMN�O[Q\UR�?@;A5=;.$�G=�<@$$:<=�V.>@$5(G$G�'.��:$>:;�F.$� LMN�\Q\R�?@;A5=;.$�G=�<@$$:<=5(G$G�<.;>@�F.$�J��V&�@;�BV&� LMN�\QOR�?@;A5�:S=;.$�G=5�:B:<=;G<�=;.$�G=�<.;>@�F.$�J�B@VY�(:AY�CG>C�;@@?�J��C@;=Y�B@$>�.$A�:K=:$A:A�B:$>=C��S�;VA� LMN�\QOR�?@;A5�?S],)�=@�?S,,)�<C.��G�5�<C.��G��<.&�J�*K*�.$A�*KI� LMN�OPQOR�?@;A5:�<.':�'C:F5'BD>SG$�CE&;GA�.$A�CE&;GA�<@('.<=��DF� LMN�OOQOR�?@;A5'@BG<:�G$=:;<:'=@;5(GAS�GT:A�'D;�DG=��DF�S�.VA� LMN�WQUR�?@;A5�;.$>:;5�(GAS�GT:�=;D<H�J�:K=:$A:A�@;�<;:V�<.&�S�*K*�@;�*KI� LMN�ÔQ_R�?@;A5(.F:;G<H5<@('.<=�=;D<H�J�<;:V�<.&�J�.VA�@;�?VA� LMN�_QUR�?@;A5(D�=.$>5<@D':�S�;VA� LMN�OPQWR�



����������	
����	����	�
����������������������

������	
���	�����

���� �!"!��#�$�%��&'())*
+,-�

./"��"0�1��#��#1�"!�� 2!!34%55"336"768�/�
'"81�*��9�,�

:;<�=������>�����?�@9�!21� 
�#!A" !�A��991A4�B1��/1AC�

9�A�!21�9����D�#8� �E#!�14
F�!21C�GE4!�01��#B� "!1�"#

B��# �EB1�"#C�B1��/1AC�911
�"44� �"!1B�D�!2�!2�41�"A

1"4�"4�
"33�� "0�16� H	�
I>�=�����

�>�����J�
H	�
I>�=����

��>�����J�
H	�
I>�=���

���>�����J�
��K.3" 21�

LM,� K�
NA11#�11�

LM,� K
�'�G"�

L)�
K�O� 2�41�

LM,� K�
P"�'"7�

LM,� K
�'�#"��

L- ,�
K�O� �#�#��

L-,� K�
("A� �3"�

L)� K
��"#!"�OAE7�

LM ,�
K�N��"�

LQ,� K�
(�2"/1�

LM,� K
�R"/"3"��

LS,�
K�NA"2"G�

LM,� K�
$"/"T��

L+,)� K
�REG"�

LM,�
:;U��V�����I�	
������
W?�X

21�O�#!A" !�A�42"���4E0G
�!�3A� �#8�9�A�!21�9����D�#

8�Y12� �146�X21�/12� �14���
4!1B�D2� 2��4�A13A141#!"!

�/1��9�!21�4 �31��9�D�AZ�!
2"!�D����

01�31A9�AG1B�E#B1A�!2�4�
O�#!A" !F�"#B�!21A19�A1� 

�#4!�!E!14�"�9"�A�G1!2�B�
9�A�B1!1AG�#�#8�3A� 1�9"�A

�"#B�A1"4�#"0�1%�
:;U;:��������
���:��V����

�I�	
������
W?� V�I���I�[�\��W�� ]��
I�I>��̂_̀
V��V��:��a����b	[��� ��������

a�����������	�� �������
���:��
_[[�I�	
���c
�	���I�	
�

-,��3�A!4�d!���!C�Y12� �1�e�d
Yf�ghijk�

lmnkop��'1A�(�#�GEG� �31 �9� "!��#4�
LqqFq,M�rstu�v�O.'v�rwu�x���(

suvP�x��'.tv�X@tv�@�� $sX��X.$u.tuF�&dX�@$r
P.X@s$�y@X�@��

'tsY@uvu6�(@$@��'.tv�@
��.Y.@P.&Pv�rts(�

Xzv�r.OXstR�st�.rXvt�(
.tyvX��'.tv�(.R� &v�.uuvu6�Odttv$XPR�.
Y.@P.&Pv�rst� stuvt��sr�q)qq�(suvP

6�
q,�s#1�e+f�X�

#�O"A8��Y"#�ghijk�lmnko
p�

'1A�(�#�GEG��31 �9� "!��
#4�{|}~��

������
������������������

�����
�����������������

�����~��������������
�

������������������
�������������

���������������� ���¡�¢�
£��¤� �¥¦���§��¡�����¤¦§

�§�̈�¤�©��¡����ª�«�
¬�®�� � £�©����¤̄���

¡�¡���¡�������� ��� ���
°¤¤�©�¡¡���̄�����¡±�����

�� ��¡�¢�§�§���



�

����������	
����	����	�
����������������������

������	
���	�����
� ���� �!"!��#�$�%��&'())*

+,-�
./"��"0�1��#��#1�"!�� 2!!34%55"336"768�/�

'"81�,��9�,�
�

� � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � :;<;�;��������� 	�����=��

���>�	
������
?@�
� �

� � �
ABCDEBFGDHIH�J�A

KLIM�NHKOPLIL�PQ�
RSRT�UVW�J�GHBCQPG�G

XTYSZ�VTS[�U\Z�HULZ�
MKU�HKKEZ�PCFMDLI

Q�EHKCG�BCL�HIBH� B]F�KNGPKC�
,)�+5̂�_�#�_̀a b�c18a�"̀�d"

0�efghi�
jklimn�'1̀�(�#�oao��31

 �9� "!��#4�pRYZq
rY�CKG�FDHH

ICGMW�BOBPMB\MI�E
KH�KHLIHZ�

NHPFPCs�PQ�\BQIL�KC
�NHKtIFGIL�LHBEG� NHPFPCsu�AKLIM�PQ�E
XVYS� HIs�FB\�vwRZ� QxKHG�UxIIM\BQIu�
RSRT�AKLIM� NHKtIFGPKCu�

=�>���>�y�z��?�� {��
>�>|��}~�
=���������������	y��� ��������

������������	�� ���������������
~yy�>�	
����
�	���>�	
�

,̂��3�̀!4��!���!���12� �1����
���efghi�

jklimn�'1̀�(�#�oao��31
 �9� "!��#4� �̂�̂,

*����c����d.'����������(
��������'.c��_�c����� $�_��_.$�.c���&�_��$�
�._��$���_����

'c������6�(�$���'.c���
��.�.��.&����c�(�

_����.d_�c���c�.�_�c�(
.c��_��'.c��(.�� &��.����6�

+,��#1��+��_�
#�d"̀8���"#�efghi�jklim

n�
'1̀�(�#�oao��31 �9� "!��

#4�pRrZRR
T�AKLIM�NH

KOPLIL�PQ�FDHHICG�
RSRR�UVW�J�

GHBCQPG�GXTYSZ�VTS[�U
\Z�HULZ�MKU�HKKEZ�

PCFMDLIQ�EHKCG�BC
L�HIBH �B]F�KNGPKC�

,̂�+5̂�_�#�_̀a
 b�c18a�"̀�d"0�efghi� jklimn�'1̀�(�#�oao��31

 �9� "!��#4�pRvZV
qR�AKLIM

�PQ�EXVYS�HIs�FB\�vwR
Z�QxKHG�

UxIIM\BQIu�FDHHIC
G�RSRR�AKLIM� NHPFPCs�



����������	�
�������������������
������������ !"�#$%�&�'(�#)*"+���,�-�./���0

123�45���	�	6�2*"���"�!�78/&�9!"��:;9<�.�<=>>+��/� ?�@ABA@0BC��D�+./�&:=E��,��F*�=GH�#=G%IJ=KLM;N��H%/�&O�O��&J�*%�N�/��PQPBQ����*�;"+��#;"!�J;DD�"�+�.�#.��N�R�PSCC?�EI�B�9!��-�IT�*�;"+�T��"+<;9�T�?0C?�=>>+��/�A�C@0�C@AP0P



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��D�EFGFH�IJ�GKLMING�,*�.�C�����+>�%&�&''%6����1232435155&��=����+��O���6�	���	�&��	���������������P���������	��������	���Q����	�����������P��������
�����������=����	��������������	���������������
�����
��=�������������	�������	
�	�����
������	�����	
�����
�
������	�������������������������	��	����������	��������R�����	��������
�����
���
������������������P��������������
���������P�	
��

����	����	P�������	������+�����������������������	�����	����������	P����
�
������	��������P����P���������	������������	����������+�����
�����������������������������	�����������P���������������S����*����
��E T!� �U#TV W�V/(X'*-O'-&��->�)B''&�%�B'%�O�-�/'*<:1YZ4ZY;491%/(-,�B',[�'(*+�)(*>�6(O



����������	�
���������������������������������� �!�"�!#$%$&%'#'' �� �(��� ���) **��+(�"��"��,�-�$.//0��1�&'���2�1��� �(���(! ���-�03/0''#''��4+����5����67���89#�:��(+��;�2�"��''3�-�<= ,���7��������)����"�� >�) �,��,47�4+�(�,( � ��?�) 2�����?� $) 2���;�,,�� '���"�� >�) �,��,4 /4�) �>(?=����@�A(+"� 5��"�+,����B=(��C����+4 D@�A(+"��7(*��4( ���������> �*��+� $.6�����,� $&2�("��"����,( �4 '#



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����6�	D�����
�E������F#!� G�HI�J�KJ#L MNO�P H��Q�RJIS�@1) T����E�������������?@1)A U5V�121�11� IW X�H211� 'Y�����	��/�����211� -36Z[\]̂_̀abc�d[ef[̀b�ghij�d\klkkam��Z[\]̂_̀a�n̂mk�amnomcamkp�m̀\q[k]kerhc�son[atfaafk[b�ucvp̀ _̀�ŵmktnmf\c�xhug�wy]̀�znmfkc�{|}zb�sl~c�sfòab���i��izg��wv�lv}c�}q̀ ]̀ab�g���vm̀̀ ]���vpno�]̀�vf]�̀oc�nf[m̀_��k�̀oac��]kmq��ok[m�l̂\�̀m�v̀nma��Z[\]̂_̀a��c�nr�tn[̂n]�_of�̀o���kò�n�m��̂p�_k�[��ò\]f[̀��n[_��c�nr�tn[̂n]��ok[m�pnaà[èo��kò�n�m��fmq�tn[̂n]�ò\]f[̀�hc�zn_fkb�w�����vm̀òk��Z[\]̂_̀a���ap̀n�̀oa�n[_�ap̀ _̀�\ktp̀[anm̀_��k]̂t̀ h��c�v�����ktt̂ [f\nmfk[a���d[m̀omnf[t̀ [m�vram̀t����Z[\]̂_̀a�̀[qn[\̀_��kf\̀�ò\ke[fmfk[�\ktt̂ [f\nmfk[�n[_�̀[m̀omnf[t̀ [m�aram̀t���h���j�~�a\ò [̀f[�\̀[m̀o�amn\���wppjf[����gg�waafam�n[_�atnom�\qnoef[e��vl�pkomh��c��ko_�naa��k[[̀\m����Z[\]̂_̀a��{�jsd�}fc�f�qkmapkm�mqnm�\k[[̀\ma�̂p�mk�g��_̀�f\̀a��f[\]̂_̀a�n��fò]̀aa�_nmn�mofn]�mqnm�̀ef[a�̂pk[�ws�s�n\mf�nmfk[�n[_�̀ypfòa�nm�mq̀�̀[_�k��x�tk[mqa�ko��q̀[�x{l�k��_nmn�fa�̂à_��qf\q̀�̀o�\kt̀ a��foam���̂m�\n[[km�̀ym̀[_��̀rk[_�mq̀�mofn]�â�a\ofpmfk[�p̀ofk_��ko�òtkm̀��̀nm̂òahsk�n\mf�nm̀��ek�mk����hnmmh\kt��ko_�h�z̀ tkm̀�amnom��fmq�ap̀\f�f\�mft̀ �a\q̀_̂]f[e��]k\��n[_�̂[]k\��]k\nm̀�pno�̀_��̀qf\]̀�n[_�\q̀\���̀qf\]̀�amnm̂a��mq̀��ko_�naa�wpp�n[_�\ktp]ft̀ [mnor�\k[[̀\m̀_ào�f\̀a�nò�ò�̂fò_��ko�òtkm̀��̀nm̂òa��à �̀�ko_�naa�m̀ota��ko�_̀mnf]a�h��k[[̀\m̀_�ào�f\̀a�n[_�̀nm̂òa�_̀p̀[_�k[�\ktpnmf�]̀�ws�s�[̀m�ko��n�nf]n�f]fmrh�d�k]�f[e�m̀\q[k]ker�\̀]]̂]no[̀m�ko�a��̀qf\]̀�\npn�f]fmr�tnr�]ftfm��̂[\mfk[n]fmr�n[_�pò�̀[m�kp̀onmfk[�k��\k[[̀\m̀_��̀nm̂òah�k[[̀\m̀_�ào�f\̀a�̀y\]̂_̀�}fc�f�qkmapkm�h�#���K� JL44V '	��	�.�2�;B�'��T���� +	���
�
Z[\]̂_̀a�n̂mk�amnomcamkp�m̀\q[k]kerh<<: &��	�������	.�:�%���
���������� +	���
�
%&>�� 9�:2������*���� +	���
�
%&>/E /E=*.�&T> +	���
�
�R��SH����J��H%&>&* &����.�55;3V;*28��%�T%= +	���
�
%&>=B =�����.�28��%������3%�������%��������	��
�6���� +	���
�
N� KH���N� K���J E 6�����)��	��T������%���� +	���
�




��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����6�	D�����
�E�������?��	�F
AG#!� H�IJ�K�LK#M NOP�QRSTUVWX�YZ[\]�̂\RU\T�V_̀aW_�bcd_We\cfg�UheVd[Rg�_WST̀RWi�\RV�jZ[\]�̂\RU\T�c_dRf�h\XXWRkW_bcd_We\cf�[̀fl�̂\RU\T�_WST̀RWimnLo���n�LK#MI��+-& p�	���	�����	������������	 %&>21q=r 21qs�=�������� %&>%&>*> *�
��.��p3)p�%����� +	���
�
QRSTUVWX�Y�XhW\tW_X�\RV�XhWWV�Sd̂ hWRX\fWV�adTÛ WmQRSTUVWXuZ�vwxy�yd̂ ÛR̀S\f̀dRX�z�{RfW_f\̀R̂ WRf�v]XfŴ��QRSTUVWX�WRl\RSWV�ad̀SW�_WSdkR̀f̀dR�Sd̂ ÛR̀S\f̀dR�\RV�WRfW_f\̀R̂ WRf�X]XfŴ g�jm|}�~y��XS_WWRR̀�SWRfW_�Xf\Stg��hh~̀Rtg������XX̀Xf�\RV�X̂ \_f�Sl\_k̀Rk��v��hd_fmZ��d_V�\XX�ydRRWSf��QRSTUVWX�j��~�{��Z̀�̀�ldfXhdf�fl\f�SdRRWSfX�Uh�fd����VWàSWX�b̀RSTUVWX�\�[̀_WTWXX�V\f\�f_̀\T�fl\f�Wk̀RX�UhdR���z��\Sf̀a\f̀dR�\RV�W�h̀_WX�\f�flW�WRV�dc���̂dRflX�d_�[lWR�����dc�V\f\�̀X�UXWVg[l̀SlWaW_�Sd̂ WX�c̀_Xfg��Uf�S\RRdf�W�fWRV��W]dRV�flW�f_̀\T�XU�XS_̀hf̀dR�hW_̀dV�cd_�_Ŵ dfW�cW\fU_WXm�d�\Sf̀a\fWg�kd�fd�[[[m\ffmSd̂ ecd_Vim��Ŵ dfW�Xf\_f�[̀fl�XhWS̀c̀S�f̀̂ W�XSlWVUT̀Rkg�TdSt�\RV�URTdStgTdS\fW�h\_tWV�aWl̀STW�\RV�SlWSt�aWl̀STW�Xf\fUX�bflW��d_V�\XX��hh�\RV�Sd̂ hT̀̂ WRf\_]�SdRRWSfWVXW_àSWX�\_W�_W�Ù_WV�cd_�_Ŵ dfW�cW\fU_WX�bXWW��d_V�\XX�fW_̂X�cd_�VWf\̀TXim�ydRRWSfWV�XW_àSWX�\RVcW\fU_WX�VWhWRV�dR�Sd̂ h\f̀�TW���z��RWf[d_t�\a\̀T\�̀T̀f]m�{adTàRk�fWSlRdTdk]eSWTTUT\_RWf[d_tXeaWl̀STW�S\h\�̀T̀f]�̂\]�T̀̂ f̀�cURSf̀dR\T̀f]�\RV�h_WaWRf�dhW_\f̀dR�dc�SdRRWSfWV�cW\fU_WXmydRRWSfWV�XW_àSWX�W�STUVW��Z̀�̀�ldfXhdfim��KIIK#MI<5; ;1�%�����'������	��%����� %&>�ML��K#��G#�#�E��12 >����'�����/��� -36��L��K#��G#�#��,�12 (�D��
�=���� -36%@r&(&�B �5q�121�11>����	����	�6����� �2�5<;�11&(&�B �58�5;;�11



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%����FGH�IJG#IJK 'L���������	���.�2:1�;M K'L���������
��.�8<�2MK 'L�������������.�NN�2M K=��������.�21N�8MK )��	�������.�N5�<M K*���������.�N2�:MK &��	�	����
���.�24�5O KP�	�����	
�������	��.�8�9MK )��	���������.�<5�<M K*�����������.�<1�8MK )��	�����
����.�<1�1M K*�������
����.�94�9MK )��	���������.�;;�5M K*�����������.�;9�9MK )��	�������
�������.�;8�NM K*���������
�������.�;N�1MK �����	���������.�21<�1���Q�� K6����������.�98�;���Q��K 6�����������������Q��
�
.�N;�<���Q�� KP�L����������������.�N;�<���Q���#R��S� GIK '��T�����2:2���2�;B�>(U6�25������	��������
������+V9��	��	�������&�VW6&���������������	���������3
�������	������	 K���������V������Q������K >������������������
� K*������	
�
�Q����.����������	���
�
K B'W9V%@B'W91 K�:�����
��������������	�������	���������
���K )��	�V������
��� KB�����
������
�QQ���	����K )����'��	����6���.�5:���� K)����'��	����U������.�9<����K 6�������Q����Q�����XYJ��IJG#IZ[ I!\GI]K )��	���	
���	
�	�������������	���	�������	��V������������V��������0�
������� K*�����	
���	
�	���������	
���	�����������	���	������	��V�������������V��������0�
�������K �%���
V��	��	����������������V�����������V��	��	%�����	� K)��	���	
������28�L�8�������������K �55;3N;U*28�T%=��%�Q��	���	
�����������#̂!_�̀aS��G#�K <�
���� K>������	
������	��������������������	����Q��
�	�
�����������K T�����
����������� KB���������������K T�
�V�������
�������� K6������������	�K )��	���	
������28�L�8�������b#Ic�IG�Id�K P�	����������	
����	�	�����������Q����� K6��������	����������������	����������	�����K ��������	
��� K>�����2V������
��	K *������������
���������������5��������	������	
������	���
��	��� KP�	���������������	�������



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AG H�	���������������������	������� G>��I	�������������������G )��
�����6�		����</��	���	��������� G422��������������	���%(%G =�����������	����		������� G���B�	��������
������	��������	G 5�2�������B6>���	����� G)��	���	
������������
���G >���������������� G)����J�������	����G �>������	
������	����
������	� G*����
������	�K� LM� N!�O�PQG %����	������������J�; G)��	��������������G RI����
�����������
������	� GH�	������������
���������
���������G <I���������	����������
������	� G6�	����J��	���������G R1I<1�J��
�	������������I��	������� G6��������������������G H����I����3���	���������	������	����	����	���� GH����I�������	������	����G H����I�������������J������������SNL��L PNQ�NL�T� LU��MG �H3)H����������
����������
���
���������� G%V-6��W���	������������	����G %�����	�����������	��
���
�����	����� GR���������G %������	����
�� G+	�������
����J��	��		�XPYZLPNY[�\PMP]P̂PL_� N!�̀NML�UQ�NL LP#NG a�����	�������������������
������ G>����I�JJ����
������G ������	3�JJ����
������ GB'>������������G b���������	��������	��J��	����	
�����
������� G%���
���	������������G )�W�
��	�������������	
�����
������ G*������	
���
�J������G )�W�
������������	
��� GB�������	��
���	
���G )��	���	
���������
�	�������� G&���������G 6������ G(����
��������������
������G 6�����?�A�I����� GB��������������������	�	�G &������������ G&�����
������G B�	��
�������� G)��
�6�I�����9R1�I�cB+%�?c��	
�%����+	J�������	%�����A����	
�����K "�L_� N!�K�dU�PL_G <I�������c%������� Gc�������������������������
���	����G '�������������	������� G<I������
����������G �
�	��&�����3*����%���������6�	�����'������	��������������	���� G�c%��	
�
�����	���������	���	����G >����J��	������������������������	�����������	������� G>������������	��
���
������������������������	����������	��������G %�J����6�	����%������������	�2����	
�5	
����������
����������������	�����������	�������� Ge	������������������	�����������	��������



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AG ���������������	�����������	���������������	����	��� G*�������������
����������3���������������	�G �������������
���������������5��������	������	
��	�������� G�=����%�����B������������0����	
������	�������������	��������G H�I������������
�
���	����
� GH�	�������
���������J��	�����
��������	��G 9���	�������
�����������������
��������	�� G)��
�6�K�����9L1�K�MB+%�?M��	
�%����+	J�������	%�����A����	
�����G )��
�6�K�����9L1�K����K6�������	����������������������'�����	���M����	��?�'MA�)������NOP�QRO#QRSTUTVWX�YTZ[\]̂6��� 9�54:�����STUTVWX�_VWZXTVZU[&���	���������� 5111����� /6=* LLL1�����àTX�_WUb�]cdT6������� 2<�84����� 6�������J����J����� e��fgg�hiWjH�	�����	
�������	�� 8�klU]TVZiV�mWV[i6���������� 98�;����J�� 6�����������������J��
�
 L;�<����J��H�n���������������� L;�<����J�� o����� 9<�:�kB�	��� L:�;�k B�	���������������� 98�:�kH�	�������
�� <2�<�k H�n�������
�� ;8�9�k�#p��q� OQrU[ZUT�_cdTM��	
 '��M���� M������������� �����	��6���	
��� +K9 o��
��������� �����	��+�	����	 %���� +	������	 ����3
�������	������	B����� �2�;B (���	�����	 &��	�����*������	
�
�J��� ���������	���
�
 s�������������	
�� <s�������	 >(o6 s��������������	���� &�Ks6&)����
��	
�����	 �+	��������
������rU[ZUT�tdTmM��� 9�92k 6���������	������ 22�1.2>���������	� 42�����	� %����� 9�;<krU[ZUT�uivTV(����� �2:2�o��w�L�111�*�H &��D�� �241�J��K���w�9�111�*�H



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AGHIJKLMINK���� 1OMIIJKP*�	�
��	����������	 Q��RLSTLJ�RUIKMV���������W������X������ Q�� >������������������
� Q��YKMLVZTVVTNL'������	�����	���� Q�� B���W�� Q��(��
��� Q�� %���
 :&��� ���������YKMLVZTVVTNL�[JMK�\MITNV2�� <�]4 5	
 9�929�
 9�12 <�� 2�45;�� 2�<; ]�� 28�� 1�8; :�� 1�]5*������/���������� 5�4]YKMLVZTVVTNL�RUIKMV>������������������
� Q�� (��������� *�������
���K̂T_J�YP̀J&��� )��	�W�����K̂T_J�aJMIbKJB�����
������
�XX���	���� c������������
 &������	���	���� �c%��	
�
�����	�K̂T_J�GUHJ*���� 9�:2RUdMbVIe������� %���	���������� %���������� C����W
���&��������X�	����� 6�����RZTVVTNLV6�*c B'f9W%@B'f91 '�� &����9�c�	�91gbJH�RhNLNZP6��� 5:���� i������ 9<����)�������� /�����	� 6����	�
 91����GhhJHJKMITNL1W]1�����?�A :�<]jkl�mTHJ



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
A%���	
� 2G�5 %���
 ::����HIJK�LMKB������������������	�?�A 1�:HNMNOP%���
 ;4����QRSST�UMNVSW'	�����+������%�����?X���������������A 22�1 6����	�)��3�&���������	
����������������/Y/�?6(5���	����������A ;�:Z�[\� ][̂[_̀aRMISW�X% <b����� �X%����		��� <&��� <b������
��� c�	��
�
���� )��	�'�������������	������� d��aRMIS�eWWJWfMTgSX����������� d�� Y�������
���	���� d��HVWhSTWJOT�iOTfRON*�
� *������ '������	���������������	���� %�����������	����������	��b����jROTf�HVWhSTWJOT+	
���	
�	�� +	
���	
�	� &��� %�����	��b�������� *������jROTf�HhRJTk&��� 6��� /��
� *������jROTf�HlOgIW&��� /��b��������0�
mSMR�HVWhSTWJOT+	
���	
�	�� +	
���	
�	� &��� %������	
���	������	��b�������� *������mSMR�HhRJTk&��� 6��� /��
� *������mSMR�HlOgIW&��� /��b��������0�
HfSSRJTk%���
b��	��	� d�� ��������	 '�������������b������&��� *���b��	��	



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AGHIIJKLM�GNIOPQ��R������� 5STU��V#�WJXLH�YZII[P>������� 28\ =�
�� 8�11\]ÎJ�YZII[P>������� 28\ =�
�� 8�11\WJXLH�̂L_�]ÎJ�YZII[P�̀������ %���� 6���� )���������WJXLH�aKJIP������ b; >������� 28\%�
������ c%= %���
 d&���
 �% &��� �=�
�� 55;��]ÎJ�aKJIP������ b; >������� 28\%�
������ c%= %���
 d&���
 �% &��� �=�
�� 55;��YZII[P)��	������� b5�<\ *��������� b2�:\&��	�	����
��� 24�5F =�������� 21b�8\eX_f�WÎHgJIP*����������� B�� c�
���������� )���������	�0�
������%�
�������������� h�� ��������������������� h��eX_f�iXXJP>�������	� < B�R������������	��� 6�	�	���	��*���������������	��� 6�	�	���	�� 6���� B�R�����jkHIJKXJ�iKlILPKXLPB�	��� 2:1�;\ c�
����
�� 8<�2\c�
�������� bb�2\m "�UnoKJp̂MP>�����R��	�q������ h�� >�������
�q������ %�������	��




��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
A(�����	�����	��� G�� (�����
 %�H����6�	����%������������	�2���	
�5	
���������	����H��	�I������ G�� �����	������
�I������ %�������	��
J	�� >����KLMNOLPN*������	����9����	� G�� Q�������
�������� )��	����I��	���	��� )��	� ���I��	���	����?RA 5KLSTUVNW+�������0�� %�����B��� ��	�������� G��*��������
�
���	����
� X�J��Y� Z[\]M̂__L̀aLU�bMcMSVNW6������� ;dUèN�KLMN_%���� f������ &��� f�����gUVhLU�KLMN)���3�H� X�	��� Q�������
�������� X�	���*����	�	� X�	��� =���
�������	���	���� iM̂__L̀aLU�_LMN)���3�H� X�	��� *����	�	� X�	���=���
�������	���	���� <dUèN�jLMk�lL_NUMV̀N6�	���� X�	��� &��� �
��������dUèN�mUnUL_N6�	��� G��lLMU�KLMN_>��������� %����I��	�� )���	� )��	�)��
�	� i1I<1 )��
�	���������	 )��
�H�����
���������&��� )�o�
 *����	�	� X�	���)���3�H� X�	���lLMU�jLMk�lL_NUMV̀N_6�	���� X�	��� &��� �
��������-����� 9dUèN�KLMN�pUVnX������� �6���� f������������ 6����



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AGHIJ�KHIL�MJNO�PJQRST������� �6���� U������������ 6�����V#WX�WY�WZ�[\�[]̂�_HIL�M̀SH������	
����	�	� T�	��� ����a����� b��@	
�������
���� b��[R̂NQ�K̀cLHO*�
�� �T3)T������� *�
���
���������� b��*�
������
� *������ %���d���	 b��'e���	������������	���� �%b-6 +	���	�����
�� b��[R̂NQ�KSHIfHJc%����������� *������ %������� g[R̂NQ�\Q]LJQhc%���
���	����������� b�� %�����	����������	����� b��i�������������	 b�� %������	����
�� U������������[R̂NQ�[]LH]]I&��� +	�������
����aj\k�lQ]NLQJc2������ 5 ����������	�������0��?�	����A <�5\JRNcH�\Q]LJQh6��������	���� =����������	����������	�����\Q]mH]NH]nH�oHILRJHc>�����a�������� b�� *����	�
���������������� b��25i�>6������������� 9 '�����	���%(% 422�������=�����������	����		������� U�������� %�����
������	��������	 ������	�kQQJ�jQnf�[nLNmILNQ]&��� �����������5��������	���� *����� p��a���?����
����A+	�������
����3������ b�� ����������	� b��kQQJ�jQnf�M̀SH*��������
���a��� T�	��� &�������3�����
��������+	���
�
������������
��������kQQJ�jQnfc�qrLJI�ost�\Q]LJQhc*�������	��	������� %�����
������	��u]cLJROH]LILNQ]�M̀SH�������	�� �	����



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AGHIJKLMNHJOJPQH�ROLSNI&��������� T�� '	��	������������� T��GHIJKLMNHJOJPQH�UOKHPHSI(����������� T�� '	��	������������� T��V������ T�� B�������	 T��W�� T�� B���X��� T��B����������X���
 T�� B�����	�����X�	����	 T��>�������� T�� *�������������� T��%�������	����� T�� V�����X���
 T��B���������������� &���������X��GHIJKLMNHJOJPQH�YPIZ[O\I6���� +	]��
���
������ 6������ T��'̂����������� T�� %���������	���� T��6�����?�A�]����� T��GHIJKLMNHJOJPQH�_NOJLKN&������������ T�� &�����
������ T��B�	��
�������� ����� V��	
����� =��	�	�)�����
���������	 �̀�������	 *������������	 =��	�	���
������	�
�������	 ����	���	aJNNKPHS�UbNN[�c\ZN�̀������ @�����	� &����	� �̀	���&��������	� �̀	���_KQHJ�aPdN�UPHdQeI=�	
���2���������������	 �����UPHdQeI�fNOK�aPdN5	
�������������	 ����� 9�
�������������	 )�̂�
UPHdQe�_NOJLKNI2]������
��	 >���� &�	��
 B����_KQHJ�UPHdIbPN[d=���� g���������	��������	� %���
���	������������ T��fNOK�UPHdIbPN[d=���� )�̂�
��	����� >�X������ T��=�	
�� )�̂�
hij��k#�YKPlNK�mPIQK�̀���� T��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
AGHIIJKLJM�NOIPMQ����� R��SJHM�NOJT�UOMMPM>��V	���� R��WJHXYOKJM6������ )��� Q������� 6����ZYPPM�[MO\6������ )��� 6����	� 6�����Q��� 6������]��	���	
�����[MO\�ZJĤ_MJ+	������	����	����	���� Q����V����3���	������� /�������]������������ Q����V����>������	����	���� Q����V���� 6�	������	���� Q����V����+	�����������	�� Q����V����ÒLâOKL>�������������� )�
� )��	�����
�	� R��+�����	���
��	��� R�� *�������
�	� R��+�	����	������� R�� b��������+��������	� R��ZYPPM�cPKIPYJ�d̂PMHLJ%������ 6����
 &��� )���efJMaJHX�cPKIPYJ�d̂PMHLJ%������ R�� &��� Q�	�d̂PMHLJ>�����
������	 R�� )��	��g����������
��?�A R��/������h R�� �����	����
������	 R��*������� R�� *����
������	� R��cHMLP�diHjJ�[MO\)���� 6����� &��	����
3�����������
��� �������cHMLP�diHjJ�ZJĤ_MJ&���
��	� R�� B���� R��6�	�����
�������� R�� &���������������� R��J̀LMPP\)��	� <5�<k *��� <1�8kWJHXMPP\)��	� <1�1k *��� 94�9kWOi�SPP\



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��%������
�'D����E�%�����?��	�F
A)��	� ;;�5G *��� ;9�9GHIJKLMNO�PJJQ)��	� ;8�RG *��� ;R�1GSTUNOVJO�WJLKQN�����	��������� 21<�1����X��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��D�������>���	���	��	
����E����	���%���������E����	������
�����	���	��������������������	���	�����������E�����������E����	�������
��	����	
��
��������	���	
����	���D�������	���	�����������F�����	������
���	E��������	�������	����	
����	����	
3������������
���	������	�F�����	����������	�E���	���������	���	�����������E����	����&���������������	����������	�������E�������������������������	�	��������
�	����������������&����������������
������E����������
���������
��E������������������������E����	���

GHIJK�LMKN/D=* -3������/D= &�����2�������
�O�?�

�
�'F�����	��A 1����(�����	���=����� 8;1����6����=������?�����	E�����
A 9�54:����PQPRS� TUVTW�XYZ



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��D�������>���	���	��	
����E����	���%�������?��	�F
A������
 1����@�������������
 G8;1����@�������������
�?G8;1����A��H���
��������
�?1����A�I�H�����������
������������������E�������������J�����
����������������J����
��J�����	���	
��������
��	����������	E��������	����������������	
������	���	��	��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6��=����	��DE F! �!�G �� FEHIJKLM>����	�� 9N�111������ O�	��� 9N���	���PQRSTUTJLV>����	�� N1�111������ O�	��� N1���	���WQTTQKLQV�PSTXQTJULQV>����	�� @	������
������ O�	��� N1���	���YQJZKLZS�[KKLKUJVMS>����	�� N1�111������ O�	��� N1���	���



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����������(����	�D�E�FG�! H#!� I�JF�K�GK#L MDN�� FO P�J 211� 'Q�����	��/�����211� -36RSTUVWXYZ[�\S]̂SXZ�_̀ab�\TcdccYe��RSTUVWXY�fVec�Yefge[Yech�eXTiScUc]j̀[�kgfSYl̂YŶcSZ�m[nhXXW�oVeclfêT[�p̀m_�oqUX�rfêc[�sturZ�kdv[�k̂gXYZ�wwaxyar_z�on�dnu[�uiXXUYZ�_z{�neXXU�|xnhfg}UX�n̂U~Xg[�f̂SeXW��c~XgY[��Ucei��gcSe�dVT}Xe�nXfeY��RSTUVWXY�y[|fj�lfSVfU�Wĝ~Xg���cgXxf�e��VhxWc|S��gXTÛSX��fSW��[|fj�lfSVfU��gcSe�hfYYXS]Xg���cgXxf�e�|̂ei�lfSVfUgXTÛSX�̀[�rfŴcZ�o�x���neXgXc��RSTUVWXY�y�YhXf}XgY�fSW�YhXXW�TclhXSYfeXW�~cUVlX̀��[�n�����cllVŜTfêcSY���\SeXgef̂SlXSe�njYeXl����RSTUVWXY�XSifSTXW�~ĉTX�gXTc]ŜêcS�TcllVŜTfêcS�fSW�XSeXgef̂SlXSe�YjYeXl���̀w{�b�v�YTgXXS�̂S�TXSeXg�YefT}�ohhb̂S}���__�oYŶYe�fSW�Ylfge�Tifg]̂S]��nd�hcgè��[��cgW�fYY��cSSXTe����RSTUVWXY��s�bk\�u[̂�̂�iceYhce�eife�TcSSXTeY�Vh�ec�_��WX~̂TXY��̂STUVWXY�f�|̂gXUXYY�Wfef�eĝfU�eife��X]̂SY�VhcSok�k�fTê~fêcS�fSW�XqĥgXY�fe�eiX�XSW�c��p�lcSeiY�cg�|iXS�psd�c��Wfef�̂Y�VYXW��|îTiX~Xg�TclXY��̂gYe���Ve�TfSSceXqeXSW��XjcSW�eiX�eĝfU�YV�YTĝhêcS�hXĝcW��cg�gXlceX��XfeVgXỲ�kc�fTê~feX��]c�ec�|||̀feèTclx�cgW�̀�rXlceX�Yefge|̂ei�YhXT̂�̂T�êlX�YTiXWVÛS]��UcT}�fSW�VSUcT}��UcTfeX�hfg}XW�~XîTUX�fSW�TiXT}�~XîTUX�YefeVY��eiX��cgW�fYY�ohh�fSWTclhÛlXSefgj�TcSSXTeXW�YXg~̂TXY�fgX�gX�V̂gXW��cg�gXlceX��XfeVgXY��YXX��cgW�fYY�eXglY��cg�WXef̂UY�̀��cSSXTeXWYXg~̂TXY�fSW��XfeVgXY�WXhXSW�cS�Tclhfê�UX�ok�k�SXe|cg}�f~f̂Uf�̂Ûej̀�\~cU~̂S]�eXTiScUc]jxTXUUVUfg�SXe|cg}Yx~XîTUXTfhf�̂Ûej�lfj�Ûl̂e��VSTêcSfÛej�fSW�hgX~XSe�chXgfêcS�c��TcSSXTeXW��XfeVgXỲ��cSSXTeXW�YXg~̂TXY�XqTUVWX�u[̂�̂iceYhce�̀�#���G� KL 44� '	��	�.�2�;B�'������� %&>RSTUVWXY�fVec�Yefge[Yech�eXTiScUc]j̀<<: &��	�������	.�:�%���
���������� %&>%&>�� 9�:2������*���� %&>%&>/� /�=*.�&�> %&>����EJ����K��J %&>&* &����.�55;3�;*28��%��%= %&>%&>=B =�����.�28��%������3%�������%��������	��
�6���� %&>



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����������(����	��?��	�D
AE�F�GH�! I#!� J�KG�L�HL#M NEO�P<@ =�����.�28Q�%��
���%����R���	��
�����	�� S;4;�11;2@ T�	��%�����=���� S221�11*��������������	U�������	
������	������VWXYZ[\]�̂_W_�]̀ab\�c_b\d�ef\\Y�WZc�eb\WXf�aW[�gaXhiE� HK�j�E� H�k�Ll m 6�����)��	��n������%���� %&>VWXYZ[\]�opeaq�̂aWZaY�[b_r\b�stub\vatcd�Z̀v[ueWd�b\XY_W\w�aW[�xpeaq�̂aWZaY�tbuWc�̀a]]\Wy\b�stub\vatc�e_cf�̂aWZaYb\XY_W\wizH{���z�HL#MK ��+-& T�	���	�����	������������	 %&>21P=n 21PQ�=�������� %&>%&>*> *�
��.��T3)T�%����� %&>VWXYZ[\]�o�]̀\ah\b]�aW[�]̀\\[�Xû \̀W]ac\[�ruYẐ \iVWXYZ[\]|p�}~����û ẐW_Xac_uW]����Wc\bca_Ŵ \Wc�}q]c\̂��VWXYZ[\]�\WfaWX\[�ru_X\�b\XuyW_c_uW�Xû ẐW_Xac_uW�aW[�\Wc\bca_Ŵ \Wc�]q]c\̂ d�xi�������]Xb\\W�_W�X\Wc\b�]caXhd�̀ �̀_Whd������]]_]c�aW[�]̂ abc�Xfaby_Wy��}��̀ubcip��ub[�a]]��uWW\Xc��VWXYZ[\]�x�������_p�_�fuc]̀uc�cfac�XuWW\Xc]�Z̀�cu����[\r_X\]�s_WXYZ[\]�a�e_b\Y\]]�[aca�cb_aY�cfac��\y_W]�Z̀uW�����aXc_rac_uW�aW[�\�̀_b\]�ac�cf\�\W[�ut���̂uWcf]�ub�ef\W�����ut�[aca�_]�Z]\[d�ef_Xf\r\b�Xû \]�t_b]cd��Zc�XaWWuc�\�c\W[�\quW[�cf\�cb_aY�]Z�]Xb_̀c_uW�̀\b_u[�tub�b\̂ uc\�t\acZb\]i��u�aXc_rac\d�yu�cu�eeeiacciXû vtub[wi��\̂ uc\�]cabc�e_cf]̀\X_t_X�c_̂\�]Xf\[ZY_Wyd�YuXh�aW[�ZWYuXhd�YuXac\�̀abh\[�r\f_XY\�aW[�Xf\Xh�r\f_XY\�]cacZ]�scf\��ub[�a]]��̀ �̀aW[Xû Ỳ_̂\Wcabq�XuWW\Xc\[�]\br_X\]�ab\�b\�Z_b\[�tub�b\̂ uc\�t\acZb\]�s]\\��ub[�a]]�c\b̂]�tub�[\ca_Y]wi��uWW\Xc\[]\br_X\]�aW[�t\acZb\]�[\̀\W[�uW�Xû àc_�Y\������W\ceubh�ara_Ya�_Y_cqi��ruYr_Wy�c\XfWuYuyqvX\YYZYab�W\ceubh]vr\f_XY\Xàa�_Y_cq�̂aq�Y_̂_c�tZWXc_uWaY_cq�aW[�̀b\r\Wc�ù\bac_uW�ut�XuWW\Xc\[�t\acZb\]i��uWW\Xc\[�]\br_X\]�\�XYZ[\��_p�_fuc]̀ucwi<2� '	��	��n����������� S2;1�112;9 )��	��B���	���������n������ -36}caW[ab[�_W�]cac\]�b\�Z_b_Wy�ceu�Y_X\W]\�̀Yac\]�aW[�ùc_uWaY�cu�aYY�ucf\b]i<8n '�����������6�����%��
� S29;�11



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����������(����	��?��	�D
AE�F�GH�! I#!� J�KG�L�HL#M NEO�;1P )��	��Q�*����)�����B�	�����36�����R��� S511�11TUVWXYZ[�[\]UY]̂Y�_̂̀U\�]UY�̂Z]̂�V]̂aZ\ZY�_Ẁ̀ �̂b]\[c;16 )��	��Q�*����)�����B�	�����3��6�����R��� S2d1�11eZWZ\Z[�[\]UY]̂Y�_̂̀U\�]UY�̂Z]̂�V]̂aZ\ZY�_Ẁ̀ �̂b]\[c;1C 6�����R�� S211�11d9' *������%�����%����� S<4;�11f̀Ug�̂]UgZ�hi\j�V̀U_îb]\ìUc�TUVWXYZ[�k�[Za]̂]\Z�lZm�_̀n[cd96 %������/���
� S521�11J� F���oMKH FF�!�p�HL#MK)qB�q 6�����(���	�0����%�r�s%�
�
�6�����P�� S9;�11TUVWXYZ[�]YtX[\]nWZ�V]̂ m̂iUg�[\̂]a�]UY�ù Ŷ�Ẁg̀c�vjiaaZY�[Za]̂]\ZWm�_̂̀b�\jZ�wZjiVWZ�_̀̂�YZ]WẐ�iU[\]WW]\ìUc�xjZ[Z_Z]\X̂Z[�]̂Z�̀̂YẐZY�\ĵ X̀gj�yze{�̀UWmcP'6�/ 6�����(���	�0����%�r�s%�
�
�B�����)��
�	� S41�11TUVWXYZ[�ù Ŷ�Ẁg̀c�vjiaaZY�[Za]̂]\ZWm�_̂̀b�\jZ�wZjiVWZ�_̀̂�YZ]WẐ�iU[\]WW]\ìUc�xjZ[Z�_Z]\X̂Z[�]̂Z�̀̂YẐZY�\ĵ X̀gjyze{�̀UWmcP'6�) 6�����(���	�0����%�r�s%�
�
�%��	
��
�)��
�	� S:1�11TUVWXYZ[�ù Ŷ�Ẁg̀c�vjiaaZY�[Za]̂]\ZWm�_̂̀b�\jZ�wZjiVWZ�_̀̂�YZ]WẐ�iU[\]WW]\ìUc�xjZ[Z�_Z]\X̂Z[�]̂Z�̀̂YẐZY�\ĵ X̀gjyze{�̀UWmc|<|�' 6�	����6�	�����+	s}�������%�r����6�	�����}���� S9:1�11TUVWXYZ[�V̀YZY�ẀVlc�vjiaaZY�[Za]̂]\ZWm�_̂̀b�\jZ�wZjiVWZ�_̀̂�YZ]WẐ�iU[\]WW]\ìUc�xjZ[Z�_Z]\X̂Z[�]̂Z�̀̂YẐZY�\ĵ X̀gjyze{�̀UWmc�qC�P )�������
�~�� S;1�11vjiaaZY�[Za]̂]\ZWm�_̂̀b�\jZ�wZjiVWZ�_̀̂�YZ]WẐ�iU[\]WW]\ìUc�xjZ[Z�_Z]\X̂Z[�]̂Z�̀̂YẐZY�\ĵ X̀gj�yze{�̀UWmc



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����������(����	��?��	�D
AE�F�GH�! I#!� J�KG�L�HL#M NEO��PQ�R *��
�%�
���������	���S�� T81�11UVWXXYZ�[YX\]\̂Y_̀�a]bc�̂VY�dYVWe_Y�ab]�ZY\_Y]�Wf[̂\__\̂Wbfg�hVY[Y�aY\̂i]Y[�\]Y�b]ZY]YZ�̂V]bijV�klmn�bf_̀g>;'�> =����oB����	��B���-��� T8;�11UVWXXYZ�[YX\]\̂Y_̀�a]bc�̂VY�dYVWe_Y�ab]�ZY\_Y]�Wf[̂\__\̂Wbfg�hVY[Y�aY\̂i]Y[�\]Y�b]ZY]YZ�̂V]bijV�klmn�bf_̀gpF��H�q�HL#MK 4<5 >�������*�		�	��B�����?>*BA T<;�11*�r���������
�)+-���
��sbftebfaWji]\u_Yg�vYX_\eY[�̂VY�[̂\fZ\]Z�wbfaWji]\u_Y�m\̀ ŴcY�viffWfj�x\cX[�ymvxzg45< �������/���� T581�11*�r���������
�)+-���
��{fZ�]b|�[WZY�\fZ�_Wâj\̂Yg}1% *�����������	��%�	��� T5<;�11*�r���������
�)+-���
��4}R >�����(����	�@��&��:�%r�����)���Q������� -3�*�r���������
�)+-���
��~WfWcic�\ffi\_�b]ZY]�ba�{��ifŴ[g��b]�b]ZY]�X]beY[[�ZŶ\W_[��jb�̂b�|||gab]ZebccY]eW\_j]\XVWe[gebcg4}6 >�����(����	�@��&��25�%r�����)���Q������� -3�*�r���������
�)+-���
��~WfWcic�\ffi\_�b]ZY]�ba�{��ifŴ[g��b]�b]ZY]�X]beY[[�ZŶ\W_[��jb�̂b�|||gab]ZebccY]eW\_j]\XVWe[gebcg4}> >�����(����	�@��&��2:�%r�����)���Q������� -3�*�r���������
�)+-���
��~WfWcic�\ffi\_�b]ZY]�ba�{��ifŴ[g��b]�b]ZY]�X]beY[[�ZŶ\W_[��jb�̂b�|||gab]ZebccY]eW\_j]\XVWe[gebcg



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����������(����	��?��	�D
AE�F�GH�! I#!� J�KG�L�HL#M NEO�4P' >�����(����	�@��&��5;�%Q�����)���R������� -3�*�Q���������
�)+-���
��STUTVWV�XUUWXY�Z[\][�Ẑ�_̀�WUTabc�dZ[�Z[\][�e[Zf]bb�\]aXTYbg�hZ�aZ�iiiĉZ[\fZVV][fTXYh[XejTfbcfZVc4P) >�����(����	�@��&��<1�%Q�����)���R������� -3�*�Q���������
�)+-���
��STUTVWV�XUUWXY�Z[\][�Ẑ�_̀�WUTabc�dZ[�Z[\][�e[Zf]bb�\]aXTYbg�hZ�aZ�iiiĉZ[\fZVV][fTXYh[XejTfbcfZVc4P/ >�����(����	�@��&��;;�%Q�����)���R������� -3�*�Q���������
�)+-���
��STUTVWV�XUUWXY�Z[\][�Ẑ�_̀�WUTabc�dZ[�Z[\][�e[Zf]bb�\]aXTYbg�hZ�aZ�iiiĉZ[\fZVV][fTXYh[XejTfbcfZVc>4@ k����.�B������������	� -3692B %����&���.������&���� -3692- %����&���.�R�	����&�����'Q�����	�+	�� -3692) %���l&���.�-����	���)�����%������ m1�1192� %���l&���.����)�����&�����'Q�����	� -3692n %���l&���.�n	�����
��&�����'Q�����	� m1�1192R %���l&���.�R�		�	��&�����'Q�����	� -3692o %���l&���.��
���	�%���� m1�1192p %���l&���.�n	�����
��l�+- -36



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�'������<
��)=>�%�?@1)A������B���.�55;�7�C�����+>.�%&�&''%6�����������(����	��?��	�D
AE�F�GH�! I#!� J�KG�L�HL#M NEO�926 %���P&���.�Q6�&�����%�������+	�� R1�1192@ %���P&���.�/�	�����&�����S�
� -36)B�>6* )������
������	��6��
�� R1�11)+-�B5 )�����)�	���(�
���>���.�&S> -36;TU )��
�@%�-����	���)�����+	��	�����)��
@%�-����	���P�2131<352 R1�11VWLKKL#MK <5; ;1P%�����'������	��%����� %&>X�M�� F�YM"# (*>'*2 +	������(�
���>���.�1:32T35152 -36%&�*&2 %����P@��>���.�2235<35152 -36)+-�B2 )�	���(�
���>���.�&S> -36S@+B>2 S���
P(���>���.�&S> -36



����������	
�����������������������������������������������	 ����!�"#����

$%&'()�*+,-,./%���0���1�23#4��1���5��6�"�67��	 �#�89��:;:�;��<=�	"#�457>?@�<?A�<7�B@C7��D�7E��
�#���F�;F����
����	��C��1���==�� 	�"�C"��
�G��H��9�>D�;��1�@!�DI�����	�I�@�	6���I�9�9�7��	 �#�:������:��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ /���4����������������� !"!#"$ $$-��0����:��;���&�	���	�-��	���������������3���������	��������	���<����	�����������3��������
�����������0����	��������������	���������������
�����
��0�������������	�������	
�	�����
������	�����	
�����
�
������	�������������������������	��	����������	��������=�����	��������
�����
���
������������������3��������������
���������3�	
��

����	����	3�������	������:�����������������������	�����	����������	3����
�
������	��������3����3���������	������������	����������:�����
�����������������������������	�����������3���������������6����/����
��>?@AB?�CD@E?FGE�H4I/+;I+-��+1�%2II-���2I��;�+��I/J* .K#K.,#) ��H+L�2ILM�IH/:�%H/1�&H;



����������	
������������������������� ������������������������������������� !������"#�!��������"����������$��������%���&��'�$�����(��)*+�,�-�)��.�/������0�*1�1�&��2*�34������,�#��
����%������.��������&+�&�������� ��(���#�����(� ���#���,����� �%������.��������& �"&����.�(5����/�6���� 7���������895���:�����& �/�6�����+����&�����������.������� �;



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ ���&�	3�����
�4������:;<= >=?@ABCDB;E FGHIJK?=�L=MB@N=0!8 6����4�������������70!89 O)*�!$,�  IK@PKQ=?! !� R�
���&�
��! !� +"&STUVWXYZ[\�]T̂_TY[�̀abc�def_�gh�eVYi\eWYV��STUVWXYZ�jklm�_TnYUm_kTa��\�oWmk�pmqlm\pmkj�pr_mUs�fYVYmY����fYVYmYZ�tWmmkT�kT�XqZs�rs_Us�X_ZqtVYZ�qWmk�Zmqlm\Zmkj�mYUsTkVk̂ua�fYVYmYZ�qWmk�Zmkj\ZmqlmmYUsTkVk̂u�X_ZqtVY�tWmmkT�kT�XqZsv�skrYwYlv�msY�xYqmWlY�lYyq_TZ�jYlyqTYTmVu�qUm_wYa\�zlqTZy_ZZ_kT[�{|\pjX�oWmkyqm_U�r}~f���pYVYUmps_xm��STUVWXYZ�qWi_V_qlu�mlqTZy_ZZ_kT�k_V�UkkVYla\�̀a�̀�oiVY��qm_k\��g��[��vb||�VtZ\�z_lYZ[��̀b}hb�{h��{�{}{{����op��p�\��sYYVZ[�{h��p_VwYl�pmYYV�r}�VqU���WtUqj\�fql��dqVq��k��lqu�g_TuV��WU�Ym�pYqmZ��STUVWXYZ��\rqu�yqTWqV�Xl_wYl�ZYqmv��\rqu�yqTWqV�jqZZYT̂Yl�ZYqm�qTX�Xl_wYl�qlylYZm�kTVua\�g_TuV�elkTm��WU�Ym�pYqmZ\��qX_k[�o�}e��pmYlYk��STUVWXYZ��a|��yWVm_\xWTUm_kT�X_ZjVquv��VWYmkkmsv�XWqV��p��jklmZ�qTX���ZjYq�YlZ��xlkTm�aI;�=ADAKBE##* �	��	���)�,2��%1��4��%���.%��� �	���
�
STUVWXYZ�jklm�_TnYUm_kTaSTUVWXYZ[\�oWmk�pmqlm\pmkj�pr_mUs�fYVYmY��fYVYmYZ�tWmmkT�kT�XqZs�rs_Us�X_ZqtVYZ�qWmk�Zmqlm\Zmkj�mYUsTkVk̂ua�fYVYmYZ�qWmk�Zmkj\ZmqlmmYUsTkVk̂u�X_ZqtVY�tWmmkT�kT�XqZsv�skrYwYlv�msY�xYqmWlY�lYyq_TZ�jYlyqTYTmVu�qUm_wYa��� -��	�������	��! .��
�����������"R1������������3� �	���
�
STUVWXYZ�qWi_V_qlu�mlqTZy_ZZ_kT�k_V�UkkVYla�() )�()������/���� �	���
�
�-1�4 �40/��#�,  ���� �	���
�
,(� ����������.������������1����� �	���
�
fYVYmYZ�tWmmkT�kT�XqZs�rs_Us�X_ZqtVYZ�qWmk�Zmqlm\Zmkj�mYUsTkVk̂ua�fYVYmYZ�qWmk�Zmkj\ZmqlmmYUsTkVk̂u�X_ZqtVY�tWmmkT�kT�XqZsv�skrYwYlv�msY�xYqmWlY�lYyq_TZ�jYlyqTYTmVu�qUm_wYa�M==N?����BA=?�-1-/ -������$),"�,/!�&�!$!"!!#�/���6�0 �	���
�
�-102 0�������!�5��������������"6���������� �	���
�




��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ ���&�	3�����
�4�������7��	�:
9;<=> ?>@ABCDEC<F GHIJH>KE@�L�H>KE�MBCN4 4�	���%��	��6����������� O	���
�
$!� 1�����������������4�	���6���������� O	���
�
PQRSTUVW�XYZ[\�][QT[S�Û_̀V̂�WV[ab�XYZ[\�][QT[S�c[WWVQdV̂�WV[a�[QU�Û_̀V̂�[̂]̂VWa�eQS\fgEh>B�gDEC<F@��O+- i�	���	�����	������������	 �-1!) 06 !) 5�0�������� �-1j & &������&�	������"�
�����������
2�����	��1�����7��219 k)$,�  lmV�nopq�rV[aT̂V�_W�d̂V[a�rê�R_a\�Û_̀_Qds�_a�[SSeZW�amV�Û_̀V̂�ae�WVa�[Q�TccV̂�WcVVU�S_]_a�rê�amVV̀m_RSVf�Pr�amV�̀Vm_RSV�tVd_QW�ae�[cĉe[Rm�amV�TccV̂�WcVVU�S_]_a�amVQ�[TU_tSV�[QU�̀_WT[S�Z[̂Q_Qd�[̂Vd_̀VQf,(� 1�����&�	������
�%��	�"/������u��"&v�w����� k*j �  xV[a�_W�U_Wâ_tTaVU�r̂e]�̂V[̂�er�r̂eQaYc[WWVQdV̂�WV[af�nyz�_W�U_Wâ_tTaVU�r̂e]�amV�̂V[̂�er�̀[Qf,*{ /�
�����i"%i������� O	���
�
PQRSTUVW�|f}~�]TSa_YrTQRa_eQ�U_WcS[\b��STVaeeamb�UT[S��o��cêaW�[QU�|�WcV[�V̂W��r̂eQa�f��>>E�gDEC<F@0�/�+- %�����&�����������������	�2�����
0����	�� +"&/�����������
�%O+���
���êU�_W�_QR̂V[W_Qd�amV��Y\V[̂��}b}}}Y]_SV�S_]_aVU�ceZV̂â[_Q�Z[̂ [̂Qa\�ae��Y\V[̂Wb��}}b}}}�]_SVWf�QS\��SVVa�cT̂Rm[WV̂W�Z_am�[�̀[S_U��SVVa�PUVQa_r_R[a_eQ��T]tV̂���P��ReUV��Z_SS�̂VRV_̀V�amV�V�aVQUVUZ[̂ [̂Qa\f��mVQ�amV�W[SV�_W�VQaV̂VU�_Qae�amV�W[SVW�̂Vcêa_Qd�W\WaV]�Z_am�[�W[SVW�a\cV�rSVVa�[SeQd�Z_am[�̀[S_U��P��ReUVb�amV�Z[̂ [̂Qa\�V�aVQW_eQ�Z_SS�[Tae][a_R[SS\�tV�[UUVU�ae�amV�̀Vm_RSVf�lmV�V�aVQW_eQZ_SS�Wa[\�Z_am�amV�̀Vm_RSV�V̀VQ�_r�_a�_W�WTtWV�TVQaS\�WeSU�ae�[�QeQYrSVVa�RTWae]V̂�tVrêV�amV�V�c_̂[a_eQflm_W�V�aVQW_eQ�[ccS_VW�ae�team�d[W�[QU�U_VWVS�ceZV̂â[_QWf�qV[SV̂W�R[Q�RmVR��rê�amV�Z[̂ [̂Qa\V�aVQW_eQ�eQ�VS_d_tSV�rSVVa�̀Vm_RSVW�_Q��noPof��SV[WV�̂VrV̂�ae�amV��[̂ [̂Qa\�[QU��eS_R\��[QT[SWVRa_eQ��f��f}}��[W��Qd_QV�ze]]V̂R_[S��[̂ [̂Qa\f�lm_W�Rm[QdV�Z_SS�[SWe�tV�̂VrSVRaVU�_Q�amV�ĉ_QaVU�[̂ [̂Qa\��T_UVU�U_Wâ_tTaVU�Z_am�amV�cT̂Rm[WV�er�V̀V̂\�QVZ�̀Vm_RSVf�NC@@C<F@�$, , .�������������	�������� �-1�FE>BC<B�;<�<B4�� ! 1���������������� +"&



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ ���&�	3�����
�4�������7��	�:
9;<=> ?>@ABCDEC<F GHIJKLE>BC<B�;<M<B8NO ! PQ3��
�0���� +"&�R6-P-�2 S)#�)! �  1����	����	�&����� S!�T#,�  -P-�2 SU!�  ,�  



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<������=>?@AB>CABD :E���������	�����$!#�#5 D:E���������
����*!�)5D :E���������������*)�#5 D0����������!) � 5D %��	���������F*�$5 D/�����������F*�F5D -��	�	����
�����$!�,G D%��	�����������H!�)5D %��	�����
������H �*5 D%��	�����������F �(5D %��	�������
���������F(�#5 D&������������$HF�(���3��ICJ@KLKM>AD $(,���)�,2�1NO&�$H�����4.F��	��	��������������������	����������"
�������	������	 D/������	
�
�3���������������	���
�
D P2:4�QQ D�! �����
��������������	�������	���������
���D /���.������
��� D%����:��	����&����+"�D %����:��	����O��������+"� D&�������3����3�����RSBT@AB>CAUVMAWX>AYD %��	���	
���	
�	�������������	���	�������	��.�������� D/��������
��E������3�����	�������	���	�������������������D :�������������.�����������.��	��	�������	� D%��	���	
������!F�E�F�,�����	��������������D 2-$),"F,�/!F�&6�0����3��	���	
�����������ZCW[�\]L@K>CKD )�
���� D���
�	������������������	���D 1������	
������	��������������������	����3��
�	�
����������� D6�����
�����������D 6������������ D&������������	�D %��	���	
������!F�E�F�,������� D!��������������7�9ĈA_@A>@À@D a�	����������	
����	�	� bc@MK�Vdêb K̂S>B@�̀CALKCX�J>Lf�BL@@K>AY�Jf@@X�̀CALKCXB bgCKW�̂ChI>XCLijk�h�ê �̂J>Lf�eRl=�W>BLMÀ@TM̀>AYD ������3��	����	
��� D1�����!.������
��	D /������������
���������������$��������	������	
������	���
��	��� Da�	���������������	�������D a�	���������������������	������� D%��
�����&�		����H���	���	���������D :�����	����N� D0�����������	����		�������D !�!�������2&1���	���� D%��	��������
���D �1������	
������	����
������	�R@MLB�MAW�mK>?



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9> �����	������������3�$ >%��	��������������> ?.����
�����������
������	� >?.���������	����������
������	�> 1������������ >@����.������	������	����	����	����ABCDECFGBHDBC�IDFCJEDK> �@"%@����������
�� >��L���������
����	���> :L���	������������	���� >������	�����������	��
���
�����	�����> ?��������� >�������	����
��> %�L�
��	��		�MGNOCGBNP�QGKGRGSGCT�FBU�VBKCEJHDBCFCGWB> X�����	�����.�������������
������ >1����.�33����
������> ������	"�33����
������ >4���������	��������	��3��	����	
�����
�������> 2�������	��
���	
��� >%��	�����
�	��������> -��������� >&�����7�9�.�����> 2��������������������	�	� >-�����
������> 2�	��
��������YFZDCT�FBU�YD[JEGCT> ?.�������6�������� >6�������������������������
���	����> :�������������	������� >?.������
����������> %��
�&�.�����)\ ��"��
��0�	
�������������	:������	���������������	���� >�6���	
�
�����	���������	���	����> 1����3��	������������������������	�����������	������������������	������	��� >1������������	��
���
������������������������	����������	��������> ��3����&�	�����������������	�!�������������
���������������	�����������	�������� >���������������	�����������	���������������	����	���> �������������
���������������$��������	������	
��	�������� >������2���������������> @�	�������
���������3��	�����
��������	�� >%��
�&�.�����)\ �.����.&�������	����������������������:�����	���6����	��7�:69�%������]GHDBKGWBK_̂̀_abc�d_efghi&��� ?�#*,����� �40/ #�,  �����������
 ?�?\ �����jak̀h�d_efghi%��	����0/ ?�!) �����l_ba�d_efghi/������0/ ,�(, �����



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9>?@?ABC�DABEC?AE@F-���	���������� ,)  ����� �&0/ ! *  �����GH?C�DB@I�JKL?&������� $,�!����� &�������3����3����� 8��MNN�OPBQ2��
�3����������� $#�5R@J?AEPA�SBAFP&���������� $TU�(����3�� V����� ,U�#�52�	��� !$U� �5 W�	�������
�� ,T�*�5W�X�������
�� ( �$�5YZ[\]̂]_̀ab@FE@?�DKL?6������������� �����	�� &���	
��� 4.UV��
��������� �����	�� c�	����	 �����c	������	 ����"
�������	������	 2����� �)�,2d���	�����	 2�	����
�	�� /������	
�
�3��� /��������	���
�
4�������������	
�� T 4�������	 1dV&4��������������	���� 8��b@FE@?�eL?S6��� )�UT5 &���������	������ !!�*�!1���������	� $!)�����	� ������ )�T!5b@FE@?�fPg?Ad����� �$(,�V��h�U�$, �/�W -��;�� �$U �3��.���h�T�   �/�WiCJ?A@BJPA���� $, jBJJ?AK��������� ( /�	�
��	����������	 8��DAB@klEkkEP@:������	�����	���� 8�� 2���.�� 8��d��
��� 8�� ����
 ! -��� ���������DAB@klEkkEP@�>?BA�OBJEPk!�� T�U*# $	
 $�#*,)�
 $�!TU T�� !�(U#,�� !�,$ U�� !�$(,(�� ! *��  �*,T



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9#��  �>*# ! ��  �>)>/����������������� ?�*>>@ABCDEFDDFGC�HIJABDKLMNOMPQRST�UVRWQ�XYPQZYT [MU \��������� /�������
���]AF̂_�@̀a_-��� /���.�����]AF̂_�b_BJcA_-������	���	���� �6���	
�
�����	�]AF̂_�dIe_/���� )�()HIfBcDJg������� ����	���������� ����������� ��	���HEFDDFGCD&�/6 h2:4�ii :�� -����$�6�	�,jc_e�HkGCGÈ%�������� ������	�bc_e�HkGCGÈ �ldeJ_ACBJ_�mn%�������� :*,oZRpMSqRTRQrsABt_D�6� ?.����� �6�����		��� ?-��� ?.������
��� 4�	��
�
���� %��	�:�������������	������� 8��sABt_�dDDFDJBCk_6����������� 8�� u�������
���	���� 8��vcDa_CDFGC�wGCJAGe/�
� /������ :������	���������������	���� ������������	����������	��.����bAGCJ�vcDa_CDFGCi	
���	
�	�� i	
���	
�	� -��� ������	��.�������� /������bAGCJ�vaAFCx-��� &��� ���
� /������bAGCJ�vfGktD



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9-��� /������>?@A�BCDE?FDGHFI	
���	
�	�� /���
��J�� -��� 2��3>?@A�BEAGFK-��� 2��3 ���
� /������>?@A�BLHMND-��� O1BP??AGFK��������	 :�������������.������ -��� /���.��	��	BP??AGFK�BE?MDQ��3������� $RSTUVWXVYAHFP�ZL??[D1������� !\5 0�
�� \�, 5>?@A�ZL??[D1������� !\5 0�
�� \�, 5BE@A?�ZL??[D0������������� �����YAHFP�@F]�>?@A�ZL??[D�������	�� ����	� �̂������ �����&���� O��YAHFP�_GA?D������ \, 1������� !\5��
������ 6�0 ����
 �-���
 �� -��� 2-0�
�� $),�� 2-����
�����	� &/�̂ ($ >?@A�_GA?D������ \, 1������� !\5��
������ 6�0 ����
 �-���
 �� -��� 2-0�
�� $),�� 2-����
�����	� &/�̂ ($ BE@A?�_GA?�̂�	� 	̀
����
���"���	�
��	 -��� %���.����



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9>?@@AB%��	������� C*�$5 /��������� C*�C5-��	�	����
��� $!�,= 0�������� !) � 5DEFG�H@IJKL@B%��	������	���������������� 8�� 6�
���������� %���������	���
��������
�������������� 8�� /������������7�9 !DEFG�MEELB1�������	� ) /���������������	��� ���
�	�&���� ���������	�.���NOJ@LPEL�MPQ@RBPERB2�	��� $!#�#5 6�
����
�� *!�)56�
�������� *)�#5 %��	������������%��	���S�� T �)5��
��
�������	�	�������� T#�C5 ��
��
�������	�	����
�� ,!�$5/����
�������	�	�������� T#�,5 /����
�������	�	����
�� C!�(5/����
�������	�	��
����� !* � UVWXYZ[PL\I]B1�����3��	�.������ 8�� 1�������
�.������ ��������	��
�̂����	�����	��� 8�� ̂�����
 ��3����&�	�����������������	�!����������	����3��	�.������ &�	�������� �����	������
�.������ ��������	��
_@IJ\@AJ�̀������
�������� %��	� ���.��	���	��� %��	����.��	���	����7a9 $_@bKLPJGc���������� ������2��� ��	�������� 8��UXVYdefgIBB@R]@L�hIiIbPJG&������� $HLERJ�_@IJB����� 6������ -��� 6�����MLPj@L�_@IJ%���"�3� k�	��� /����	�	� k�	���0���
�������	���	���� TgIBB@R]@L�B@IJ



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9%���"�3� >�	��� /����	�	� >�	���0���
�������	���	���� ?@ABCD�EFGH�IFJDAGKCD&�	���� >�	��� -��� �
��������@ABCD�LAMAFJD1���� 8��@ABCD�NFGD�OAKM>������� �4�	�� 6������������ 4�	��PQRSTRUTRVTLW�LCH�EFGD�OXYF������	
����	�	� >�	��� Z[T\]�̂_̀ P aTbZcRdT]bT\e�dfVeb aTbLgHKB�NXJDFM��h���������
����	��� 8�� /�
�� �>"%>�������/�
������
� /������ ����.���	 8��:h���	������������	���� :h���	�����������	����LgHKB�NYFGiFAJ������������ /������ �������� ?LgHKB�WBCDABjJ������	����������	����� 8�� �������	����
�� 6������������LgHKB�LCDFCCG-��� %�h�
kWl�mBCKDBAJ!������ ! ����������	����������7�	����9 ?WAgKJF�WBCDABjZP]fUbT�VQRe]QnoUep�beTT]URq�rpTTn�VQRe]Qnb ZsUbe\RVT�t\VURquQ]d�PQvwUnQexyz�v�̀PP�rUep{̀|sWBC}FCKFC~F�@FGDgAFJ1�����3�������� 8�� !$4�1&������������� $:�����	������ �	�������
 0�����������	����		������� 6��������lBBA�kB~i�L~DK}GDKBC-��� �����������$��������	���� /����� ���3���7����
����9�	�������
����"������ 8�� ����������	� 8��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9>??@�A?BC�DEFG-�������"�����
��������H	���
�
������������
��������IJKL@MNGJLOLP?J�DEFG�������	�� �	����IJKL@MNGJLOLP?J�QOMRGK-��������� 8�� :	��	������������� 8��IJKL@MNGJLOLP?J�SO@JPJRKT����������� 8�� :	��	������������� 8��6������ 8�� 2�������	 8��U�� 8�� 2���3��� 8��1�������� 8�� /�������������� 8����������	����� 8�� 6�����3���
 8��2���������������� 8��IJKL@MNGJLOLP?J�>PKFVOEK&���� H	.��
���
������ ����������	���� 8��&�����7�9�.����� 8��IJKL@MNGJLOLP?J�WGOLM@G-�����
������ 8�� 2�	��
�������� 0��	�	�%�����
���������	 X��������	YLGG@PJR�SZGGV�DEFGX������� [�����	� -����	� X�	���-��������	� X�	���W@?JL�YP\G�SPJ\?]K0�	
���!���������������	 �����SPJ\?]�WGOLM@GK!.������
��	 1���� -�	��
 2����2���	���
������ 8��W@?JL�SPJ\KZPGV\0���� 4���������	��������	�_̂̀abcdbeGO\VPJG@&������ %��	� X������� &����WV??@�D@PN&������ %��	� &����	� 4�	��"������



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ �������
�:;����<�������7��	�=
9>?@A�BCDEF?CG	������	����	����	���� H����.���� ��������3������������ I�����	�J@KLE@MK1�������������� %�
� %��	�����
�	� 8��G�����	���
��	��� 8�� 4��������G��������	� 8��BNOO?�POMQONC�REO?DKC������� 8�� -��� �������REO?DKC1�����
������	 8�� %��	��6����������
��7�9 8���������S 2����	� �����	����
������	 8��G	������	����	�� 6�	PD?KO�RTDUC�BCDEF?C2���� 8��JCK?OOA%��	� V!�)5WCDX?OOA%��	� V �*5W@T�YOOA%��	� Z �(5RLOFNXC?�YOOA%��	� Z(�#5



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ 4�������1���	���	��	
����3����	�������������3����	������
�����	���	��������������������	���	�����������3�����������3����	�������
��	����	
��
��������	���	
����	���4�������	���	�����������:�����	������
���	3��������	�������	����	
����	����	
"������������
���	������	�:�����	����������	�3���	���������	���	�����������3����	����-���������������	����������	�������3�������������������������	�	��������
�	����������������-����������������
������3����������
���������
��3������������������������3����	���



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

�������
�������	
�����	����� !"!#"$ $$ �������%��
�&����������%�����'�!())*�+��#$	
�����������������	��'�*,)*$$ $$�-��	���.), �&�����/01�2���/��3�4�	�!) 5�06�6����70!89������2�����$$ 4�������1���	���	��	
����3����	�����������7��	�:
9;<=>?�@A?B�40/ #�,  �����40 -�����!�������
�.�7�

�
�CD�����	��9  ����E�����	���0����� )  ����&����0������7�����	3�����
9 F�#*,����GHGIJ� KLMNK�OPQ������
 F�FR ����S�������������
 F�!R ����T�U�����������
������������������3�������������D�����
����������������D����
��D�����	���	
��������
��	����������	3��������	����������������	
������	���	��	��



����������	�
�������������������
��������������� !"#$%&�'%(�)*�+�(,�����-�./�01�2��'34&56!�1!7!$8����

9:;�<=���	�	>�:4&!?%&!@�(A8B%C@&%�D,CE%$!EFGG56!8��H��)I)��IJ�KL%5$8�BDFM��1K�N4KF O��F P*'FQR#,S!�OP8�����BT�TKP%S!8���U�IU����4!,&5%��,&@�',LL!&65%$��$!!S�V��WJJH�M*�I�C@��7!*X�4!,&5%X��&5E,C%X�H�JH�FGG56!8�)�J���J�)���



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'J�KLMLN�OP�MQRSOTM�,*�.�H�����+I�)2;1%&�&'��1232435155&��B����+��U���6�	���	�&��	���������������V���������	��������	���W����	�����������V��������
�����������B����	��������������	���������������
�����
��B�������������	�������	
�	�����
������	�����	
�����
�
������	�������������������������	��	����������	��������>�����	��������
�����
���
������������������V��������������
���������V�	
��

����	����	V�������	������+�����������������������	�����	����������	V����
�
������	��������V����V���������	������������	����������+�����
�����������������������������	�����������V���������������C����*����
��K X!� �Y#XZ [�Z/(\'*-U'-&��-I�)E''&�%�E'%�U�-�/'*=:1<?4?<;491%/(-,�E',]�'(*+�)(*I�6(U



����������	�
���������������������������������� �!�"�!#$%$&%'#'' �� �(��� ���) **��+(�"��"��,�-�$.//0��1�&'���2�1��� �(���(! ���-�03/0''#''��4$3#�56'���78"���)���913:�� 6�$'';�<=�>?�@�$)A��(+��?�2�"��''3�-�B8 ,���C���$3#�������"�� D�) �,��,EC�E+�(�,( � ��7�) 2�����7� $) 2���?�,,�� '���"�� D�) �,��,E /E�) �D(78����F�G(+"� 5��"�+,����H8(��I����+E 9F�G(+"��C(*��E( ���������D �*��+� $9<�����,� $0



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'���6�	J�����
�K������L#!� M�NO�P�QP#R STU�V N��W�XPOY�)26 C����K�������������F)26G Z54�441�11� O[ \�N211� ']�����	��/�����211��%��	
��
 -36_̂̀abcdefg�h_ij_df�klkm�no�pqr̂��̂_̀abcde�sbtu�etsvtgetuw�td̀x_uauiy�s_c�zad{gzbda�̀sws|jajtylg�}vs_e~jeeju_f�had̀tvu_j̀���g�wddc��btu~stj̀��̂_̀abcde�edad̀ts|ad�cvj�d�~ucdef�_uv~sa��h����ewuvt��tu��xsba��eajwwdvy�s_c�tvsjalg�kl����{ad��stjug��n��f�o�����a|e�psyausc�ps̀�sidg�}jvdef������������������g��xddaef������ja�dv��tddag��autx����������qvu_t��dst��̂_̀abcde��g�sy�~s_bsa�cvj�dv�wseed_idv�sc�bet~d_t�s_c�sv~vdetlg��scjuf����q���tdvdu������wds�dve��̂_̀abcde�sb{jajsvy�sbcju�j_wbt��s̀�l��g�����������̂_̀abcde����m�r�̀sws̀jtj�d�tub̀xèvdd_��jtx�e�jwd�̀sws|jajty���jvdadee�wxu_d�̀u__d̀tju_��̀aubcù__d̀tdc���wwmj_���jtx��ww�̀stsaui�������eejet���wwad��svpasy�s_c��_cvujc��btu�̀u~wstj|jajtys_c�cjijtsa�u�_dve�~s_bsal�#���Q� PR44C '	��	�.�9�9E�K?��)I+ +	���
�
_̂̀abcde�sbtu�etsvtgetuw�td̀x_uauiy�s_c�zad{gzbda�̀sws|jajtyl==/ &��	�������	.�'������	���21<%���
��������� +	���
�
_̂̀abcde�edad̀ts|ad�cvj�d�~ucdef�_uv~sa��h����ewuvt��tu��xsba��eajwwdvy�s_c�tvsjalD24 9�;;��>���*���� +	���
�
%&I/K /KB*.�?�121�����������
�������� +	���
�
�X��YN����P��N%&I&* &����.�5=;381*28�C%B��3% +	���
�
?=6 B�����.�28A�%�����%���� +	���
�
T� QN���T� Q���P�6 6�����=13513=1�)��	��%��� +	���
�
_̂̀abcde��g�sy�~s_bsa�cvj�dv�wseed_idv�sc�bet~d_t�s_c�sv~vdetl�QX�����QP#RN255BC 255A�B�������� %&I



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'���6�	J�����
�K�������F��	�@
GL#!� M�NO�P�QP#R STU���+-& V�	���	�����	������������	 %&I%&I*I *�
��.��V3)V�%�������3=�%������� +	���
�
WXYZ[\]̂�_[̀aZa_bc�_[\ad�aXe[f�g_YhiWXYZ[\]̂jk�lmno�p��WXYZ[\]̂�qr�sot�Y_e_Yafau]�fd[Yv̂Yb]]X�wafv�̂wae]�Y_e_xaZafcy�wab]Z]̂ �̂evdX]�YdXX]YfadXy�YZd[\YdXX]Yf]\y�zeesaXh�wafv�zee�Y_f_Zd{y�|}}�ẑ â̂fy�zeeZ]�o_b~Z_c�_X\�zX\bda\�z[fd�Yd�e_faxaZafc_X\�\a{af_Z�dwX]b̂��_X[_Zi:;� DE�������'������	��/���� �481�11WXYZ[\]̂jk�~dw]b��Z_̂ �̂la\]ua]w��abbdb̂�w��Z_Yh�lh[ZZ�o_ê��WXYZ[\]̂�v]_f�_X\��_X[_Zk�dZ\aX{ik�WZZ[�aX_f]\��Xfbck��c�]ck�~]ba�]f]b�zZ_b�k�~dw]b�tddb�sdYĥ��WXYZ[\]̂��Zae�h]c�_X\�aXf]{b_f]\�h]c�fb_X̂�aff]b�h]cZ]̂ k̂]Xfbc��aXYZ[\]̂�z[fdZdYh�ik�~dw]b��_aZ{_f]�sdYhk�~dw]b��bdXf��aX\dŵ����Q���QP#RN;1% 6������6�	���� �55;�11*�����������
�)+-���
��B�*�-& )�����6�����������������	�E�����
B����	�� -36*�����������
�)+-���
���db\�â�aXYb]_̂aX{�fv]��kc]_b���y���k�aZ]�Za�af]\�edw]bfb_aX�w_bb_Xfc�fd��kc]_b̂y�}��y�����aZ]̂i�XZc��Z]]f�e[bYv_̂]b̂�wafv�_�u_Za\��Z]]f�W\]Xfa�aY_fadX�n[�x]b���Wn�Yd\]��waZZ�b]Y]au]�fv]�]̀f]X\]\w_bb_Xfci��v]X�fv]�̂_Z]�â�]Xf]b]\�aXfd�fv]�̂_Z]̂�b]edbfaX{�̂ĉf]��wafv�_�̂_Z]̂�fce]��Z]]f�_ZdX{�wafv_�u_Za\��Wn�Yd\]y�fv]�w_bb_Xfc�]̀f]X̂adX�waZZ�_[fd�_faY_ZZc�x]�_\\]\�fd�fv]�u]vaYZ]i��v]�]̀f]X̂adXwaZZ�̂f_c�wafv�fv]�u]vaYZ]�]u]X�a��af�â�̂[x̂]�[]XfZc�̂dZ\�fd�_�XdXk�Z]]f�Y[̂fd�]b�x]�db]�fv]�]̀eab_fadXi�vâ�]̀f]X̂adX�_eeZa]̂�fd�xdfv�{_̂�_X\�\a]̂]Z�edw]bfb_aX̂i�t]_Z]b̂�Y_X�Yv]Yh��db�fv]�w_bb_Xfc]̀f]X̂adX�dX�]Za{axZ]��Z]]f�u]vaYZ]̂�aX��zlWli�~Z]_̂]�b]�]b�fd�fv]��_bb_Xfc�_X\�~dZaYc��_X[_Z]̂YfadX��i}�i����_̂��X{aX]�od��]bYa_Z��_bb_Xfci��vâ�Yv_X{]�waZZ�_Ẑd�x]�b]�Z]Yf]\�aX�fv]�ebaXf]\�_bb_Xfc��[a\]\�\âfbax[f]\�wafv�fv]�e[bYv_̂]�d��]u]bc�X]w�u]vaYZ]i�RQ��P#��L#�#�6%�12 C���� -36��Q��P#��L#�#��,�12 (>J��
�B���� -36%�C&(&�E �92�2:;�11I����	����	�6����� �2�?4;�11&(&�E �95�::1�11



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%����LMN�OPM#OPQ '>���������	���.�514�2A Q'>���������
��.�84�4AQ '>�������������.�8;�?A QB��������.�255�1AQ &��	�	����
���.�51�?@ QR�	�����	
�������	��.�:�8AQ )��	���������.�=9�4A Q)��	�����
����.�=1�:AQ )��	���������.�?5�;A Q)��	�������
�������.�??�8AQ �����	���������.�?=�8���S�� Q����������	���.�5=�:�
��Q I����������	���.�5=�?�
�� QR�>����������������.�:�:���S��Q C�>���	���.�8:�1A�#T��U� MOQ 541���9�9E�I(V6�5=�����W<?��	��	�������&�<W6&��������������	����������3
�������	������	 Q���������<������S������Q I������������������
� Q*������	
�
�S����.����������	���
�
Q E'W9<XE'W81 Q�21�����
��������������	�������	���������
���Q *���<������
��� Q)����'��	����6���.�24����Q )����'��	����V������.�5=���� Q6�������S����S�����YZP��OPM#O[\ O!]MÔQ )��	���	
���	
�	��
������������	�������	���	������	��<�������������<��������0�
������� Q*��������
��>������S�����	�������	���	���������<��������0�
�������Q '�������������<�����������<��	��	�%�����	� Q)��	���	
������28�>�8�;�������������������Q �5=;381%*28�C%B��%�S��	���	
�����������_#!̀�abU��M#�Q 5�
���� cL�Md��� O!�� PP�Ô����#T�����N#U��e� U�!fN OZ ]�"#]!MÔ�!##��NM��#�PQ C�����
����������� QC������������Q C�
<��������������� Q'������S����������Q &����������	��� QC�>������.��������Q 6������������	� Q)��	���	
������28�>�8�;�������g#Od�OM�Oh�Q R�	����������	
����	�	� cg�ZMP��h#OU�#]�TMUe�PU���MÔ�Te��]�h#OU�#]Pc �#T���"�#OU�TMO!#TP cL�Md��� O!�� PP�Ô���ijU#Zhe�Z�c L�Md��� O!�� PP�Ô���ijU#Zhe�!#TO ck�N#U���#T���!##��]#hlP�TMUe�m�PU ̂��ZO]#hl O!�M]]ZNMO U�!��OU�̀Q R�	���������������	������� QR�	���������������������	�������Q I��<	������������������� Q)��
�����6�		����=/��	���	���������Q %n-6�=�422��������������	���%(% QB�����������	����		�������Q 5�2�������E6I���	����� Q)��	��������
���



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GL �����	��������������� L)����������
���	����L �I������	
������	����
������	�M� NO� P!�Q�RSL %����	������������T�9 L)��	��=1<51<=1������<��	�������L =<����
�����������
������	� L=<���������	����������
������	�L 6�	����T��	��������� L6��������������������UPN��N RPS�PN�V� NW��OL �X3)X����������
����������
���
���������� L��>���������
����	���L %Y-6�=��>���	������������	���� L%�����	�����������	��
���
�����	�����L =��������� L%������	����
��L )�>�
��	��		�ZR[\NRP[]�̂ROR_R̀RNa� P!�bPON�WS�PN NR#PL c�����	�����<�������������
������ LI����<�TT����
������L ������	3�TT����
������ Ld���������	��������	��T��	����	
�����
�������L E�������	��
���	
��� L)��	�����
�	��������L &��������� Ld��������L (����������������� L6������L (����
��������������
������ L6�����F�G�<�����L E��������������������	�	� L&�����
������L E�	��
��������M "�Na� P!�M�eW�RNaL =<�������C%������� LC�������������������������
���	����L '�������������	������� L=<������
����������L �
�	��&���������6����6�	�����'������	��������������	���� L�C%��	
�
�����	���������	���	����L I����T��	������������������������	�����������	������� LI������������	��
���
������������������������	����������	��������L %�T����6�	����%������������	�2�������������
���������������	�����������	�������� L���������������	�����������	���������������	����	���f g�S#N�� eNRh N�!����RS�N��i ���# e\�̀R[\NRP[ f�#j�����S#N��!##��̀#ekO�jRN\�l�ON [��WP̀#ek P!�� PRe� ̀ �Sf M�eW�RNa�OaON�S�jRN\�M�eW�RZ#ek�RSS#_R̀Rm�� fnao�a���ON�ReN�!�!�RhRP[�S#!�L X�	�������
���������T��	�����
��������	�� L)��
�6�<�����9?1�<����<6�������	����������������������'�����	���C����	��F�'CG�)������pRS�POR#POqrsrtuv�wrxyz{|



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GLMN�O PQRST�UOVW /XB* ?�121�����������
 2�4:;�����YZ[\]�̂ _̀ab]c)��	��/�B* 5�:;1����� Ld�#ef�gN�O�h�ijkf SQlmn�UOVW)��	���>����������� 9�8;1����� )��	������	������	� 5�:;1�����)��	������3�������������� =�1;1�����o_pZ�̂ _̀ab]c*����/�B* 9�;11����� Lq� ��gN�O�h�ijkf rQsst�UOVW*�����>����������� =�:11����� *��������	������	� 9�;11�����*��������3�������������� =�=4:�����uZp̀v_Z̀\a�uwx_y��	��� z�� &��������������	���� z��{_\_Zpv�uZp̀v_Z̀\a;��<����������	���������� ;111����� /����	��������	���������� ;111�����&���	���������� ;111����� /6B* 4=11�����Y|_v�up\}�]wx_6������� 59�12����� 6�������~����~����� z������o[p�����������	��� 5;�
�� I����������	��� 5;�
��*��������������	��� 55�
�� ��	�����	
�������	�� 4�AE��
�~����������� 9=�A��]_Z̀[Z��pZa[E�	��� 8:�1�A ��	�������
�� ;2�2�AX����� ?5�9����~�� ���������>�
���� 52�=�A��>�������
�� ?;�5�A &����������
�� ?1�9�A�\]_Z̀[Z��pZa[��>���������������� :�:����~���#h��f� ie�\à\_�uwx_C������������� �����	�� 6���	
��� X<?y��
��������� �����	�� +�	����	 %����+	������	 ����3
�������	������	 E����� �9�9E(���	�����	 E�	����
�	�� *������	
�
�~��� *��������	���
�
X�������������	
�� = X�������	 I(y6X��������������	���� &�<X6&



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GLMNOMP�QRPSC��� 9�;?A 6���������	������ 25�1.2I���������	� 51=�����	� %����� 9�=2ALMNOMP�TUVPW(����� �541�X��Y�?�;11�*�Z &��J�� �5?;�[��<���Y�=�111�*�Z\]̂PWM_̂UW���� 511_̀̂̂PWa��������� 81 6��
����	��	������ ?21*�	�
��	����������	 b��LMNOMP�LĉW_d���������<������[������ b�� I������������������
� b��eW_MdfOddOUM'������	�����	���� b�� E���<�� b��(��
��� b�� %���
 21&��� ���������eW_MdfOddOUM�gP_W�h_̂OUd2�� =�?4? 5	
 5�4:;9�
 5�2=? =�� 2�8?4;�� 2�;5 ?�� 2�58;8�� 2 :�� 1�:;=4�� 1�?:4 21�� 1�?9?*������/���������� =�:??eW_MdfOddOUM�LĉW_dI������������������
� b�� ij�kl�mno p�qro"n�s#mn�#p t�quWOvP�eaRP&��� *���<�����uWOvP�wP_̂xWP&������	���	���� �C%��	
�
�����	�uWOvP�\c]P*���� 9�;;Lcy_xd̂Z������� %���	���������� %���������� %�	���LfOddOUMd6�*C E'z9<{E'z81 '�� &����9�C�	�81



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GLMNO�PQRSRTU6��� 24���� V������ 5=����)�������� /�����	� 6����	�
 52����WMNO�PQRSRTU�XYOZN[S\ZN�]̂6��� 2=���� V������ 2:����)�������� ':; 6����	�
 2?����_[NNS�̀\OMNa'	�����+������%�����FC���������������G 2;�8 6����	�)��3�&���������	
����������������/V/�F6(5���	����������G :�=bcd��ef�gh� ij�ki#���lm ���no�����f� �p qrst�uv� wunujfx[\yNa�C% =<����� �C%����		��� =&��� =<������
��� z�	��
�
���� )��	���	
�����'�������������	������� {��x[\yN�Yaa|aZ\SQNC����������� {�� V�������
���	���� {��}Ma~NSa|RS��RSZ[RO*�
� *������ '������	���������������	���� %�����������	����������	��<����W[RSZ�}Ma~NSa|RS+	
���	
�	�� +	
���	
�	� &��� I������������	��	��<�������� *������W[RSZ�}~[|S�&��� 6��� /��
� *������W[RSZ�}�RQya&��� /��<��������0�
�N\[�}Ma~NSa|RS+	
���	
�	�� *���
��>�� &��� E����N\[�}~[|S�&��� E��� /��
� *�������N\[�}�RQya&��� /��<��������0�
}ZNN[|S�



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
G��������	 '�������������<������ &��� *���<��	��	LMNNOPQR�LSNTUV��W������� 5XYZ��[#�\O]QM�̂_NǸUI������� 28A B�
�� 8�;1AaNbO�̂_NǸUI������� 28A B�
�� 8�;1ALSbON�̂_NǸUB������������� %����\O]QM�bQc�aNbO�̂_NǸU�������	�� %���� d������� %����6���� e��\O]QM�fPONU������ 81 I������� 28A%�
������ C%B %���
 %&���
 �% &��� �B�
�� 5=;��aNbO�fPONU������ 81 I������� 28A%�
������ C%B %���
 %&���
 �% &��� �B�
�� 5=;��LSbON�fPONd��	� g	
����
���3���	�
��	 &��� )���<��0�^_NǸU&��	�	����
��� 51�?@ B�������� 255�1Ah]ci�\NbMjONUC�
���������� �����	�� %�
�������������� k����������������������� k��h]ci�l]]OUI�������	� 5 6���� &�������mPTnjSC�>������ *������ C�
<��������������� k��'������W���������� k��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GLMNOPQRP�SQTOUVQRUVE�	��� 514�2A C�
����
�� 84�4AC�
�������� 8;�?A )�����������	���
���� =�8����	�)���������
�����	����F���G 9=:11�1 )��	������������)��	���>�� 98�:AW "�XYZQP[\]VI�����̂��	�<������ _�� I�������
�<������ %�������	��
(�����	�����	��� _�� (�����
 %�̂����6�	����%������������	�2����������	����̂��	�<������ _�� �����	������
�<������ %�������	��
Ò\N[OaNb�������
�������� )��	� ���<��	���	��� )��	����<��	���	����FcG 5ÒdePQNf+�������0�� %�����E��� g� hij� k �l m�ngo�nX�ijX�!�!�ipihq�l#!� rYs�YW� Xihqt\VVOU]OP�u\v\dQNf6������� 9wPRUN�̀O\NV%���� =1<51<=1 &��� %����<��	��SPQxOP�̀O\N)���3�̂� y�	��� *����	�	� y�	���B���
�������	���	���� =t\VVOU]OP�VO\N)���3�̂� y�	��� *����	�	� y�	���B���
�������	���	���� =wPRUN�zO\{�|OVNP\QUN6�	���� y�	��� &��� �
��������wPRUN�ZPTPOVN6�	��� _��wPRUN�̀O\N�}PQTy������� �6���� C������������ 6�����



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GL#MN�MO�MP�QR�QST�UVWX�YZ[V������	
����	�	� \�	���Q]T̂_�̀ZaXVb��>���������
����	��� c�� *�
�� �\3)\�������*�
���
���������� c�� *�
������
� *������%���<���	 c�� '>���	������������	���� �%c-6�=Q]T̂_�̀[VWdVea%����������� *������ %������� =Q]T̂_�R_SXe_fa%���
���	����������� c�� %�����	����������	����� c��g�������������	 c�� %������	����
�� C������������Q]T̂_�QSXVSSW&��� )�>�
hRi�j_ŜX_ea2������ 5 ����������	�������0��F�	����G :Re]̂aV�R_SXe_fkL�lOm��P#Mn�#opOnq�mn���OMr�sq��o�P#Mn�#omR_StVŜVSuV�vVWX]eVakw�n OM�!� PP�mm#�x��#s�� y�m '�����	���%(% %c-6�=�422�������B�����������	����		������� %c-6�= %�����
������	��������	 \������	�i__e�h_ud�QuX̂tWX̂_Skzx�� �#s���sOnq�{�mn r��lMo#P| kw�}#n� ~�x"#��� oo�!##�m�k�Mn�r� n�!�|�x���}#n� y�m k�ln#�o#P|OMr y�mi__e�h_ud�YZ[Vkz Oor n���� ��!##��o#P| �MPol!�!�sOnq��#s��!##��o#P|mi__e�h_uda���XeW�v���R_SXe_fa*�������	��	������� %�����
������	���SaXe]bVSXWX̂_S�YZ[V�������	�� �	�����SaXe]bVSXWX̂_S��W]�Va&��������� c�� (����������� c��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
G'	��	������������� L�� M�������� L��&��	�������	�N���
����� L��OPQRSTUVPRWRXYP�ZWSPXP[Q(����������� L�� '	��	������������� L��C������ L�� E�������	 L��\�� L�� E���N��� L��I�������� L�� %�������	����� L��C�����N���
 L�� E���������������� &���������N��OPQRSTUVPRWRXYP�]XQ̂_ẀQ6���� +	<��
���
������ 6������ L��'>����������� L�� 6�����F�G�<����� L��OPQRSTUVPRWRXYP�aVWRTSV&�����
������ L�� E�	��
�������� �����)�����
���������	 b��������	 ��
������	�
�������	 ����	���	cRVVSXP[�ZdVV_�è V̂b������� f�����	� &����	� b�	���&��������	� b�	���aSYPR�cXgV�ZXPgYhQijkl!#m�nop��#m� qpkr pk#l �#m��ZXPgYh�aVWRTSVQinsp#tqu�!#ml v�kr��� l!�� oo�lw�� insp#tqu�t� v�kr��� l!�� oo�lw��&�	��
 E����aSYPR�ZXPgQdXV_gB���� M���������	��������	�xVWS�ZXPgQdXV_gB�	
�� )�>�
ylp��k#�zWQQVP[VS�{XQYSb����� L��xVWS�{XVh�|XSSYSI��<	���� L��}VWg_XPVS6������ )��� b������� 6����a_YYS�eSXU6������ )��� 6����	� M�	��3������



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'%������
�'J����K�%�����F��	�@
GLMNO�PQRSTMQ/�������U������������ V�����	� 6��������	������� W��+	�����������	�� X����<����YNZ[SN\ZI�������������� )�
� )��	�����
�	� W��]̂__̀abc d�!��cd�e f�g h��������+��������	� W��ijQM[QRk�lm\nmoQ�pSmMRZQ%������ W�� &��� )���pSmMRZQI�����
������	 W�� )��	��C����������
��F�G W��/������> E����	� �����	����
������	 W��+	������	����	�� C�	 I�������
 W��YQZMmmO)��	� =9�4AqQRkMmmO)��	� =1�:AqNr�smmO)��	� ?5�;Ap[mTokQM�smmO)��	� ??�8At\SQMNmM�umoTOQ�����	��������� ?=�8����U��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'J�������I���	���	��	
����K����	���%���������K����	������
�����	���	��������������������	���	�����������K�����������K����	�������
��	����	
��
��������	���	
����	���J�������	���	�����������L�����	������
���	K��������	�������	����	
����	����	
3������������
���	������	�L�����	����������	�K���	���������	���	�����������K����	����&���������������	����������	�������K�������������������������	�	��������
�	����������������&����������������
������K����������
���������
��K������������������������K����	���

MNOPQ�RSQT/JB* ?�121����/JB &�����2�������
�<�F�

�
�'L�����	��G 1����(�����	���B����� =;1����6����B������F�����	K�����
G =�158����UVUWX� YZY[[�\]̂



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'J�������I���	���	��	
����K����	���%�������F��	�@
G������
 2�4:;����L�������������
 2�;9;����M�>�����������
������������������K�������������N�����
����������������N����
��N�����	���	
��������
��	����������	K��������	����������������	
������	���	��	��



��������	
���	��	���������������������	�������������������	����	
������
����������
���������������	���������������������������������	
������	������	�

���� ��!�"#�$%&�&'�()��*+,(-��������
���.�%�	
���/�	0���01232435155 �������)��
�6����������)�����7�2899:�-��45	
���������������0�	��7�:;9:55155�)<2;1�=>5�*�������6���?�;@���>�255A�BC�DE�F)26G������E���.�55;�7�H�����+I.�)2;1%&�&'B����	��JK L! �!�M �� LKNOPQRSI����	�� 9?�111������ T�	��� 9?���	���UVWXYZYPR[I����	�� ?1�111������ T�	��� ?1���	���\VYYVQRV[�UXY]VYPZRV[I����	�� 	̂������
������ T�	��� ?1���	���_VP̀QR̀X�aQQRQZP[SXI����	�� ?1�111������ T�	��� ?1���	���



   9. F.  9. F.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacy Saltzburg, City Clerk
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Council Meeting Schedule Adjustment:Consideration and Approval of Council Meeting Schedule Adjustment:  Reschedule the August 27,
2024 regular meeting to August 26, 2024.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Reschedule the Tuesday, August 27, 2024 meeting to Monday, August 26, 2024.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Tuesday, August 27, 2024 coincides with the 2024 Arizona League of Cities and Towns Annual Conference
and a number of Councilmembers are planning to attend. Staff recommends rescheduling the Tuesday
meeting to Monday to accommodate the League Conference and adhere to the requirements within the City
Charter.

Flagstaff City Charter Article II, Section 12 - COUNCIL MEETINGSFlagstaff City Charter Article II, Section 12 - COUNCIL MEETINGS
The Council shall meet regularly at such times and at such places as shall be prescribed by its rules, but not
less frequently than once each month. All meetings of the Council shall be open to the public. No change
shall be made in regular meeting times or place without a published seven day notice. City Council Rules of
Procedure Rule 3.01 - Regular Meetings The City Council shall hold regular meetings at 3:00 p.m. on the first
and third Tuesday of January, February, March, April, May, June, September, October, November, and
December, and on the first Tuesday of July and third or fourth Tuesday of August unless a majority of the
Council decides to postpone or cancel such meeting. No change shall be made in regular meeting times or
place without a published seven day notice.

If the day fixed for any regular meeting of the Council falls upon a day which the City observes as a legal
holiday, the meeting may be canceled or held at a time and date designated by the Council.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
None

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
None

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
None

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
The Council could choose to not reschedule the meeting of August 27, 2024.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
High Performing Governance



Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
None

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments:



   9. G.  9. G.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacy Saltzburg, City Clerk
Date:Date: 05/29/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Letter of Support:Consideration and Approval of Letter of Support:  Letter of Support to advance the Northeastern Arizona
Indian Water Rights Settlement Act
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Approve the Letter of Support

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Participating parties are prepared to advance the Northeastern Arizona Indian Water Rights Settlement Act
(NAIWRSA). Council approval of this letter of support will allow the Mayor to send a formal letter indicating
Flagstaff's support for the NAIWRSA which will further delineate Flagstaff's future water resources. Formal
consideration of the Settlement Agreement itself will be taken up at a Council meeting to be scheduled in the
near future.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
None

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
None

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
None

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
Not approve the Letter of Support.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
High Performing Governance

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
None

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments: NAWRISA Letter of Support





 

Page 1 of 3 

 
 
 
 
June 4, 2024  
 
 
The Honorable Senator Kyrsten Sinema   The Honorable Senator Mark Kelly 
317 Hart Senate Office Building    516 Hart Senate Office Building  
Washington, DC 20510    Washington, DC 20510 
 
The Honorable Eli Crane    The Honorable David Schweikert 
1229 Longworth House Office Building  460 Cannon House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515    Washington, DC 20515 
 
The Honorable Ruben Gallego   The Honorable Greg Stanton 
1114 Longworth House Office Building  207 Cannon House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515    Washington, DC 20515 
 
The Honorable Andy Biggs    The Honorable Juan Ciscomani 
252 Cannon House Office Building   1429 Longworth House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515    Washington, DC 20515 
 
The Honorable Raul Grijalva    The Honorable Debbie Lesko 
1203 Longworth House Office Building  1214 Longworth House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515    Washington, DC 20515 
 
The Honorable Paul Gosar, DDS 
2057 Rayburn House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515 
 
 
Re:  City of Flagstaff Letter of Support for Proposed Northeastern Arizona Indian Water 
Rights Settlement Act of 2024 
 
Dear Senators Sinema and Kelly, and Representatives Crane, Schweikert, Gallego, Stanton, Biggs, 
Ciscomani, Grijalva, Lesko and Gosar: 
 
As Mayor of the City of Flagstaff, I strongly support the Northeastern Arizona Indian Water Rights 
Settlement Act (“Act”).  On June 3, 2024, City Attorney, Sterling Solomon, along with 
representatives of other parties to the settlement negotiations, executed a joint letter in support of 
the Northeastern Arizona Indian Water Rights Settlement Agreement and the proposed legislation.  
Naturally, the Flagstaff City Council must still conduct a final review of the Settlement Agreement 
with exhibits, as well as the proposed legislation, and make an independent decision at a future  
 



 

Page 2 of 3 

 
 
 
 
date.  However, in the meantime, I want to share the City’s strong support in advancing the 
proposed settlement legislation.   
 
As you know, there is a critical need for regional water supply projects in Northeastern Arizona, 
not only for the Navajo Nation, the Hopi Tribe and the San Juan Southern Paiute Tribe, but also 
for the City of Flagstaff.  With over 80,000 residents and more than 6 million visitors each year, 
Flagstaff continues to manage water wisely through conservation and maintains one of the lowest 
per person water usage rates in the State.  Even with these laudable efforts, the reality of climate 
variability, wildfires and reduced local groundwater supplies, requires the City to address its 
pressing water resiliency and water security needs by developing its municipal water supply at 
Red Gap Ranch, a city-owned property located about 35-miles east of Flagstaff along Interstate 
40. 
 
Red Gap Ranch was acquired by the City with 71% voter approval in 2004.  Since then, the City 
has invested millions of dollars in designing and developing this Regional Pipeline Project 
including drilling wells and conducting two detailed feasibility analysis reports with Jacobs 
Engineering.  This Project is designed to deliver 16,000 acre-feet of water per year for the City’s 
municipal needs, with the ability to provide water to customers such as the Navajo Nation, the 
Hopi Tribe, the Arizona State Land Department (“ASLD”) and others at various Arizona 
Department of Transportation (“ADOT”) connection points at intersections along the Interstate 40 
corridor.   These locations are currently being designed by Jacobs Engineering in cooperation with 
ADOT, and with anticipated further input from the ASLD, the Navajo Nation and the Hopi Tribe. 
 
Although not identified in the Act, the Red Gap Ranch Regional Pipeline Project is specifically 
referenced in the Northeastern Arizona Water Rights Settlement Agreement.  Indeed, under the 
Settlement Agreement, the Navajo Nation may connect to the Regional Pipeline Project to serve 
additional Navajo Lands at Twin Arrows, near Winona, or at locations that would support 
supplemental needs in the southwestern area of the Navajo Reservation or at Leupp.  Also, under 
the Settlement Agreement, the Arizona State Land Department and the City will coordinate 
regarding future pumping on State Lands near Red Gap Ranch.   
 
The City strongly supports federal funding for the requested water supply projects identified by 
the Navajo Nation, the Hopi Tribe and the San Juan Southern Paiute in the Act.  These Tribal water 
supply projects are critically needed on their respective reservations and are long overdue.  
Economically viable Tribal communities depend on reliable water supplies.  In addition to the 
Tribal water supply projects, it is imperative that Congress supports federal funding to complete 
the Red Gap Ranch Regional Pipeline Project.  This Regional Pipeline Project is virtually shovel-
ready, can be constructed within five (5) years, and the City is willing to meet the cost-share 
requirements.  This Regional Pipeline Project will provide water security for Flagstaff and will  



 

Page 3 of 3 

 
 
 
 
benefit other regional participants like the Navajo Nation, the Hopi Tribe, the Arizona State Land 
Department and other communities in Coconino County.   
 
For details about the Red Gap Ranch Regional Pipeline Project, the status of its development and 
requested funding, please feel free to contact me directly.   
 
Sincerely, 

 
Mayor Becky Daggett, on behalf of the Flagstaff City Council 



   10. A.  10. A.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Brandi Suda, Finance Director
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Heidi Derryberry

Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-25:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-25:  A resolution of the Council of the City of
Flagstaff, Arizona adopting the tentative budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-25 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-25 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-25

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Arizona Revised Statutes (Sections 42-17101, 42-17102, and 42-17105) require that each municipality adopt
and publish, in a specified format, a tentative budget. The adoption of the tentative budget has the effect of
establishing an amount that cannot be exceeded in the final adoption of the budget.

Furthermore, the adoption of the tentative budget sets into motion a legally mandated time sequence of
actions to which the Council must adhere to adopt a final budget and to levy property taxes.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
The tentative budget must be adopted to set the appropriate sequence of events in place for final budget
adoption.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
The Fiscal Year 2024-2025 budget is the guiding document for the financial plan of the City.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:

January Council Retreat on December 14, 2023
February Budget Retreat on February 1, 2024 and February 2, 2024
March Capital Improvement Budget Retreat on March 28, 2024
Council Budget Work Session on April 25, 2024 and April 26, 2024

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
The City may delay the tentative budget adoption until no later than the 3rd Monday in July.  While the City
would be able to continue operations through a Continuing Disclosure resolution, the City would not be able to
commit to any expenditures directly related to the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 budget.

Background and History:Background and History:
The budget is generally presented for tentative adoption in late May or early June to assure funding is



appropriated within Key Community Priorities and Objectives at the beginning of the fiscal year.

During the summer of 2023, staff engaged the community to confirm, revise or amend the objectives that help
deliver our Key Community Priorities.  In November 2023, Council approved the changes to the objectives. 
These priorities and objectives were used to develop the FY 2024-2025 proposed budget. 

At the December 2023 budget retreat, staff presented several topics including budget introduction, fiscal
policies, revenue updates, priority based budgeting, budget team focus for the budget and updates on
recruitment and retention, consideration of new city holidays and election update.  During the February 2024
budget retreat staff presented and received further direction from Council for the FY 2024-2025 proposed
budget.  Topics included priority based budgeting, revenue updates, fixed cost updates, compensation and
benefits, resource allocations and priorities and resource needs.  In March, we held a Capital Improvement
Plan Budget Retreat to review and discuss all capital improvement plans for all funds of the City.  Staff
presented the 5-year plans and provided information such as funding resources, how they are developed, and
some highlights of current projects.  During the April 2024 budget work session, staff presented the City
Manager's proposed budget and received Council direction. After the April budget work session, divisions
provided revised year-end estimates and carryover of funding primarily for capital projects.

The adoption of the tentative budget sets into motion a legally mandated time sequence of actions to which
the Council must adhere to adopt a final budget and to levy property taxes.  If this time sequence is not met
as required by statute, the tentative adoption, final adoption of the budget and property tax levy actions, and
related publications must be started over. 
 
The process is prescribed through the Arizona Revised Statutes. The tentative budget must be adopted no
later than the 3rd Monday in July.  The schedules for Council budget and property tax levy actions are as
follows:

June 4, 2024 - Tentative adoption of the budget by Council
June 18, 2024 - Proposed budget and property tax levy public hearing
June 18, 2024 - Final budget adoption (In a Special Meeting)
June 18, 2024 - First reading of property tax ordinance
July 2, 2024 - Final reading and adoption of the property tax ordinance

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
The adoption of the Annual Budget and Financial Plan provides Council direction and financial resources to
support the Key Community Priorities and Objectives.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
None.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
The adoption of the Annual Budget and Financial Plan supports the Carbon Neutrality Plan by allocating
financial resources the CNP goals. 

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
The adoption of the Annual Budget and Financial Plan supports the 10 Year Housing Plan by allocating
financial resources to the plan's strategies.

Attachments:Attachments: Presentation
Resolution No. 2024-25
FY2024-25 Budget Forms



City of Flagstaff
FY 2024-2025 

Budget
June 4, 2024



Timeline
• June 4th – Tentative Budget Adoption

• Sets maximum appropriation
• Sets in motion legal requirements for final adoption

• June 18th 
• Public hearing for budget and tax levy
• Final budget adoption
• First reading of property tax ordinance

• July 2nd – second reading and adoption of property tax 
ordinance



Legal Schedule A

Total 
FY 2024-2025 

Budget: 
$579,432,772

$39.7M (7.4%) increase 
over FY 2023-2024

General Fund
$113,568,260 

20%

Special 
Revenue Funds
$172,842,029 

30%

Debt Service 
Funds

$19,790,763 
3%

Capital Project 
Funds

$66,417,956 
11%

Enterprise 
Funds

$206,813,764 
36%



Highlights
• Compensation and benefits
• Priority Based Budgeting – Key Community Priorities and 

Objectives
• Basic services and operational needs
• Infrastructure needs
• Climate Neutrality Plan
• Housing 10 Year Plan
• Property tax – flat levy plus new construction



Total Employee Investment
Ongoing merit and pay for performance increases
Starting Pay Adjustments

Starting wage $18.50
 Impacts 05R to 25R ranges and the related Temp Pay Plans as well as the Firefighter range

Market adjustments to specific classifications across all pay plans
Maintain ongoing market adjustment review
Maintain cost share for all medical plans
New holidays
Add pays moving to hourly rate

• Total recommended compensation and benefits commitment: $5.1 Million 
(includes employee related expenses)



Changes Since April Retreat
• Capital Carryovers - $116.2M

• Transportation projects, Water Services projects and Fleet 
purchases

• Operational Carryovers - $13.3M
• Various studies, software and contracts

• Grant Carryovers - $5.6M
• Community Development Block Grants (CDBG), American 

Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), Sustainability Grants



Additional Information
• The Tentative Budget Book will be available 6/5/2024 at 

the following locations:
• City Website
• City Clerk’s Office 
• Available Upon Request 

• Heidi Derryberry (hderryberry@flagstaffaz.gov) 
• Brandi Suda  (bsuda@flagstaffaz.gov)

• Published in Arizona Daily Sun 6/6 and 6/13
• Questions Regarding Budget

Brandi Suda, Finance Director, bsuda@flagstaffaz.gov, (928)-213-2217

mailto:hderryberry@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:bsuda@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:bsuda@flagstaffaz.gov


Questions



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-25 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 
ADOPTING THE TENTATIVE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS in accordance with the provisions of A.R.S. Title 42, Chapter 17, Articles 1 - 5, the 
City Council did, on June 4, 2024, make an estimate of the different amounts required to meet 
the public expenditures/expenses for the ensuing year, also an estimate of revenues from 
sources other than direct taxation, and the amount to be raised by taxation upon real and personal 
property within the City of Flagstaff; and 
 
WHEREAS in accordance with said sections of said Title, and following due public notice, the 
Council met on June 4, 2024, at which meeting any taxpayer was privileged to appear and be 
heard in favor of or against any of the proposed expenditures/expenses or tax levies; and 
 
WHEREAS it appears that publication has been duly made as required by law, of said estimates 
together with a notice that the City Council would meet on June 18, 2024, in the City Council 
Chambers at City Hall for the purpose of hearing taxpayers and making tax levies as set forth in 
said estimates; and 
 
WHEREAS it appears that the sums to be raised by taxation, as specified therein, do not in the 
aggregate amounts exceed that amount as computed in A.R.S. 42-17051 (A). 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the accompanying statements and exhibits attached to this Resolution as 
Schedules A, B, C, D, E, F and G are incorporated herein by this reference, and are hereby 
adopted as the tentative budget for the City of Flagstaff for the fiscal year 2024-2025. 
 
SECTION 2. That the City Clerk be, and she hereby is, authorized and directed to publish in the 
manner prescribed by law the estimates of expenditures as set forth in Schedules A, B, C, D, E, 
F, and G together with a notice that the Council will meet on June 18, 2024, for the purpose of 
final hearing of taxpayers and for adoption of the 2024-2025 Annual Budget for the City of 
Flagstaff with the final reading and adoption of the property tax ordinance on the 2nd day of 
July, 2024, at 3:00 p.m. 
 
SECTION 3. Upon the recommendation by the Manager and with the approval of the Council, 
expenditures may be made from the appropriation for contingencies. The transfers of any sums 
within any specific appropriation may be made only upon the approval of the Council. 
 
SECTION 4. Money from any fund may be used for any of these appropriations, except money 
specifically restricted by State Law or by City Ordinance or Resolution. 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-25  PAGE 2 
 

 

SECTION 5. Effective Date. 
 
This resolution shall be immediately effective upon adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 4th day of June, 2024. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
Exhibits: 
Schedule A – Summary schedule of Estimated Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses 
Schedule B – Tax Levy and Tax Rate Information 
Schedule C – Revenues Other Than Property Taxes 
Schedule D – Other Financing Sources/(Uses) and Interfund Transfers 
Schedule E – Expenditures/Expenses by Fund 
Schedule F – Expenditures/Expenses by Division (as applicable) 
Schedule G – Full-Time Employees and Personnel Compensation 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Official Budget Forms 

City of Flagstaff 

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 



City of Flagstaff 

Table of Contents 

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

 

Resolution for the Adoption of the Budget 

Schedule A – Summary Schedule of Estimated Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses 

Schedule B – Tax Levy and Tax Rate Information 

Schedule C – Revenues Other Than Property Taxes 

Schedule D – Other Financing Sources/(Uses) and Interfund Transfers 

Schedule E – Expenditures/Expenses by Fund 

Schedule F – Expenditures/Expenses by Division 

Schedule G – Full-Time Employees and Personnel Compensation 

 



Fiscal 
Year

General 
Fund

Special Revenue 
Funds

Debt Service 
Funds

Capital Project 
Funds

Permanent 
Fund

Enterprise 
Funds

Internal Service 
Funds

Total 
All Funds

2024 Adopted/Adjusted Budgeted Expenditures/Expenses*   E 121,529,793 152,815,463 17,500,376 49,108,067 0 199,934,096 0 540,887,795

2024 Actual Expenditures/Expenses**   E 93,637,251 71,225,234 14,309,013 10,887,267 0 97,435,299 0 287,494,064

2025
Beginning Fund Balance/(Deficit) or Net Position/(Deficit) 
at July 1*** 79,090,423 124,099,487 26,481,982 4,009,295 438,008 96,666,526 0 330,785,721

2025 Primary Property Tax Levy B 7,230,877 0 0 0 0 0 7,230,877

2025 Secondary Property Tax Levy B 0 0 9,091,154 0 0 0 9,091,154

2025 Estimated Revenues Other than Property Taxes  C 82,709,881 79,677,993 265,000 16,531,786 19,460 143,783,811 0 322,987,931

2025 Other Financing Sources  D 0 18,800,000 0 32,832,035 0 19,000,000 0 70,632,035

2025 Other Financing (Uses)   D 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2025 Interfund Transfers In   D 4,553,670 14,773,821 19,790,763 13,044,840 0 3,745,769 0 55,908,863

2025 Interfund Transfers (Out)   D 17,483,252 22,388,300 11,085,460 0 0 4,951,851 0 55,908,863

2025
Line 11:  Reduction for Fund Balance Reserved for Future Budget 
Year Expenditures

Less: Maintained for Future Debt Retirement 0

Maintained for Future Capital Projects 0

Maintained for Future Financial Stability 0

Mainged for Future Retirement Contributions 0

2025 Total Financial Resources Available 156,101,599 214,963,001 44,543,439 66,417,956 457,468 258,244,255 0 740,727,718

2025 Budgeted Expenditures/Expenses E 113,568,260 172,842,029 19,790,763 66,417,956 0 206,813,764 0 579,432,772

Expenditure Limitation Comparison 2024 2025
1. Budgeted Expenditures/Expenses 539,705,762$   579,432,772$   
2. Add/Subtract: Estimated Net Reconciling Items 0 0
3. Budgeted Expenditures/Expenses Adjusted for Reconciling Items 539,705,762  579,432,772
4. Less: Estimated Exclusions 308,700,082  337,738,251
5. Amount Subject to the Expenditure Limitation 231,005,680$   241,694,521$   
6. EEC Expenditure Limitation 231,868,073$   242,261,037$   

*
**
***

City of Flagstaff
Summary Schedule of Estimated Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

S
c
h

Funds

The final opportunity for public input on the City of Flagstaff Fiscal Year 2024-2025 budget will occur on June 18, 2024 at the 3:00 PM City Council meeting
The budget may be reviewed at the City of Flagstaff in the City Clerks Office, 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 86001

or the official website "flagstaff.az.gov" or by request

The city/town does not levy property taxes and does not have special assessment districts for which property taxes are levied.  Therefore, Schedule B has been omitted.

Includes expenditure/expense adjustments approved in the current year from Schedule E.       
Includes actual amounts as of the date the proposed budget was prepared, adjusted for estimated activity for the remainder of the fiscal year.
Amounts on this line represent beginning fund balance/(deficit) or net position/(deficit) amounts except for nonspendable amounts (e.g., prepaids and inventories) or amounts legally or contractually required to be maintained intact (e.g., principal of a permanent 
fund).

Schedule A Page 1 of 1



2023-2024 2024-2025

1. Maximum Allowable Primary Property Tax Levy [ARS 42-17051.A] 7,748,837$ 7,983,170$

2.

-$  

3. Property Tax Levy Amounts
A. Primary Property Taxes 7,159,580$ 7,230,877$
B. Secondary Property Taxes 8,633,802 9,091,154
C. Total Property Tax Levy Amount 15,793,382$ 16,322,031$

4. Property Taxes Collected *
A. Primary Property Taxes

(1) FY 2023-2024 Levy 7,059,580$
(2) Prior Years' Levies 100,000
(3) Total Primary Property Taxes 7,159,580$

B. Secondary Property Taxes
(1) FY 2023-2024 Levy 8,633,802$
(2) Total Secondary Property Taxes 8,633,802$

C. Total Property Taxes Collected 15,793,382$

5. Property Tax Rates
A. City of Flagstaff Tax Rate

(1) Primary Property Tax Rate 0.6634 0.6363
(2) Secondary  Property Tax Rate 0.8000 0.8000
(3) Total City of Flagstaff Tax Rate 1.4634 1.4363

B. Special Assessment District Tax Rates

* Includes actual property taxes collected as of the date the proposed budget was prepared, plus estimated property tax
collections for the remainder of the fiscal year.

Amount Received from Primary Property Taxation in FY 2023-2024 in
Excess of the Sum of that Year's Maximum Allowable Primary Property
Tax Levy [ARS 42-17102.A.18]

City of Flagstaff

As of the date of the proposed budget, the City has no special
assessment district for which secondary property taxes are levied.

Tax Levy and Tax Rate Information
Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Schedule B Page 1 of 1



Actual Budgeted Estimated Budgeted
Revenues Revenues Revenues* Revenues

Source of Revenues 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

General Fund

Local Taxes
City Sales Tax     30,115,183$     29,387,300       29,870,000       30,947,900       
Franchise Tax 2,448,202         2,342,200         2,448,000         2,472,500         
Excise Tax 557,552            459,000            540,000            550,800            

Licenses and Permits
Business Licenses 31,219              30,000              30,000              30,000              
Building Permits 1,691,652         1,862,000         2,200,000         1,862,000         
Other Licenses and Permits 2,099,089         1,157,885         1,242,076         1,238,395         

Intergovernmental 
State Income Tax Sharing 14,604,933       20,227,300       20,115,000       15,996,000       
State Shared Sales Tax 11,380,585       10,780,000       11,400,000       11,628,000       
Auto Lieu Tax 4,331,329         3,977,000         4,300,000         4,343,000         
Federal Grants 851,181            23,697,660       7,540,478         2,850,275         
State/Local Grants 1,280,202         2,731,152         1,719,425         1,934,098         
Local Intergovernmental Agreements 1,361,716         1,226,218         1,287,656         1,316,218         

Charges for Services
Community Development 1,477,996         745,000            870,000            745,000            
Parks and Recreation 1,212,018         1,622,870         1,622,870         1,622,870         
Public Safety 589,609            754,457            727,575            730,511            
Cemetery/General Government 234,242            188,403            229,248            189,631            

Fines and Forfeits 747,456            795,005            803,836            821,973            
Rents 1,181,957         1,655,136         973,131            1,655,709         
Investment Earnings 1,957,868         434,234            1,976,578         1,013,489         
Miscellaneous 414,640            781,113            (44,692)             761,512            

Total General Fund     78,568,629       104,853,933     89,851,181       82,709,881       

Special Revenue Funds

Housing and Community Services Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants 61,041              1,511,134         605,183            1,704,946         
State Grants - 780,000 840,000            780,000            

Investment Earnings 61,291              20,639 28,347              28,914              
Miscellaneous 337,493            - 185,555 - 

Total Housing and Comm Svcs Fund 459,825            2,311,773         1,659,085         2,513,860         

COVID Relief Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants 338,108            2,733,607         604,806            2,091,210         
Total COVID Relief Fund 338,108            2,733,607         604,806            2,091,210         

City of Flagstaff
Revenues Other Than Property Taxes

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Schedule C Page 1 of 6



Actual Budgeted Estimated Budgeted
Revenues Revenues Revenues* Revenues

Source of Revenues 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Revenues Other Than Property Taxes

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Library Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants 33,388$            75,000              75,000              -                    
State/Local Grants 42,764              -                    -                    50,000              
Library District Taxes 4,301,218         4,081,723         4,290,225         4,484,037         

Miscellaneous 109,951            39,926              136,714            34,299              
Investment Earnings 72,921              41,000              26,577              26,843              

Total Library Fund     4,560,242         4,237,649         4,528,516         4,595,179         

Highway User Revenue Fund
Intergovernmental 

Highway User Tax 9,540,729         9,212,000         9,940,729         10,040,136       
Licenses and Permits 221,768            -                    -                    -                    
Investment Earnings 305,731            139,000            456,338            197,000            
Miscellaneous 1,736,691         1,690,000         377,374            -                    

Total Highway User Revenue Fund 11,804,919       11,041,000       10,774,441       10,237,136       

Transportation Fund
Transportation Tax 36,123,898       35,109,300       36,854,474       37,274,400       
Intergovernmental

Federal Grants -                    16,437,624       2,537,624         1,100,000         
Investment Earnings 1,804,721         238,000            2,748,639         1,662,000         
Miscellaneous 2,459,479         183,689            546,458            724,441            

Total Transportation Fund 40,388,098       51,968,613       42,687,195       40,760,841       

Beautification Fund
BBB Tax                    2,427,378         2,308,900         2,452,000         2,498,000         
Investment Earnings 256,174            91,000              355,502            203,000            
Miscellaneous 1,040                -                    -                    -                    

Total Beautification Fund 2,684,592         2,399,900         2,807,502         2,701,000         

Economic Development Fund
BBB Tax                    1,153,914         1,096,700         1,164,700         1,186,600         
Investment Earnings 37,949              10,557              40,346              19,809              
Rents 447,547            426,562            400,136            412,769            
Miscellaneous 17,140              -                    7,764                -                    

Total Economic Development Fund 1,656,550         1,533,819         1,612,946         1,619,178         

Tourism Fund
BBB Tax                    3,643,666         3,463,300         3,678,000         3,747,100         
Intergovernmental

Federal Grants 224,068            389,000            127,306            -                    
Retail Sales 79,073              127,098            127,098            128,369            
Investment Earnings 83,689              15,255              116,407            68,489              

Schedule C Page 2 of 6



Actual Budgeted Estimated Budgeted
Revenues Revenues Revenues* Revenues

Source of Revenues 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Revenues Other Than Property Taxes

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Tourism Fund - Continued
Miscellaneous 14,898$            16,348              16,348              16,511              

Total Tourism Fund 4,045,394         4,011,001         4,065,159         3,960,469         

Arts and Science Fund
BBB Tax                    909,618            865,800            919,500            936,800            
Investment Earnings 34,521              15,000              54,874              28,000              

Total Arts and Science Fund 944,139            880,800            974,374            964,800            

Recreation Fund
BBB Tax                    4,007,513         3,809,700         4,045,800         4,121,800         
Intergovernmental

State Grants -                    200,000            200,000            350,000            
Investment Earnings 105,784            46,000              186,936            76,000              

Total Recreation Fund 4,113,297         4,055,700         4,432,736         4,547,800         

Parking District Fund
Parking 1,191,915         1,250,175         1,243,542         1,268,023         
Investment Earnings 48,536              18,900              64,150              45,500              
Miscellaneous 72,042              -                    418                   -                    

Total Parking District Fund 1,312,493         1,269,075         1,308,110         1,313,523         

Water Resource and Infrastructure Protection (WRIP) Fund
Water Resource Protection Fee 1,186,818         1,290,154         1,251,147         1,263,658         
Intergovernmental

Federal Grants 17,536              -                    -                    2,654,200         
State/Local Grants 3,000                -                    -                    423,000            

Investment Earnings 35,253              13,000              52,469              32,139              
Total WRIP Fund 1,242,607         1,303,154         1,303,616         4,372,997         

Total Special Revenue Funds 73,550,264       87,746,091       76,758,486       79,677,993       

Debt Service Funds

Secondary Property Tax Fund
Investment Earnings 79,165              38,000              116,249            109,000            

Total Secondary Property Tax Fund 79,165              38,000              116,249            109,000            

Pension Debt Service Fund
Investment Earnings 539,005            146,000            815,441            156,000            

Total Pension Debt Service Fund 539,005            146,000            815,441            156,000            

Total Debt Service Funds 618,170            184,000            931,690            265,000            

Schedule C Page 3 of 6



Actual Budgeted Estimated Budgeted
Revenues Revenues Revenues* Revenues

Source of Revenues 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Revenues Other Than Property Taxes

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Permanent Funds

Perpetual Care Fund
Contributions 12,030$            10,490              10,280              10,700              
Investment Earnings 10,180              4,053                14,546              8,760                

Total Perpetual Care Fund 22,210              14,543              24,826              19,460              

Total Permanent Funds 22,210              14,543              24,826              19,460              

Capital Project Funds

Non GO Bonds Projects Fund
Real Estate Proceeds -                    2,000,000         -                    2,000,000         
Intergovernmental

Federal Grants 153,408            570,212            236,979            4,688,760         
State Grants -                    52,700              -                    423,304            

Investment Earnings 909                   -                    -                    19,000              
Miscellaneous -                    193,233            -                    1,552,114         

Total Non GO Bonds Projects Fund 154,317            2,816,145         236,979            8,683,178         

GO Bonds Projects Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants -                    1,572,305         1,520,165         7,727,233         
State Grants 28,229              121,375            -                    121,375            

Investment Earnings 81,807              -                    116,635            -                    
Total GO Bonds Projects Fund 110,036            1,693,680         1,636,800         7,848,608         

Total Capital Projects Funds 264,353            4,509,825         1,873,779         16,531,786       
 
Enterprise Funds

Drinking Water Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants           -                    3,294,679         -                    750,000            
State Grants           699,650            8,553,788         4,290,653         12,135,357       

Water Fees 18,228,944       18,922,907       21,153,851       23,162,980       
Investment Earnings 712,018            240,813            910,440            468,288            
Rents 35,204              5,150                20,000              5,150                
Miscellaneous 1,437,968         -                    6,370                -                    

Total Drinking Water Fund 21,113,784       31,017,337       26,381,314       36,521,775       

Wastewater Fund
Intergovernmental 
Wastewater Fees 11,465,882       11,835,133       13,736,115       13,542,735       
Investment Earnings 660,942            280,000            964,848            640,000            

Schedule C Page 4 of 6



Actual Budgeted Estimated Budgeted
Revenues Revenues Revenues* Revenues

Source of Revenues 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Revenues Other Than Property Taxes

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Wastewater Fund - Continued
Miscellaneous 160,600$          -                    -                    -                    

Total Wastewater Fund 12,287,424       12,115,133       14,700,963       14,182,735       

Reclaimed Water Fund
Reclaimed Water Fees 881,884            1,021,539         1,201,000         1,141,919         
Investment Earnings 79,451              33,585              125,354            76,140              

Total Reclaimed Water Fund 961,335            1,055,124         1,326,354         1,218,059         

Stormwater Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants 1,815,694         111,452            553,407            549,383            
State Grants 1,379,734         5,272,589         2,030,146         7,951,979         

Stormwater Fees 4,694,775         5,285,890         5,500,803         6,216,135         
Investment Earnings -                    94,605              227,290            180,956            
Miscellaneous 166,176            -                    -                    650,000            

Total Stormwater Fund 8,056,379         10,764,536       8,311,646         15,548,453       

Solid Waste Fund
Solid Waste 14,079,747       14,546,081       14,346,355       14,630,761       
Intergovernmental -                    -                    2,440,000         -                    
Investment Earnings 778,804            294,563            878,280            439,000            
Miscellaneous 3,126                -                    -                    9,000                

Total Solid Waste Fund 14,861,677       14,840,644       17,664,635       15,078,761       

Sustainability and Environmental Management Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants -                    7,000,018         5,023,479         17,424,969       
State Grants 2,500                733,000            733,000            347,500            

Environmental Services 1,212,211         1,286,587         1,292,503         1,324,795         
Investment Earnings 64,866              21,000              72,908              38,000              
Charges for Services -                    -                    -                    30,000              
Miscellaneous 1,269                -                    -                    -                    

Total Sustainability and Env Mgmt Fund 1,280,846         9,040,605         7,121,890         19,165,264       

Airport Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants           4,437,297         20,864,053       9,727,574         18,897,220       
State Grants           211,319            3,967,154         45,959              6,297,294         

Airport 1,162,156         1,573,020         1,166,310         1,533,510         
Rents 912,946            985,534            911,019            898,747            
Parking 7                       893,520            551,578            562,610            
Investment Earnings 32,024              14,000              44,369              38,000              
Miscellaneous (19,654)             1,000                23,357              26,000              

Total Airport Fund 6,736,095         28,298,281       12,470,166       28,253,381       

Schedule C Page 5 of 6



Actual Budgeted Estimated Budgeted
Revenues Revenues Revenues* Revenues

Source of Revenues 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Revenues Other Than Property Taxes

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Flagstaff Housing Authority Fund
Intergovernmental 

Federal Grants 7,067,035$       10,339,071       9,337,821         11,184,337       
Rents and Other Tenant Income 1,715,691         1,700,000         1,700,000         1,750,000         
Miscellaneous 839,548            707,093            707,093            881,046            

Total Flagstaff Housing Authority Fund 9,622,274         12,746,164       11,744,914       13,815,383       

Total Enterprise Funds 74,919,814       119,877,824     99,721,882       143,783,811     

Total Revenues 227,943,440$   317,186,216     269,161,844     322,987,931     

* Includes actual revenues recognized on the modified accrual basis as of the date the proposed budget was
prepared, plus estimated revenues for the remainder of the fiscal year.

Schedule C Page 6 of 6



City of Flagstaff
Other Financing Sources/(Uses) and Interfund Transfers

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Other
Financing Interfund Transfers
2024-2025

Fund Sources In (Out)

General Fund -$  4,553,670 17,483,252          

Special Revenue Funds
Housing and Community Services - 1,600,000 - 
Library - 3,016,491 24,192 
Highway User Revenue - 9,879,044 13,000 
Transportation 18,800,000          - 18,297,723 
Beautification - - 436,526 
Economic Development - 256,847 217,300 
Tourism - 21,439 651,264 
Recreation - - 2,574,189            
Water Resource and Infrastructure Protection - - 174,106 

Total Special Revenue Funds 18,800,000          14,773,821          22,388,300          

Debt Service Funds
General Obligation Bonds - 11,085,460 - 
Secondary Property Tax - - 11,085,460          
Pension Debt Service - 8,705,303 - 

Total Debt Service Funds - 19,790,763 11,085,460          

Capital Project Funds
Non General Obligation Bond Funded Projects - 6,533,435 - 
General Obligation Bond Funded Projects 32,832,035          6,511,405 - 

Total Capital Projects Funds 32,832,035          13,044,840          - 

Enterprise Funds
Drinking Water 3,000,000            2,170,785            771,234 
Wastewater - 38,270 2,246,018            
Reclaimed Water - - 140,352 
Stormwater 16,000,000          - 1,281,012 
Solid Waste - 126,570 188,692 
Sustainability and Environmental Management - 1,008,719 63,384 
Airport - 401,425 261,159 

Total Enterprise Funds 19,000,000          3,745,769            4,951,851            

Total All Funds 70,632,035$        55,908,863          55,908,863          

2024-2025

Schedule D Page 1 of 1



Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Fund/Division 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

General Fund
General Administration 14,207,174$              34,022,130                - 17,178,620 19,633,599                
Management Services 4,689,190 6,797,338 - 6,045,798 6,886,150 
Fire 14,473,138                28,781,201                - 21,978,200 22,176,319                
Police 22,437,055                26,722,092                - 25,176,728 27,855,509                
Community Development 4,408,903 5,317,967 - 4,795,989 5,525,601 
Public Works 2,655,936 6,401,503 - 4,107,507 9,436,602 
Economic Vitality 125,206 301,875 - 196,875 253,451 
Non-Departmental (2,283,616) 9,264,987 - (556,706) 5,544,170 
City Engineering 1,676,642 2,360,781 - 2,335,749 2,354,908 
Parks, Recreation, Open Space & Events 8,467,444 12,536,253                - 9,839,491 11,387,951                
Contingency (18,103) 4,204,060 (1,100,000) 2,539,000 2,514,000 

Total General Fund 70,838,969                136,710,187              (1,100,000) 93,637,251                113,568,260              

Special Revenue Funds

Housing and Community Service Fund
Community Development 818,527 4,470,328 1,100,000 2,175,252 5,802,036 
Non-Departmental 16,709 52,000 - 52,000 51,500 

835,236 4,522,328 1,100,000 2,227,252 5,853,536 

COVID Relief Fund
Non-Departmental 338,108 2,733,607 - 604,806 2,091,210 

338,108 2,733,607 - 604,806 2,091,210 

Library Fund
General Administration 280,520 328,134 - 328,134 357,049 
Management Services 151,324 151,562 - 151,562 157,923 
Public Works 28,892 37,541 - 37,541 62,997 
Economic Vitality 5,655,128 6,669,069 - 6,172,737 8,404,439 
Non-Departmental 74,008 70,981 - 70,981 68,663 
Contingency - 100,000 - - 100,000 

6,189,872 7,357,287 - 6,760,955 9,151,071 

Highway User Revenue Fund
General Administration 409,111 376,704 - 376,704 369,439 
Management Services 80,664 82,011 - 82,011 83,927 
Public Works 6,856,570 17,260,297                - 12,897,131 12,219,573                
Non-Departmental 202,761 182,781 - 182,781 76,672 
City Engineering 7,850,748 11,303,541                - 7,422,596 10,293,512                
Contingency - 100,000 - - 100,000 

15,399,854                29,305,334                - 20,961,223 23,143,123                

Transportation Fund
General Administration 51,325 56,447 - 56,447 90,231 
Management Services 98,601 77,553 - 77,553 114,989 
Public Works 4,097,136 7,511,127 - 4,650,818 11,043,115                
Non-Departmental 7,963,504 16,886,537                - 10,253,262 16,552,143                
City Engineering 11,371,479                65,480,023                - 12,931,477 81,790,356                

23,582,045                90,011,687                - 27,969,557 109,590,834              

Beautification Fund
Economic Vitality 2,046,925 3,767,996 - 1,925,818 5,559,192 
Contingency - 10,000 - - 10,000 

2,046,925 3,777,996 - 1,925,818 5,569,192 

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Fund

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Schedule E Page 1 of 4



 Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Fund/Division 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Fund

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Economic Development Fund
Economic Vitality 1,421,392$                2,211,241                  -                             1,622,398                  2,415,093                  
Contingency 6,527                         45,000                       -                             -                             45,000                       

1,427,919                  2,256,241                  -                             1,622,398                  2,460,093                  

Tourism Fund
Economic Vitality 3,292,670                  4,052,041                  -                             3,645,347                  4,462,332                  
Contingency -                             175,000                     -                             -                             175,000                     

3,292,670                  4,227,041                  -                             3,645,347                  4,637,332                  

Arts and Science Fund
Economic Vitality 643,585                     1,236,443                  -                             1,121,443                  1,286,551                  
Contingency -                             10,000                       -                             -                             10,000                       

643,585                     1,246,443                  -                             1,121,443                  1,296,551                  

Recreation Fund
Parks, Recreation, Open Space & Events 143,256                     2,270,947                  -                             2,260,547                  2,520,400                  

143,256                     2,270,947                  -                             2,260,547                  2,520,400                  

Parking District Fund
General Administration 39,437                       46,293                       -                             46,293                       55,820                       
Management Services 13,601                       12,031                       -                             12,031                       11,793                       
Public Works 420                            414                            -                             414                            302                            
Economic Vitality 790,126                     2,212,836                  -                             1,097,836                  2,280,174                  
Non-Departmental 8,419                         9,327                         -                             9,327                         6,957                         
Contingency -                             30,000                       -                             -                             30,000                       

852,003                     2,310,901                  -                             1,165,901                  2,385,046                  

Water Resource and Infrastructure Protection Fund
General Administration 58,268                       61,444                       -                             61,444                       72,709                       
Management Services 10,945                       13,705                       -                             13,705                       9,986                         
Fire 643,788                     973,122                     -                             873,122                     4,048,089                  
Public Works 3,208                         3,249                         -                             3,249                         4,194                         
Non-Departmental 6,547                         8,467                         -                             8,467                         8,663                         

722,756                     1,059,987                  -                             959,987                     4,143,641                  

Total Special Revenue Funds 55,474,229                151,079,799              1,100,000                  71,225,234                172,842,029              

Debt Service Funds

General Obligation Bonds Fund
Non-Departmental 7,406,790                  5,602,333                  -                             5,602,333                  11,085,460                

7,406,790                  5,602,333                  -                             5,602,333                  11,085,460                

Pension Debt Service Fund
Non-Departmental 9,197,868                  8,706,680                  -                             8,706,680                  8,705,303                  

9,197,868                  8,706,680                  -                             8,706,680                  8,705,303                  

Total Debt Service Funds 16,604,658                14,309,013                -                             14,309,013                19,790,763                

Capital Project Funds

Non GO Bond Funded Projects Fund
Non-Departmental 887,347                     5,627,038                  -                             1,164,707                  16,961,397                

887,347                     5,627,038                  -                             1,164,707                  16,961,397                

Schedule E Page 2 of 4



 Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Fund/Division 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Fund

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

GO Bonds Funded Projects Fund
Fire -$                           -                             -                             -                             2,295,000                  
Community Development -                             2,158,466                  -                             90,500                       11,005,555                
Water Services 1,367,877                  25,109,399                -                             9,589,861                  32,473,867                
Non-Departmental 154,225                     4,408,306                  -                             42,199                       3,682,137                  

1,522,102                  31,676,171                -                             9,722,560                  49,456,559                

Total Capital Project Funds 2,409,449                  37,303,209                -                             10,887,267                66,417,956                

Enterprise Funds

Drinking Water Fund
General Administration 408,622                     471,325                     -                             471,325                     559,251                     
Management Services 1,134,086                  1,126,157                  -                             1,126,157                  1,239,444                  
Community Development 66,572                       77,525                       -                             77,525                       20,114                       
Public Works 122,584                     19,269                       -                             19,269                       11,189                       
Water Services 20,539,218                44,438,122                -                             28,810,577                50,563,544                
Non-Departmental 189,267                     158,635                     -                             158,635                     178,339                     
Contingency -                             1,000,000                  -                             -                             1,000,000                  

22,460,349                47,291,033                -                             30,663,488                53,571,881                

Wastewater Fund
General Administration 230,375                     250,970                     -                             250,970                     281,634                     
Management Services 343,692                     344,188                     -                             344,188                     365,075                     
Public Works 31,232                       14,621                       -                             14,621                       10,769                       
Water Services 8,234,229                  40,945,657                -                             8,625,114                  28,162,977                
Non-Departmental 64,525                       49,627                       -                             49,627                       62,090                       
Contingency 4,677                         800,000                     -                             -                             800,000                     

8,908,730                  42,405,063                -                             9,284,520                  29,682,545                

Reclaimed Water Fund
General Administration 31,345                       45,107                       -                             45,107                       49,621                       
Management Services 40,969                       35,129                       -                             35,129                       35,090                       
Water Services 362,372                     2,966,583                  -                             678,006                     2,211,434                  
Non-Departmental 5,272                         5,109                         -                             5,109                         3,823                         
Contingency -                             50,000                       -                             -                             50,000                       

439,958                     3,101,928                  -                             763,351                     2,349,968                  

Stormwater Fund
General Administration 71,614                       92,389                       -                             92,389                       91,646                       
Management Services 110,656                     116,991                     -                             116,991                     194,275                     
Community Development 73,907                       68,150                       -                             68,150                       33,905                       
Public Works 2,098                         1,091                         -                             1,091                         2,648                         
Water Services 8,166,232                  28,762,565                -                             6,828,261                  36,572,202                
Non-Departmental 10,236                       16,741                       -                             16,741                       31,960                       
Contingency -                             2,000,000                  -                             -                             819,721                     

8,434,743                  31,057,927                -                             7,123,623                  37,746,357                

Solid Waste Fund
General Administration 421,188                     522,768                     -                             522,768                     625,149                     
Management Services 477,379                     505,305                     -                             505,305                     544,957                     
Public Works 13,828,915                25,041,953                -                             18,249,129                19,272,056                
Non-Departmental 258,843                     233,796                     -                             233,796                     188,924                     
Contingency -                             500,000                     -                             500,000                     500,000                     

14,986,325                26,803,822                -                             20,010,998                21,131,086                

Schedule E Page 3 of 4



 Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Fund/Division 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Fund

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Sustainability and Environmental Management Fund
General Administration 127,733$                   92,872                       -                             92,872                       101,038                     
Management Services 106,664                     78,246                       -                             78,246                       84,876                       
Public Works 5,970                         17,522                       -                             17,522                       8,251                         
Non-Departmental 14,861                       12,367                       -                             12,367                       24,452                       
Sustainability 1,214,201                  10,825,051                -                             7,955,020                  20,589,159                
Contingency -                             30,000                       -                             -                             30,000                       

1,469,429                  11,056,058                -                             8,156,027                  20,837,776                

Airport Fund
General Administration 128,782                     116,847                     -                             116,847                     152,687                     
Management Services 140,153                     128,646                     -                             128,646                     128,370                     
Public Works 108,393                     140,657                     -                             140,657                     112,020                     
Economic Vitality 5,754,691                  25,474,918                -                             9,520,107                  27,533,597                
Non-Departmental 43,078                       13,777                       -                             13,777                       46,843                       
Contingency -                             100,000                     -                             -                             100,000                     

6,175,097                  25,974,845                -                             9,920,034                  28,073,517                

Flagstaff Housing Authority Fund
Community Development 9,289,645                  11,611,628                -                             11,513,258                12,419,384                
Contingency -                             1,001,250                  -                             -                             1,001,250                  

9,289,645                  12,612,878                -                             11,513,258                13,420,634                

Total Enterprise Funds 72,164,276                200,303,554              -                             97,435,299                206,813,764              

Total All Funds 217,491,581$            539,705,762              -                             287,494,064              579,432,772              

* Includes actual expenditures/expenses recognized on the modified accrual basis as of the date the proposed budget was prepared, plus estimated
expenditures/expenses for the remainder of the fiscal year.

Schedule E Page 4 of 4



Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Division/Fund 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

General Administration
General Fund 14,207,174$          34,022,130            - 17,178,620 19,633,599            
Library 280,520 328,134 - 328,134 357,049 
HURF 409,111 376,704 - 376,704 369,439 
Transportation 51,325 56,447 - 56,447 90,231 
Parking District 39,437 46,293 - 46,293 55,820 
Drinking Water 408,622 471,325 - 471,325 559,251 
Wastewater 230,375 250,970 - 250,970 281,634 
Reclaimed Water 31,345 45,107 - 45,107 49,621 
Stormwater 71,614 92,389 - 92,389 91,646 
Solid Waste 421,188 522,768 - 522,768 625,149 
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt 127,733 92,872 - 92,872 101,038 
Airport 128,782 116,847 - 116,847 152,687 

16,465,494            36,483,430            - 19,639,920 22,439,873            

Community Development
General Fund 4,408,903              5,317,967              - 4,795,989 5,525,601              
Housing and Community Services 818,527 4,470,328              1,100,000              2,175,252 5,802,036              
GO Bonds Funded Projects - 2,158,466 - 90,500 11,005,555            
Drinking Water 66,572 77,525 - 77,525 20,114 
Stormwater 73,907 68,150 - 68,150 33,905 
Flagstaff Housing Authority 9,289,645              11,611,628            - 11,513,258 12,419,384            

14,657,554            23,704,064            1,100,000              18,720,674            34,806,595            

Management Services
General Fund 4,689,190              6,797,338              - 6,045,798 6,886,150              
Library 151,324 151,562 - 151,562 157,923 
HURF 80,664 82,011 - 82,011 83,927 
Transportation 98,601 77,553 - 77,553 114,989 
Parking District 13,601 12,031 - 12,031 11,793 
Drinking Water 1,134,086              1,126,157              - 1,126,157 1,239,444              
Wastewater 343,692 344,188 - 344,188 365,075 
Reclaimed Water 40,969 35,129 - 35,129 35,090 
Stormwater 110,656 116,991 - 116,991 194,275 
Solid Waste 477,379 505,305 - 505,305 544,957 
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt 106,664 78,246 - 78,246 84,876 
Airport 140,153 128,646 - 128,646 128,370 

7,397,924              9,468,862              - 8,717,322 9,856,855              

Fire
General Fund 14,473,138            28,781,201            - 21,978,200 22,176,319            
Water Resource and Infrastructure Fund 643,788 973,122 - 873,122 4,048,089              
GO Bonds Funded Projects - - - - 2,295,000              

15,116,926            29,754,323            - 22,851,322 28,519,408            

Police
General Fund 22,437,055            26,722,092            - 25,176,728 27,855,509            

22,437,055            26,722,092            - 25,176,728 27,855,509            

Public Works
General Fund 2,655,936              6,401,503              - 4,107,507 9,436,602              
Library 28,892 37,541 - 37,541 62,997 
HURF 6,856,570              17,260,297            - 12,897,131 12,219,573            
Transportation 4,097,136              7,511,127              - 4,650,818 11,043,115            
Parking District 420 414 - 414 302 
Drinking Water 122,584 19,269 - 19,269 11,189 

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Division

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Schedule F Page 1 of 3



Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Division/Fund 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Division

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Public Works - Continued
Wastewater 31,232$                 14,621                   -                         14,621                   10,769                   
Stormwater 2,098                     1,091                     -                         1,091                     2,648                     
Solid Waste 13,828,915            25,041,953            -                         18,249,129            19,272,056            
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt 5,970                     17,522                   -                         17,522                   8,251                     
Airport 108,393                 140,657                 -                         140,657                 112,020                 

27,741,354            56,449,244            -                         40,138,949            52,183,716            

Economic Vitality
General Fund 125,206                 301,875                 -                         196,875                 253,451                 
Library 5,655,128              6,669,069              -                         6,172,737              8,404,439              
Beautification 2,046,925              3,767,996              -                         1,925,818              5,559,192              
Economic Development 1,421,392              2,211,241              -                         1,622,398              2,415,093              
Tourism 3,292,670              4,052,041              -                         3,645,347              4,462,332              
Arts and Science 643,585                 1,236,443              -                         1,121,443              1,286,551              
Parking District 790,126                 2,212,836              -                         1,097,836              2,280,174              
Airport 5,754,691              25,474,918            -                         9,520,107              27,533,597            

19,729,723            45,926,419            -                         25,302,561            52,194,829            

Water Services
GO Bonds Funded Projects 1,367,877              25,109,399            -                         9,589,861              32,473,867            
Drinking Water 20,539,218            44,438,122            -                         28,810,577            50,563,544            
Wastewater 8,234,229              40,945,657            -                         8,625,114              28,162,977            
Reclaimed Water 362,372                 2,966,583              -                         678,006                 2,211,434              
Stormwater 8,166,232              28,762,565            -                         6,828,261              36,572,202            

38,669,928            142,222,326          -                         54,531,819            149,984,024          

Non-Departmental
General Fund (2,283,616) 9,264,987 -                         (556,706) 5,544,170
COVID Relief Fund 338,108                 2,733,607              -                         604,806                 2,091,210              
Library 74,008                   70,981                   -                         70,981                   68,663                   
HURF 202,761                 182,781                 -                         182,781                 76,672                   
Transportation 7,963,504              16,886,537            -                         10,253,262            16,552,143            
Housing and Community Services 16,709                   52,000                   -                         52,000                   51,500                   
Parking District 8,419                     9,327                     -                         9,327                     6,957                     
General Obligation Bonds 7,406,790              5,602,333              -                         5,602,333              11,085,460            
Pension Debt Service Fund 9,197,868              8,706,680              -                         8,706,680              8,705,303              
GO Bond Funded Projects 154,225                 4,408,306              -                         42,199                   3,682,137              
Non GO Bond Funded Projects 887,347                 5,627,038              -                         1,164,707              16,961,397            
Drinking Water 189,267                 158,635                 -                         158,635                 178,339                 
Wastewater 64,525                   49,627                   -                         49,627                   62,090                   
Reclaimed Water 5,272                     5,109                     -                         5,109                     3,823                     
Stormwater 10,236                   16,741                   -                         16,741                   31,960                   
Solid Waste 258,843                 233,796                 -                         233,796                 188,924                 
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt 14,861                   12,367                   -                         12,367                   24,452                   
Airport 43,078                   13,777                   -                         13,777                   46,843                   

24,558,752            54,043,096            -                         26,630,889            65,370,706            

City Engineering
General Fund 1,676,642              2,360,781              -                         2,335,749              2,354,908              
HURF 7,850,748              11,303,541            -                         7,422,596              10,293,512            
Transportation 11,371,479            65,480,023            -                         12,931,477            81,790,356            

20,898,869            79,144,345            -                         22,689,822            94,438,776            

Schedule F Page 2 of 3



Adopted Expenditure/
Actual Budgeted Expense Estimated Budgeted

Expenditures/ Expenditures/ Adjustments Expenditures/ Expenditures/
Expenses Expenses Approved Expenses* Expenses

Division/Fund 2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025

City of Flagstaff
Expenditures/Expenses by Division

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Parks, Recreation, Open Space and Events
General Fund 8,467,444$            12,536,253            -                         9,839,491              11,387,951            
BBB-Recreation 143,256                 2,270,947              -                         2,260,547              2,520,400              

8,610,700              14,807,200            -                         12,100,038            13,908,351            

Sustainability
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt 1,214,201              10,825,051            -                         7,955,020              20,589,159            

1,214,201              10,825,051            -                         7,955,020              20,589,159            

Reserves/Contingencies
General Fund (18,103) 4,204,060              (1,100,000) 2,539,000              2,514,000              
Library -                         100,000                 -                         100,000                 
HURF -                         100,000                 -                         100,000                 
Beautification -                         10,000                   -                         10,000                   
Economic Development 6,527                     45,000                   -                         45,000                   
Tourism -                         175,000                 -                         175,000                 
Arts and Science -                         10,000                   -                         10,000                   
Parking District -                         30,000                   -                         30,000                   
Drinking Water -                         1,000,000              -                         1,000,000              
Wastewater 4,677                     800,000                 -                         800,000                 
Reclaimed Water -                         50,000                   -                         50,000                   
Stormwater -                         2,000,000              -                         819,721                 
Solid Waste -                         500,000                 500,000                 500,000                 
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt -                         30,000                   -                         30,000                   
Airport -                         100,000                 -                         100,000                 
Flagstaff Housing Authority -                         1,001,250              -                         1,001,250              

(6,899) 10,155,310            (1,100,000) 3,039,000              7,284,971              

All Funds Total 217,491,581$        539,705,762          -                         287,494,064          579,432,772          

*Includes actual expenditures/expenses recognized on the modified accrual basis as of the date the proposed budget was prepared, plus
estimated expenditures/expenses for the remainder of the fiscal year.

Schedule F Page 3 of 3



Full-Time 
Equivalent 

(FTE)

Employee 
Salaries and 

Hourly Costs
Retirement 

Costs
Healthcare 

Costs
Other Benefit 

Costs

Total Estimated 
Personnel 

Compensation
2024-2025 2024-2025 2024-2025 2024-2025 2024-2025 2024-2025

General Fund 639.52 51,892,177$     6,241,382$       6,480,046$       4,184,133$       68,797,738$       

Special Revenue Funds
Housing and Community Services 1.00 72,788 8,931 9,100 6,589 97,408
Library 57.88 3,298,968 356,196 554,849 249,042 4,459,055
Highway User Revenue 36.27 2,583,695 277,997 403,651 264,069 3,529,412
Transportation 2.00 124,392 15,263 25,616 15,449 180,720
Beautification 3.00 250,273 30,753 31,327 19,760 332,113
Economic Development 2.65 246,134 30,267 33,116 19,186 328,703
Tourism 18.80 1,300,203 145,222 165,193 100,781 1,711,399
Arts and Science 0.65 56,584 6,965 7,465 4,443 75,457
Parking District 7.30 384,987 46,867 82,891 38,147 552,892
Water Resource & Infrastructure Protection 8.00 604,515 72,862 64,494 32,558 774,429

Total Special Revenue Funds 137.55 8,922,539 991,323 1,377,702 750,024 12,041,588

Capital Project Funds
GO Bonds 1.23 84,464 10,364 11,431 7,711 113,970

Total Capital Project Funds 1.23 84,464 10,364 11,431 7,711 113,970

Enterprise Funds
Drinking Water 58.40 4,401,849 529,697 603,895 381,300 5,916,741
Wastewater 22.70 1,468,057 180,130 262,085 135,806 2,046,078
Reclaimed Water 1.80 125,294 15,373 20,997 11,457 173,121
Stormwater 10.30 836,784 101,808 112,120 70,056 1,120,768
Solid Waste 48.50 3,301,230 399,811 476,560 326,147 4,503,748
Sustainability and Environmental Mgmt 12.35 902,473 101,912 86,368 71,135 1,161,888
Airport 15.85 1,178,645 159,707 170,937 61,109 1,570,398
Flagstaff Housing Authority 24.40 1,506,735 184,873 269,309 131,732 2,092,649

Total Enterprise Funds 194.30 13,721,067 1,673,311 2,002,271 1,188,742 18,585,391

Total All Funds 972.60 74,620,247$     8,916,380$       9,871,450$       6,130,610$       99,538,687$       

City of Flagstaff
Full-Time Employee and Personnel Compensation

Fiscal Year 2024-2025

Fund

Schedule G Page 1 of 1



   10. B.  10. B.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Rick Tadder, Management Services Director
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-24:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-24:  A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council
adopting the City of Flagstaff Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Pension Funding Policy; delegating
authority; and establishing an effective date.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-24 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-24 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-24

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The Flagstaff City Council is required to adopt a pension funding policy for its funding of the Public Safety
Personnel Retirement System ("PSPRS") on or before July 1 on an annual basis, pursuant to Arizona
Revised Statutes Section 38-863.01. The current policy is required to be updated and posted on the City's
website.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
Council will be adopting the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 budget on June 18, 2024, which includes funding for the
public safety pension plans as outlined in the pension funding policy. The FY 2024-2025 budget includes
pension contributions of $1,367,497 for Fire pension and $1,249,268 for Police pension.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
The intent of this policy is to clearly communicate the Council's pension funding objectives, its commitment to
our employees, and the sound financial management of the City, and to comply with Arizona Revised
Statutes Section 38-863.01.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
On June 20, 2023, City Council adopted the PSPRS Pension Funding Policy for FY 2023-2024.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

Adopt the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Funding Policy as presented.
Adopt the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Funding Policy with amendments.

Background and History:Background and History:
The City of Flagstaff has two separate pension plans for the City's public safety staff. While all the PSPRS
plans are managed by the State, each plan within PSPRS stands alone by the City and employee group. The
two plans for the City are the PSPRS-Fire and the PSPRS-Police. The City and its employees are responsible
for the contributions and the City is solely responsible for liabilities of these plans.



The pension funding policy outlines several measures the City is taking to maintaining funding ratios above
100% in our PSPRS plans, including:

Make the City's annual estimated contribution based on the City budget near the beginning of each fiscal
year to allow PSPRS to invest those contributions earlier for enhanced potential investment earnings. 
This allows the pension system to earn investment income at a higher rate than the City.  
Make City contributions for public safety employees participating in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan
(DROP), even though the City is not required to do so.  This allows for a stable level of budgeting versus
annual changes as employees on DROP increase and decrease.  
Budget and pay the Normal Cost of the pension plans.  This is required by the pension plan.
Current funding status for the Police plan is 97.7% and Fire plan is 102.6%.  A funding status over 100%
is important as it allows us to be in a better position when there are market and actuarial changes.  

For the June 30, 2024 actuarial report, the Police plan fell below 100% funded.  Therefore staff is contributing
an additional $3.2M in fiscal year 2023-24 to bring the plan back to fully funded.  This contribution is being
made with existing budget capacity and will not have an impact on the fiscal year 2024-25 budget adoption. 
Resources will come from our pension savings set aside and savings from police operations.  The set aside
funds were part of the initial financing plan to help assure the plans are meeting their funded status.  We will
not need to use the Contingency Reserve Fund.  Staff will be meeting with Pubilic Safety Personnel Safety
Retirement staff do discuss the City's annual progress since our pension financing in July 2020.  We hope to
design an improved plan to maintain the 100% funded status of our plans. 

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
High Performing Governance: Maintain the organization's fiscal stability through strong financial policies and
best practices.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Goal PF.3. Provide high-quality emergency response and public safety services including law enforcement,
fire, medical, and ambulance transport service.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None.

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments: Res. 2024-24
PSPRS Pension Funding Policy
Contingency Reserve Fund Policy



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-24 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL ADOPTING THE CITY 
OF FLAGSTAFF PUBLIC SAFETY PERSONNEL RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
PENSION FUNDING POLICY; DELEGATING AUTHORITY; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE  

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, beginning on or before July 1, 2019, pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-863.01 the City of 
Flagstaff shall annually adopt a pension funding policy for its Public Safety Personnel Retirement 
System (“PSPRS”) plans; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to adopt a pension funding policy for the Flagstaff Fire Department 
and the Flagstaff Police Department pension plans (“PSPRS plans”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the State of Arizona is responsible for investment and management of the PSPRS 
plans, and administration of pension benefits. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. In General. 
 
The City of Flagstaff hereby adopts the City of Flagstaff Public Safety Personnel Retirement 
System Pension Funding Policy, attached hereto (“Pension Funding Policy”). 
 
SECTION 2. Delegation of Authority. 
 
The Management Services Director and Finance Director are delegated authority to implement 
the Pension Policy, to make recommendations for any adjustments and to report on progress in 
reducing unfunded liability of the PSPRS plans as deemed necessary and appropriate.   
 
The City Clerk is hereby directed to post a copy of the Pension Funding Policy on the City of 
Flagstaff website pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-863.01.B, and to provide a copy of the Pension Funding 
Policy to the Police Chief, Fire Chief, and to the local board for each of the PSPRS plans. 
 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date. 
 
This resolution shall be effective July 1, 2024. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 4th day of June, 2024. 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-24  PAGE 2 
 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
Exhibits: 
Pension Funding Policy 



City of Flagstaff 
Public Safety Personnel Retirement System 

Pension Funding Policy 
As of July 1, 2024 

 
 
Section 1: Introduction 
 
The intent of this policy is to clearly communicate the Council’s pension funding objectives 
and its commitment to our employees and the sound financial management of the City of 
Flagstaff (City) and to comply with Arizona Revised Statutes Section 38-863.01.   
 
The City of Flagstaff is a member of the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System 
(PSPRS).  The City has two PSPRS pension plans, one for police employees and one for fire 
employees.  Each pension plan has its own funding to pay for current and future pension 
obligations.  The plans represent only the City of Flagstaff’s liability.  Employee contributions 
that are used to help pay for the pension plans are managed by the PSPRS. 
 
This policy will demonstrate how the City will meet its financial obligations for funding the 
police and fire pension plans, explain how and when funding requirements for the plans will 
be met, and define the funded ratio targets and timelines for reaching the ratio for the plans.  
 
Several terms are used throughout this policy:  
 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) – Is the difference between trust assets 
and the estimated future cost of pensions earned by employees. This UAAL results from 
actual results (interest earnings, member mortality, disability rates, etc.) being different 
from the assumptions used in previous actuarial valuations.  
 
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) – Is the annual amount required to pay into the 
pension funds, as determined through annual actuarial valuations. It is comprised of two 
primary components: normal pension cost – which is the estimated cost of pension 
benefits earned by employees in the current year; and amortization of UAAL – which is 
the cost needed to cover the unfunded portion of pensions earned by employees in 
previous years. The UAAL is collected over a period referred to as the amortization period. 
The ARC is a percentage of the current payroll.  
 
Normal Cost – That portion of the actuarial present value of benefits for the base costs 
in the current plan year. 
 
Funded Ratio – Is a ratio of fund assets to actuarial accrued liability. The higher the ratio 
the better funded the pension is with 100% being fully funded.  
 
Intergenerational equity – Ensures that no generation is burdened by substantially more 
or less pension costs than past or future generations. 
 

The City’s police and fire employees who are regularly assigned hazardous duty participate 
in the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS). 
 
  



Section 2: Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS)  
 
PSPRS is administered as an agent multiple-employer pension plan. An agent multiple-
employer plan has two main functions: 1) to comingle assets of all plans under its 
administration, thus achieving economy of scale for more cost-efficient investments and 
invest those assets for the benefit of all members under its administration and 2) serve as the 
statewide uniform administrator for the distribution of benefits.  PSPRS provides annual 
actuarial reports to determine current status of each plan.  These are available on the PSPRS 
website.   
 
Under an agent multiple employer plan each agency participating in the plan has an individual 
trust fund reflecting each individual plan’s assets and liabilities. Under this plan all 
contributions are deposited to and distributions are made from that fund’s assets, each fund 
has its own funded ratio and contribution rate, and each fund has a unique annual actuarial 
valuation. The City of Flagstaff has two trust funds, one for police employees and one for fire 
employees. 
 
Council formally accepts the assets, liabilities, and current funding ratio of the City’s PSPRS 
trust funds from the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation, which are detailed below. 
 
June 30, 2023 Report, Tier 1 & 2: 

 
 
 
 
  

Trust Fund Assets      
Accrued 
Liability 

UAAL 
(Overfunded) 

Funded 
Ratio 

Flagstaff Police $ 103,449,502 $   105,914,396  $ 2,464,894 97.7% 
Flagstaff Fire $ 115,290,775 $ 112,347,871 ($ 2,942,904) 102.6% 

Totals $ 218,740,277 $ 218,262,267 ($ 478,010) 100.2% 



Section 3: PSPRS Funding Goal  
 
Pensions that are less than fully funded place the cost of service provided in earlier periods 
(amortization of UAAL) on the current taxpayers. Fully funded pension plans are the best way 
to achieve taxpayer and employee intergenerational equity. 
 
At a minimum, the Council will maintain minimum Annual Required Contribution (ARC) for 
PSPRS for both Flagstaff Police and Flagstaff Fire.  Council is committed to maintaining the 
full ARC payment (normal cost and UAAL amortization) from ongoing operating revenues.  
 
The City’s PSPRS plans are currently funded at an average of 100% based on Actuarial 
Reports for the period ending June 30, 2023.  Future goals will be in place to best assure the 
plans are 100% funded.  The following goals are adopted to address potential future impacts 
and position the City financially for such impacts.   
 
The estimated ARC for FY 2024-25 per actuarial valuation and fully funded goal, Tier 1 & 2: 

• PSPRS-Police: $568,777 (Normal Cost), $92,066 (Unfunded Liability) June 30, 2023  
• PSPRS-Fire: $31,956 (Normal Cost only), June 30, 2023  

 
Council will take additional fiscal measures to maintain 100% funded pension plans: 

• The City will make an annual payment for the City’s share of PSRPS contributions in 
July of each fiscal year.  The payment will be based on the Adopted Budget for the 
City for both plans.  During the fiscal year, if the ARC exceeds the prepayment amount, 
the City will pay additional ARC as required.  If at June 30 the prepayment exceeds 
the actual minimum ARC, the City will leave the overpayment with the pension plan, 
thus providing excess contributions.  

• For public safety employees which are in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan 
(DROP), the City will budget for and pay the City’s share of pension contributions.  
While the City is not required to make these contributions, this would be a contribution 
in excess of the ARC.   

• The City will calculate the annual contributions based on Normal Cost rate provided in 
the annual actuarial report.   

Council will consider additional payment above the ARC to lower the UAAL:  
• Based on staff recommendation, additional payments may be provided from the 

pension saving set aside in the General Fund. 
 
Council will consider additional resources to assist in maintaining the 100% funding status:  

• The Council has adopted a Contingency Reserve Fund policy of the public safety plan.  
Staff will utilize this plan to provide additional contributions when the plans fall below 
100% funding.   

 
Based on these pension funding policy decisions by the Council, the City PSPRS plans are 
expected to maintain the goal of 100% funding.    

 

Adopted by Resolution on June 04, 2024 

 



City of Flagstaff  
 
Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (“PSPRS”)  
Contingency Reserve Fund (“CRF”) Policy 
June 2020 

1. Background 
a. The City desires to fully fund its PSPRS Flagstaff Police and Fire Plans (“Plans”).  As of 

June 2020, Plans constitute a debt of the City.  The City has determined it is financially 
prudent to appropriately fund these pension plans and help improve the long term 
finances of the City.   

b. The City is issuing Pension Certificates of Participation (COPS) encumbering certain 
City real properties and will deposit a portion of the proceeds in the PSPRS Flagstaff 
Police and Fire pension funds and a portion for two Contingency Reserve Funds.  

c. The City has the goal to be at or near 100% funded for both Plans.   
 

2. Purpose of the Contingency Reserve Funds 
a. The purpose of this policy is to set forth the rules of managing the CRF effectively.  The 

goal is to mitigate the impact of 1) investment return volatility and 2) changes in 
select actuarial assumptions (as defined herein) made within the PSPRS plans for 
Flagstaff Police and Flagstaff Fire (“Plans”).   
 

3. Establishment of Contingency Reserve Funds and Initial Deposits 
a. The City is establishing separate contingency reserve funds for Police and Fire, 

because each Plan is independently managed by PSPRS.  
b. The initial deposit for the Police CRF and the initial deposit for the Fire CRF will be 

funded with COPS proceeds.  Sizing of the Contingency Reserve Funds is discussed 
further below in this policy. 

c. The City will manage each CRF separately and the deposits and draws will be 
managed based on each Plan’s changes.  Each Plan’s changes are summarized by 
PSPRS actuaries on an annual basis at the end of the fiscal year, and the City receives 
a copy of the annual report.  

 

4. Rules for Investments 
a. The City will be managing and investing the CRFs.  Investments made by the must 

comply with the requirements found in Arizona Revised Statutes Section 35-323 and 
the City’s Investment Policy. 

b. Investments shall be principal protected so that the City does not lose value in the 
deposited amounts.  

c. Gross funded by principal deposits, not to include expected investment earnings.  
d. Investments shall be invested in no more than one-year increments to allow for 

liquidity in the 1st quarter of each calendar year.  



e. Proceeds should only be invested in liquid and/or short-term products to ensure 
prompt availability of funds. 

f. The City will prioritize the investments of these funds with a local bank. 
g. City may have the opportunity to utilize a pension stabilization trust to manage 

investment of CRF proceeds.  These are irrevocable trusts created under Internal 
Revenue Service Section 115.    

 

5. Rules for Contingency Reserve Funds Draws 
a. The City will establish a minimum fund balance threshold based on the initial deposit 

into the CRF. 
b. Draws will first be made from investment income only, while the principal balance 

remains untouched.   
c. Establish a funded ratio threshold, where if the CRF balance rises 5% above the 

minimum fund balance and the pension plan is fully funded, the City may draw all or 
a portion of the 5% to supplement the City’s annual required employer contribution 
for the Plans.  

d. Market Draw: The City may draw from a CRF when investment return for the Plans 
for the prior fiscal year is below the actuarial rate of return.  

e. Actuarial Draw: The City may draw from a CRF when the PSPRS annual report for the 
Plans show a revision of the assumed earnings rate assumption, changes to payroll 
growth assumption, and/or revisions to mortality assumption occur and cause an 
impact on Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability for the Plans in excess of a defined 
threshold. 

 

6. Rules of Replenishment for the Contingency Reserve Funds 
a. After the fiscal year of bond issuance and for the following five fiscal years of the 

bonds, the City shall only commit savings derived from the issuance of the COPS to 
help pay one time operational costs of the General Fund so that should the CRF fall 
below minimum fund requirements in a given fiscal year, savings may be used to 
replenish the CRF.   

b. The City will review unspent budget appropriations for PSPRS pension expenditures 
annually and may consider adding to the CRF.  

c. Should the CRF balance fall below the minimum fund balance, the City will prioritize 
making replenishments over no more five years. 

 

7. Sizing of Contingency Reserve Funds 
a. The City will review the CRF funding levels at least every five years to assure adequate 

reserves.   
b. Police CRF 

i. Size initial deposit to manage “worst case” scenario of all permitted draw 
events (market volatility and actuarial changes) occurring in one valuation 

ii. Market. $2,836,000; size initial deposit to calculated on the average of a 10% 
market loss and up to three years of new Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 
(“UAAL”) payments that would be created if PSPRS experienced 20% loss 



compared to the average earnings rate in year 1 of issuing pension bonds. 
iii. Actuarial. $4,014,000; size initial deposit to manage up to three years of new 

UAAL payments that would be created if the assumed earnings rate was 
revised to 7%, payroll growth increased and/or PSPRS adopted a new 
mortality table. 

c. Fire CRF 
i. Size initial deposit to manage “worst case” scenario of all permitted draw 

events (market volatility and actuarial changes) occurring in one valuation 
ii. Market. $3,170,000; size initial deposit to calculated on the average of a 10% 

market loss and up to three years of new UAAL payments that would be 
created if PSPRS experienced 20% loss compared to the average earnings rate 
in year 1 of issuing pension bonds. 

iii. Actuarial. $4,219,000; size initial deposit to manage up to three years of new 
UAAL payments that would be created if the assumed earnings rate was 
revised to 7%, payroll growth increased and/or PSPRS adopted a new 
mortality table. 

 

8. Rules to Dissolve Contingency Reserve Funds 
a. Upon the repayment of the final debt service payment for the Pension COPS, staff will 

seek Council direction to dissolve or continue the CRF.  The City could dissolve the 
CRF and apply the remaining balance of funds to other retiree benefits, other post-
employment benefits (OPEB), annual required contributions or General Fund.  



   10. C.  10. C.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Rick Tadder, Management Services Director
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-23:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-23:  A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council,
designating its Chief Fiscal Officer for officially submitting the fiscal year 2024-2025 expenditure limitation
report to the Arizona Auditor General, and establishing an effective date.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-23 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-23 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-23

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Staff is requesting Council adoption of this resolution to formally designate a Chief Fiscal Officer, per Arizona
Revised Statutes, Section 41-1279.07(E). The City is required to annually designate a Chief Fiscal Officer for
the City for expenditure limitation reporting.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
There is no fiscal impact related to adopting this resolution.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
There is no policy impact related to adopting this resolution.  It is intended to follow state statute
requirements.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
The current designation for Fiscal Year 2023-24 was adopted by Council on July 3, 2023.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

Approve the Resolution as submitted.
Amend the Resolution and designate a different city staff member as the Chief Fiscal Officer

Background and History:Background and History:
Per Arizona Revised Statutes, Section 41-1279.07(E), the City is required to designate a Chief Fiscal Officer
annually for expenditure limitation reporting, as follows: "The governing body of each political subdivision shall
provide to the auditor general by July 31 each year the name of the chief fiscal officer designated by the
governing body of the political subdivision to officially submit the current fiscal year's expenditure limitation
report on behalf of the governing body. The governing body of the political subdivision shall notify the auditor
general of any changes of individuals designated to file the required reports. The designated chief fiscal
officer shall certify to the accuracy of the annual expenditure limitation report."



The Flagstaff City Charter Article IV, Section 3 provides for the appointment of a City Treasurer with approval
of the Council. The City Treasurer "shall receive and have custody of all the money of the City" and manage it
in compliance with applicable laws and ordinances.  The City Treasurer's responsibilities encompass those
duties required of a Chief Fiscal Officer, per the law stated above.  On September 15, 2015, Rick Tadder was
appointed the City Treasurer by Resolution No. 2015-32.  Therefore, designating Rick Tadder as the Chief
Fiscal Officer is appropriate.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
None

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
None

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments: Res. No. 2024-23



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL, DESIGNATING THE 
CHIEF FISCAL OFFICER FOR OFFICIALLY SUBMITTING THE FISCAL YEAR 
2024-2025 EXPENDITURE LIMITATION REPORT TO THE ARIZONA AUDITOR 
GENERAL, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, A.R.S. § 41-1279.07(E) requires each county, city, town, and community college 
district to annually provide to the Auditor General by July 31 the name of the Chief Fiscal Officer 
the governing body designated to officially submit the current year’s Annual Expenditure 
Limitation Report (AELR) on the governing body’s behalf; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff Mayor and Council desire to designate its City Treasurer, Rick 
Tadder, as the City’s Chief Fiscal Officer; and 
 
WHEREAS, entities must submit an updated form and documentation for any changes in the 
individuals designated to file the AELR. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The recitals above are hereby incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
Rick Tadder is hereby designated as the City’s Chief Fiscal Officer for purposes of submitting the 
fiscal year 2024-2025 Annual Expenditure Limitation Report to the Arizona Auditor General’s 
Office on the governing body’s behalf. 
 
SECTION 2. Effective Date. 
 
This resolution shall be immediately effective. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 4th day of June, 2024. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-23  PAGE 2 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



   10. D.  10. D.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Patrick Brown, Purchasing Director
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-26:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-26:  A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council,
amending the Procurement Code Manual, Article 4 and adding Article 32 and establishing an effective date.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Read Resolution No. 2024-26 by title only
2. City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-26 by title only (if approved above)
3. Adopt Resolution No. 2024-26

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
This Resolution is to amend the City's Procurement Code Manual to revise Article 4 Definitions and add the
new Article 32 for Sustainable Procurement. Staff has developed new Article 32 and revised Article 4 with
associated definitions that will provide a sustainable procurement process when soliciting for Financial
Services.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
N/A.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
Per City Code, Chapter 1, Section 20-001-0004, a Resolution is required to adopt changes to the
Procurement Code Manual.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
On June 27, 2023 during a Council Work Session, city staff was asked by council to explore and develop
procurement policy code revisions for the Procurement Code Manual.
On March 28, 2024 at a City Council Work Session, city staff presented amendments to the Procurement
Code Manual with options to consider under the new Sustainable Procurement article related to Financial
Services. 

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

Adopt the changes proposed in the Resolution
Provide amendments and adopt the Resolution
Do not adopt the resolution and provide direction to staff

Background and History:Background and History:
The City has a formal and comprehensive Procurement Code Manual which was originally adopted by City
Council under Resolution No. 2013-19 on July 16, 2013.  Any and all amendments are required to be adopted
by Resolution per City Code, Chapter 1, Section 20-001-0004. The Procurement Code Manual was amended



June 2015, May 2018, April 2019 and July 2023.

The purpose for the Procurement Code Manual is to provide fundamental principles, practices and guidelines
for how the City Procurement process works. The objectives of the Procurement Code Manual are to outline
various procedures in order to provide and preserve a high standard of integrity and transparency with the
City's procurement process and demonstrate leadership in the stewardship of taxpayer dollars involving the
procurement of materials, services and construction. The Procurement Code Manual is in accordance with
the Flagstaff City Charter and applicable law.
 
The City Procurement Code Manual currently consists of 31 Articles. Staff is prepared to discuss amendment
to Articles 4 and adding new Article 32 for adoption. Staff will continue to look at future revisions to other
Articles within the Procurement Code Manual.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
None

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
None

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
None

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
N/A

Attachments:Attachments: Res. 2024-26



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-26 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL, AMENDING THE 
PROCUREMENT CODE MANUAL, ARTICLE 4 AND ADDING ARTICLE 32, 
AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has adopted a process for the procurement of goods and 
services set forth in the Procurement Code Manual; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council desires to amend the Procurement Code Manual by adding 
additional language related to Articles 4 Definitions and adding a new Article 32 Sustainable 
Procurement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council desires to amend the Procurement Code Manual by adding 
a new Article 32 Sustainable Procurement. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
That the Procurement Code Manual, Article 4, and new Article 32, are hereby amended as follows:   
 
SECTION 1. The Procurement Code Manual hereto and hereby incorporated herein is hereby 
amended as follows: 

 
Article 4 Definitions 
 
Direct fossil fuel industry relationship means companies that fund operations and companies 
associated with extracting, producing, and investing in fossil fuels. 
 
Financial Services means contractual services with businesses that manage money including 
banking services, deposits, treasury management, credit cards, payment services, and 
loans/leases. 
 
Fossil Fuel Industry means the sector involved in the exploration, extraction, production, and 
distribution of fossil fuels. These fuels include coal, oil, and natural gas. 
 
Fossil Fuel Adjacent Companies means businesses that operate closely with or provide 
services to the Fossil Fuel Industry but are not directly involved in the exploration, extraction, 
production, and distribution of fossil fuels themselves. These companies may include suppliers of 
equipment and technology used in fossil fuel extraction, transportation, and refining processes, 
as well as firms engaged in activities such as exploration, environmental remediation, consulting, 
or finance tailored specifically to the fossil fuel sector. 
 
Indirect fossil fuel industry relationship means companies that fund companies that 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-26  PAGE 2 
 

themselves have exposure to fossil fuel investments. 
 
Article 32 Sustainable Procurement 
 
The City of Flagstaff recognizes the importance of focusing procurement processes on 
sustainable purchasing practices. All procurements will require consideration of the following sub 
articles. 
 
Section 32.1   Financial Services 
 
A. When procuring Financial Services, the Purchasing Agent will follow the prescribed 

process below related to relationships with the Fossil Fuel Industry.  
 
B. When procuring Financial Services through a competitive process, the following evaluative 

criteria will be included in the solicitation regarding the relationship between the firm and 
the Fossil Fuel Industry.  

 
1. Evaluation criteria are determined by the Purchasing Director and the end-user or 

City Treasurer. Evaluation criteria shall be objectively measurable and allow for 
the evaluation, selection, and award of a contract in the best interest of the City.  
 

2. Lesser direct business relationships with the Fossil Fuel Industry will provide a 
higher point value. Demonstration of approach to limiting future direct involvement 
with the Fossil Fuel Industry will be considered.  
 

3. All solicitations advertised shall include the evaluation criterion “Business with the 
Fossil Fuel Industry” as follows: 
 
Business with the Fossil Fuel Industry (10 points/10%) 
 
Financial institutions with greater relationships with the Fossil Fuel Industry will be 
assessed a lower point value. Financial institutions showing a commitment to 
climate action, carbon neutrality, and reducing relationships with the Fossil Fuel 
Industry will gain a higher point value. Financial institutions doing business with 
the City of Flagstaff must provide documentation showing their involvement with 
the Fossil Fuel Industry.  
 
Relationships with Fossil Fuel Industry 
 
1. Explain your institutional involvement with the Fossil Fuel Industry. 
 
2. Describe what Fossil Fuel Industry that you currently provide financing. 

Provide a list of your current financing by type and amount. 
 
Commitment to Climate Action  
 
1. Share your institution’s commitment to climate action and reduction of 

investment in the Fossil Fuel Industry.  
 
2. Include any initiatives your company has for reducing carbon emissions 

and how long the initiatives have been in place, as well as financing 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-26  PAGE 3 
 

towards green energy (i.e., solar, wind, etc.). 
 
3. Please provide at least two years of progress reports toward carbon 

emission reductions. 
 
4. Provide your company’s initiatives to reduce financing for the Fossil Fuel 

Industry. 
 

SECTION 2. The Management Services Division and the City Clerk are authorized and directed 
to edit and correct clerical errors or typographical and/or grammatical errors of working and 
punctuation. 
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall be immediately effective upon adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 4th day of June, 2024. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 



   10. E.  10. E.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Heidi Hansen, Economic Vitality Director
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Rebecca Sayers

Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-22 and Ordinance No. 2024-16:Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-22 and Ordinance No. 2024-16:  A resolution of
the Flagstaff City Council declaring as a public record that certain document filed with the City Clerk and
entitled "2024 amendments to chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 of the city code related to the parks
and recreation commission, tourism commission, beautification and public art commission, open spaces
commission, and hospitality industry tax revenues" and An ordinance of the City Council of the City of
Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 2, Boards and Commissions, Chapters 2-03, Parks and
Recreation Commission, 2-13, Tourism Commission, 2-14, Beautification and Public Art Commission, and 2-
20, Open Spaces Commission, and Title 3, Business Regulations, Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax
Revenues, by adopting by reference that certain document entitled "2024 Amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-
13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 of the City Code Related to the Parks and Recreation Commission, Tourism
Commission, Beautification and Public Art Commission, Open Spaces Commission, and Hospitality Industry
Tax Revenues," providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances, severability, clerical corrections, and
establishing an effective date.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

At the June 4, 2024 Council Meeting: 
1) Read Resolution No. 2024-22 by title only 
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2024-22 by title only (if approved above) 
3) Read Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only for the first time 
4) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only (if approved above) 
At the June 18, 2024 Council Meeting: 
5) Adopt Resolution No. 2024-22 
6) Read Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only for the final time 
7) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2024-16 by title only (if approved above) 
8) Adopt Ordinance No. 2024-16

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The Parks and Recreation, Tourism, Open Spaces, and Beautification and Public Arts commission's
ordinances were established in 1988 and the proposed amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, and 2-20
update the commission duties and objectives, which are outdated and no longer coincide with industry need.
The proposed amendments to Chapter 3-06, clarify that the Open Spaces Commission will be involved in
making recommendations regarding allocation of the parks and recreation portion of the hospitality industry
tax revenues and update economic development activities.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
No financial impact 

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
Updating these chapters of the City Code will change the definition of "parks and recreation" in sections of the
city code referring to the parks and recreation portion of the hospitality industry tax revenues (also knows as



Bed, Board, and Booze or BBB tax) to include open spaces, and will clarify that the Open Spaces
Commission will be involved in making recommendations regarding allocation of the parks and recreation
portion of the tax. Updates to the Tourism Commission portion of the city code will change language to
"visitor" instead of "tourists," as well as establish marketing plan objectives and meetings appropriate to their
need, and Beautification/Arts/Sciences will update procurement thresholds to recently approved changes. The
Economic Development portion of the hospitality industry tax revenues chapter will update language to match
current practices and business needs.

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
Staff presented the recommended code changes to City Council on April 23, 2024, and Council direction was
to move forward with the recommendations.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:
Not approve the recommended code changes.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Priority Based Budget Key Community Priorities and ObjectivesPriority Based Budget Key Community Priorities and Objectives
Robust and Resilient Economy: Robust and Resilient Economy: Support and strengthen a robust, diverse, and sustainable economy;
maintain and enhance an equitable and effective business, retention, and expansion program throughout the
community; Embrace and invest in responsible tourism opportunities to promote economic development.
Livable Community:Livable Community:  Provide amenities and activities that support a healthy lifestyle.
Environmental Stewardship: Environmental Stewardship: Promote, protect, and enhance a healthy, sustainable environment and its
natural resources.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Regional PlanRegional Plan Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas,
wildlife corridors and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and green ways to support the natural
environment that sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health. Goal CC.5. Support and
promote art, science, and education resources for all to experience. Goal ED. 6.Tourism will continue to
provide a year-round revenue source for the community, while expanding specialized tourist resources and
activities. Goal ED.7. Continue to promote and enhance Flagstaff 's unique sense of place as an economic
development driver. Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region's healthy system of convenient and accessible
parks, recreation facilities, and trails.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
Carbon Neutrality PlanCarbon Neutrality Plan IR-2: Ensure equity, accessibility, and inclusion across all City of Flagstaff Parks
and Recreation facilities, helping all members of the Flagstaff community to meet their health and wellness
needs. DD-3: Encourage Flagstaff residents and visitors to walk, bike, roll and take the bus.

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None.

Attachments:Attachments: Res. 2024-22
2024 BBB Related Amendments
Ord. 2024-16
Presentation



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-22 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL DECLARING AS A 
PUBLIC RECORD THAT CERTAIN DOCUMENT FILED WITH THE CITY CLERK 
AND ENTITLED “2024 AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTERS 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, 
AND 3-06 OF THE CITY CODE RELATED TO THE PARKS AND RECREATION 
COMMISSION, TOURISM COMMISSION, BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART 
COMMISSION, OPEN SPACES COMMISSION, AND HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY 
TAX REVENUES” 
 

 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-802, a municipality may enact or amend provisions of the City 
Code by reference to a public record, provided that the adopting ordinance is published in full; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Tourism, Parks and Recreation, Open Spaces, and Beautification and Public Arts 
commissions’ ordinances were established in 1988; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, and 2-20 update the 
respective commission’s duties and objectives, which are outdated and no longer coincide with 
industry need; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to Chapter 3-06 clarify that the Open Spaces Commission 
will be involved in making recommendations regarding allocation of the parks and recreation portion 
of the hospitality industry tax revenues. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. In General. 
 
That certain document known as “2024 Amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 
of the City Code Related to the Parks and Recreation Commission, Tourism Commission, 
Beautification and Public Art Commission, Open Spaces Commission, and Hospitality Industry Tax 
Revenues” attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby declared to be a public record, and one (1) paper 
copy and one (1) electronic copy maintained in compliance with A.R.S. § 44-7041 shall remain on 
file with the City Clerk and kept available for public use and inspection. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 18th day of June 2024. 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-22  PAGE 2 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
Exhibits: 
“2024 Amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 of the City Code Related to the 
Parks and Recreation Commission, Tourism Commission, Beautification and Public Art 
Commission, Open Spaces Commission, and Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues” 



2024 AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTERS 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, AND 3-06 OF THE CITY CODE 
RELATED TO THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION, TOURISM COMMISSION, 
BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION, OPEN SPACES COMMISSION, AND 

HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES 
 

CHAPTER 2-03 
PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION 

 
SECTIONS: 
 

2-03-001-0001 COMMISSION CREATED; MEMBERS: 
2-03-001-0002 TERMS; VACANCIES; COMPENSATION: 
2-03-001-0003 ORGANIZATION AND RULES: 
2-03-001-0004 POWERS AND DUTIES: 
 

2-03-001-0001 COMMISSION CREATED; MEMBERS: 
 
There is hereby created a Parks and Recreation Commission for the City, consisting of seven (7) 
members appointed by the City Council. (Ord. No. 2007-11, Amended 02/06/2007; Ord. 2014-28, 
Amended, 11/18/2014) 
 
2-03-001-0002 TERMS; VACANCIES; COMPENSATION: 
 
Terms of the appointed members shall be for three (3) years. 
 
The Council shall fill vacancies for the unexpired term of any of the members of the Commission 
and no member of the Commission shall receive compensation for services thereon. (Ord. 1475, 
2-3-87) 
 
2-03-001-0003 ORGANIZATION AND RULES: 
 
Upon the taking effect of this Chapter, and when appointed, the members shall meet and organize 
and elect a Chairman CHAIRPERSON to serve for one year with a new Chairman being elected 
each succeeding year. The Commission may adopt by-laws, procedures, and standards for the 
operation of the Commission not inconsistent with the provisions of this Chapter. A quorum shall 
consist of four (4) voting members. The Commission shall meet not less than four (4) times each 
year. 
 
2-03-001-0004 POWERS AND DUTIES: 
 
A. The duties of the Commission shall be to advise the Council, through periodic written 
reports OR PRESENTATIONS to the Council, recommending policy direction on City lands, 
structures, and facilities that are set aside or should be set aside or dedicated to recreational 
purposes, including but not limited to parks, swimming pools, playgrounds, playing and sports 
fields, and golf courses. The scope of the activities of the Commission shall also include but not 
be limited to advising and recommending policy direction in activities involving recreational and 
cultural pursuits of the elderly and the young and to otherwise employ in constructive and 
wholesome manner leisure time of the citizens. 
 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0203000.html#2.03.001.0001
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0203000.html#2.03.001.0002
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0203000.html#2.03.001.0003
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0203000.html#2.03.001.0004


B. The City Council may consider the advice and recommendation of the Commission and 
thereafter give direction through the City Manager to implement the recreational program as they 
see fit. 
 
C. The Commission shall review and make recommendation on the annual budget of the 
Parks Section and Recreation Section prior to the submittal thereof to the City Manager. 
 
D. With respect to the parks and recreation portion of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax 
allocated under Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues, the Commission shall make 
JOINT recommendations, ALONG WITH THE OPEN SPACES COMMISSION, to the Council 
concerning the annual budgetary allocation of the parks and recreation portion of this tax, to 
include but not be limited to: 
 

1. Developing parks and recreation facilities, OPEN SPACE, and programs as needed 
to benefit the community and its visitors. 
 
2. Funding for the Flagstaff urban trails system development and maintenance. 
 
3. Developing, acquiring, and distributing material to promote parks and recreation. 
 
4. Retaining of appropriate staff to implement approved programs. 
 

E. For purposes of subsection (D) of this section, "parks and recreation" means the 
development and management of public parks, OPEN SPACE, recreational facilities, and 
programs which are available to the residents and visitors including funding the Flagstaff urban 
trail system. (Same meaning as set forth in Section 3-06-001-0001.) (Ord. 865, 12-12-72; Ord. 
1335, 10-16-84; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
  

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0001


CHAPTER 2-13  
TOURISM COMMISSION 

 
SECTIONS: 
 
2-13-001-0001 CREATION OF THE COMMISSION: 
2-13-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE: 
2-13-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
2-13-001-0004 ORGANIZATION: 
2-13-001-0005  MEETINGS: 
2-13-001-0006  DUTIES: 
 
2-03-001-0001 CREATION OF THE COMMISSION: 
 
There is hereby established a City Tourism Commission. There shall be seven (7) voting members 
of said Commission who shall meet as hereinafter provided to consider and recommend programs 
for the expenditure of the tourism portion of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax allocated under 
Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues. 
 
"Tourism" means the guidance, management, marketing, accommodation, promotion, and 
encouragement of tourists VISITORS (same meaning as set forth in Section 3-06-001-0001). (Ord. 
No. 1579, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. 2001-27, Amended, 11/20/2001; Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 
11/18/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
2-03-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE: 
 
The composition of the membership shall consist of: 
 
A. Seven (7) members to be appointed by the City Council. Each member shall serve for three 
(3) years, on a staggered term basis. 
 
B. The City Manager or the Manager’s designee shall be an ex officio member of the 
Commission. The member shall have no voting privileges. 
 
The City Manager shall be responsible for staff support of the Tourism Commission. 
 
The Council shall fill vacancies for the unexpired term of any of the members of the Commission. 
 
A member’s term in office shall commence with the first regular Commission meeting following the 
appointment and terminate with the regular Commission meeting at which the successor takes 
office. No voting member of the Commission may be appointed to more than two (2) consecutive 
full terms. (Ord. No. 1579, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. No. 1674, Amended, 09/18/90; Ord. 2001-27, 
Amended, 11/20/2001; Ord. No. 2006-09, Amended 04/10/2006; Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 
11/18/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
2-13-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
 
Members of the Commission shall serve without compensation. 
 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13.001.0001
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13.001.0002
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13.001.0003
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13.001.0004
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13.001.0005
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13.001.0006


(Ord. No. 1579, Enacted, 08/02/88) 
 
2-13-001-0004 ORGANIZATION: 
 
The Commission shall elect a Chairperson from among its members. The term of the Chairperson 
shall be one year with eligibility for reelection. Commission members may not serve more than two 
(2) consecutive terms as Chairperson. The Council representative shall not be eligible for the 
Chair. 
 
(Ord. No. 1579, Enacted, 08/02/88) 
 
2-13-001-0005 MEETINGS: 
 
A. The Commission shall ATTEMPT TO hold at least one (1) regular meeting per month, BUT 
NO LESS THAN NINE (9) REGULAR MEETINGS PER YEAR, which shall at all times ALWAYS be 
open to the public. The time and place of said meeting shall be posted in accordance with the 
applicable Arizona State Statutes. 
 
A quorum consisting of a minimum of four (4) voting members shall be required to conduct 
business. 
 
B. The Chairperson of the Commission shall meet with the Chairpersons of the Economic 
Development Commission and the Beautification Commission at least once per month. The 
purpose of the meeting is for coordination of the three (3) commissions only. The intent is not to 
create another commission. The meeting shall at all times be open to the public. The time and 
place of said meeting shall be posted in accordance with applicable Arizona State Statutes. 
 
B. C. If a member is absent for three (3) meetings within a twelve (12) month period, excused or 
unexcused, that member may be replaced by the City Council. (Ord. No. 1579, Enacted, 08/02/88; 
Ord. 2001-27, Amended, 11/20/2001; Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 11/18/2014) 
 
2-13-001-0006 DUTIES: 
 
The duties of the Commission shall be to: 
 
A. WITH THE DIRECTION, GUIDANCE AND COORDINATION OF THE CONVENTION AND 
VISITORS BUREAU (CVB, A.K.A. DMO, A.K.A. DISCOVER FLAGSTAFF) THE TOURISM 
COMMISSION WILL PARTICIPATE IN A TWO-YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN TO INCLUDE A VISION, 
MISSION, AND POSITION STATEMENT. THE TWO-YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN SHALL BE USED 
AS A GUIDELINE FOR FUTURE PROGRAMS.  
 
A. Prepare a Five (5) Year Master Plan. The Five (5) Year Plan shall be used as a guideline 
for future programs. Said Plan shall be presented to the Council prior to April 1st of each year. 
 
B. Develop and present to City Council an Annual Plan outlining the Commission’s program 
recommendations for the upcoming fiscal year. Said plan shall be presented to the Council prior 
to April 1st of each year. 
 
CB. REVIEW THE CVB’S ANNUAL REQUESTS AND make recommendations to the City 
Council CVB concerning the annual budgetary allocation of the tourism portion of the Bed, Board 



and Booze Tax to include, but not be limited to WHICH WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE CITY 
BUDGET TEAM AND THEN THE CITY COUNCIL FOR FINAL APPROVAL. 
 
C. REVIEW AND MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE ANNUAL SALES AND 
MARKETING PLAN. MAJOR ELEMENTS OF THE SALES/MARKETING PLAN WILL INCLUDE, 
BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO, DEVELOPING A SPECIFIC IMAGE FOR FLAGSTAFF, 
IDENTIFYING TARGET MARKET SEGMENTS, AND IMPLEMENTING A PROMOTIONAL PLAN 
DIRECTED TO TARGET MARKET SEGMENTS. 
 
D. PROMOTE ACTIVITIES AND PROGRAMMING THAT ENHANCE THE COMMUNITY’S 
IMAGE AND THE OVERALL QUALITY OF LIFE. 
 
E. MAINTAIN A VISITOR CENTER FOR EASY VISITOR ACCESS WITH ADEQUATE 
STAFFING TO OFFER AREA INFORMATION AND GUIDANCE. 
 
F. RETAIN THE APPROPRIATE STAFFING TO MARKET, SELL, AND CREATE A BRAND 
IMAGE FOR FLAGSTAFF TO INCREASE VISITATION AND OVERALL ECONOMIC IMPACT.  
 

1. Providing funding to the qualified, established public or private agency to administer, 
on a contract basis, tourism programs as required. 
 
2. Developing and implementing a marketing plan. Major elements of the marketing 
plan will include, but not be limited to, developing a specific image for Flagstaff, identifying 
target market segments, and implementing a promotional plan directed to target market 
segments. 
 
3. Establishing visitor information center(s) to include, but not be limited to, a high 
profile location, easy visitor access, adequate staffing, a toll-free telephone number for 
visitor information, and develop other facilities as needed to benefit visitors and the 
community. 
 
4. Establishing an educational program to include, but not be limited to, scholarships 
for hospitality education at Northern Arizona University. 
 
5. Promoting activities that enhance the community’s image and the overall quality of 
life. 
 
6. Retaining of appropriate staff to implement approved programs. 
 

G. D. Perform any additional duties as determined by the City Council related to tourism 
activities. (Ord. No. 1579, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 



CHAPTER 2-14 
BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION 

 
SECTIONS: 

2-14-001-0001    CREATION OF COMMISSION: 
2-14-001-0002    COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE: 
2-14-001-0003    COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
2-14-001-0004    ORGANIZATION: 
2-14-001-0005    MEETINGS: 
2-14-001-0006    DUTIES: 

 
2-14-001-0001 CREATION OF COMMISSION: 
 
There is hereby established a City Beautification and Public Art Commission. There shall be seven 
(7) voting members of said Commission who shall meet as hereinafter provided to consider and 
recommend programs for the expenditure of the beautification and arts and sciences portions of 
the Bed, Board and Booze Tax allocated under Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues. 
 
"Arts and sciences" means support for Flagstaff arts, scientific and cultural activities, events, and 
organizations to provide direct and indirect citizen participation and enhancement of the overall 
quality of life and community image including support of public art. (Same meaning as set forth in 
Section 3-06-001-0001.) 
 
"Beautification" means any modification of the urban physical environment to increase pleasure 
to the senses or pleasurably exalt the mind or spirit or strengthen the urban design framework of 
the City (same meaning as set forth in Section 3-06-001-0001). (Ord. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988; 
Ord. 2006-15, Amended, 05/16/2006; Ord. 2007-07, Amended, 02/06/2007; Ord. 2014-28, 
Amended, 11/18/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
2-14-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE: 
 
The composition of the membership shall consist of seven (7) members appointed by the City 
Council. 
 
Each member shall serve three (3) year terms, on a staggered basis. A member’s term in office 
shall commence with the first regular Commission meeting following the appointment and 
terminate with the regular Commission meeting at which the successor takes office. No voting 
member of the Commission may be appointed to more than two (2) full consecutive terms. (Ord. 
1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988; Ord. 1674, Amended, 09/18/1990; Ord. 2006-15, Amended, 
05/16/2006; Ord. 2007-04, Amended, 02/06/2007; Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 11/18/2014; Ord. 
2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
2-14-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
 
Members of the Commission shall serve without compensation. (Ord. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988) 
 
2-14-001-0004 ORGANIZATION: 
 
The Commission shall elect a Chairperson from among its members. The term of the Chairperson 
shall be one year with eligibility for reelection. Commission members may not serve more than 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14.001.0001
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14.001.0002
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14.001.0003
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14.001.0004
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14.001.0005
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14.001.0006
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0001
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0001


two (2) consecutive terms as Chairperson. The Council representative shall not be eligible for the 
Chair. (Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/1988) 
 
2-14-001-0005 MEETINGS: 
 
A. The Commission shall hold at least one (1) regular meeting per month, which shall at all 
times be open to the public; the time and place of said meeting shall be posted in accordance 
with the applicable Arizona State Statutes. 
 
B. A quorum consisting of a minimum of four (4) voting members of the Commission shall be 
required to conduct business. (Ord. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. 2006-15, Amended, 
05/16/2006; Ord. 2016-30, Amended, 07/05/2016) 
 
2-14-001-0006 DUTIES: 
 
The duties of the Commission shall be to: 
 
A. The Commission shall be responsible for preparing a five (5) year plan. The five (5) year 
plan shall be used as a guideline for future programs. Said plan shall be presented to the Council 
prior to April 1st of each year. 
 
B. Develop and present to City Council an annual plan outlining the Commission’s program 
recommendations for the upcoming fiscal year. Said plan shall be presented to the Council prior 
to April 1st of each year. 
 
C. Make recommendations to the City Council concerning the annual budgetary allocation of 
the beautification and public art portions of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax and other monies as 
deemed appropriate by the City Council, to include, but not be limited to: 
 

1. Purchase, installation, or modification of landscaping and irrigation systems; 
 
2. Purchase, removal, or modification of billboards and nonconforming signs; 
 
3. Beautification of buildings and facilities, streetscapes, and gateways; 
 
4. Purchase and installation of public art projects; 
 
5. Purchase or lease of easements or property necessary for beautification projects. 

 
D. Make recommendations to the City Council for public art projects by: 
 

1. Reviewing and defining potential public art projects and writing project descriptions. 
 
2. Determining the artist selection method and writing the call to artists for public art 
projects. 
 
3. Evaluating public art proposals for recommendation to the City Council. 
 
4. Facilitating display of local art in public facilities. 

 



Recommendations to City Council are required for a public art proposal when the resulting 
contract will be fifty ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars ($50 100,000.00) or more. 
 
E. With respect to the arts and science portion of the Bed, Board and Booze Tax allocated 
under Chapter 3-06, Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues, the Commission shall make 
recommendations to the Council concerning the annual budgetary allocation of the arts and 
science portion of this tax, to include but not be limited to: 
 

1. Developing and supporting the Flagstaff arts, scientific and cultural activities, events, 
and organizations to provide direct and indirect citizen participation, and opportunities for 
enhancement of the overall quality of life and community image. 
 
2. Developing, acquiring, and distributing material to promote arts and science. 
 
3. Developing financial assistance programs to stimulate artistic and scientific activities 
in Flagstaff. 
 
4. Retaining of appropriate staff to implement approved programs. 

 
F. Perform those additional duties as determined by the City Council, related to the 
Beautification and Public Art Commission. 
 
G. Contracts for arts and sciences and beautification are subject to procurement under the 
Procurement Code Manual. In addition, the City Council, City Manager, or his or her designee(s) 
may request the Commission to make recommendations regarding any arts and sciences or 
beautification proposals. (Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ordinance No. 2006-15, Amended, 
05/16/2006; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016; Ord. 2021-22, Amended, 10/05/2021) 
 
  

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06


 
CHAPTER 2-20 

OPEN SPACES COMMISSION 
 
SECTIONS: 
 

2-20-001-0001 CREATION OF THE COMMISSION: 
2-20-001-0002 TERMS OF OFFICE: 
2-20-001-0003 DUTIES: 
2-20-001-0004 OPEN SPACES LONG RANGE MANAGEMENT PLAN COMPONENTS: 
2-20-001-0005 MEETINGS; ATTENDANCE: 
 

2-20-001-0001 CREATION OF THE COMMISSION: 
 
There is hereby created an advisory body to be called the "Open Spaces Commission" 
("Commission") consisting of the following seven (7) regular members all of whom shall be 
appointed by the City Council, except for THE designee from the Planning and Zoning 
Commission: one (1) member from the Planning and Zoning Commission; and six (6) public at-
large members. All Commission members shall be voting members. A Chairperson shall be 
selected by a majority vote of those members at a meeting called for that purpose. (Ord. No. 
2007-08, Amended, 02/06/2007; Ord. 2014-28, Amended, 11/18/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 
01/05/2016) 
 
2-20-001-0002 TERMS OF OFFICE: 
 
Appointments from the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Parks and Recreation 
Commission to the Open Spaces Commission shall be for no longer than the remaining term of 
the appointing Commission’s designee. Terms of all other appointees shall be for three years. 
except for the first appointments creating staggered terms as follows: The City Council shall 
appoint two members for three year (3) terms, two members for two (2) year terms, and two 
members for one (1) year terms. After the initial appointment all terms thereafter will be three (3) 
year terms. 
 
2-20-001-0003 DUTIES: 
 
A. It shall be the Commission’s duty to advise the City Council on acquisition, preservation, 
and alternatives for open space land management. 
 
B. The duties of the Commission shall also include, but not be limited to: Reviewing and 
advising the City Council on the development of an Open Spaces Long Range Management Plan 
and policies to provide broad, long-term direction for planning and decision-making for OPEN 
SPACE LANDS the lands designated as Urban Open Space Management Area in the Urban 
Open Spaces Plan of the Flagstaff Area Regional Land Use and Transportation Plan. 
 
C. Advising and assisting the Mayor and City Council on ways to educate and involve the 
community on the value, protection, and stewardship of open space lands. 
 
D. Advising and assisting the Mayor and City Council on ways to work collaboratively with 
other governmental entities, organizations, and departments to advance and ensure the 
implementation of the Open Spaces Long Range Management Plan and the CURRENT Flagstaff 
Area Regional Land Use and Transportation Plan. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0220000.html#2.20.001.0001
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0220000.html#2.20.001.0002
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0220000.html#2.20.001.0003
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0220000.html#2.20.001.0004
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0220000.html#2.20.001.0005


 
E. Advising and assisting the Mayor and City Council regarding regional open space issues 
as well as to any regional open spaces coalition that may be formed in the future relative to lands 
designated as open space in the Greater Flagstaff Area Open Spaces and Greenways Plan. 
 
F. Obtaining public input and participation in various programs such as environmental 
education and interpretation on the use, operation, and management of open space and providing 
information concerning the goals, projects, and operations of the oOpen sSpace SECTION. 
 
G. WITH RESPECT TO THE PARKS AND RECREATION PORTION OF THE BED, BOARD 
AND BOOZE TAX ALLOCATED UNDER CHAPTER 3-06, HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX 
REVENUES, THE COMMISSION SHALL MAKE JOINT RECOMMENDATIONS, ALONG WITH 
THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION, TO THE COUNCIL CONCERNING THE 
ANNUAL BUDGETARY ALLOCATION OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION PORTION OF THIS 
TAX, TO INCLUDE BUT NOT LIMITED TO: 
 

1. DEVELOPING PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES, OPEN SPACE, AND 
PROGRAMS AS NEEDED TO BENEFIT THE COMMUNITY AND ITS VISITORS. 

 
2. FUNDING FOR THE FLAGSTAFF URBAN TRAILS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT 

AND MAINTENANCE. 
 
3. DEVELOPING, ACQUIRING, AND DISTRIBUTING MATERIAL TO PROMOTE 

PARKS AND RECREATION. 
 
4. RETAINING OF APPROPRIATE STAFF TO IMPLEMENT APPROVED 

PROGRAMS. 
 
2-20-001-0004 OPEN SPACES LONG RANGE MANAGEMENT PLAN COMPONENTS: 
 
A. The components of the Open Spaces Long Range Management Plan shall include, but 
not be limited to: 
 

1. Program goals, management decision-making processes, and implementation 
techniques for resource preservation. 
 
2. Policies to provide the framework for more issue- or site-specific planning and 
implementation. 
 
3. Criteria for the acquisition of lands that are consistent with open space goals and 
policies set forth in the Open Spaces Long Range Management Plan. 
 
4. Plans for the management of the open spaces to achieve the goals of the Open 
Spaces Long Range Management Plan using such studies and data as property 
inventories, the nature and significance of the natural and cultural resources, plant and 
animal species ecosystems, existing uses and conditions, and interactions and 
connections between natural areas and between developed and undeveloped areas. 

 
5. Developing, identifying, and recommending the use of various methods, such as 
intergovernmental agreements, rights-of-way for access, and grants, to assure protection 
of critical open space lands. 



 
6. Policies to monitor, maintain, enhance, and restore, where necessary, natural and 
cultural resources, uses, accesses, trails, and facilities. 
 
7. Public participation, education, and interpretive programs. 

 
2-20-001-0005 MEETINGS; ATTENDANCE: 
 
The Commission shall meet on a quarterly basis, at a minimum, at such times, dates, and 
locations as determined by the members, except that the chairperson may call a special meeting 
with not less than twenty-four (24) hours’ notice. All other rules or procedures shall be established 
by the members so long as the rules are consistent with state law, including the Open Meetings 
Law, the City Charter, and this chapter. 
 
A quorum shall consist of four (4) voting members of the Commission. 
 
A regular Commission member who is absent for three (3) consecutive regular meetings may be 
removed from the Commission by a vote of the City Council. (Ord. 2003-03, Enacted, 02/04/03; 
Ord. 2007-08, Amended 02/06/2007; Ord. 2016-30, Amended, 07/05/2016) 
  



CHAPTER 3-06 
HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES 

 
SECTIONS: 
 

3-06-001-0001 DEFINITIONS 
3-06-001-0002 DISTRIBUTION OF HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES 
3-06-001-0003 FINANCIAL CONTROL 
3-06-001-0004 EXEMPTION 
 

3-06-001-0001 DEFINITIONS 
 
"Arts and sciences" means support for Flagstaff arts, scientific and cultural activities, events, and 
organizations to provide direct and indirect citizen participation and enhancement of the overall 
quality of life and community image including support of public art. 
 
"Beautification" means any modification of the urban physical environment to increase pleasure 
to the senses or pleasurably exalt the mind or spirit or strengthen the urban design framework of 
the City. 
 
"Economic development" means the encouragement, promotion, and assistance of the expansion 
of economic activity for the purposes of expanding revenue and providing jobs to the community. 
 
"Hospitality industry" means those establishments engaged in business as bar/lounge, restaurant, 
or hotel/motel/campground. 
 
"Hospitality industry tax revenues" means the revenues collected from the two percent (2%) local 
transaction privilege tax imposed on the lodging, restaurant, and lounge businesses by Ordinance 
No. 1532, as extended through March 31, 2028, by approval of a majority of the qualified electors 
voting in the City general election held on May 18, 2010. This tax is referred to as the “Bed, Board, 
and Booze Tax” or “BBB Tax” and is part of the total tax rate imposed pursuant to the City tax 
code, Sections 3-05-004-0444, Hotels, and 3-05-004-0455, Restaurants and Bars. 
 
"Parks and recreation" means the development and management of public parks, OPEN SPACE, 
recreational facilities, and programs which are available to the residents and visitors including 
funding the Flagstaff urban trail system. 
 
"Tourism" means the guidance, management, marketing, accommodation, promotion, and 
encouragement of tourists. 
 
"Tourists/visitors" means individuals or groups which visit Flagstaff and surrounding areas for 
business, recreational, educational, scientific, or cultural purposes. (Ord. No. 1902, Amended, 
12/19/95; Ord. 2014-15, Amended, 07/15/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
3-06-001-0002 DISTRIBUTION OF HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES 
 
There shall be a separate accounting for all hospitality industry tax revenues collected. Said funds 
shall be distributed and expended consistent with City ordinances, the City Charter, and State 
law. The funds collected shall be allocated as follows: 
 
A. Thirty percent (30%) for tourism in conformance with Chapter 2-13, Tourism Commission. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0001
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0002
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0003
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0004
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0305004.html#3.05.004.0444
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13


 
B. Twenty percent (20%) for beautification in conformance with Chapter 2-14, Beautification 
and Public Art Commission. 
 
C. Nine and one-half percent (9.5%) for economic development in conformance with 
Section 3-06-001-0003(C). 
 
D. Thirty-three percent (33%) for parks and recreation, in conformance with Chapter 2-03, 
Parks and Recreation Commission, AND CHAPTER 2-20, OPEN SPACES COMMISSION. 
 
E. Seven and one-half percent (7.5%) for arts and science in conformance with Chapter 2-
14, Beautification and Public Art Commission. (Ord. No. 1902, Amended, 12/19/95; Ord. 2014-
15, Ren&Amd, 07/15/2014. Formerly 3-06-001-0003; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 01/05/2016) 
 
3-06-001-0003 FINANCIAL CONTROL 
 
A. Tourism. Those funds designated for tourism shall be administered pursuant to Chapter 2-
13, Tourism Commission. 
 
B. Beautification. Those funds designated for beautification and public art shall be 
administered pursuant to Chapter 2-14, Beautification and Public Art Commission. 
 
C. Economic Development. Those funds designated for economic development shall be 
administered as follows: 
 
The City Council shall: 
 

1. Appoint or act as an Economic Development Commission; 
 
2. Designate an appropriate public or private economic development agency. Said 
agency shall be composed of at least two (2) City Council persons and additional members 
as required; 
 
3. This public or private agency shall: 
 

a. Develop and transmit to the Council an annual master plan outlining the 
Commission’s or public or private agency’s program recommendations for the 
upcoming year. Said plan shall be presented to the Council prior to April 1st of each 
year. 
 
b. Make recommendations to the Council concerning the annual budgetary 
allocation of the economic development portion of this tax, to include but not be 
limited to: 
 

(1) Developing, acquiring, and distributing advertising material to promote 
economic development. 
 
(2) Providing financial assistance programs to stimulate relocation and 
retention of industrial APPROPRIATE BUSINESS prospects to Flagstaff. 
 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff03/Flagstaff0306000.html#3.06.001.0003
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0203000.html#2.03
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0213000.html#2.13
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14


(3) SUPPORT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, INCUBATION, AND 
ACCELERATION ACTIVITIES USING PARTNER ORGANIZATIONS, DATA 
ANALYTICS, AND OTHER TOOLS TO ENCOURAGE 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP. 
 
(34) Retaining of appropriate staff to implement approved programs. 
 
(45) Perform those additional duties determined by the Council as set forth by 
ordinance. 

 
D. Parks and Recreation. Those funds designated for parks and recreation shall be 
administered pursuant to Chapter 2-03, Parks and Recreation Commission, AND CHAPTER 2-
20, OPEN SPACES COMMISSION. 
 
E.    Arts and Science. Those funds designated for arts and science, including an annual amount 
allocated by the City Council for the support and development of the City’s public art program, 
shall be administered pursuant to Chapter 2-14, Beautification and Public Art Commission. (Ord. 
No. 1902, Amended, 12/19/95; Ord. 2002-04, Amended, 03/05/2002; Ord. No. 2006-14, 
Amended, 05/16/2006; Ord. 2014-15, Ren&Amd, 07/15/2014; Ord. 2015-22, Amended, 
01/05/2016. Formerly 3-06-001-0004) 
 
3-06-001-0004 EXEMPTION 
 
The hospitality industry tax revenues shall be exempt from the limits imposed on spending by 
Article IX, Section 20, of the Arizona State Constitution. (Ord. 1532, 11-17-87; Ord. 2014-15, 
Ren&Amd, 07/15/2014. Formerly 3-06-001-0006) 
 

https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0203000.html#2.03
https://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff02/Flagstaff0214000.html#2.14


ORDINANCE NO. 2024-16 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 2, BOARDS AND 
COMMISSIONS, CHAPTERS 2-03, PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION, 
2-13, TOURISM COMMISSION, 2-14, BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART 
COMMISSION, AND 2-20, OPEN SPACES COMMISSION, AND TITLE 3, 
BUSINESS REGULATIONS, CHAPTER 3-06, HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX 
REVENUES, BY ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THAT CERTAIN DOCUMENT 
ENTITLED “2024  AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTERS 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, AND 
3-06 OF THE CITY CODE RELATED TO THE PARKS AND RECREATION 
COMMISSION, TOURISM COMMISSION,  BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC 
ART COMMISSION, OPEN SPACES COMMISSION, AND HOSPITALITY 
INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES,” PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Tourism, Parks and Recreation, Open Spaces, and Beautification and Public 
Arts commissions’ ordinances were established in 1988; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to Chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, and 2-20 update the 
respective commission’s duties and objectives, which are outdated and no longer coincide with 
industry need; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to Chapter 3-06 clarify that the Open Spaces 
Commission will be involved in making recommendations regarding allocation of the parks and 
recreation portion of the hospitality industry tax revenues.  
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That certain document known as “2024 Amendment to Chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 
2-20, and 3-06 of the City Code Related to the Parks and Recreation Commission, Tourism 
Commission, Beautification and Public Art Commission, Open Spaces Commission, and 
Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues,” one (1) paper copy and one (1) electronic copy of which are 
on file in the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, has been declared a public 
record by Resolution No. 2024-22 of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, and is hereby referred to, 
adopted, and made a part hereof as if fully set out in this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 2. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances 
 
All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of the code adopted herein 
are hereby repealed. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-16  PAGE 2 
 

SECTION 3. Severability 
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this ordinance or any part of 
the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by 
the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 4. Clerical Corrections 
 
The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct clerical and grammatical errors, if any, related to 
this ordinance, and to make formatting changes appropriate for purposes of clarity, form, or 
consistency with the Flagstaff City Code. 
 
SECTION 5. Effective Date 
 
This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 18th day of June, 2024. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



Bed, Board, & Booze (BBB)
Related Code Updates

June 4, 2024



2 % tax paid at every hotel/motel, campground, 

short-term rental, restaurant, and bar in the city.

What is the BBB?



What services receive BBB Funding?



BBB Code Change and Renewal Timeline

• January 2023 Retreat 

• February 2024 Retreat

• April 2024 Tax Renewal 
and Code Change 
Discussion

• June 4 and 18, 2024 – Ordinance 

1st and 2nd Read - BBB Code 

Updates

• June 2024 – Call the Election (City 

Council)

• November 2024 Ballot 



BBB Code Change Recommendations:

• Parks and Recreation
• Tourism & Visitor Services
• Economic Development
• Beautification
• Arts & Sciences



BBB Code Change Recommendations:

Parks and Recreation / Open Space
• Update P&R Commission language to include review of  

BBB expenditures “along with the Open Spaces 
Commission,” and add open spaces to the definition of  
“parks and recreation”

• Update OS Commission language to mirror P&R 
Commission re: BBB expenditures

• Update Hospitality Industry Tax Revenues code to include 
open space in the definition of  “parks and recreation”

• Other minor revisions



BBB Code Change Recommendations:

Tourism & Visitor Services
• Update Tourism Commission language

• Update “tourists” to “visitors”

• Update language regarding review of  CVB 

expenditures

• Update planning language to a two-year strategic 

plan under guidance of  CVB (Discover Flagstaff)
• Other minor revisions



BBB Code Change Recommendations:

Economic Development
• Update language from “industrial” to “appropriate 

business”
• Add language to support business development, 

incubation, and acceleration activities using partner 
organizations, data analytics, and other tools to 
encourage entrepreneurship



BBB Code Change Recommendations:

Beautification and Arts & Sciences
• Update Beautification and Public Art Commission 

language

• Update expenditure limit from $50,000 to 

$100,000

• Other minor revisions



Questions?

Thank you!



   11. A.  11. A.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Erin Young, Water Resources Manager
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Rick Tadder
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Shannon Jones

Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLETITLE
Discussion and Direction following Council's Revisions to Water, Wastewater, and ReclaimedDiscussion and Direction following Council's Revisions to Water, Wastewater, and Reclaimed
Water Model Assumptions and Resulting RatesWater Model Assumptions and Resulting Rates
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

The desired outcome is for the Council to confirm their recommended rate model revisions to
develop the final rates package for Council consideration at the June 18 and July 2 public hearings.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
City staff and the City's Consultant, Stantec, have been discussing the water and sewer rate study
components with the Water Commission and City Council since September 2023. There have been
discussions about financial planning; capacity fees; rate design priorities; water, sewer, and reclaimed water
rates; and miscellaneous fees. During today's presentation, City staff will present the results to the water,
wastewater, and reclaimed water rates from adjusting the model assumptions as directed by Council at their
May 21st meeting.  The desired outcome is for the Council to confirm their recommended revisions to develop
the final rates package for Council consideration at the June 18 and July 2 public hearings.

Information:Information:
The previous rates proposal provided to Council on April 16th incorporated the following assumptions: a
100% annual execution rate of the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), a debt limit of 30% on water and 21% on
wastewater, a 1% growth rate, and a cost escalation adjustment of 3.5% for the majority of the operating
expenses (about 75% of the total expenses including salaries and benefits), 6% for chemical, utilities, and
equipment maintenance (about 25% of the total expenses), and 4% on the capital program. The resulting rate
increases were as follows:

15% each year for 5 years for the water fund
25%, 25%, 15%, 10%, 5% for the wastewater fund
Reclaimed rates remain based on the percentage of the water rates
Capacity Fees and Miscellaneous Fees changes vary based on cost of services

Staff and Stantec modified the proposed rate changes following Council direction from the May 21st meeting.
At this meeting, Council directed staff to retain the growth rate and cost escalation adjustments but to reduce
the capital program and increase combined debt. Staff and Stantec are proposing an 86% annual execution
rate of the CIP for the water and wastewater funds with a maximum combined (water, wastewater, reclaimed
water and stormwater) limit on borrowing of 38%. The new proposed adjustments to rates are:

10% each year for 5 years for the water fund
20%, 20%, 10%, 5%, 5% for the wastewater fund
Reclaimed rates remain based on the percentage of the water rates
Capacity Fees and Miscellaneous Fees are the same as presented previously



Attachments:Attachments: Presentation



City of Flagstaff, AZ

Water, Reclaimed Water, & 

Wastewater Cost-of-Service 

Study 

Council Directed Scenario

W
A

T
E

R
,

 
R

E
C

L
A

I
M

E
D

 
W

A
T

E
R

,
 

&
 

W
A

S
T

E
W

A
T

E
R

 
S

T
U

D
Y

City Council Meeting

June 4, 2024

1



Matrix of Factors for Direction Presented on May 21

2

Factor Low Medium High Council Direction

Growth 0.5% 1.0% 1.25% 1%

Escalation 2.4% 3.5% 4.5% 3.5%

Total CIP Funding

Water 78% 90% 100% 80-95%

Wastewater 81% 90% 100% 80-95%

Debt Financing as % 

of CIP

Water 30% 43% 56% 30-56%

Wastewater 21% 30% 21-30%

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES



Results for Adjusted Model Assumptions

3

Factor Low Medium High Council Direction Results

Growth 0.5% 1.0% 1.25% 1% 1%

Escalation 2.4% 3.5% 4.5% 3.5% 3.5%

Total CIP Funding

Water 78% 90% 100% 80-95% 86%

Wastewater 81% 90% 100% 80-95% 86%

Debt Financing as 

% of CIP

Water 30% 43% 56% 30-56% 44%

Wastewater 21% 30% 21-30% 27%

Combined 38%

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES



Council Directed Scenario Impact on Rate Projections 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

86% CIP Execution & 38% Combined Debt Annual Rate Increase

Total CIP 

(FY 25 – FY 33)

Total CIP 

Funding from 

Debt Proceeds

(FY 25 – FY 33)

FY 25 FY 26 FY 27 FY 28 FY 29 FY30-33

Previous $185.6M $54.9M (30%) 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 5%

Final $163.0M $72.5M (44%) 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 5%

Previous $112.6M $24.0M (21%) 25% 25% 15% 10% 5% 5%

Final $96.9M $26.4M (27%) 20% 20% 10% 5% 5% 5%

Combined 

Final
$260.0M $98.9M (38%)

10% /

20%

10% /

20%

10% /

10%

10% /

5%

10% /

5%

5% /

5%

Water Factors Wastewater Factors



Projected Bill Impacts

6



7
DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

Water Rate Structure – Council Directed Scenario Rate Projections

*Inside city rates. All rates exclude taxes and energy fee

• CIP Reduction – average $2.51M per year

• Rate Projection – 5% reduction 

• Total Bill = Fixed Monthly Meter Charge + Volume Charge



8
DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

Reclaimed Water Rate Structure – Council Directed Scenario Rate Projections

*Inside city rates. All rates exclude taxes and energy fee



Water Projected Average Bill Impacts – Council Directed Scenario

Customer 

Class

Rep. 

Meter 

Size

Avg. Bill 

Volume 

(kgals)

Avg. FY 2024 

Water Bill

Effective Date 

9/1/2024

Effective Date 

1/1/2026

Effective Date 

1/1/2027

Effective Date 

1/1/2028

Effective Date 

1/1/2029

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

% 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Previously Proposed Rates (15% Rate Increase) (15% Rate Increase) (15% Rate Increase) (15% Rate Increase)

Single Family ¾” 4 $30.91 $32.04 $1.13 3.7% $36.84 $4.81 $42.37 $5.53 $48.72 $6.36 $56.03 $7.31 

Commercial/ 

Schools
1” 40 $207.20 $255.08 $47.88 23.1% $293.34 $38.26 $337.35 $44.00 $387.95 $50.60 $446.14 $58.19 

Council Directed Scenario (10% Rate Increase) (10% Rate Increase) (10% Rate Increase) (10% Rate Increase)

Single Family ¾” 4 $30.91 $31.51 $0.60 1.9% $34.66 $3.15 $38.13 $3.47 $41.94 $3.81 $46.13 $4.19 

Commercial/ 

Schools
1” 40 $207.20 $245.38 $38.18 18.4% $269.92 $24.54 $296.91 $26.99 $326.60 $29.69 $359.26 $32.66 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

*Total Bill = Water Fixed Charge + Water Volume Charge 

9

Customer Class: Average Bill 

Increases

Proposed Rates – FY2024 

(Current) to FY2029

Council Directed Scenario –

FY2024 (Current) to FY2029

Single Family Residential 81% 49%

Commercial/Schools 115% 73%



10
DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

Wastewater Rate Structure – Council Directed Scenario Rate Projections

**Inside city rate. All rates exclude taxes

• CIP Reduction – average $1.74M per year

• Rate Projection – 5% reduction 

• Total Bill = Fixed Monthly Meter Charge + Volume Charge



Wastewater Projected Average Bill Impacts – Council Directed Scenario

Customer 

Class

Rep. 

Meter 

Size

Avg. Bill 

Volume 

(kgals)

Avg. FY 2024 

Wastewater 

Bill

Effective Date 

9/1/2024

Effective Date 

1/1/2026

Effective Date 

1/1/2027

Effective Date 

1/1/2028

Effective Date 

1/1/2029

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

% 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Total 

Bill*

$ 

Change

Proposed Rates (25% Rate Increase) (15% Rate Increase) (10% Rate Increase) (5% Rate Increase)

Residential ¾” 4.88 $26.13 $38.37 $12.24 46.8% $47.96 $9.59 $55.15 $7.19 $60.67 $5.52 $63.70 $3.03 

Commercial 1” 17.60 $99.96 $102.69 $2.73 2.7% $128.36 $25.67 $147.62 $19.25 $162.38 $14.76 $170.50 $8.12 

Council Directed Scenario (20% Rate Increase) (10% Rate Increase) (5% Rate Increase) (5% Rate Increase)

Residential ¾” 4.88 $26.13 $35.80 $9.67 37.0% $42.96 $7.16 $47.25 $4.30 $49.61 $2.36 $52.09 $2.48 

Commercial 1” 17.60 $99.96 $93.49 ($6.47) (6.5%) $112.19 $18.70 $123.41 $11.22 $129.58 $6.17 $136.06 $6.48 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

*Total Bill = Wastewater Fixed Charge + Wastewater Volume Charge 

11

Customer Class Avg. Bills Proposed Rates – FY2024 

(Current) to FY2029

Council Directed Scenario –

FY2024 (Current) to FY2029

Single Family Residential 144% 99%

Commercial 71% 36%



Minimizing the Impact to the Rate Payer:
✓Utilized Actual Flow Data versus Design Flow Data to minimize Capacity Fee 

increase
✓Added Solids Loading component to the Capacity Fee calculation to minimize 

impact to new developments and align costs to those producing higher solids
✓Reduced revenue recovered from Water Base Fee from 29% to 25% to empower 

water users to have more control over their bill 
✓Assumed a 90% execution rate of operating budget
✓Adjusted Residential Tier Rates to reduce bills for water smart customers in both 

Tier 1 and Tier 2
✓Consolidated Customer Classes to make the structure simpler and reduced rate 

increases in some cases
✓Adjusted Other Miscellaneous Fees so those receiving services pay those costs 

and it is not passed on to the rate payer
✓Increased debt limit and reduced execution rate of the capital program

Rate Study Council Direction Summary



Council Confirmation

13
DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

Factor Low Medium High Council Direction Results

Growth 0.5% 1.0% 1.25% 1% 1%

Escalation 2.4% 3.5% 4.5% 3.5% 3.5%

Total CIP 

Funding

Water 78% 90% 100% 80-95% 86%

Wastewater 81% 90% 100% 80-95% 86%

Debt Financing 

as % of CIP

Water 30% 43% 56% 30-56% 44%

Wastewater 21% 30% 21-30% 27%

Combined 38%



Next Steps

14
DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES

• Communicate updates to community

• Preparing final changes to the ordinance

• Public hearing dates

• June 18

• July 2



Thank you!

15



   12. A.  12. A.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacy Saltzburg, City Clerk
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLETITLE
Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):   A request by Councilmember McCarthy to place on a future
agenda a discussion regarding towing and car storage charges and the use of cash versus credit cards.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Council Direction

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Rule 4.01, Procedures for Preparation of Council Agendas, of the City of Flagstaff City Council Rules of
Procedure outlines the process for bringing items forward to a future agenda. Councilmember Matthews has
requested this item be placed on an agenda under Future Agenda Item Requests (F.A.I.R.) to determine if
there are two other members of Council interested in placing it on a future agenda.

Information:Information:
None

Attachments:Attachments:



   12. B.  12. B.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacy Saltzburg, City Clerk
Date:Date: 05/28/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 06/04/2024

TITLETITLE
Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.):   A request by Councilmember Matthews to place on a future
agenda a discussion about expanding the Employer Assisted Housing program and how to expand the
program to local employers for workforce housing using incentives.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Council Direction

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Rule 4.01, Procedures for Preparation of Council Agendas, of the City of Flagstaff City Council Rules of
Procedure outlines the process for bringing items forward to a future agenda. Councilmember Matthews has
requested this item be placed on an agenda under Future Agenda Item Requests (F.A.I.R.) to determine if
there are two other members of Council interested in placing it on a future agenda.

Information:Information:
None

Attachments:Attachments:


	Agenda
	AI_8051_Beautification and Public Arts Commission Appointments
	       ATT_BPAC Authority
	AI_8052_Mikal Charles Antunez, "D-Luxe Barbershop," 18 N. Leroux Street, Series 07 (Beer and Wine Bar)
	       ATT_Letter to Applicant
	       ATT_Hearing Procedures
	       ATT_Series 07 Description
	       ATT_PD Memo
	       ATT_Zoning Memo
	       ATT_Map
	AI_7833_Consideration and Purchase of two (2) 10-Wheel Snowplow Dump Trucks
	       ATT_Contract _ 2024-175 - RWC
	       ATT_Exhibit A - City of Flagstaff 10 wheeler plows 2 units State Contract CTR069476
	       ATT_Exhibit B1 - CTR069476_Contract_Documents (1)
	       ATT_Exhibit B2 - CTR069476 Pricing
	CATEGORY 1- Cabs and Chassis

	AI_8043_Paint Downtown Green Assets Construction Services Contract
	       ATT_Contract
	Downtown Green Contract 2024-44 _5.8.24 Final
	Attachment A - Bid Form
	DowntownAssets2024_03_08

	AI_8019_CMAR Construction Phase Services Agreement for the Street Maintenance Program 2024, 2025 & 2026 and 2024 GMP1 with C and E Paving & Grading, LLC
	       ATT_CMAR Construction Phase Services Agreement
	CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK
	RECITALS

	Article 1 – Terms and Definitions
	Article 2 – CMAR’s Services and Responsibilities
	Article 3 - The Owner’s Services and Responsibilities
	Article 4 - Contract Time
	Article 5- Contract Price
	Article 6 - Changes to the Contract Price and Time
	Article 7- Procedure for Payment
	Article 8 - Claims and Disputes
	Article 9 – Suspension and Termination
	Article 10 - Insurance and Bonds
	Article 11 - Indemnification
	Article 12 – General Provisions
	EXHIBIT A - PROJECT DESCRIPTION
	Following is a brief description of the Project for which the design phase service services specified in this Agreement are to be performed:
	The general project scope includes the following work:
	The Street Maintenance Program provides surface treatments as required to preserve and maintain pavement condition on the 664 lane miles of City streets. The Project will include milling, street overlay, chip seal, micro seal, and crack sealing work t...
	The overlay streets are selected after evaluation of the street condition using pavement management software owned by the Owner. One half of the City street pavements are evaluated and ranked each year. Each street pavement is assigned an overall cond...
	The goal of the Street Maintenance Program is to use the available funds in the most efficient manner to lengthen the service life of the City Street pavements and avoid costly pavement reconstruction.
	It is anticipated that Contractors will have civil construction challenges typical to Flagstaff. The successful Contractor selected for this Project is expected to have significant demonstrated experience in both the type of work required and construc...
	EXHIBIT B – GMP SUBMITTAL (TO BE ATTACHED)

	       ATT_Exhibit B - GMP1 2024
	       ATT_2024 Streets Maintenance Program Overview Map
	AI_8018_Cooperative Purchase Contract with Carollo Engineers, Inc. for Fort Tuthill Well Pump House #2 Design Project
	       ATT_2024-167 Cooperative Purchase Carollo
	       ATT_Exhibit A - Fort Tuthill Pump House Scope of Work
	       ATT_Exhibit B1 - CTR058871 Carollo Agency Contract
	BPM004132 Solicitation RFQual On-Call Civil Engineering Services rev
	Notice of Request for Qualifications
	The State proposes to retain highly qualified, capable firms to act as the Civil Engineer on the design of future projects. The firms who participate in this Request for Qualifications (RFQu) process are referred to as “Offerors” or “Engineers” throug...
	All design and construction will be dependent on the level of funding committed to capital maintenance.
	Contract(s) will be utilized by State Agencies and Cooperative Members.
	The State reserves the right to negotiate with one or more parties and is not obligated to enter into any contract with any respondent on any terms or conditions. Any designs resulting from this solicitation may be used in future projects of similar s...

	RFQ Table of Contents
	Instructions to Offerors
	1.0 DEFINITION OF TERMS:
	As used in these Instructions, the terms listed below are defined as follows:
	1.1 Attachment
	“Attachment” means any item the Solicitation requires an Offeror to submit as part of the Offer.
	1.2 Best and Final Offer
	“Best and Final Offer” means a revision to an Offer submitted after negotiations are completed that contains the Offeror’s most favorable terms for price, service, and products to be delivered.
	1.3 E-Procurement
	“eProcurement (Electronic Procurement)” means conducting all or some of the procurement function over the Internet. Point, click, buy, and ship Internet technology is replacing paper-based procurement and supply management business processes. Elements...
	1.4 Offer
	“Offer” means a response to a Solicitation.
	1.5 Offeror
	“Offeror” means a person who responds to a Solicitation.
	1.6 Solicitation
	“Solicitation” means a Request for Proposals (“IFB”), a Request for Technical Offers, a Request for Proposals (“RFP”), a Request for Quotations (“RFQ”), or any other invitation or request issued by the purchasing agency to invite a person to submit an...
	1.7 Solicitation Amendment
	“Solicitation Amendment” means a change to the Solicitation issued by the Procurement Officer.

	2.0 INQUIRIES
	2.1 Duty to Examine
	It is the responsibility of each Offeror to examine the entire Solicitation, seek clarification in writing through the APP project specific Discussion Forum and examine its Offer for accuracy before submitting an Offer. Lack of care in preparing an Of...
	2.2 Solicitation Contact Person
	Any inquiry related to a Solicitation, including any requests for or inquiries regarding standards referenced in the Solicitation shall be directed solely to the Procurement Officer.
	2.3 Submission of Inquiries
	All inquiries related to the Solicitation are required to be submitted in the State’s eProcurement system. All responses to inquiries will be answered in the State’s eProcurement system. Any inquiry related to the Solicitation should reference the app...
	2.4 Timeliness
	Any inquiry or exception to the Solicitation shall be submitted as soon as possible for review and determination by the State. Failure to do so may result in the inquiry not being considered for a Solicitation Amendment.
	2.5 No Right to Rely on Verbal or Electronic Mail Responses
	An Offeror shall not rely on verbal or electronic mail responses to inquiries. A verbal or electronic mail reply to an inquiry does not constitute a modification of the solicitation.
	2.6 Solicitation Amendments
	The Solicitation shall only be modified by a Solicitation Amendment.
	2.7 Pre-Submittal Conference
	If a pre-submittal conference has been scheduled under the Solicitation, the date, time and location shall appear in the State’s eProcurement system. Offerors should raise any questions about the Solicitation at that time. An Offeror may not rely on a...
	2.8 Persons with Disabilities
	Persons with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language interpreter, by contacting the Procurement Officer. Requests shall be made as early as possible to allow time to arrange the accommodation.

	All questions related to the content of this Request for Qualifications shall be submitted via the Q & A Discussion Forum function within the solicitation in APP. Inquiries received less than 72 hours prior to the bid opening date are not guaranteed t...
	3.0 OFFER PREPARATION
	3.1 Electronic Documents
	The Solicitation is provided in an electronic format. Offerors are responsible for clearly identifying any and all changes or modifications to any Solicitation documents upon submission to the State’s eProcurement system. Any unidentified alteration o...
	3.2 Evidence of Intent to be bound
	The Offer and Acceptance form within the Solicitation shall be submitted with the Offer in the State’s eProcurement system and shall include a signature by a person authorized to sign the Offer. The signature shall signify the Offeror’s intent to be b...
	3.3 Exceptions to RFQu Documents
	3.3-A Exceptions to the Terms and Conditions.
	All exceptions included with the Offer shall be submitted in the State’s eProcurement system in a clearly identified separate section of the Offer in which the Offeror clearly identifies the specific paragraphs of the Solicitation where the exceptions...
	3.3-B Exceptions To Other Solicitation Documents
	An Offer that takes exception to a material requirement of any part of the Solicitation, including terms and conditions, shall be rejected.
	3.3-C Exceptions Affect Evaluation
	All exceptions that are contained in the Offer may negatively impact an Offeror’s susceptibility for award. An Offer that takes exception to any material requirement of the solicitation may be rejected.
	3.4 Subcontracts
	Offeror shall clearly list any proposed subcontractors and the subcontractor’s proposed responsibilities in the Offer.
	3.5 Cost of Offer Preparation
	The State will not reimburse any Offeror the cost of responding to a Solicitation.
	3.6 Federal Excise Tax
	The State is exempt from certain Federal Excise Tax on manufactured goods. Exemption Certificates will be provided by the State.
	3.7 Provision of Tax Identification Numbers
	Offerors are required to provide their Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax Number and/or Federal Tax Identification number in the space provided on the Offer and Acceptance form.
	3.8 Employee Identification
	Offeror agrees to provide an employee identification number or social security number to the State for the purposes of reporting to appropriate taxing authorities, monies paid by the State under this Contract. If the federal identifier of the Offeror ...
	3.9 Identification of Taxes in Offer
	The State is subject to all applicable state and local transaction privilege taxes. All applicable taxes shall be identified as a separate item offered in the Solicitation. When applicable, the tax rate and amount shall be identified on the price sheet.
	3.10 Disclosure
	If the person submitting this Offer has been debarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully precluded from participating in any public procurement activity, including being disapproved as a subcontractor with any federal, state or local government, or if a...
	3.11 Delivery
	Unless stated otherwise in the Solicitation, all prices shall be F.O.B. Destination and shall include all freight, delivery and unloading at the destination(s).
	3.12 Federal Immigration and Nationality Act
	By signing of the Offer, the Offeror warrants that both it and all proposed subcontractors are in compliance with federal immigration laws and regulations (FINA) relating to the immigration status of their employees. The State may, at its sole discret...

	4.0 SUBMISSION OF OFFER
	4.1 Arizona Procurement Portal (APP)
	Offers in response to this solicitation shall be submitted within the State's eProcurement system, APP (https://appstate.az.gov). Please be advised that utilizing APP requires a certain level of technical competency that should be considered when sele...
	4.2 Offer Submission, Due Date and Time
	Offerors responding to a Solicitation must submit the Offer electronically through the State’s eProcurement system. Offers shall be received before the due date and time stated in the solicitation. Offers submitted outside of the State’s eProcurement ...
	4.3 Offer and Acceptance
	Offers shall include a signed Offer and Acceptance form. The Offer and Acceptance form shall be signed with a signature by the person authorized to sign the Offer, and shall be submitted in the State’s eProcurement system with the Offer no later than ...
	4.4 Solicitation Amendments
	A Solicitation Amendment shall be acknowledged in the State’s eProcurement system no later than the Offer due date and time. Failure to acknowledge a Solicitation Amendment may result in rejection of the Offer.
	4.5 Offer Amendment or Withdrawal
	An Offer may not be amended or withdrawn after the Offer due date and time except as otherwise provided under applicable law.
	4.6 Confidential Information
	If an Offeror believes that any portion of an Offer, protest, or correspondence contains a trade secret or other proprietary information, the Offeror shall clearly designate the trade secret and other proprietary information, using the term “confident...
	4.7 Public Record
	All Offers submitted and opened are public records and must be retained by the State for six years. Offers shall be open and available to public inspection through the State’s eProcurement system after Contract award, except for such Offers deemed to ...
	4.8 Non-collusion, Employment, and Services
	By signing the Offer and Acceptance form or other official contract form, the Offeror certifies that:
	4.9 Content of Statement of Qualifications
	4.9-A Required Documents
	The submitted statement of qualifications shall include the following documents. Failure to submit all documents below according to instructions may have a negative impact on the evaluated score or result in the offer being determined non-responsive a...
	4.9-B Pre-Printed Documents
	Any pre-printed documents required by this solicitation are located within this document and shall be completed in the format provided and according to any instructions contained within the document or elsewhere in these instructions. Offerors shall d...
	4.9-C Submission of Pricing

	5.0 EVALUATION
	5.1 Opening
	Supplemental to Instructions to Offerors paragraph 4.7, offers received by the due date and time will be opened online and the name of each Offeror will be publicly available. Offers will not be subject to public inspection until after contract award.
	5.2 Selection Process
	5.2-A Selection Committee
	A Selection Committee will review the Statements of Qualifications and develop a final list with a minimum of three (3) and not more than ten (10) persons or firms.
	5.2-A-(01)    The Selection Committee may determine a 2nd round of Q&A worth up to 250 points if necessary to develop the final list with a minimum of three (3) and not more than ten (10) persons or firms.
	5.2-B Evaluation Criteria
	5.2-B-(01) Statement of Qualifications
	(01) (a) Firms interested in providing services must submit a Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) that addresses the following evaluation criteria.
	(01) (b) In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-2579, statements of qualifications will be evaluated based on the following evaluation criteria. The evaluation criteria and relative weight of the criteria will be used to determine the short list of persons or...
	Information Questionnaire 250 points: Attachment – Offeror Information Questionnaire
	Method 350 points: Attachment – Method Proposal
	Experience and Capacity 400 points: Attachments – Organizational Profile and Key Personnel
	5.2-C Interviews
	5.2-C-(01) Interviews may be conducted with at least three (3) but not more than ten (10) persons or firms on the short list Based on the evaluation of the SOQs and shall form the Short List. Interview shall expand on the selection criteria listed in ...
	5.2-C-(03) The selection committee will select the persons or firms on the final list and their order on the final list solely through the results of the evaluation committee consensus process.
	Interviews may be conducted either via video conference or in person and are estimated to be thirty to forty-five minutes in length. The proposed Design Professional key personnel and subcontractor(s) team are required to attend.
	5.3 Cost is Not a Consideration
	Fees, price, man-hours or any other cost information shall not be requested or considered at any point in the qualifications selection process, the selection of persons or firms to be on the final list, in determining the order of preference of person...
	5.4 Clarifications
	The State may request oral or written clarifications, including demonstrations or questions and answers, for the sole purpose of providing a greater understanding of the offer. Clarifications shall not otherwise afford the Offerors the opportunity to ...
	5.5 Negotiations
	The Procurement Officer may proceed to negotiate agreements for services, commemorated with an official (Invitation to Negotiate) sent to the highest ranked Submitters on the Final List. If the Procurement Officer is unable to negotiate a satisfactory...
	5.6 Responsibility, Responsiveness, and Susceptibility
	The State shall consider, at a minimum, the following criteria when determining Offeror’s responsibility, as well, as the statement of qualification’s responsiveness and susceptibility for contract award.
	5.7 Financial Stability
	The Offeror must be financially stable and able to substantiate the financial stability of its company. The State reserves the right to request additional documentation from the Offeror and to request reports on financial stability from independent fi...
	5.8 Late Offers
	An Offer submitted after the exact Offer due date and time shall be rejected.
	5.9 Disqualifications
	An Offeror (including each of its principals) who is currently debarred, suspended, or otherwise lawfully prohibited from any public procurement activity shall have its Offer rejected.

	6.0 AWARD
	6.1 Best Advantage to State
	The state intends to enter into negotiations with the highest qualified person(s) or firm(s) on the final list.
	6.2 Contract Document Consolidation
	At its sole option, following any contract award(s) the State may consolidate the resulting contract documents. Examples of such consolidation would include (i) reorganizing solicitation documents and those components of the Design Professional’s Offe...
	6.3 Notice to Proceed
	Design Professionals shall commence with the performance of the Contract upon award and the Offer and Acceptance Form signed by the Procurement Officer or other authorized representatives as set forth in the Contract. Prior to receiving an executed Ta...
	6.4 Evidence of Insurance Coverage
	Prior to commencing services under any awarded Contract, successful Design Professional(s) shall provide and maintain during the entire term of an awarded Contract, a certificate of insurance indicating the coverage stated in the Special Terms and Con...
	6.5 Contract Inception
	An Offer does not constitute a Contract nor does it confer any rights on the Offeror to the award of a Contract. A Contract is not created until the Offer is accepted in writing by the Procurement Officer’s signature on the Offer and Acceptance form. ...
	6.6 Effective Date
	The effective date of the Contract shall be the date that the Procurement Officer signs the Offer and Acceptance form or other official contract form, unless another date is specifically stated in the Contract.

	7.0 PROTESTS
	A protest shall comply with and be resolved according to Arizona Revised Statutes Title 41, Chapter 23, Article 9, and rules adopted thereunder. Protests shall be in writing and be filed with both the Procurement Officer of the purchasing agency and w...

	STATEMENT OF WORK
	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	The objective of the State is to engage qualified firms to fulfill the role of Civil Engineer Design Services for on-call contracts with an initial term of one-year and options for up to four annual renewals.
	It is the intent of the State to award up to a maximum ten (10) contracts for civil engineering services.
	Contracts shall be utilized by all Eligible Agencies and Cooperative Members.
	2.0 BACKGROUND
	The State of Arizona Department of Administration, (ADOA) has elected to hire multiple firm(s) (Engineers) to provide civil engineering services for maintenance and capital improvements projects of varying size and complexity consisting of but not lim...
	Engineer will assist ADOA in developing standards for system design and performance.
	All design and construction will be dependent on the level of funding available.

	3.0 SCOPE REQUIREMENTS
	3.1 General Requirements
	3.1-A The projects will be directed by an Arizona Department of Administration (ADOA), General Services Division, Project Manager (PM), Eligible State Agencies and Cooperative Members on an as-needed negotiated fee basis. These fees will be based on t...
	3.1-B The purpose of this Request for Qualifications (RFQu) is to obtain competitive Statements of Qualifications (SOQ) from qualified civil engineering firms. Services shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, civil engineering design service...
	3.2 Specific Requirements: The Design Professional shall provide full Design and Construction Administration services required including but not limited to the following:
	3.2-B
	3.2-C
	3.3 Schedule for Solicitation
	3.4 State of Arizona Statutory Review Requirements

	4.0 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL REQUIREMENTS
	4.1 Licensing and Certifications
	4.2 Specific Laws


	Special Terms and Conditions
	1.0 Definition of Terms
	1.1 Co-Op Buyer
	1.2 Eligible Agency

	2.0 Contract Interpretation
	3.0 Contract Administration and Operation
	3.1 Term of Contract

	4.0 Costs and Payments
	5.0 Contract Changes
	6.0 Risk and Liability
	7.0 Warranties
	8.0 State's Contractual Remedies
	9.0 Contract Termination
	10.0 Contract Claims
	11.0 Design Professional Responsibilities 
	12.0 Agency Responsibilities
	13.0 Data and Information Handling
	14.0 Information Technology Work
	14.1 Background Checks
	14.2 Systems and Controls
	14.3 Section 508 Compliance
	14.4 Cloud Applications
	The following are required for Contractor of any “cloud” solution that hosts State data outside of the State’s network, or transmits and/or receives State data.

	UNIFORM Terms and Conditions
	Uniform Terms and General Conditions Design Professional
	4. DEFINITION OF TERMS
	1.1. Additional Work
	1.2. Agency
	1.3. Agency Designated Representative
	1.4. Allowance
	1.5. Application for Progress Payment
	1.6. Application for Final Payment
	1.7. Arizona Procurement Code; A.R.S., A.A.C.
	1.8. Arizona TPT
	1.9. As-Builts
	1.10. Attachment
	1.11. Basic Work
	1.12. Bidding Documents
	1.13. Building Work
	1.14. Change Order
	1.15. Close Out Documents
	1.16. Conditional Waiver of Lien
	1.17. Construction
	1.18. Construction Contract
	1.19. Construction Contractor
	1.20. Construction Documents
	1.21. Contingency
	1.22. Contract
	1.23. Contract Amendment
	1.24. Contract Cost
	1.25. Contract Terms and Conditions 
	1.26. Contractor
	1.27. Contractor Indemnitor
	1.28. Cost
	1.29. Cost of Work
	1.30. Day
	1.31. Design Change Notice
	1.32. Design Professional
	1.33. Design Professional Services
	1.34. Design Professional Service Contract
	1.35. Design Requirements
	1.36. Drawings
	1.37. Estimated Project Construction Cost
	1.38. Excusable Delay
	1.39. Exhibit
	1.40. Field Order Directive 
	1.41. Final Completion
	1.42. Final Completion Certificate
	1.43. Final Payment
	1.44. General Conditions of Contractor
	1.45. Gratuity
	1.46. Hazardous Waste; Release
	1.47. Hazardous Substance
	1.48. Hazardous Waste
	1.49. Indemnified Basic Claims
	1.50. Instructions to Offerors
	1.51. Materials
	1.52. Negotiation
	1.53. Notice to Cure
	1.54. Notice to Proceed
	1.55. Offer and Acceptance Form
	1.56. Part, Section; Exhibit
	1.57. Payment Bond
	1.58. Performance Bond
	1.59. Person
	1.60. Preconstruction Services
	1.61. Procurement Officer 
	1.62. eProcurement System (currently APP)
	1.63. Product Data
	1.64. Project
	1.65. Change Order Request
	1.66. Punch List
	1.67. Record Documents
	1.68. Request for Information
	1.69. Reimbursable Expenses
	1.70. Samples
	1.71. Schedule
	1.72. Schedule of Values
	1.73. Scope of Work
	1.74. Secure Locations
	1.75. Services
	1.76. Shop Drawings
	1.77. Site
	1.78. Solicitation; Solicitation Documents
	1.79. Special Terms and General Conditions
	1.80. Specification
	1.81. State 
	1.82. State Indemnitees
	1.83. State Fiscal Year 
	1.84. Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum)
	1.85. Subconsultant
	1.86. Subcontract 
	1.87. Subcontractor
	1.88. Submittal Register
	1.89. Substantial Completion
	1.90. Unconditional Waiver of Lien
	1.91. Uniform Terms and Conditions 
	1.92. Unit Price Work
	1.93. Work
	1.94. Progress Schedule

	2.0 Contract Interpretation
	2.1 Arizona Law
	2.2 Contract Order of Precedence
	2.3 Implied Terms
	2.4 References to Statute
	2.5 Usage
	2.6 Independent Contractor
	2.7 Severability
	2.8 Complete Integration
	2.9 No Waiver of Rights

	3.0 Contract Administration and Operation
	3.1. Term of Contract
	3.2. Contract Extensions
	3.3. Notices and Correspondence
	3.4. Contractor Performance Evaluation
	3.5. Signing of Contract Amendments
	3.6. ClickThrough Terms and Conditions
	3.7. Books and Records
	3.8. Design Professional Licenses and Registration
	3.9. Ownership of IntellectualProperty
	3.10. Subcontracts and Subconsultants
	3.11. Non-Discrimination
	3.12. E-Verify Requirements
	3.13. Offshore Performance of Certain Work Prohibited
	3.14. Other Contractors
	3.15. Work on State Premises
	3.16. Background Checks
	3.17. Advertising, Publishing and Promotion of Contract
	3.18. Inspection and Testing

	4.0  Costs and Payments
	4.1. Additional Work
	4.2. Applicable Taxes
	4.3. Application for Progress Payment, Contractor
	4.4. Application for Payment Certification by Design Professional
	4.5. Automated Clearing House
	4.6. Availability of Funds
	4.7. Basis of Compensation; Design Professional
	4.8. Contracted Labor Rate
	4.9. Delay 
	4.10. Equipment Rental
	4.11. Invoicing Requirements
	4.12. Interest
	4.13. Payment
	4.14. Project Suspension by Agency
	4.15. Recovery of Overpayment
	4.16. Reimbursable Expenses
	4.17. Standard Hourly Rate Basis for Work
	4.18. Stipulated Sum (Fixed Price/Lump Sum) Basis for Work 
	4.19. Notification of Payments

	5.0  Contract Changes
	5.1. Assignments and Delegation
	5.2. Contract Amendments
	5.3. Unauthorized Contract Amendments or Orders are Void
	5.4. Change Orders
	5.5. Field Order Directive
	5.6. Minor Changes in the Work
	5.7. Claims

	6.0  Risk and Liability
	6.1. Risk of Loss
	6.2. Basic Indemnification
	6.3. Patent and Copyright Indemnification
	6.4. Force Majeure
	6.5. Performance in Public Health Emergency
	6.6. Safety Standards
	6.7. Third Party AntitrustViolations

	7.0  Warranties
	7.1  Liens
	7.2 Guarantees and Warranties
	7.3 Contractor Personnel
	7.4 Intellectual Property
	7.5 Compliance with Laws
	7.6 100% Construction Documents
	7.7 Contracted Work, Errors and Omissions
	7.8 Licenses and Permits
	7.9 Operational Continuity
	7.10 Pandemic Contractual Performance
	7.11 Lobbying
	7.12 Survival of Warranties 
	7.13 Waiver of the Statute of Repose

	8.0  State's Contractual Remedies
	8.1 Agency’s Right to Carry Out the Work
	8.2 Consequential Damages
	8.3 Nonconforming Tender
	8.4 Non-exclusive Remedies
	8.5 Right to Assurance
	8.6 Right of Offset
	8.7 Stop Work Order

	9.0  Contract Termination
	9.1 Agency Failure to Perform
	9.2 Gratuities
	9.3 Notice to Cure
	9.4 Rights to Work Project
	9.5 Suspension or Debarment
	9.6 Termination for Conflict of Interest
	9.7 Termination for Convenience
	9.8 Termination for Default
	9.9 Work Performance Continuation Required

	10.0  Contract Claims
	10.1  Claim Resolution
	10.2  Mandatory Arbitration
	10.3 Additional Parties to Arbitration

	11.0  Design Professional Responsibilities 
	11.1 Acceptance of Work
	11.2  Additional Work
	11.3  Agency Reviews and Approvals During Design
	11.4  Allowances
	11.5  As-Built Drawings
	11.6 Automatic Temperature Control Design
	11.7 Basic Work, Design Professional Services
	11.8  Bidding Phase
	11.9 Clean Up of Site
	11.10  Compliance with Codes
	11.11  Cooperation and Coordination
	11.12  Schedule
	11.13  Conformity of Work to Construction Documents Review
	11.14  Construction Cost Control
	11.15  Construction Safety
	11.16  Contractor Pre-Award Conference
	11.17  Construction Meetings
	11.18  Correction of Defects and Non-Compliant Work
	11.19  Demolition Plan
	11.20  Design Development
	11.21  Design Professional Agreements, Communication
	11.22  Design Schematics
	11.23  Energy Efficiency
	11.24  Examination of Site
	11.25  Forced Substitutions
	11.26  Inclement Weather Day
	11.27  Inspection and Material Testing
	11.28  Inspection of Work by Design Professional
	11.29  Issue Addenda
	11.30  Key Personnel
	11.31  Labor and Materials
	11.32  Life Cycle Cost Analysis
	11.33  Management and Supervision of the Work, Design Professional Service
	11.34  Meeting Minutes
	11.35  Observations
	11.36  Outline Specifications
	11.37  Pre-Bid Conference Site Visit
	11.38  Preconstruction Conference
	11.39  Program and Budget Review
	11.40  Project Closeout
	11.41  Proposed Change Order Review
	11.42  Proprietary Specifications
	11.43  Quality Assurance
	11.44  Record Documents
	11.45  Requirements at Location
	11.46  Schedule of Values
	11.47  Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples
	11.48  Special Inspections and Testing
	11.49  Specification Submittal Requirements; Design Professional
	11.50  Statutory Review
	11.51  Structural, Mechanical, Electrical, Calculations
	11.52  Submittal Register
	11.53  Substantial and Final Completion
	11.54  Substitution of Material or Equipment
	11.55  Supervision and Project Administration
	11.56  Transition
	11.57  Unknown, Unforeseen, or Concealed Conditions
	11.58  Use of Seals; Design Professionals
	11.59  Work Performance; Design Professional

	12.0  Agency Responsibilities
	12.1 Access to Work Site
	12.2 Accuracy of Information
	12.3 Budget
	12.4 Errors or Omissions
	12.5 Site Information
	12.6 Geotechnical Engineers
	12.7 Testing
	12.8 Communications
	12.9 Design Professional Agreements, Related Construction
	12.10 Promotional Materials
	12.11 Substitutions of Material
	12.12 Timely Review

	13.0  Data and Information Handling
	13.1  Applicability
	13.2  Data Protection and Confidentiality of Information
	13.3  Personally Identifiable Information
	13.4  Protected Health Information

	14.0  Information Technology Work
	14.1  Applicability
	14.2  Information Access
	14.3  Pass-Through Indemnity
	14.4  Redress of Infringement.
	14.5 First Party Liability Limitation
	14.6  Information Technology Warranty
	14.7  Specific Remedies


	BPM004132 Amendment I

	       ATT_Exhibit B2 - CTR058871 Supporting Documents
	CTR058871 Contract Amendment - CAROLLO
	Amended Special Terms and Conditions
	Exhibit B3 - CTR058871 Carollo Award Letter.pdf
	Douglas A. Ducey
	ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION



	AI_7974_Approval of the Cooperative Purchase Contract with PFVT Motors, LLC dba Peoria Ford for Four 2023 Ford Explorer Police Interceptors
	       ATT_2024-166 Police Interceptors (4)
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Exhibit B1
	       ATT_Exhibit B2
	       ATT_Exhibit B3
	AI_8063_Consideration of rescheduling the August 27, 2024 Council Meeting to August 26, 2024
	AI_8068_Letter of Support for NAIWRSA
	       ATT_NAWRISA Letter of Support
	AI_8046_Tentative Budget Adoption
	       ATT_Presentation
	City of Flagstaff�FY 2024-2025 Budget
	Timeline
	Legal Schedule A
	Highlights
	Total Employee Investment
	Changes Since April Retreat
	Additional Information
	Questions

	       ATT_Resolution No. 2024-25
	       ATT_FY2024-25 Budget Forms
	1 - Title Page
	2 - Table of Contents
	2025 - Schedule A
	2025 - Schedule B
	2025 - Schedule C
	2025 - Schedule D
	2025 - Schedule E 
	2025 - Schedule F
	2025 - Schedule G

	AI_8015_PSPRS Pension Funding Policy FY 2024-25
	       ATT_Res. 2024-24
	       ATT_PSPRS Pension Funding Policy
	       ATT_Contingency Reserve Fund Policy
	AI_8016_CFO Designation for Annual Expenditure Limitation Report (AELR)
	       ATT_Res. No. 2024-23
	AI_8013_Procurement Code Revision, Article 32 Sustainable Procurement
	       ATT_Res. 2024-26
	RESOLUTION NO. 2024-26
	ENACTMENTS:
	Article 4 Definitions
	Article 32 Sustainable Procurement

	AI_8022_Bed, Board, and Booze (BBB) Code Changes
	       ATT_Res. 2024-22
	       ATT_2024 BBB Related Amendments
	2024 amendments to chapters 2-03, 2-13, 2-14, 2-20, and 3-06 of the city code related to the parks and recreation commission, tourism commission, beautification and public art commission, open spaces commission, and hospitality industry tax revenues
	CHAPTER 2-03
	PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION
	2-03-001-0001 COMMISSION CREATED; MEMBERS:
	2-03-001-0002 TERMS; VACANCIES; COMPENSATION:
	2-03-001-0003 ORGANIZATION AND RULES:
	2-03-001-0004 POWERS AND DUTIES:
	2-03-001-0001 CREATION OF THE COMMISSION:
	2-03-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE:
	2-13-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS:
	2-13-001-0004 ORGANIZATION:
	2-13-001-0005 MEETINGS:
	2-13-001-0006 DUTIES:

	BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION
	2-14-001-0001 CREATION OF COMMISSION:
	2-14-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE:
	2-14-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS:
	2-14-001-0004 ORGANIZATION:
	2-14-001-0005 MEETINGS:
	2-14-001-0006 DUTIES:

	CHAPTER 2-20
	OPEN SPACES COMMISSION
	2-20-001-0001 CREATION OF THE COMMISSION:
	2-20-001-0002 TERMS OF OFFICE:
	2-20-001-0003 DUTIES:
	2-20-001-0004 OPEN SPACES LONG RANGE MANAGEMENT PLAN COMPONENTS:
	2-20-001-0005 MEETINGS; ATTENDANCE:

	CHAPTER 3-06
	HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES
	3-06-001-0001 DEFINITIONS
	3-06-001-0002 DISTRIBUTION OF HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY TAX REVENUES
	3-06-001-0003 FINANCIAL CONTROL
	3-06-001-0004 EXEMPTION


	       ATT_Ord. 2024-16
	ORDINANCE NO. 2024-16
	ENACTMENTS:

	       ATT_Presentation
	Slide 1: Bed, Board, & Booze (BBB) Related Code Updates June 4, 2024 
	Slide 2: What is the BBB?
	Slide 3: What services receive BBB Funding?
	Slide 4: BBB Code Change and Renewal Timeline
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: Questions?  Thank you!

	AI_8062_Revisions to Water, Wastewater, and Reclaimed Water Model Assumptions and Resulting Rates
	       ATT_Presentation
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 5: Council Directed Scenario Impact on Rate Projections 
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: Water Projected Average Bill Impacts – Council Directed Scenario
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: Wastewater Projected Average Bill Impacts – Council Directed Scenario   
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15

	AI_8064_FAIR: Discussion regarding towing and car storage charges and the use of cash versus credit cards
	AI_8065_FAIR: Discussion regarding expanding the Employer Assisted Housing program

